
 

 

TOWN COUNCIL 

 

MEETING 

 

PACKET 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
January 6, 2020 



 Town Council 
 

Agenda 
Monday, January 6, 2020 

          Town Hall, Council Chambers 
 450 So. Parish Avenue 

7:00 PM 
 

MISSION STATEMENT-“The mission of the government of the Town of Johnstown is to provide leadership based upon trust and 
integrity, commitment directed toward responsive service delivery, and vision for enhancing the quality of life in our community. 

 
Members of the audience are invited to speak at the Council meeting.  Public Comment (item No. 5) is reserved for citizen 
comments on items not contained on the printed agenda.  Citizen comments are limited to three (3) minutes per speaker. When 
several people wish to speak on the same position on a given item, they are requested to select a spokesperson to state that position. 
If you wish to speak at the Town Council meeting, please fill out a sign-up sheet and present it to the Town Clerk. 
 
1) CALL TO ORDER 

A) Pledge of Allegiance 
 

2) ROLL CALL 
 

3)    AGENDA APPROVAL 
 

4)    PROCLAMATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 
                 
5)    PUBLIC COMMENT (three-minute limit per speaker)    
    __________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
The “Consent Agenda” is a group of routine matters to be acted on with a single motion and vote.  The Mayor will ask if any 
Council member wishes to have an item discussed or if there is public comment on those ordinances marked with an *asterisk.  
The Council member may then move to have the subject item removed from the Consent Agenda for discussion separately.   
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

6)   CONSENT AGENDA 
 A) Town Council Special Meeting Minutes – December 9, 2019 
       B)  Town Council Meeting Minutes – December 16, 2019 
       C)  Payment of Bills 
       D)  Agreement to Include Koenig No. 1 Contract Storage Water and Big Thompson Ditch and Manufacturing in the Town of       
              Johnstown Home Supply Change Case 
       E)   Resolution 2020-01, A Resolution Designating the Public Place for Posting Notices Pursuant to C.R.S. Section 24-6- 
              402(2)(c) 
 
7)   TOWN MANAGER REPORT 
 
8)   TOWN ATTORNEY REPORT 
 
9)   OLD BUSINESS- 
       2nd Reading Ordinance Number 2019-165, An Ordinance Amending Chapter 18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code to Adopt  
       The 2018 Building Codes 
 
10)  NEW BUSINESS 
        A.  Public Hearing – Ordinance Number 2020-168 An Ordinance Approving the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Great  
        Plains Village 
        B.  Public Hearing – Ordinance Number 2020-169 An Ordinance Approving P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Welty Ridge 
        C.  Consider Intergovernmental Agreement with Little Thompson Water District  
        D.  Award Bid for Street Sweeper 
        E.  Award Bid for Backhoe 
        F.  Award Bid for Lone Tree Electrical Contactor  
        G.  Award Operations Contract Agreement to Ramey Environmental Compliance, Inc. 
        H.  Approve Contract to Logan Simpson -  Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan Update 
         I.  Discussion -  Ballot Measures – for the April 2020 Election    
 
 
 

 

 



 
 
       
11)  EXECUTIVE SESSION 
     
12)  COUNCIL REPORTS AND COMMENTS 
 
13)  MAYOR’S COMMENTS    
 
14)   ADJOURN 
 
 
                                                                                       WORK SESSION 
 

• Johnstown Farms II & III – Metro District Disconnection and Establishment 
 
 
 
 
 

     NOTICE OF ACCOMODATION 
If you need special assistance to participate in the meeting, please contact the Town Clerk at (970) 587-4664. Notification at least 72 hours prior to the 
meeting will enable the Town to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to the meeting. 



 
 
 

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 
 
AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020  
 
ITEM NUMBER: 6A-E 
 
SUBJECT: Consent Agenda 
  
ACTION PROPOSED: Approve Consent Agenda 
 
PRESENTED BY: Town Clerk, Town Manager 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: The following items are included on the Consent Agenda, which may be 
approved by a single motion approving the Consent Agenda: 
 
     A)  Town Council Special Meeting Minutes – December 9, 2019 
     B)  Town Council Meeting Minutes – December 16, 2019 
     C)  Payment of Bills 
     D) * Agreement to Include Koenig No. 1 Contract Storage Water and Big Thompson Ditch and Manufacturing in  
           the Town of Johnstown Home Supply Change Case. 
     E) ** Resolution 2020-01, A Resolution Designating the Public Place for Posting Notices Pursuant to C.R.S.  
           Section 24-6-402(2)(c) 
      
* As we prepare for the water court change case to be filed, we plan to include the Sauer Whitehall, LLC water, often 
referred to as the Koenig Contract Storage Water or the Pulliam Water and Cindy and Henry Sauer’s Big Thompson 
Ditch and Manufacturing Company with our Home Supply Change Case.  These waters are a bit more complex versus 
the Home Supply Water and consequently, we have asked for an agreement that provides the framework of moving 
this water through the change case with our other water.  The complexities will require additional time to research, 
consequently, additional funding is being required to move it through the courts. This understanding memorializes the 
costs and the facts related to the case to be filed by the Town of Johnstown to include this water.   
 
**  Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S) 24-6-402(c) (Meetings-Open to Public) states in part:  Any meeting at which 
the adoption of any proposed policy, position, resolution, regulation or formal action occurs or at which a majority or 
quorum of the body is in attendance, or is expected to be in attendance, shall be held only after full and timely notice 
to the public.  In addition to any other means of full and timely notice, a local public body shall be deemed to have 
given full and timely notice if the notice of the meeting is posted in a designated public place within the boundaries 
of the local public body no less than twenty-four hours prior to holding the meeting.  The public place for posting 
such notice shall be designated annually at the local public body’s first regular meeting of each calendar year.  The 
Town website at www.townofjohnstown.com and the Town Hall has been designated for posting notices.   
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
LEGAL ADVICE: The entire Consent Agenda may be approved by a motion of the Town Council approving the 
Consent Agenda, which automatically approves each and every item listed on the Consent Agenda.  If a Council 
member wishes to have a specific discussion on an individual item included with the Consent Agenda, they may move 
to remove the item from the Consent Agenda for discussion.  
FINANCIAL ADVICE: N/A 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Consent Agenda 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION: 
 
For Approval: I move to approve the Consent Agenda. 
 
For Denial:  
  
 
 
 
 

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


  
 
 

 
 
 
   
                                                           

Council Minutes 
(December 9, 2019) 

  
 
 

  
 
 
       



The Town Council of the Town of Johnstown met on Monday, December 9, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. in 
the Council Chambers at 450 S. Parish Avenue, Johnstown. 
 
Mayor Lebsack led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Roll Call: 
Those present were:   Councilmembers Berg, Lemasters, Molinar Jr. and Young  
Those absent were:  Councilmembers Mellon and Tallent. 
  
Staff present:  Matt LeCerf, Town Manager and Mitzi McCoy, Finance Director  
 
New Business 
 
A. Consider Resolution 2019-28, A Resolution of Johnstown Colorado, Summarizing 
Expenditures and Revenues for Each Fund and Adopting and Appropriating the Budget for the 
Calendar Year 2020.  Councilmember Lemasters made a motion seconded by Councilmember 
Berg to approve Resolution 2019-28.  Motion carried with a unanimous vote. 
 
B.  Consider Resolution 2019-29, A Resolution Levying General Property Taxes for the Year 
2020, To Help Defray the Cost of Government for the Town of Johnstown, Colorado for the 
2020 Budget Year.  Councilmember Young made a motion seconded by Councilmember Berg to 
approve Resolution 2019-29.  Motion carried with a unanimous vote. 
 
There being no further business to come before Council the meeting adjourned at 6:20 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                    Mayor 
 
 
 
                                                                Town Clerk 
 
 
 
            



  
 
 

 
 
 
   
                                                           

Council Minutes 
(December 16, 2019) 

  
 
 

  
 
 
       



The Town Council of the Town of Johnstown met on Monday, December 16, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. 
in the Council Chambers at 450 S. Parish Avenue, Johnstown. 
 
Mayor Lebsack led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Roll Call: 
Those present were:   Councilmembers Berg, Lemasters, Mellon, Molinar Jr., Tallent and Young  
 
Staff present:  Avi Rocklin, Town Attorney, Matt LeCerf, Town Manager, Marco Carani, Public 
Works Director, Kim Meyers, Planning and Development Director, Mitzi McCoy, Finance 
Director and Brian Phillips, Police Chief. 
 
Agenda Approval 
 
Councilmember Mellon made a motion seconded by Councilmember Tallent to approve the  
Agenda as submitted.  Motion carried with a unanimous vote. 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
Councilmember Berg made a motion seconded by Councilmember Lemasters to approve the 
Consent Agenda with the following items included:     

• December 2, 2019  Council Meeting Minutes 
• December Financial Statements 
• Second Reading Ordinance Number 2019-167, An Ordinance Replacing Chapter 4 of the 

Johnstown Municipal Code Concerning Town Revenue and Finances 
• Water and Sewer Service Agreement – Mowery Development LLC 
• Resolution 2019-30, Approving the Final Plat for Thompson River Ranch Filing No. 10 
• Consider Thompson River Ranch Filing No. 10 Subdivision Development and 

Improvement Agreement 
• Consider Thompson River Ranch Filing No. 10 Water and Sewer Service Agreement 
• Resolution 2019-31, Approving Oil and Gas Operator Agreement and Encroachment 

License Between the Town of Johnstown and Kerr McGee Oil and Gas Onshore LP. 
• Poudre Valley REA Franchise Agreement Extension 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote. 
 
New Business 
 
A. Public Hearing – Resolution 2019-32 Approving the Consolidated Service Plan for Vista 
Commons Metropolitan District Nos. 1-4 – An application for approval of a Consolidated 
Service Plan was submitted by Vista Ag Properties, LLC and Pratt Development Co, LLC as 
owners.  The proposed districts include 145.3 acres.  District No. 1 is the coordinating district, 
District 2 is the residential district consisting of approximately 42 acres and is anticipated to 
include 109 single family homes and 321 multi-family units,  District Nos. 3 and 4 are the 
commercial districts and are anticipated to include 820,000 square feet of commercial space.  
The maximum debt mill levy for the residential district is 40 mills, the maximum debt mill levy 
is 50 mills and the maximum operations and maintenance mill levy is 10 mills.   



Johnstown, Colorado                                           -2-                                          December 16, 2019 
 
Mayor Lebsack opened the public hearing at 7:15 p.m.   The applicant’s representative David 
Oleary with Spencer Fane LLP addressed the Council and answered any questions they had.    
Having no public comment the public hearing closed at 7:45 p.m.   
 
Councilmember Lemasters made a motion seconded by Councilmember Molinar Jr. to approve 
Resolution 2019-32, a Resolution Approving the Consolidated Service Plan for Vista Commons 
Metropolitan Districts Nos. 1-4.  Motion carried with a yes vote.  Councilmember Mellon voted 
no. 
 
B.  Resolution 2019-33 A Resolution Adopting Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Financial 
Management Policies Superseding Resolution No. 2017-10 to the Extent of a Conflict, 
Superseding and Replacing Resolution 2018-23 and Resolution 2004-32 – Councilmember Berg 
made a motion seconded by Councilmember Mellon to approve Resolution 2019-33.  Motion 
carried with a unanimous vote. 
 
C.  Consider a Request by Johnstown Village, LLC for a waiver request to the Storm Water 
Development Fee – A letter from Mr. Bob Quinette, Johnstown Village, LLC, was received 
requesting the Town Council, consider waiving the storm water fees which is required by Town 
Municipal Code.  After lengthy conversation, no decision was made.  Councilmember Mellon 
made a motion seconded by Councilmember Young to table this item to the January 22, 2020 
Council Meeting.  Motion carried with a unanimous vote. 
 
There being no further business to come before Council the meeting adjourned at 8:45 p.m. 
 
 
 
                                                                    Mayor 
 
 
 
                                                                Town Clerk 
 
 
 
            



  
 
 

 
 
 
   

 
Payment of  

Bills 
  

 
 

  
 
 
       



Town of Johnstown - List of Bills
November 25, 2019 - December 31, 2019

Vendor Description Dept. Amount
2534 Retail Phase 1, LLC Improvements; tax rebate ADM 553,432.75
4990 Ronald Reagan LLC Police substation lease PD 1,519.75
A & E Tire Inc Tire repairs PW 754.60
Ace Hardware Supplies PW 1,603.74
Adorama Scanner ADM 800.00
Advanced Mechanical Services Water supplies - NEMA wall mount PW 9,500.00
All Copy Products Copy fees PD 403.59
AP Mountain States, LLC Rec Center  ADM 3,502,301.36
Arapahoe Rental Supplies PW 239.98
Arrowhead Scientific Inc. Evidence supplies PD 219.17
Axis Electrical Services, LLC Service work PW 2,600.00
Batteries Plus DCU on Bank of Colo PW 203.95
BHA Design Incorporated I-25/Hwy 60 ADM 5,348.78
Bobcat of the Rockies Supplies - blade PW 64.79
Brandon Copeland Professional services ADM 1,185.36
Browns Hill Engineering & Controls Water engineering PW 36,872.41
Canyon Systems Pressure gauge PW 634.19
Card Services Stamped envelopes ADM 3,545.88
Carson Development, Inc. Hydrant meter deposit refund PW 1,500.00
Caselle, Inc Software maintenance/support ALL 1,502.00
CDR Propane Services, LLC Propane PW 4,283.00
Central Weld County Water District Water PW 586.83
CenturyLink Telephone PD 349.83
Cintas Mat service ALL 1,380.91
Cirsa Insurance ALL 1,036.00
Colorado Analytical Labs Lab testing PW 1,110.00
Colorado Greenbelt Management Snow removal PW 1,610.00
Colorado Materials, Inc. Rip Rap, playground mulch PW 12,483.82
Community Center Refunds Refund of deposit ADM 1,380.00
Connell Resources, Inc. Hydrant meter deposit refund PW 1,500.00
Consolidated Home Supply Ditch & Trace fees ADM 600.00
D.R. Associates, LLC Repair server ADM 978.00
Davis & Davis Co. Refund of sales tax ADM 270.09
DBC Irrigation Supply Supplies for parks PW 1,491.97
DES Pipeline Maintenance, LLC Maintenance water treatment plant PW 1,150.00
DPC Industries Inc Chemicals PW 32,974.81
Drake Real Estate - In Line Shops Refund developer deposit ADM 2,847.37
Elite Drilling Hydrant meter deposit refund PW 1,500.00
Envirotech Services, Inc Ice slicer PW 10,536.73
Ergomed Pre-screen for new hire ADM 200.00
Felsburg Holt & Ullevig Billback - Engineering services ADM 5,108.27
Felsburg Holt & Ullevig Engineering services ADM 7,223.95
Ferguson Waterworks Supplies PW 2,014.21
First Class Security Systems Maintenance ADM 195.50
First National Bank Banking services ADM 2,256.02
Fort Collins Dodge Chrysler Jeep Repair 2016 Dodge Charger PD 659.25



Town of Johnstown - List of Bills
November 25, 2019 - December 31, 2019

Frick'n Carnagie Towing, LLC Tow police vehicle PD 60.00
Galloway & Company, Inc. Professional services ADM 330.00
Gamez, Shirley Newsom Mileage - November ADM 130.00
Glenn A. Jones Library Library support ADM 1,747,429.36
Goble Sampson Associates Inc Supplies - pump PW 5,348.24
Goldstar Products Inc. Ground sterilant PW 2,127.40
Grainger, Inc. Utility pump PW 1,548.60
Greeley Lock and Key Service call PD 396.60
Greystone Technology Group Computer support ALL 1,265.00
Ground Engineering Consultants YMCA Construction ADM 3,081.25
H & E Equipment Services, Inc. Boomlift PW 1,157.19
Hays Market Supplies ALL 243.38
Helton & Williamsen, P.C. Bill Back - Engineering services ADM 13,930.19
High Plains New Holland Equipment PW 3,400.00
Hill & Robbins, PC Billback - Legal services ADM 1,541.00
HireRight Solutions Inc Background screening PD 250.00
Home Depot Pro Supplies ALL 542.07
Hotsy Equipment Of Northern Co Supplies PW 85.50
Hulson Properties Refund impact fees ADM 20,000.00
IMEG Corp Engineering services ADM 160,609.68
Infosend, Inc. Utility bill printing ADM 4,876.67
Inland Potable Services, Inc. Service water tanks PW 7,761.38
Insight North America, LLC Investment services ADM 5,398.55
Interstate Battery of the Rockies Supplies PW 103.95
InVision GIS GIS ADM 650.00
J&D Creations Supplies - boots PW 329.67
J&S Contractors Supply Co. Supplies - plow blade & signs PW 2,189.51
Janice Robinette Replace item ADM 79.99
John Deere Financial Window pane & supplies PW 2,601.67
Johnstown Breeze Publication costs ADM 3,716.28
Johnstown-Milliken Rotary Club Wreaths ADM 216.00
Kenyon P. Jordan, Ph.D. Job suitability assessment ADM 235.00
Kinsco, LLC Uniforms PD 446.35
Kubat Equipment & Service Co Repairs   PW 1,123.63
Larimer County Sales Tax Administrator Use Tax - reimbursement ADM 1,882.84
Larimer Humane Society 2019 3rd Qtr billing PD 2,325.00
Law Office of Avi Rocklin LLC Legal services ADM 11,479.50
Law Office of Avi Rocklin LLC Bill Back - Legal services ADM 7,831.50
Lazar, Michael Municipal Court Judge ADM 1,500.00
Lee's Towing Tow police vehicle PD 135.00
Legacy Mechanical, Inc. Inspection, reset boilers PW 1,245.50
Little Thompson Water District Water PW 384.88
Lowe's Downtown decorations PW 85.04
Mac Equipment Fuel  PW 1,563.31
Macdonald Equipment Co Supplies -snow plow PW 361.99
Mares Auto Inc. Repair flat tire PD 20.00
Mariposa Plant maintenance ADM 85.00



Town of Johnstown - List of Bills
November 25, 2019 - December 31, 2019

Martin & Sons Excavating, Inc. Fire hydrant repair PW 4,828.00
Milliken Johnstown Electric Set up recording meters PW 735.00
Miracle Recreation Equipment Tools PW 380.92
Mission Communications, LLC Repairs PW 1,042.20
Mountain States Pipe & Supply Aclara MTU encoder PW 6,353.96
Nalco Company LLC Chemicals PW 2,439.26
Napa Auto Parts, Inc Supplies PW 1,627.54
National Coatings, Inc. Tank coatings PW 12,427.00
Newco Inc Supplies - electrical PW 1,065.22
NOCO Engineering Company Hillsborough study ADM 6,827.65
O.J. Watson Company Inc Supplies PW 722.51
Oakwood Homes Refund of landscape sureties ADM 19,000.00
Office Depot Business Credit Supplies ALL 278.25
Town of Johnstown Petty cash/supplies ALL 321.08
Pitney Bowes Global Postage meter ADM 98.55
Poudre Valley REA Utilities PW 32,802.69
ProCode Inc. Inspection services ADM 10,500.00
Purchase Power Postage meter ADM 451.50
Ramey Environmental Compliance Assessment PW 7,500.00
Revelation Steel, Inc Supplies PW 150.98
Rexel AC packaged drive PW 3,785.00
Rhinehart Oil Co., Inc. Fuel ALL 14,128.46
Rise & Shine Window Cleaning Window cleaning ADM 900.00
Roberts Excavation Corporation Loader services PW 2,640.00
Royal-T Jet lines PW 636.00
Ryan Oglesby Uniforms PD 450.00
Safety & Construction Supply, Inc. Traffic cones PW 3,112.00
Sandy's Upholstery & Flags  LLC Seat repair PW 245.00
Sema Constructiion Hydrant Meter Deposit Refund PW 8,789.72
TDS Internet & phones ALL 2,564.63
The Home Depot/GECF Downtown decorations PW 880.34
The Tree Guys LLC Tree trimming PW 9,000.00
Thompson Ranch Development Tax rebates ADM 58,155.29
U.S. Postal Service Post office box rental ADM 94.00
UC Health DOT Physical PW 75.00
United Power Utilities PW 1,597.20
Utility Notification Center Tranmissions PW 583.62
Utility Refunds Refunds of deposits ADM 3,587.14
VCA Fort Collins Animal Hospital Medical bills for Vasco PD 39.56
VCA Veterinary Specialists of Medical treatment for Vasco PD 193.92
Veris Environmental, LLC Chemicals  PW 4,782.02
Verizon Wireless Cell phones ALL 2,538.62
Waste Management Trash PW 117,229.44
Weld County Dept of Public Lab services PW 6,596.50
White Mountain Weaterproofing Roof maintenance PW 750.00
Windstream Phone Services ALL 1,938.49
Winters, Hellerich & Hughes, L Prosecuting attorney services ADM 5,827.50



Town of Johnstown - List of Bills
November 25, 2019 - December 31, 2019

Wireless Advanced Upfit, repairs & graphics PD 19,453.09
World Water Works, Inc. Field service PW 3,925.37
WR Investment, LLC Reimbursement - water taps ADM 9,200.00
Xcel Energy Utilities PW 61,629.09
Yost Cleaning Cleaning service ALL 2,169.00

Total 6,699,110.84



  
 
 

 
 
 
 
   

 
                  Agreement To Include 
                    Water in TOJ Home  
                     Supply Change Case 

 
 
 

  
 
 
       



1 
 

REQUEST TO INCLUDE WATER RIGHT IN CHANGE CASE 

 

I ________________________ (“Water Right Owner”) hereby request that my 54.2 acre-feet of 
Koenig No.1 Contract Storage Water and my 96/120 Big Thompson Ditch and Manufacturing 
(“Water Right”) be included in the next case the Town of Johnstown (“Town”) files in Water 
Court to change the purpose of use of various water rights and shares in ditch companies to 
include municipal uses within the Town of Johnstown (“Change Case”). 

1. A copy of the decree or other evidence of the Water Right is attached. 

2. Water Right Owner agrees to cooperate with the Town by providing all documents 
regarding past use of the Water Right and, if requested, provide an affidavit stating the past use 
of the Water Right, to the best of Water Right Owner’s knowledge and will take such other 
reasonable actions the Town deems necessary to prosecute the Change Case. 

3. Water Right Owner acknowledges and agrees that it is in the Town’s sole discretion as to 
when the Change Case may be filed. 

4. Water Right Owner acknowledges and agrees that the Town will be the sole entity to 
make any decisions before, during or after the Change Case as to any strategy, compromise or 
settlement that may include the Water Right. 

5. Water Right Owner acknowledges and agrees that the Town does not warrant or promise 
any specific outcome for the Change Case and Water Right Owner will have no remedy against 
the Town and the Town will have no liability to Water Right Owner based on the inclusion of the 
Water Right in the Change Case or the final outcome of the Change Case and the final decree, if 
any. 

6. As a payment for the costs to be incurred by the Town in prosecuting the Change Case, 
Water Right Owner must make a deposit payment to the Town in the amount of $10,000.00. 

7. At any time prior to the entry of a final decree, Water Right Owner may request, in 
writing to the Town, that the Water Right be withdrawn from the Change Case.  Water Right 
Owner accepts any and all risks in making such withdrawal.  If Water Right Owner makes such a 
withdrawal, the Town may retain the payment required by paragraph 6, above. 

8. At any time prior to the entry of a final decree, the Town, in its sole discretion, may 
withdraw the Water Right from the Change Case.  If the Town does so, it must refund the cost 
payment of $10,000 to Water Right Owner, less any direct costs attributed to matters and 
research of this Water Right.  If the Town deducts any such direct costs and there are 
corresponding documents, the Town agrees to provide copies of such documents to the Water 
Right Owner.   

9. If the Water Right of the Water Right Owner is changed through the Change Case, Water 
Right Owner will pay to the Town the cost directly attributed to matters and research of the 
Water Right plus the percentage cost of the Change Case measured between the total acre-feet 



2 
 

changed in the Change Case and the acre-feet of the Water Right changed, less the deposit 
payment of $10,000. 

10. Water Right Owner acknowledges and agrees that this request and the Town’s consent 
does not create a principal-agent relationship between Water Right Owner and the Town. 

11. Water Right Owner acknowledges and agrees that this request and the Town’s consent 
does not create an attorney-client relationship with the Town’s attorneys, as they are now or may 
change in the future, and further that if a dispute arises between Water Right Owner and the 
Town, Water Right Owner cannot object to the continued representation of the Town in any 
matter by its present or future attorneys. 

12. Notices.  All notices, demands, or other documents required or desired to be given, made 
or sent to either Party under this Agreement shall be made in writing, shall be deemed effective 
upon receipt and shall be personally delivered or mailed postage prepaid, certified mail, return 
receipt requested, as follows: 

 

TO WATER RIGHT OWNER: 
 
Ms. Cindy Sauer 
Sauer Whitehall, LLC 
6681 WCR 50 
Johnstown, CO 80534 
 

TO THE TOWN: 
 
Town of Johnstown  
c/o Town Clerk  
450 S. Parish Ave.  
Johnstown, CO 80534 
 
 
WITH A COPY TO  
THE TOWN ATTORNEYS: 
 
Avi Rocklin, Esq.  
Johnstown Town Attorney  
1437 N. Denver Avenue, #330 
Loveland, CO 80538 
 
Peter J. Ampe 
Hill & Robbins, P.C. 
1660 Lincoln St., Suite 2720 
Denver, CO  80264 

 

The addresses for notices may be changed by written notice given to the other Party in the 
manner provided above. 

13. Amendment or modification.  No amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be 
of any force or effect unless in writing and executed by the Parties hereto with the same 
formality as this Agreement. 



3 
 

14. Attorney’s fees and costs.  If any judicial proceedings may hereafter be brought to 
enforce any of the provisions hereof, including an action for specific performance and/or 
damages, the Town, if the prevailing party, shall be entitled to recover the costs of such 
proceedings, including reasonable attorney’s fees and reasonable expert witness fees. 

15.  Waiver.  The waiver of any breach of any of the provisions of this Agreement by either 
Party shall not constitute a continuing waiver of any subsequent breach by said Party, concerning 
either the same or any other provision of this Agreement. 

16. The Parties, with each having the opportunity to seek the advice of legal counsel and each 
having an equal opportunity to contribute to its content, drafted this Agreement jointly. 

17. Non severability.  Each paragraph of this Agreement is intertwined with the others and is 
not severable unless by mutual consent of the Parties hereto. 

18. Choice of laws.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Parties hereto shall 
be governed by the laws of the State of Colorado.  Venue for any claim, proceeding or action 
shall be in Larimer or Weld County, State of Colorado. 

19. Entire agreement and Authorization.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties related to the subject matter hereof and any prior agreements pertaining 
thereto whether oral or written have been merged or integrated into this Agreement.  Each of the 
undersigned represents to the others that he/she is authorized by his/her respective entity to 
execute this Agreement on behalf of that entity. 

 

[Signatures follow on separate page] 

  



4 
 

Water Right Holder – Big Thompson Ditch and Manufacturing 
 
 
By: ___________________________ 
  
 Title:  
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO  ) 
     ) ss 
COUNTY OF     ) 
 
 SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this _____ day of _____________, 2019 by 
____________________. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Notary Public 
____________________________________ 
 
____________________________________ 
Address 
____________________________________ 
Telephone 
 
 
My Commission Expires: __________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5 
 

Water Right Holder – Koenig No. 1 Contract Storage Water 
 
 
By: ___________________________ 
  
 Title:  
  
 
STATE OF COLORADO  ) 
     ) ss 
COUNTY OF     ) 
 
 SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this _____ day of _____________, 2019 by 
____________________. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Notary Public 
____________________________________ 
 
____________________________________ 
Address 
____________________________________ 
Telephone 
 
 
My Commission Expires: __________________________ 
 
 
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, 
a municipal corporation 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
 Gary Lebsack, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: ______________________________ 
 Diana Seele, Town Clerk 
 

 















  
 
 

 
 
 
   

 
Resolution 

                          No. 2020-01 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 
       



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-01 

 
A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING THE PUBLIC PLACE FOR POSTING   
NOTICES PURSUANT TO C.R.S. SECTION 24-6-402(2)(c)  

WHEREAS, the Colorado Open Meetings Law was enacted by the Colorado State 
Legislature on April 29, 1991, and this law declares that the formation of public policy is public 
business and may not be conducted in secret; and  

WHEREAS, the Colorado Open Meetings law also stipulates that the public place, or 
places, for posting such notices shall be designated annually; and  

WHEREAS, the front entryway of the Johnstown Town Hall has previously been the 
physical official public posting location; and 

WHEREAS, consistent with House Bill 19-1087, the Town hereby desires to post notice 
of the Town’s public meetings not only in a physical location, but also on the Town’s website as 
the Town’s official online presence to the greatest extent practicable; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council believes that posting notices on the Town website is a 
more effective means of dissemination and provides more flexibility than the physical location.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN  COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, as follows: 

1.  Designation.  The Town Council of the Town of Johnstown, in compliance with C.R.S. 
Section 24-6-402(2)(c) of the Colorado Open Meetings Law, hereby designates the Town 
website at www.townofjohnstown.com and the Town Hall for posting notices.     

 
 
PASSED, SIGNED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ________________, 2020. 
 
       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ATTEST: 
 
By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
      Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 
AGENDA ITEM 7 
 
 
 
 

Town Manager Report 
 
 
 
 



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN 

MEMORANDUM 
 

The Community That Cares 

 

 

TO:   Honorable Mayor and Town Council Members 

 

FROM:  Matt LeCerf, Town Manager 

 

DATE:  January 6, 2020 

 

CC:   Town Staff 

Local Media 

 

SUBJECT:  Departmental Report 

 

 

Upcoming Town Council Work Sessions – If there are topics that the Council would like staff to 

schedule for discussion, please let me know. The following topics are recommended for Council 

discussion (all meetings will be held in the Town Council Chambers unless otherwise indicated): 

 

 01/06/2020 – Regular Town Council Meeting 

 01/20/2020 – Offices closed - Martin Luther King Holiday 

 01/22/2020 – Regular Town Council Meeting  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Administration, Finance, & Planning 

 Senior Center Attendance/Presentation – Matt attended the December luncheon at the 

Senior Center and talked with the attendees about the upcoming 2020 budget and the 

achievements in 2019 as well. The next slated date for attendance at the Senior Center is 

in March just prior to the election, which will enable for education about any ballot and 

referendum issues to be considered by the Council in the April 2020 Election Day. 

 Johnstown Downtown Association – Matt met with several of the Downtown Business 

Owners in Johnstown. They have a desire to create several events in downtown and really 

continue to grow our downtown as a preferred destination. They will be coming to 

present to the Council later in the month of January. 

 Meeting with CSU Leadership Class – The Mayor and Matt met with CSU’s leadership 

instructor who coordinates real-world learning outside of the classroom. The class is 

currently exploring the possibility of having their learning experience in Johnstown in 

April. 

 List of Bills – The list of bills includes payments for the last week of November as well as 

the entire month of December, so there are several vendors payments that reflect two 

months’ worth of payments. 

 Caselle conversion – January 1st, the databases for the Caselle conversion will be 

changed out to reflect the new fund structure and processes.  The system will be mapped 

internally and should be ready to go January 2nd. 



 2020 Budget Document – The document is nearly complete and should be available on 

our website soon. 

 

Police Department 

Community Policing, Outreach & Miscellaneous Items: 

 Officer of the Year- Officer Jacob Blackburn was awarded JPD’s officer of the year for 

2019 for his positive community involvement with kids and for his hard work and 

dedication securing grant funding for the new JPD firearms range.   

 

Public Works Department 

Streets, Stormwater, & Parks 

 Snow – Due to the colder weather the last few weeks, Staff has stayed busy scraping ice 

that was left after the Thankgiving snowstorm. Storm inlets were the main priority to help 

with drainage in the warmer weather. Crew will continue to scrape as needed to ensure 

positive drainage flow.  

 Streets – Crews have been repairing pot holes around Town due to the freeze and thaw 

that is happening. Approximately 200 lbs. of patch has been used to repair these areas. 

Road grading is ongoing and 11 road miles were graded including CR 3, CR 20C, CR 50, 

CR 46, CR 44, and CR 42.  

 Signs – A stop sign was replaced at Charlotte and Jay due to being damaged by a vehicle. 

The road signs that CDOT were going to replace at Highway 60 and Parish, Telep and 

Colorado Blvd were returned back to CDOT. The signs delivered were too long and 

needed to be shortened to fit the mast arms. We hope to have them completed by mid-

January. These sign will be replacing the lighted units that CDOT noted as safety 

concerns on their roadway.  

 Sweeping – Johnstown Farms, Rolling Hills and Clearview streets were cleaned. The 

street sweeper will continue to go out on a regular schedule, weather permitting, to help 

pick up debris placed after the snowstorm.  

 Road Survey – The 2020 fiscal year budget has the Road Pavement Condition 

Assessment planned to help Town Staff better understand the conditions of our roadways 

and avoid future issues similar to what happened in the 2019 overlay project. The survey 

will show thickness, condition, and type of base under these roads for better project 

management and roadway assessment. A request for proposal of this assessment 

advertised with a January 24, 2020 deadline for responses. We are hoping to have staff 

recommendation in front of Town Council for approval by February 17, 2020. 

 

Water & Wastewater 

 Water plant – Staff has replaced the VFD for the recycle pump at the water plant. We are 

still waiting on the VFD for the #5 pump in the distribution pump house. Staff has been 

doing regular maintenance of the DAF also. With water demand low, staff is working 

hard to get caught up on any and all repairs.  

 Filter Media – The media replacement budgeted for 2020 is in design. We are hoping to 

have the media replaced before water demands increase in the system.  

 Water Leak – On December 20 a water leak was reported in the 900 block of Charlotte. 

Staff immediately started the repair and found that two leaks were in need of repair 

within 8 ft. of each other. Staff was able to repair both leaks by 2 pm that afternoon. 



Charlotte Ave was found to have an old 8 inch cast iron line. After conversation with 

staff it was brought to our attention that this line has had multiple repairs done to it in the 

last few years. Staff will be placing this on the Capital Improvement Program list for 

replacement.  

 Wastewater Plant – Weifield Group has been working at the CWWTP installing conduits 

for the Aeration Project. Weather permitting, the project should be completed by end of 

January.  

 Sewer Project– As reported on the last report, IMEG (Town Contract Engineer) and staff 

solicited nine contractors for RFP’s to partner with the Town on the sewer capacity 

project. RFP’s were returned on the 20 of December and we received 4 responses from 

possible partners. We will be reviewing these RFP’s and should have a decision on which 

firm we plan on working with by end of January. A staff recommendation will be 

presented to Town Council for approval.  

 Low point expansion – The 2020 fiscal year budget has the expansion of the Low Point 

Wastewater Treatment Plant design. With all the growth that is projected to be serviced 

by the Low Point WWTP the need to start design of the Low point plant and expand 

from 0.5 MGD to 1.5 MGD needs to get started soon. A request for proposal of this 

design advertised and the deadline to receive proposals back is on January 31, 2020. We 

are hoping to have staff recommendation in front of Town Council for approval on 

February 17, 2020. 



 
AGENDA ITEM 9A 
 
 
 
 
                       Second Reading 

 
Ordinance Number 2019-165 



TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
  
ITEM NUMBER:  9A 

SUBJECT: Final Reading: An Ordinance Amending Chapter 18 Of The 
Johnstown Municipal Code To Adopt: (1) The International 
Residential Code, 2018 Edition; (2) The International Building 
Code, 2018 Edition; (3) The International Mechanical Code, 2018 
Edition; (4) The International Plumbing Code, 2018 Edition; (5) 
The International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition; (6) 
The International Fuel Gas Code, 2018 Edition; (7) The 
International Fire Code, 2018 Edition; International; (8) The 
International Property Maintenance Code, 2018 Edition; (9) The 
National Electrical Code, 2017 Edition; (10) The International 
Existing Building Code, 2018 Edition; And (11) The International 
Swimming Pool And Spa Code, 2018 Edition. 

 
ACTION PROPOSED: Consider the Ordinance 165 to adopt and amend Chapter 18 for 

New Building Regulations for the Town of Johnstown. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 1. Recommended Building Regulations and the Associated 

Amendment Related to the Building Regulations 
 
PRESENTED BY:  Matt LeCerf, Town Manager 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  
 
Enclosed for your review and consideration is an ordinance that will amend the current Town of 
Johnstown Building Code Regulations – Chapter 18. The Town has been operating and applying 
the various International Code Council (ICC) from 2006. The proposed regulation would bring 
the Town of Johnstown to the current codes that are available for adoption from the ICC.  New 
codes are generally issued and revised by the ICC in 3 year increments. The codes that are 
presented and adopted will help insure better construction methods resulting in enhanced safety 
for those who occupy various structures.   
 
As part of the adoption, the Town’s consulting building inspector conducted several listening and 
informational sessions earlier in the year to ensure that contractors who desired to attend were 
aware of the pending adoption of these codes. Appropriate public outreach attempts were made 
to communicate the changes in the codes prior to bringing this to Council formal adoption. It 
would be our intent that the codes would go into effect on January 1, 2020. 
 
The codes that will be adopted area as follows with amendments is listed below. The full 
language of the ordinance as previously mentioned is included in this item. 
 



(1) The International Residential Code, 2018 Edition;  
(2) The International Building Code, 2018 Edition;  
(3) The International Mechanical Code, 2018 Edition;  
(4) The International Plumbing Code, 2018 Edition;  
(5) The International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition;  
(6) The International Fuel Gas Code, 2018 Edition;  
(7) The International Fire Code, 2018 Edition; International;  
(8) The International Property Maintenance Code, 2018 Edition;  
(9) The National Electrical Code, 2017 Edition;  
(10) The International Existing Building Code, 2018 Edition; And  
(11) The International Swimming Pool And Spa Code, 2018 Edition. 
 
UPDATE: 
At the December 2, 2019 meeting the item was removed and tabled from the consent agenda to a 
date specific of January 6, 2020. This allowed staff to meet with Councilmember Molinar to 
discuss details of the code and to consider other inclusions into the code sections. The change 
made to the proposed ordinance which is now in a final form is the inclusion of IRC Section 
R302.13 (Fire Protection of Floors) which was originally proposed for deletion. The codes will 
now go into effect on February 1, 2020. 
 
LEGAL ADVICE: 
The ordinance was drafted and reviewed by the Town Attorney. 
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: 
Not Applicable 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the ordinance as presented – this will adopt the 
ordinance as a first reading was previously conducted on November 18, 2019.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: FOR THE SUBDIVISION DEVELOPMENT AND 
IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 
 
For Approval: 
I move to approve Ordinance 165 as presented. 

For Denial: 

I move that we deny Ordinance 165 as presented. 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Town Manager 



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ORDINANCE NO. 2019-165 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 18 OF THE JOHNSTOWN 
MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADOPT: (1) THE INTERNATIONAL 
RESIDENTIAL CODE, 2018 EDITION; (2) THE INTERNATIONAL 
BUILDING CODE, 2018 EDITION; (3) THE INTERNATIONAL 
MECHANICAL CODE, 2018 EDITION; (4) THE INTERNATIONAL 
PLUMBING CODE, 2018 EDITION; (5) THE INTERNATIONAL ENERGY 
CONSERVATION CODE, 2012 EDITION; (6) THE INTERNATIONAL 
FUEL GAS CODE, 2018 EDITION; (7) THE INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE, 
2018 EDITION; (8) THE INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE 
CODE, 2018 EDITION; (9) THE NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE, 2017 
EDITION; (10) THE INTERNATIONAL EXISTING BUILDING CODE, 2018 
EDITION; AND (11) THE INTERNATIONAL SWIMMING POOL AND SPA 
CODE, 2018 EDITION. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Johnstown, Colorado (“Town”) is a Colorado home rule 

municipality, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado and the 
Town’s Home Rule Charter; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council is vested with authority to administer the affairs of the 

Town; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the Town Council adopted 

building codes in Chapter 18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Council desires to adopt the following new or amended versions 

of building codes: (1) the International Residential Code, 2018 Edition; (2) the International 
Building Code, 2018 Edition; (3) the International Mechanical Code, 2018 Edition; (4) the 
International Plumbing Code, 2018 Edition; (5) the International Energy Conservation Code, 
2012 Edition; (6) the International Fuel Gas Code, 2018 Edition; (7) the International Fire Code, 
2018 Edition; (8) the International Property Maintenance Code, 2018 Edition; (9) the National 
Electrical Code, 2017 Edition; (10) the International Existing Building Code, 2018 Edition; and 
(11) the International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2018 Edition; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council finds, determines and declares that this Ordinance is 

promulgated under the general police power of the Town, is promulgated for the preservation of 
public health, welfare, peace, safety and property and is in the best interests of the Town of 
Johnstown. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, THAT: 
 



Section 1. Article I of Chapter 18.  Sections 18-1 and 18-3 of Article I of Chapter 18 
of the Johnstown Municipal Code are hereby amended in full to read as follows:   

 
Sec. 18-1. International Residential Code.  
 
Pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Residential Code, 2018 Edition as 

published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, IL 60478, 
Chapters 1 through 43 inclusive and Appendix Chapters F and H (“IRC”) is hereby adopted by reference 
as the Town of Johnstown Residential Building Code to have the same force and effect as if fully set forth 
herein.  

Sec. 18-3. Amendments. 

The International Residential Code, 2018 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified with the 
following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows:  

(1) IRC Section R101.1 (Title) is amended by the addition of the term “Town of Johnstown” 
where indicated. 

 
(2) IRC Section R105.1 (Required) is amended by replacing the words “building official” 

with “Town.” 
 
(3) IRC Section R105.2 (Work Exempt from Permit) is amended by: 

 
Building Exception #1 is deleted in its entirety and replaced with “One-Story detached accessory 
structures used as tool and storage sheds, playhouses and similar uses, provided the floor area does not 
exceed 120 square feet and the roof height does not exceed 10 feet above grade measured from a point 
directly outside the exterior walls of the structure.” 

 
Building Exception #10 is deleted in its entirety and replaced with: “Shingle repair or replacement work 
not exceeding one square (100 square feet in area) of covering per building.” 

 
(4) IRC Section 105.5 (Expiration) is amended by the deletion of this section in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 
 
“Every permit issued by the building official under the provisions of this code shall expire by limitation 
and become null and void if the building or work authorized by such permit is not commenced within 180 
days from the date of such permit, or if the building or work authorized by such permit is suspended or 
abandoned at any time after the work is commenced for a period of 180 days. Before such work can be 
recommenced, a new permit shall be first obtained to do so, and the fee therefor shall be one half the 
amount required for a new permit for such work, provided no changes have been made or will be made in 
the original plans and specifications for such work, and provided further that such suspension or 
abandonment has not exceeded one year. In order to renew action on a permit after expiration, the 
permittee shall pay a new full permit fee.” 

 
(5) IRC Section Rl08.5 (Refunds) is amended by the deletion of this section in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 
 



“The Town may authorize refunding of any fee paid hereunder which was erroneously paid or collected.  
The Town may authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent (80%) of the permit fee paid when no 
work has been done under a permit issued in accordance with this code.  The Town may authorize 
refunding of not more than 80 percent (80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit 
for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or cancelled before any plan reviewing is done. 
The Town shall not authorize refunding of any fee paid except on written application filed by the original 
permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment.” 

 
(6) IRC Section R108.6 (Work commencing before permit issuance) is amended by the 

deletion of this section in its entirety and replaced with the following: 
 
“Any person who commences any work on a building, structure, electrical, gas, mechanical or plumbing 
system before obtaining the necessary permits may be subject to an investigation fee established by the 
Town. The amount of the investigation fee may be in the amount up to the amount of the permit fee that 
would normally be accessed for the specific type of construction activity, with any such investigation fee 
being in addition to all other required permit fees. The investigation fee shall be collected whether or not 
a permit is then subsequently issued.” 

 
(7) IRC Section R109.1.5 (Other inspections) is amended by the addition of a new subsection 

as follows: 
 

“R109.1.5.2 Insulation Inspection of the structure shall be made following installation of the wall, ceiling 
and floor insulation and exterior windows and before wall coverings are installed.” 

 
(8) IRC Section R110.4 (Temporary occupancy) is amended by the deletion of the words 

“building official” in the first and second sentence and replaced with “Town.” 
 
(9) IRC Section R112.1 (General) is amended by the deletion of the last three sentences and 

replaced with the following: 
 
“The members of the Council of Appeals shall be comprised of the members of the Town Council.” 

 
(10) IRC Section R112.3 (Qualifications) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 

entirety. 
 
(11) IRC Section R113.2 (Notice of Violation) is amended by the addition of “Notice of 

Violations shall be delivered in accordance with section 107 of the IPMC” after the last paragraph. 
 
(12) IRC Section R202 (Definitions) is amended by addition of the following: 

 
“Sleeping Room” (Bedroom) is any enclosed habitable space within a dwelling unit, which complies with 
the minimum room dimension requirements of IRC Sections R304 and R305 and contains a closet, an 
area that is useable as a closet, or an area that is readily convertible for use as a closet. Living rooms, 
family rooms and other similar habitable areas that are so situated and designed so as to clearly indicate 
these intended uses, shall not be interpreted as sleeping rooms.” 

 



(13) IRC Table R301.2 (1) is filled to provide the following: 
 

Table R301.2 (1) 
Climatic and Geographic Design Criteria 

 
 
(14) IRC Section R303.4 (Mechanical Ventilation) is amended by replacing “5 air changes per 

hour” with “7 air changes per hour” and replacing the words “in accordance with section N1102.4.1.2” 
with “in accordance with section 402.4.1.2 of the International Energy Conservation Code 2012 Edition.” 

 
(15) IRC Section R309.5 (Fire sprinklers) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 

entirety. 
 
(16) IRC Section R310.1 (Emergency escape and rescue opening required) is amended by 

adding the following after the first paragraph: 
 
“All windows located in basements, habitable attics and sleeping rooms shall meet all the requirements of 
section R310.1 through R310.2.5.” 
  
The section is further amended by deletion of Exception #2 and its conditions. 

 
(17) IRC Section R310.2.3 (Window wells) is amended by the addition of the following: 

 
“All windows in basements shall be an escape and rescue window, if requiring a window well pursuant to 
the International Residential Code shall comply with the dimension requirements set forth in this section.” 

 
(18) IRC Section R310.2.3.1 (Ladder and steps) is amended by the addition of the following 

exception to read as follows: 
 
“Exception: Only one window well ladder shall be required in an unfinished basement.” 

 
(19) IRC Section R312.1 (Guards required) is amended by the addition of a third paragraph as 

follows: 
 
“All area wells, stair wells, window wells and light wells attached to any building that are located less 
than 36 inches (914 mm) from the nearest intended walking surface and deeper than 30 inches (762 mm) 

 
Ground 
Snow 
Load 

 
Wind Design 

Seismic 
 

Category 

 
Subject to Damage From 

 
Winter 
Design 
Temp 
Deg. F 

 
Ice barrier 
Underlayment 
Required 

Flood 
Hazard 

 
Air 
Freezing 
Index 

 
Mean 
Annual 
Temp Speed 

(V) 
Topographic 
effects 

Weathering Frost 
Line 

Termite 

 
30psf 

 
115 

 
No 

 
B 

 
Severe 

 
30 in. 

 
Slight to 
Moderate 

 
1 

 
YES 

 
26713 

 
1000 

 
43F 



below the surrounding ground level, creating an opening greater than 24 inches (610 mm) measured 
perpendicular from the building, shall be protected with guardrails conforming to this section around the 
entire opening, or be provided with an equivalent barrier. 

 
Exceptions: 
 
(a) The access side of stairways need not be protected. 
(b) Area and window wells provided for emergency escape and rescue windows may be 

protected with approved grates or covers that comply with Section R310.4 of this code. 
(c) Covers and grates may be used over stairways and other openings used exclusively for 

service access or for admitting light or ventilation.” 
 
(20) IRC Section R313 (Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems) is amended by the deletion of this 

section in its entirety. 
 
(21) IRC Section 315.3 (Location) is amended by deleting the first sentence and replacing it 

with the following: 
 
“Carbon monoxide detection shall be installed in dwelling units within 15 feet of each separate sleeping 
area and on each level.” 

 
(22) IRC Section R401.2 (Requirements) is amended by the addition of the following after the 

first paragraph: 
 
“Foundations shall be designed, and the construction drawings stamped by a Colorado registered design 
professional. The foundation design must be based on an engineer’s soils report. The drawings must be 
noted with the engineering firm name, specific location for design and soils report number. A site 
certification prepared by State of Colorado registered design professional is required for setback 
verification on all new Group R Division 3 occupancies.” 

 
(23) IRC Section R405.1 (Concrete or masonry foundations) is amended with the addition of 

the following after the first sentence:  
 
“All foundation drains shall be designed and inspected by a State of Colorado registered design 
professional.” 

 
(24) IRC Chapter 11 IRC Chapter 11 (Energy Efficiency) is amended by the deletion of this 

chapter in its entirety and replaced with the 2012 International Energy Conservation Code. 
 
(25) IRC Section G2415.12 IRC Section G2415.12 (Minimum burial depth) is amended by the 

addition of the following:  
 
“All plastic fuel gas piping shall be installed a minimum of 18 inches (457 mm) below grade.” 

 



(26) IRC Section G2415.12.1 IRC Section G2415.12.1 (Individual outdoor appliances) is 
amended by the deletion of this section in its entirety. 

 
(27) IRC Section G2417.4.1 IRC Section G2417.4.1 (Test pressure) is amended by replacing 3 

psig with 10 psig. 
 
(28) IRC Section P2503.5.1 IRC Section P2503.5.1 (Rough plumbing) is amended by the 

deletion of the first sentence and replaced with the following:  
 

“DWV systems shall be tested on completion of the rough piping installation by water or air without 
evidence of leakage.” 

 
(29) IRC Section P2603.5.1 IRC Section P2603.5.1 (Sewer depth) is amended by filling in 

both areas where indicated to read “12 inches (305 mm).” 
 
(30) IRC Section P3103.1.1 IRC Section P3103.1.1 (Roof extension) is amended by replacing 

“6 inches” with “12 inches.” 
 
Section 2. Article II of Chapter 18.  Sections 18-11 and 18-13 of Article II of Chapter 

18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code are hereby amended in full to read as follows:   
 
Sec. 18-11. International Building Code.  
 
Pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Building Code, 2018 Edition as 

published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, IL 60478, 
Chapters 1 through 33 inclusive and Appendix Chapter H and I (“IBC”), is hereby adopted by reference 
as the Town of Johnstown Building Code to have the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

 
Sec. 18-13. Amendments. 
 
The International Building Code, 2018 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified with the 

following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows: 
 

(1) IBC Section 101.1 (Title) is amended by the addition of the term “Town of Johnstown” 
where indicated. 

 
(2) IBC Section 101.4.3 (Plumbing) is amended by the deletion of the last sentence. 
 
(3) IBC Section 101.4.5 (Fire prevention) is amended by replacing “International Fire Code” 

with “adopted fire code.” 
 
(4) IBC Section 101.4.6 (Energy) is amended by replacing the words “International Energy 

Conservation Code” with “2012 International Energy Conservation Code.” 
 



(5) IBC Section 105.1 (Required) is amended by replacing the words “building official” with 
‘Town.” 

 
(6) IBC Section 105.2 (Work exempt from permit) is amended by: 

 
Building Exception #1 is deleted in its entirety and replaced with “One-Story detached accessory 
structures used as tool and storage sheds, playhouses and similar uses, provided the floor area does not 
exceed 120 square feet and the roof height does not exceed 10 feet above grade measured from a point 
directly outside the exterior walls of the structure.” 
 
Building Exception #14 is added to read “Shingle repair or replacement work not exceeding one square 
(100 square feet in area) of covering per building.” 

 
(7) IBC Section 105.5 (Expiration) is amended by the deletion of this section in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 
 
“Every permit issued by the building official under the provisions of this code shall expire by limitation 
and become null and void if the building or work authorized by such permit is not commenced within 180 
days from the date of such permit, or if the building or work authorized by such permit is suspended or 
abandoned at any time after the work is commenced for a period of 180 days. Before such work can be 
recommenced, a new permit shall be first obtained to do so, and the fee therefor shall be one half the 
amount of the original permit fee, exclusive of any taxes or other fees already accessed, provided no 
changes have been made or will be made in the original plans and specifications for such work, and 
provided further that such suspension or abandonment has not exceeded one year. In order to renew 
action on a permit after expiration, the permittee shall pay a new full permit fee.” 

 
(8) IBC Section 109.4 (Work commencing before permit issuance) is amended by the 

deletion of this section in its entirety and replaced with the following: 
 
“Any person who commences any work on a building, structure, electrical, gas, mechanical or plumbing 
system before obtaining the necessary permits may be subject to an investigation fee established by the 
Town. The amount of the investigation fee may be in the amount up to the amount of the permit fee that 
would normally be accessed for the specific type of construction activity, with any such investigation fee 
being in addition to all other required permit fees. The investigation fee shall be collected whether or not 
a permit is then subsequently issued.” 

 
(9) Section 109.6 (Refunds) is amended by the deletion of this section in its entirety and 

replaced with the following: 
 
“The Town may authorize refunding of any fee paid hereunder which was erroneously paid or collected. 
The Town may authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent (80%) of the permit fee paid when no 
work has been done under a permit issued in accordance with this code. The Town may authorize 
refunding of not more than 80 percent (80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit 
for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or cancelled before any plan reviewing is done. 
The Town shall not authorize refunding of any fee paid except on written application filed by the original 
permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment.” 

 



(10) IBC Section 111.3 (Temporary occupancy) is amended by deleting the words “building 
official” in the first and second sentence and replacing it with “Town.” 

 
(11) IBC Section 113.1 (General) is amended by the deletion of the last two sentences and 

replaced with the following: 
 
“The members of the Council of Appeals shall be comprised of the members of the Town Council.” 

 
(12) IBC Section 113.3 (Qualifications) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 

entirety. 
 
(13) IBC Section 114.2 (Notice of Violation) is amended by the addition of “Notice of 

Violations shall be delivered in accordance with section 107 of the IPMC” after the last paragraph. 
 
(14) IBC Section 202 (Definitions) is amended by addition of the following: 

 
“Sleeping Room” (Bedroom) is any enclosed habitable space within a dwelling unit, which complies with 
the minimum room dimension requirements of IBC Section 1208 and contains a closet, an area that is 
useable as a closet, or an area that is readily convertible for use as a closet. Living rooms, family rooms 
and other similar habitable areas that are so situated and designed so as to clearly indicate these intended 
uses, shall not be interpreted as sleeping rooms.” 

 
(15) IBC Section 915.2.1 (Dwelling units) is amended by the deletion of the first sentence and 

replaced with the following: 
 
“Carbon monoxide detection shall be installed in dwelling units within 15 feet of each separate sleeping 
area and on every level.” 

 
(16) IBM Section 1015.2 (Where required) is amended by the addition of a second paragraph 

inserted before the exceptions as follows: 
 
“All area wells, stair wells, window wells and light wells attached to any building that are located less 
than 36 inches (914.4 mm) from the nearest intended walking surface and deeper than 30 inches (762 
mm) below the surrounding ground level, creating an opening greater than 24 inches (610 mm) measured 
perpendicular from the building, shall be protected with guardrails conforming to this section around the 
entire opening, or be provided with an equivalent barrier.” 

 
(17) IBC Section 1020.1 (Table 1020.1 Corridor Fire-Resistance Rating) is amended to 

replace the corridor rating for R Occupancies with a sprinkler system from 0.5 to 1- Hour fire rating. 
 
(18) IBC Section 1030.2. (Minimum size) is amended by the deletion of the exception. 
 
(19) IBC Section 1301.1.1 (Criteria) is amended by replacing “International Energy 

Conservation Code” with the “2012 International Energy Conservation Code.” 
 



(20) IBM Section 1612.3 (Establishment of flood hazard areas) is amended by the insertion of 
“Town of Johnstown” where indicated in [Name of Jurisdiction] and the date of the latest flood insurance 
study for the Town of Johnstown, where indicated in [Date of Issuance]. 
 

Section 3.  Article III of Chapter 18.  Sections 18-21 and 18-23 of Article III of Chapter 
18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code are hereby amended in full to read as follows:   

 
Sec. 18-21. International Mechanical Code.  
 
Pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Mechanical Code, 2018 Edition, as 

published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, IL 60478, 
Chapters 1 through 15 inclusive (“IMC”), is hereby adopted by reference as the Town of Johnstown 
Mechanical Code to have the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

Sec. 18-23. Amendments. 

The International Mechanical Code, 2018 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified with the 
following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows:  

(1)  IMC Section 101.1 (Title) is amended by the addition of the term “Town of Johnstown” where 
indicated. 

 

Section 4.  Article IV of Chapter 18.  Sections 18-31 and 18-33 of Article IV of Chapter 
18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code are hereby amended in full to read as follows: 

 
Sec. 18-31. International Plumbing Code.  
 
Pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Plumbing Code, 2018 Edition, as 

published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, IL 60478, 
Chapters 1 through 13 inclusive (“IPC”), is hereby adopted by reference as the Town of Johnstown 
Plumbing Code to have the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

Sec. 18-33. Amendments. 

The International Plumbing Code, 2018 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified with the 
following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows:  

(1)   IPC Section 101.1 (Title) is amended by the addition of the term “Town of Johnstown” where 
indicated.  

(2)  IPC Section 305.4.1 (Sewer depth) IPC Section 305.4.1 (Sewer depth) is amended by filling in 
both areas where indicated to read “12 inches (305 mm).”  

(3)  IPC Section 312.3 (Drainage and vent air test) is amended by deletion of the first sentence.  

(4)  IPC Section 903.1 (Roof extension) is amended by inserting the number “12” (152.4 mm) 
where indicated in the second sentence. 

 



Section 5.  Article V of Chapter 18.  Sections 18-41 and 18-43 of Article V of Chapter 18 
of the Johnstown Municipal Code are hereby amended in full to read as follows: 

 
Sec 18-41. International Energy Conservation Code.  
 

Pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 
Edition, as published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, 
IL 60478, Chapters 1 through 5 inclusive (“IECC”), is hereby adopted by reference as the Town of 
Johnstown Energy Conservation Code to have the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

Sec 18-43. Amendments. 

The International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified with 
the following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows:  

(1)  IECC Section C101.1 (Title) is amended by the addition of the term “Town of 
Johnstown” where indicated.  

  
(2) IECC Section 101.5.1 (Low energy buildings) is amended by adding Exception #3 to read 

as follows:  
 

“Commercial structures that lack one or more of the basic amenities or utilities required for year-round 
occupancy or use such as a permanent heating system, insulation, and/or year-round usable plumbing.” 

 
(3) IECC Section 109.1 (General) is amended by the deletion of the last three sentences and 

replaced with the following: 
 

“The members of the Council of Appeals shall be comprised of the members of the Town Council.” 
 
(4) IECC Section 109.3 (Qualifications) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 

entirety. 
 
(5) IECC Section R402.4.1.2 (Testing) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 

entirety. 

 
Section 6.  Article VI of Chapter 18.  Sections 18-51 and 18-53 of Article VI of Chapter 

18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code are hereby amended in full to read as follows: 
 
Sec. 18-51. International Fuel Gas Code. 
 
Pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Fuel Gas Code, 2018 Edition, as 

published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, IL 60478, 
Chapters 1 through 8 inclusive (“IFGC”), is hereby adopted by reference as the Town of Johnstown Fuel 
Gas Code to have the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.   

Sec. 18-53. Amendments. 



The International Fuel Gas Code, 2018 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified with the 
following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows: 

(1)  IFGC Section 101.1 (Title) is amended by the addition of the term “Town of Johnstown” 
where indicated.  

 
(2)  IFGC Section 404.12 (Minimal burial depth) is amended by the addition of the following:  

“All plastic fuel gas piping shall be installed a minimum of 18 inches (457 mm) below grade.” 

 (3) IFGC Section 406.4.1 (Test pressure) is amended by changing the requirement of “3 
psig” with “10 psig.” 

 
Section 7.  Article VII of Chapter 18.  Sections 18-61 and 18-63 of Article VII of 

Chapter 18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code are hereby amended in full to read as follows: 
 

Sec. 18-61. International Fire Code. 

Pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Fire Code, 2018 Edition, as 
published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, IL 60478, 
Chapters 1 through 80 inclusive and the Appendices (“IFC”), is hereby adopted by reference as the Town 
of Johnstown Fire Code to have the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein. 

Sec. 18-63 Amendments. 
The International Fire Code, 2018 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified and amended with 

the following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows: 

(1) IFC Section 101.1 Title.  These regulations shall be known as the Fire Code of the Town 
of Johnstown, hereinafter referred to as “this code.” 

(2)  IFC Section 105.6.16 Flammable and combustible liquids.  

2. To store, handle or use Class I liquids in excess of 10 gallons in a building or in excess 
of 50 gallons outside of a building, except that a permit is not required for the following: 

3. To store, handle or use Class II or Class IIIA liquids in excess of 50 gallons in a 
building or in excess of 249 gallons outside a building, except for fuel oil used in 
connection with oil-burning equipment. 

(3) IFC Section 105.6.30 Mobile food preparation vehicles. A permit is required for mobile 
food preparation vehicles equipped with appliances that produce smoke or grease-laden vapors. 
Businesses shall be required to comply with Annex B of NFPA 96 (2017): Standard of Ventilation 
Control and Fire Protection of Commercial Cooking Operations, as well as specific policies approved by 
the fire code official. 

(4) IFC Section 105.6.36 Outdoor assembly event. An operational permit is required to 
conduct an outdoor assembly event where planned attendance exceeds 1000 persons, or where the event 
includes high-risk activities as defined in Chapter 2 of this code. 



(5) IFC 105.6.43 Temporary membrane structures and tents. An operational permit is 
required to operate an air-supported temporary membrane structure or a tent having an area in excess of 
700 square feet. 

(6) IFC 105.6.51 Marijuana and/or hemp establishments or businesses. Businesses or 
establishments that sell, grow, or process marijuana or hemp, or businesses or establishments that perform 
extractions of marijuana or hemp, shall be required to comply with Chapter 38 of NFPA 1: Fire Code 
(2018 edition), as well as specific policies approved by the fire code official and the local government 
with jurisdiction, to include obtaining the required permit(s) for the operations of said business or 
establishment.  

(7) IFC 106.2 Schedule of permit fees. Fees for any permits, inspections, and/or services 
authorized by this code shall be assessed in accordance with the fee schedule established by the Front 
Range Fire Rescue Fire Protection District Board or the Loveland Rural Fire Protection District Board. 

(8) IFC 109.1 Board of appeals established. In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, 
decisions or determinations made by the fire code official relative to the application and interpretation of 
this code, there shall be and is hereby created a board of appeals. The board of appeals shall be appointed 
by the Town of Johnstown governing body, shall hold office at its pleasure, and shall be comprised of the 
members of the Board of Adjustments. The board shall adopt rules of procedure for conducting its 
business, and shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a duplicate copy to 
the fire code official. 

(9) IFC Section 109.3 is hereby deleted in its entirety. 

(10) IFC 110.4 Violation penalties. Persons who shall violate a provision of this code or shall 
fail to comply with any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter, repair or do work in 
violation of the approved construction documents or directive of the fire code official, or of a permit or 
certificate used under provisions of this code, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction shall 
be subject to the penalties, costs and orders as provided by $100. Each day that a violation continues after 
due notice has been served shall be deemed a separate offense. 

(11) IFC 112.4 Failure to comply. Any person who shall continue to work after having been 
issued a stop work order subject to the adopting of the 2018 IFC, except such work as that person is 
directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe condition, shall be liable to a fine of $500. 

(12) IFC Section 114 Reporting of Emergencies and False Alarms.  

(1) 114.1 General.  Reporting of fires and hazardous materials releases shall be in 
accordance with Section 114. 

(2) 114.2 Reporting emergencies.  In the event a fire occurs or the discovery of a fire, 
smoke or unauthorized release of flammable, combustible or hazardous materials on any 
property occurs, the owner, owner’s authorized representative or occupant shall without 
delay report such condition to the fire department.  

(3) 114.3 False alarms.  False alarms shall not be given, signaled or transmitted or caused 
or permitted to be given, signaled or transmitted in any manner. 



(13)  IFC Section 202 General Definitions is hereby amended by the following additions: 

(1) BOARD. Where the term "Board" is used, it shall be held to mean the Board of 
Directors of the fire protection district with jurisdiction.  

(2) BOARD OF APPEALS. Wherever the term "Board of Appeals" is used, it shall refer 
to the Town of Johnstown Board of Adjustments, as established and amended in the 
Town of Johnstown Municipal Code.  

(3) DISTRICT. Wherever the word "District" is used, it shall be held to mean the fire 
protection district with jurisdiction.  

(4) HIGH-RISK ACTIVITIES. Special events shall be deemed to be “high-risk 
activities” if they include the following proposed activities: display of fireworks, 
high-speed operation of motor vehicles, mobile food vendors, parades, races, 
temporary road closures, inflatable attractions, or public alcohol sales and/or 
consumption. 

(5) JURISDICTION. Wherever the word "Jurisdiction" is used it shall be held to mean to 
the inclusive boundaries of the fire protection district.  

(6) RURAL FIRE FLOW AREA. The geographic area as determined by the fire code 
official that traditionally has had limited fire flow.  

(7) URBAN FIRE FLOW AREA. The geographic area as determined by the fire code 
official that traditionally has had adequate fire flow.  

(14) IFC 307.1.1 Prohibited open burning. Open burning shall be prohibited when 
atmospheric conditions or local circumstances make such fire hazardous. Open burning shall be 
specifically prohibited during active Red Flag Warnings.  

Exceptions:  

1. Prescribed burning for the purpose of reducing the impact of wildland fire when 
authorized by the fire code official.  

2. Agricultural burning that is approved by the fire code official and is conducted in 
accordance with Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation Number 9 (5 CCR 1001-11). 

(15) IFC 307.2 Permit required. A permit shall be obtained from the County health department 
of jurisdiction in accordance with Section 105.6.32 prior to kindling a fire for recognized silvicultural or 
range or wildlife management practices, or prevention or control of disease or pests. Application for such 
approval shall only be presented by and permits issued to the owner of the land, or the owner’s designated 
agent, on which the fire is to be kindled. 

(16) IFC 308.1.6.3 Sky lanterns. The use, lighting, tethering or release of sky lanterns is 
prohibited. 

 
(17) IFC 311.5 Placards. The fire code official is authorized to require any vacant or 



abandoned buildings or structures determined to be unsafe pursuant to Section 110 of this code relating to 
structural or interior hazards to be marked as required by Sections 311.5.1 through Section 311.5.5. 

(18) IFC 503.1 Where required. Fire apparatus access roads shall be provided and maintained 
in accordance with Section 503.1 through 503.6 and Appendix D “Fire Apparatus Access Roads.” 

(19) IFC 503.1.1 Exception 1.1 If the building is equipped throughout with an approved 
automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with 903.3.1.1, 903.3.1.2 or 903.3.1.3, the dimension 
is allowed to increase to 300 feet. 

(20) IFC 503.1.2 Additional access. A minimum of two approved fire apparatus access roads 
shall be provided to each new residential development or new commercial or multi-family building within 
the jurisdiction. If multiple fire apparatus access roadways cannot be provided, all occupiable structures 
that are located more than 660 feet from the last roadway providing access from two directions, as 
measured from the centerline of this last roadway, shall be protected with an approved automatic fire 
sprinkler system. 

Exception:  Where all occupiable structures beyond 660 feet (201 m) of the centerline of the last 
roadway providing access to the dead-end road are equipped throughout with an approved automatic 
sprinkler system in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1, 903.3.1.2 or 903.3.1.3.3, access from two 
directions shall not be required. 

(21)   IFC 503.1.2.1 Access to buildings. A minimum of two approved fire apparatus 
access drives shall be provided to each building or portion of building hereafter constructed or moved into 
the jurisdiction. 

Exception: One- and two-family dwellings. 

(22) IFC 503.1.3 Limited access. The fire code official is authorized to modify the fire 
apparatus access requirements due to existing waterways, topography, hazards or other factors. 

(23) IFC 503.2 Specifications. Fire apparatus access roads shall be installed and arranged in 
accordance with Section 503 and Appendix D “Fire Apparatus Access Roads.”  

(24) IFC 503.2.5 Dead ends. Dead-end fire apparatus access roads in excess of 150 feet in 
length shall be provided with an approved area for turning around fire apparatus.  

(25) IFC 503.2.7. Grade. Fire apparatus access roads shall not exceed 10 percent in grade. 

Exception: Grades steeper than 10 percent as approved by the fire code official. 

(26) IFC 503.2.8 Angles of approach and departure. Grade changes upon a fire apparatus 
access road or when entering or exiting from or to a fire apparatus access road, shall not exceed a 10 
percent angle of approach or angle of departure.   

(27)  IFC 505.1 Address identification. New and existing buildings or facilities shall be 
provided with approved address identification. The address identification shall be legible and placed in a 
position that is visible from the street or road fronting the property. Address identification characters shall 
contrast with their background. Address numerals shall be Arabic numbers and street names, if required 



to be installed with the numerals, shall be alphabet letters. Numbers shall not be spelled out with alphabet 
letters. Address identification shall be maintained. 

505.1.1.1 Addresses shall be assigned by the governmental entity having jurisdiction and 
shall comply with the Town of Johnstown Addressing System as well as the 
addressing standards of the county in which the property is located. At no time 
shall any new street be assigned the same name as, or one substantially similar 
to, any existing street name in the fire district providing primary emergency 
response. 

505.1.1.2 The approved address numerals shall be visible from the street fronting the 
property, and posted on a contrasting background. Bronze or brass numerals 
shall not be posted on a brick background. 

505.1.1.3 The address numerals for any commercial or industrial buildings shall be 
placed at a height to be clearly visible from the street. Where required by the fire 
code official, address identification shall be provided in additional, approved 
locations to facilitate emergency response. 

505.1.1.4 Where access is by means of a private road and the building cannot be viewed 
from the public way, a monument, pole or other sign or means shall be used to 
identify the structure. 

505.1.1.5 Commercial or multiple-family buildings shall have numerals with a minimum 
height of six inches and stroke width of one-half inch. Buildings three or more 
stories in height or with a total floor area of 15,000 to 50,000 square feet, shall 
have numerals with a minimum eight-inch height and stroke width of one inch. 
Buildings with a total floor area of 50,000 square feet or greater shall have 
numerals with a minimum height of 12 inches and stroke width of 1.5 inches. 

505.1.1.6 Residential buildings that contain no more than two dwelling units shall have a 
minimum four-inch high numerals, with a minimum stroke width of one-half 
inch.  

505.1.1.7 Individual suite or unit addresses shall be displayed with minimum four-inch 
high numerals, with a minimum stroke width of one-half inch. 

505.1.1.8 Monument signs shall not be used in lieu of address numerals on the building. 

505.1.1.9 Buildings with multiple suites, apartments or units shall have the individual suites, 
apartments or units provided with individual identification numbers in an 
approved, sequential order.  Suites, apartments or units located on the first floor 
shall be identified by numbers within the 100 or 1000 range or series; Suites, 
apartments or units located on the second floor shall be identified by numbers 
within the 200 or 2000 range or series; Suites, apartments or units located on the 
third floor units shall be identified by numbers within the 300 or 3000 range or 
series.  Higher floors shall follow this same numbering scheme. Floors below 
grade shall be identified with numerals within the 0100 range on the first floor 



below grade and 0200 on the second floor below grade; lower floors shall follow 
the same numbering pattern. 

505.1.1.10 Buildings, either individually or part of a multi-building complex, that have 
emergency access lanes on sides other than on the addressed street side, may be 
required to have the address numerals and street name on each side that fronts the 
fire lane(s). 

505.1.1.11 Buildings that are addressed on one street, but are accessible from an adjoining 
street, may be required to affix the address numerals and street name on each side 
that is adjacent to the other street(s).  

505.1.1.12 Approved signage shall be provided in conspicuous locations on or within 
buildings to provide clear direction to locate any suite, apartment or unit within 
the building.  

505.1.1.13 Multiple-building complexes shall be provided with approved signage as needed 
to direct first responders to individual buildings. 

(28) IFC 507.3 Fire flow. Fire flow requirements for buildings or portions of buildings and 
facilities shall be determined in accordance with Appendix B of this code.  

(29) IFC 507.5.1.1 Hydrant for fire department connections. Buildings equipped with a fire 
department connection shall have a fire hydrant located with 150 feet of the fire department connection, 
using an approved route without obstacles. The hydrant and fire department connection shall be on the 
same side of the fire apparatus access road or parking lot drive aisle, unless otherwise approved by the fire 
code official.  

Exception: The distance shall be permitted to exceed 150 feet where approved by the fire 
code official. 

(30) IFC 509.1.2 Utility disconnect. The fire code official is authorized to approve utility 
disconnect locations. 

(31) IFC 901.1. Scope. The provisions of this chapter shall specify where fire protection and 
life safety systems are required and shall apply to the design, installation, inspection, operation, testing 
and maintenance of all fire protection systems. Where requirements of this code and the International 
Building Code are in conflict, the more restrictive shall apply. 

(31) IFC 903.2.8.4.5. Dead-end roadways. An approved automatic fire-sprinkler system shall 
be installed in all Group R occupancies, including one- and two-family residences and townhomes, when 
the structure is located beyond 660 feet of the entrance to a dead-end roadway, as measured from the 
centerline of the last roadway providing access to the dead-end road. 

(32) IFC Section 903.2.9 Condition #6 - A Group S-1 fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet (464.5 
m2) for self-storage buildings or structures. 



(33) IFC 903.4.3 Control Valves. Approved supervised indicating control valves shall be 
provided at the point of connection to the riser on each floor in all multi-story structures and to each 
individual tenant space in multi-tenant structures.   

(34) IFC 907.5.2 Alarm notification appliances. Alarm notification appliances shall provide 
full occupant notification throughout the entire building or structure, and shall be designed and installed 
in accordance with NFPA 72. Alarm notification appliances shall be listed for their purpose. 

(35) IFC 3103.2 Approval Required. Tents, canopies and membrane structures in excess of 
700 square feet in size shall not be erected, operated or maintained for any purpose without first obtaining 
a permit and approval from the fire code official.   

(36) IFC 3106.4.1.1 Standby emergency medical services. Public assembly events with an 
anticipated attendance of 350 persons or more shall require the standby services of at least one (1) basic 
life support ambulance staffed with at least two (2) EMT-Basics. Public assembly events with an 
anticipated attendance of more than 1,000 persons shall require the standby services of at least one (1) 
advances life support ambulance staffed with at least one (1) EMT-Paramedic and one (1) EMT-Basic. 
The fire code official is authorized to grant exceptions and/or alternate plans for the provision of standby 
emergency medical services. 

(37) IFC 5001.1 Scope Exception #10: The production, processing and/or storage of distilled 
spirits and wines in wooden barrels and casks when the building or facility is conformance with 
“Recommended Fire Protection Practices for Distilled Spirits Beverage Facilities” as published by the 
Distilled Spirits Council of the United States (DISCUS).  

(38) IFC 5601.1.3 Fireworks. The possession, manufacture, storage, sale, handling and use of 
fireworks are prohibited unless permitted by state or local laws. 

(39) IFC 5601.1.3, Exception 4: The possession, storage, sale, handling and use of permissible 
fireworks in accordance with state statute and local municipal codes. 

(40) IFC 5601.2.2 Sale and retail display. Persons shall not construct a retail display nor offer 
for sale explosives, explosive materials or fireworks on highways, sidewalks, public property or in any 
permanent building. 

(41) IFC 5602 Definitions - Permissible Fireworks. As defined in Colorado Revised Statues, 
12-28-101 § CRS. 

(42) IFC 5610 Permissible fireworks. Permissible fireworks shall be possessed, stored, sold, 
handled and used in accordance with this section and with state and local laws. 

(43) IFC 5610.1 General. Permissible fireworks use shall be as detailed in this section and in 
accordance with state and local laws. 

(44) IFC 5610.2 Use of fireworks. The use of permissible fireworks shall be in accordance 
with Sections 5610.2.1 through 5610.2.4. 

(45) IFC 5610.2.1 It shall be unlawful for any person to possess, store, offer for sale, expose 
for sale, sell at retail, use, or discharge any fireworks, other than permissible fireworks. 



(46) IFC 5610.2.2 It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly furnish to any person 
under 16 years of age, by gift, sale, or any other means, any fireworks, including permissible fireworks. 

(47) IFC 5610.2.3 It shall be unlawful for any person under 16 years of age to purchase 
fireworks, including permissible fireworks. 

(48) IFC 5610.2.4 It shall not be unlawful for a person under 16 years of age to possess and 
discharge permissible fireworks if such person is under adult supervision throughout the act of 
possession and discharge.  

(50) IFC 5701.2 Non-applicability Exception #10: The production, processing and/or storage 
of distilled spirits and wines in wooden barrels and casks when the building or facility is conformance 
with “Recommended Fire Protection Practices for Distilled Spirits Beverage Facilities” as published by 
the Distilled Spirits Council of the United States (DISCUS).  

(51) IFC 5704.2.9.6.1 Locations where above-ground tanks are prohibited. Storage of Class I 
and Class II liquids in above-ground tanks outside of buildings is prohibited within the limits established 
by law as addressed by ordinance and/or zoning regulation adopted by the local government with 
jurisdiction. 

(52) IFC 5704.2.14.1 Removal Exception #7: Removal of above-ground and underground 
tanks shall be in accordance with federal, state and local regulations. 

(53) IFC 5704.3.3 Indoor storage. Exception #2:2. The production, processing and/or storage 
of distilled spirits and wines in wooden barrels and casks when the building or facility is conformance 
with “Recommended Fire Protection Practices for Distilled Spirits Beverage Facilities” as published by 
the Distilled Spirits Council of the United States (DISCUS).  

(54) IFC 5706.2.4. Permanent and temporary tanks. The capacity of permanent above-ground 
tanks containing Class I or Class II liquids shall not exceed 500 gallons, and the capacity of temporary 
above-ground tanks containing Class I or Class II liquids shall not exceed 2,000 gallons, unless larger 
amounts are approved in writing by the fire code official. Tanks shall be of single-compartment design. 
(Exception is deleted) 

(55) IFC 5706.2.4.4 Locations where above-ground tanks are prohibited. Storage of Class I 
and Class II liquids in above-ground or underground tanks outside of buildings is prohibited within the 
limits established by ordinance and/or zoning regulation adopted by the local government with 
jurisdiction.  

(56) IFC 5706.3.9 Portable fire extinguishers. Portable fire extinguishers shall be located 
throughout the site in locations approved by the fire code official. 

(57) IFC 5706.3.10 Identification of hazards. All hazardous materials tanks or containers shall 
be appropriately labeled in accordance with NFPA 704, or other standard as approved by the fire code 
official. All hazard markings shall be maintained by the operator. 

(58) IFC 5706.3.11 Access roads. All access roads to well drilling and operating facilities 
shall comply with Section 505.1 and Appendix D of this code. 



(59) IFC 5706.3.12 Facility security. All fences and gates installed to provide facility security 
shall comply with Section 503.6 of this code. The fire code official may require a Knox Box, Knox 
switch, or Knox padlock to be installed by the operator to provide fire department access to the site. 

(60) IFC 5706.3.13 Safety regulations. All oil and gas locations shall comply with all 
Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission (COGCC) rules. COGCC Rule 600 shall be specifically 
addressed for all site safety requirements. 

(61) IFC 5806.2 Limitations. Storage of flammable cryogenic fluids in stationary containers 
outside of buildings is prohibited within the limits established by ordinance and/or zoning regulation 
adopted by the local government with jurisdiction.  

(62) IFC 6104.2 Maximum capacity within established limits. Within the limits established by 
law restricting the storage of liquefied petroleum gas for the protection of heavily populated or congested 
areas, the aggregate capacity of any one installation shall not exceed the limits established by ordinance 
and/or zoning regulation adopted by the local government with jurisdiction.   

Exception: In particular installations, this capacity limit shall be determined by the fire 
code official, after consideration of special features such as topographical conditions, 
nature of occupancy, and proximity to buildings, capacity of proposed LP-gas containers, 
degree of fire protection to be provided and capabilities of the local fire department. 
These provisions shall not be interpreted so as to conflict with the provisions of Colorado 
Revised Statutes Title 8, Article 20 or Title 34 as amended. In the event of any conflict, 
the more restrictive provision shall prevail.  

(63)  IFC Chapter 80 Referenced standards: 

COGCC Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission 
    1120 Lincoln Street, suite 801 
    Denver, CO    80203 

Rule 600: Safety Regulations 
     Referenced in Section 5706.3.13 
 

DISCUS Distilled Spirits Council of the United States 
    1250 Eye Street, NW   suite 400 
    Washington, DC   20005 

 
Recommended Fire Protection Practices for Distilled Spirits Beverage 
Facilities, 3rd edition, June 2005 
Referenced in Sections 5001.1, 5701.2, 5704.3.3 

NFPA  National Fire Protection Association 
1 Batterymarch Park 

    Quincy, MA  02169-7471 

NFPA 1-18: Fire Code, Chapter 38: Marijuana Growing, Processing, or 
Extraction Facilities 

Referenced in Subsection 105.6.51 



NFPA 96-17: Standard for Ventilation Control and Fire Protection in 
Commercial Cooking Operations, Annex B 

Referenced in Subsection 105.6.30. 

(64) IFC APPENDIX B: Fire-Flow Requirements for Buildings is adopted with changes 

(1) Table B105.2, Footnote a. The reduced fire flow shall be not less than 1,500 gallons 
per minute 

(65) IFC APPENDIX C: Fire Hydrant Locations and Distribution is adopted with changes 

(1) C101.1 Scope. In addition to the requirements of Section 507.5.1, fire hydrants shall 
be provided in accordance with this appendix for the protection of buildings, or portions 
of buildings, hereafter constructed or moved into the jurisdiction. The fire code official is 
authorized to modify the location, number and distribution of fire hydrants based on site-
specific constraints and hazards. 

(2) Table C102.1 is hereby amended by renaming it Table C102.1 Required Number of 
Fire Hydrants and deleting columns Average Spacing Between Hydrants and Maximum 
Distance from any Point on a Street or Road Frontage to a Hydrant, and deleting all 
footnotes. 

(3) Table C103.1 Required Spacing of Hydrants and associated footnotes: 

TABLE C103.1 

REQUIRED SPACING OF HYDRANTS 

APPLICATION 

SPACING BETWEEN 
HYDRANTS 

(feet) a,b 

MAXIMUM DISTANCE FROM 
THE CLOSEST POINT ON A 

BUILDING TO A 
HYDRANT 

(feet)  

Buildings other than one- 
and two-family dwellings, 
Group R-3 and R-4, and 
townhouses 

350 400c 

Urban O n e -  and Two-
Family Dwellings, Group 
R-3 and R-4, and 
townhouses 

600 600 



Rural O n e -  and Two-
Family Dwellings, Group 
R-3 and R-4, and 
townhouses 

1,000 1,000 

a. Where streets are provided with median dividers that cannot be crossed by fire fighters pulling 
hose lines, or are arterial streets, hydrant spacing shall average 350 feet on each side of the street 
and be arranged on an alternating basis. 

b. Where new water mains are extended along streets where hydrants are not needed for protection 
of structures or similar fire problems, fire hydrants shall be provided at spacing not to exceed 
1,000 feet to provide for transportation hazards. 

c. For buildings equipped with a fire department connection, see Section 507.5.1.1.   

(4) C103.1 Hydrant spacing. Fire apparatus access roads and public streets providing 
required access to buildings in accordance with Section 503 shall be provided with one or 
more fire hydrants, as determined by Section C102.1. Where more than one fire hydrant 
is required, the distance between required fire hydrants shall be in accordance with 
Sections C103.2 and C103.3. 

(5) C103.2 Spacing between hydrants. The spacing between fire hydrants shall be in 
accordance with Table C103.1. (Exception deleted). 

(6) C103.3 Spacing from hydrants to a building. The maximum spacing from fire 
hydrants to a structure shall be in accordance with Table C103.1  

(7) C105 Referenced Standard is deleted in its entirety. 

(66) IFC APPENDIX D: Fire Apparatus Access Roads is adopted with changes: 

(1) D102.1 Access and loading. Facilities, buildings or portions of buildings hereafter 
constructed shall be accessible to fire department apparatus by way of an approved fire 
apparatus access road capable of supporting the imposed load of fire apparatus weighing 
at least 80,000 pounds (36,287 kg). 

 
(2) D102.2 Roadway surface. All access roadways must be all-weather driving surfaces 
capable of supporting fire apparatus. Surfaces shall be asphalt or concrete and maintained 
in a usable condition at all times. Compacted road base or other all-weather surfaces 
engineered and capable of supporting the imposed loads may be approved for outdoor 
vehicle storage, ground-mounted solar installations, cell towers and similar isolated 
facilities and structures when approved by the fire code official. 

 
(3) D102.2.1 Access during construction. Compacted road base, chip or other all-weather 
surfaces shall be used only for temporary emergency access. All required access roads 
must be installed and serviceable before aboveground construction begins. Temporary 



access shall be available as long as the site is under construction. Thereafter, permanent 
fire lanes confirming with D102.1 and D102.2 shall be accessible and unobstructed at all 
times. 

 
(4) Table D103.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 
 

(5) Table D103.4: 
 

TABLE 103.4 
REQUIREMENTS FOR DEAD-END FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS ROADS  

 
 
LENGTH (feet) 

 
WIDTH (feet) 

 
TURNAROUNDS 
REQUIRED 

0-150 20 None required 

 
151 and longer 

 
20 

100-foot hammerhead, 100-
foot cul-de-sac in accordance 
with Figure D103.1 

 
(6) Section D103.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

(7) D103.3 Turning radius. The minimum turning radii shall be 25 feet inside radius and 
50 feet outside radius. 

(8) D103.5 Exception: Private driveways serving one (1) single-family residence. 

(9) D103.6 Signs. Where required by the fire code official, fire apparatus access roads 

20’m
in. 



shall be marked with permanent NO PARKING – FIRE LANE signs complying with 
Chapter 2B of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices. Signs shall be posted on 
one or both sides of the fire apparatus road as required by Section D103.6.1 or D103.6.2. 

(10) Figure D103.6 Fire Lane Signs is deleted. 

(11) D104.1 Multiple access. A minimum of two approved fire-apparatus access roads   
shall be provided to each developed lot within the jurisdiction. If multiple fire apparatus 
access roadways cannot be provided and the single, dead-end roadway is in excess of 660 
feet in length, as measured from the centerline of the last roadway providing access to the 
dead-end road, all occupiable structures located beyond 660 feet shall be protected with 
an approved automatic fire sprinkler system. 

Exception:  Where all occupiable structures beyond 660 feet (201 m) of the 
centerline of the last roadway providing access to the dead-end road are equipped 
throughout with an approved automatic sprinkler system in accordance with 
Section 903.3.1.1, 903.3.1.2 or 903.3.1.3.3, access from two directions shall not 
be required. 

(12) D104.2 Access to buildings. A minimum of two approved fire-apparatus access 
drives shall be provided to each building or portion of building hereafter constructed or 
moved into the jurisdiction. 

Exception: One- and two-family dwellings. 

(13) D104.3 Remoteness. Where two fire apparatus access roads are required, they shall 
be placed a distance apart equal to not less than one half of the length of the maximum 
overall diagonal dimension of the lot or area to be served, measured in a straight line 
between accesses. If all structures are protected by an approved automatic fire-sprinkler 
system, the access roadways may be placed a distance apart equal to not less than one-
third the length of the maximum overall diagonal dimension of the property or area to be 
served, measured in a straight line. 

(14) D106 is hereby deleted. 

(15) D107 is hereby deleted in its entirety. 

(16) D108 is hereby deleted in its entirety. 

(67) IFC APPENDIX E: Hazard Categories is adopted. 

(68) IFC APPENDIX F: Hazard Ranking is adopted. 

(69) IFC APPENDIX G: Cryogenic Fluids – Weight and Volume Equivalents is adopted in its 
entirety. 

(70) IFC APPENDIX H: Hazardous Materials Management Plan (HMMP) and Hazardous 
Materials Inventory Statement (HMIS) Instructions is adopted. 



(71) IFC APPENDIX I: Fire Protection Systems – Noncompliant Conditions is adopted in its 
entirety. 

Section 8.  Article VIII of Chapter 18.  Article VIII of Chapter 18 of the Johnstown 
Municipal Code shall be omitted and replaced in full with the following: 

 

ARTICLE VIII. International Property Maintenance Code. 

 
Sec. 18-71.  International Property Maintenance Code.  
 
Pursuant to Title 31, Article 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Property Maintenance Code, 2018 

Edition, as published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, 
IL 60478, Chapters 1 through 8 inclusive (“IPMC”), is hereby adopted by reference as the Town of 
Johnstown Property Maintenance Code to have the same force and effect as if fully set forth.  

Sec. 18-72.  Application of Regulations. 

 
Where, in any specific case, different sections of this Code, the zoning code or other ordinances of 

the Town specify different materials, methods of construction or other requirements, the most restrictive 
shall govern. 
 

Sec. 18-73.  Amendments. 

The International Property Maintenance Code, 2018 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified with 
the following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows:  

 
(1) IPMC Section 101.1 (Title) is amended by the addition of the term “Town of Johnstown” 

where indicated. 

(2) IPMC Section 102.3 (Application of Other Codes) is amended by the deletion of the 
section and is replaced with the following: 

“Repairs, additions or alterations to a structure, or changes of occupancy, shall be done in accordance 
with the procedures and provisions of the current adopted building and zoning codes.” 
 

(3) IPMC Section 103.5 (Fees) is amended by the deletion of the section and is replaced with 
the following: 

“Costs incurred in the performance of work shall be paid by the jurisdiction. The legal counsel of the 
jurisdiction shall institute appropriate action against the owner of the premises or owner’s authorized 
agent where the unsafe structure is or was located for the recovery of such costs.” 
 

(4) IPMC Section 111.2 (Membership of Council) is amended by the deletion this section in 
its entirety and replaced with the following: 

“The members of the Council of Appeals shall be comprised of the members of the Town Council.” 



 
(5) IPMC Section 111.2.1 (Alternate Members) is amended by the deletion of this section in 

its entirety. 

(6) IPMC Section 111.2.2 (Chairman) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 
entirety. 

(7) IPMC Section 111.2.3 (Disqualification of member) is amended by the deletion of this 
section in its entirety. 

(8) IPMC Section 111.2.4 (Secretary) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 
entirety. 

(9) IPMC Section 111.2.5 (Compensation of members) is amended by the deletion of this 
section in its entirety. 

(10) IPMC Section 111.3 (Notice of Meeting) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 
entirety. 

(11) IPMC Section 111.4 (Open Hearing) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 
entirety. 

(12) IPMC Section 302.3 (Sidewalks and Driveways) is amended by the deletion of this 
section in its entirety. 

(13) IPMC Section 302.4 (Weeds) is amended by the deletion of this section in its entirety. 

(14) IPMC Section 302.8 (Motor Vehicles) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 
entirety. 

(15) IPMC Section 304.14 (Insect Screens) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 
entirety. 

(16) IPMC Section 308 (Rubbish and Garbage) is amended by the deletion of this section in 
its entirety. 

(17) IPMC Section 309 (Pest Elimination) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 
entirety. 

(18) IPMC Section 604.2 (Service) is amended by replacing “NFPA 70” with “Electrical Code 
adopted by the State of Colorado.” 

 
Section 9.  Article IX of Chapter 18.  Sections 18-81 and 18-83 of Article IX of Chapter 

18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code are hereby amended in full to read as follows: 



 
Sec. 18-81.  National Electrical Code.  

Pursuant to Title 31, Article, 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the National Fire Protection Association standard 
number 70, hereafter known as the National Electrical Code, published by the National Fire Protection 
Association, 1 Batterymarch Park, Quincy, Massachusetts, 02169-7471, is hereby adopted by reference as 
the Town of Johnstown Electrical Code as if fully set forth herein.  The effective edition of the Town of 
Johnstown Electrical Code shall be the National Electrical Code, 2017 Edition.  The effective edition shall 
be replaced by subsequent edition(s) of the National Electrical Code adopted by the State of Colorado 
Electrical Council, Division of Professions and Occupations, Department of Regulatory Agencies, 1560 
Broadway, Suite 1350, Denver, Colorado, 80202, and such subsequent editions shall be effective one year 
after the State of Colorado Electrical Council, Division of Professions and Occupations, Department of 
Regulatory Agencies adopts such edition.   

Sec. 18-83. Amendments. 

The National Electrical Code adopted herein is hereby amended as follows:  
 

(1) The electrical permit fees for each permit shall be as established from time to time by 
resolution of the Council of Trustees and set forth in the Town fee schedule maintained by the building 
officials for such purposes. 

 
Section 10.  Article X of Chapter 18 (Old Version).  Article X of Chapter 18 of the 

Johnstown Municipal Code shall be moved and re-numbered to Article XII and the Sections 
therein shall be re-numbered and re-titled to read “Section 18-111. Violation” and “Section 18-
112. Penalty,” and shall provide that Sections 18-113 - 18-120 are reserved for future use.   

 

Section 11.  Article X of Chapter 18 (New Version).  A revised version of Article X of 
Chapter 18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code shall be added to the Johnstown Municipal Code 
and shall read as follows:   
    

ARTICLE X. International Existing Building Code. 

 
Sec. 18-91.  International Existing Building Code.  

Pursuant to Title 31, Article, 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Existing Building Code, 2018 
Edition, as published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club Hills, 
IL 60478, Chapters 1 through 16 inclusive (“IEBC”), is hereby adopted by reference as the Town of 
Johnstown Existing Building Code as if fully set forth herein.  

 
Sec. 18-92.  Application of Regulations. 

 



Where, in any specific case, different sections of this Code, the zoning code or other ordinances 
of the Town specify different materials, methods of construction or other requirements, the most 
restrictive shall govern. 

 
Sec. 18-93.  Amendments. 

The International Existing Building Code, 2018 Edition, adopted herein is hereby modified with 
the following additions, deletions, insertions and changes as follows: 

(1) International Existing Building Code is amended by replacing all references to 
“International Fire Code” with “Adopted Fire Code.” 

(2) IEBC Section 101.1 (Title) is amended by the addition of the term “Town of Johnstown” 
where indicated. 

(3) IEBC Section 1401.2 (Conformance) is amended by the deletion of this section in its 
entirety and replaced with the following:  

“Structures moved into or within the jurisdiction shall comply with the provision of this code for new 
structures.” 

Section 12.  Article XI of Chapter 18 (Old Version).  Article XI of Chapter 18 of the 
Johnstown Municipal Code shall be moved and re-numbered to Article XIII and the Section 
therein shall be re-numbered and re-titled to read “Section 18-121. Fees and charges” and shall 
provide that Sections 18-122 - 18-130 are reserved for future use. 

  

Section 13.  Article XI of Chapter 18 (New Version).  A revised version of Article XI of 
Chapter 18 of the Johnstown Municipal Code shall be added to the Johnstown Municipal Code 
and shall read as follows:   

ARTICLE XI. International Swimming Pool and Spa Code. 
  Sec. 18-101.  International Swimming Pool and Spa Code. 

 
Pursuant to Title 31, Article, 16, Part 2, C.R.S., the International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 

2018 Edition, as published by the International Code Council, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Club 
Hills, IL 60478, Chapters 1 through 11 inclusive, is hereby adopted by reference as the Town of 
Johnstown Swimming Pool and Spa Code as if fully set out in this ordinance. 

 
Sec. 18-102.  Application of Regulations. 

 
Where, in any specific case, different sections of this Code, the zoning code or other ordinances 

of the Town specify different materials, methods of construction or other requirements, the most 
restrictive shall govern. 

 



Section 14.  Severability.  If any part or provision of this Ordinance, or its application to 
any person or circumstance, is adjudged to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such part, provision, or application shall not affect any of the remaining 
parts, provisions or applications of this Ordinance that can be given effect without the invalid 
provision, part or application, and to this end the provisions and parts of this Ordinance are 
declared to be severable. 

 Section 15.  Code revisions.  Minor changes such as the format and other changes to 
unify the revised Code may be necessary.  The Town Clerk is hereby authorized to make such 
changes, provided that neither the intent nor substantive content will be altered by such changes. 

Section 16.  Publication and Effective Date.  This Ordinance, after its passage on final 
reading, shall be numbered, recorded, published and posted as required by the Town Charter and 
the adoption, posting and publication shall be authenticated by the signature of the Mayor and 
the Town Clerk and by the Certificate of Publication.  This Ordinance shall become effective 
February 1, 2020 and upon final passage as provided by the Home Rule Charter of the Town of 
Johnstown, Colorado.    Copies of the Ordinance and of the adopted building codes are available 
at the office of the Town Clerk. 
  

INTRODUCED, AND APPROVED on first reading by the Town Council of the Town 
of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 2019. 
 
       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ATTEST: 
 
By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
      Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 
 
 
 PASSED UPON FINAL APPROVAL AND ADOPTED on second reading by the 
Town Council of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 
2020. 
 
       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ATTEST: 
 
By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
     Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 

 
 



 
AGENDA ITEM 10A 
 
 
 
 

Public Hearing 
 

P.U.D. Outline Development Plan 
Great Plains Village 

 
Ordinance 2020-168  

 



*PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURE – Ordinance 2020-168, An Ordinance Approving 
the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Great Plains Village –  

1. Open public hearing. 

2. Receive information from staff. 

3. Receive information from applicant. 

4. Receive information from public. 

a. Ask to hear from anyone who supports the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan   

b. Ask to hear from anyone who opposes the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan 

5. Receive rebuttal from applicant.  (Discretionary and only if warranted at the time.) 

6.  Additional questions from Council, if any.  (Council may ask questions at any time until 
the hearing is closed.) 

7. Close the public hearing. (No more questions from Council) 

8. Discussion and deliberation among Council. 

9. Make a decision and/or motion from Council.   

SUGGESTED MOTIONS 

For Approval:   I move to approve Ordinance No. 2020-168, an Ordinance Approving the P.U.D.  
Outline Development Plan for Great Plains Village on first reading, on the condition that, as 
preliminary and final development plans proceed, the developer shall make substantial and 
meaningful efforts to work with the adjacent property owner to the east to ensure appropriate 
safety and screening from the existing residence and the agricultural use of the property as a 
horse track and arena and with property owners to the north who will be impacted by the 
ultimate extension of High Plains Boulevard. 
 
For Approval with conditions:  I move to approve Ordinance No. 2020-168, an Ordinance 
Approving the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Great Plains Village on first reading, on the 
conditions that:  
 1. As preliminary and final development plans proceed, the developer shall make substantial and 
meaningful efforts to work with the adjacent property owner to the east to ensure appropriate 
safety and screening from the existing residence and the agricultural use of the property as a 
horse track and arena and with property owners to the north who will be impacted by the 
ultimate extension of High Plains Boulevard; and  
        2. ________. 
 

Denial:        
I move to deny approval of Ordinance No. 2020-168. 

 
 



 
TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

 
AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
 
ITEM NUMBER:  10 A 
 
SUBJECT:  Public Hearing – Ordinance No. 2020-168, an Ordinance Approving the  
                                                P.U.D Outline Development Plan for Great Plains Village  
 
ACTION PROPOSED:   Approve Ordinance No. 2020-168, an Ordinance Approving the P.U.D. 
                                               Outline Development Plan for Great Plains Village  
 
PRESENTED BY:  Kim Meyer, Planning & Development Director 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 
The Town of Johnstown is considering a request for an updated Outline Development Plan (ODP) for the 502.5-acre 
Great Plains Village PUD, which encompasses three prior annexations/PUDs east of I-25. This large segment of 
Johnstown is planned for a mix of land uses, development intensity, and residential densities. The ODP defines 
specific “planning areas” and the land uses and densities for each area, as well as conceptual-level utility, drainage, 
and transportation network planning to provide basic feasibility analysis for the land uses proposed. Development of 
this area will extend High Plains Boulevard approximately one mile to the north as a major arterial, and remove the 
frontage road from Hwy 60 to LCR 14, per CDOT direction. 
 
The Outline Development Plan serves as the initial, high-level “zoning document” for PUD zones, providing 
information on land uses, standards, general types of development – and is reviewed simultaneously with conceptual 
utility and drainage documents/reports, a master traffic study, and similar information to ensure feasibility. More 
detailed design guidelines and development plans are provided at the preliminary and final stages of development 
planning and platting. 
 
If approved, this Outline Development Plan would replace and supersede prior Outline Development Plans approved 
at the time of annexation and zoning with the Hamilton (2002 – 137 acres), GBH (2005 – 321 acres), and Ransom 
(2008 – 53 acres) Annexations. These properties were zoned as PUD-MU and PUD-R at the time of annexation.  
 
A detailed memorandum (attached) was provided to the Planning & Zoning Commission (PZC) at the public hearing 
held on December 11, 2019, including detailed description and analysis of the project. Additionally, the proposed and 
updated ODP plan sheets are attached, with the PZC packet included for reference. 
 
Generally, the ODP provides details on a wide mix of permitted and conditional land uses, as well as development 
standards, in each of the fifteen Planning Areas identified in the plan. Additionally, the ODP dictates a cap on intensity 
and density of development that includes a maximum of 2,000 dwelling units and 2.4 million square feet of non-
residential buildings over the 502.5 acres included in the plan. There is a clause in the ODP that would permit these 
densities/intensities to transfer between planning areas, but must remain under those total maximum numbers. 
 
Planning Areas located closest to the interstate, the frontage road, and along arterials are largely designated for 
Employment and Mixed Use; while the majority of the eastern portion of the subject site, and areas along High Plains 
Boulevard will provide the opportunity for a mix of residential types and densities. Several “typical” single family lot 
layouts are provided to illustrate flexible options for: zero-lot line homes, alley-loaded garages, motor-/green-court and 
“carriage house” type homes.  
 
An in-depth discussion was presented in the PZC memo on a concern over the potential for excessive development of 
outdoor storage (as a primary use), and RV/vehicle rental and sales lots, which resulted in several proposed conditions 
of approval. In the interim the Applicant and Staff have coordinated on developing verbiage now incorporated into the 
final ODP in the Council packet. The final proposed verbiage differs only for Planning Area 11 - EMP (northeast 
portion of the site), which is tucked behind existing boat storage along I-25. Staff worked with the Applicant to arrive 
at a suitable compromise, for this Planning Area only, that would limit storage and sales lots to no more than 50% of 



the area, approximately 19.2 acres. The rationale for this is the unique location of the area, proximity to the frontage 
road and the Johnson’s Corner PUD, and likelihood of the north-south collector ultimately connecting into LCR 3e to 
the north in the future, and the current and anticipated uses and character of that roadway and area. The other conditions 
have all been incorporated, and would also apply to this Planning Area 11. The PZC Conditions of Approval include: 
1. The Applicant must work with Staff, prior to the Town Council hearing, to develop revised wording in the ODP 

document to ensure appropriate development of any outdoor storage, display, and sales areas, to address the 
following specific concerns: 

a. The use categories of Outdoor storage; RV’s, Trailer, Camper, and Limited Equipment (U-Haul type 
business) rentals; and Motor vehicle dealers/ sales may not exceed 15% of land area in the EMP and MU-
1 planning areas, to be tracked by the Director and Developer on the ODP, similar to maximum SF/units. 
UPDATE since PZC: INCLUDED, with an exception that for Planning Area 11, Outdoor Storage 
and Sales/Rental Lots may comprise up to 50% of the land area. 

b. Outdoor Storage, as a primary use, must be setback a minimum of 300' from any arterial or interstate right-
of-way. INCLUDED/RESOLVED 

c. Update the Land Use Tables to modify: INCLUDED/RESOLVED 
i. primary Outdoor Storage uses over 5 acres to be processed and considered as conditional uses in MU-

1 and EMP; and  
ii. “RV’s, Trailer, Camper, and Limited Equipment (U-Haul type business) rentals” – add “Max. of 10 

acres” to use description; and 
iii. Add a new use category for “RV’s… rentals, >10 ac.” – and update to “C” Conditional uses in EMP & 

MU-1 
iv. Treat “Motor vehicle dealer/sales” category similarly, as described in subsections ii, and iii above. 

2. Update ODP language to require a 50-foot landscaped buffer along the I-25 corridor frontage. 
INCLUDED/RESOLVED 

 
Public comment was received by several parties, as summarized in the PZC Draft Minutes (attached), and resulted in 
additional conditions: 
3. As preliminary and final development plans proceed, the developer must make substantial and meaningful efforts 

to work with the adjacent property owner(s): 
a. immediately to the east to ensure appropriate safety and screening / buffering from the existing residence 

and agricultural use as a horse track and arena; and  
b. that will be impacted by the ultimate extension of High Plains Boulevard to the north 

 
An additional notable point of public and Commissioner discussion included a concern for the increased volume of 
traffic, trucks from Johnson’s Corner, and future intersection signalization at Hwy 60. The proposed conceptual street 
network is in conformance with the Town’s Master Transportation Plan, Master Traffic Impact Study for this project, 
and shows potential points for future connectivity as adjacent parcels may develop. The I-25 frontage road between 
Hwy 60 and LCR 14 is being closed by CDOT in the near term – it will remain from LCR 14 to Ronald Reagan 
Boulevard. Ultimately High Plains Boulevard will act as a parallel arterial to I-25 offering a strong north-south 
connection for the Town. Staff continues to coordinate with CDOT to get the best outcome possible for this area of 
town. 
 
Two Commissioners voiced their concern with the relative lack of parking associated with the cluster-style housing 
and encouraged the developers to consider additional guest parking and ensure on-street parking in areas with high 
density residential. An additional comment was provided to Staff after the PZC hearing and is attached; the email also 
discusses concerns about the amount of traffic on LCR 50 increasing with new development. 
 
In summary, the Planning & Zoning Commission forwarded a recommendation to the Town Council of Approval with 
Conditions. Most of these conditions have been satisfied within the body of the ODP. The only outstanding condition 
is for future coordination with adjacent property owners, which will carry forward as direction for future developers of 
the more detailed preliminary and final development plans. 
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
LEGAL ADVICE: The Town Attorney drafted Ordinance No. 2020-168.  
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: No impact anticipated. 
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 



RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Ordinance No. 2020-168, an Ordinance Approving the P.U.D. 
Outline Development Plan for Great Plains Village.  
 
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  
 
Approval (with recommended condition):   
I move to approve Ordinance No. 2020-168, an Ordinance Approving the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for 
Great Plains Village on first reading, on the condition that, as preliminary and final development plans proceed, the 
developer shall make substantial and meaningful efforts to work with the adjacent property owner to the east to 
ensure appropriate safety and screening from the existing residence and the agricultural use of the property as a horse 
track and arena and with property owners to the north who will be impacted by the ultimate extension of High Plains 
Boulevard. 
 
Approval (with recommended condition and additional conditions): 
I move to approve Ordinance No. 2020-168, an Ordinance Approving the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for 
Great Plains Village on first reading, on the conditions that: 
        1. As preliminary and final development plans proceed, the developer shall make substantial and meaningful 
efforts to work with the adjacent property owner to the east to ensure appropriate safety and screening from the 
existing residence and the agricultural use of the property as a horse track and arena and with property owners to the 
north who will be impacted by the ultimate extension of High Plains Boulevard; and  
        2. ________. 
 
Denial:        
I move to deny approval of Ordinance No. 2020-168. 
 
 
Reviewed: 
 
___________________________ 
Town Manager 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ordinance 2020-168 



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-168 

 
APPROVING P.U.D. OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE LOCATED IN SECTIONS 2, 35 AND 36, 
TOWNSHIPS 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 6TH 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF 
WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO, CONSISTING OF 
APPROXIMATELY 502.512 ACRES. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Johnstown, Colorado (“Town”) is a Colorado home rule 

municipality, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado and the 
Town’s Home Rule Charter; and  
 

WHEREAS, Platte Land & Water, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, 
submitted an application to the Town for approval of a P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for a 
subdivision known as Great Plains Village, located in Sections 2, 35 and 35, Townships 4 and 5 
North, Range 68 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, Town of Johnstown, Counties of Weld and 
Larimer, State of Colorado, consisting of approximately 502.512 acres; and 
 

WHEREAS, on December 11, 2019, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a public 
hearing and recommended approval of the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Great Plains 
Village with conditions, which have been substantially satisfied; and 
 

WHEREAS, on January 6, 2020, the Town Council held a public hearing concerning 
approval of the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Great Plains Village; and 

 
WHEREAS, after considering the Planning and Zoning Commission’s recommendation 

for approval, reviewing the file and conducting such public hearing, Town Council finds that the 
P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Great Plains Village is consistent with, and furthers the 
goals of, the Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan goals and is compatible with all other 
applicable Town standards and regulation; and 
 

WHEREAS, based on the foregoing, Town Council desires to approve the P.U.D. Outline 
Development Plan for Great Plains Village with the condition set forth below.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, THAT: 
 

 Section 1.  P.U.D. Outline Development Plan Approval.  The P.U.D. Outline 
Development Plan for Great Plains Village, located in located in Sections 2, 35 and 35, 
Townships 4 and 5 North, Range 68 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, Town of Johnstown, 
Counties of Weld and Larimer, State of Colorado, consisting of approximately 502.512 acres 



(“Property”), attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby approved, subject to the following 
condition:  

 
A. As preliminary and final development plans proceed, the developer shall make 

substantial and meaningful efforts to work with: (i) the adjacent property owner to the 
east to ensure appropriate safety and screening from the existing residence and the 
agricultural use of the property as a horse track and arena and (ii) property owners to 
the north who will be impacted by the ultimate extension of High Plains Boulevard.  
 

Section 2.  Supersede and Replace.  The P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Great 
Plains Village adopted herein shall supersede and replace the outline development plans that 
were submitted to, and approved by, the Town at the time of the three annexations of the various 
portions of the real property that constitute the Property designated herein, to wit: the Hamilton 
Annexation, approved by Ordinance No. 2002-695; the GBH Annexation, approved by 
Ordinance No. 2005-756; and the Ransom Annexation, approved by Ordinance No. 2008-802. 

 
Section 3.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance, after its passage on Outline reading, shall be 

numbered, recorded, published and posted as required by the Town Charter and the adoption, 
posting and publication shall be authenticated by the signature of the Mayor and the Town Clerk 
and by the Certificate of Publication.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon final passage 
as provided by the Home Rule Charter of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado.  Copies of the 
entire Ordinance are available at the office of the Town Clerk.   

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED on first reading by the Town Council of the Town 
of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 2020. 
 
       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ATTEST: 
 
By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
      Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 
 
 
 PASSED UPON FINAL APPROVAL AND ADOPTED on second reading by the 
Town Council of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 
2020. 
 
       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ATTEST: 
 
By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
     Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 
 



 

PZC Minutes, December 11, 2019     

SUMMARY MINUTES 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Wednesday, December 11, 2019 
Council Chambers 

450 S. Parish Ave., Johnstown 
 

I. Call to Order: Chair Montez opened the meeting at 7:00pm. 

II. Roll Call: Present were Commissioners Grentz, Montez, Kiovsky, and Storms.  

III. Public Comments regards items not on the Agenda: none 

IV. Public Hearings: 

a. Welty Ridge ODP 
Kim Meyer, staff, provided brief overview and presentation, as well as a staff report entered into the 
record. 
 
Applicant Representative: Jeff Marck, Terracina Design, 10200 E. Girard Ave. Ste A-314 Denver, CO 
80231 Mr. Marck provided additional details on the proposal and answered questions from the 
Commission. 
 
Commissioner Storms asked about parking for green courts and motor courts.  He was concerned about 
accommodating on-street parking for guests and overflow. Ms. Meyer indicated we would address those 
detailed concerns with preliminary and final development plans. 
 
Commissioner Kiovsky asked applicant about how this project would be affected by the new I-25 
interchange being constructed in 2020. Applicant representative Erik Halverson advised that CDOT is still 
designing the interchange. Commissioner Kiovsky brought up the importance of landscape buffers and 
thought the development could provide a different face for the Town. 
 
There was discussion between staff, applicant, and commissioners about what would be passed tonight.  
 
Public hearing was opened. Colleen Cothron, 250 Ricker Ln. Johsntown, commented on the need for a 
grocery store, and to keep Johnstown’s downtown vibrant.  There was discussion between Ms. Cothron 
and Commissioners about bringing a grocery store to Town. 
 
Frank Wynn commented on concerns with metropolitan districts. There was discussion between Ms. Wynn 
and staff about how the Town generally handles them. 
 
The item was closed to public comment. 

 
Commissioner Kiovsky made Motion to Approve as written. Commissioner Grentz seconded the motion. 
There was discussion on the land planning and grading. 
 
Motion passed 5-0 
 



 

PZC Minutes., December 11, 2019 2 

b. Great Plains Village ODP 
 

Kim Meyer, staff, provided brief overview and presentation, as well as a staff report entered into the 
record.  Staff clarified the frontage road will be abandoned. 
 
Applicant Representative: Jeff Marck, Terracina Design, 10200 E. Girard Ave. Ste A-314 Denver, CO 
80231 Mr. Marck provided additional details on the proposal and answered questions from the 
Commission. 
 
Commissioner Storms asked about parking for green courts and motor courts.  He was concerned about 
accommodating on-street parking for guests and overflow.  
 
Commissioners and applicant had a discussion about traffic impacts and connectivity. 
 
Commissioner Kiovsky asked about open space and parks and a couple of small areas noted for open 
space. Applicant referred her to the annexation agreement, where those areas were indicated for open space 
previously.  
 
Commissioner Storms had questions about the ultimate buildout of WCR 50 and High Plain Blvd. 
Applicant explained the future buildout is four lanes for both roads. Commissioner Storms also had 
questions about uses and how they related to adjacent land uses in Vista Commons PUD to the south. 
 
Public hearing was opened. Tony Connell, representing his mother, who owns property along the proposed 
High Plains Blvd to the north of Great Plains Village. He had questions regarding how her home would be 
preserved and/or affected. Principally, he asked about water and protection for animals that are on her and 
neighboring properties. Tony advised the sewer service would be a benefit to his mother. 
 
John Kelly of Rocksbury Ridge had questions regarding setbacks and additional land needed for High 
Plains Blvd., and was concerned about water treatment plant capacity. Staff advised him that there would 
be no need for additional ROW along the existing subdivision, and that development impact fees help to 
fund plant expansion. 
 
Jerry Bancow expressed concerns about traffic, namely truck traffic on High Plains Blvd. once the 
frontage road is abandoned. Staff stated that Hwy 60 will eventually be widened to provide for additional 
lanes, and a traffic control device will be placed at High Plains Blvd. and Hwy 60. Staff informed that they 
are working with CDOT, and believes that the truck route from Johnson’s Corner would be routed to the 
Hwy 402 interchange, rather than the Hwy 60 interchange. 
 
Laura Chase of 8445 LCR 14 was concerned about development adjacent to her property. She purchased 
land in the country for use as a horse property and residence, but is now faced with the impacts of 
development. Laura further pointed to graphics in the presentation that showed new roads going through 
her current property as upsetting to her and as an unwanted impact on her property. She was further 
concerned because there had been surveyors on her property already that had disrupted her operations, and 
was concerned about new residents trespassing on her property. Ms. Chase claimed she was promised 
fencing around her property by developers and former town staff. Staff advised her concerns were noted 
and understood, and they would research past Council meeting minutes. She claimed these promises were 
made at a community meeting when the property was initially annexed. Ms. Chase was concerned about 
the irrigation pipe running underground in the area and current pressure issues with the line. 
 
Mr. Herrera spoke about the need for irrigation ditches to be maintained. He also believed there should be 
a school site on the property, since there will be so many new people and the schools are already at 
capacity. 
 



 

PZC Minutes., December 11, 2019 3 

The item was closed to public comment. 
 
Commissioners had discussions about land use and parking. 
 
Commissioner Kiovsky made a motion to approve, with direction that staff take all public comments into 
account in later phases of development. Commissioner Weber seconded the motion. 
 
Motion passed 5-0. 

 
V. New Business - None 

VI. Department Report Delivered by Kim Meyer 

Staff is moving forward with comprehensive plan contract award at Council in January. Remember there is an 
open seat on the commission, please let folks know, we will re-advertise in 2020. The department anticipates hiring 
another planner in first quarter of 2020. Staff is working with our GIS consultants to finish up new aerials from the 
counties to be able to start producing some new town and zoning maps. 
 

VII. Adjourn: Chair Montez adjourned the meeting at approximately 10:15 p.m. 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

Respectfully Submitted:     Approved & Accepted: 

     

____________________________________ 

Kim Meyer, Secretary     Lila Montez, Chair 



1

Kim Meyer

From: Gina Solanyk

Sent: Wednesday, December 18, 2019 1:54 PM

To: Lila Montez; Kim Meyer; Darryll Wolnik

Subject: Great Plains Village Project meeting

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

I sent this email to Lila the day after the meeting and haven’t heard anything back from her so I’m taking the liberty to 

email it to you also.  I was told in the lobby after the meeting to express my concerns. 

Lila: 

I attended last night’s meeting about the Great Plains Village Project.  I am a fellow Weld Master Gardener and had no 

idea you sat on the planning commission.  

I would like to address a few things from last night’s meeting. 

1. We received a notice of public hearing.  It said nothing about public comments  being taken last night.  The 

letter states that the January 6 meeting would be the hearing that is open for public comment. 

2. The maps on the notice letter we received were too small to be clear.  A larger  copy would be much more 

user-friendly.

3. I live at 5464 County Road 50.  This project will greatly change the rural life my

family has enjoyed for 25 years.  We like Johnstown because it is a small town.   I live across the street from last night’s

speaker Laura Chase.  I only have 2 acres and know that I don’t have a lot of say in development, but this added

development is going to make it seem like weare in the middle of a neighborhood.  I’m particularly concerned about

them amount of traffic.  We already have a lot of traffic, and this will increase it

greatly.  Consider that when I-25 backs up, every person is looking for side roads to get around the clog in traffic.  Come

visit our road on a Friday evening and see for yourself.

4. I emailed Marcos in September about when our road would be paved.  He paid a personal visit to our home.  My

husband and I sat in the living room with him while he explained that the town of Johnstown would be interested in

buying a piece of land along our road front.  In all the conversation about 2 lane/4 lane roads, he didn’t even mention

that 2000 houses were being planned.  The  letter was the first we heard of it.

You may share this letter with others if you like. 

Gina Solanyk 

Sent from my iPad 

ADDITIONAL PUBLIC COMMENT
REC'D 12/18/19



 

 

Great Plains Village 

Revised Outline Development Plan 

(Submitted 12/20/19) 

 
Incorporating conditions of approval from the 12/11/19 PZC hearing 

  



IN
TE

R
ST

AT
E 

25

LARIMER CO. RD. 14/WELD CO. RD. 50

CO. RD. 48/HWY. 60

GATEWAY
CENTER

HARDING
SUB-DIVISION

LARIMER CO. RD.
14/HWY. 60

CO. RD. 16CO. RD. 16

S.
 C

O
U

N
TY

 L
IN

E 
R

O
AD

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
BL

VD
.

INTERSTATE 25
FRONTAGE ROAD

INTERSTATE 25
FRONTAGE ROAD

SITE

C
O

LO
R

AD
O

 B
LV

D

C
O

. R
D

. 7

CO. RD. 48

C
O

. R
D

. 7

VISTA
COMMONS

WELTY

LARIMER CO.
WELD CO.

JOHNSTOWN TOWN LIMITS

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
1 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
C

O
VE

R
.D

W
G

;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

VICINITY MAP 1"=3000'

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68
WEST OF THE 6TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO;
AND ALL OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 6TH
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO;
AND A PORTION OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 36,TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE
6TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO;
AND A PORTION OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 6TH
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO
BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

CONSIDERING THE EAST LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 36,TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68
WEST OF THE 6TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO AS BEARING
S 00°11'56" E WITH ALL BEARINGS CONTAINED HEREIN RELATIVE THERETO.

BEGIN AT THE SOUTH 1/4 CORNER OF SECTION 36, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 6TH
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO;
THENCE S 89°48'00” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 637.07 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4
OF SAID SECTION 36;
THENCE N 02°10'13” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 388.10 FEET;
THENCE N 11°36'58” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 190.53 FEET;
THENCE N 67°47'29" W FOR A DISTANCE OF 190.41 FEET;
THENCE S 89°38'13" W FOR A DISTANCE OF 206.82 FEET;
THENCE S 72°21'00" W FOR A DISTANCE OF 176.95 FEET;
THENCE S 59°57'06” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 142.20 FEET;
THENCE S 00°12'00” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 522.79 FEET TO THE AFORESAID SOUTH LINE OF THE
SOUTHWEST 1/4;
THENCE S 89°48'00” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 1277.91 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST
CORNER OF SECTION 35, SAID TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST;
THENCE S 89°48'35” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 1320.63 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST 1/2 OF
SAID SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 35 TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE WEST 1/2 OF SAID SOUTHEAST 1/4;
THENCE S 89°49'10” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 538.01 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF THE WEST 1/2 TO
THE NORTH 1/4 CORNER OF SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 6TH PRINCIPAL
MERIDIAN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO ;
THENCE S 06°23'24” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 2315.59 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF
SAID SECTION 2;
THENCE S 88°59'30” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 129.21 FEET TO THE CENTER 1/4 CORNER OF SAID SECTION 2;
THENCE S 89°00'07” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 1262.05 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE  EAST 1/2 OF
THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 2 TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE WEST 1/2 OF SAID NORTHWEST 1/4;
THENCE S 88°59'16” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 1219.08 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF THE WEST 1/2 TO
THE EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF INTERSTATE NO. 25 AND THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENT
CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE WEST, AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 5780.00 FEET, A CHORD OF 282.12 FEET AND
A CHORD BEARING OF N 04°45'41” W;
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE AND SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE FOR A
DISTANCE OF 282.14 FEET THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 2°47'49" TO THE END OF SAID CURVE;
THENCE N 06°09'35” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 2070.19 FEET ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE TO
THE SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF AFORESAID SECTION 35;
THENCE N 06°11'09” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 706.85 FEET ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE TO
THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF BOOK 1389 AT PAGE 103;
THENCE N 25°27'58” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 681.67 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF BOOK 1389
AT PAGE 103 TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE AFORESAID SOUTH 1/2 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 35;
THENCE N 89°45'33” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 1586.73 FEET ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO THE WEST LINE OF
THE AFORESAID WEST 1/2 OF SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 35;
THENCE N 00°30'28” W FOR A DISTANCE OF 1320.01 FEET ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE CENTER 1/4
CORNER OF SAID SECTION 35;
THENCE N 89°40'57” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 1313.47 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID WEST 1/2 TO
THE SOUTH LINE OF THE AFORESAID EAST 1/2 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 35;
THENCE N 89°40'22” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 1313.49 FEET ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF THE EAST 1/2 TO
THE WEST 1/4 CORNER OF THE AFORESAID SECTION 36;
THENCE S 00°48'45” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 59.23 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE AFORESAID
SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 36 TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF BOOK 214, AT PAGE 583;
THENCE S 41°58'52” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 206.02 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE;
THENCE N 72°01'08” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 215.00 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE;
THENCE N 44°51'08” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 165.00 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE;
THENCE N 24°01'08” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 32.71 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE TO THE NORTH LINE
OF AFORESAID SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 36;
THENCE N 89°53'49” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 2196.55 FEET ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO THE CENTER 1/4
CORNER OF SAID SECTION 36;
THENCE S 00°11'56” E FOR A DISTANCE OF 2641.49 FEET ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST 1/4
OF SECTION 36 TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINING 502.512 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, AND BEING SUBJECT TO ANY EASEMENT OR RIGHTS OF
WAY OF RECORD.

N

C
O

V
E
R

1

OWNER

PLATTE LAND & WATER, LLC
210 UNIVERSITY BLVD.
SUITE 710
DENVER, CO 80206
303-263-2105

SHEET INDEX

1 COVER
2 EXISTING ZONING
3 LAND USE PLAN
4-5 LAND USE MATRIX
6 CIRCULATION PLAN
7 STREET SECTIONS
8 TRAILS & OPEN SPACE PLAN
9-10 CONCEPTUAL UTILITY PLAN
11-12 CONCEPTUAL GRADING PLAN
13 DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS
14-15 DESIGN GUIDELINES

PROJECT MANAGER

ERIK HALVERSON
LAND ASSET STRATEGIES, LLC
15400 WEST 64TH AVENUE
UNIT E9-123
ARVADA, CO 80007
970-319-5836
ehalverson@landassetstrategies.com

ENGINEER

KEVIN ROHRBOUGH
CORE CONSULTANTS
1950 W LITTLETON BLVD.
SUITE 109
LITTLETON, CO 80120
303-703-4444
rohrbough@corecivil.com

PLANNER

JEFF MARCK
TERRACINA DESIGN
10200 E. GIRARD AVENUE
BLDG. A, SUITE 314
DENVER, CO 80231
303-632-8867
jmarck@terracinadesign.com

APPROVALS

TOWN COUNCIL

THIS  OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN, TO BE KNOWN AS GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ODP,
IS APPROVED AND ACCEPTED BY THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, BY ORDINANCE
NUMBER _______________, PASSED AND ADOPTED ON FINAL READING AT A
REGULAR MEETING OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN,
COLORADO HELD ON THE __________ DAY OF _____________________, 20____.

BY: _____________________________ ATTEST: ____________________________
          MAYOR       TOWN CLERK

THE INTENT OF THIS OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN (ODP) IS TO PROVIDE OVERLAY ZONING TO THE 500+
ACRE GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE COMMUNITY.  GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE IS ENVISIONED AS A MIXED USE
DEVELOPMENT WHICH INCLUDES PLANNING AREAS DESIGNATED FOR  RESIDENTIAL, RETAIL,
COMMERCIAL, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL, AND OFFICE USES. THIS DOCUMENT WILL GUIDE THE OVERALL
CHARACTER OF GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE  TO ENSURE THE QUALITY AND COHESIVENESS DESIRED IN
THIS EMERGING PART OF NORTHERN COLORADO.

MANY COLORADO RESIDENTS ARE PRICED OUT OF OWNING STANDARD SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED
HOUSING. TEACHERS, FIREFIGHTERS, AND NUMEROUS OTHER PROFESSIONALS ARE FORCED INTO
RENTAL HOUSING DUE TO LACK OF AFFORDABILITY. THIS ODP HAS SET FORTH DEVELOPMENT
STANDARDS THAT ALLOW ALTERNATIVE HOUSING TYPES SUCH AS CLUSTER HOUSING, WHICH
PROVIDES HOUSING OPPORTUNITIES FOR A WIDER RANGE OF BUYERS/RESIDENTS.

PROJECT INTENT

GENERAL NOTES

A. COMMERCIAL, OFFICE OR MULTI-FAMILY DEVELOPMENTS CAN OCCUPY
THE SAME LOT, MIXED HORIZONTALLY OR VERTICALLY.

B. ALL UNPLATTED PROPERTY (PER THE FINAL PLAT SUBDIVISION PROCESS)
WITHIN THIS PUD MAY REMAIN IN AGRICULTURAL USE UNTIL SUCH TIME AS
DEVELOPMENT OF THAT AREA BEGINS.

C. LANDSCAPING, SIGNAGE, ARCHITECTURE, NON-RESIDENTIAL PARKING,
FENCING AND LIGHTING FOR DEVELOPMENT WITH THIS PUD SHALL EITHER
FOLLOW THOSE APPLICABLE STANDARDS IN THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
MUNICIPAL CODE OR THE DEVELOPER MAY FORMULATE DESIGN
STANDARDS REGULATING THE DESIGN, CHARACTER, LOCATION AND
OTHER DETAILS OF THESE ELEMENTS PRIOR TO THEIR IMPLEMENTATION.
THE DEVELOPER-FORMULATED DESIGN STANDARDS MUST RECEIVE TOWN
APPROVAL PRIOR TO IMPLEMENTATION.

D. WHERE A PROPOSED USE IS NOT LISTED IN THE ODP, IT MAY BE ALLOWED
IF DETERMINED IN WRITING BY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR
TO BE SIMILAR IN CHARACTER AND OPERATION, AND HAVING THE SAME OR
LESSER IMPACT, AS USES THAT ARE ALLOWED.

E. ALL DRAINAGE ELEMENTS ARE CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND FINAL
DETERMINATIONS OF THE DRAINAGE SYSTEM, TO INCLUDE THE
PLACEMENT OF DETENTION/RETENTION PONDS, CHANNELS, AND STORM
SEWER, WILL BE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE FINAL
DRAINAGE REPORTS AND PLANS.

DEVELOPMENT PHASING

PHASING WILL OCCUR IN A LOGICAL AND COST EFFECTIVE MANNER BASED
ON INFRASTRUCTURE EXTENSION, AVAILABILITY OF UTILITY SERVICE, AND
MARKET CONDITIONS.  THE PROJECT WILL BE BUILT IN MULTIPLE PHASES,
AS CONDITIONS DICTATE.

RELATIONSHIP TO TOWN CODE & DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PUD SHALL PREVAIL AND GOVERN
DEVELOPMENT TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
MUNICIPAL CODE. WHERE STANDARDS, DETAILS, AND GUIDELINES OF THE
PUD - OUTLINE, PRELIMINARY, OR FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS - DO NOT
CLEARLY ADDRESS A SPECIFIC SUBJECT OR ARE SILENT, THE JOHNSTOWN
MUNICIPAL AND OTHER STANDARDS, REGULATIONS, AND GUIDELINES
SHALL BE USED. ALL PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT IS SUBJECT TO TOWN OF
JOHNSTOWN REVIEW PROCEDURES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



WELD COUNTY
ZONING:
A-AGRICULTURE

WELD COUNTY
ZONING:
A-AGRICULTURE

LARIMER COUNTY

WELD COUNTY
LCR 14/WCR 50

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-R

UNINCORPORATED WELD
COUNTY

ZONING: A-AGRICULTURE

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-B

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-R

I-2
5

VISTA COMMONS
PUD-MU

LARIMER COUNTY
ZONING: FA-FARMING

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

LARIMER COUNTY
ZONING: FA-FARMING

LARIMER COUNTY
ZONING: FA-FARMING

LARIMER COUNTY
ZONING: FA-FARMING

LARIMER COUNTY
ZONING: FA-FARMING

LARIMER COUNTY
ZONING:

FA-FARMING

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-R

TOWN OF
JOHNSTOWN

PUD-R

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-JC

ROCKSBURY
RIDGE

SF-1

CARLSON FARMS
SF-1

JOHNSTOWN TOWN LIMITS

JO
HN

STO
W

N
 TO

W
N

 LIM
ITS

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
2 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
EX

IS
TI

N
G

-Z
O

N
IN

G
.D

W
G

;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

LEGEND

PUD-B

PUD-MU

PUD-R

N0

Scale: 1"= 400'-0"

20
0

40
0

80
0

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 Z
O

N
IN

G

2

EXISTING ZONING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



PA-3
3.3 AC

OS

PA-6
4.7 AC
OS

PA-12
36.4 AC

EMP

PA-13
37.0 AC

MU-1

PA-14
41.1 AC

MU-2

PA-15
24.4 AC

R-M

PA-11
38.4 AC

EMP

PA-10
38.6 AC

MU-1

PA-1
41.6 AC

MU-2
PA-2

51.7 AC
R-M

PA-4
45.1 AC

R-M

PA-5
32.2 AC

R-M

PA-7
58.0 AC

R-M

PA-8
35.7 AC

R-M

PA-9
14.3 AC

MU-2

I-2
5

HI
G

H 
PL

A
IN

S 
BL

V
D

.

OUTPARCEL

VISTA COMMONS

LCR 14/WCR 50

ROCKSBURY
RIDGE

N2
5°

 2
7' 

58
"E

68
1.

67
'

N89° 45' 33"E

1586.73'

N
0°

 3
0'

 2
8"

W

13
20

.0
1'

N89° 40' 57"E

1313.47'

S0° 48' 45"E
59.23' N72° 01' 08"E

215.00'

N89° 53' 49"E

2196.55'

S0
° 1

1'
 5

6"
E

26
41

.4
9'

S89° 48' 00"W
637.07'N

2°
 1

0'
 1

3"
W

38
8.

10
'

N
11° 36' 58"W

190.53'

S89° 38' 13"W

206.82'

S59° 57' 06"W142.20'

S0
° 1

2'
 0

0"
E

52
2.

79
'

S89° 48' 35"W
1320.63'

S6° 23' 24"E

2315.59'
S89° 00' 07"W

1262.05'

N
6° 09' 35"W
2070.19'

N
6° 11' 09"W
706.85'

L=
28

2.
14

4,
 R

=5
77

9.
99

9
D

=2
.7

96
8

N89° 40' 22"E

1313.49'

S89° 48' 00"W
1277.91'

S89° 49' 10"W
538.01'

S88° 59' 16"W
1219.08'

JO
HN

ST
O

W
N

 TO
W

N
 L

IM
ITS

S72° 21' 00"W
176.95'

N67° 47' 29"W
190.41'

S88° 59' 30"W
129.21'

N24° 01' 08"E
32.71'

S41° 58' 52"E
206.02'

N44° 51' 08"E
165.00'

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
2 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
LA

N
D

-U
SE

-P
LA

N
.D

W
G

;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

LEGEND

MIXED USE - 1 (MU-1)

MIXED USE - 2 (MU-2)

EMPLOYMENT (EMP)

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)

OPEN SPACE (OS)

N0

Scale: 1"= 400'-0"

20
0

40
0

80
0

L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 P
L
A

N

3

A. INTRODUCTION

THE PURPOSE OF THIS SECTION IS TO ESTABLISH GENERAL PROVISIONS AND CLARIFY
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE PUD.
DUE TO THE SIZE OF LAND AREA CONTAINED WITHIN THIS PUD AND THE CORRESPONDING LONG
TERM BUILD OUT THAT IS ANTICIPATED, A RATHER BROAD RANGE OF DENSITIES AND/OR SQUARE
FOOTAGES HAVE BEEN PROPOSED FOR EACH LAND USE PARCEL. THESE RANGES WILL ALLOW A
VARIETY OF COMMERCIAL, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL, AND HOUSING PRODUCTS. IN ADDITION TO
PROMOTING LAND USE AND DENSITY FLEXIBILITY, RANGES WILL ACCOMMODATE HOUSING
PRODUCT, LAND PLANNING, MARKET AND TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES INTO THE FUTURE.  REFER
TO THE PLANNING AREA SUMMARY FOR SPECIFIC DENSITIES AND SQUARE FOOTAGES.

B. DENSITY RANGES

RESIDENTIAL DENSITY RANGES ARE SPECIFIED WITHIN EACH ZONE AS LABELED ON THE LAND USE
PLAN (REFER TO THE PLANNING AREA SUMMARY WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT FOR DENSITY RANGES).
THE FINAL AVERAGE DENSITY OF A DEVELOPMENT PARCEL MUST BE WITHIN 10% OF THE
SPECIFIED DENSITY RANGE INDICATED FOR THAT PLANNING AREA.  THE FINAL AVERAGE DENSITY
OF A PLANNING AREA SHALL BE BASED ON ALL RESIDENTIAL UNITS APPROVED THROUGH THE
FINAL PLAT PROCESS WITHIN THE PLANNING AREA, WHETHER APPROVED AS A SINGLE PLAT OR AS
MULTIPLE PLATS.

C. MAXIMUM RESIDENTIAL UNITS PER AREA

TRANSFER(S) OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS FROM PLANNING AREA TO PLANNING AREA (TRANSFER OF
UNITS MAY NOT EXCEED 30% OF THE RECIPIENT PLANNING AREA MAX UNITS PER AREA) MAY BE
PERMITTED BY THE DEVELOPER WITH APPROVAL BY THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
DIRECTOR.  UNIT TRANSFERS SHALL BE TRACKED BY THE DEVELOPER AND PROVIDED TO THE
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR WITH EACH SUCH TRANSFER AT THE FINAL PLAT STAGE
OF THE SUBDIVISION PROCESS.  HOWEVER, AT NO TIME SHALL THE TOTAL RESIDENTIAL UNITS
WITHIN THIS PUD EXCEED 2,000 WITHOUT AN AMENDMENT TO THE ODP, APPROVED BY TOWN
COUNCIL.

D. RESIDENTIAL UNITS TRANFERS

ONCE A PLANNING AREA HAS BEEN FULLY PLATTED THROUGH THE FINAL PLAT PROCESS, ANY
REMAINING RESIDENTIAL DENSITY/UNITS DESIGNATED ON THE PUD ZONE DOCUMENT WITHIN SAID
PLANNING AREA SHALL REMAIN AVAILABLE FOR TRANSFER TO OTHER REMAINING RECIPIENT
PLANNING AREAS.

E. PLANNING AREA BOUNDARIES

PLANNING AREA ACREAGES AND BOUNDARIES ARE CONCEPTUAL AND SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITH
DETAILED PLANNING. PLANNING AREA ACREAGES MAY CHANGE UP TO 30% WITH APPROVAL BY
THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.  SUCH CHANGES WILL RESULT IN CORRESPONDING
CHANGES TO THE MAX SQ. FT./AREA OR MAX UNITS/AREA SHOWN IN THE PLANNING AREA
SUMMARY.

IF PLANNING AREA CHANGES ARE MADE, ALL STREET CLASSIFICATIONS (AS SHOWN ON SHEET 7)
ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE.

F. MAXIMUM COMMERCIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE PER AREA

TRANSFER(S) OF COMMERCIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE FROM PLANNING AREA TO PLANNING AREA
(TRANSFER OF SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY NOT EXCEED 30% OF THE RECIPIENT PLANNING AREA MAX
SQ. FT. PER AREA) MAY BE PERMITTED WITH APPROVAL BY THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
DIRECTOR.  SQUARE FOOTAGE TRANSFERS SHALL BE TRACKED BY THE DEVELOPER AND
PROVIDED TO THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR WITH EACH SUCH TRANSFER AT THE
FINAL PLAT STAGE OF THE SUBDIVISION PROCESS.  HOWEVER, AT NO TIME SHALL THE OVERALL
PUD COMMERCIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE EXCEED 2,400,000 SQUARE FEET WITHOUT AN AMENDMENT
TO THE ODP, APPROVED BY TOWN COUNCIL.

LAND USE PLANG. MAXIMUM OUTDOOR STORAGE

THE USE CATEGORIES OF OUTDOOR STORAGE; RV'S, TRAILER, CAMPER, AND LIMITED EQUIPMENT (U-HAUL TYPE BUSINESS) RENTALS; AND MOTOR VEHICLE DEALERS/SALES
MAY NOT EXCEED 15% OF LAND AREA IN THE EMP AND MU-1 PLANNING AREAS, TO BE TRACKED BY THE DIRECTOR AND DEVELOPER, EXCEPT IN PLANNING AREA 11 (EMP),
WHERE THESE USES MAY NOT EXCEED 50% OF THAT AREA. ANY INCREASE OVER THESE PERCENTAGES ARE CONDITIONAL AND REQUIRE APPROVAL BY TOWN COUNCIL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
7 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
LA

N
D

-U
SE

-P
LA

N
.D

W
G

;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1): PREDOMINANTLY A LARGE COMMERCIAL/LIGHT INDUSTRIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE ALLOWS FOR
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING USES ALONG WITH COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY USES.

MIXED USE 2 (MU-2): PREDOMINANTLY A NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL / RESIDENTIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE PRIMARILY
ALLOWS FOR COMMERCIAL USES ALONG WITH HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL.

EMPLOYMENT (EMP): THE INTENT IS TO PROVIDE AREAS THAT WILL SERVE AS AN EMPLOYMENT CENTER OR OFFICE
PARK THAT CAN ACCOMMODATE BUT NOT LIMITED TO CORPORATE CAMPUS, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL, OFFICE/FLEX, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION.

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M): THE INTENT IS TO ALLOW FOR SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES AND SINGLE
FAMILY ATTACHED HOMES.

OPEN SPACE (OS): THE INTENT IS TO PROVIDE FOR PASSIVE AND ACTIVE RECREATION AND VISUAL AMENITIES FOR
THE BENEFIT OF THE COMMUNITY.

LEGEND

X

A

-

C

PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USE

ACCESSORY USE

EXCLUDED USE

CONDITIONAL USE

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1)
MIXED USE 2 (MU-2)
EMPLOYMENT (EMP)
MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)
HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-H)
OPEN SPACE (OS)

LAND USE

L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 M
A

T
R

IX

4

DEFINITIONS:

1. LIGHT INDUSTRIAL - LABOR-INTENSIVE OPERATIONS THAT TYPICALLY PRODUCE PRODUCTS THAT ARE TARGETED TOWARD END
CONSUMERS RATHER THAN OTHER BUSINESSES (I.E. CONSUMER ELECTRONICS, CLOTHING MANUFACTURING, ETC.)

2. CLUSTER HOMES - ANY RESIDENTIAL GROUPING OF AT LEAST TWO HOMES WHICH ACCESS OFF A COMMON/SHARED DRIVE OR
ALLEY.

3. MOTOR COURT - A TYPE OF CLUSTER HOME WITH A SHARED DRIVEWAY IN WHICH SOME OR ALL FRONT DOORS ACCESS OFF
SHARED DRIVEWAY.

4. GREEN COURT - A TYPE OF CLUSTER HOME WITH SHARED DRIVEWAY AND COMMON OPEN AREA.
5. OPEN AREA - A PRIVATELY OR PUBLICLY OWNED AND MAINTAINED LAND AREA OR BODY OF WATER OR BOTH WITHIN A

DEVELOPMENT UPON WHICH THERE ARE NO STRUCTURES, PARKING AREAS, OR DRIVEWAYS. OPEN AREA MAY BE A LANDSCAPED
AREA, PLAZA, RECREATIONAL AREA, SIDEWALKS, OR SUCH OTHER AREAS. LANDSCAPE AND WALKS LOCATED IN RIGHT-OF-WAY CAN
NOT BE COUNTED TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

6. USABLE OPEN AREA - A PARCEL OF LAND OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY A TOWN, METRO DISTRICT, OR HOME OWNERS' ASSOCIATION
WHICH MEETS THE CRITERIA OF OPEN AREA AND IS PROGRAMMED AS AN ACTIVE OR PASSIVE AREA IN WHICH RESIDENTS CAN
UTILIZE THE SPACE FOR, BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO, SEATING, SPORTS, PARKS, TRAILS, OR GARDENS.

7. A LIVE/WORK UNIT IS DEFINED AS A SINGLE UNIT CONSISTING OF BOTH A COMMERCIAL/OFFICE AND A RESIDENTIAL (PRIMARY
DWELLING) COMPONENT THAT IS OCCUPIED BY THE SAME RESIDENT.

*ANIMAL/LIVESTOCK USES ARE CONDITIONAL USES IF WITHIN 250 FEET OF A RESIDENTIAL USE, BUT ARE PERMITTED
USE-BY-RIGHT OUTSIDE OF THE 250 FOOT LIMIT FROM RESIDENTIAL USES.
**ANIMAL BOARDING AND TRAINING IS A CONDITIONAL USE IF WITHIN 250 FEET OF A RESIDENTIAL USE, BUT IS A PERMITTED
USE-BY-RIGHT OUTSIDE OF THE 250 FOOT LIMIT FROM RESIDENTIAL USES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:3
7 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
LA

N
D

-U
SE

-P
LA

N
.D

W
G

;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1): PREDOMINANTLY A LARGE COMMERCIAL/LIGHT INDUSTRIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE ALLOWS FOR
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING USES ALONG WITH COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY USES.

MIXED USE 2 (MU-2): PREDOMINANTLY A NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL / RESIDENTIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE PRIMARILY
ALLOWS FOR COMMERCIAL USES ALONG WITH HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL.

EMPLOYMENT (EMP): THE INTENT IS TO PROVIDE AREAS THAT WILL SERVE AS AN EMPLOYMENT CENTER OR OFFICE
PARK THAT CAN ACCOMMODATE BUT NOT LIMITED TO CORPORATE CAMPUS, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL, OFFICE/FLEX, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION.

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M): THE INTENT IS TO ALLOW FOR SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES AND SINGLE
FAMILY ATTACHED HOMES.

OPEN SPACE (OS): THE INTENT IS TO PROVIDE FOR PASSIVE AND ACTIVE RECREATION AND VISUAL AMENITIES FOR
THE BENEFIT OF THE COMMUNITY.

LEGEND

X

A

-

C

PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USE

ACCESSORY USE

EXCLUDED USE

CONDITIONAL USE

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1)
MIXED USE 2 (MU-2)
EMPLOYMENT (EMP)
MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)
HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-H)
OPEN SPACE (OS)

LAND USE

L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 M
A

T
R

IX

5

***SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES ARE NOT PERMITTED WITHIN 300 FEET OF AN ARTERIAL ROAD.

****OUTDOOR STORAGE, AS A PRIMARY USE, MUST BE SETBACK A MINIMUM OF 300 FEET FROM ANY ARTERIAL OR INTERSTATE
RIGHT-OF-WAY. THE ENHANCED SETBACKS DO NOT APPLY TO OUTDOOR STORAGE THAT IS CONSIDERED ACCESSORY TO A
PRIMARY BUSINESS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



MAJOR ARTERIAL

4-LANE
COLLECTOR

M
AJ

O
R 

AR
TE

RI
AL

2-
LA

N
E 

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

2-
LA

N
E

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

IN
TE

RS
TA

TE
 2

5

PA-3
3.3 AC
OS

PA-6
4.7 AC
OS

PA-12
36.4 AC

EMP

PA-13
37.0 AC

MU-1

PA-14
41.1 AC

MU-2

PA-15
24.4 AC

R-M

PA-11
38.4 AC

EMP

PA-10
38.6 AC

MU-1

PA-1
41.6 AC

MU-2
PA-2

51.7 AC
R-M

PA-4
45.1 AC

R-M

PA-5
32.2 AC

R-M

PA-7
58.0 AC

R-M

PA-8
35.7 AC

R-M

PA-9
14.3 AC

MU-2

HI
G

H 
PL

A
IN

S 
BL

V
D

.

OUTPARCEL

VISTA COMMONS

LCR 14/WCR 50

ROCKSBURY
RIDGE

2-
LA

N
E

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

4-LANE
COLLECTOR

2-LANE
COLLECTOR

2-LANE
COLLECTOR

FULL
MOVEMENT
INTERSECTION

FULL
MOVEMENT
INTERSECTION

FULL
MOVEMENT
INTERSECTION

FULL
MOVEMENT
INTERSECTION

FULL
MOVEMENT
INTERSECTION

FULL
MOVEMENT
INTERSECTION

FULL
MOVEMENT
INTERSECTION

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
2 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
C

IR
C

U
LA

TI
O

N
-P

LA
N

.D
W

G
;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 400'-0"

20
0

40
0

80
0

C
IR

C
U

L
A

T
IO

N
 P

L
A

N

6

CIRCULATION PLAN

*DEPENDENT ON TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY AT TIME
OF INDIVIDUAL DEVELOPMENT APPROVALS

LEGEND

COLLECTOR (2-LANE & 4-LANE)

MAJOR ARTERIAL

LOCAL

PROPOSED* FULL MOVEMENT

INTERSECTION

POTENTIAL ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



MAJOR ARTERIAL (INTERIM)
HIGH PLAINS BOULEVARD

(SOUTH OF LCR 14/WCR 50)

MAJOR ARTERIAL (ULTIMATE)
HIGH PLAINS BOULEVARD (NORTH OF LCR 14/WCR 50)

LCR 14/WCR 50 (WEST OF HIGH PLAINS BLVD)

10' SIDEWALK

60' ROW
(HALF WIDTH)

 32' PAVED

2%

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

5'

1.5'2.5'

4' BIKE
LANE

4' BIKE
LANE

 23'

23'
10' SIDEWALK

120' ROW

28' - 40' PAVED

12' TRAVEL
LANE

2%
TREELAWN

UTILITY

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
 LANE

2%

10' SIDEWALK

TREELAWN
UTILITY

23'

2.5'2.5' 1.5'

4' BIKE
LANE

6' - 18' MEDIAN/
0'-12' LEFT
TURN LANE

28' - 40' PAVED

1.5'

4' BIKE
LANE

90' ROW

53' PAVED
4' BIKE
LANE

VARIES

MAJOR ARTERIAL (INTERIM)
LCR 14/WCR 50

(EAST OF HIGH PLAINS BLVD)

6' SHLDR
17' TWO -WAY

LEFT TURN
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

2%

10' SIDEWALK

TREELAWN
UTILITY

23'

2.5'

4' BIKE
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

6.5'

80' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK
16' TRAVEL

LANE
16' TRAVEL

LANE 6.5'2.5'2.5'

32' PAVED*

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT 6' UTILITY EASEMENT

COLLECTOR WITHOUT PARKING OR MEDIAN

18' EXISTING
PAVEMENT

32' ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT

13' TRAVEL
LANE

13' TRAVEL
LANE 2.5'2.5'

26' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT6' UTILITY EASEMENT

PRIVATE STREET

* GREAT PLAINS PROJECT TO BUILD OUT HALF OF MAJOR ARTERIAL CROSS SECTION. IT IS ASSUMED THAT
THE PLANNED WELD COUNTY ROAD 50 PAVING OPERATIONS HAVE BEEN COMPLETED BY THAT TIME.

*

GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

17.5'

80' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK
12' TRAVEL

LANE

16' TWO-WAY
LEFT TURN

LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

17.5'

2.5'2.5'

40' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT 6' UTILITY EASEMENT

COLLECTOR WITH FLUSH MEDIAN

EXISTING WCR 50
(POST-PAVING CONSTRUCTION
BEGINNING SPRING OF 2020)

CENTERLINE
EXISTING GROUND

CENTERLINE

EXISTING
CENTERLINE*

CENTERLINE

65' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK
15' TRAVEL

LANE
15' TRAVEL

LANE
2.5'2.5'

38' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT6' UTILITY EASEMENT

NON-RESIDENTIAL LOCAL STREET

8.5'8.5'

60' ROW

5' SIDEWALK* 5' SIDEWALK*

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

2.5'2.5'

32' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT6' UTILITY EASEMENT

RESIDENTIAL LOCAL STREET

11.5'11.5'

6' PARKING 6' PARKING

CENTERLINE

37' PROPOSED
PAVEMENT

EXISTING 30' ROW
(SOUTH OF LCR 14/WCR 50)ULTIMATE 60' OF ROW DEDICATION (NORTH OF LCR 14/WCR 50)

* TURN LANES WILL BE REQUIRED AS DETERMINED BY TRAFFIC STUDY

10' 10'

4' BIKE LANE4' BIKE LANE

CENTERLINE

* ATTACHED OR DETACHED WALK AT DISCRETION OF DEVELOPER

100' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK
12' TWO-WAY

LEFT TURN
LANE/MEDIAN

13' TRAVEL
LANE

1.5'

2.5'

44' PAVED

2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT 6' UTILITY EASEMENT

4 - LANE COLLECTOR (INTERIM)

12' TRAVEL
LANE8' 33'

100' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK

12' TRAVEL
LANE

13' TWO-WAY
LEFT TURN

LANE/MEDIAN

12' TRAVEL
LANE

2.5'2.5'

69' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT 6' UTILITY EASEMENT

4 - LANE COLLECTOR

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE8' 8'

CENTERLINE

4' BIKE
LANE

4' BIKE
LANE

4' BIKE
LANE

4' BIKE
LANE

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
2 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
C

IR
C

U
LA

TI
O

N
-P

LA
N

.D
W

G
;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

ST
R

E
E
T

 S
E
C

T
IO

N
S

7

CONCEPTUAL STREET SECTIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



PA-3
3.3 AC

OS

PA-6
4.7 AC
OS

G
G

PA-12
36.4 AC

EMP

PA-13
37.0 AC

MU-1

PA-14
41.1 AC

MU-2

PA-15
24.4 AC

R-M

PA-11
38.4 AC

EMP

PA-10
38.6 AC

MU-1

PA-1
41.6 AC

MU-2
PA-2

51.7 AC
R-M

PA-4
45.1 AC

R-M

PA-5
32.2 AC

R-M

PA-7
58.0 AC

R-M

PA-8
35.7 AC

R-M

PA-9
14.3 AC

MU-2

I-2
5

HI
G

H 
PL

A
IN

S 
BL

V
D

.

OUTPARCEL

VISTA COMMONS

*

30' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER

LCR 14/WCR 50

ROCKSBURY
RIDGE

*

50' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
2 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
TR

AI
LS

-A
N

D
-O

PE
N

-S
PA

C
E.

D
W

G
;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 400'-0"

20
0

40
0

80
0

LEGEND

5' PEDESTRIAN WALK

PARK*
10' PEDESTRIAN WALK

PRIMARY MONUMENTATION

LANDSCAPE BUFFER

OPEN SPACE

T
R

A
IL

S 
&

 O
P
E
N

 S
P
A

C
E
 P

L
A

N

8

TRAILS & OPEN SPACE PLAN

OPEN AREA

A. FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS PUD, "OPEN SPACE OR LANDSCAPE AREA" IS REFERRED
TO AS "OPEN AREA."

B. OPEN AREA PROVIDED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS PUD WILL MEET ALL
LANDSCAPE AREA, OPEN SPACE AREA, OR SIMILAR AREAS REQUIRED PER THE
JOHNSTOWN CODE REQUIREMENTS.

C. SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED OR ATTACHED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE
A MINIMUM 15% OPEN AREA.

D. MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE A MINIMUM OF 30% OPEN
AREA.

E. COMMERCIAL AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE A MINIMUM 20%
OPEN AREA.

F. OPEN AREA REQUIREMENTS WILL BE CALCULATED ON A NET BASIS EXCLUDING
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY.

G. LANDSCAPE BUFFERS AND DETENTION PONDS CAN COUNT TOWARDS OPEN AREA
REQUIREMENT.OPEN AREA MAY BE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED INTO LARGER
PARCELS (FOR THE PURPOSES OF DEVELOPING A LARGER AND MORE FUNCTIONAL
OPEN AREA) AT THE DISCRETION OF THE DEVELOPER AND WITH THE APPROVAL OF
THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPER DIRECTOR. THE LOCATION(S) OF THE CUMULATIVELY
GATHERED OPEN AREA SHALL BE DESIGNATED AT THE TIME OF EACH PRELIMINARY
AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN THAT IS CONTRIBUTING TO THAT OPEN AREA.

H. OPEN SPACE LOCATED WITHIN A SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED OR SINGLE FAMILY
ATTACHED LOT CAN NOT BE COUNTED TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

I. USABLE OPEN AREA CAN COUNT TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

USABLE OPEN AREA

A. GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE REQUIRES A 10% USABLE OPEN AREA FOR RESIDENTIAL
AREAS. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS PUD, THE 10% USABLE OPEN AREA SHALL BE
CALCULATED FROM THE TOTAL AREA OF ALL RESIDENTIAL LOTS AND ADJACENT
LOCAL ROADWAYS THAT SERVE AS DIRECT ACCESS TO THE RESIDENTIAL LOTS.

B. USABLE OPEN AREA PROVIDED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS PUD WILL MEET ALL
DEDICATED OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS PER THE JOHNSTOWN CODE.

C. USABLE OPEN AREA MAY BE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED INTO LARGER PARCELS (FOR
THE PURPOSES OF DEVELOPING AT LARGER AND MORE FUNCTIONAL PARK OR
SIMILAR USES) AT THE DISCRETION OF THE DEVELOPER AND WITH THE APPROVAL OF
THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR. THE LOCATION(S) OF THE
CUMULATIVELY GATHERED USEABLE OPEN AREA SHALL BE DESIGNATED AT THE TIME
OF EACH FINAL PLAT THAT IS CONTRIBUTING TO THAT AREA.

D. A MINIMUM OF 1 ACRE OF PARK PER 250 RESIDENTIAL UNITS IS REQUIRED.

E. USABLE OPEN AREA MAY OWNED BY THE TOWN, METRO DISTRICT, OR HOA.
OWNERSHIP TO BE DETERMINED AT THE TIME OF PRELIMINARY AND FINAL
DEVELOPMENT PLANS

F. WHERE PRACTICAL USABLE OPEN AREA SHOULD BE CONTIGUOUS.

G. DETENTION PONDS CAN COUNT TOWARDS USABLE OPEN AREA REQUIREMENTS AS
LONG AS THEY MEET THE DEFINITION OF USABLE OPEN AREA PROVIDED IN THIS
DOCUMENT. NOT MORE THAN 5% OF THE USABLE OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT CAN BE
MET WITH DETENTION PONDS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



5' SIDE SETBACK

110' IN THIS EXAMPLE

10' MIN REAR SETBACK

5' 
MIN

25' ACCESS / UTILITY EASEMENT

16' MIN
FLOW

LINE TO
FLOW
LINE

11
0'

 IN
 T

HI
S 

EX
A

M
PL

E

10' FRONT SETBACK

5' SIDEWALK

5' MIN. SIDE YARD

5' MIN. PORCH SETBACK

30' MIN GARAGE
SEPARATION

5'

25' ACCESS / UTILITY EASEMENT
10' SIDE CORNER SETBACK

5' MIN.

5' MIN SIDE SETBACK

23' MIN
FLOW

LINE TO
FLOW
LINE

5' SIDEWALK

11
5'

 IN
 T

HI
S 

EX
A

M
PL

E

124' IN THIS EXAMPLE

10' MIN. BUILDING SEPARATION

10' MIN.
FRONT

SETBACK

30' MIN GARAGE
SEPARATION

10' MIN.
FRONT

SETBACK

10'
MIN.
SIDE

SETBACK
(CORNER)

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

15' MIN. REAR SETBACK

 8' TREE LAWN

5' SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PUBLIC STREET

10' FRONT SETBACK

5'
FRONT

SETBACK
TO

COVERED
PORCH

PORCH

10' MIN. BUILDING
SEPARATION

5' MIN. SIDE SETBACK

20' MIN. FRONT
SETBACK TO

GARAGE

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

GARAGE

PORCH

PROPERTY
LINE

ALLEY

3' MIN. SETBACK
(ALLEY LOADED )

PROPERTY
LINE

PUBLIC STREET

ZERO LOT
LINE

 8' TREE LAWN

5' SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PUBLIC STREET

ZERO LOT
LINE

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

20'
MIN.

10' MIN.

10' MIN.

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
2 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T-

ST
AN

D
AR

D
S.

D
W

G
;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

D
E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
S

13

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

A. ARCHITECTURAL ELEMENTS SUCH AS ROOF OVERHANGS,
FIREPLACES, AND BAY BOX WINDOWS ARE PERMITTED A 24-INCH
ENCROACHMENT INTO BUILDING SEPARATIONS.  NO PORTION OF
THE STRUCTURE ABOVE GROUND MAY ENCROACH INTO THE
THREE-FOOT BUILDING TO PROPERTY LINE SETBACK WITHOUT
MODIFICATION AND BUILDING DEPARTMENT REVIEW AND
APPROVAL.  OTHER SUBSURFACE ARCHITECTURAL ELEMENTS
INCLUDING STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS OF THE BUILDING
FOUNDATION MAY ENCROACH INTO BUILDING SEPARATIONS OR
SETBACKS PROVIDED THAT SUCH ELEMENTS REMAIN ENTIRELY
WITHIN THE LOT UPON WHICH THEY ORIGINATED.  FOUNDATION
WALLS ARE NOT PERMITTED WITHIN ANY SETBACKS.
UNENCLOSED DECKS MAY ENCROACH INTO REAR SETBACKS BUT
SHALL BE LOCATED NO CLOSER THAN 10' (TEN FEET) FROM THE
REAR PROPERTY LINE BUT SHALL NOT ENCROACH INTO A UTILITY
EASEMENT. DECKS SHALL NOT ENCROACH INTO SIDE SETBACK.

B. A ZERO LOT LINE MAY BE UTILIZED WHEN A MAINTENANCE
EASEMENT AND SIDEYARD EASEMENTS ARE EXECUTED SUBJECT
TO I.B.C. REQUIREMENTS.

C. SETBACK MEANS THE HORIZONTAL DISTANCE BETWEEN ANY
STRUCTURE AND THE ESTABLISHED STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE
OR PROPERTY LINE.

D. SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED (SFD) AND SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED
(SFA) FRONT LOADED GARAGES REQUIRE A MINIMUM 18'
DRIVEWAY FROM THE GARAGE FACE TO THE BACK OF WALK.

E. ANY LAND USE OF A LOWER DENSITY MAY BE DEVELOPED WITHIN
A HIGHER DENSITY PARCEL AS LONG AS IT FOLLOWS STANDARDS
OF THE LOWER DENSITY LISTED IN THE TABLES.

F. ALLEY LOADED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MAY FRONT ON AN
ARTERIAL STREET WITH APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.

* OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.)
** ACCESSORY USE BUILDING HEIGHT TO BE LESS THAN PRIMARY BUILDING HEIGHT.

* OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.) * OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.)* OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.)

CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE B - MOTOR COURT

ALLEY LOAD SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED TYPICAL

CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE A - GREEN COURT

FRONT LOAD SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED TYPICAL

ZERO LOT LINE TYPICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



D
E
SI

G
N

 G
U

ID
E
L
IN

E
S

14

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
2 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
D

ES
IG

N
-G

U
ID

EL
IN

ES
.D

W
G

;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

DESIGN GUIDELINES

PART 1 - INTRODUCTION

1.1 STATEMENT OF INTENT

GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE IS A 500 ACRE MASTER-PLANNED
COMMUNITY LOCATED EAST OF INTERSTATE 25. THE
PROPERTY IS BOUND ON THE EAST BY INTERSTATE 25, WELD
COUNTY ROAD 50 (WCR 50)/ LARIMER COUNTY ROAD 14 (LCR
14) BISECT THE SITE AND SERVES AS THE SOUTHERN
BOUNDARY FOR PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT. THIS MIXED USE
PROJECT INCLUDES PARCELS DESIGNATED FOR MULTIPLE
TYPES OF RESIDENTIAL, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE USES. THESE DESIGN GUIDELINES
SEEK TO PROVIDE A CLEAR DIRECTION FOR SUBSEQUENT
DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN THE LARGER WHOLE. THE OVERALL
CHARACTER OF GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE MUST BE EVIDENT AND
MAINTAINED TO ENSURE THE QUALITY AND COHESIVENESS
DESIRED IN THIS EMERGING PART OF NORTHERN COLORADO.
THE GUIDELINES SERVE AS A DESIGN CONCEPT FOR THE FINAL
PUD. HIGH QUALITY DEVELOPMENT IS ENCOURAGED ALONG
THE INTERSTATE 25 CORRIDOR IN GENERAL AND HIGH PLAINS
BOULEVARD IN PARTICULAR. GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE WILL BE
VISIBLE FROM THE INTERSTATE AND ITS DEVELOPMENT WILL
FORM A  FIRST IMPRESSION OF THE COMMUNITY.

THE DESIGN GUIDELINES SHALL BE UTILIZED BY RESIDENTS,
DEVELOPERS, ARCHITECTS, ENGINEERS AND PLANNERS FOR
DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION DIRECTION WITHIN THIS AREA.
ALL DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ARE
SUBJECT TO THE DESIGN GUIDELINES CONTAINED HEREIN. IN
CASES WHERE THIS DOCUMENT IS SILENT, THE TOWN OF
JOHNSTOWN STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS APPLY.

PART 2 - GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES

2.1  APPLICABILITY

THIS SECTION APPLIES TO ALL DEVELOPMENT WITHIN GREAT
PLAINS VILLAGE AND PROVIDES GENERAL STANDARDS UPON
WHICH THE SUBSEQUENT SECTIONS WILL BUILD TO PROVIDE
GREATER CLARITY FOR SPECIFIC LAND USES. ALL GOVERNING
LOCAL CODES, REGULATIONS, AND STATUTES ENFORCED BY
THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN WILL APPLY.

2.2 LANDSCAPING

2.2.1 LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES

ALL DEVELOPMENT SHALL DEMONSTRATE ADHERENCE TO 
THE FOLLOWING LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES:

· DESIGN TO PROVIDE AN ATTRACTIVE, COMFORTABLE
ENVIRONMENT FOR USERS WHILE MINIMIZING
MAINTENANCE NEEDS, IRRIGATION WATER
REQUIREMENTS AND THE USE OF HERBICIDES AND
PESTICIDES.

· DESIGN LANDSCAPES TO CREATE A NATURALIZED
APPEARANCE. USE PLANT MATERIALS THAT ARE
INDIGENOUS TO NORTHERN COLORADO WHERE POSSIBLE.
ONLY USE INTRODUCED SPECIES IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE
DESIGN OBJECTIVES THAT CANNOT BE ACHIEVED WITH
THE USE OF NATIVE SPECIES.

· COORDINATE THE DESIGN OF THE LANDSCAPE WITH SITE
EROSION PROTECTION, STORM DRAINAGE AND WATER
QUALITY IMPROVEMENT SYSTEMS.

· DESIGN AND MANAGE IRRIGATION SYSTEMS TO ACHIEVE
PEAK EFFICIENCY.

2.2.2 STREETSCAPE DESIGN

GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ENTRIES WILL CONTAIN BOTH SIGNAGE
AND LANDSCAPING THAT TIE INTO THE OVERALL
DEVELOPMENT STREETSCAPE DESIGN. THE LAND USE PLAN
ILLUSTRATES THE MAJOR AND MINOR ENTRIES INTO THE SITE.
IN ORDER TO CREATE AN APPROPRIATE LANDSCAPE
CORRIDOR ALONG WCR 50/LCR 14 AND HIGH PLAINS BLVD.,
LARGE MASSES OF TREES AND SHRUBS ARE REQUIRED. THE
RIGHT-OF-WAY (ROW) WILL BE PRIMARILY DROUGHT-
TOLERANT TURF OR IRRIGATED NATIVE SEED. THIS
TREATMENT WILL TRANSITION TO DRIFTS OF
SHRUB/PERENNIAL BEDS AND TREE GROUPINGS THAT
MEANDER FROM JUST INSIDE THE ROW TO THE EDGE OF
LANDSCAPE BUFFERS AND BACK. THE GOAL IS TO AVOID A
STRAIGHT-LINE TREATMENT AT THE EDGE OF THE ROW. WALKS
WILL BE DETACHED AND MEANDER WITHIN THE ROW AND
OUTSIDE OF THE ROW INTO THE LANDSCAPE BUFFER IF
DESIRED. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A SIMILAR FASHION OR
WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED CONCRETE
(SHEET 15, EXHIBIT A).

COLLECTOR & ARTERIAL STREETS:
PLANTING OF ARTERIAL AND COLLECTOR STREETS WILL BE
TREATED IN A SIMILAR FASHION IN ORDER TO CREATE A
UNIFIED AND SIGNIFICANT STREETSCAPE IMAGE. THE
STREETSCAPE DESIGN SHALL EMPHASIZE XERISCAPE
PRINCIPLES AND A UNIQUE LOOK THAT SETS WELTY RIDGE
APART. TREES AND PERENNIALS SHALL BE PLANTED WITHIN
THE PUBLIC ROW, WHILE SHRUBS MAY BE PLANTED OUTSIDE
THE PUBLIC ROW. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A SIMILAR
FASHION OR WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED
CONCRETE.

ARTERIAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER:
A 30' AVERAGE LANDSCAPE BUFFER WILL BE PROVIDED ALONG
WCR 50/LCR 14 AND HIGH PLAINS BLVD. WITH A MINIMUM
WIDTH OF 20'.

SIGHT DISTANCE LINES:
NO PLANTING OVER 30" IN HEIGHT SHALL OCCUR WITHIN A
SIGHT DISTANCE LINES. REFER TO AASHTO REQUIREMENTS
REGARDING SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLES.

2.3 PARKS, OPEN AREA, REGIONAL DETENTION AND
NATURAL AREAS

THE DESIGN OF PARKS, OPEN AREA, DETENTION AND NATURAL
AREAS SHALL MEET THE CRITERIA AS ESTABLISHED IN THE
JOHNSTOWN/MILLIKEN PARKS, TRAILS, RECREATION AND OPEN
SPACE PLAN.  FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS MAY BE SUBMITTED
IN STAGES BY PHASE.  AS SUCH, THE OPEN AREA DESIGN,
APPROVAL AND LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION WILL OCCUR AS
THE LOTS DEVELOP.

2.4 SITE SIGNAGE

2.4.1 PURPOSE

THE OBJECTIVE OF THE GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE  SIGNAGE
PROGRAM IS TO HELP TO CREATE A UNIFIED IMAGE FOR THE
COMMUNITY.

ALL FREESTANDING SIGNAGE WITHIN THE DEVELOPMENT WILL
BEAR THE STYLE AND LOGO OF GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE,
HOWEVER INDIVIDUAL LOGOS AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED
ON THE SIGN FACE. FREESTANDING SIGNS LOCATED
THROUGHOUT THE DEVELOPMENT ARE UNIFIED THROUGH THE
USE OF SIMILAR GEOMETRY AND A REPETITION OF A COMMON
MATERIALS PALETTE.

BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNS ARE REGULATED BY LIMITING SIZE.
HOWEVER, TENANT LOGOS AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED. THE
SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS ARE CONGRUENT WITH THE TOWN
OF JOHNSTOWN SIGN CODE. ANY VARIATIONS ARE NOTED.

NO BLINKING LIGHT SIGNAGE WILL BE ALLOWED.

MULTI-TENANT FREESTANDING SIGNS ALONG WCR 50/LCR 14
AND HIGH PLAINS BLVD. WILL MEET THE TOWN CODE. IF A
VARIATION FROM THE CODE IS REQUIRED A MASTER SIGNAGE
PLAN WILL BE PROVIDED.

2.5 FENCING & WALLS

CHAIN LINK IS ONLY ACCEPTABLE IN THE INDUSTRIAL USES
AND MUST BE VINYL COATED. CHAIN LINK IS NOT PERMITTED IN
ANY OTHER USE. OTHER FENCING MATERIALS SUCH AS
SIMULATED WROUGHT IRON AND / OR CONCRETE OR
MASONRY MAY BE REQUIRED DEPENDING UPON SCREENING
NEEDS AND COMPATIBILITY WITH ADJACENT USES. NO WOOD
RETAINING WALLS ARE ALLOWED (NONRESIDENTIAL ONLY).
FENCING AND WALLS SHALL MATCH BUILDING ARCHITECTURE.

2.6 DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES

DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES ARE A CONVENIENT SERVICE;
HOWEVER, THEY MAY CREATE BARRIERS TO PEDESTRIAN
MOVEMENT AND PRESENT AN UNATTRACTIVE APPEARANCE
UNLESS THEY ARE THOUGHTFULLY DESIGNED AND LOCATED.

DRIVE THROUGH WINDOWS, MENU BOARDS AND STACKING
AREAS SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE SAME SETBACK AND
SCREENING REQUIREMENTS AS PARKING LOTS.

PART 3 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS

THESE STANDARDS REPRESENT MINIMUM ARCHITECTURE AND
DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR THE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS
IN AN EFFORT TO CREATE A COHESIVE OVERALL GREAT
PLAINS VILLAGE DEVELOPMENT ACROSS MULTIPLE BUILDERS
AND PRODUCTS. ADDITIONAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS
MAY BE INCLUDED AS MORE DETAILED PRELIMINARY AND
FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS ARE CREATED FOR EACH
PLANNING AREA, PHASE, AND/OR RESIDENTIAL PRODUCT.

3.1 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED AND DETACHED
ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

3.1.1 APPLICABILITY

ALL SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED AND ATTACHED DWELLINGS
SHALL CONFORM TO ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF
THESE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS, AS WELL AS APPLICABLE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE ADOPTED BUILDING CODE
REQUIREMENTS.

3.1.2 EXTERIOR CHANGES

EXTERIOR MATERIAL CHANGES SHOULD OCCUR AT CHANGES
IN THE PLANE OF THE BUILDING, NOT EXCLUSIVELY AT THE
OUTSIDE CORNERS.

3.1.3 GARAGES

ALL SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES SHALL INCLUDE A
MINIMUM 2-CAR GARAGE, EITHER ATTACHED OR DETACHED, AS
PART OF THE NEW CONSTRUCTION OR PLACEMENT.

3.1.4 PRODUCT VARIATION

APPLICABILITY:
THE FOLLOWING HOUSING MODEL VARIETY STANDARDS SHALL
APPLY TO ALL NEW RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISIONS AND
DEVELOPMENTS. THESE STANDARDS ARE INTENDED TO
PREVENT MONOTONOUS STREETSCAPES AND OFFER
CONSUMERS A WIDE CHOICE OF HOUSING STYLES.

EACH HOUSING MODEL SHALL PROVIDE AND EXHIBIT AT LEAST
THREE FEATURES THAT CLEARLY AND OBVIOUSLY
DISTINGUISH THEM FROM OTHER HOUSING MODELS.  THESE
FEATURES CAN INCLUDE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. BUILDING MASS - BUILDING MASS IS CONSIDERED TO BE
THE OUTLINE OF THE STRUCTURE.  THIS IS
DETERMINED BY THE HEIGHT, WIDTH, AND DEPTH OF
THE STRUCTURE.

2. BUILDING FORM - BUILDING FORM IS CONSIDERED TO
BE THE STYLE OF THE HOME, INCLUDING RANCH,
TRI-LEVEL OR TWO-STORY STRUCTURES.

3. ROOF TYPE - ROOF TYPES CONSIST OF MANSARD, HIP,
GAMBREL, GABLE, AND FRONT-TO-BACK (SHED STYLE).
DIFFERENTIATION MAY ALSO BE ACHIEVED THROUGH
THE USE OF ROOF DORMERS, GABLES, AND HIPS.  FLAT
OR A-FRAMES ROOFS SHOULD BE AVOIDED UNLESS
APPROPRIATE TO THE ARCHITECTURAL STYLE.

4. WINDOWS AND DOORS - THE VERTICAL OR HORIZONTAL
VARIATION IN THE PLACEMENT OF AT LEAST TWO
WINDOWS AND/OR DOORS ON THE FRONT FACADE
ELEVATION OR WINDOW SHAPES THAT ARE
SUBSTANTIALLY DIFFERENT. THIS STANDARD ALSO
APPLIES TO ANY ELEVATION FACING A STREET, OPEN
SPACE OR PUBLIC / PRIVATE PARK.

5. THE USE OF AT LEAST TWO DIFFERENT MATERIALS ON
THE FRONT FACADE ELEVATION.

6. GARAGES.  VARIATION IN THE LOCATION AND/OR
PROPORTION OF GARAGES AND GARAGE DOORS, SUCH
AS ALLEY-LOADED GARAGES, SIDE-LOADED GARAGES,
ETC.  (2-CAR GARAGE VS. 3-CAR GARAGE OF THE SAME
ELEVATION DO NOT MEET THE INTENT).

7. VARIATIONS IN THE LOCATION, WIDTH, AND
PROPORTION OF FRONT PORCHES (MIN. SIZE 6'x6').

8. MINOR COSMETIC CHANGES SUCH AS DIFFERENT PAINT
COLOR, REVERSING OR CREATING MIRRORED IMAGES
OF THE EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS,
SHUTTERS, DECORATIVE BRACKETS, OR USING
DIFFERENT BRICK OR STONE COLOR SHALL NOT MEET
THE INTENT OF THIS SECTION.

THE SAME HOUSING MODEL WITH THE IDENTICAL STREET
ELEVATION DESIGN (OR NEARLY IDENTICAL) SHALL NOT BE
PLACED LESS THAN THREE AWAY OR DIRECTLY ACROSS THE
STREET FROM ONE ANOTHER. “ACROSS THE STREET” IS
DEFINED AS LOTS THAT OVERLAP EACH OTHER WHEN THE
SIDE LOT LINES ARE EXTENDED ACROSS THE STREET TO THE
OPPOSITE LOT.  THE SAME HOUSING MODEL USED AT THE END
OF ONE BLOCK SHALL NOT BE REPEATED ON THE FIRST LOT
OF THE NEIGHBORING BLOCK.

IDENTICAL OR NEARLY IDENTICAL STREET ELEVATION DESIGN
MEANS LITTLE OR NO VARIATION IN THE ARTICULATION OF THE
FAÇADE, HEIGHT OR WIDTH OF THE FAÇADE, PLACEMENT OF
THE PRIMARY ENTRANCES, PORCHES, NUMBER AND
PLACEMENT OF WINDOWS, AND OTHER MAJOR
ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES.

3.2 CLUSTERED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL
ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

3.2.1 GENERAL

CLUSTER HOMES ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC STREET AND
LOCATED ON A MOTOR COURT OR GREEN COURT SHALL HAVE
A SIDE FACING GARAGE. THE GARAGE SHALL FACE THE MOTOR
COURT OR SHARED DRIVE NOT THE PUBLIC STREET (SHEET 12,
EXHIBIT B).

3.2.2 ACCESS

IF FOUR OR FEWER UNITS ACCESS FROM A SHARED DRIVE,
THE MINIMUM DRIVE WIDTH IS 16 FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME
EXAMPLE B - MOTOR COURT ON SHEET 13). IF 5 OR MORE
UNITS ACCESS OFF A COMMON DRIVE THE MINIMUM DRIVE
WIDTH IS 23 FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE A - GREEN
COURT ON SHEET 13).

GARAGES FACING ONTO SHARED DRIVES MUST HAVE A
MINIMUM FACE TO FACE SEPARATION OF 30 FEET.

3.1.3 FACADES

EXTERIOR FACADES SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CURRENT
STANDARDS AND DESIGN GUIDELINES EXCEPT AS FOLLOWS:

IN ORDER TO BE CONSIDERED A DISTINCT ELEVATION, EACH
ELEVATION SHALL INCORPORATE AT LEAST THREE OF THE
FOLLOWING:

1. PLACEMENT OF WINDOWS ON THE FRONT FAÇADE
ELEVATION INCLUDE AT LEAST A TWO-FOOT VERTICAL
OR HORIZONTAL VARIATION IN SIZE OR LOCATION.

2. THE USE OF DIFFERENT MATERIALS OR VARIATIONS OF
THE SAME MATERIAL ON THE FRONT FAÇADE
ELEVATION.

3. VARIATIONS IN FRONT PLANE.
4. VARIATION IN ROOF TYPE, GABLE AND HIP.

NO MORE THAN TWO (2) OF THE SAME MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE
PERMITTED WITHIN A MOTOR OR GREEN COURT. IF TWO
MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE LOCATED WITHIN THE SAME MOTOR
COURT THEY MUST USE DIFFERENT COLORS OR MATERIALS.

NO HOME MODEL ELEVATION SHALL BE REPEATED DIRECTLY
ACROSS ANY STREET. THIS APPLIES TO STREET SIDE HOMES
ONLY. THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO UNITS LOCATED INTERIOR TO
THE MOTOR COURT OR GREEN COURT.

ALL “STREET SIDE CLUSTER HOMES” SHALL MEET THE
FOLLOWING:

1. THE FRONT FAÇADE OF THE HOME INCORPORATES A
COVERED PORCH.

3.3 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL ARCHITECTURAL
STANDARDS

3.3.1 BUILDING DESIGN

THE ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN APPROACH SHALL EMPHASIZE
COMPATIBILITY WITH EXISTING DEVELOPMENT AND SITE
DESIGN.

THE DESIGN OF NEW STRUCTURES IN OR ADJACENT TO
EXISTING DEVELOPED AREAS SHALL BE COMPATIBLE WITH, OR
AN UPGRADE TO, THE ESTABLISHED ARCHITECTURAL
CHARACTER OF SUCH AREAS.  COMPATIBILITY MAY BE
ACHIEVED THROUGH TECHNIQUES SUCH AS:

1. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES.
2. USE OF SIMILAR PROPORTIONS IN BUILDING MASS AND

OUTDOOR SPACES.
3. SIMILAR RELATIONSHIPS TO THE STREET.
4. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND DOOR PATTERNS.
5. BUILDING MATERIALS WITH SIMILAR COLORS AND

TEXTURES.

TREAT ALL SIDES WITH SIMILAR MATERIALS.  MULTI-FAMILY
BUILDING FACADES SHALL BE ARTICULATED WITH PORCHES,
BALCONIES, BAYS OR OTHER OFFSETS.

ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHOULD BE SIMILAR IN CHARACTER
AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY BUILDINGS.

3.3.2 FACADES

FACADES THAT FACE A STREET OR PARKING AREA SHALL NOT
HAVE A BLANK, UNINTERRUPTED LENGTH EXCEEDING 50 FEET
WITHOUT INCLUDING AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. CHANGE IN PLANE.
2. CHANGE IN COLOR, TEXTURE OR PATTERN, MATERIAL.
3. WINDOWS.
4. COLUMNS, PIERS OR EQUIVALENT ELEMENT THAT

SUBDIVIDES THE WALL.

FACADES GREATER THAN 150 FEET IN LENGTH SHALL
INCORPORATE WALL PLANE PROJECTIONS OR RECESSES
HAVING A DEPTH OF AT LEAST 2% OF THE LENGTH OF THE
FACADE AND OCCUPY AT LEAST 20% OF THE LENGTH OF THE
FACADE.

3.3.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES

PRIMARY BUILDING ENTRANCES SHALL BE CLEARLY DEFINED
AND PROVIDE SHELTER, AND INCLUDE A MINIMUM OF TWO (2)
OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. CANOPY, ARCADE OR PORTICO.
2. OVERHANG OR RECESS.
3. RAISED CORNICED PARAPET.
4. PEAKED ROOF OR ARCH.
5. ARCHITECTURAL DETAIL SUCH AS COLUMNS, TILE

WORK, STONE OR MOLDINGS INTEGRATED INTO THE
BUILDING STRUCTURE.

6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS THAT
INCORPORATE LANDSCAPED AREAS AND/OR PLACES
FOR SITTING.

7. SPECIAL LANDSCAPE OR SITE FEATURE(S).

3.3.4 ROOF AND TOP TREATMENTS

ROOFTOP MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT MUST BE NON-OBTRUSIVE,
SCREENED FROM VIEW OR DESIGNED TO BE INTEGRAL
COMPONENTS OF THE BUILDING.

THE AVERAGE PARAPET HEIGHT MAY NOT EXCEED 15% OF THE
SUPPORTING WALL HEIGHT.

LARGE SLOPED ROOFS MUST HAVE VARIATIONS IN HEIGHT OR
OFFSETS TO BREAK UP THE LARGE PLANE WITH A MAXIMUM
100 LINEAR FEET OF ONE PLANE.

ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHALL BE OF THE SAME CHARACTER
AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY BUILDINGS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



PUBLIC STREET

D
RI

V
E

MOTOR COURT

GREEN COURT

STREET TREES

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

BACKYARD FRONT DOOR

COMMON/SHARED
GREEN SPACE, TYP.

GREEN COURT

RIGHT-OF-WAY

STREET TREES

PERENNIALS

DROUGHT-TOLERANT
SHRUBS

SIDEWALK

DROUGHT -TOLERANT
 TURF

IRRIGATED
NATIVE SEED

PUBLIC
STREET

FLOW LINE

30' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER (SHRUBS

ALLOWED)
ROW (NO SHRUBS)

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

LOCATED IN SECTION 2, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 4 AND 5 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTIES OF WELD AND LARIMER, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

12
/2

0/
20

19
 3

:2
2 

PM
 ; 

P:
\P

LA
TT

E 
LA

N
D

 &
 W

AT
ER

\G
R

EA
T 

PL
AI

N
S 

-W
EL

TY
\C

AD
\S

U
BM

IT
TA

LS
\G

PV
 O

D
P\

G
PV

-O
D

P-
D

ES
IG

N
-G

U
ID

EL
IN

ES
.D

W
G

;

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

PART 4 - COMMERCIAL, OFFICE AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL
ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

4.1 GENERAL

THESE DESIGN STANDARDS APPLY TO THE CREATION OF AND
IMPROVEMENTS TO HIGH VISIBILITY, NEIGHBORHOOD,
COMMUNITY AND  REGIONAL-SCALE COMMERCIAL AREAS.
REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO THE OVERALL NATURE OF THE
PUD CAN BE FOUND IN THE GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES
SECTIONS AND SHOULD BE VIEWED AS COMPLEMENTARY.

4.1.1 CONTEXT/SCALE

IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE COHESIVE DESIGNS WITHIN EACH AREA
OF DEVELOPMENT, ATTENTION MUST BE PAID TO BUILDINGS
AND FEATURES SURROUNDING THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENT.
THE DESIGN OF BUILDINGS WHICH FACE PUBLIC STREETS,
ADJACENT DEVELOPMENTS, OR CONNECTED PEDESTRIAN
SPACES, SHALL EMPLOY, ALONG A MINIMUM OF FORTY (40)
PERCENT OF THE FACADE, AT LEAST TWO OF THE FOLLOWING
IN AN EFFORT TO FORM COHESIVE DEVELOPMENT, DEFINE THE
SPACES, AND TO BRING A PEDESTRIAN SCALE TO THE
FACADES. THIS REQUIREMENT IS FOR ALL ELEVATIONS (360◦
DESIGN)

1. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND PATTERNS
2. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES
3. SIMILAR BUILDING MATERIALS AND TEXTURES
4. SHADING DEVICES (INCLUDING ARCADES, AWNINGS

AND ARBORS)
5. SIMILAR PROPORTIONS OF ELEMENTS

4.1.2 ARTICULATION

WALL DESIGN FOR ALL FACADES SHALL VARY AT LEAST EVERY
FIFTY (50) HORIZONTAL FEET BY USE OF AT LEAST TWO (2) OF
THE FOLLOWING:

1. CHANGES IN COLOR, TEXTURE, OR MATERIALS.
2. CHANGES IN WALL PLAN PROJECTIONS, REVEALS,

ENTRANCES, AND RECESSES WITH A MINIMUM CHANGE
OF ONE FOOT.

3. CHANGE IN GLAZING / CURTAIN WALL
4. VARIETY IN ROOFS: SUCH AS PITCH, HEIGHT, AND

STYLE.
5. ENHANCED ARTICULATION ALONG PEDESTRIAN PATHS

4.1.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES

PUBLIC BUILDING ENTRANCES SHOULD BE CLEARLY DEFINED
AND FEATURE AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING
ELEMENTS:

1. CANOPIES OR PORTICOS
2. OVERHANGS OR RECESSES OR PROJECTIONS
3. ARCADES
4. ARCHES
5. DISPLAY WINDOWS ALONG SIDEWALKS
6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS WITH

INCORPORATED LANDSCAPE AREAS AND/OR PLACES
FOR SITTING

7. DISTINCTIVE ROOF FORMS
8. AWNINGS
9. COLUMNS, TILE WORK, MOLDINGS, AND STONE

INTEGRATED INTO THE DESIGN OF THE BUILDING

4.1.4 MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT, LOADING AREA, AND
OUTDOOR STORAGE

ALL LOADING DOCKS, ACCESSORY OUTDOOR STORAGE AND
SERVICE YARDS SHALL BE LOCATED TO THE SIDE AND REAR
YARDS OF BUILDINGS.

ALL OUTDOOR STORAGE YARDS, LOADING DOCKS, SERVICE
AREAS AND MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT SHALL BE CONCEALED
FROM VIEW FROM RESIDENTIAL USES AND PUBLIC ROW BY A
COMBINATION OF SCREENS AND SCREENING MATERIAL
(PLANTS) AT LEAST AS HIGH AS THE EQUIPMENT OR AREAS

THEY HIDE. THEY SHALL BE DESIGNED WITH COLORS AND
MATERIALS SIMILAR TO THOSE USED ON THE BUILDING
ARCHITECTURE. PLANTS USED IN COMBINATION WITH
SCREENS/FENCING SHALL BE EVERGREEN.

4.1.5 FENCES

ALL FENCING SHALL CONSIST OF WOODEN, STAKE, PARCEL
PICKET, SPLIT RAIL, VINYL, WROUGHT IRON, AND/OR MASONRY.
CHAIN LINK WILL ONLY BE ACCEPTED FOR INDUSTRIAL USES.

EXCESSIVE FENCING SHALL BE AVOIDED THROUGH THE USE OF
STAGGERING, LANDSCAPE, BUFFER, AND ANCHOR MATERIALS.

4.1.6 RETAINING WALLS

ANY PORTION OF CONCRETE OR MASONRY RETAINING WALLS
VISIBLE FROM PUBLIC STREETS WILL BE COVERED WITH
DECORATIVE MATERIALS SUCH AS STONE, BRICK OR STUCCO.

D
E
SI

G
N

 G
U

ID
E
L
IN

E
S

15

CLUSTER HOME CONCEPTUAL PLAN (EXHIBIT B)STREETSCAPE TYPICAL (EXHIBIT A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
08-06-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



 

 

 

Great Plains Village 

Outline Development Plan 

 
As presented to Planning & Zoning Commission on 

December 11, 2019  



 
 

1 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
AGENDA MEMORANDUM 

  
ITEM:   Great Plains Village PUD – Outline Development Plan (ODP) 
 
DESCRIPTION: The Great Plains Village ODP provides a wide mix of uses in a master planned area, 

encompassing 502.5 acres. This ODP amends and supersedes prior approved ODPs for 
this area, including the Ransom Annexation ODP, the Hamilton Annexation ODP, and 
the GBH Annexation ODP. 

  
LOCATION:   East and West side of future alignment of High Plains Boulevard                
  
APPLICANT:   Platte Land & Water, LLC 
 
STAFF:  Kim Meyer, Planning & Development Director 
 
HEARING DATE: December 11, 2019 
 
  
OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN PROCESS 
An Outline Development Plan (ODP) is the first step in defining the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning– 
as each is unique; future Preliminary and Final Development Plans follow with increasing levels of detail and site 
specificity.  
 
As previously presented to the Planning & Zoning Commission and Town Council, Town Staff has updated the 
contents of an ODP to expand on the base requirements contained in the Municipal Code. This “pilot program” 
has been undertaken with informed participation of the Applicant. An ODP now requires a larger body of 
information and study, including early stage (“30%”) engineering reports (traffic, utilities, drainage, etc.), to 
ensure the feasibility of the land uses, intensity, and densities shown in the ODP. As the document that establishes 
basic development standards and land uses, similar to a zoning code, an ODP is adopted as an Ordinance by Town 
Council, to have the force of zoning requirements for that PUD, with the analysis, studies, and reports included 
as part of that case file as evidence, by reference.  
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Town of Johnstown is considering a request for an updated ODP for the 502.5-acre Great Plains Village PUD, 
which encompasses three prior annexations and PUD zonings east of I-25. This large segment of Johnstown is 
planned for a mix of land uses, development intensity, and residential densities. The ODP defines specific 
“planning areas” and the land uses and densities for each area. Development of this area will ultimately extend 
High Plains Boulevard to the north as a major arterial to realign to the east with current LCR 3 and intersect LCR 
18/WCR 54, US 34, and beyond to the north. 
 



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

2 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Vicinity Map  
B. Prior Annexations & ODPs 
C. Outline Development Plan Sheets 
D. Land Use Tables & Definitions (ODP Excerpt) 
E. Land Use Development Standards Matrices (ODP Excerpt) 
F. ODP Text (ODP Excerpt) 

 

PROPERTY DATA 
Location:   Multiple parcels East of I-25 and within ½ mile north and south of LCR 

14/WCR50 
Property Size:     502.5 Acres 
Current Zoning/Land Use(s):  PUD-MU, PUD-B, and PUD-R – currently undeveloped ag 
Surrounding Zoning/Land Uses: 

North:  Larimer Co. & Johnstown undev. Ag land, SF homes, oil & gas facilities  
South:  Johnstown PUD-MU – “Vista Commons”  
East:  Larimer & Weld Co undev ag land, SF homes, to S-E is Rocksbury Ridge 
West:  I-25, Larimer & Weld Co undev ag land, commercial, boat storage 

 

BACKGROUND  
This area of Johnstown was annexed as part of the Ransom Annexation, Hamilton Annexation, and GBH 
Annexation. See Attachment B. 
 

Hamilton Annexation (137 acres) 
• Annexed into Johnstown in December of 2002, with Zoning Ordinance to PUD-MU 
• 2002 Outline Development Plan for “Hamilton Annexation” was a single sheet, showing  

 71.07 AC of Commercial / Employment: 150,000 SF GLA commercial / 250,000 SF GLA 
Employment, and 

 66.87 Acres of Multi Family, 600 units at 8.97 DU/acre 
• Preliminary Plat – “Great Plains Village” (2004-2005) 

 Board of Trustees approved July 6, 2005 
 Design Guidelines approved August 18, 2005?? 

• Final Plat for “Great Plains Village Filing 1” (2008)  
 PZC Hearing August 13, 2008 
 No final plat ever recorded 

• Oil & Gas USR & Amended USR – Approved in 2012 and 2015 “Avex” wells 
 Wells are Plugged & Abandoned, per COGCC website.  

 

GBH Annexation (321 acres) 
• Annexed into Johnstown in December of 2005, with Zoning Ordinance to PUD-MU and PUD-R 
• 2005 Outline Development Plan for “GBH Annexation” was a single sheet, showing bubbles including: 

 73.1 AC of Commercial / Employment/Office / Lt Industrial: 752,172 SF GLA 
 197.7 Acres of Residential, at 5-6 net DU/acre (approx. 1039 units max.) 

• USR for Oil & Gas – Synergy Avex wells  
 Wells are Plugged & Abandoned, per COGCC website.  

 

Ransom Annexation (53 acres) 
• Annexed into Johnstown in March of 2008, with Zoning Ordinance to PUD-MU 



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

3 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN REVIEW & ANALYSIS 
Land Use Framework Plan   
The exhibit at right shows a snippet from the 
Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan (2006) 
designations for the Great Plains Village 
ODP area, which includes: 

• commercial mixed use (brown)  
• employment (blue)  
• low density residential (yellow) to 

the east 
• Village Center, envisioning 

neighborhood scale retail and 
services, at the intersection of LCR 
14/WCR 50 and High Plains Blvd.  

• Note the extension and realignment 
of High Plains Blvd.  

 

In reviewing the goals of the comprehensive 
plan, Staff believes the proposed ODP 
satisfies or otherwise helps to further the 
following goals, as excerpted from the plan:  
 
Community Form (CF) 
Goal CF 1. New development achieves the community’s goals and is consistent with the Town’s vision. 

Contiguous, compact pattern. Promote the efficient use of land and other resources by encouraging an 
orderly, contiguous pattern of compact urban development and minimizing single‐use or low‐density, 
dispersed development. 
Extension of public services and facilities. Direct community growth in a manner that will provide for 
the efficient and effective extension of public services and facilities. 
Provision of infrastructure. All new development is expected to install paved streets, curbs, gutters 
and sidewalks, storm sewer lines, sanitary sewer lines, required water lines, and all other required 
services according to Town standards; and include participation in the oversizing of facilities where 
necessary. 
Fair share of the cost of growth. Maintain current impact fees and dedication requirements which help 
the Town collect adequate funds for improvements such as water or sewer line oversizing, arterial 
streets, parks, etc. 
 

Goal CC 1 (Centers) Walkable, mixed‐use economic centers. 
Hierarchy of mixed‐use centers. Create a hierarchy of mixed‐use Gateway and Village Centers. 
Recognize that Gateway Centers along the I‐25 corridor and the Downtown are the largest scale 
commercial areas. 
Center size. Encourage centers to have sufficient critical mass and a range of goods and services. 
Avoid small, fragmented strip‐ type commercial. 
Market‐driven centers. Encourage mixed‐use centers that will allow for the market‐driven 
development of a wide array of retail, commercial, employment and residential land uses, and that will 
encourage a synergy between land uses. 



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

4 

Center location. Locate centers where existing economic activity, infrastructure, and regional 
transportation systems can be maximized. 
Residential activity in centers. Surround centers with moderate to high density neighborhoods within 
a walkable distance (typically ½ mile). 
Employment. Centers in combination with Districts and Downtown should form a network of 
employment opportunities linked by the Town’s transportation system. 

 
Districts (DD) – Employment Districts (Employment, Commercial and Commercial-Mixed-Use) are focused 
on major transportation corridors that shape the location of major concentrations of retail, office and industrial 
uses. Districts provide regional, highway and auto serving commercial, office, and light-industrial uses that are 
dependent upon high traffic counts and volume. The flexible nature of a district allows the accommodation of 
manufacturing and light industry along with major big-box retailers. Siting requirements for industry should 
include parcel size, topography, access to rail and transportation, proximity to other like uses, land use 
compatibility and other infrastructure requirements. Districts should be focused along major highways, 
including I-25 and U.S. 34 and should have adequate utility and infrastructure system capacities. 
Goal DD 1 (Districts) A diversified economic base with employment opportunities available to the region. 

District mix. Establish districts that include a combination of employment, commercial and 
commercial‐mixed‐use areas that diversify the Town’s economic base. 
District location. Locate district land uses in locations that capitalize on the market, transportation 
corridors (I‐25 and U.S. 34), and the provision of utilities. 
Residential opportunities. Where appropriate, consider opportunities for residential and residential 
mixed‐use areas near Gateway and Village Centers. 
Primary jobs. Increase the number of primary jobs within Johnstown by creating an adequate supply 
of fully‐served, entitled parcels for future commercial and light industrial development. 
 

Neighborhoods (NH): 
Goal NH 1: A diversity of housing types to support the housing needs of a diverse population. 

Location and proximity. The appropriate type of new neighborhoods will be determined by their 
proximity to retail centers, employment and commercial areas, educational facilities, and open spaces, in 
addition to their effects on existing infrastructure and traffic. 
Housing diversity distribution. Encourage builders and developers to use their ingenuity to combine a 
variety of housing types at a compatible scale and character within the same attractive neighborhood. As 
the acreage of the residential project increases, the number of housing types within it will also increase. 

 
Goal NH 2 A fabric of complete mixed‐use neighborhoods that provide a full range of local services. 

Full range of services. New residential development will be focused into a series of mixed‐use 
neighborhoods that are in close proximity to a full range of complementary, local‐serving commercial, 
civic, and recreational uses. 
 

JOHNSTOWN MUNICIPAL CODE (JMC) REVIEW CRITERIA (§16-303) 
The code states that PUDs are to “provide a more flexible approach to the physical development” of land, 
allowing for more creative solutions and design. At the general planning ODP level, the review criteria outlined 
in the JMC are not applicable at the level of detail provided – this will be further reviewed at Preliminary and 
Final Development Plan stages. The ODP lays the foundation and creates opportunity for creative and unique 
land development solutions through a big picture overview of development possibilities with the development 
and architectural standards. In this regard, the ODP is in substantial compliance with the municipal code. 
 



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

5 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION & STAFF ANALYSIS 
The Applicant submitted an Outline Development Plan as well as a full complement of supplementary submittal 
documents and reports including engineering studies and plans, a master traffic impact study, and a geotech study. 
These documents were reviewed multiple times by the Town’s ancillary reviewers, including the fire district, 
traffic engineer and civil engineer, until each reviewer was satisfied with the state of the plan and documents at 
this conceptual planning stage. See Attachments C & D for the ODP and enlarged Land Use Tables.  
 

Land Use 
The ODP, due to its size and location, offers a wide range of permitted land uses, running the gamut from 
recreational, to a variety of residential products and options, to commercial and industrial uses, with designated 
permitted (primary or accessory) uses and conditional uses for each planning area. The Land Use Tables written 
into the ODP clarify these general classifications of uses.  

The proposed planning areas within this ODP are in keeping with the PUD zoning designations, i.e., “B,” “MU,” 
“R,” originally established with the zoning upon annexation for the various parcels. The ODP identifies fifteen 
different “Planning Areas” and indicates acreage and type of land use proposed for each. A definition for each 
land use type was included: 

 
Below is the Land Use Summary from the ODP indicating the total area encompassed by each: 
 

R-M is largely intended for the creation of single-family attached 
and detached neighborhoods, with nearly half of the land acreage 
devoted to this use. The majority of the R-M Planning Areas are 
located north of LCR 14 / WCR50. One R-M area is located 
immediately north of the Vista Commons PUD, along High 
Plains Blvd. Densities are 3-8 DU/acre. 

MU-1 areas are located at the northwest corner of High Plains 
and LCR 14/WCR50, and in the center/west of the southern 
quarter-section of land, and is intended largely for larger 
commercial and light industrial uses, and encourages a mix of 
higher intensity uses, including multi-family. 

MU-2 planning areas make up just over 19% of the land area, and 
are located at the north east and south west corners of LCR 
14/WCR50 and High Plains Blvd. These areas also permit high 
density residential uses integrated with more neighborhood-
commercial land uses that provide goods and services to the immediate adjacent neighborhoods.  



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

6 

Employment areas provide land (~15% of total land area) for jobs centers such as office parks, light industrial, 
commercial, warehouse and distribution uses. These areas are more focused on visibility and access to the I-25 
corridor. 

Open Space planning areas are limited to only 1.6% of the total land area, and are located adjacent to existing 
irrigation ditches, and seem likely to remain more agricultural in nature for the foreseeable future. Additional 
Open Space requirements (parks, trails, detention areas, etc.) are included in the ODP in each planning area as 
those areas are designed and built out. 

Overall Density & Maximums.   

Residential Maximum Units   2000 units 

Commercial/Industrial Maximum SF  2,400,000 SF 

Density Transfer (between Planning Areas) Permitted with Director’s approval. Not to exceed total of 
130% of max units or SF for the Receiving Planning Area 

 

Planning Areas. 

This ODP table provides 
more specific densities and 
“maximums” for each 
Planning Area.  

At no time may the 
cumulative numbers of 
Units and SF listed above 
be exceeded, without an 
amendment to the ODP. 

 

 

Uses: Outdoor Storage, RV/Boat/U-Haul Rentals, Motor Vehicle Sales. One significant area of concern for 
Staff has been the amount of land that allows large areas of outdoor storage and rental/sales displays. These uses 
(permitted or conditional) in the MU-1 (Mixed Use) and EMP (Employment) area, the visibility of these areas 
from the highway and Town streets, and a combined area of nearly 150 acres are cause for concern. The overall 
scale of this ODP and the potential for too many/too-large areas of these uses may be excessive and undermine 
the Town’s interests in promoting and preserving high-quality commercial, employment, and mixed-use areas. 

While communities rely heavily upon market forces to ensure a mix and distribution of uses, these are sought-
after uses in Northern Colorado due to current “Colorado” lifestyles, a strong local economy, and current success 
in the construction and oil and gas industries. The Town wants to ensure these uses do not adversely overshadow 
or impact the long-term viability of this area for future employers, retailers, and other opportunities in the 
economy.  

These planning areas are highly-visible along the I-25 corridor, given the vertical alignment of I-25. Outdoor 
storage, in particular, is a land use that tends to “deaden” a neighborhood and streetscape with no foot traffic; little 
customer traffic; few jobs provided; and long typically-monotonous screening walls and fences dominating the 
streetscape. The outdoor displays associated with dealerships and equipment rental businesses can also be 
excessive and appear visually-cluttered. The ODP does include language that requires outdoor storage be 

Planning 
Area 

Land Use Acreage Commercial 
Max SF 

Residential: 
Min DU/Ac 

Max 
DU/Ac 

Max 
Units 

1 MU-2 41.6 634,234 3 15 624 
2 R-M 51.7  3 6 310 
3 Open Space 3.3     
4 R-M 45.1  3 6 271 
5 R-M 32.2  3 6 193 
6 Open Space 4.7     
7 R-M 58.0  3 8 464 
8 R-M 35.7  3 8 286 
9 MU-2 14.3 186,872 3 20 286 

10 MU-1 38.6 504,425    
11 EMP 38.4 501,811    
12 EMP 36.4 554,954    
13 MU-1 37.0 483,516    
14 MU-2 41.1 537,095 3 15 617 
15 R-M 24.4  3 8 196 



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

7 

“concealed from view” of residences and public rights-of-way, to the side and rear of associated primary buildings, 
and screened to full height. 

For primary outdoor storage uses, Staff would like to see these sites located more mid-block – behind other uses 
- rather than along a prime streetscape via functional setbacks from arterials or the highway, setbacks from 
residential areas, and limits on individual and cumulative acreages devoted to this use seem like reasonable 
solutions to include in the ODP language. Presently with the Town, uses with outdoor storage are generally 
permitted only in Industrial or Gateway zoning, and it is typically an accessory use.  

For perspective as to size and scale, Staff did an informal survey of highway-adjacent development along I-25 to 
better understand the acreage and impact of various existing Northern Colorado developments on the look and 
“feel” along a highway corridor.  

• Johnstown area: 
o Lazydays RV sales – 28 ac., clearly a large development, visually overwhelming and cluttered 
o “Boatel” on Marketplace (now Exodus Moving) – 6.2 ac, not as overwhelming visually, much 

storage is interior, outdoor storage areas feel crowded and cluttered 
• Crossroads Blvd area: 

o Thunder Mountain Harley Davidson – 7.5 ac., feels like an appropriate highway scale, might be 
too much along an arterial, all display is interior – just customer parking outside 

o Various car dealerships – 6 to 9 acres each, full lots, easy to see vehicles, with the concentration 
of dealerships in one area Staff found it helpful that each dealership is individualized and 
somewhat visually separated with architecture, landscaping, site lighting.  

• Timnath area: 
o Costco site (exclusive of pads) – 12 ac, tall building helps with scale of surface parking, no 

outdoor storage or display to compare 
o Walmart (exclusive of pads) – 22 ac, big lot, too much parking, visually overwhelming – the use 

gets lost in the expanse of asphalt, no outdoor storage or display to compare 

Given this variety of comparison sites and Staff’s informal analysis above, Staff feels that the best option for this 
area of Johnstown, and along our I-25 frontages in general, may be to limit permitted site sizes for any sales/rental 
display to no more than 10 acres, with a conditional use grant possible for sites over 10 acres. The ODP does 
provide a conditional use grant provision for Outdoor Storage of Vehicles over 5 acres, in MU-1 areas – Staff 
recommends extending this to all outdoor storage over 5 acres. Additionally, as the ODP has the developer(s) and 
Staff tracking development maximums (units/SF) as well as any density transfers, similarly there could be a 
tracking system for the maximum acreage devoted to sales lots and outdoor storage uses – not to exceed 15% in 
each use area (EMP and MU-1) which would provide a cumulative 22.5 acres, of the 150.4 acres in those planning 
areas. That seems to allow for a reasonable distribution of that use 

The applicant is working with Staff to refine the ODP language to address, limit, and mitigate the potential visual 
and community impacts of these types of uses within these areas. Staff will continue to work with the applicant 
on this issue to arrive at a workable and agreeable solution, prior to Town Council hearings on this project. The 
goal of that negotiation will be to provide reasonable accommodation of the uses, as well as protect Town interests 
in creating a vibrant, resilient, and attractive community. Resolution of this issue prior to Town Council hearings 
is a recommended condition of approval. 

Development Standards 

The ODP lays out specific development standards for certain elements of each land use and planning area. On 
subjects or elements where the ODP is silent on an issue, Johnstown’s current codes, regulations, guidelines, and 
specifications would prevail.  



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

8 

To encourage a diversity of housing types and a mix of uses, the ODP provides a range of options for residential 
lot configurations, from alley-loaded garages to zero-lot-line layouts. Reference the Land Use Development 
Standards Matrices and typical lot layouts on Sheet 13 of the ODP (See Attachment E for enlargements of those 
tables) for the different options by planning area and land use type for setbacks, height, lot sizes and non-
residential lot coverage. 

• Architectural Standards. As specific uses and users are not yet known, the Architectural Standards in 
the ODP are minimal. Where the ODP does not address a given element of design requirements, 
Johnstown Municipal Code and/or Design Guidelines would prevail. 
• Residential architectural standards include: 

 SFD & SFA: Incorporating three distinct architectural features to create unique facades from 
other housing models: mass, form, roof design, fenestrations, materials, garage 
location/proportion, porch location/proportion.   

 SFD & SFA: Housing model variation along a streetscape 
 MF: Use of similar exterior materials on all facades 
 MF: Walls >50' require some articulation to avoid long blank walls that lack engagement 
 MF: Building entry definition using various features 

• Non-residential architectural standards include:  
 Employing some “similar” feature – to other buildings, once something is built – on 40% of 

all facades. 
 Wall articulation options applied at least every 50' 
 Building entry features 

 
• Landscaped areas throughout are encouraged to utilize native, drought-tolerant plant materials.  

 
• Streetscape is discussed as including drought-tolerant turf, xeric plants, and native seed areas. This is a 

departure from the typical sodded, water-thirsty tree lawns; however given the climate of Northern 
Colorado and the value of our water resources, Staff has encouraged the Developer to consider more xeric 
landscapes to lower water demand; believing this shift will best serve the neighborhood and the 
community over time.   
 

• Buffer from Arterials. A minimum 20' landscape buffer would be required along High Plains Boulevard 
and LCR 14 / WCR50 – with an average width of 30' to allow varying setbacks for structures and the 
option for a more natural, meandering buffer area. One area that has been neglected is the “Streetscape” 
of I-25, where Staff believes a 50-foot landscaped buffer along this corridor begins to set a meaningful 
precedent for development along I-25. 
 

• Signage. A detailed signage program has not yet been designed and reviewed. Staff expects to see those 
come in with Preliminary & Final Development Plans for the specific planning areas.   

Transportation/Traffic 

The transportation network proposed is centered on High Plains Blvd. as the main north-south spine and its 
eventual build-out to a 4-lane major arterial, as indicated in the Johnstown Transportation Master Plan (2007). 
Additionally, the Town has been working with CDOT and adjacent municipalities to ensure future design, 
alignment and regional connectivity for High Plains Blvd. to create a meaningful transportation corridor that will 
(over time and with adjacent development) stretch to LCR 18/ WCR 54, and ultimately to US 34. LCR 14/WCR 
50 is designated as a 2-lane minor arterial – which provides a significant east-west corridor through Johnstown to 



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

9 

Parish Ave., as well as connecting to the west side of I-25 with an underpass which will be rebuilt and enhanced 
to accommodate a full Town street cross-section, including bike lanes and sidewalks, with planned I-25 
construction. Future intersections and streets will be sized, designed, and engineered with future development 
plans, and will have to meet Town standards for capacity and intersection spacing. The ODP provides a conceptual 
idea of what this road network could look like.  

Note that the existing frontage road along the west boundary will be abandoned, per CDOT direction and 
agreement by the Town and Applicant, for the “parallel arterial” of High Plains Boulevard to serve this north-
south movement along the interstate corridor. 

Several street cross sections are illustrated in the ODP, and final design will be subject to approval by Town 
Engineer. Most of the sections shown do meet current Town standards and specifications. The ODP-modified 
local street and private drive cross-sections may be incorporated, where considered appropriate by Town Staff, 
with future development plans. The Town is willing to review and consider these modifications dependent upon 
the intended use and purpose of the roadway.  

Utilities 

The ODP Utility Plan is based on “30%” plans and reports provided to date, to ensure feasibility only. Water and 
wastewater services will be provided by the Town, as water and sewer service agreements are executed and raw 
water is dedicated with each future site specific development plan or final plat. Water is available to the site via: 
1) a 20" water main in the High Plains Boulevard alignment, from which a parallel 12" main will run north from 
the north terminus of HIGH PLAINS BOULEVARD; 2) from the north boundary, west of the High Plains 
Boulevard alignment, an existing 20" main connecting south into 3) an existing 20" water main in LCR 14/ WCR 
50. 

8"-12" sanitary sewer mains are proposed for the arterial roads, to connect into the Town’s system served by the 
Central Wastewater Treatment Plant. Limited sewer capacity is available to serve some amount of immediate 
development demand, while the majority of future development of the Great Plains Village PUD must be timed 
appropriately to be served by a future sanitary sewer interceptor intended to fully serve the demand in this area.  

An existing fiber optic line and an existing gas main run north-south through the entire site, several hundred feet 
apart, and will dictate much of the design of future development in the area. The proposed parallel north-south 
collector alignment is based on the gas main alignment. 

Stormwater Management / Floodplain 

This site is not located in the 100 or 500-year designated floodplain. Although planning is at a very preliminary 
level, the Applicant’s drainage report indicated that twelve regional detention ponds are anticipated throughout 
the area to manage developed runoff and provide full spectrum detention. Historic drainage patterns will be 
maintained. 

Summary 
The ODP amendment requested is in keeping with and furthers the Comprehensive Plan goals and Land Use 
Framework Plan, as well as the Transportation Master Plan. Staff believes this amendment is compatible with the 
initial intent of the annexation and original Outline Development Plans of the three annexations – providing a mix 
of uses at densities and intensities that are appropriate for the emerging transportation and infrastructure network.  
Review of future Preliminary and Final Development Plans for the area will require conformance with this ODP, 
and Staff will be looking for high-quality development, architecture, and signage, especially along the major 
transportation corridors. With current codes and processes, the Planning & Zoning Commission and Town Council 
will have the opportunity to review and consider all future Preliminary and Final Plats and Development Plans. 
 



Great Plains Village ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

10 

 
COMMUNITY / NEIGHBORHOOD RESPONSE 
This public hearing was posted in the Johnstown Breeze. The Applicant provided stamped addressed envelopes 
which Staff used to provide a mailed public notice to all property owners within 500 feet of the boundaries of the 
PUD, informing the immediate neighborhood of this meeting. No neighborhood meeting was required. 
As of the date of publication of this Staff Report, no inquiries were received by Staff. 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION FINDINGS AND MOTIONS 
Based on the application received and the preceding analysis, the Planning & Zoning Commission finds that the 
proposed request for the Great Plains Village Outline Development Plan, superseding the Hamilton, Ransom and 
GBH ODPs for the same area, furthers the Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan goals, and is compatible with all 
other applicable Town standards and regulations, and therefore moves to recommend to the Town Council 
Approval of the proposed ODP, with the following conditions: 
 
1. The Applicant must work with Staff, prior to the Town Council hearing, to develop revised wording in the 

ODP document to ensure appropriate development of any outdoor storage, display, and sales areas, to address 
the following specific concerns: 

a. The use categories of Outdoor storage; RV’s, Trailer, Camper, and Limited Equipment (U-Haul type 
business) rentals; and Motor vehicle dealers/ sales may not exceed 15% of land area in the EMP and 
MU-1 planning areas, to be tracked by the Director and Developer on the ODP, similar to maximum 
SF/units. 

b. Outdoor Storage, as a primary use, must be setback a minimum of 300' from any arterial or interstate 
right-of-way. 

c. Update the Land Use Tables to modify: 
i. primary Outdoor Storage uses over 5 acres to be processed and considered as conditional uses in 

MU-1 and EMP; and  
ii. “RV’s, Trailer, Camper, and Limited Equipment (U-Haul type business) rentals” – add “Max. of 

10 acres” to use description; and 
iii. Add a new use category for “RV’s… rentals, >10 ac.” – and update to “C” Conditional uses in 

EMP & MU-1 
iv. Treat “Motor vehicle dealer/sales” category similarly, as described in subsections ii, and iii above. 

 
2. Update ODP language to require a 50-foot landscaped buffer along the I-25 corridor frontage. 
 
ALTERNATE MOTIONS 
A. Motion to Approve with no Conditions: “…and therefore moves to recommend to the Town Council approval 

of the Great Plains Village Outline Development Plan as presented.” 
 

B. Motion to Deny: “I move that the Commission recommend to the Town Council denial of the Great Plains 
Village Outline Development Plan, with the following findings: the proposed amendment…” 
Examples/options: 

a. is not in keeping with or furthering the Comprehensive Plan with regard to protecting the Town’s 
Gateway areas. 

b. introduces a use that the Commission finds incompatible with the surrounding area and the intent 
of the PUD and the Comprehensive Plan. 

c. (Other…) 



ATTACHMENT A 
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ODP 

Vicinity Map 

11



ATTACHMENT B 
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ODP 
Prior Annexations & ODPs 

 
 
 
 
 

Hamilton Annexation / ODP 
- 

Ransom Annexation / ODP 
- 

GBH Annexation / ODP 

13



14



15



16



17



ATTACHMENT C 
 

GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ODP 
 
 

19



���� ��� ��� �� 	 
 � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� 
 � � � 
 �� � � � � � � 
 � � � � � ! " # � � $ �  � � �	 
 � �  � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � % &'()*+,-.*/0(12

3.435-1.*%6-72 &8 9 : ; < = : > : ; ? @A < B 9 : > C ; < B > D
8 9 : ; < = : > : ; ? @A < B 9 : > C ; < B > D

E F G H
'(-(012(6-72

'( &02 &I
J K L M N L O P'( &02 &I $ �  � 
� �   � �  � � 	 � �

	 
 � �  � � � � �� � 	 � � � �
Q B R 9 = : B S 9 : B S 9 T 8 U 8 : =

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

V W X Y Z [ \ ] ^ _ [ X Z ] W ^ ` a b c Y ^ \ b d a Z W e ^ _ f ] g h Y ^ \ c ^ W i Z f a i Y ^ j [ d k e [ _ Z W l Z f [ _ ] m Z f g i ] ^ X ] g Y V n [ i ] \ ] Y ^ a ] ^ o W f ^ _ Z W e ^ a X W p ^ Z ] [ _ W l e [ V \ Y ^ \ V Y i ] n [ i a _ Z Y Z [ W l X W V W i Y \ W

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

qqrqsrtuqvq wuuxy zx w{x|}~~�|}����}~��{���}~x|
}��� ���|~�{�}�{���y�~~}|�{�x���x{
�x� ���x ������ ���� z

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

�   ¡ ¢ � £   ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ © § ª «¬  ® ¯ ° ± ® ² ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ ¸ ¹ º ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ À ° ® » ² ¶ ´ ±  ¿ ² ® ¯ ° ´ À ¯ ¬ ² Á µ Â Ã» µ ¶ ° ® ³ ° ´ µ Â ° ´  ¯ ± ² ½ ±  ¬ Ä Å µ ¯ ± Æ ± ¬ ² À ½ ® · ² ° Ç ® ³ Ä ¬ ¯ ± Å µ ¯ À ¶ ° ¬ ° µ ® ³ ½ ® Ä ® ¯ ¬ Æ ® È¬ ² Æ ¬ Ä Ä ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ À ° ® » ² ¶ ´ ±  ¿ ² ® ¯ ° ´ À ¯ ¬ ² Á µ Â Ã » µ ¶ ° ® ³ ° ´ µ Â ° ´ ¯ ± ² ½ ±  ¬ Ä Å µ ¯ ± Æ ± ¬ ² À ½ ® · ² ° Ç ® ³ Ä ¬ ¯ ± Å µ ¯ À ¶ ° ¬ ° µ ® ³ ½ ® Ä ® ¯ ¬ Æ ® È¬ ² Æ ¬  ® ¯ ° ± ® ² ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â À ° ® » ² ¶ ´ ±  ¿ ² ® ¯ ° ´ À ¯ ¬ ² Á µ Â Ã » µ ¶ ° ® ³ ° ´ µÂ ° ´  ¯ ± ² ½ ±  ¬ Ä Å µ ¯ ± Æ ± ¬ ² À ½ ® · ² ° Ç ® ³ Ä ¬ ¯ ± Å µ ¯ À ¶ ° ¬ ° µ ® ³ ½ ® Ä ® ¯ ¬ Æ ® È¬ ² Æ ¬  ® ¯ ° ± ® ² ® ³ ° ´ µ ² ® ¯ ° ´ ¸ ¹ º ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² º À ° ® » ² ¶ ´ ±  ¼ ² ® ¯ ° ´ À ¯ ¬ ² Á µ Â Ã » µ ¶ ° ® ³ ° ´ µ Â ° ´ ¯ ± ² ½ ±  ¬ Ä Å µ ¯ ± Æ ± ¬ ² À ½ ® · ² ° Ç ® ³ » µ Ä Æ À ¶ ° ¬ ° µ ® ³ ½ ® Ä ® ¯ ¬ Æ ®É µ ± ² Á Å ® ¯ µ  ¬ ¯ ° ± ½ · Ä ¬ ¯ Ä Ç Æ µ ¶ ½ ¯ ± É µ Æ ¬ ¶ ³ ® Ä Ä ® » ¶ Ê½ ® ² ¶ ± Æ µ ¯ ± ² Á ° ´ µ µ ¬ ¶ ° Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â À ° ® » ² ¶ ´ ±  ¿ ² ® ¯ ° ´ À ¯ ¬ ² Á µ Â Ã» µ ¶ ° ® ³ ° ´ µ Â ° ´  ¯ ± ² ½ ±  ¬ Ä Å µ ¯ ± Æ ± ¬ ² À ½ ® · ² ° Ç ® ³ Ä ¬ ¯ ± Å µ ¯ À ¶ ° ¬ ° µ ® ³ ½ ® Ä ® ¯ ¬ Æ ® ¬ ¶ É µ ¬ ¯ ± ² Á¶ Ë Ë Ì ¸ ¸ Í ¿ Â Î µ » ± ° ´ ¬ Ä Ä É µ ¬ ¯ ± ² Á ¶ ½ ® ² ° ¬ ± ² µ Æ ´ µ ¯ µ ± ² ¯ µ Ä ¬ ° ± Ï µ ° ´ µ ¯ µ ° ® ÐÉ µ Á ± ² ¬ ° ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ ¸ ¹ ¼ ½ ® ¯ ² µ ¯ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â À ° ® » ² ¶ ´ ±  ¿ ² ® ¯ ° ´ À ¯ ¬ ² Á µ Â Ã » µ ¶ ° ® ³ ° ´ µ Â ° ´ ¯ ± ² ½ ±  ¬ Ä Å µ ¯ ± Æ ± ¬ ² À ½ ® · ² ° Ç ® ³ Ä ¬ ¯ ± Å µ ¯ À ¶ ° ¬ ° µ ® ³ ½ ® Ä ® ¯ ¬ Æ ® È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ã Ñ Ì ¼ Ã Í Ë Ë Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ Â ¾ Ó Ð Ë Ó ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ë º Ì ¸ Ë Í ¸ ¾ Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¾ Ã Ã Ð ¸ Ë ³ µ µ ° È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² ¸ ¸ Ì ¾ Â Í ¿ Ã Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ Ñ Ë Ð ¿ ¾ ³ µ µ ° È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Â Ó Ì ¼ Ó Í º Ñ Î » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ Ñ Ë Ð ¼ ¸ ³ µ µ ° È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ã Ñ Ì ¾ Ã Í ¸ ¾ Î » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ º Ë Â Ð Ã º ³ µ µ ° È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ó º Ì º ¸ Í Ë Ë Î » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ Ó Â Ð Ñ ¿ ³ µ µ ° È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ ¿ Ñ Ì ¿ Ó Í Ë Â Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ ¼ º Ð º Ë ³ µ µ ° È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ë Ë Ì ¸ º Í Ë Ë Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¿ º º Ð Ó Ñ ³ µ µ ° ° ® ° ´ µ ¬ ³ ® ¯ µ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ã Ñ Ì ¼ Ã Í Ë Ë Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ º Ó Ó Ð Ñ ¸ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ° ® ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ °½ ® ¯ ² µ ¯ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ À ¶ ¬ ± Æ ° ® » ² ¶ ´ ±  ¿ ² ® ¯ ° ´ À ¯ ¬ ² Á µ Â Ã » µ ¶ ° È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ã Ñ Ì ¼ Ã Í ¾ ¿ Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ ¾ º Ë Ð Â ¾ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ® ³¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ ° ® ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ã Ñ Ì ¼ Ñ Í ¸ Ë Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¿ ¾ Ã Ð Ë ¸ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ° ®° ´ µ ² ® ¯ ° ´ ¸ ¹ ¼ ½ ® ¯ ² µ ¯ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² º À ° ® » ² ¶ ´ ±  ¼ ² ® ¯ ° ´ À ¯ ¬ ² Á µ Â Ã » µ ¶ ° ® ³ ° ´ µ Â ° ´  ¯ ± ² ½ ±  ¬ ÄÅ µ ¯ ± Æ ± ¬ ² À ½ ® · ² ° Ç ® ³ » µ Ä Æ À ¶ ° ¬ ° µ ® ³ ½ ® Ä ® ¯ ¬ Æ ® È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ë Â Ì º ¾ Í º ¼ Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ º ¾ ¸ ¿ Ð ¿ Ñ ³ µ µ ° ° ® ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ ² ® ¯ ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² º È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ã Ã Ì ¿ Ñ Í ¾ Ë Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ º Ñ Ð º ¸ ³ µ µ ° ° ® ° ´ µ ½ µ ² ° µ ¯ ¸ ¹ ¼ ½ ® ¯ ² µ ¯ ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² º È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ã Ñ Ì Ë Ë Í Ë Ó Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ º Â º Ð Ë ¿ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ® ³° ´ µ ² ® ¯ ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² º ° ® ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ² ® ¯ ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ã Ã Ì ¿ Ñ Í ¸ Â Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ º ¸ Ñ Ð Ë Ã ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ° ®° ´ µ µ ¬ ¶ ° µ ¯ Ä Ç ¯ ± Á ´ ° ® ³ » ¬ Ç Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ± ² ° µ ¯ ¶ ° ¬ ° µ ² ® Ð º ¿ ¬ ² Æ ° ´ µ É µ Á ± ² ² ± ² Á ® ³ ¬ ² ® ² Ô ° ¬ ² Á µ ² °½ · ¯ Ï µ À ½ ® ² ½ ¬ Ï µ ° ® ° ´ µ » µ ¶ ° À ¬ ² Æ ´ ¬ Ï ± ² Á ¬ ¯ ¬ Æ ± · ¶ ® ³ ¿ Ó Ã Ë Ð Ë Ë ³ µ µ ° À ¬ ½ ´ ® ¯ Æ ® ³ º Ã º Ð ¸ º ³ µ µ ° ¬ ² Æ¬ ½ ´ ® ¯ Æ É µ ¬ ¯ ± ² Á ® ³ ² Ë ¼ Ì ¼ ¿ Í ¼ ¸ Ò » È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² ® ¯ ° ´ µ ¯ Ä Ç ¬ Ä ® ² Á ° ´ µ ¬ ¯ ½ ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ½ · ¯ Ï µ ¬ ² Æ ¶ ¬ ± Æ µ ¬ ¶ ° µ ¯ Ä Ç ¯ ± Á ´ ° ® ³ » ¬ Ç Ä ± ² µ ³ ® ¯ ¬Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ º Ã º Ð ¸ ¼ ³ µ µ ° ° ´ ¯ ® · Á ´ ¬ ½ µ ² ° ¯ ¬ Ä ¬ ² Á Ä µ ® ³ º Ì ¼ Ó Í ¼ Ñ Î ° ® ° ´ µ µ ² Æ ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ½ · ¯ Ï µ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ë Â Ì Ë Ñ Í ¾ ¿ Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ º Ë Ó Ë Ð ¸ Ñ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ µ ¬ ¶ ° µ ¯ Ä Ç ¯ ± Á ´ ° ® ³ » ¬ Ç Ä ± ² µ ° ®° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ ¸ ¹ º ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¬ ³ ® ¯ µ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ë Â Ì ¸ ¸ Í Ë Ñ Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ Ó Ë Â Ð Ã ¿ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ µ ¬ ¶ ° µ ¯ Ä Ç ¯ ± Á ´ ° ® ³ » ¬ Ç Ä ± ² µ ° ®° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ ° µ ¯ Ä Ç Ä ± ² µ ® ³ É ® ® Õ ¸ ¾ Ã Ñ ¬ °  ¬ Á µ ¸ Ë ¾ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² º ¿ Ì º Ó Í ¿ Ã Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ Â Ã ¸ Ð Â Ó ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ ° µ ¯ Ä Ç Ä ± ² µ ® ³ É ® ® Õ ¸ ¾ Ã Ñ¬ °  ¬ Á µ ¸ Ë ¾ ° ® ° ´ µ ² ® ¯ ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ ¬ ³ ® ¯ µ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ ¸ ¹ º ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ã Ñ Ì ¼ ¿ Í ¾ ¾ Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ ¿ Ã Â Ð Ó ¾ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ² ® ¯ ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ° ® ° ´ µ » µ ¶ ° Ä ± ² µ ® ³° ´ µ ¬ ³ ® ¯ µ ¶ ¬ ± Æ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ® ³ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ë Ë Ì ¾ Ë Í º Ã Ò » ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ ¾ º Ë Ð Ë ¸ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ » µ ¶ ° Ä ± ² µ ° ® ° ´ µ ½ µ ² ° µ ¯ ¸ ¹ ¼½ ® ¯ ² µ ¯ ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ã Ñ Ì ¼ Ë Í ¿ Ó Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ ¾ ¸ ¾ Ð ¼ Ó ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ° ´ µ ² ® ¯ ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ° ®° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ ¬ ³ ® ¯ µ ¶ ¬ ± Æ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ® ³ ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ ¿ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ã Ñ Ì ¼ Ë Í º º Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ ¾ ¸ ¾ Ð ¼ Ñ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ² ® ¯ ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ µ ¬ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ º ° ®° ´ µ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ½ ® ¯ ² µ ¯ ® ³ ° ´ µ ¬ ³ ® ¯ µ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ë Ë Ì ¼ Ã Í ¼ ¿ Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¿ Ñ Ð º ¾ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ° ´ µ » µ ¶ ° Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ° ´ µ ¬ ³ ® ¯ µ ¶ ¬ ± Æ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â ° ® ° ´ µ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¯ Ä Ç Ä ± ² µ ® ³ É ® ® Õ º ¸ ¼ À ¬ °  ¬ Á µ ¿ Ã ¾ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ ¼ ¸ Ì ¿ Ã Í ¿ º Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ º Ë Â Ð Ë º ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¯ Ä Ç Ä ± ² µ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ó º Ì Ë ¸ Í Ë Ã Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ º ¸ ¿ Ð Ë Ë ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¯ Ä Ç Ä ± ² µ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² ¼ ¼ Ì ¿ ¸ Í Ë Ã Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¸ Â ¿ Ð Ë Ë ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¯ Ä Ç Ä ± ² µ È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² º ¼ Ì Ë ¸ Í Ë Ã Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ ¾ º Ð Ó ¸ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ µ ¯ Ä Ç Ä ± ² µ ° ® ° ´ µ ² ® ¯ ° ´ Ä ± ² µ® ³ ¬ ³ ® ¯ µ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼ ® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ² Ã Ñ Ì ¿ ¾ Í ¼ Ñ Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ º ¸ Ñ Â Ð ¿ ¿ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ¶ ¬ ± Æ ² ® ¯ ° ´ Ä ± ² µ ° ® ° ´ µ ½ µ ² ° µ ¯ ¸ ¹ ¼½ ® ¯ ² µ ¯ ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â È° ´ µ ² ½ µ ¶ Ë Ë Ì ¸ ¸ Í ¿ Â Ò µ ³ ® ¯ ¬ Æ ± ¶ ° ¬ ² ½ µ ® ³ º Â ¼ ¸ Ð ¼ Ñ ³ µ µ ° ¬ Ä ® ² Á ° ´ µ µ ¬ ¶ ° Ä ± ² µ ® ³ ¶ ¬ ± Æ ¶ ® · ° ´ » µ ¶ ° ¸ ¹ ¼® ³ ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¾ Â ° ® ° ´ µ  ® ± ² ° ® ³ É µ Á ± ² ² ± ² Á Ð½ ® ² ° ¬ ± ² ± ² Á ¿ Ë º Ð ¿ ¸ º ¬ ½ ¯ µ ¶ À Å ® ¯ µ ® ¯ Ä µ ¶ ¶ À ¬ ² Æ É µ ± ² Á ¶ · É Ö µ ½ ° ° ® ¬ ² Ç µ ¬ ¶ µ Å µ ² ° ® ¯ ¯ ± Á ´ ° ¶ ® ³» ¬ Ç ® ³ ¯ µ ½ ® ¯ Æ Ð

N

C
O

V
E
R

1

OWNER Ä ¬ ° ° µ Ä ¬ ² Æ × » ¬ ° µ ¯ À Ä Ä ½º ¸ Ë · ² ± Ï µ ¯ ¶ ± ° Ç É Ä Ï Æ Ð¶ · ± ° µ Ó ¸ ËÆ µ ² Ï µ ¯ À ½ ® Ã Ë º Ë Â¾ Ë ¾ Ô º Â ¾ Ô º ¸ Ë ¿ SHEET INDEX¸ ½ ® Ï µ ¯º µ Ø ± ¶ ° ± ² Á Ù ® ² ± ² Á¾ Ä ¬ ² Æ · ¶ µ  Ä ¬ ²¼ Ô ¿ Ä ¬ ² Æ · ¶ µ Å ¬ ° ¯ ± ØÂ ½ ± ¯ ½ · Ä ¬ ° ± ® ²  Ä ¬ ²Ó ¶ ° ¯ µ µ ° ¶ µ ½ ° ± ® ² ¶Ã ° ¯ ¬ ± Ä ¶ × ®  µ ² ¶  ¬ ½ µ  Ä ¬ ²Ñ Ô ¸ Ë ½ ® ² ½ µ  ° · ¬ Ä · ° ± Ä ± ° Ç  Ä ¬ ²¸ ¸ Ô ¸ º ½ ® ² ½ µ  ° · ¬ Ä Á ¯ ¬ Æ ± ² Á  Ä ¬ ²¸ ¾ Æ µ Ï µ Ä ®  Å µ ² ° ¶ ° ¬ ² Æ ¬ ¯ Æ ¶¸ ¼ Ô ¸ ¿ Æ µ ¶ ± Á ² Á · ± Æ µ Ä ± ² µ ¶
PROJECT MANAGERµ ¯ ± Õ ´ ¬ Ä Ï µ ¯ ¶ ® ²Ä ¬ ² Æ ¬ ¶ ¶ µ ° ¶ ° ¯ ¬ ° µ Á ± µ ¶ À Ä Ä ½¸ ¿ ¼ Ë Ë » µ ¶ ° Â ¼ ° ´ ¬ Ï µ ² · µ· ² ± ° µ Ñ Ô ¸ º ¾¬ ¯ Ï ¬ Æ ¬ À ½ ® Ã Ë Ë Ë ÓÑ Ó Ë Ô ¾ ¸ Ñ Ô ¿ Ã ¾ ÂÚ Û Ü Ý Þ Ú ß à á â ã Ý Ü â ä Ü à à Ú å à å ß Ü å Ú æ ç Ú à Ð è á é ENGINEERÕ µ Ï ± ² ¯ ® ´ ¯ É ® · Á ´½ ® ¯ µ ½ ® ² ¶ · Ä ° ¬ ² ° ¶¸ Ñ ¿ Ë » Ä ± ° ° Ä µ ° ® ² É Ä Ï Æ Ð¶ · ± ° µ ¸ Ë ÑÄ ± ° ° Ä µ ° ® ² À ½ ® Ã Ë ¸ º Ë¾ Ë ¾ Ô Ó Ë ¾ Ô ¼ ¼ ¼ ¼ß á Û ß ê á ë æ Û ã è á ß Ú è ç Þ ç Ý Ð è á é PLANNERÖ µ ³ ³ Å ¬ ¯ ½ Õ° µ ¯ ¯ ¬ ½ ± ² ¬ Æ µ ¶ ± Á ²¸ Ë º Ë Ë µ Ð Á ± ¯ ¬ ¯ Æ ¬ Ï µ ² · µÉ Ä Æ Á Ð ¬ À ¶ · ± ° µ ¾ ¸ ¼Æ µ ² Ï µ ¯ À ½ ® Ã Ë º ¾ ¸¾ Ë ¾ Ô Â ¾ º Ô Ã Ã Â Óì é Ü ß è í ã å Ú ß ß Ü è ç â Ü ä Ú à ç æ â Ð è á é

î ï ï ð ñ ò î ó ôõ ö ÷ ø ù ö ú ø ù û ü� ý � þ ÿ � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � ÿ � � � þ � 	 � � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � ÿ � � �� þ � � � 	 ÿ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ý � � ÿ � � ÿ 
 � ÿ ý � þ � ÿ � � � � � ÿ 	 � � � � � � �� � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � þ þ � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � ÿ � 
 � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � �	 � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � ÿ 
 � ý � � ÿ � � � ÿ � � � � � ÿ 
 � ý � � ÿ � � ÿ 
 � ÿ ý � þ � ÿ � � �� ÿ � ÿ 	 � � ÿ ý � � � ÿ � � ý � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � ÿ 	 � ÿ � � � � � 	 �
� ý � � � � � � � ÿ 
 � ý � þ ÿ � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � þ � ÿ � 	 ÿ � � � � ÿ � � 	 � � � � ÿ � � � � � ÿ � ý � � � � �� � 	 � � 	 � � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � � þ � � � � þ � ÿ � � � � þ � � � � � � � þ �� � � � � ÿ � � � � � � ý � � ý � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � � � 	 � � þ � � þ � � � � � � � 
 ÿ 	 	 � þ � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � �� ÿ � � � 	 � � � � � � � � ý � � � � � þ � 	 � � � � � � � ÿ 
 
 � � � � þ � þ � � ý � þ � ÿ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ý � ÿ � � 	 � � �� ý � 	 � � � � 	 ÿ 
 � 	 � � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � � ÿ � � þ � 	 � � ý � � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ ý � þ � � � � � þ þ � � þ � 	 � � � �� ý � þ � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � ÿ 
 � ÿ 	 � ý � 	 � � ÿ � ÿ 	 � � ÿ �� � � � � ÿ � ÿ 	 � � ÿ 	 � þ � � � � � þ � 	 � � 	 � � � � ÿ � � ÿ 
 ÿ � � � � � þ � � � � � 	 � þ � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � ý � �ý ÿ � þ � � � � � � � � ý � 	 þ � 
 � 	 � 
 � � ý � � 	 þ � � � � � � � � 	 ÿ � þ ÿ � ý � 	 � 	 ÿ 
 � þ þ � ÿ � � � þ � 	 � 
 ÿ 	 � � � � � � ÿ	 � � � � � ý ÿ � þ � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � ÿ 
 � 
 
 ÿ 	 � � � � � � � � � � ý � þ ÿ � � ý � þ þ � � 
 ÿ 	 � ý � � � � � ÿ � � � � �þ � � � � � 	 � þ � ý � � � � � ÿ � � � � � 	 � � � � � � ý ÿ � þ � � � � � � � þ þ � � ý � þ � � � þ � � 	 ý ÿ � þ � � � � � ý � � ý� 	 ÿ � � � � þ ý ÿ � þ � � � ÿ � � ÿ 	 � � � � � � � þ 
 ÿ 	 � � � � � 	 	 � � � � ÿ 
 � � � � 	 þ � 	 � þ � � � � � þ �

PROJECT INTENT

¡   «   ¦ ¢ � « ª ©   ¤¬ Ð ½ ® Å Å µ ¯ ½ ± ¬ Ä À ® ³ ³ ± ½ µ ® ¯ Å · Ä ° ± Ô ³ ¬ Å ± Ä Ç Æ µ Ï µ Ä ®  Å µ ² ° ¶ ½ ¬ ² ® ½ ½ ·  Ç° ´ µ ¶ ¬ Å µ Ä ® ° À Å ± Ø µ Æ ´ ® ¯ ± Ù ® ² ° ¬ Ä Ä Ç ® ¯ Ï µ ¯ ° ± ½ ¬ Ä Ä Ç Ð� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 ÿ � � 	 � � � � � 	 � ý � 
 � � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � þ � ÿ � � 	 ÿ � � þ þ �� � � ý � � � ý � þ � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � þ � � � � � � þ � � ý � � � � � þ� � � � � ÿ � � � � � ÿ 
 � ý � � � 	 � � � � � � � þ �� � � � � � þ � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � � 	 � ý � � � � � � 	 � � � ÿ � � 	 � þ � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � �
 � � � � � � � � � � � � ý � � � � 
 ÿ 	 � � � � � ÿ � � � � � � � � ý � ý � þ � � � þ ý � � � � � � ý � 	
 ÿ � � ÿ � � ý ÿ þ � � � � � � � � � � � þ � � � � � 	 � þ � � � ý � � ÿ � � ÿ 
 � ÿ ý � þ � ÿ � �� � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � ÿ 	 � ý � � � � � � ÿ � � 	 � � � 
 ÿ 	 � � � � � � � � þ � � �þ � � � � � 	 � þ 	 � � � � � � � � � � ý � � � þ � � � � � ý � 	 � � � � 	 � � ÿ � � � � ÿ � � � �ÿ � ý � 	 � � � � � � þ ÿ 
 � ý � þ � � � � � � � � þ � 	 � ÿ 	 � ÿ � ý � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � �� ý � � � � � � ÿ � � 	 � 
 ÿ 	 � � � � � � � � � þ � � � þ � � � � � 	 � þ � � þ � 	 � � � � � � � ÿ � �� � � 	 ÿ � � � � 	 � ÿ 	 � ÿ � � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � �� � � ý � 	 � � � 	 ÿ � ÿ þ � � � þ � � þ � ÿ � � � þ � � � � � � ý � ÿ � � � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � �� 
 � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � � � � 	 � � � ÿ 	� ÿ � � þ � � � � � 	 � � � ý � 	 � � � � 	 � � � ÿ � � 	 � � � ÿ � � � � � ý � � � � � � ý � þ � � � ÿ 	� � þ þ � 	 � � � � � � � � þ � þ � þ � ý � � � 	 � � � � ÿ � � � �� � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � þ � 	 � � ÿ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � 
 � � � �� � � � 	 � � � � � � ÿ � þ ÿ 
 � ý � � 	 � � � � � � þ � þ � � � � � ÿ � � � � � � � � ý �� � � � � � � � � ÿ 
 � � � � � � � ÿ � � 	 � � � � � � ÿ � � ÿ � � þ � � ý � � � � � þ � � � � þ � ÿ 	 �þ � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ 	 � � � � � � � � ý � ý � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � �� 	 � � � � � � 	 � � ÿ 	 � þ � � � � � � � þ �£   �   � ª ¨ �   « © ¨ � ¢ ¤ § « ¡ ´ ¬ ¶ ± ² Á » ± Ä Ä ® ½ ½ · ¯ ± ² ¬ Ä ® Á ± ½ ¬ Ä ¬ ² Æ ½ ® ¶ ° µ ³ ³ µ ½ ° ± Ï µ Å ¬ ² ² µ ¯ É ¬ ¶ µ Æ® ² ± ² ³ ¯ ¬ ¶ ° ¯ · ½ ° · ¯ µ µ Ø ° µ ² ¶ ± ® ² À ¬ Ï ¬ ± Ä ¬ É ± Ä ± ° Ç ® ³ · ° ± Ä ± ° Ç ¶ µ ¯ Ï ± ½ µ À ¬ ² ÆÅ ¬ ¯ Õ µ ° ½ ® ² Æ ± ° ± ® ² ¶ Ð ° ´ µ  ¯ ® Ö µ ½ ° » ± Ä Ä É µ É · ± Ä ° ± ² Å · Ä ° ±  Ä µ  ´ ¬ ¶ µ ¶ À¬ ¶ ½ ® ² Æ ± ° ± ® ² ¶ Æ ± ½ ° ¬ ° µ Ðð � ó î � � ñ � ô  � ï � ñ � ñ ! � " ñ # � $ # � ò � ó ñ ï % � � � ô � î � # î ð # ô� ý � � 	 ÿ � � þ � ÿ � þ ÿ 
 � ý � þ � � � þ ý � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � 	 �� � � � � ÿ � � � � � � ÿ � ý � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � ý � � ÿ � � ÿ 
 � ÿ ý � þ � ÿ � �� � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � ý � 	 � þ � � � � � 	 � þ � � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � � � � � � � þ ÿ 
 � ý �� � � � ÿ � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � 	 � � ÿ 	 
 � � � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � � � � � � þ � � ÿ � ÿ �� � � � 	 � � � � � 	 � þ þ � þ � � � � 
 � � þ � � � � � � ÿ 	 � 	 � þ � � � � � � � ý � � ÿ ý � þ � ÿ � �� � � � � � � � � � � � ÿ � ý � 	 þ � � � � � 	 � þ � 	 � � � � � � � ÿ � þ � � � � � � � � � � � � � þþ ý � � � � � � þ � � � � � � � 	 ÿ � ÿ þ � � � � � � � ÿ � � � � � � þ þ � � � � � � � ÿ � ÿ � � ÿ 
� ÿ ý � þ � ÿ � � 	 � � � � � � 	 ÿ � � � � 	 � þ �

21



WELD COUNTY

ZONING:

A-AGRICULTURE

WELD COUNTY

ZONING:

A-AGRICULTURE

LARIMER COUNTY

WELD COUNTY

LCR 14/WCR 50

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-R

UNINCORPORATED WELD

COUNTY

ZONING: A-AGRICULTURE

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-B

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-R

I-
2
5

VISTA COMMONS
PUD-MU

LARIMER COUNTY

ZONING: FA-FARMING

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

LARIMER COUNTY

ZONING: FA-FARMING

LARIMER COUNTY

ZONING: FA-FARMING

LARIMER COUNTY

ZONING: FA-FARMING

LARIMER COUNTY

ZONING: FA-FARMING

LARIMER COUNTY

ZONING:

FA-FARMING

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-R

TOWN OF

JOHNSTOWN
PUD-R

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN

PUD-JC

ROCKSBURY

RIDGE

SF-1

CARLSON FARMS

SF-1

JOHNSTOWN TOWN LIMITS

J
O

H
N

S
TO

W
N

 TO
W

N
 LIM

ITS

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

V W X Y Z [ \ ] ^ _ [ X Z ] W ^ ` a b c Y ^ \ b d a Z W e ^ _ f ] g h Y ^ \ c ^ W i Z f a i Y ^ j [ d k e [ _ Z W l Z f [ _ ] m Z f g i ] ^ X ] g Y V n [ i ] \ ] Y ^ a ] ^ o W f ^ _ Z W e ^ a X W p ^ Z ] [ _ W l e [ V \ Y ^ \ V Y i ] n [ i a _ Z Y Z [ W l X W V W i Y \ W

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

qqrqsrtuqvq wuqxy zx w{x|}~~�|}����}~��{���}~x|
}��� ���|~�{�}�{���y�~~}|�{�x���x{
�x� ���x ��&��~��� �'����� ���� z

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � �� � � � 	 N0

Scale: 1"= 400'-0"

2
0

0

4
0

0

8
0

0

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 Z
O

N
IN

G

222



PA-3

3.3 AC

OS

PA-6

4.7 AC

OS

PA-12

36.4 AC
EMP

PA-13

37.0 AC
MU-1

PA-14

41.1 AC

MU-2

PA-15

24.4 AC
R-M

PA-11

38.4 AC
EMP

PA-10

38.6 AC
MU-1

PA-1

41.6 AC

MU-2
PA-2

51.7 AC
R-M

PA-4

45.1 AC
R-M

PA-5

32.2 AC
R-M

PA-7

58.0 AC
R-M

PA-8

35.7 AC
R-M

PA-9

14.3 AC

MU-2

I-
2
5

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S
 B

LV
D

.

OUTPARCEL

VISTA COMMONS

LCR 14/WCR 50

ROCKSBURY

RIDGE

( ) * + ) , - * . / 01 2 3 41 5 6 7 8 9 : ; < = > > ? @A B C D E F G H IJKLJMNOPQ RSTU VURW 7 8 9 : ; X = < Y ? @A G A G E Z F H [ \ ] ^ _ ` ^ a b ca d e f g ` h i j k l m n l o p qr s t u v v w x _ d ] a g ` ^ d b cf y d z e a a `
{|}~~��������� ����

� � � � � � � � � � �z g � e \ � `���������� ���  ¡¢£¤ ¥ ¥ ¦§ ¨ ©ª « ¬ ®¯ ° ± ² ³ ´µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ ¶ º » ¹ ¼ ½¾ � ¿ À � ¾ �Á Â Ã Ä Â Å Æ Ç È É ÊË Ì Í ÎÍ Ï Ð{|}~Ñ�||��ÒÓÓ ÔÕÖ×Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ù Ý Þ ß à áy g f \ e z g `
â ã äå æ çå è éêë ì í î ï î ð ñ

ò ó ô õ ö ö ÷ ö ø ù úû ü ý ü þ ÿ � �
� � �� � �� 	 
� �  �  � � � �

� � �� � �� � 
� � � � � � � �

� ���� � !! "# �$%%& �&&&' () *+,-.

7 8 9 : ; X = / / ? @A G A G E Z 0 H

Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ù Ý 1 1 à áA 2 F F E 0 A H� � � � � � � 3 � � �4 5 � À � 3 �

ò ó ó õ 6 ô ÷ 7 8 ù ú9 : 9 ; < = > ?
JO

H
N

ST
O

W
N

 T
O

W
N

 L
IM

IT
S

[ � f ] f y ` \ \ b @y � z e d a ` x z � ] ^ � ` f d b @y d \ e ^ y `

[ _ _ ] a d ` g \ b @y f d e f y `

x f ^ ] \ y ` \ _ b cg f e � y `[ ^ y ] a _ ` a f b cf \ z e \ f `x ^ ^ ] a y ` \ _ b cy z a e \ \ `

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

A B C D E F G H I J F C E H B I K L M N D I G M O L E B P I J Q H R S D I G N I B T E Q L T D I U F O V P F J E B W E Q F J H X E Q R T H I C H R D A Y F T H G H D I L H I Z B Q I J E B P I L C B [ I E H F J B W P F A G D I G A D T H Y F T L J E D E F B W C B A B T D G B

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

\\]\̂]_̀\a\ b\̀cd ec bfcghiijghklmnhijofpojhicg
hqkr snjgitfuhlfrvwdqiihgrfpcxylcf
pcx sylc sghkl svrj scghk zlnp e

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

{ | } | ~ � � � � | � � � | � � � � � � � �� � � | � � � | � � � � � � � �| � � { � � � | ~ � � | � � �� | � � � � � | ~ � � � � � | � � � | ~ � � � { � � � � �� � | ~ � � � � | � � � �
N0

Scale: 1"= 400'-0"

2
0

0

4
0

0

8
0

0

L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 P
L
A

N

3

� � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � �   � ¡ ¢ � ¡ £ � � ¤ ¢ ¢ � ¥ � ¤ ¡ ¦ ¤ ¢ � ¡ � ¢ � § ¨ © ¤ ¢ � ª � ¦ �   § © �   ¡ « ¤ ¢ ¤ ¡ ¦ ¢ § ¦ ¬ ¥ © §   ¤ £ ¢ � § ¦ ¬ §   ¬ ¢ § ¦ ¬   � ® � ¤   � ¯ � ¦ � ¢ £ ¡   ¬ � « � © ¡ � ¯ � ¦ � ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ � � � ª   � § � � © § ¤ ¦ ¢ « ¤ © © § ª � � � ¬ ±¬ � � � ¡ � � � ¢ ¤ ² � ¡ £ © § ¦ ¬ §   � § ¥ ¡ ¦ � § ¤ ¦ � ¬ ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ � � ¤ ¢ � � ¬ § ¦ ¬ � � � ¥ ¡     � ¢ � ¡ ¦ ¬ ¤ ¦ ª © ¡ ¦ ª� �   ¯ ¨ � ¤ © ¬ ¡ � � � � § � ¤ ¢ § ¦ � ¤ ¥ ¤ � § � � ¬ ³ §   § � � �   ¨   ¡ § ¬   § ¦ ª � ¡ £ ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ � ¤ � ¢ § ¦ ¬ ´ ¡   ¢ ® � §   �£ ¡ ¡ � § ª � ¢ � § « � ¨ � � ¦ �   ¡ � ¡ ¢ � ¬ £ ¡   � § ¥ � © § ¦ ¬ � ¢ � � §   ¥ � © ± � � � ¢ �   § ¦ ª � ¢ ° ¤ © © § © © ¡ ° §« §   ¤ � �  ¡ £ ¥ ¡ ¯ ¯ �   ¥ ¤ § © ³ © ¤ ª � � ¤ ¦ ¬ � ¢ �   ¤ § © ³ § ¦ ¬ � ¡ � ¢ ¤ ¦ ª �   ¡ ¬ � ¥ � ¢ ± ¤ ¦ § ¬ ¬ ¤ � ¤ ¡ ¦ � ¡�   ¡ ¯ ¡ � ¤ ¦ ª © § ¦ ¬ � ¢ � § ¦ ¬ ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ �  £ © � µ ¤ ¨ ¤ © ¤ �  ³   § ¦ ª � ¢ ° ¤ © © § ¥ ¥ ¡ ¯ ¯ ¡ ¬ § � � � ¡ � ¢ ¤ ¦ ª�   ¡ ¬ � ¥ � ³ © § ¦ ¬ � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª ³ ¯ §   ¶ � � § ¦ ¬ � � ¥ � ¦ ¡ © ¡ ª ¤ ¥ § © ¥ � § ¦ ª � ¢ ¤ ¦ � ¡ � � � £ � � �   � ±   � £ �  � ¡ � � � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¢ � ¯ ¯ §    £ ¡   ¢ � � ¥ ¤ £ ¤ ¥ ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ � ¤ � ¢ § ¦ ¬ ¢ ® � §   � £ ¡ ¡ � § ª � ¢ ±· � � ¸ � ¹ � � º � � � » ¸ ¹  � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ �    § ¦ ª � ¢ §   � ¢ � � ¥ ¤ £ ¤ � ¬ ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ � § ¥ � ² ¡ ¦ � § ¢ © § ¨ � © � ¬ ¡ ¦ � � � © § ¦ ¬ � ¢ �� © § ¦ ¼   � £ �   � ¡ � � � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¢ � ¯ ¯ §    ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ � � ¤ ¢ ¬ ¡ ¥ � ¯ � ¦ � £ ¡   ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ �    § ¦ ª � ¢ ½ ±� � � £ ¤ ¦ § © § « �   § ª � ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ �  ¡ £ § ¬ � « � © ¡ � ¯ � ¦ � � §   ¥ � © ¯ � ¢ � ¨ � ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ ¾ ¿ À ¡ £ � � �¢ � � ¥ ¤ £ ¤ � ¬ ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ �    § ¦ ª � ¤ ¦ ¬ ¤ ¥ § � � ¬ £ ¡   � � § � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ± � � � £ ¤ ¦ § © § « �   § ª � ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ � ¡ £ § � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¢ � § © © ¨ � ¨ § ¢ � ¬ ¡ ¦ § © ©   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © � ¦ ¤ � ¢ § � �   ¡ « � ¬ � �   ¡ � ª � � � �£ ¤ ¦ § © � © § � �   ¡ ¥ � ¢ ¢ ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ � � � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ³ ° � � � � �   § � �   ¡ « � ¬ § ¢ § ¢ ¤ ¦ ª © � � © § � ¡   § ¢¯ � © � ¤ � © � � © § � ¢ ±� � Á � Â � Á � Á � ¸ ¹ � � ¸ � � � � Ã � � � � ¹ Ä ¸ � � � ¸ ��   § ¦ ¢ £ �   ¼ ¢ ½ ¡ £   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © � ¦ ¤ � ¢ £   ¡ ¯ � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § � ¡ � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¼ �   § ¦ ¢ £ �   ¡ £� ¦ ¤ � ¢ ¯ §  ¦ ¡ � � µ ¥ � � ¬ Å ¿ À ¡ £ � � �   � ¥ ¤ � ¤ � ¦ � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¯ § µ � ¦ ¤ � ¢ � �   §   � § ½ ¯ §  ¨ �� �   ¯ ¤ � � � ¬ ¨  � � � ¬ � « � © ¡ � �   ° ¤ � � § � �   ¡ « § © ¨  � � � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª § ¦ ¬ ¬ � « � © ¡ � ¯ � ¦ �¬ ¤   � ¥ � ¡   ± � ¦ ¤ � �   § ¦ ¢ £ �   ¢ ¢ � § © © ¨ � �   § ¥ ¶ � ¬ ¨  � � � ¬ � « � © ¡ � �   § ¦ ¬ �   ¡ « ¤ ¬ � ¬ � ¡ � � �� © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª § ¦ ¬ ¬ � « � © ¡ � ¯ � ¦ � ¬ ¤   � ¥ � ¡   ° ¤ � � � § ¥ � ¢ � ¥ � �   § ¦ ¢ £ �   § � � � � £ ¤ ¦ § © � © § � ¢ � § ª �¡ £ � � � ¢ � ¨ ¬ ¤ « ¤ ¢ ¤ ¡ ¦ �   ¡ ¥ � ¢ ¢ ± � ¡ ° � « �   ³ § � ¦ ¡ � ¤ ¯ � ¢ � § © © � � � � ¡ � § ©   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © � ¦ ¤ � ¢° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ � � ¤ ¢ � � ¬ � µ ¥ � � ¬ Æ ³ ¿ ¿ ¿ ° ¤ � � ¡ � � § ¦ § ¯ � ¦ ¬ ¯ � ¦ � � ¡ � � � ¡ ¬ � ³ § � �   ¡ « � ¬ ¨  � ¡ ° ¦¥ ¡ � ¦ ¥ ¤ © ±� � � ¸ ¹ � � ¸ � � � � Ã � � � � ¹ � � � � Ç ¸ � ¹¡ ¦ ¥ � § � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § � § ¢ ¨ � � ¦ £ � © ©  � © § � � � ¬ � �   ¡ � ª � � � � £ ¤ ¦ § © � © § � �   ¡ ¥ � ¢ ¢ ³ § ¦   � ¯ § ¤ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © ¬ � ¦ ¢ ¤ �  ´ � ¦ ¤ � ¢ ¬ � ¢ ¤ ª ¦ § � � ¬ ¡ ¦ � � � � � ¬ ² ¡ ¦ � ¬ ¡ ¥ � ¯ � ¦ � ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ ¢ § ¤ ¬� © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¢ � § © ©   � ¯ § ¤ ¦ § « § ¤ © § ¨ © � £ ¡   �   § ¦ ¢ £ �   � ¡ ¡ � � �     � ¯ § ¤ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª   � ¥ ¤ � ¤ � ¦ �� © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¢ ±¸ � Ä Ã � � � � � » � � ¸ � · � � � � � � � ¸ ¹� © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § § ¥   � § ª � ¢ § ¦ ¬ ¨ ¡ � ¦ ¬ §   ¤ � ¢ §   � ¥ ¡ ¦ ¥ � � � � § © § ¦ ¬ ¢ � ¨ È � ¥ � � ¡ ¥ � § ¦ ª � ° ¤ � �¬ � � § ¤ © � ¬ � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª ± � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § § ¥   � § ª � ¢ ¯ §  ¥ � § ¦ ª � � � � ¡ Å ¿ À ° ¤ � � § � �   ¡ « § © ¨ � � � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª § ¦ ¬ ¬ � « � © ¡ � ¯ � ¦ � ¬ ¤   � ¥ � ¡   ± ¢ � ¥ � ¥ � § ¦ ª � ¢ ° ¤ © ©   � ¢ � © � ¤ ¦ ¥ ¡     � ¢ � ¡ ¦ ¬ ¤ ¦ ª¥ � § ¦ ª � ¢ � ¡ � � � ¯ § µ ¢ ® ± £ � ± ´ §   � § ¡   ¯ § µ � ¦ ¤ � ¢ ´ §   � § ¢ � ¡ ° ¦ ¤ ¦ � � � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � §¢ � ¯ ¯ §    ±¤ £ � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¥ � § ¦ ª � ¢ §   � ¯ § ¬ � ³ § © © ¢ �   � � � ¥ © § ¢ ¢ ¤ £ ¤ ¥ § � ¤ ¡ ¦ ¢ ¼ § ¢ ¢ � ¡ ° ¦ ¡ ¦ ¢ � � � � É ½§   � ¢ � ¨ È � ¥ � � ¡ ¥ � § ¦ ª � ±Ç � Á � Â � Á � Á � � Á Á ¸ � � � � Ã ¹ Ê � � � ¸ Ç � � � � » ¸ Ä ¸ � � � ¸ ��   § ¦ ¢ £ �   ¼ ¢ ½ ¡ £ ¥ ¡ ¯ ¯ �   ¥ ¤ § © ¢ ® � §   � £ ¡ ¡ � § ª � £   ¡ ¯ � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § � ¡ � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � §¼ �   § ¦ ¢ £ �   ¡ £ ¢ ® � §   � £ ¡ ¡ � § ª � ¯ §  ¦ ¡ � � µ ¥ � � ¬ Å ¿ À ¡ £ � � �   � ¥ ¤ � ¤ � ¦ � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª §   � § ¯ § µ¢ ® ± £ � ± � �   §   � § ½ ¯ §  ¨ � � �   ¯ ¤ � � � ¬ ° ¤ � � § � �   ¡ « § © ¨  � � � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª § ¦ ¬ ¬ � « � © ¡ � ¯ � ¦ �¬ ¤   � ¥ � ¡   ± ¢ ® � §   � £ ¡ ¡ � § ª � �   § ¦ ¢ £ �   ¢ ¢ � § © © ¨ � �   § ¥ ¶ � ¬ ¨  � � � ¬ � « � © ¡ � �   § ¦ ¬�   ¡ « ¤ ¬ � ¬ � ¡ � � � � © § ¦ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª § ¦ ¬ ¬ � « � © ¡ � ¯ � ¦ � ¬ ¤   � ¥ � ¡   ° ¤ � � � § ¥ � ¢ � ¥ � �   § ¦ ¢ £ �   § � � � �£ ¤ ¦ § © � © § � ¢ � § ª � ¡ £ � � � ¢ � ¨ ¬ ¤ « ¤ ¢ ¤ ¡ ¦ �   ¡ ¥ � ¢ ¢ ± � ¡ ° � « �   ³ § � ¦ ¡ � ¤ ¯ � ¢ � § © © � � � ¡ « �   § © ©� � ¬ ¥ ¡ ¯ ¯ �   ¥ ¤ § © ¢ ® � §   � £ ¡ ¡ � § ª � � µ ¥ � � ¬ Æ ³ Ë ¿ ¿ ³ ¿ ¿ ¿ ¢ ® � §   � £ � � � ° ¤ � � ¡ � � § ¦ § ¯ � ¦ ¬ ¯ � ¦ �� ¡ � � � ¡ ¬ � ³ § � �   ¡ « � ¬ ¨  � ¡ ° ¦ ¥ ¡ � ¦ ¥ ¤ © ±

23



G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

A B C D E F G H I J F C E H B I K L M N D I G M O L E B P I J Q H R S D I G N I B T E Q L T D I U F O V P F J E B W E Q F J H X E Q R T H I C H R D A Y F T H G H D I L H I Z B Q I J E B P I L C B [ I E H F J B W P F A G D I G A D T H Y F T L J E D E F B W C B A B T D G B

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

\\]\̂]_̀\a\ b\̀cd ec bfcghiijghklmnhijofpojhicg
hqkr snjgitfuhlfrvwdqiihgrfpcxylcf
pcx sylc sghkl svrj scghk zlnp e

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ï Ó Ô Ì Ñ Õ Ó Ö × � � | � � � � ~ � ~ � { � � { � � } | � � � � | � � � � { Ø { � } Ù � � ~ � � � � � � � { Ú � � � � Û � Ù � � Ü � ~ | � { { � Ý � Ú � �{ � } Ù � � ~ � � � � � � � { � ~ � Ý � � | Ù � � � � ~ } � � | � � { � ~ } Ý � � Ù � � � � | � � � � { � ~ � � � { � � � Ú � � � { � � � | � ÛÌ Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ï Þ Ô Ì Ñ Õ Þ Ö × � � | � � � � ~ � ~ � { � � ~ | � } Ù ß � � Ù � � � � � � � | � � � � { Ø � | � � � | ~ � � � { Ú � � � � Û � Ù � � Ü � ~ | � � � � � � � { �� { { � Ý � Ú � � � � � � | � � � � { � � | � � { � ~ } Ý � � Ù Ù � } Ù � | ~ � � � � � | � � � | ~ � � � { ÛÏ Ì à á â ã Ì Ï ä å Ô Ï Ì à Ö × � Ù | � ~ � | ~ � � � � � � � � æ � � | � � | � � � Ù � � Ý � { { � | � æ | � � � ~ | � � { � � � | ~ � � | ~ � | � � � � Ú Ú � � |� � � ç � Ù � � � � ~ � � � � � � � � � � | ß � � ~ � � { � � � � | � � � � � � � � � � � | � � � � � � è � | � | � � � Ù � ~ � � | æ | { � � � | ~ � è { � } Ù �� ~ � � � � � � � { è � Ú Ú � � | Ø Ú { | � è � | � � � { è � � � � | � � � � { è Ý � � | Ù � � � | � ~ � � � � � � � ß � � � � ~ ÛÌ Ï Ð Í Ñ Ì Ð Ï ä Ò Í å ã é Ï Ò Í Ð Ï ä å Í ê á Ô é Õ Ì Ö ë � Ù | � ~ � | ~ � � � � � � { { � Ý Ú � � � � ~ } { | Ú � � � { � � | � � � Ù | � Ù � � | � � ~ � � � ~ } { |Ú � � � { � � � � � � Ù | � Ù � � | � Ûâ à Ï ä Ò à ê ì Ï Ô â Ò Ö ë � Ù | � ~ � | ~ � � � � � � � � æ � � | Ú � � � � � � � æ | � ~ � � � � � æ | � | � � | � � � � ~ � ~ � æ � � � � { � � | ~ � � � | � Ú � �� Ù | ß | ~ | Ú � � � Ú � Ù | � � � � � ~ � � � Û
{ | } | ~ �� ��� � � � ~ � � � � { � | � � � � � | � � � |� � � | � � � � � � � || � � { � � | � � � |� � ~ � � � � � ~ � { � � |� � � | � � � | � � � � � � �� � � | � � � | � � � � � � �| � � { � � � | ~ � � | � � �� | � � � � � | ~ � � � � � | � � � | ~ � � � { � � � � �Ù � } Ù � | ~ � � � � � | � � � | ~ � � � { � � � Ù �� � | ~ � � � � | � � � �{ � ~ � � � |

L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 M
A

T
R

IX

4

� ¸ Ç � � � � � � � ¹ í¾ ± © ¤ ª � � ¤ ¦ ¬ � ¢ �   ¤ § © î © § ¨ ¡   î ¤ ¦ � � ¦ ¢ ¤ « � ¡ � �   § � ¤ ¡ ¦ ¢ � � § � �  � ¤ ¥ § © ©  �   ¡ ¬ � ¥ � �   ¡ ¬ � ¥ � ¢ � � § � §   � � §   ª � � � ¬ � ¡ ° §   ¬ � ¦ ¬¥ ¡ ¦ ¢ � ¯ �   ¢   § � � �   � � § ¦ ¡ � � �   ¨ � ¢ ¤ ¦ � ¢ ¢ � ¢ ¼ ¤ ± � ± ¥ ¡ ¦ ¢ � ¯ �   � © � ¥ �   ¡ ¦ ¤ ¥ ¢ ³ ¥ © ¡ � � ¤ ¦ ª ¯ § ¦ � £ § ¥ � �   ¤ ¦ ª ³ � � ¥ ± ½Æ ± ¥ © � ¢ � �   � ¡ ¯ � ¢ î § ¦    � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © ª   ¡ � � ¤ ¦ ª ¡ £ § � © � § ¢ � � ° ¡ � ¡ ¯ � ¢ ° � ¤ ¥ � § ¥ ¥ � ¢ ¢ ¡ £ £ § ¥ ¡ ¯ ¯ ¡ ¦ ´ ¢ � §   � ¬ ¬   ¤ « � ¡  § © © �  ±Å ± ¯ ¡ � ¡   ¥ ¡ �   � î § �  � � ¡ £ ¥ © � ¢ � �   � ¡ ¯ � ° ¤ � � § ¢ � §   � ¬ ¬   ¤ « � ° §  ¤ ¦ ° � ¤ ¥ � ¢ ¡ ¯ � ¡   § © © £   ¡ ¦ � ¬ ¡ ¡   ¢ § ¥ ¥ � ¢ ¢ ¡ £ £¢ � §   � ¬ ¬   ¤ « � ° §  ±Ë ± ª   � � ¦ ¥ ¡ �   � î § �  � � ¡ £ ¥ © � ¢ � �   � ¡ ¯ � ° ¤ � � ¢ � §   � ¬ ¬   ¤ « � ° §  § ¦ ¬ ¥ ¡ ¯ ¯ ¡ ¦ ¡ � � ¦ §   � § ±ï ± ¡ � � ¦ §   � § î � � � � æ � � | { � � � � � ß { � � { � � Ý ~ | � � ~ � � � � ~ � � � ~ | � { � ~ � � � | � � � ß � � � � Ú Ý � � | � � � ß � � Ù Ý � � Ù � ~ �� | æ | { � � � | ~ � � � � ~ Ý Ù � � Ù � Ù | � | � � | ~ � � � � � � � � � | � è � � � ç � ~ } � � | � � è � � � � � æ | Ý � � � Û � � | ~ � � | � � � � ß | � { � ~ � � � � � | �� � | � è � { � Ü � è � | � � | � � � � ~ � { � � | � è � � � | Ý � { ç � è � � � � � Ù � � Ù | � � � | � � Û { � ~ � � � � � | � ~ � Ý � { ç � { � � � � | � � ~ � � } Ù � � � Ú � Ý � � � � ~~ � � ß | � � � ~ � | � � � Ý � � � � � � | ~ � � | � � | ð � � � | � | ~ � Ûñ ± � ¢ § ¨ © � ¡ � � ¦ §   � § î § � §   ¥ � © ¡ £ © § ¦ ¬ ¡ ° ¦ � ¬ § ¦ ¬ ¯ § ¤ ¦ � § ¤ ¦ � ¬ ¨  § � ¡ ° ¦ ³ ¯ � �   ¡ ¬ ¤ ¢ �   ¤ ¥ � ³ ¡   � ¡ ¯ � ¡ ° ¦ �   ¢ ò § ¢ ¢ ¡ ¥ ¤ § � ¤ ¡ ¦° � ¤ ¥ � ¯ � � � ¢ � � � ¥   ¤ � �   ¤ § ¡ £ ¡ � � ¦ §   � § § ¦ ¬ ¤ ¢ �   ¡ ª   § ¯ ¯ � ¬ § ¢ § ¦ § ¥ � ¤ « � ¡   � § ¢ ¢ ¤ « � §   � § ¤ ¦ ° � ¤ ¥ �   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¢ ¥ § ¦� � ¤ © ¤ ² � � � � ¢ � § ¥ � £ ¡   ³ ¨ � � ¤ ¢ ¦ ¡ � © ¤ ¯ ¤ � � ¬ � ¡ ³ ¢ � § � ¤ ¦ ª ³ ¢ � ¡   � ¢ ³ � §   ¶ ¢ ³ �   § ¤ © ¢ ³ ¡   ª §   ¬ � ¦ ¢ ±É ± § © ¤ « � ´ ° ¡   ¶ � ¦ ¤ � ¤ ¢ ¬ � £ ¤ ¦ � ¬ § ¢ § ¢ ¤ ¦ ª © � � ¦ ¤ � ¥ ¡ ¦ ¢ ¤ ¢ � ¤ ¦ ª ¡ £ ¨ ¡ � � § ¥ ¡ ¯ ¯ �   ¥ ¤ § © ´ ¡ £ £ ¤ ¥ � § ¦ ¬ §   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © ¼ �   ¤ ¯ §   ¬ ° � © © ¤ ¦ ª ½ ¥ ¡ ¯ � ¡ ¦ � ¦ � � � § � ¤ ¢ ¡ ¥ ¥ � � ¤ � ¬ ¨  � � � ¢ § ¯ �   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ±

ó § ¦ ¤ ¯ § © ´ © ¤ « � ¢ � ¡ ¥ ¶ � ¢ � ¢ §   � ¥ ¡ ¦ ¬ ¤ � ¤ ¡ ¦ § © � ¢ � ¢ ¤ £ ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ Æ ï ¿ £ � � � ¡ £ §   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © � ¢ � ³ ¨ � � §   � � �   ¯ ¤ � � � ¬� ¢ � î ¨  î   ¤ ª � � ¡ � � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¡ £ � � � Æ ï ¿ £ ¡ ¡ � © ¤ ¯ ¤ � £   ¡ ¯   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © � ¢ � ¢ ±ó ó § ¦ ¤ ¯ § © ¨ ¡ §   ¬ ¤ ¦ ª § ¦ ¬ �   § ¤ ¦ ¤ ¦ ª ¤ ¢ § ¥ ¡ ¦ ¬ ¤ � ¤ ¡ ¦ § © � ¢ � ¤ £ ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ Æ ï ¿ £ � � � ¡ £ §   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © � ¢ � ³ ¨ � � ¤ ¢ § � �   ¯ ¤ � � � ¬� ¢ � î ¨  î   ¤ ª � � ¡ � � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¡ £ � � � Æ ï ¿ £ ¡ ¡ � © ¤ ¯ ¤ � £   ¡ ¯   � ¢ ¤ ¬ � ¦ � ¤ § © � ¢ � ¢ ±

24



G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

A B C D E F G H I J F C E H B I K L M N D I G M O L E B P I J Q H R S D I G N I B T E Q L T D I U F O V P F J E B W E Q F J H X E Q R T H I C H R D A Y F T H G H D I L H I Z B Q I J E B P I L C B [ I E H F J B W P F A G D I G A D T H Y F T L J E D E F B W C B A B T D G B

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

\\]\̂]_̀\a\ b\̀cd ec bfcghiijghklmnhijofpojhicg
hqkr snjgitfuhlfrvwdqiihgrfpcxylcf
pcx sylc sghkl svrj scghk zlnp e

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ï Ó Ô Ì Ñ Õ Ó Ö × � � | � � � � ~ � ~ � { � � { � � } | � � � � | � � � � { Ø { � } Ù � � ~ � � � � � � � { Ú � � � � Û � Ù � � Ü � ~ | � { { � Ý � Ú � �{ � } Ù � � ~ � � � � � � � { � ~ � Ý � � | Ù � � � � ~ } � � | � � { � ~ } Ý � � Ù � � � � | � � � � { � ~ � � � { � � � Ú � � � { � � � | � ÛÌ Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ï Þ Ô Ì Ñ Õ Þ Ö × � � | � � � � ~ � ~ � { � � ~ | � } Ù ß � � Ù � � � � � � � | � � � � { Ø � | � � � | ~ � � � { Ú � � � � Û � Ù � � Ü � ~ | � � � � � � � { �� { { � Ý � Ú � � � � � � | � � � � { � � | � � { � ~ } Ý � � Ù Ù � } Ù � | ~ � � � � � | � � � | ~ � � � { ÛÏ Ì à á â ã Ì Ï ä å Ô Ï Ì à Ö × � Ù | � ~ � | ~ � � � � � � � � æ � � | � � | � � � Ù � � Ý � { { � | � æ | � � � ~ | � � { � � � | ~ � � | ~ � | � � � � Ú Ú � � |� � � ç � Ù � � � � ~ � � � � � � � � � � | ß � � ~ � � { � � � � | � � � � � � � � � � � | � � � � � � è � | � | � � � Ù � ~ � � | æ | { � � � | ~ � è { � } Ù �� ~ � � � � � � � { è � Ú Ú � � | Ø Ú { | � è � | � � � { è � � � � | � � � � { è Ý � � | Ù � � � | � ~ � � � � � � � ß � � � � ~ ÛÌ Ï Ð Í Ñ Ì Ð Ï ä Ò Í å ã é Ï Ò Í Ð Ï ä å Í ê á Ô é Õ Ì Ö ë � Ù | � ~ � | ~ � � � � � � { { � Ý Ú � � � � ~ } { | Ú � � � { � � | � � � Ù | � Ù � � | � � ~ � � � ~ } { |Ú � � � { � � � � � � Ù | � Ù � � | � Ûâ à Ï ä Ò à ê ì Ï Ô â Ò Ö ë � Ù | � ~ � | ~ � � � � � � � � æ � � | Ú � � � � � � � æ | � ~ � � � � � æ | � | � � | � � � � ~ � ~ � æ � � � � { � � | ~ � � � | � Ú � �� Ù | ß | ~ | Ú � � � Ú � Ù | � � � � � ~ � � � Û
{ | } | ~ ����� � � � ~ � � � � { � | � � � � � | � � � |� � � | � � � � � � � || � � { � � | � � � |� � ~ � � � � � ~ � { � � |� � � | � � � | � � � � � � �� � � | � � � | � � � � � � �| � � { � � � | ~ � � | � � �� | � � � � � | ~ � � � � � | � � � | ~ � � � { � � � � �Ù � } Ù � | ~ � � � � � | � � � | ~ � � � { � � � Ù �� � | ~ � � � � | � � � �{ � ~ � � � |

L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 M
A

T
R

IX

5

ó ó ó ¢ ¤ ¦ ª © � £ § ¯ ¤ ©  ¬ � � § ¥ � � ¬ � ¡ ¯ � ¢ §   � ¦ ¡ � � �   ¯ ¤ � � � ¬ ° ¤ � � ¤ ¦ Å ¿ ¿ £ � � � ¡ £ § ¦ §   � �   ¤ § ©   ¡ § ¬ ±

25



MAJOR ARTERIAL

4-LANE

COLLECTOR

M
A

JO
R
 A

R
TE

R
IA

L

2
-L

A
N

E
 C

O
LL

E
C

TO
R

2
-L

A
N

E

C
O

LL
E
C

TO
R

C
O

LL
E
C

TO
R

IN
TE

R
S
TA

TE
 2

5

PA-3

3.3 AC

OS

PA-6

4.7 AC

OS

PA-12

36.4 AC
EMP

PA-13

37.0 AC
MU-1

PA-14

41.1 AC

MU-2

PA-15

24.4 AC
R-M

PA-11

38.4 AC
EMP

PA-10

38.6 AC
MU-1

PA-1

41.6 AC

MU-2
PA-2

51.7 AC
R-M

PA-4

45.1 AC
R-M

PA-5

32.2 AC
R-M

PA-7

58.0 AC
R-M

PA-8

35.7 AC
R-M

PA-9

14.3 AC

MU-2

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S
 B

LV
D

.

OUTPARCEL

VISTA COMMONS

LCR 14/WCR 50

ROCKSBURY

RIDGE

2
-L

A
N

E

C
O

LL
E
C

TO
R

4-LANE

COLLECTOR

2-LANE

COLLECTOR

2-LANE

COLLECTOR

FULL

MOVEMENT

INTERSECTION

FULL

MOVEMENT

INTERSECTION

FULL

MOVEMENT

INTERSECTION

FULL

MOVEMENT

INTERSECTION

FULL

MOVEMENT

INTERSECTION

FULL

MOVEMENT

INTERSECTION

FULL

MOVEMENT

INTERSECTION

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

A B C D E F G H I J F C E H B I K L M N D I G M O L E B P I J Q H R S D I G N I B T E Q L T D I U F O V P F J E B W E Q F J H X E Q R T H I C H R D A Y F T H G H D I L H I Z B Q I J E B P I L C B [ I E H F J B W P F A G D I G A D T H Y F T L J E D E F B W C B A B T D G B

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

\\]\̂]_̀\a\ b\̀cd ec bfcghiijghklmnhijofpojhicg
hqkr snjgitfuhlfrvwdqiihgrfpcxylcf
pcx sylc suqouvghiqyk scghk zlnp e

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 400'-0"

2
0

0

4
0

0

8
0

0

C
IR

C
U

L
A

T
IO

N
 P

L
A

N

6

ó ¬ � � � ¦ ¬ � ¦ � ¡ ¦ �   § £ £ ¤ ¥ ¤ ¯ � § ¥ � ¢ � � ¬  § � � ¤ ¯ �¡ £ ¤ ¦ ¬ ¤ « ¤ ¬ � § © ¬ � « � © ¡ � ¯ � ¦ � § � �   ¡ « § © ¢
{ | } | ~ � � � { { | � � � � � � � { � ~ | ô õ � { � ~ | �� � ö � � � � � | � � � {{ � � � {� � � � � � | � ÷ Ú � { { � � æ | � | ~ �� ~ � | � � | � � � � ~� � � | ~ � � � { � � � | � �

26



ø ù ú û ü ù ü ý þ ü ÿ ù � � ÿ � ý þ ü ÿ ø �� � � � � � 	 � 
 � �  � � � � 	 � �� �  � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � �
ø ù ú û ü ù ü ý þ ü ÿ ù � � � � ý ÿ ø ù ý þ �� �� � � � 	 � 
 � �  � � � � 	 � � � 
  � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � � � �

� � � � �� � � 	 �  ! � � �  �� � 	 � � � � � � � � " # � � 	 � � �$ % � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 �� # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � � � & � �# & � �� � � �  �� 	 
 � � � � �  �� 	 
 �# " �
# " �� � � � �� � � 	 �  � # � � �  �# ' � ( � � � � 	 � � � � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 �# ) � � � � � 	 � 
� � � � � � *� # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 �� # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 �� # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � # )� � � � � � � � 	 �  � � � � � 	 � 
� � � � � � *# " � # & � �# & � � � & � �� � � �  �� 	 
 � ! � ( � ' � + � � � 	 
 �� � ( � # � � � � �� � � 
 � 	 
 � # ' � ( � � � � 	 � � �� & � � � � � �  �� 	 
 �

, � � �  � � " � � 	 � � � � � � �  �� 	 
 �� 	 � � � �ø ù ú û ü ù ü ý þ ü ÿ ù � � ÿ � ý þ ü ÿ ø �� � � � � � � � � � �� � 	 � �  � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � � � � ! � � � � � �� - � � �  ( � 	 *� � � � � � � 
� 	 
 �� # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � # )� � � � � � � � 	 �  � � � � � 	 � 
� � �� � � *# " � # & � � � � � � �� 	 
 � � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � ! &� � ' � � �  �� � � � � � � 	 �  � � � �� � � 	 �  � ! � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � ! � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � ! & � �# & � �# & � � " # � � 	 � � � ./ 01 2! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 � ! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 �
3 û � � þ 3 ý û ü 4 ÿ ý 5 û � ý 6 ù ü 7 ÿ � 8 û ü ø þ 9 ÿ ù �� ' � � : �� � � 
 �� 	 � � + � 
 �

" # � 	 � � � � � 	 
 � � � �� �� * � 	 � � + � 
 �� " � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � " � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � # &� �# & � � # ! � � 	 � � �; <= > ! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 �! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 �
6 ü ÿ ? ù ý þ @ ý ü þ þ ý

A B C D E F G H E I J K G C L M D N F F L O P I H Q L P F R E H S L S T E M L C E C F D C I E H N C L K K K D N F I L J U I F I K E K K P T D Q F R E FF R D G H E J J D Q V D H Q N L P J F W C L E Q X Y G E Z I J B L G D C E F I L J K R E Z D O D D J N L T G H D F D Q O W F R E F F I T D U
.

� - & � � ' � � �  �� � � � � � � 	 �  � � � � � � � 	 �  � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � ! � � �  ( � 	 *� � � � � � � 
� 	 
 � � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � - & � �# & � �# & � � � � � � 	 � � � [ \$ %! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 � ! � � � �� �� * � 	 � � + � 
 �
] ^ _ _ ` ] a ^ b c d a e f _ g h e i ` j d k l

� : � � � �
 � � � � � �� �  � � ( � 	 � � 
 � �  
 � � � � � � �  
� � � � 
 
 � 
 � � � � �
 �  � # � # � �

� � 
 � � � � � 
 �� : �� � � 
 � � �  � 
 �
� � 
 � � � � �
 �

� : � � � � 
 �� � 
 � � � � � 
 � .

� � 
 � � � � � 
 �! � � �  �� � � � � � � 	 �  � � � � � � � 	 �  � � � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � � � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � # & � �# &� � " ' � � 	 � � �# )# ) ! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 �! � � � �� �� * � 	 � � + � 
 �
� û � m ü þ @ ÿ 9 þ � ý ÿ ù � � û 3 ù � @ ý ü þ þ ý ' & � �' & � �

! � � �  �� � � � � � � 	 �  . � � � � � � � 	 �  .� # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � # &� �# & � � " # � � 	 � � �# )# ) ! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 �! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 �
ü þ @ ÿ 9 þ � ý ÿ ù � � û 3 ù � @ ý ü þ þ ý � � & � �� � &� � ! � � 	 �  �
 � ! � � 	 �  � 
 �� � 
 � � � � � 
 �" - � � �  �  � � �� 	 � � + � 
 � � : � � � �
 � " � � �  �� �  � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �+ 	 � � ! � �  � �  � � � � � � 	 � �  
 � 
  � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � �

A F P C J H E J D K V I H H O D C D n P I C D Q E K Q D F D C T I J D Q O W F C E S S I N K F P Q W� � � � � �

� � � �  � � 	 
 �� � � �  � � 	 
 � � � 
 � � � � �
 �

A E F F E N R D Q L C Q D F E N R D Q V E H o E F Q I K N C D F I L J L S Q D Z D H L G D C

� � � � �  �� � � � � � � 	 �  � � � � � � � 	 �  � # � � �  ( � 	 *� � � � � � � 
� 	 
 � � + � � � 	 
 � " � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � & � �# & � � � � � � 	 � � � $ %! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 � ! � � � � � � � * � 	 � � + � 
 �
p q _ k l ` ] ^ _ _ ` ] a ^ b r d l a ` b d i s� # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 �' � " " �

� � � � �  �� � � �� � � 	 �  � � � � � � � 	 �  � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � � " � � �  ( � 	 *� � � � � � � 
� 	 
 � � + � � �	 
 � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 � # &� �# & � � ! , � � 	 � � � [ \1 2! � � � �� � � * � 	 � � + � 
 � ! � � � �� �� * � 	 � � + � 
 �
p q _ k l ` ] ^ _ _ ` ] a ^ b � # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 �� # � � � 	 � � �� 	 
 �' � ' �� � 
 � � � � � 
 � � � � �  �� 	 
 �� � � �  �� 	 
 �

� � � �  �� 	 
 � � � � �  �� 	 
 �

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

A B C D E F G H I J F C E H B I K L M N D I G M O L E B P I J Q H R S D I G N I B T E Q L T D I U F O V P F J E B W E Q F J H X E Q R T H I C H R D A Y F T H G H D I L H I Z B Q I J E B P I L C B [ I E H F J B W P F A G D I G A D T H Y F T L J E D E F B W C B A B T D G B

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

\\]\̂]_̀\a\ b\̀cd ec bfcghiijghklmnhijofpojhicg
hqkr snjgitfuhlfrvwdqiihgrfpcxylcf
pcx sylc suqouvghiqyk scghk zlnp e

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

ST
R

E
E
T

 S
E
C

T
IO

N
S

727



PA-3

3.3 AC

OS

PA-6

4.7 AC

OS

t u
PA-12

36.4 AC
EMP

PA-13

37.0 AC
MU-1

PA-14

41.1 AC

MU-2

PA-15

24.4 AC
R-M

PA-11

38.4 AC
EMP

PA-10

38.6 AC
MU-1

PA-1

41.6 AC

MU-2
PA-2

51.7 AC
R-M

PA-4

45.1 AC
R-M

PA-5

32.2 AC
R-M

PA-7

58.0 AC
R-M

PA-8

35.7 AC
R-M

PA-9

14.3 AC

MU-2

I-
2
5

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S
 B

LV
D

.

OUTPARCEL

VISTA COMMONS

*

30' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER

LCR 14/WCR 50

ROCKSBURY

RIDGE

*

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

A B C D E F G H I J F C E H B I K L M N D I G M O L E B P I J Q H R S D I G N I B T E Q L T D I U F O V P F J E B W E Q F J H X E Q R T H I C H R D A Y F T H G H D I L H I Z B Q I J E B P I L C B [ I E H F J B W P F A G D I G A D T H Y F T L J E D E F B W C B A B T D G B

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

\\]\̂]_̀\a\ b\̀cd ec bfcghiijghklmnhijofpojhicg
hqkr snjgitfuhlfrvwdqiihgrfpcxylcf
pcx sylc siohqgr shkl sycjk srchuj zlnp e

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 400'-0"

2
0

0

4
0

0

8
0

0

{ | } | ~ � v w � | � | � � � � � ~ Ý � { ç� � � ç
*

� x w � | � | � � � � � ~ Ý � { ç� � � � � � � � � ~ � � | ~ � � � � � ~{ � ~ � � � � � | ß � Ú Ú | �� � | ~ � � � � |

T
R

A
IL

S 
&

 O
P
E
N

 S
P
A

C
E
 P

L
A

N

8

y z { | } ~ { }� Û Ú � � � Ù | � � � � � � | � � Ú � Ù � � � � � è � � � | ~ � � � � | � � { � ~ � � � � � | � � | � � � � � | Ú | � � | �� � � � � � � | ~ � � | � Û �ß Û � � | ~ � � | � � � � æ � � | � � | � � Ù | � | ð � � � | � | ~ � � � Ú � Ù � � � � � Ý � { { � | | � � { {{ � ~ � � � � � | � � | � è � � | ~ � � � � | � � | � è � � � � � � { � � � � | � � � | ð � � � | � � | � � Ù |ö � Ù ~ � � � Ý ~ � � � | � | ð � � � | � | ~ � � Û� Û � � ~ } { | Ú � � � { � � | � � � Ù | � � � � � � � � Ù | � � | � � � | ~ � � � { � | æ | { � � � | ~ � Ý � { { � | ð � � � |� � � ~ � � � � � v � � � | ~ � � | � Û� Û � � { � � � Ú � � � { � � | � � � | ~ � � � { � | æ | { � � � | ~ � Ý � { { � | ð � � � | � � � ~ � � � � � Ú � x � � � | ~� � | � Û| Û � � � � | � � � � { � ~ � { � } Ù � � ~ � � � � � � � { � | æ | { � � � | ~ � Ý � { { � | ð � � � | � � � ~ � � � � � x �� � | ~ � � | � ÛÚ Û � � | ~ � � | � � | ð � � � | � | ~ � � Ý � { { ß | � � { � � { � � | � � ~ � ~ | � ß � � � � | � � { � � � ~ }� � ß { � � � � } Ù � � Ú Ý � � Û} Û { � ~ � � � � � | ß � Ú Ú | � � � ~ � � | � | ~ � � � ~ � � ~ � � � � ~ � � � ~ � � � Ý � � � � � � | ~ � � | �� | ð � � � | � | ~ � Û � � | ~ � � | � � � � ß | � � � � { � � � æ | { � } � � Ù | � | � � ~ � � { � � } | �� � � � | { � � Ú � � � Ù | � � � � � � | � � Ú � | æ | { � � � ~ } � { � � } | � � ~ � � � � | Ú � ~ � � � � ~ � {� � | ~ � � | � � � � � Ù | � � � � � | � � � ~ � Ú � Ù | � | æ | { � � | � � ~ � Ý � � Ù � Ù | � � � � � æ � { � Ú� Ù | � { � ~ ~ � ~ } � ~ � � | æ | { � � | � � � � | � � � � Û � Ù | { � � � � � � ~ � � � � Ú � Ù | � � � � { � � � æ | { �} � � Ù | � | � � � | ~ � � | � � Ù � { { ß | � | � � } ~ � � | � � � � Ù | � � � | � Ú | � � Ù � � | { � � � ~ � � �� ~ � Ú � ~ � { � | æ | { � � � | ~ � � { � ~ � Ù � � � � � � ~ � � � ß � � � ~ } � � � Ù � � � � | ~ � � | � ÛÙ Û � � | ~ � � � � | { � � � � | � Ý � � Ù � ~ � � � ~ } { | Ú � � � { � � | � � � Ù | � � � � � ~ } { | Ú � � � { �� � � � � Ù | � { � � � � ~ ~ � � ß | � � � ~ � | � � � Ý � � � � � � | ~ � � | � � | ð � � � | � | ~ � Û� Û � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � � ~ � � � ~ � � � Ý � � � � � � | ~ � � | � � | ð � � � | � | ~ � Û� ¹ � · Ã ¸ � Ä ¸ � � � ¸ �� Û Ý | { � � � � � } | � | ð � � � | � � � x � � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � Ú � � � | � � � | ~ � � � { � � | � � Û Ú � �� � � � � � | � � Ú � Ù � � � � � è � Ù | � x � � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � Ù � { { ß | � � { � � { � � | � Ú � � �� Ù | � � � � { � � | � � Ú � { { � | � � � | ~ � � � { { � � � � ~ � � � ö � � | ~ � { � � � { � � � � Ý � � � � Ù � �� | � æ | � � � � � | � � � � � | � � � � � Ù | � | � � � | ~ � � � { { � � � Ûß Û � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � � � æ � � | � � | � � Ù | � | ð � � � | � | ~ � � � Ú � Ù � � � � � Ý � { { � | | � � { {� | � � � � � | � � � | ~ � � � � | � | ð � � � | � | ~ � � � | � � Ù | ö � Ù ~ � � � Ý ~ � � � | Û� Û � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � � � ß | � � � � { � � � æ | { � } � � Ù | � | � � ~ � � { � � } | � � � � � | { � � Ú � �� Ù | � � � � � � | � � Ú � | æ | { � � � ~ } � � { � � } | � � ~ � � � � | Ú � ~ � � � � ~ � { � � � ç � �� � � � { � � � � | � � � � � Ù | � � � � � | � � � ~ � Ú � Ù | � | æ | { � � | � � ~ � Ý � � Ù � Ù | � � � � � æ � { � Ú� Ù | � { � ~ ~ � ~ } � ~ � � | æ | { � � � | ~ � � � � | � � � � Û � Ù | { � � � � � � ~ � � � � Ú � Ù |� � � � { � � � æ | { � } � � Ù | � | � � � | � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � Ù � { { ß | � | � � } ~ � � | � � � � Ù | � � � |� Ú | � � Ù Ú � ~ � { � { � � � Ù � � � � � � ~ � � � ß � � � ~ } � � � Ù � � � � | � Û� Û � � � ~ � � � � � Ú � � � � | � Ú � � � ç � | � � v x � | � � � | ~ � � � { � ~ � � � � � � | ð � � � | � Û| Û � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � � � � Ý ~ | � ß � � Ù | � � Ý ~ è � | � � � � � � � � � � � è � � Ù � � Û� Ý ~ | � � Ù � � � � ß | � | � | � � � ~ | � � � � Ù | � � � | � Ú � � | { � � � ~ � � � � ~ � Ú � ~ � {� | æ | { � � � | ~ � � { � ~ �Ú Û Ý Ù | � | � � � � � � � � { � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � Ù � � { � ß | � � ~ � � } � � � � Û} Û � | � | ~ � � � ~ � � ~ � � � � ~ � � � ~ � � � Ý � � � � � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � | ð � � � | � | ~ � � � �{ � ~ } � � � Ù | � � | | � � Ù | � | Ú � ~ � � � � ~ � Ú � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � � � æ � � | � � ~ � Ù � �� � � � � | ~ � Û ~ � � � � � | � Ù � ~ v � � Ú � Ù | � � � ß { | � � | ~ � � | � � | ð � � � | � | ~ � � � ~ ß |� | � Ý � � Ù � | � | ~ � � � ~ � � ~ � � Û

28



� �
����� � � � � � � � � �

���
���

� � � � � �� � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� �

�

� �
� � � � �

������ � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   ¡ ¡ � � � � � �
¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ £

¤ ¥ ¤ ¥ ¤ ¥
¤ ¥

¤ ¥

¤ ¥ ¤ ¥¤ ¥ ¤ ¥

����¦�¦§§�¨

© ©ª ©© ©

« ¬ ¬« ¬ ¬ PA-12

36.4 AC

EMP

PA-13

37.0 AC

MU-1

PA-14

41.2 AC

MU-2

PA-15

24.4 AC

R-M

PA-11

38.4 AC

EMP

PA-10

38.6 AC

MU-1
PA-9

14.3 AC

MU-2

���
� � �
� �

��
��

©©©

����

� � � �
� � � ��� ��

¤ ¥

¥

����
¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢� ¢ ¢� �

¤ ¥

¥
¤ ¥¤ ¥

¥¥

¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢¢ ¢ ¢ ¢¢ ¢
������������������

������
�

������
�

¢ ¢

� � � �

��� ����

 ® ¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ · ¸ ¹

º ® ¯ » µ ¼ ° · ¶ · ¸ » µ ¼ ½ ² ¾ ° · ¸ ¿ ´ ² ÀÁ ² µ ° ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä · ° À µ ¸ Å Æ Ç Æ È É Æ ® ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

º ® ¯ » µ ¼ ° · ¶ · ¸ » µ ¼ ½ ² ¾ ° · ¸ ¿ ´ ² ÀÁ ² µ ° ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä · ° À µ ¸ Å Æ Ç Æ È É Æ ® ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

º ® ¯ » µ ¼ ° · ¶ · ¸ » µ ¼ ½ ² ¾ ° · ¸ ¿ ´ ² ÀÁ ² µ ° ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä ¾ ¸ ¸ Ë Æ Ì É º ¿ Â ¶ ° Í Î Ç ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç ÊÇ ® ¯ ² µ ¶ · ° ³ ³ Ï ° ¶ · ° ³ ³ ÏÂ µ ¼ ¼ ² ´ À Ð Ã Â ² µ ´ ° µ Â µ À °° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä · ° À µ ¸ Å º ® ® Æ ® Î Í º  Ç Êº ® ¯ ¿ ° · Ã Â µ ° µ ´ ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´Ä · ° À Å µ ¸ Å º ® Æ Í ® ® Ç  Ì ® Ì Ñ º ® Æ Í ® ® Ç  Ç  Í ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Êº ® ¯ ¿ ° · Ã Â µ ° µ ´ ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´Ä · ° À Å µ ¸ Å º ® Æ Í ® ® Í Ç Ì Ç Í ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Â µ ¼ · ² ¶ Ð ´ ¸ ½ ¹ Â Ò Â ¶ · ° ° Ã ° µ ´Ä · ° À Å µ ¸ Å Î Ì ®  È È ® Æ Ê º ® ¯ ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Â µ ¼ · ² ¶ Ð ´ ¸ ½ ¹ Â ÒÄ · ° À Å µ ¸ Å Î Ì ®  È È ® Æ Ê ° ± À ° ¿ ´ ² ¸ µ Ó º Ä ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

º ® ¯ ¿ ° · Ã Â µ ° µ ´ ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´Ä · ° À Å µ ¸ Å È Ì º Î º º ® Ê Ä ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç ÊÆ ® ¯ » ´ ² Á ² ´ Ò ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´Ä · ° À Å µ ¸ Å Ì ® Ì Æ º È Ç ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Êº ® ¯ ¿ ² ¿ ° Á ² µ ° ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´Ä · ° À Å µ ¸ Å È Ì Ç Æ Æ È È Ê
Ì ® ¯ µ ¸ µ Ô ° ± À Á » ³ ² Õ ° » µ ¼ ° · ¶ · ¸ » µ ¼¿ ² ¿ ° Á ² µ ° ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä · ° À µ ¸ Å Ì Î Æ È  º  ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

Æ º ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹ Æ º ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹ Î ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹

É ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹

Æ ® ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹ Æ º ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹

 ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹

Æ ® ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹

Ì ® ¯ µ ¸ µ Ô ° ± À Á » ³ ² Õ ° » µ ¼ ° · ¶ · ¸ » µ ¼¿ ² ¿ ° Á ² µ ° ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä · ° À µ ¸ Å Ì Î Æ È  º  Ê³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç
É ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹ Æ ® ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹

É ® ¯ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ · ¸ ¹

Ö ÖÖ Ö× ×
× ×× ×Ö Ö

Ø Ø Ø Ù Ø Ø Ø ØÚ Ú Ú Ú Ú Ú Ú Ú Ú Ú Û Û Ú Ú
Ü Ü Ý

Ý Ü Ý Þ ß à á
ÜÜ â

× ×Ö Ö

Ø

ã ãã ãä äå åÖ Ö
Ö Ö

æ æ × × Ö Ö
ç çÚ Ú Ú Ú Ú Ú è èéØØØ ê

ÝÜÜÜÜÝÝ

ë ëì ì íîï ðñ ò ó ô õ ö ÷ ò ó ø ù ú ô û ù ü ó ý ÷ þ ÿ��ÿ���������	
���
����

� � � � � � � � � � � � � �� �  !" # $%

VISTA COMMONS PDP

& ' () * + (, () - . / 0* * & 1 0*2 3 4 54 6 78 3 9 : ;<

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ° · ´ Ò Á ² µ °

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ° · ´ Ò Á ² µ °
° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ° · ´ Ò Á ² µ °

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¿ · ¸ ¿ ° · ´ ÒÁ ² µ °

Í Ç ¯ ¸ ² Á Â µ ¼¶ Â ³ ³ ° ´ ¾ Â À Ë

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ Æ ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼½ ² · ° Ð Ò ¼ · Â µ ´ Ä ´ Ò ¿ Ê

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼½ ² · ° Ð Ò ¼ · Â µ ´ Ä ´ Ò ¿ Ê
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼½ ² · ° Ð Ò ¼ · Â µ ´ Ä ´ Ò ¿ Ê

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ Æ ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ Æ ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶º ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ º ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ
° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ º ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ º ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

À ¸ µ µ ° À ´ ´ ¸° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ º ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼½ ² · ° Ð Ò ¼ · Â µ ´ Ä ´ Ò ¿ Ê

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ É = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ Æ ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼É = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò ³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼É = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò ³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼É = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò ³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼Æ º = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò ³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼Æ º = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò ³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶É = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

À ¸ µ µ ° À ´ ´ ¸ µ ¸ · ´ Ð ¹ ° ³ ´² µ ´ ° · À ° ¿ ´ ¸ · Ä ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° È Ê° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¶ Â ³ Ã Â ² µ¹ ² ´ Ð ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä µ ¸ ¹ ² ¼ ´ Ð¿ · ¸ Õ ² ¼ ° ¼ Ê Ä ¾ ¸ ¸ Ë Æ Æ Î Î Ï ¿ Â ¶ ° Ì Í Í ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¶ Â ³ Ã Â ² µ¹ ² ´ Ð ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä µ ¸ ¹ ² ¼ ´ Ð¿ · ¸ Õ ² ¼ ° ¼ Ê Ä ¾ ¸ ¸ Ë Æ Æ Î Î Ï ¿ Â ¶ ° Ì Í Í ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¶ Â ³ Ã Â ² µ¹ ² ´ Ð ° Â ³ ° Ã ° µ ´ Ä µ ¸ ¹ ² ¼ ´ Ð¿ · ¸ Õ ² ¼ ° ¼ Ê Ä ¾ ¸ ¸ Ë Æ Æ Î Î Ï ¿ Â ¶ ° Ì Í Í ÊÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê
° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¸ Õ ° · Ð ° Â ¼° Á ° À ´ · ² À Ä ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ì Ê

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ » µ ¼ ° · ¶ · ¸ » µ ¼´ ° Á ° ¿ Ð ¸ µ ° Ä ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ì Ê° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ² · · ² ¶ Â ´ ² ¸ µÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ì Ê
° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ² · · ² ¶ Â ´ ² ¸ µÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ì Ê

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¶ Â ³ Ã Â ² µÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¶ Â ³ Ã Â ² µÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ ¶ Â ³ Ã Â ² µÄ ³ ° ° µ ¸ ´ ° Ç Ê

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ Æ º = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ ¿ Â · Â Á Á ° ÁÆ º = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼Æ º = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼Æ º = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ Æ ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼Æ º = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ ¿ Â · Â Á Á ° ÁÆ º = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

À ¸ µ µ ° À ´ ´ ¸° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ º ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼É = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼Æ º = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò ³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ
¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼É = ³ Â µ ² ´ Â · Ò ³ ° ¹ ° · Ã Â ² µ

¿ · ¸ ¿ ¸ ³ ° ¼ ¿ Â · Â Á Á ° ÁÆ º = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ
À ¸ µ µ ° À ´ ¿ Â · Â Á Á ° Á Æ º = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ ´ ¸° ± ² ³ ´ ² µ ¶ º ® = ¹ Â ´ ° · Ã Â ² µ

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

 U
T

IL
IT

Y
 P

L
A

N
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

159

AM

AM

KR

> ? ? @A B C D E F > ? ? G H I? J ? ? @

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

KKLKMLMNKOK PQORS TU PVKW XKYZ[\]̂_R̂̀abcVd̂eeVdafàVK X[\]̂_R̂̀abcfà̂̀[]V[Rf XgeRh_àa_iR̂̀b jek[ T

l m n o p q r s t u q n p s m t v w x y w o t r x z w p m { t u | s } ~ o t r y t m � p | w � o t � q z � { q u p m � p | q u s � p | } � s t n s } o l � q � s r s o t w s t � m | t u p m { t w n m � t p s q u m � { q l r o t r l o � s � q � w u p o p q m � n m l m � o r m
MATCH LINE SHEET 10

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E
 SH

E
E
T

1
0

� � � � � �
� ��� ��� � ��

� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � �
  ¡ ¢ � � � £� � �   � � �   ¤ ¥ � � � �¦ � ¢ � � � � � �   � � � � ¤ ¥ §¨ ¡ � � � � � ¤ ¥ � � � �� � � � ¨ ¡ � � � �� £ � � § � ¡ � � � � � �� � � � � § � � � � � � � ¤ ¥ §

© � ª � � � � � ¨ � � ¡ � �� ª « ¬ � � « � � ¨ § � � � � �� ª « ¬ � � « � � ¨ � �
� � � � � � � � � ¡ � � � ¡ � � ¥ ¡ � � ¦ � � � § � � � ¡ � � ¡ � � � ¥ ¢ � �� � � � � � � � � ¡ � � � ¥ ¡ � �® ® � � � � � � � �   ¯ � ¢ ¤ ¨ ¯ � � � �

� � � � � � � � ¯ � � � � � � � ¡ � � ¥ � � �� � � � � � � � � ¡ � � �   ¡ � � ¢ ¯ ¦ ¦ � �� ª « � � � � � � � � �� ª � � � � � ¨ � � �

� � ¡ � � � � ¨ ¡ � � ¡ � � � � � � ¡ � � � �
� ° � � � � � � � � � ¡ � � � ¡ � � � � ¯ ¢� � � � � � � � � ¡ � � � � � ¯ ¢

± ±

² « � § � � � ³ � ¡ � � � �   ¡ � � � � � ¦ ¡ � � ´ � � � � ¯ � � � � ¨ � � ¯ � �¯ � � � � � � � � ¡ � � ¡ � � � � ª � ¥ ¡ � � ¡ � � ¢ ¡ � � � � ¦ ¦ � § � ¢ � � �¡ £ ¡ � � ¡ ¢ � � � � ¦ � � ¥ ¡ � � � � � § � � � § � � � � � � § � � �� � ¡ � � � ¨ � « � ª ¡   � � �   ¡ � � � � � � ¦ � ª � � � � � ¨ ¯ � � � � � � � � ¡ � �� � � µ � � � � � � � � � § ¡ � � ¢ � � � � � � ¥ � � � � ¬   � � ¦ � � ¥ � � � ¯ � � � ¨¦ � � ¡ � � � � � ¨ � « ¢ � ¦ � � �   � ¥ ¥ � �   � � ¨ � � �   � � � � � ¯   � � � � ¶� § �   � � � � ¡   � � � � § ¡ � � ¢ � � � � � � � � � ¢ � � ¦ � � ¡ � �¯ � ´ � � � � ¯ � � � � � � � � «· « ¯ � � � � � � ¥ ¡ � � � ¡ � � � � � £ �   � � ¡ � � � § � � � �   § � ¥ ¡ � �   ¡ � � �¡ � � ¦ � � ¡ � � �   ¡ � � � � � � � � � ¢ � � � � � � ¥ � � � � � ¯ � � � ¨ � § �¦ � � ¡ � � � ¡ � ¡ � �   � � � � � ¯   � � � � � �   ¯ ¥ � � � � � �   � � �� § � � ¯ ¨ § � § � � � � � � ¦ ¸ � § � � � � � � «¹ « � ª � � � � � ¨ � ¡ � � ¥ � � � � ¡ � � ¯ � � � � � � � � � �   � � ¦ � �   � � � � §� � � � � � � � � � � � ¨ � � § ¡ � � ¢ � £ ¡   ¡ � � � ¡ � � � � ¥ � £ � �� � � � � � �   � � � � � ¯   � � � � ¶ � ª   � � � � § � � � � � �   ¯ � � � � � �� � � � º « � ª ¡   � � � ¥ � � � � ¦ � � � �   ¡ � � � � � ¶ � ¦ � � » ¯ � � � � ¶� � � � ¢ � � � � � � ¥ � � � � � ¯ � � � ¨ ¦ � � ¡ � � � � � ¨ �¼ « � ¦ ¦ � � � � � � � � � ¥ ¡ � � � ¡ � � � � » ¯ � � � � � � ¢ �  � � � � � ¯   � � � � � � § � � � ¯ � § ¡ � � � ¡ � � � § ¡ �   � � � �   � �� � � � � § � � ª � � � � � ¨ ¸ � § � � � � � � � � � � § � � � �� � � � �   � � � � � � ¡ � � � ¡ � � � � � � � � � � � � ¥ «º « � ª � � � � � ¨ ¯ � � � � � � ¡ � � ¡ � � �   � ¡ � � � � ¡ � � ¥ � � � � � § ¡ � � ¢ �� � � � �   � � � � � � � ¡   � ¶ ¯ � � � � � � � § � � � � � � � � � � � «½ « � � � � § � � � ¾ ¦ � � � � ¡ � � ¡ �   � � � � � �   � � � � � «

� ¿ À � Á

29



ÂÂÂÃÃÄ

Å ÂÂÂÂ

Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Ç Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ Æ È Æ È È È È Æ Ç Æ ÆÅ Å ÉÂÂ
ÄÉ

Ê

Ë ËÌ
Í Í Í Í Í ÍÍ ÍÍ ÍÍ ÍÍ ÍÍ ÍÍ ÍÍ ÍÍ Í Í Í Í ÍÍ Í Í ÍÍ Í Í ÍÍ ÍÍ ÍÍ ÍÍ Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í ÍÎ Ï Ð

Ï Ð

Ï Ð Ï ÐÏ Ð Ï Ð
ÑÒÑÓ

Ô ÔÕ ÔÔ ÔÖ ÔÔ Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í Í ÍÍ Í
PA-10

38.6 AC

MU-1

PA-1

41.6 AC

MU-2

PA-2

51.8 AC

R-M

PA-4

45.1 AC

R-M

PA-5

32.2 AC

R-M

PA-7

58.0 AC

R-M

PA-8

35.7 AC

R-M

PA-9

14.3 AC

MU-2

PA-3

3.3 AC

OS

PA-6

4.7 AC

OSÏÔ ÔÔ ÔÕ

ÉÂÂ
Ä

ÉÂÂ
Ä

Í Í ÏÏ ÐÏ ÐÏ ÐÏ ÐÏ ÐÏ ÐÏ ÐÏ ÐÏ Ð

× Ø Ù × Ú Û Ü Ø Ý Þ ß Û à á â ã ä å æ ç è é ê

ë ì í
î ï ð í ñ ò ó ë ô õ ö ó ó ñ ÷ ó ø ó ö òù ë ó ú ö ì û î ï ï ü ï ï î ý î ü þ ÿù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿþ ï ð ö ì ö � ó � ú ô � ÷ õ � ó � ö � ó ë � ë ì � ö �� õ � ó ô õ ö ó ó ñ ÷ ó ø ó ö ò ù ë ó ú ö ì û î ï � þ ï ï � 	 � ý � ÿù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ

î ï ð í ñ ò ó ë ô õ ö ó ó ñ ÷ ó ø ó ö òù ë ó ú ö ì û î ï ï ü ï ï î ý î ü þ ÿù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ

î ï ð � ö � ó ë � ë ì � ö � 
 õ � ó ë ì � ò õ úô õ ö ó ó ñ ÷ ó ø ó ö ò ù ë ó ú ö ì û � � � ü 	 � ï ÿù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ

î ï ð � ö � ó ë � ë ì � ö � 
 õ � ó ë ì � ò õ úô õ ö ó ó ñ ÷ ó ø ó ö ò ù � ì ì � � þ 	 î � ñ � ó  ý � ÿù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ

î ï ð � ö � ó ë � ë ì � ö � 
 õ � ó ë ì � ò õ úô õ ö ó ó ñ ÷ ó ø ó ö ò ù � ì ì � � þ 	 î � ñ � ó  ý � ÿù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ

� ï ð ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � ë ì íý ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í ý ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í

î ï ð � ó ë ø ñ ö ó ö ò ó ñ ÷ ó ø ó ö òù ë ó ú û ö ì û î ï �  ï ï  � þ �  ÿ ù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿî ï ð � ó ë ø ñ ö ó ö ò ó ñ ÷ ó ø ó ö òù ë ó ú û ö ì û î ï �  ï ï � � þ ï þ � î ï �  ï ï � � � �  ÿù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ

� î ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í ý ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í
� î ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í� ï ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í 	 ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í

	 ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í	 ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í

� î ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í

	 ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í

	 ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í

	 ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í	 ï ð � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � ë ì í

� �
� � �� � � � � � ��

�
����

��

� � � � � � �� �� �� �� ��

� � � � � ����������������

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   ! ! � � � � � �� � � � " "#�� ��$%&�������'

()

* ** *+ +, ,- -. .

/0/1234 �567589:6;<=9>?@ABCD
EFGH

I J K I L M N
O P Q R S T U P Q V W X Y W Z Q [ U \

ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ë ì � ó ë ò ] ô õ ö ó
ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ë ì � ó ë ò ] ô õ ö ó

ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ë ì � ó ë ò ] ô õ ö ó

ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ë ì � ó ë ò ]ô õ ö ó

 � ð ì õ ô ñ ö �� ñ ÷ ÷ ó ò � ñ ú �
ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ë ì � ó ë ò ] ô õ ö ó

 � ð ì õ ô ñ ö � � ñ ÷÷ ó ò � ñ ú �


 � ò � ë ó ÷ ó í ó ë ó � ò ó ö ÷ õ ì öò ì ò ^ ó ó ñ ÷ ò ù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó ü ÿú ì ö ö ó ú ò ò ì 
 � ò � ë ó÷ ó í ó ë ó � ò ó ö ÷ õ ì öù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó ü ÿ
� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �� î _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ] ÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö

í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �
 õ ë ó ^ ] � ë ñ ö ò ù ò ] � ÿ� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �
 õ ë ó ^ ] � ë ñ ö ò ù ò ] � ÿ

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �
 õ ë ó ^ ] � ë ñ ö ò ù ò ] � ÿ

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �
 õ ë ó ^ ] � ë ñ ö ò ù ò ] � ÿ

ø ñ õ ö ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � î ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö
ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � î ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � î ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö
ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � î ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

ú ì ö ö ó ú ò ò ìó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � î ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö
� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �	 _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ] ÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �� î _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ] ÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö
� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �� î _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ] ÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �� î _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ] ÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �	 _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ] ÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �� î _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ] ÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �� î _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ] ÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö � ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � î _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ öò ^ñ � ó þ   ÿ

ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ë ì � ó ë ò ] ô õ ö ó ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � ì � ó ë ^ ó ñ � ó ô ó ú ò ë õ úù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó þ ÿó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ö � ó ë � ë ì � ö �ò ó ô ó � ^ ì ö ó ù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó þ ÿ� � ö � ó ë � ë ì � ö �ì ö ó ù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó þ ÿ

ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ñ ÷ ø ñ õ öù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ

ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ñ ÷ ø ñ õ öù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ

ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � � ñ ÷ ø ñ õ öù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ
� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � ñ ë ñ ô ô ó ô� î _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � î _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö
� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � î _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �� î _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö
� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � ï _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �� î _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö
� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � ñ ë ñ ô ô ó ô� î _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �	 _ ÷ ñ ö õ ò ñ ë ]÷ ó í ó ë ø ñ õ ö
ó � õ ÷ ò õ ö � 	 _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ öù ÷ ó ó ö ì ò ó � ÿ� ë ì � ì ÷ ó � � î _ í ñ ò ó ë ø ñ õ ö

� ë ì � ì ÷ ó �
 õ ë ó ^ ] � ë ñ ö ò ù ò ] � ÿ

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

 U
T

IL
IT

Y
 P

L
A

N
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

1510

AM

AM

KR

` a a bc d e f g h ` a a i j ka l a a b

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

mmnmonopmqm rsqtu vw rxmy zm{|}~���t�����x����x�����xm z}~���t����������}�x}t� z��t�������t��� ���} v

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   � � � � � � ¡ � � � ¡ � � ¢ � � £ � � � � � ¤ � � � � � ¥ � � � ¡ � � � � � � � ¦ � ¡ � � � � � � � � § � � � � � � � � � � � ¨ � � � � � � ¤ � � � � � � � � � ¡ � ¦ � ¡ � � � � � � � ¤ � � � � ¡ � � �

MATCH LINE SHEET 9

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E
 SH

E
E
T

9

© ª « ª ¬ 
® ¯°± ²³´ µ µ®

¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » · ¸ ¼¶ · ¸ ¶ º · ½ ¾ ¿ À Á º
Â Ã Ä ¿ º ½ Åº ¿ º Â ½ · À Â Æ Ç º ½ º ·È À Ä º · ¸ ¶ ½ À Â ¿ À Á º Æ Ç ÉÊ Ã ¹ ¿ À Á º Æ Ç º ½ º ·À · · À Ê Ã ½ À ¸ Á¸ Å º · É º Ã » ¶ ¸ ¼ º ·½ º ¿ º ¶ É ¸ Á º ¿ À Á º Æ Ç É

Ë º Ì À ¹ ½ À Á Ê ¹ ¼ Ã ¿ ºº Ì Í Î ¶ · Í ¿ À Ê É ½ ¶ ¸ ¿ ºº Ì Í Î ¶ · Í ¹ À Ê Á ¹
Ï È À · º É ¾ » · Ã Á ½ Ã ¹ ¹ º Ç Ä ¿ ¾¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » ¼ Ã ½ º · Ç Ã À ÁÐ ÏÐ ¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » Â Ñ · Ä Æ Ê Ñ ½ ½ º ·

¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » Ñ ½ À ¿ À ½ ¾ º Ã ¹ º Ç º Á ½¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » ¿ Ã Á » ¹ Â Ã ¶ º Ä Ñ È È º ·º Ì Í ¶ ¸ ¼ º · ¶ ¸ ¿ ºº Ì À ¹ ½ À Á Ê · ¸ ¼

¶ ¿ Ã Á Á À Á Ê Ã · º Ã » º ¿ À Á º Ã ½ À ¸ Á
² Ò ¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » ¹ Ã Á À ½ Ã · ¾ ¹ ½ Ñ Ä¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » ¼ Ã ½ º · ¹ ½ Ñ ÄÏ Ó ¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » ¹ ½ ¸ · Ç ¹ º ¼ º ·

Ô Ô
¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » ¹ Ã Á À ½ Ã · ¾ Ç Ã À Á

Õ Í ½ É º ¹ À Ö º Ã Á » ¿ ¸ Â Ã ½ À ¸ Á ¸ È Ã ¿ ¿ × Á ¸ ¼ Á Ñ Á » º · Ê · ¸ Ñ Á »Ñ ½ À ¿ À ½ À º ¹ Ã · º Ã ¶ ¶ · ¸ Ì À Ç Ã ½ º Ã Á » Ä Ã ¹ º » ¸ È È ½ É º Ä º ¹ ½Ã Å Ã À ¿ Ã Ä ¿ º À Á È ¸ · Ç Ã ½ À ¸ Á ¼ É º Á ¹ É ¸ ¼ Á ¸ Á ½ É º ¹ º» · Ã ¼ À Á Ê ¹ Í º Ì Ã Â ½ ¿ ¸ Â Ã ½ À ¸ Á ¹ ¸ È º Ì À ¹ ½ À Á Ê Ñ ½ À ¿ À ½ À º ¹ Ã Á »½ À º Ø À Á ¶ ¸ À Á ½ ¹ ¹ É Ã ¿ ¿ Ä º » º ½ º · Ç À Á º » Î Â ¸ Á È À · Ç º » » Ñ · À Á ÊÈ À Á Ã ¿ » º ¹ À Ê Á Í Ä º È ¸ · º Â ¸ Ç Ç º Á Â À Á Ê Á º ¼ Â ¸ Á ¹ ½ · Ñ Â ½ À ¸ Á Ù½ É º Â ¸ Á ½ · Ã Â ½ ¸ · ¹ É Ã ¿ ¿ Ä º · º ¹ ¶ ¸ Á ¹ À Ä ¿ º È ¸ · Ã ¿ ¿Ñ Á × Á ¸ ¼ Á Ñ ½ À ¿ À ½ À º ¹ ÍÚ Í Ñ ½ À ¿ À ½ ¾ Ç Ã À Á ¹ Ã Á » ¹ º · Å À Â º ¹ Ã · º ¹ É ¸ ¼ Á ¹ Â É º Ç Ã ½ À Â Ã ¿ ¿ ¾Ã Á » È À Á Ã ¿ ¿ ¸ Â Ã ½ À ¸ Á ¹ ¼ À ¿ ¿ Ä º » º ½ º · Ç À Á º » » Ñ · À Á Ê ½ É ºÈ À Á Ã ¿ ¶ ¿ Ã ½ Ã Á » Â ¸ Á ¹ ½ · Ñ Â ½ À ¸ Á » ¸ Â Ñ Ç º Á ½ ¶ · ¸ Â º ¹ ¹½ É · ¸ Ñ Ê É ½ É º ½ ¸ ¼ Á ¸ È Û ¸ É Á ¹ ½ ¸ ¼ Á ÍÜ Í º Ì À ¹ ½ À Á Ê º Ã ¹ º Ç º Á ½ ¹ Ã Á » Ñ ½ À ¿ À ½ À º ¹ À Á Â ¸ Á È ¿ À Â ½ ¼ À ½ É¶ · ¸ ¶ ¸ ¹ º » » º ¹ À Ê Á ¹ É Ã ¿ ¿ Ä º Å Ã Â Ã ½ º » Ã Á » · º Ç ¸ Å º »¶ · À ¸ · ½ ¸ Â ¸ Á ¹ ½ · Ñ Â ½ À ¸ Á Ù º Ì Â º ¶ ½ ½ É ¸ ¹ º » À ¹ Â Ñ ¹ ¹ º » À ÁÁ ¸ ½ º Ý Í º Ì Ã Â ½ ¿ À Ç À ½ ¹ ¸ È · º ¿ ¸ Â Ã ½ À ¸ Á ¹ Ù À È · º Þ Ñ À · º » Ù¼ À ¿ ¿ Ä º » º ½ º · Ç À Á º » » Ñ · À Á Ê È À Á Ã ¿ » º ¹ À Ê Áß Í Ã Á ¸ È È ¹ À ½ º ¹ º ¼ º · Ç Ã À Á À ¹ · º Þ Ñ À · º » ½ ¸ Ä ºÂ ¸ Á ¹ ½ · Ñ Â ½ º » ½ ¸ ½ É º º Ã ¹ ½ ½ É Ã ½ Â ¸ Á Á º Â ½ ¹ À Á ½ ¸ ½ É ºº Ì À ¹ ½ À Á Ê Û ¸ É Á ¹ ½ ¸ ¼ Á ¹ Ã Á À ½ Ã · ¾ ¹ º ¼ º · ¹ ¾ ¹ ½ º Ç ÍÝ Í º Ì À ¹ ½ À Á Ê Ñ ½ À ¿ À ½ ¾ Ã Á » Ã ¹ ¹ ¸ Â À Ã ½ º » º Ã ¹ º Ç º Á ½ ¹ ¹ É Ã ¿ ¿ Ä º¶ · ¸ ½ º Â ½ º » À Á ¶ ¿ Ã Â º Ù Ñ Á ¿ º ¹ ¹ ¸ ½ É º · ¼ À ¹ º Á ¸ ½ º » Íà Í ¹ º º ¹ É º º ½ á È ¸ · · ¸ Ã » ¼ Ã ¾ Â · ¸ ¹ ¹ ¹ º Â ½ À ¸ Á ¹ Í

¬ â ã ª ä

30



å å æ çèéêë ì ì í î î î î î ï

ððê
ñòê

ê ì ó î î ôë ë ò ð ð
õ ö ÷ ö ö õ ø ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ù ú ù ú ùî î

û

ü ýþ þ þ þ þ þ þ þ þ þ þ ÿ þ þ

ð ë
ò ë ë ð ð

ññêñ�

��æææ��æ�æ
�

������� 	
	�
��

� � ������� ð ð ð ð ð ð ò ò ë

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� �� �� �� �� �� �� � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �� � � � ��

� � �� � � PA-12

36.4 AC

EMP

PA-13

37.0 AC

MU-1

PA-14

41.2 AC

MU-2

PA-15

24.4 AC

R-M

PA-11

38.4 AC

EMP

PA-10

38.6 AC

MU-1
PA-9

14.3 AC

MU-2

ëëë
ò ò ë
ò ò ë

îîîî
ëë ��ëë ��

ññññ

ð ð ð ð
ð ð ð ðòê òê

� � � � � �  ! " # $ % & ' ( ! % � ) ! * + * � % � ), ' , ! $ ' � ! ! - & ! . ! � / 0 * ! # � � 1 � 2 3 4 5 6 5 76 � � % � ) ! * + * � % � ) 8 ' 9 ! * � , / ' #$ ' � ! ! - & ! . ! � / 0 * ! # � � 1 3 : 3 4 ; 3 � 7

6 � � % � ) ! * + * � % � ) 8 ' 9 ! * � , / ' #$ ' � ! ! - & ! . ! � / 0 * ! # � � 1 3 : 3 4 ; 3 � 7

6 � � % � ) ! * + * � % � ) 8 ' 9 ! * � , / ' #$ ' � ! ! - & ! . ! � / 0 9 � � < 3 � ; 6 , - + ! = 2 : 7: � � ' � + * ! & & > ! + * ! & & >- � ) ) ' / # ? . - ' � / ! � - � # !! - & ! . ! � / 0 * ! # � � 1 6 � � 3 � 2 = 6 5 : 76 � � , ! * . - � ! � / ! - & ! . ! � /0 * ! # 1 � � 1 6 � 3 = � � : 5 � � � @ 6 � 3 = � � : 5 : 5 = 76 � � , ! * . - � ! � / ! - & ! . ! � /0 * ! # 1 � � 1 6 � 3 = � � = : � : = 76 � � ! - & ! . ! � / - � ) * ' + ? / � 8 A - B - + * ! ! . ! � /0 * ! # 1 � � 1 2 � � 5 4 4 � 3 7 6 � � ! - & ! . ! � / - � ) * ' + ? / � 8 A - B0 * ! # 1 � � 1 2 � � 5 4 4 � 3 7 ! " # ! , / ' � � C 6 5

6 � � , ! * . - � ! � / ! - & ! . ! � /0 * ! # 1 � � 1 4 � 6 2 6 6 � 73 � � % / ' $ ' / B ! - & ! . ! � /0 * ! # 1 � � 1 � � � 3 6 4 : 76 � � , ' , ! $ ' � ! ! - & ! . ! � /0 * ! # 1 � � 1 4 � : 3 3 4 4 7
D E FG H I FJ FG K L M NH H D O NHP Q R SR T UV Q W X YZ

! " ' & / ' � + , * � , ! * / B $ ' � !

! " ' & / ' � + , * � , ! * / B $ ' � !
! " ' & / ' � + , * � , ! * / B $ ' � !

! " ' & / ' � + , * � , ! * / B$ ' � !
� � � � � �  ! " # $ % & ' ( ! % � ) ! * + * � % � ), ' , ! $ ' � ! ! - & ! . ! � / 0 * ! # � � 1 � 2 3 4 5 6 5 7

= : � � ' $ - � )+ - & & ! / 9 - # <

[ \ ] ^ _ ` a \ ] b c
d e f d g h i e j k l h m n

opqorstpuvwsxy

SITE OUTFALL

z { | } ~
r�uyyz { | } �

r�uy�
z { | } �

z { | } �
z { | } �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

 G
R

A
D

IN
G

 P
L
A

N
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

1511

AM

AM

KR

� � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � �� �   ¡ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � ¢ £ � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � ¤ � ¤ ¥ ¤� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ¢ � ¦ ¦ � �

� § � � ¨ � � � ¨© ª « ¬  ® § � � ¯ ° ±

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

²²³²́³́µ²¶¶ ·´̧¹º »¼ ·½²¾ ¿²ÀÁÂÃÄ¹ÅÆÇ¹ÈÉÊ½Ë¹ÌÌ½ËÈÍÈÇ½² ¿ÂÃÄ¹ÅÆÇ¹ÈÉÊÍÈÇÇ¹ÂÄ½ÂÆÍ ¿ÎÌÆÂÃ¹ÌÈÉÂÆÇ¹É ÏÌÐÂ »

Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö × Ø Ù Ú Ö Ó Õ Ø Ò Ù Û Ü Ý Þ Ü Ô Ù × Ý ß Ü Õ Ò à Ù Ú á Ø â ã Ô Ù × Þ Ù Ò ä Õ á Ü ä Ô Ù å Ö ß æ à Ö Ú Õ Ò ç Õ á Ö Ú Ø è Õ á â ä Ø Ù Ó Ø â Ô Ñ é Ö ä Ø × Ø Ô Ù Ü Ø Ù ê Ò á Ù Ú Õ Ò à Ù Ü Ó Ò ë Ù Õ ì Ö Ú Ò ç à Ö Ñ × Ô Ù × Ñ Ô ä ì é Ö ä Ü Ú Õ Ô Õ Ö Ò ç Ó Ò Ñ Ò ä Ô × Ò
MATCH LINE SHEET 12

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E
 SH

E
E
T

1
2

í î ï ð ñ í ò ó ò ð ô ð õ ö ÷ø ô ð õ ö ÷ õ ù ò í ó õ ú ò

û ü ô ò î ò ÷ î ö ï ÷ ý ï ÷ ô í ö þ ö ÷ ù õ ÷ ô ú ï ÿ õ î ö ï ÷ í õ ð òý ð ò ú ö ñ ö ÷ õ ð � õ ÷ ô ó ö ú ú � ò ô ò î ò ð ñ ö ÷ ò ô ô � ð ö ÷ ùî � ò � ö ÷ õ ú ô ò � ò ú ï ý ñ ò ÷ î ý ú õ ÷ � � ö ÷ õ ú ý ú õ î � õ ÷ ôÿ ï ÷ í î ð � ÿ î ö ï ÷ ô ï ÿ � ñ ò ÷ î ý ð ï ÿ ò í í î � ð ï � ù �î � ò î ï ó ÷ ï � � ï � ÷ í î ï ó ÷ ü� ü í î ï ð ñ ô ð õ ö ÷ õ ÷ ô ô ð õ ö ÷ õ ù ò í ó õ ú ò ú ï ÿ õ î ö ï ÷ íõ ÷ ô í ö þ ö ÷ ù õ ð ò ý ð ò ú ö ñ ö ÷ õ ð � õ ÷ ô ó ö ú ú � òô ò î ò ð ñ ö ÷ ò ô ô � ð ö ÷ ù î � ò � ö ÷ õ ú ô ò � ò ú ï ý ñ ò ÷ îý ú õ ÷ � � ö ÷ õ ú ý ú õ î � õ ÷ ô ÿ ï ÷ í î ð � ÿ î ö ï ÷ô ï ÿ � ñ ò ÷ î ý ð ï ÿ ò í í î � ð ï � ù � î � ò î ï ó ÷ ï �� ï � ÷ í î ï ó ÷ ü	 ü î � ò î ï ý ï ù ð õ ý � ö ÿ í � ð � ò � õ ÷ ô � ï � ÷ ô õ ð �í � ï ó ÷ õ ð ò � õ í ò ô ï ÷ î � ò � ö ò ú ô í � ð � ò �ó ï ð 
 ï � ý ú í ù ð ï � ý � ý ð ï � ò ÿ î � û  � � � ü � � û � ü� ö ò ú ô í � ð � ò � ó õ í ÿ ï ñ ý ú ò î ò ô ï ÷ ï ð õ ð ï � ÷ ô� � ÷ ò �  � � � û � ü� ü í ò ò í � ò ò î � � ï ð ð ï õ ô ó õ � ÿ ð ï í í í ò ÿ î ö ï ÷ í ü� ü ù ð õ ô ö ÷ ù õ ÷ ô � ö ÷ ö í � ò ô ù ð õ ô ò ÿ ï ÷ î ï � ð í õ ð òÿ ï ÷ ÿ ò ý î � õ ú õ ÷ ô ù ò ÷ ò ð õ ú ú � í � ï ó ö ÷ î ò ÷ îõ ÷ ô õ ý ý ð ï � ö ñ õ î ò � ú ï ó ý õ î � í ü � ö ÷ õ ú ù ð õ ô ö ÷ ùó ö ú ú � ò ô ò î ò ð ñ ö ÷ ò ô ô � ð ö ÷ ù � ö ÷ õ ú ô ò í ö ù ÷ ü
� � � � �

� ú ï ó õ ð ð ï ó
31



������

� ����

� � �              !       "  " " " "  !   � # � # $

$$$$$
�#

� � %���%
&

' '(

) ) )� � � � � * +, ,
-.

.
.

/ $

00000.1
2 ,

3 3 4 5 5 ....67 89:

; ; , <

= >
��

?�

� � � : � � �

@A A A A A AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA A A A A AA A A AA A A AA AA AA AA A A A A A A A A A A A A A A AB A A A A A A A A A AA A
PA-10

38.6 AC

MU-1

PA-1

41.6 AC

MU-2

PA-2

51.8 AC

R-M

PA-4

45.1 AC

R-M

PA-5

32.2 AC

R-M

PA-7

58.0 AC

R-M

PA-8

35.7 AC

R-M

PA-9

14.3 AC

MU-2

PA-3

3.3 AC

OS

PA-6

4.7 AC

OS

.........

��%����
%����

9777 977 8
>>>>

C D E F G H I J K L M I I G N I O I M HP J I Q M R S C D D T D D C U C T V WV D E M R M X I Y Q K Z N L [ I Z M \ I J ] J R Z M \^ L ^ I K L M I I G N I O I M H P J I Q M R S C D _ V D D _ ` _ U _ W

C D E F G H I J K L M I I G N I O I M HP J I Q M R S C D D T D D C U C T V W

C D E Z M \ I J ] J R Z M \ a L b I J R ^ H L QK L M I I G N I O I M H P J I Q M R S _ c _ T ` _ D W

C D E Z M \ I J ] J R Z M \ a L b I J R ^ H L QK L M I I G N I O I M H P b R R d _ V ` C ^ G ] I e U c W

C D E Z M \ I J ] J R Z M \ a L b I J R ^ H L QK L M I I G N I O I M H P b R R d _ V ` C ^ G ] I e U c W

` c E ^ J R ^ R N I \ J R F

C D E ^ I J O G M I M H I G N I O I M HP J I Q S M R S C D _ e D D e c V c e WC D E ^ I J O G M I M H I G N I O I M HP J I Q S M R S C D _ e D D c f V D V g C D _ e D D c f c f e W
I Y L N H L M ] ^ J R ^ I J H h K L M I

I Y L N H L M ] ^ J R ^ I J H h K L M I

I Y L N H L M ] ^ J R ^ I J H h K L M I

I Y L N H L M ] ^ J R ^ I J H h K L M I

I Y L N H L M ] ^ J R ^ I J H hK L M I

e c E R L K G M \] G N N I H b G Q d

i j k i
l m n o p q r m n s tuvwuxyzv{|}y~�

� � � � � � � � � � � � � �

I Y L N H L � ] ^ J R ^ I J H h K L � I

e c E R L K G � \ ] G NN I H b G Q d

SITE OUTFALL

SITE OUTFALL

x�{��
� � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � �

� � � � l

� � � � �
������ ���� 

¡¢

£ ¤ ¥ ¦ ¦ § ¦ ¨ ¥ © ª ¥ « ª ¤ § ¦ ª ¥ ¬ §  ¦

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

 G
R

A
D

IN
G

 P
L
A

N
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

1512

AM

AM

KR

® ¯ « ª ¬ ª ¦ ¬ §  ¦ £  ¦ « ° § ± § ¦ ¨ ¥ ¦ « ¤  ² ¥ ¬ §  ¦ ° ¥ © ª£ © ª ¤ § ³ § ¦ ¥ © ´ ¥ ¦ « µ § ¤ ¤ ¶ ª « ª ¬ ª © ³ § ¦ ª « « · © § ¦ ¨¬ ¸ ª ¹ § ¦ ¥ ¤ « ª º ª ¤  £ ³ ª ¦ ¬ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ » ¹ § ¦ ¥ ¤ £ ¤ ¥ ¬ » ¥ ¦ «²  ¦ ° ¬ © · ² ¬ §  ¦ «  ² · ³ ª ¦ ¬ £ ©  ² ª ° ° ¬ ¸ ©  · ¨ ¸¬ ¸ ª ¬  µ ¦  ¹ ¼  ¸ ¦ ° ¬  µ ¦ ¯½ ¯ ° ¬  © ³ « © ¥ § ¦ ¥ ¦ « « © ¥ § ¦ ¥ ¨ ª ° µ ¥ ¤ ª ¤  ² ¥ ¬ §  ¦ °¥ ¦ « ° § ± § ¦ ¨ ¥ © ª £ © ª ¤ § ³ § ¦ ¥ © ´ ¥ ¦ « µ § ¤ ¤ ¶ ª« ª ¬ ª © ³ § ¦ ª « « · © § ¦ ¨ ¬ ¸ ª ¹ § ¦ ¥ ¤ « ª º ª ¤  £ ³ ª ¦ ¬£ ¤ ¥ ¦ » ¹ § ¦ ¥ ¤ £ ¤ ¥ ¬ » ¥ ¦ « ²  ¦ ° ¬ © · ² ¬ §  ¦«  ² · ³ ª ¦ ¬ £ ©  ² ª ° ° ¬ ¸ ©  · ¨ ¸ ¬ ¸ ª ¬  µ ¦  ¹¼  ¸ ¦ ° ¬  µ ¦ ¯¾ ¯ ¬ ¸ ª ¬  £  ¨ © ¥ £ ¸ § ² ° · © º ª ´ ¥ ¦ « ¶  · ¦ « ¥ © ´° ¸  µ ¦ ¥ © ª ¶ ¥ ° ª «  ¦ ¬ ¸ ª ¹ § ª ¤ « ° · © º ª ´µ  © ¿  ¹ £ ¤ ° ¨ ©  · £ À £ ©  ¼ ª ² ¬ Á ® Â Ã Ä ½ ¯ Ã Ã ® Å ¯¹ § ª ¤ « ° · © º ª ´ µ ¥ ° ²  ³ £ ¤ ª ¬ ª «  ¦  © ¥ ©  · ¦ «¼ · ¦ ª ½ Â » ½ Ã ® Æ ¯Ä ¯ ° ª ª ° ¸ ª ª ¬ Ç ¹  © ©  ¥ « µ ¥ ´ ² ©  ° ° ° ª ² ¬ §  ¦ ° ¯È ¯ ¨ © ¥ « § ¦ ¨ ¥ ¦ « ¹ § ¦ § ° ¸ ª « ¨ © ¥ « ª ²  ¦ ¬  · © ° ¥ © ª²  ¦ ² ª £ ¬ · ¥ ¤ ¥ ¦ « ¨ ª ¦ ª © ¥ ¤ ¤ ´ ° ¸  µ § ¦ ¬ ª ¦ ¬¥ ¦ « ¥ £ £ ©  É § ³ ¥ ¬ ª ¹ ¤  µ £ ¥ ¬ ¸ ° ¯ ¹ § ¦ ¥ ¤ ¨ © ¥ « § ¦ ¨µ § ¤ ¤ ¶ ª « ª ¬ ª © ³ § ¦ ª « « · © § ¦ ¨ ¹ § ¦ ¥ ¤ « ª ° § ¨ ¦ ¯
Ê Ë Ì Í Î

Ï Í Ð Í Ê Ñ
ª É § ° ¬ § ¦ ¨ ³ § ¦  © ²  ¦ ¬  · ©ª É § ° ¬ § ¦ ¨ ³ ¥ ¼  © ²  ¦ ¬  · ©£ ©  £ ª © ¬ ´ ¤ § ¦ ª

Ò Ó Ô ÕÒ Ó Ö × £ ©  £  ° ª « ³ § ¦  © ²  ¦ ¬  · ©£ ©  £  ° ª « ³ ¥ ¼  © ²  ¦ ¬  · ©£ ©  £  ° ª « ² · © ¶ Ø ¨ · ¬ ¬ ª ©£ ©  £  ° ª « © ¯  ¯ µ ¯£ ©  £  ° ª « · ¬ § ¤ § ¬ ´ ª ¥ ° ª ³ ª ¦ ¬£ ©  £  ° ª « ¤ ¥ ¦ « ° ² ¥ £ ª ¶ · ¹ ¹ ª ©

Ó Õ Õ ÙÚ Û Ü Ý Þ ß Ó Õ Õ à á âÕ ã Õ Õ Ù

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

ääåäæåæçäèè éæêëì íî éïäð ñäòóôõöë÷øùëúûüïýëþþïýúÿúùïä ñôõöë÷øùëúûüÿúùùëôöïôøÿ ñ�þøôõëþúûôøùëû �þ�ô í

� � � � � � 	 
 � � � � � 
 � �  � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � � 
 	 
 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � 	 � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 �

MATCH LINE SHEET 11

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E
 SH

E
E
T

1
1 ° ¬  © ³ ° ª µ ª © « © ¥ § ¦� « © ¥ § ¦ ¥ ¨ ª ° µ ¥ ¤ ª¹ ¤  µ ¥ © ©  µ

32



5' SIDE SETBACK

110' IN THIS EXAMPLE

10' MIN REAR SETBACK

5'
 M

IN

25' ACCESS / UTILITY EASEMENT

16' MIN

FLOW

LINE TO

FLOW
LINE

1
1

0
' I

N
 T

H
IS

 E
X

A
M

P
LE

10' FRONT SETBACK

5' SIDEWALK

5' MIN. SIDE YARD

5' MIN. PORCH SETBACK

30' MIN GARAGE

SEPARATION

5'

25' ACCESS / UTILITY EASEMENT
10' SIDE CORNER SETBACK

5' MIN.

5' MIN SIDE SETBACK

23' MIN

FLOW

LINE TO

FLOW

LINE

5' SIDEWALK

1
1
5
' I

N
 T

H
IS

 E
X

A
M

P
LE

124' IN THIS EXAMPLE

10' MIN. BUILDING SEPARATION

10' MIN.
FRONT

SETBACK

30' MIN GARAGE

SEPARATION

10' MIN.
FRONT

SETBACK

10'

MIN.

SIDE

SETBACK

(CORNER)

D
R

IV
E
W

A
Y

15' MIN. REAR SETBACK

 8' TREE LAWN

5' SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PUBLIC STREET

10' FRONT SETBACK

5'

FRONT

SETBACK

TO

COVERED

PORCH

PORCH

10' MIN. BUILDING

SEPARATION

5' MIN. SIDE SETBACK

20' MIN. FRONT

SETBACK TO

GARAGE

D
R

IV
E
W

A
Y

D
R

IV
E
W

A
Y

GARAGE

PORCH

PROPERTY
LINE

ALLEY

3' MIN. SETBACK

(ALLEY LOADED )

PROPERTY
LINE

PUBLIC STREET

ZERO LOT

LINE

 8' TREE LAWN

5' SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PUBLIC STREET

ZERO LOT

LINE

D
R

IV
E
W

A
Y

D
R

IV
E
W

A
Y

20'

MIN.
10' MIN.

10' MIN.

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

�  ! " # $ % & ' ( $ ! # &  ' ) * + , " ' % + - * #  . ' ( / & 0 1 " ' % , '  2 # / * 2 " ' 3 $ - 4 . $ ( #  5 # / $ ( & 6 # / 0 2 & ' ! & 0 " � 7 $ 2 & % & " ' * & ' 8  / ' ( #  . ' * !  9 ' # & $ (  5 . $ � % " ' % � " 2 & 7 $ 2 * ( # " # $  5 !  �  2 " %  

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

::;:<;=>:?: @>:AB CA @DAEFGGHEFIJKLFGHMDNMHFGAE
FOIP QLHEGRDSFJDPTUBOGGFEPDNAVWJAD
NAV QWJA QJHVHEWABHIG QPGFIJFMJP XJLN C

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

D
E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
S

13

Y Z [ Z \ ] ^ _ Z ` a b a c ` Y c d Y be f e g h i j k l h k m g e n l n l o l p k q q m h i e q g r r s r t l g i e p u q vs j g l w n e h l q v e p x y e z y r { | j p x r | q e g l w l g o j k k l x e } ~ � j p h il p h g r e h i o l p k j p k r y m j n x j p u q l w e g e k j r p q f p r w r g k j r p r sk i l q k g m h k m g l e y r t l u g r m p x o e z l p h g r e h i j p k r k i lk i g l l � s r r k y m j n x j p u k r w g r w l g k z n j p l q l k y e h � | j k i r m ko r x j s j h e k j r p e p x y m j n x j p u x l w e g k o l p k g l t j l | e p xe w w g r t e n f r k i l g q m y q m g s e h l e g h i j k l h k m g e n l n l o l p k qj p h n m x j p u q k g m h k m g e n l n l o l p k q r s k i l y m j n x j p us r m p x e k j r p o e z l p h g r e h i j p k r y m j n x j p u q l w e g e k j r p q r gq l k y e h � q w g r t j x l x k i e k q m h i l n l o l p k q g l o e j p l p k j g l n z| j k i j p k i l n r k m w r p | i j h i k i l z r g j u j p e k l x f s r m p x e k j r p| e n n q e g l p r k w l g o j k k l x | j k i j p e p z q l k y e h � q fm p l p h n r q l x x l h � q o e z l p h g r e h i j p k r g l e g q l k y e h � q y m kq i e n n y l n r h e k l x p r h n r q l g k i e p � � � � k l p s l l k � s g r o k i lg l e g w g r w l g k z n j p l y m k q i e n n p r k l p h g r e h i j p k r e m k j n j k zl e q l o l p k f x l h � q q i e n n p r k l p h g r e h i j p k r q j x l q l k y e h � fy f e � l g r n r k n j p l o e z y l m k j n j � l x | i l p e o e j p k l p e p h ll e q l o l p k e p x q j x l z e g x l e q l o l p k q e g l l { l h m k l x q m y � l h kk r j f y f h f g l � m j g l o l p k q fh f q l k y e h � o l e p q k i l i r g j � r p k e n x j q k e p h l y l k | l l p e p zq k g m h k m g l e p x k i l l q k e y n j q i l x q k g l l k g j u i k � r s � | e z n j p lr g w g r w l g k z n j p l fx f q j p u n l s e o j n z x l k e h i l x � q s x � e p x q j p u n l s e o j n z e k k e h i l x� q s e � s g r p k n r e x l x u e g e u l q g l � m j g l e o j p j o m o � � �x g j t l | e z s g r o k i l u e g e u l s e h l k r k i l y e h � r s | e n � fl f e p z n e p x m q l r s e n r | l g x l p q j k z o e z y l x l t l n r w l x | j k i j pe i j u i l g x l p q j k z w e g h l n e q n r p u e q j k s r n n r | q q k e p x e g x qr s k i l n r | l g x l p q j k z n j q k l x j p k i l k e y n l q fs f e n n l z n r e x l x q j p u n l s e o j n z g l q j x l p k j e n o e z s g r p k r p e pe g k l g j e n q k g l l k | j k i e w w g r t e n r s k i l w n e p p j p u e p xx l t l n r w o l p k x j g l h k r g f

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   � � �   � � � � � � � � � �   � � ¡ � � ¢ � � � � � � � � � � �   � � �   � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

£ \ ¤ b a Z d ¥ ] _ Z Z ¦ c _ ^ \ Z § ¨ _ ] a ] d £ ] ¤ d a

c \ \ Z © \ ] c Y b ª ` « \ Z ¬ c _ ª \ © Y Z a c £ ¥ Z Y a © ^ ª £ c \£ \ ¤ b a Z d ¥ ] _ Z Z ¦ c _ ^ \ Z c ¨ « d Z Z ` £ ] ¤ d a ¬ d ] ` a \ ] c Y b ª ` « \ Z ¬ c _ ª \ © Y Z a c £ ¥ Z Y a © ^ ª £ c \

 Z d ] \ ] a \ ª ` Z a © ^ ª £ c \

33



D
E
SI

G
N

 G
U

ID
E
L
IN

E
S

14

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

�  ! " # $ % & ' ( $ ! # &  ' ) * + , " ' % + - * #  . ' ( / & 0 1 " ' % , '  2 # / * 2 " ' 3 $ - 4 . $ ( #  5 # / $ ( & 6 # / 0 2 & ' ! & 0 " � 7 $ 2 & % & " ' * & ' 8  / ' ( #  . ' * !  9 ' # & $ (  5 . $ � % " ' % � " 2 & 7 $ 2 * ( # " # $  5 !  �  2 " %  

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

::;:<;=>:?: @>:AB CA @DAEFGGHEFIJKLFGHMDNMHFGAE
FOIP QLHEGRDSFJDPTUBOGGFEPDNAVWJAD
NAV QWJA QJHPONI QNTOJHEOIHP XJLN C

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

® ¯ ° ± ² ³ ² ´ ± ® ¯ µ ± ³ ¯ °¶ · ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ½ ¹ ¸ ¾ ¿ À Á ¹ ¼ ¾ ½º Â º Ã ¹ · ¹ Ä Å Ä ½ ¹ ¾ Æ ¼ ½ ¹ Ä ½ ¹u g l e k w n e j p q t j n n e u l j q e Ç � � e h g l o e q k l g � w n e p p l xh r o o m p j k z n r h e k l x l e q k r s j p k l g q k e k l } Ç f k i lw g r w l g k z j q y r m p x r p k i l l e q k y z j p k l g q e k l } Ç v | l n xh r m p k z g r e x Ç � � | h g Ç � � È n e g j o l g h r m p k z g r e x � ~ � n h g� ~ � y j q l h k k i l q j k l e p x q l g t l q e q k i l q r m k i l g py r m p x e g z s r g w r g k j r p q r s k i l w g r � l h k f k i j q o j { l x m q lw g r � l h k j p h n m x l q w e g h l n q x l q j u p e k l x s r g o m n k j w n lk z w l q r s g l q j x l p k j e n v g l k e j n v h r o o l g h j e n v n j u i kj p x m q k g j e n e p x r s s j h l m q l q f k i l q l x l q j u p u m j x l n j p l qq l l � k r w g r t j x l e h n l e g x j g l h k j r p s r g q m y q l � m l p kx l t l n r w o l p k q | j k i j p k i l n e g u l g | i r n l f k i l r t l g e n nh i e g e h k l g r s u g l e k w n e j p q t j n n e u l o m q k y l l t j x l p k e p xo e j p k e j p l x k r l p q m g l k i l � m e n j k z e p x h r i l q j t l p l q qx l q j g l x j p k i j q l o l g u j p u w e g k r s p r g k i l g p h r n r g e x r fk i l u m j x l n j p l q q l g t l e q e x l q j u p h r p h l w k s r g k i l s j p e nw m x f i j u i � m e n j k z x l t l n r w o l p k j q l p h r m g e u l x e n r p uk i l j p k l g q k e k l } Ç h r g g j x r g j p u l p l g e n e p x i j u i w n e j p qy r m n l t e g x j p w e g k j h m n e g f u g l e k w n e j p q t j n n e u l | j n n y lt j q j y n l s g r o k i l j p k l g q k e k l e p x j k q x l t l n r w o l p k | j n ns r g o e s j g q k j o w g l q q j r p r s k i l h r o o m p j k z fk i l x l q j u p u m j x l n j p l q q i e n n y l m k j n j � l x y z g l q j x l p k q vx l t l n r w l g q v e g h i j k l h k q v l p u j p l l g q e p x w n e p p l g q s r gx l q j u p e p x h r p q k g m h k j r p x j g l h k j r p | j k i j p k i j q e g l e fe n n x l t l n r w o l p k q | j k i j p u g l e k w n e j p q t j n n e u l e g lq m y � l h k k r k i l x l q j u p u m j x l n j p l q h r p k e j p l x i l g l j p f j ph e q l q | i l g l k i j q x r h m o l p k j q q j n l p k v k i l k r | p r s� r i p q k r | p q k e p x e g x q e p x g l u m n e k j r p q e w w n z f¶ · ¸ ¹ É » Ê Ä ½ Ä ¸ · Ë ¿ Ä Ã ¼ Ê ½ Ê À ¼ ¿ Ä Ë ¼ ½ Ä ÃÉ Â º · ¶ ¶ Ë ¼ Á · Ì ¼ Ë ¼ ¹ Ík i j q q l h k j r p e w w n j l q k r e n n x l t l n r w o l p k | j k i j p u g l e kw n e j p q t j n n e u l e p x w g r t j x l q u l p l g e n q k e p x e g x q m w r p| i j h i k i l q m y q l � m l p k q l h k j r p q | j n n y m j n x k r w g r t j x lu g l e k l g h n e g j k z s r g q w l h j s j h n e p x m q l q f e n n u r t l g p j p un r h e n h r x l q v g l u m n e k j r p q v e p x q k e k m k l q l p s r g h l x y zk i l k r | p r s � r i p q k r | p | j n n e w w n z fÎ Ï Î Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ñ Ö × Ò ØÙ Ú Ù Ú Û Ü Ý Þ ß à á Ý â ã ß ã à ä å Þ â æ ä Þ á ä â Ü ã àç è è é ê ë ê è ì í î ê ï ð ñ ò ç è è é ê î ì ï ñ ð ó ç ð ê ç é ò ê ó ê ï ô ê ð ìð ò ê õ ì è è ì ö ÷ ï ø è ç ï é ñ ô ç í ê é ê ñ ÷ ø ï í ó ÷ ï ô ÷ í è ê ñ ù
·

é ê ñ ÷ ø ï ð ì í ó ì ë ÷ é ê ç ï ç ð ð ó ç ô ð ÷ ë ê ú ô ì î õ ì ó ð ç û è êê ï ë ÷ ó ì ï î ê ï ð õ ì ó ü ñ ê ó ñ ö ò ÷ è ê î ÷ ï ÷ î ÷ ý ÷ ï øî ç ÷ ï ð ê ï ç ï ô ê ï ê ê é ñ ú ÷ ó ó ÷ ø ç ð ÷ ì ï ö ç ð ê óó ê þ ü ÷ ó ê î ê ï ð ñ ç ï é ð ò ê ü ñ ê ì õ ò ê ó û ÷ ô ÷ é ê ñ ç ï éí ê ñ ð ÷ ô ÷ é ê ñ ÿ
·

é ê ñ ÷ ø ï è ç ï é ñ ô ç í ê ñ ð ì ô ó ê ç ð ê ç ï ç ð ü ó ç è ÷ ý ê éç í í ê ç ó ç ï ô ê ÿ ü ñ ê í è ç ï ð î ç ð ê ó ÷ ç è ñ ð ò ç ð ç ó ê÷ ï é ÷ ø ê ï ì ü ñ ð ì ï ì ó ð ò ê ó ï ô ì è ì ó ç é ì ö ò ê ó ê í ì ñ ñ ÷ û è ê ÿì ï è � ü ñ ê ÷ ï ð ó ì é ü ô ê é ñ í ê ô ÷ ê ñ ÷ ï ì ó é ê ó ð ì ç ô ò ÷ ê ë êé ê ñ ÷ ø ï ì û � ê ô ð ÷ ë ê ñ ð ò ç ð ô ç ï ï ì ð û ê ç ô ò ÷ ê ë ê é ö ÷ ð òð ò ê ü ñ ê ì õ ï ç ð ÷ ë ê ñ í ê ô ÷ ê ñ ÿ
·

ô ì ì ó é ÷ ï ç ð ê ð ò ê é ê ñ ÷ ø ï ì õ ð ò ê è ç ï é ñ ô ç í ê ö ÷ ð ò ñ ÷ ð êê ó ì ñ ÷ ì ï í ó ì ð ê ô ð ÷ ì ï ú ñ ð ì ó î é ó ç ÷ ï ç ø ê ç ï é ö ç ð ê óþ ü ç è ÷ ð � ÷ î í ó ì ë ê î ê ï ð ñ � ñ ð ê î ñ ÿ
·

é ê ñ ÷ ø ï ç ï é î ç ï ç ø ê ÷ ó ó ÷ ø ç ð ÷ ì ï ñ � ñ ð ê î ñ ð ì ç ô ò ÷ ê ë êí ê ç � ê õ õ ÷ ô ÷ ê ï ô � ÿ� � � � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � � � � �  � �u g l e k w n e j p q t j n n e u l l p k g j l q | j n n h r p k e j p y r k i q j u p e u le p x n e p x q h e w j p u k i e k k j l j p k r k i l r t l g e n nx l t l n r w o l p k q k g l l k q h e w l x l q j u p f k i l n e p x m q l w n e pj n n m q k g e k l q k i l o e � r g e p x o j p r g l p k g j l q j p k r k i l q j k l fj p r g x l g k r h g l e k l e p e w w g r w g j e k l n e p x q h e w lh r g g j x r g e n r p u | h g Ç � È n h g � ~ e p x i j u i w n e j p q y n t x f vn e g u l o e q q l q r s k g l l q e p x q i g m y q e g l g l � m j g l x f k i lg j u i k � r s � | e z � g r | � | j n n y l w g j o e g j n z x g r m u i k �k r n l g e p k k m g s r g j g g j u e k l x p e k j t l q l l x f k i j qk g l e k o l p k | j n n k g e p q j k j r p k r x g j s k q r sq i g m y È w l g l p p j e n y l x q e p x k g l l u g r m w j p u q k i e ko l e p x l g s g r o � m q k j p q j x l k i l g r | k r k i l l x u l r sn e p x q h e w l y m s s l g q e p x y e h � f k i l u r e n j q k r e t r j x eq k g e j u i k � n j p l k g l e k o l p k e k k i l l x u l r s k i l g r | f | e n � q| j n n y l x l k e h i l x e p x o l e p x l g | j k i j p k i l g r | e p xr m k q j x l r s k i l g r | j p k r k i l n e p x q h e w l y m s s l g j sx l q j g l x f o l x j e p q | j n n y l w n e p k l x j p e q j o j n e g s e q i j r p r g| j n n y l h r p q k g m h k l x r s h r n r g l x � q k e o w l x h r p h g l k l� q i l l k � Ç v l { i j y j k e � f

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �  ! � " # $ � %  & % ! � � � � ' ( # � � & (  # % )  % & &  ) * ! � � + & % & �  & ' ! � � ) ! , ! � � % $ � ) - ! # � ! � # % ' & %  # ( % & �  & �. � ! $ ! & ' � � ' ) ! " � ! $ ! ( � �  )  % & &  ) ( � � & ! , � " & /  - &)  % & &  ) ( � � & ' & ) ! " � ) - � � � & , � - � ) ! 0 & 1 & % ! ) ( � � &� % ! � ( ! � � & ) � � ' � . � ! 2 . & � # # 3  - �  ) &  ) * & �  4 % ! ' " &� � � %  /  % & & ) � � ' � & % & � � ! � � ) ) - � � � + & � � � �  & ' * !  - ! � - & � . + � ! ( % # * 5 * - ! � & ) - % . + ) , � 4 + & � � � �  & ' # .  ) ! ' & - & � . + � ! ( % # * / , & ' ! � � ) * ! � � + & � � � �  & ' ! � � ) ! , ! � � %$ � ) - ! # � # % * ! � � + & ( # � )  % . (  & ' # $ ( # � # % & ' 6 )  � , � & '( # � ( % &  & /� � � � � � � � � � 7 8 � � � 9 � : ; < < � � �� = > ? � @ & % � " & � � � ' ) ( � � & + . $ $ & % * ! � � + & � % # @ ! ' & ' � � # � "* ( % A > B � ( % C D � � ' - ! " - � � � ! � ) + � @ ' / * !  - � , ! � ! , . ,* ! '  - # $ E > ? /� � F G � 8 � � � � 7 � � � � 7 � � �� # � � � �  ! � " # @ & % = > H ! � - & ! " -  ) - � � � # ( ( . % * !  - ! � �) ! " -  ' ! )  � � ( & � ! � & ) / % & $ & %  # � � ) -  # % & 2 . ! % & , & �  )% & " � % ' ! � " ) ! " -  ' ! )  � � ( &  % ! � � " � & ) /Î Ï I Ö Ñ J K Ô L M Ö N Ò Ñ J N Ñ L J N Ø × M Ò Ñ Ð Ó N O N Ò O × M Ò Ñ Ò ÓÒ Ñ O P J Ñ Ð Ñ J N Ñ Ô - & ' & ) ! " � # $ � � % 3 ) 5 # � & � � % & � 5 ' &  & �  ! # � � � ' � �  . % � �� % & � ) ) - � � � , & &   - & ( % !  & % ! � � ) & )  � + � ! ) - & ' ! �  - &Q # - � )  # * � B , ! � � ! 3 & � � � % 3 ) 5  % � ! � ) 5 % & ( % & �  ! # � � � ' # � & �) � � ( & � � � � / $ ! � � � ' & @ & � # � , & �  � � � � ) , � 4 + & ) . + , !   & '! � )  � " & ) + 4 � - � ) & / � ) ) . ( - 5  - & # � & � � % & � ' & ) ! " � 5� � � % # @ � � � � ' � � � ' ) ( � � & ! � )  � � � �  ! # � * ! � � # ( ( . % � ) - & � #  ) ' & @ & � # � /Î Ï R Ô × O N Ô × Ø Ò Ñ Ø N� � S � T � U � � V � �k i l r y � l h k j t l r s k i l u g l e k w n e j p q t j n n e u l q j u p e u lw g r u g e o j q k r i l n w k r h g l e k l e m p j s j l x j o e u l s r g k i lh r o o m p j k z fe n n s g l l q k e p x j p u q j u p e u l | j k i j p k i l x l t l n r w o l p k | j n ny l e g k i l q k z n l e p x n r u r r s u g l e k w n e j p q t j n n e u l vi r | l t l g j p x j t j x m e n n r u r q e p x u g e w i j h q e g l e n n r | l xr p k i l q j u p s e h l f s g l l q k e p x j p u q j u p q n r h e k l xk i g r m u i r m k k i l x l t l n r w o l p k e g l m p j s j l x k i g r m u i k i lm q l r s q j o j n e g u l r o l k g z e p x e g l w l k j k j r p r s e h r o o r po e k l g j e n q w e n l k k l fy m j n x j p u o r m p k l x q j u p q e g l g l u m n e k l x y z n j o j k j p u q j � l fi r | l t l g v k l p e p k n r u r q e p x u g e w i j h q e g l e n n r | l x f k i lq j u p e u l g l � m j g l o l p k q e g l h r p u g m l p k | j k i k i l k r | pr s � r i p q k r | p q j u p h r x l f e p z t e g j e k j r p q e g l p r k l x fp r y n j p � j p u n j u i k q j u p e u l | j n n y l e n n r | l x fo m n k j � k l p e p k s g l l q k e p x j p u q j u p q e n r p u * ( % A > B � ( % C D� � ' - ! " - � � � ! � ) + � @ ' / | j n n o l l k k i l k r | p h r x l f j s et e g j e k j r p s g r o k i l h r x l j q g l � m j g l x e o e q k l g q j u p e u lw n e p | j n n y l w g r t j x l x fÎ Ï W X N Ò Õ × Ò Ø Y Z Ñ Ð Ð Ô[ \ ] ^ _ ` ^ _ a ^ b c _ ` d ] [ [ e f g ] h ` e ^ _ g \ e ^ _ i j b g k ^ ] ` j b e b] _ i l j b g h e m ^ _ d ` [ c ] g e i n [ \ ] ^ _ ` ^ _ a ^ b _ c g f e k l ^ g g e i ^ _] _ d c g \ e k j b e n c g \ e k o e _ [ ^ _ p l ] g e k ^ ] ` b b j [ \ ] bb ^ l j ` ] g e i q k c j p \ g ^ k c _ ] _ i r c k [ c _ [ k e g e c kl ] b c _ k d l ] d h e k e s j ^ k e i i e f e _ i ^ _ p j f c _ b [ k e e _ ^ _ p_ e e i b ] _ i [ c l f ] g ^ h ^ ` ^ g d q ^ g \ ] i t ] [ e _ g j b e b n _ c q c c ik e g ] ^ _ ^ _ p q ] ` ` b ] k e ] ` ` c q e i u _ c _ k e b ^ i e _ g ^ ] ` c _ ` d v no e _ [ ^ _ p ] _ i q ] ` ` b b \ ] ` ` l ] g [ \ h j ^ ` i ^ _ p ] k [ \ ^ g e [ g j k e nÎ Ï w Ó J × x N y O z J M P Ø z X Ñ Õ × Ð × O × N Ô{ | } ~ � � � � | � � � � � � � } � } � } � � � | � � � � � ~ � � } � � � � � | ~ } � � �� � � � ~ � | � � � � � � � � � | � � � � � � | | } � | � � � � � { � � � | } � �� � ~ � � � � � � � { � | � � � � � � � � � � � � | � � � } ~ � � � � � � | � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � | � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   � � � � ¡   � � � ¢� £ � ¤ � � � £ � � � � ¥ � � � � ¥ � ¦ § � � � ¨ �   £ � �   � � � �   ¡ © � � �  £ �   � � �   � � ¨ � � � ¨ ª � ¡ � � � � � � �   § � � � � ¨   ¡ ©   � �� ¡ £ � � � � � � £ � « � � £ � § � � � �   � ¬   £ © � � � � � � � ¢

Ö Ñ J O I y J N Ô × Ó N Ò O × Ñ Ð Ó × Ô O J × Õ O Ôð ò ê ñ ê ñ ð ç ï é ç ó é ñ ó ê í ó ê ñ ê ï ð î ÷ ï ÷ î ü î ç ó ô ò ÷ ð ê ô ð ü ó ê ç ï éé ê ë ê è ì í î ê ï ð ñ ð ç ï é ç ó é ñ õ ì ó ð ò ê ó ê ñ ÷ é ê ï ð ÷ ç è é ÷ ñ ð ó ÷ ô ð ñ÷ ï ç ï ê õ õ ì ó ð ð ì ô ó ê ç ð ê ç ô ì ò ê ñ ÷ ë ê ì ë ê ó ç è è ø ó ê ç ðí è ç ÷ ï ñ ë ÷ è è ç ø ê é ê ë ê è ì í î ê ï ð ç ô ó ì ñ ñ î ü è ð ÷ í è ê û ü ÷ è é ê ó ñç ï é í ó ì é ü ô ð ñ ÿ ç é é ÷ ð ÷ ì ï ç è ç ó ô ò ÷ ð ê ô ð ü ó ç è ñ ð ç ï é ç ó é ñî ç � û ê ÷ ï ô è ü é ê é ç ñ î ì ó ê é ê ð ç ÷ è ê é í ó ê è ÷ î ÷ ï ç ó � ç ï éõ ÷ ï ç è é ê ë ê è ì í î ê ï ð í è ç ï ñ ç ó ê ô ó ê ç ð ê é õ ì ó ê ç ô òí è ç ï ï ÷ ï ø ç ó ê ç ú í ò ç ñ ê ú ç ï é  ì ó ó ê ñ ÷ é ê ï ð ÷ ç è í ó ì é ü ô ð ÿI Ï ® Ô × Ò Ø Ð N X Ñ ¯ × Ð ° Ñ O O Ñ Õ z N Ó Ñ Ò Ó Ó N O Ñ Õ z N ÓÑ J Õ z × O N Õ O P J Ñ Ð Ô O Ñ Ò Ó Ñ J Ó Ô± � T � T 
 � � ²  	 
 ³  ²  � ´e n n q j p µ n l � s e o j n z x l k e h ¶ l x e p x e k k e h ¶ l x x | l n n j p µ qq ¶ e n n h r p s r g o k r e n n e w w n j h e y n l g l � m j g l o l p k q r sk ¶ l q l x l t l n r w o l p k q k e p x e g x q v e q | l n n e q e w w n j h e y n lg l � m j g l o l p k q r s k ¶ l e x r w k l x y m j n x j p µ h r x lg l � m j g l o l p k q f± � T � � � · � � �  V � 	 ¸ 
 � � � �l { k l g j r g o e k l g j e n h ¶ e p µ l q q ¶ r m n x r h h m g e k h ¶ e p µ l qj p k ¶ l w n e p l r s k ¶ l y m j n x j p µ v p r k l { h n m q j t l n z e k k ¶ lr m k q j x l h r g p l g q f± � T � ± � 
 � 
 � � �e n n q j p µ n l s e o j n z x l k e h ¶ l x ¶ r o l q q ¶ e n n j p h n m x l eo j p j o m o } � h e g µ e g e µ l v l j k ¶ l g e k k e h ¶ l x r g x l k e h ¶ l x v e qw e g k r s k ¶ l p l | h r p q k g m h k j r p r g w n e h l o l p k f± � T � S � � V � U 	 � ¹ 
 �  
 �  V �· ¶ ¶ Ë ¼ Á · Ì ¼ Ë ¼ ¹ Í ºk ¶ l s r n n r | j p µ ¶ r m q j p µ o r x l n t e g j l k z q k e p x e g x q q ¶ e n ne w w n z k r e n n p l | g l q j x l p k j e n q m y x j t j q j r p q e p xx l t l n r w o l p k q f k ¶ l q l q k e p x e g x q e g l j p k l p x l x k rw g l t l p k o r p r k r p r m q q k g l l k q h e w l q e p x r s s l gh r p q m o l g q e | j x l h ¶ r j h l r s ¶ r m q j p µ q k z n l q fl e h ¶ ¶ r m q j p µ o r x l n q ¶ e n n w g r t j x l e p x l { ¶ j y j k e k n l e q kk ¶ g l l s l e k m g l q k ¶ e k h n l e g n z e p x r y t j r m q n zx j q k j p µ m j q ¶ k ¶ l o s g r o r k ¶ l g ¶ r m q j p µ o r x l n q f k ¶ l q ls l e k m g l q h e p j p h n m x l e p z r s k ¶ l s r n n r | j p µ »� f y m j n x j p µ o e q q � y m j n x j p µ o e q q j q h r p q j x l g l x k r y lk ¶ l r m k n j p l r s k ¶ l q k g m h k m g l f k ¶ j q j qx l k l g o j p l x y z k ¶ l ¶ l j µ ¶ k v | j x k ¶ v e p x x l w k ¶ r sk ¶ l q k g m h k m g l f} f y m j n x j p µ s r g o � y m j n x j p µ s r g o j q h r p q j x l g l x k ry l k ¶ l q k z n l r s k ¶ l ¶ r o l v j p h n m x j p µ g e p h ¶ vk g j � n l t l n r g k | r � q k r g z q k g m h k m g l q f¼ f g r r s k z w l � g r r s k z w l q h r p q j q k r s o e p q e g x v ¶ j w vµ e o y g l n v µ e y n l v e p x s g r p k � k r � y e h � � q ¶ l x q k z n l � fx j s s l g l p k j e k j r p o e z e n q r y l e h ¶ j l t l x k ¶ g r m µ ¶k ¶ l m q l r s g r r s x r g o l g q v µ e y n l q v e p x ¶ j w q f s n e kr g e � s g e o l q g r r s q q ¶ r m n x y l e t r j x l x m p n l q qe w w g r w g j e k l k r k ¶ l e g h ¶ j k l h k m g e n q k z n l f~ f | j p x r | q e p x x r r g q � k ¶ l t l g k j h e n r g ¶ r g j � r p k e nt e g j e k j r p j p k ¶ l w n e h l o l p k r s e k n l e q k k | r| j p x r | q e p x È r g x r r g q r p k ¶ l s g r p k s e h e x ll n l t e k j r p r g | j p x r | q ¶ e w l q k ¶ e k e g lq m y q k e p k j e n n z x j s s l g l p k f k ¶ j q q k e p x e g x e n q re w w n j l q k r e p z l n l t e k j r p s e h j p µ e q k g l l k v r w l pq w e h l r g w m y n j h È w g j t e k l w e g � fÇ f k ¶ l m q l r s e k n l e q k k | r x j s s l g l p k o e k l g j e n q r pk ¶ l s g r p k s e h e x l l n l t e k j r p f½ f µ e g e µ l q f t e g j e k j r p j p k ¶ l n r h e k j r p e p x È r gw g r w r g k j r p r s µ e g e µ l q e p x µ e g e µ l x r r g q v q m h ¶e q e n n l z � n r e x l x µ e g e µ l q v q j x l � n r e x l x µ e g e µ l q vl k h f � } � h e g µ e g e µ l t q f ¼ � h e g µ e g e µ l r s k ¶ l q e o ll n l t e k j r p x r p r k o l l k k ¶ l j p k l p k � f¾ f t e g j e k j r p q j p k ¶ l n r h e k j r p v | j x k ¶ v e p xw g r w r g k j r p r s s g r p k w r g h ¶ l q � o j p f q j � l ½ � ¿ ½ � � f� f o j p r g h r q o l k j h h ¶ e p µ l q q m h ¶ e q x j s s l g l p k w e j p kh r n r g v g l t l g q j p µ r g h g l e k j p µ o j g g r g l x j o e µ l qr s k ¶ l l { k l g j r g e g h ¶ j k l h k m g e n l n l t e k j r p q vq ¶ m k k l g q v x l h r g e k j t l y g e h � l k q v r g m q j p µx j s s l g l p k y g j h � r g q k r p l h r n r g q ¶ e n n p r k o l l kk ¶ l j p k l p k r s k ¶ j q q l h k j r p f

k ¶ l q e o l ¶ r m q j p µ o r x l n | j k ¶ k ¶ l j x l p k j h e n q k g l l kl n l t e k j r p x l q j µ p � r g p l e g n z j x l p k j h e n � q ¶ e n n p r k y lw n e h l x n l q q k ¶ e p k ¶ g l l e | e z r g x j g l h k n z e h g r q q k ¶ lq k g l l k s g r o r p l e p r k ¶ l g f À e h g r q q k ¶ l q k g l l k Á j qx l s j p l x e q n r k q k ¶ e k r t l g n e w l e h ¶ r k ¶ l g | ¶ l p k ¶ lq j x l n r k n j p l q e g l l { k l p x l x e h g r q q k ¶ l q k g l l k k r k ¶ lr w w r q j k l n r k f k ¶ l q e o l ¶ r m q j p µ o r x l n m q l x e k k ¶ l l p xr s r p l y n r h � q ¶ e n n p r k y l g l w l e k l x r p k ¶ l s j g q k n r kr s k ¶ l p l j µ ¶ y r g j p µ y n r h � fj x l p k j h e n r g p l e g n z j x l p k j h e n q k g l l k l n l t e k j r p x l q j µ po l e p q n j k k n l r g p r t e g j e k j r p j p k ¶ l e g k j h m n e k j r p r s k ¶ ls e Â e x l v ¶ l j µ ¶ k r g | j x k ¶ r s k ¶ l s e Â e x l v w n e h l o l p k r sk ¶ l w g j o e g z l p k g e p h l q v w r g h ¶ l q v p m o y l g e p xw n e h l o l p k r s | j p x r | q v e p x r k ¶ l g o e � r ge g h ¶ j k l h k m g e n s l e k m g l q fÃ Â É Á Ë À Ã ¹ Ä ¸ Ä ¿ Ã ¼ ½ Ê Ë Ä Æ · Å ¼ Ë Í ¸ Ä Ã ¼ ¿ Ä ½ ¹ ¼ · Ë· ¸ Á Ä ¼ ¹ Ä Á ¹ À ¸ · Ë Ã ¹ · ½ ¿ · ¸ ¿ Ã± � � � T � � � � � 
 ²h n m q k l g ¶ r o l q e x � e h l p k k r e w m y n j h q k g l l k e p xn r h e k l x r p e o r k r g h r m g k r g µ g l l p h r m g k q ¶ e n n ¶ e t le q j x l s e h j p µ µ e g e µ l f k ¶ l µ e g e µ l q ¶ e n n s e h l k ¶ l o r k r gh r m g k r g q ¶ e g l x x g j t l p r k k ¶ l w m y n j h q k g l l k � q ¶ l l k � } vl { ¶ j y j k y � f± � � � � 
 	 	 � � �j s s r m g r g s l | l g m p j k q e h h l q q s g r o e q ¶ e g l x x g j t l vk ¶ l o j p j o m o x g j t l | j x k ¶ j q � ½ s l l k � q l l h n m q k l g ¶ r o ll { e o w n l y � o r k r g h r m g k r p q ¶ l l k � ¼ � f j s Ç r g o r g lm p j k q e h h l q q r s s e h r o o r p x g j t l k ¶ l o j p j o m o x g j t l| j x k ¶ j q } ¼ s l l k � q l l h n m q k l g ¶ r o l l { e o w n l e � µ g l l ph r m g k r p q ¶ l l k � ¼ � fµ e g e µ l q s e h j p µ r p k r q ¶ e g l x x g j t l q o m q k ¶ e t l eo j p j o m o s e h l k r s e h l q l w e g e k j r p r s ¼ � s l l k f± � T � ± Å 
 	 
 � � �l { k l g j r g s e h e x l q q ¶ e n n h r o w n z | j k ¶ k ¶ l h m g g l p kq k e p x e g x q e p x x l q j µ p µ m j x l n j p l q l { h l w k e q s r n n r | q »j p r g x l g k r y l h r p q j x l g l x e x j q k j p h k l n l t e k j r p v l e h ¶l n l t e k j r p q ¶ e n n j p h r g w r g e k l e k n l e q k k ¶ g l l r s k ¶ ls r n n r | j p µ »� f w n e h l o l p k r s | j p x r | q r p k ¶ l s g r p k s e Â e x ll n l t e k j r p j p h n m x l e k n l e q k e k | r � s r r k t l g k j h e nr g ¶ r g j � r p k e n t e g j e k j r p j p q j � l r g n r h e k j r p f} f k ¶ l m q l r s x j s s l g l p k o e k l g j e n q r g t e g j e k j r p q r sk ¶ l q e o l o e k l g j e n r p k ¶ l s g r p k s e Â e x ll n l t e k j r p f¼ f t e g j e k j r p q j p s g r p k w n e p l f~ f t e g j e k j r p j p g r r s k z w l v µ e y n l e p x ¶ j w fp r o r g l k ¶ e p k | r � } � r s k ¶ l q e o l o r x l n l n l t e k j r p q e g lw l g o j k k l x | j k ¶ j p e o r k r g r g µ g l l p h r m g k f j s k | ro r x l n l n l t e k j r p q e g l n r h e k l x | j k ¶ j p k ¶ l q e o l o r k r gh r m g k k ¶ l z o m q k m q l x j s s l g l p k h r n r g q r g o e k l g j e n q fp r ¶ r o l o r x l n l n l t e k j r p q ¶ e n n y l g l w l e k l x x j g l h k n ze h g r q q e p z q k g l l k f k ¶ j q e w w n j l q k r q k g l l k q j x l ¶ r o l qr p n z f k ¶ j q x r l q p r k e w w n z k r m p j k q n r h e k l x j p k l g j r g k rk ¶ l o r k r g h r m g k r g µ g l l p h r m g k fe n n À q k g l l k q j x l h n m q k l g ¶ r o l q Á q ¶ e n n o l l k k ¶ ls r n n r | j p µ »� f k ¶ l s g r p k s e Â e x l r s k ¶ l ¶ r o l j p h r g w r g e k l q eh r t l g l x w r g h ¶ fÆ Ç Æ È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï È Ì Ê Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ì Ô Ò Õ Ë Ì Ï Ê Ö × Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ø Û Ý × Ö Þß Û Ö à á Ö × á ßâ ã â ã ä å æ ç è é ç ê ë é ì í ç ë êî ï ð ñ ò ó ï ô î ð ó î õ ò ñ ö ÷ ð ø ô ù ú ñ û û ò ü ñ ó ï ø ï ñ ö ö ð ý û ï ñ ø ô þ ðó ü ý û ñ î ô ÿ ô ö ô î � � ô î ï ð � ô ø î ô ú ù ÷ ð � ð ö ü û ý ð ú î ñ ú ÷ ø ô î ð÷ ð ø ô ù ú �

î ï ð ÷ ð ø ô ù ú ü � ú ð � ø î ò õ ó î õ ò ð ø ô ú ü ò ñ ÷ � ñ ó ð ú î î üð � ô ø î ô ú ù ÷ ð � ð ö ü û ð ÷ ñ ò ð ñ ø ø ï ñ ö ö ÿ ð ó ü ý û ñ î ô ÿ ö ð � ô î ï � ü òñ ú õ û ù ò ñ ÷ ð î ü � î ï ð ð ø î ñ ÿ ö ô ø ï ð ÷ ñ ò ó ï ô î ð ó î õ ò ñ öó ï ñ ò ñ ó î ð ò ü � ø õ ó ï ñ ò ð ñ ø � ó ü ý û ñ î ô ÿ ô ö ô î � ý ñ � ÿ ðñ ó ï ô ð � ð ÷ î ï ò ü õ ù ï î ð ó ï ú ô � õ ð ø ø õ ó ï ñ ø 	
 � ò ð û ð î ô î ô ü ú ü � ò ü ü � ö ô ú ð ø �� � õ ø ð ü � ø ô ý ô ö ñ ò û ò ü û ü ò î ô ü ú ø ô ú ÿ õ ô ö ÷ ô ú ù ý ñ ø ø ñ ú ÷ü õ î ÷ ü ü ò ø û ñ ó ð ø �� � ø ô ý ô ö ñ ò ò ð ö ñ î ô ü ú ø ï ô û ø î ü î ï ð ø î ò ð ð î � � ø ô ý ô ö ñ ò � ô ú ÷ ü � ø ñ ú ÷ ÷ ü ü ò û ñ î î ð ò ú ø �� � ÿ õ ô ö ÷ ô ú ù ý ñ î ð ò ô ñ ö ø � ô î ï ø ô ý ô ö ñ ò ó ü ö ü ò ø ñ ú ÷î ð � î õ ò ð ø �î ò ð ñ î ñ ö ö ø ô ÷ ð ø � ô î ï ø ô ý ô ö ñ ò ý ñ î ð ò ô ñ ö ø � ý õ ö î ô � � ñ ý ô ö �ÿ õ ô ö ÷ ô ú ù � ñ ó ñ ÷ ð ø ø ï ñ ö ö ÿ ð ñ ò î ô ó õ ö ñ î ð ÷ � ô î ï û ü ò ó ï ð ø �ÿ ñ ö ó ü ú ô ð ø � ÿ ñ � ø ü ò ü î ï ð ò ü � � ø ð î ø �ñ ó ó ð ø ø ü ò � ÿ õ ô ö ÷ ô ú ù ø ø ï ü õ ö ÷ ÿ ð ø ô ý ô ö ñ ò ô ú ó ï ñ ò ñ ó î ð òñ ú ÷ ý ñ î ð ò ô ñ ö ø ñ ø û ò ô ý ñ ò � ÿ õ ô ö ÷ ô ú ù ø �� � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � ! � � � " ! # � ! $ % & ' � ! � � �  � ( ( & " � � ) � � * ( � & $ + , & % & � � ! ! , # � � � ( � & ' �  � - � � � � % & ' . / � � � �0 % �  " , � % & � ( , � % & ' � � ( � � � � � 0 " 1 2 3 " � �  � � " ( ( " 0 % & ' 45 6 �  � & ' � % & # ( � & � 62 6 �  � & ' � % & � " ( " ! + � � - � , ! � " ! # � � � � ! & + 7 � � � ! % � ( 68 6 0 % & � " 0 � 69 6 � " ( , 7 & � + # % � ! � " ! � : , % ) � ( � & � � ( � 7 � & � �  � �� , * � % ) % � � � �  � 0 � ( ( 6s e h e x l q µ g l e k l g k ¶ e p � Ç � s l l k j p n l p µ k ¶ q ¶ e n nj p h r g w r g e k l | e n n w n e p l w g r � l h k j r p q r g g l h l q q l q¶ e t j p µ e x l w k ¶ r s e k n l e q k } ; r s k ¶ l n l p µ k ¶ r s k ¶ ls e h e x l e p x r h h m w z e k n l e q k } � ; r s k ¶ l n l p µ k ¶ r s k ¶ ls e h e x l f± � ± � ± ³ U  ² �  � � � � � � 
 � 	 � �w g j o e g z y m j n x j p µ l p k g e p h l q q ¶ e n n y l h n l e g n z x l s j p l xe p x w g r t j x l q ¶ l n k l g v e p x j p h n m x l e o j p j o m o r s k | r � } �r s k ¶ l s r n n r | j p µ »� f h e p r w z v e g h e x l r g w r g k j h r f} f r t l g ¶ e p µ r g g l h l q q f¼ f g e j q l x h r g p j h l x w e g e w l k f~ f w l e � l x g r r s r g e g h ¶ fÇ f e g h ¶ j k l h k m g e n x l k e j n q m h ¶ e q h r n m o p q v k j n l| r g � v q k r p l r g o r n x j p µ q j p k l µ g e k l x j p k r k ¶ ly m j n x j p µ q k g m h k m g l f½ f j p k l µ g e n w n e p k l g q r g | j p µ | e n n q k ¶ e kj p h r g w r g e k l n e p x q h e w l x e g l e q e p x È r g w n e h l qs r g q j k k j p µ f¾ f q w l h j e n n e p x q h e w l r g q j k l s l e k m g l � q � f± � ± � S � V V Å 
 � � � V � � � � 
 � < � � � �g r r s k r w o l h ¶ e p j h e n l � m j w o l p k o m q k y l p r p � r y k g m q j t l vq h g l l p l x s g r o t j l | r g x l q j µ p l x k r y l j p k l µ g e nh r o w r p l p k q r s k ¶ l y m j n x j p µ fk ¶ l e t l g e µ l w e g e w l k ¶ l j µ ¶ k o e z p r k l { h l l x � Ç ; r s k ¶ lq m w w r g k j p µ | e n n ¶ l j µ ¶ k f( � ! ' � � ( " # � � ! " " � � 7 , � �  � ) � ) � ! % � � % " & � % &  � % '  � " !" � � � � � � � " * ! � � $ , # �  � ( � ! ' � # ( � & � 0 % �  � 7 � - % 7 , 75 / / ( % & � � ! � � � � " � " & � # ( � & � 6� � � � � � " ! = * , % ( � % & ' � �  � ( ( * � " � �  � � � 7 � �  � ! � � � � !� & � 7 � � � ! % � ( � � � # ! % 7 � ! = * , % ( � % & ' � 6
34



PUBLIC STREET

D
R

IV
E

MOTOR COURT

GREEN COURT

STREET TREES

D
R

IV
E

D
R

IV
E

D
R

IV
E

D
R

IV
E

D
R

IV
E

D
R

IV
E

D
R

IV
E

BACKYARD FRONT DOOR

COMMON/SHARED

GREEN SPACE, TYP.

GREEN COURT

RIGHT-OF-WAY

STREET TREES

PERENNIALS

DROUGHT-TOLERANT

SHRUBS

SIDEWALK

DROUGHT -TOLERANT
 TURF

IRRIGATED

NATIVE SEED

PUBLIC

STREET

FLOW LINE

30' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER (SHRUBS

ALLOWED)

ROW (NO SHRUBS)

G
R

E
A

T
 P

L
A

IN
S

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

�  ! " # $ % & ' ( $ ! # &  ' ) * + , " ' % + - * #  . ' ( / & 0 1 " ' % , '  2 # / * 2 " ' 3 $ - 4 . $ ( #  5 # / $ ( & 6 # / 0 2 & ' ! & 0 " � 7 $ 2 & % & " ' * & ' 8  / ' ( #  . ' * !  9 ' # & $ (  5 . $ � % " ' % � " 2 & 7 $ 2 * ( # " # $  5 !  �  2 " %  

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

::;:<;=>:?: @>:AB CA @DAEFGGHEFIJKLFGHMDNMHFGAE
FOIP QLHEGRDSFJDPTUBOGGFEPDNAVWJAD
NAV QWJA QJHPONI QNTOJHEOIHP XJLN C

te
rr
a
ci
n
a

1
0

2
0

0
 E

. 
G

ir
a

rd
 A

v
e

, 
S
te

 A
-3

1
4

D
e

n
v

e
r,

 C
O

  
8

0
2

3
1

p
h

: 
3

0
3

.6
3

2
.8

8
6

7
td

d
e
si
g
n

O
U

T
L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

15

JM

KB

JM

Ö Ñ J O R y Ø > ? ? Ü × Ø Ú Ö Þ @ > A A Ú Ø Ü Ö à á Þ Ú B Ù Û Ú à á Ý ß Û × Ú Ö ÞÖ × Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ø Û Ý × Ö Þ ß Û Ö à á Ö × á ßC Ú Û D E F E G H I�  � � � � � � % ' & � � � & � � ! � � � # # ( = � " �  � � ! � � � % " & " � � & �% 7 # ! " ) � 7 � & � � � "  % '  ) % � % * % ( % � = + & � % '  * " !  " " � +� " 7 7 , & % � = � & � ! � ' % " & � ( J � � � ( � � " 7 7 � ! � % � ( � ! � � � 6! � : , % ! � 7 � & � � � # # ( % � � * ( � � " �  � " ) � ! � ( ( & � � , ! � " � �  �w m x h e p y l s r m p x j p k ¶ l µ l p l g e n x l q j µ p µ m j x l n j p l qq l h k j r p q e p x q ¶ r m n x y l t j l | l x e q h r o w n l o l p k e g z fS � T � T 	 V � � � · � K � 	 
 ² �j p r g x l g k r e h ¶ j l t l h r ¶ l q j t l x l q j µ p q | j k ¶ j p l e h ¶ e g l er s x l t l n r w o l p k v e k k l p k j r p o m q k y l w e j x k r y m j n x j p µ qe p x s l e k m g l q q m g g r m p x j p µ k ¶ l w g r w r q l x j o w g r t l o l p k fk ¶ l x l q j µ p r s y m j n x j p µ q | ¶ j h ¶ s e h l w m y n j h q k g l l k q ve x � e h l p k x l t l n r w o l p k q v r g h r p p l h k l x w l x l q k g j e pq w e h l q v q ¶ e n n l o w n r z v e n r p µ e o j p j o m o r s s r g k z � ~ � �w l g h l p k r s k ¶ l s e h e x l v e k n l e q k k | r r s k ¶ l s r n n r | j p µj p e p l s s r g k k r s r g o ( # - & ) ! @ & ' & @ & � # � , & �  5 ' & $ ! � &  - &) � � ( & ) 5 � � '  # + % ! � " � � & ' & )  % ! � � ) ( � � &  #  - &$ � ( � ' & ) /  - ! ) % & 2 . ! % & , & �  ! ) $ # % � � � & � & @ �  ! # � ) L = M > N' & ) ! " � OC / ) ! , ! � � % * ! � ' # * ) � � ' � �   & % � )E / % & � &  !  ! # � # $ % # # $ � ! � & )= / ) ! , ! � � % + . ! � ' ! � " , �  & % ! � � ) � � '  & 1  . % & )D / ) - � ' ! � " ' & @ ! ( & ) L ! � ( � . ' ! � " � % ( � ' & ) 5 � * � ! � " )� � ' � % + # % ) OA / ) ! , ! � � % � % # � # %  ! # � ) # $ & � & , & �  )P � Q � � � R S T � U V � S T W X0 � ( ( � � � % ' & � " ! � ( ( � � � � � � � �  � ( ( ) � ! = � � ( � � � � � ) � ! =� % � � = 1 . / 3  " ! % Y " & � � ( � � � � * = , � � " � � � ( � � � � � 0 " 1 2 3 " ��  � � " ( ( " 0 % & ' 45 6 �  � & ' � � % & � " ( " ! + � � - � , ! � + " ! 7 � � � ! % � ( � 62 6 �  � & ' � � % & 0 � ( ( # ( � & # ! " Z � � � % " & � + ! � ) � � ( � +� & � ! � & � � � + � & � ! � � � � � � � 0 % �  � 7 % & % 7 , 7 �  � & ' �" � " & � � " " � 68 6 �  � & ' � % & ' ( � Y % & ' [ � , ! � � % & 0 � ( (9 6 ) � ! % � � = % & ! " " � � 4 � , �  � � # % � �  +  � % '  � + � & �� � = ( � 6. 6 � &  � & � � � � ! � % � , ( � � % " & � ( " & ' # � � � � � ! % � & # � �  �P � Q � � \ U T V � T X ] � X S R � X � � �# , * ( % � * , % ( � % & ' � & � ! � & � � � �  " , ( � * � � ( � � ! ( = � � � % & � �� & � � � � � , ! � � � ( � � � � � 0 " 1 2 3 " � �  � � " ( ( " 0 % & '� ( � 7 � & � � 45 6 � � & " # % � � " ! # " ! � % � " �2 6 " ) � !  � & ' � " ! ! � � � � � � � " ! # ! " Z � � � % " & �8 6 � ! � � � � �9 6 � ! �  � �. 6 � % � # ( � = 0 % & � " 0 � � ( " & ' � % � � 0 � ( $ �^ 6 % & � � ' ! � ( # ( � & � � ! � " ! 0 % & ' 0 � ( ( � 0 % �  % & � " ! # " ! � � � � ( � & � � � � # � � ! � � � � & � [ " ! # ( � � � �� " ! � % � � % & '_ 6 � % � � % & � � % ) � ! " " � � " ! 7 �` 6 � 0 & % & ' �a 6 � " ( , 7 & � + � % ( � 0 " ! $ + 7 " ( � % & ' � + � & � � � " & �% & � � ' ! � � � � % & � " �  � � � � % ' & " � �  � * , % ( � % & 'S � T � S < � 	 ¸ 
 �  	 
 ² � b U  � < � � � c ² V 
 �  � � 
 � � 
 c 
 � �V U � � V V � � � V � 
 � �e n n n r e x j p µ x r h � q v e h h l q q r g z r m k x r r g q k r g e µ l � & �� � ! ) % � � = � ! � � �  � ( ( * � ( " � � � � � � " �  � � % � � � & � ! � � != � ! � � " � * , % ( � % & ' � 6� ( ( " , � � " " ! � � " ! � ' � = � ! � � + ( " � � % & ' � " � $ � + � � ! ) % � �� ! � � � � & � 7 � �  � & % � � ( � : , % # 7 � & � �  � ( ( * � � " & � � � ( � �� ! " 7 ) % � 0 � ! " 7 ! � � % � � & � % � ( , � � � � & � # , * ( % � ! " 0 * = �� " 7 * % & � � % " & " � � � ! � � & � � & � � � ! � � & % & ' 7 � � � ! % � (1 # ( � & � � 3 � � ( � � � � � �  % '  � � �  � � : , % # 7 � & � " ! � ! � � �

�  � =  % � � 6 �  � = �  � ( ( * � � � � % ' & � � 0 % �  � " ( " ! � � & �7 � � � ! % � ( � � % 7 % ( � ! � " �  " � � , � � � " & �  � * , % ( � % & '� ! �  % � � � � , ! � 6 # ( � & � � , � � � % & � " 7 * % & � � % " & 0 % �  � � ! � � & � [ � � & � % & ' �  � ( ( * � � ) � ! ' ! � � & 6P � Q � d � � X � � �� ( ( � � & � % & ' �  � ( ( � " & � % � � " � 0 " " � � & + � � � $ � + # � ! � � (# % � $ � � + � # ( % � ! � % ( + ) % & = ( + 0 ! " , '  � % ! " & + � & � [ " ! 7 � � " & ! = 6�  � % & ( % & $ 0 % ( ( " & ( = * � � � � � # � � � � " ! % & � , � � ! % � ( , � � � 6� � ó ð ø ø ô � ð � ð ú ó ô ú ù ø ï ñ ö ö ÿ ð ñ � ü ô ÷ ð ÷ î ï ò ü õ ù ï î ï ð õ ø ð ü �ø î ñ ù ù ð ò ô ú ù � ö ñ ú ÷ ø ó ñ û ð � ÿ õ � � ð ò � ñ ú ÷ ñ ú ó ï ü ò ý ñ î ð ò ô ñ ö ø �e ã ä ã f g ì h i ç ê ç ê ë j i è è íñ ú � û ü ò î ô ü ú ü � ó ü ú ó ò ð î ð ü ò ý ñ ø ü ú ò � ò ð î ñ ô ú ô ú ù � ñ ö ö ø� ô ø ô ÿ ö ð � ò ü ý û õ ÿ ö ô ó ø î ò ð ð î ø � ô ö ö ÿ ð ó ü � ð ò ð ÷ � ô î ï÷ ð ó ü ò ñ î ô � ð ý ñ î ð ò ô ñ ö ø ø õ ó ï ñ ø ø î ü ú ð � ÿ ò ô ó k ü ò ø î õ ó ó ü �

D
E
SI

G
N

 G
U

ID
E
L
IN

E
S

15

£ \ ¤ b a Z d ¥ ] _ Z £ ] ` £ Z ^ a ¤ c \ ^ \ c ` l Z ¦ ¥ ª § ª a § mb a d Z Z a b £ c ^ Z a © ^ ª £ c \ l Z ¦ ¥ ª § ª a c m

35



ATTACHMENT D 

LAND USE TABLES 
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ODP 

See full ODP document for context and additional text and information. 

37



ATTACHMENT D

38



ATTACHMENT D 

39



ATTACHMENT D 

40



ATTACHMENT E 

LAND USE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS MATRIX 

GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ODP 

See full ODP document for context and additional text and information 

41



ATTACHMENT E 

 

 

 
42



1 

ATTACHMENT F 

GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN (ODP) 
NOTE: This document provides a more functional way to read and review these design guidelines. This text in 
incorporated in full into the ODP plan set, to be recorded.  

DESIGN GUIDELINES 

PART 1 – INTRODUCTION 

1.1 STATEMENT OF INTENT 
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE IS A 500 ACRE MASTER-PLANNED COMMUNITY LOCATED EAST OF 
INTERSTATE 25. THE PROPERTY IS BOUND ON THE EAST BY INTERSTATE 25, WELD COUNTY 
ROAD 50 (WCR 50)/ LARIMER COUNTY ROAD 14 (LCR 14) BISECT THE SITE AND SERVES AS 
THE SOUTHERN BOUNDARY FOR PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT. THIS MIXED USE PROJECT 
INCLUDES PARCELS DESIGNATED FOR MULTIPLE TYPES OF RESIDENTIAL, RETAIL, 
COMMERCIAL, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE USES. THESE DESIGN GUIDELINES SEEK TO 
PROVIDE A CLEAR DIRECTION FOR SUBSEQUENT DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN THE LARGER 
WHOLE. THE OVERALL CHARACTER OF GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE MUST BE EVIDENT AND 
MAINTAINED TO ENSURE THE QUALITY AND COHESIVENESS DESIRED IN THIS EMERGING 
PART OF NORTHERN COLORADO. THE GUIDELINES SERVE AS A DESIGN CONCEPT FOR THE 
FINAL PUD. HIGH QUALITY DEVELOPMENT IS ENCOURAGED ALONG THE INTERSTATE 25 
CORRIDOR IN GENERAL AND HIGH PLAINS BOULEVARD IN PARTICULAR. GREAT PLAINS 
VILLAGE WILL BE VISIBLE FROM THE INTERSTATE AND ITS DEVELOPMENT WILL FORM A  
FIRST IMPRESSION OF THE COMMUNITY. 

THE DESIGN GUIDELINES SHALL BE UTILIZED BY RESIDENTS, DEVELOPERS, ARCHITECTS, 
ENGINEERS AND PLANNERS FOR DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION DIRECTION WITHIN THIS 
AREA. ALL DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ARE SUBJECT TO THE DESIGN 
GUIDELINES CONTAINED HEREIN. IN CASES WHERE THIS DOCUMENT IS SILENT, THE TOWN 
OF JOHNSTOWN STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS APPLY. 

PART 2 - GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES 

2.1   APPLICABILITY 
THIS SECTION APPLIES TO ALL DEVELOPMENT WITHIN GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE AND 
PROVIDES GENERAL STANDARDS UPON WHICH THE SUBSEQUENT SECTIONS WILL BUILD TO 
PROVIDE GREATER CLARITY FOR SPECIFIC LAND USES. ALL GOVERNING LOCAL CODES, 
REGULATIONS, AND STATUTES ENFORCED BY THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN WILL APPLY. 

2.2 LANDSCAPING 

2.2.1 LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES 
ALL DEVELOPMENT SHALL DEMONSTRATE ADHERENCE TO THE FOLLOWING LANDSCAPE 
DESIGN PRINCIPLES: 

• DESIGN TO PROVIDE AN ATTRACTIVE, COMFORTABLE ENVIRONMENT FOR USERS
WHILE MINIMIZING MAINTENANCE NEEDS, IRRIGATION WATER REQUIREMENTS AND
THE USE OF HERBICIDES AND PESTICIDES.

• DESIGN LANDSCAPES TO CREATE A NATURALIZED APPEARANCE. USE PLANT
MATERIALS THAT ARE INDIGENOUS TO NORTHERN COLORADO WHERE POSSIBLE.
ONLY USE INTRODUCED SPECIES IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE DESIGN OBJECTIVES THAT
CANNOT BE ACHIEVED WITH THE USE OF NATIVE SPECIES.

43



2 

• COORDINATE THE DESIGN OF THE LANDSCAPE WITH SITE EROSION PROTECTION,
STORM DRAINAGE AND WATER QUALITY IMPROVEMENT SYSTEMS.

• DESIGN AND MANAGE IRRIGATION SYSTEMS TO ACHIEVE PEAK EFFICIENCY.

2.2.2 STREETSCAPE DESIGN 
GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE ENTRIES WILL CONTAIN BOTH SIGNAGE AND LANDSCAPING THAT TIE 
INTO THE OVERALL DEVELOPMENT STREETSCAPE DESIGN. THE LAND USE PLAN 
ILLUSTRATES THE MAJOR AND MINOR ENTRIES INTO THE SITE. IN ORDER TO CREATE AN 
APPROPRIATE LANDSCAPE CORRIDOR ALONG WCR 50/LCR 14 AND HIGH PLAINS BLVD., 
LARGE MASSES OF TREES AND SHRUBS ARE REQUIRED. THE RIGHT-OF-WAY (ROW) WILL BE 
PRIMARILY DROUGHT- TOLERANT TURF OR IRRIGATED NATIVE SEED. THIS TREATMENT WILL 
TRANSITION TO DRIFTS OF SHRUB/PERENNIAL BEDS AND TREE GROUPINGS THAT MEANDER 
FROM JUST INSIDE THE ROW TO THE EDGE OF LANDSCAPE BUFFERS AND BACK. THE GOAL 
IS TO AVOID A STRAIGHT-LINE TREATMENT AT THE EDGE OF THE ROW. WALKS WILL BE 
DETACHED AND MEANDER WITHIN THE ROW AND OUTSIDE OF THE ROW INTO THE 
LANDSCAPE BUFFER IF DESIRED. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A SIMILAR FASHION OR WILL 
BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED CONCRETE (SHEET 15, EXHIBIT A). 

COLLECTOR & ARTERIAL STREETS: 
PLANTING OF ARTERIAL AND COLLECTOR STREETS WILL BE TREATED IN A SIMILAR FASHION 
IN ORDER TO CREATE A UNIFIED AND SIGNIFICANT STREETSCAPE IMAGE. THE STREETSCAPE 
DESIGN SHALL EMPHASIZE XERISCAPE PRINCIPLES AND A UNIQUE LOOK THAT SETS WELTY 
RIDGE APART. TREES AND PERENNIALS SHALL BE PLANTED WITHIN THE PUBLIC ROW, WHILE 
SHRUBS MAY BE PLANTED OUTSIDE THE PUBLIC ROW. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A 
SIMILAR FASHION OR WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED CONCRETE. 

ARTERIAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER: 
A 30' AVERAGE LANDSCAPE BUFFER WILL BE PROVIDED ALONG WCR 50/LCR 14 AND HIGH 
PLAINS BLVD. WITH A MINIMUM WIDTH OF 20'. 

SIGHT DISTANCE LINES: 
NO PLANTING OVER 30" IN HEIGHT SHALL OCCUR WITHIN A SIGHT DISTANCE LINES. REFER 
TO AASHTO REQUIREMENTS REGARDING SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLES. 

2.3 PARKS, OPEN AREA, REGIONAL DETENTION AND NATURAL AREAS 
THE DESIGN OF PARKS, OPEN AREA, DETENTION AND NATURAL AREAS SHALL MEET THE 
CRITERIA AS ESTABLISHED IN THE JOHNSTOWN/MILLIKEN PARKS, TRAILS, RECREATION AND 
OPEN SPACE PLAN.  FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS MAY BE SUBMITTED IN STAGES BY PHASE.  
AS SUCH, THE OPEN AREA DESIGN, APPROVAL AND LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION WILL OCCUR 
AS THE LOTS DEVELOP. 

2.4 SITE SIGNAGE 

2.4.1 PURPOSE 
THE OBJECTIVE OF THE GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE  SIGNAGE PROGRAM IS TO HELP TO CREATE 
A UNIFIED IMAGE FOR THE COMMUNITY.   

ALL FREESTANDING SIGNAGE WITHIN THE DEVELOPMENT WILL BEAR THE STYLE AND LOGO 
OF GREAT PLAINS VILLAGE, HOWEVER INDIVIDUAL LOGOS AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED ON 
THE SIGN FACE. FREESTANDING SIGNS LOCATED THROUGHOUT THE DEVELOPMENT ARE 
UNIFIED THROUGH THE USE OF SIMILAR GEOMETRY AND A REPETITION OF A COMMON 
MATERIALS PALETTE. 

44



3 

BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNS ARE REGULATED BY LIMITING SIZE. HOWEVER, TENANT LOGOS 
AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED. THE SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS ARE CONGRUENT WITH THE 
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN SIGN CODE. ANY VARIATIONS ARE NOTED. 

NO BLINKING LIGHT SIGNAGE WILL BE ALLOWED. 

MULTI-TENANT FREESTANDING SIGNS ALONG WCR 50/LCR 14 AND HIGH PLAINS BLVD. WILL 
MEET THE TOWN CODE. IF A VARIATION FROM THE CODE IS REQUIRED A MASTER SIGNAGE 
PLAN WILL BE PROVIDED. 

2.5 FENCING & WALLS 
CHAIN LINK IS ONLY ACCEPTABLE IN THE INDUSTRIAL USES AND MUST BE VINYL COATED. 
CHAIN LINK IS NOT PERMITTED IN ANY OTHER USE. OTHER FENCING MATERIALS SUCH AS 
SIMULATED WROUGHT IRON AND / OR CONCRETE OR MASONRY MAY BE REQUIRED 
DEPENDING UPON SCREENING NEEDS AND COMPATIBILITY WITH ADJACENT USES. NO WOOD 
RETAINING WALLS ARE ALLOWED (NONRESIDENTIAL ONLY). FENCING AND WALLS SHALL 
MATCH BUILDING ARCHITECTURE.  

2.6 DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES 
DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES ARE A CONVENIENT SERVICE; HOWEVER, THEY MAY CREATE 
BARRIERS TO PEDESTRIAN MOVEMENT AND PRESENT AN UNATTRACTIVE APPEARANCE 
UNLESS THEY ARE THOUGHTFULLY DESIGNED AND LOCATED. 

DRIVE THROUGH WINDOWS, MENU BOARDS AND STACKING AREAS SHALL BE SUBJECT TO 
THE SAME SETBACK AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS AS PARKING LOTS. 

PART 3 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

THESE STANDARDS REPRESENT MINIMUM ARCHITECTURE AND DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
FOR THE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS IN AN EFFORT TO CREATE A COHESIVE OVERALL GREAT 
PLAINS VILLAGE DEVELOPMENT ACROSS MULTIPLE BUILDERS AND PRODUCTS. ADDITIONAL 
ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS MAY BE INCLUDED AS MORE DETAILED PRELIMINARY AND 
FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS ARE CREATED FOR EACH PLANNING AREA, PHASE, AND/OR 
RESIDENTIAL PRODUCT. 

3.1 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED AND DETACHED ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 
3.1.1 APPLICABILITY 
ALL SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED AND ATTACHED DWELLINGS SHALL CONFORM TO ALL 
APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF THESE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS, AS WELL AS 
APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF THE ADOPTED BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS. 

3.1.2 EXTERIOR CHANGES 
EXTERIOR MATERIAL CHANGES SHOULD OCCUR AT CHANGES IN THE PLANE OF THE 
BUILDING, NOT EXCLUSIVELY AT THE OUTSIDE CORNERS. 

3.1.3 GARAGES 
ALL SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES SHALL INCLUDE A MINIMUM 2-CAR GARAGE, EITHER 
ATTACHED OR DETACHED, AS PART OF THE NEW CONSTRUCTION OR PLACEMENT. 

3.1.4 PRODUCT VARIATION 
APPLICABILITY:  
THE FOLLOWING HOUSING MODEL VARIETY STANDARDS SHALL APPLY TO ALL NEW 
RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISIONS AND DEVELOPMENTS. THESE STANDARDS ARE INTENDED TO 
PREVENT MONOTONOUS STREETSCAPES AND OFFER CONSUMERS A WIDE CHOICE OF 
HOUSING STYLES. 

45



4 

EACH HOUSING MODEL SHALL PROVIDE AND EXHIBIT AT LEAST THREE FEATURES THAT 
CLEARLY AND OBVIOUSLY DISTINGUISH THEM FROM OTHER HOUSING MODELS.  THESE 
FEATURES CAN INCLUDE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING: 

1. BUILDING MASS - BUILDING MASS IS CONSIDERED TO BE THE OUTLINE OF THE
STRUCTURE.  THIS IS DETERMINED BY THE HEIGHT, WIDTH, AND DEPTH OF THE
STRUCTURE.

2. BUILDING FORM - BUILDING FORM IS CONSIDERED TO BE THE STYLE OF THE
HOME, INCLUDING RANCH, TRI-LEVEL OR TWO-STORY STRUCTURES.

3. ROOF TYPE - ROOF TYPES CONSIST OF MANSARD, HIP, GAMBREL, GABLE, AND
FRONT-TO-BACK (SHED STYLE).  DIFFERENTIATION MAY ALSO BE ACHIEVED
THROUGH THE USE OF ROOF DORMERS, GABLES, AND HIPS.  FLAT OR A-FRAMES
ROOFS SHOULD BE AVOIDED UNLESS APPROPRIATE TO THE ARCHITECTURAL
STYLE.

4. WINDOWS AND DOORS - THE VERTICAL OR HORIZONTAL VARIATION IN THE
PLACEMENT OF AT LEAST TWO WINDOWS AND/OR DOORS ON THE FRONT FACADE
ELEVATION OR WINDOW SHAPES THAT ARE SUBSTANTIALLY DIFFERENT. THIS
STANDARD ALSO APPLIES TO ANY ELEVATION FACING A STREET, OPEN SPACE OR
PUBLIC / PRIVATE PARK.

5. THE USE OF AT LEAST TWO DIFFERENT MATERIALS ON THE FRONT FACADE
ELEVATION.

6. GARAGES.  VARIATION IN THE LOCATION AND/OR PROPORTION OF GARAGES AND
GARAGE DOORS, SUCH AS ALLEY-LOADED GARAGES, SIDE-LOADED GARAGES,
ETC.  (2-CAR GARAGE VS. 3-CAR GARAGE OF THE SAME ELEVATION DO NOT MEET
THE INTENT).

7. VARIATIONS IN THE LOCATION, WIDTH, AND PROPORTION OF FRONT PORCHES
(MIN. SIZE 6'x6').

8. MINOR COSMETIC CHANGES SUCH AS DIFFERENT PAINT COLOR, REVERSING OR
CREATING MIRRORED IMAGES OF THE EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS,
SHUTTERS, DECORATIVE BRACKETS, OR USING DIFFERENT BRICK OR STONE
COLOR SHALL NOT MEET THE INTENT OF THIS SECTION.

THE SAME HOUSING MODEL WITH THE IDENTICAL STREET ELEVATION DESIGN (OR NEARLY 
IDENTICAL) SHALL NOT BE PLACED LESS THAN THREE AWAY OR DIRECTLY ACROSS THE 
STREET FROM ONE ANOTHER. “ACROSS THE STREET” IS DEFINED AS LOTS THAT OVERLAP 
EACH OTHER WHEN THE SIDE LOT LINES ARE EXTENDED ACROSS THE STREET TO THE 
OPPOSITE LOT.  THE SAME HOUSING MODEL USED AT THE END OF ONE BLOCK SHALL NOT 
BE REPEATED ON THE FIRST LOT OF THE NEIGHBORING BLOCK. 

IDENTICAL OR NEARLY IDENTICAL STREET ELEVATION DESIGN MEANS LITTLE OR NO 
VARIATION IN THE ARTICULATION OF THE FAÇADE, HEIGHT OR WIDTH OF THE FAÇADE, 
PLACEMENT OF THE PRIMARY ENTRANCES, PORCHES, NUMBER AND PLACEMENT OF 
WINDOWS, AND OTHER MAJOR ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES. 

3.2 CLUSTERED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 
3.2.1 GENERAL 
CLUSTER HOMES ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC STREET AND LOCATED ON A MOTOR COURT OR 
GREEN COURT SHALL HAVE A SIDE FACING GARAGE. THE GARAGE SHALL FACE THE MOTOR 
COURT OR SHARED DRIVE NOT THE PUBLIC STREET (SHEET 12, EXHIBIT B).  

3.2.2 ACCESS 
IF FOUR OR FEWER UNITS ACCESS FROM A SHARED DRIVE, THE MINIMUM DRIVE WIDTH IS 16 
FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE B - MOTOR COURT ON SHEET 13). IF 5 OR MORE UNITS 
ACCESS OFF A COMMON DRIVE THE MINIMUM DRIVE WIDTH IS 23 FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME 
EXAMPLE A - GREEN COURT ON SHEET 13). 

46



5 

GARAGES FACING ONTO SHARED DRIVES MUST HAVE A MINIMUM FACE TO FACE 
SEPARATION OF 30 FEET. 

3.1.3 FACADES 
EXTERIOR FACADES SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CURRENT STANDARDS AND DESIGN 
GUIDELINES EXCEPT AS FOLLOWS: 

IN ORDER TO BE CONSIDERED A DISTINCT ELEVATION, EACH ELEVATION SHALL 
INCORPORATE AT LEAST THREE OF THE FOLLOWING: 

1. PLACEMENT OF WINDOWS ON THE FRONT FAÇADE ELEVATION INCLUDE AT LEAST
A TWO-FOOT VERTICAL OR HORIZONTAL VARIATION IN SIZE OR LOCATION.

2. THE USE OF DIFFERENT MATERIALS OR VARIATIONS OF THE SAME MATERIAL ON
THE FRONT FAÇADE ELEVATION.

3. VARIATIONS IN FRONT PLANE.
4. VARIATION IN ROOF TYPE, GABLE AND HIP.

NO MORE THAN TWO (2) OF THE SAME MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE PERMITTED WITHIN A 
MOTOR OR GREEN COURT. IF TWO MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE LOCATED WITHIN THE SAME 
MOTOR COURT THEY MUST USE DIFFERENT COLORS OR MATERIALS.  

NO HOME MODEL ELEVATION SHALL BE REPEATED DIRECTLY ACROSS ANY STREET. THIS 
APPLIES TO STREET SIDE HOMES ONLY. THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO UNITS LOCATED INTERIOR 
TO THE MOTOR COURT OR GREEN COURT.  

ALL “STREET SIDE CLUSTER HOMES” SHALL MEET THE FOLLOWING: 

1. THE FRONT FAÇADE OF THE HOME INCORPORATES A COVERED PORCH.

3.3 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 

3.3.1 BUILDING DESIGN  
THE ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN APPROACH SHALL EMPHASIZE COMPATIBILITY WITH EXISTING 
DEVELOPMENT AND SITE DESIGN. 

THE DESIGN OF NEW STRUCTURES IN OR ADJACENT TO EXISTING DEVELOPED AREAS SHALL 
BE COMPATIBLE WITH, OR AN UPGRADE TO, THE ESTABLISHED ARCHITECTURAL CHARACTER 
OF SUCH AREAS.  COMPATIBILITY MAY BE ACHIEVED THROUGH TECHNIQUES SUCH AS: 

1. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES.
2. USE OF SIMILAR PROPORTIONS IN BUILDING MASS AND OUTDOOR SPACES.
3. SIMILAR RELATIONSHIPS TO THE STREET.
4. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND DOOR PATTERNS.
5. BUILDING MATERIALS WITH SIMILAR COLORS AND TEXTURES.

TREAT ALL SIDES WITH SIMILAR MATERIALS.  MULTI-FAMILY BUILDING FACADES SHALL BE 
ARTICULATED WITH PORCHES, BALCONIES, BAYS OR OTHER OFFSETS. 

ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHOULD BE SIMILAR IN CHARACTER AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY 
BUILDINGS. 

3.3.2 FACADES 
FACADES THAT FACE A STREET OR PARKING AREA SHALL NOT HAVE A BLANK, 
UNINTERRUPTED LENGTH EXCEEDING 50 FEET WITHOUT INCLUDING AT LEAST TWO (2) OF 
THE FOLLOWING: 

47



6 

1. CHANGE IN PLANE.
2. CHANGE IN COLOR, TEXTURE OR PATTERN, MATERIAL.
3. WINDOWS.
4. COLUMNS, PIERS OR EQUIVALENT ELEMENT THAT SUBDIVIDES THE WALL.

FACADES GREATER THAN 150 FEET IN LENGTH SHALL INCORPORATE WALL PLANE 
PROJECTIONS OR RECESSES HAVING A DEPTH OF AT LEAST 2% OF THE LENGTH OF THE 
FACADE AND OCCUPY AT LEAST 20% OF THE LENGTH OF THE FACADE. 

3.3.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES 
PRIMARY BUILDING ENTRANCES SHALL BE CLEARLY DEFINED AND PROVIDE SHELTER, AND 
INCLUDE A MINIMUM OF TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING: 

1. CANOPY, ARCADE OR PORTICO.
2. OVERHANG OR RECESS.
3. RAISED CORNICED PARAPET.
4. PEAKED ROOF OR ARCH.
5. ARCHITECTURAL DETAIL SUCH AS COLUMNS, TILE WORK, STONE OR MOLDINGS

INTEGRATED INTO THE BUILDING STRUCTURE.
6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS THAT INCORPORATE LANDSCAPED AREAS

AND/OR PLACES FOR SITTING.
7. SPECIAL LANDSCAPE OR SITE FEATURE(S).

3.3.4 ROOF AND TOP TREATMENTS 
ROOFTOP MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT MUST BE NON-OBTRUSIVE, SCREENED FROM VIEW OR 
DESIGNED TO BE INTEGRAL COMPONENTS OF THE BUILDING.   

THE AVERAGE PARAPET HEIGHT MAY NOT EXCEED 15% OF THE SUPPORTING WALL HEIGHT. 

LARGE SLOPED ROOFS MUST HAVE VARIATIONS IN HEIGHT OR OFFSETS TO BREAK UP THE 
LARGE PLANE WITH A MAXIMUM 100 LINEAR FEET OF ONE PLANE. 

ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHALL BE OF THE SAME CHARACTER AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY 
BUILDINGS. 

PART 4 - COMMERCIAL, OFFICE AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 

4.1 GENERAL 
THESE DESIGN STANDARDS APPLY TO THE CREATION OF AND IMPROVEMENTS TO HIGH 
VISIBILITY, NEIGHBORHOOD, COMMUNITY AND  REGIONAL-SCALE COMMERCIAL AREAS. 
REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO THE OVERALL NATURE OF THE PUD CAN BE FOUND IN THE 
GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES SECTIONS AND SHOULD BE VIEWED AS COMPLEMENTARY. 

4.1.1 CONTEXT/SCALE 
IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE COHESIVE DESIGNS WITHIN EACH AREA OF DEVELOPMENT, 
ATTENTION MUST BE PAID TO BUILDINGS AND FEATURES SURROUNDING THE PROPOSED 
IMPROVEMENT. THE DESIGN OF BUILDINGS WHICH FACE PUBLIC STREETS, ADJACENT 
DEVELOPMENTS, OR CONNECTED PEDESTRIAN SPACES, SHALL EMPLOY, ALONG A MINIMUM 
OF FORTY (40) PERCENT OF THE FACADE, AT LEAST TWO OF THE FOLLOWING IN AN EFFORT 
TO FORM COHESIVE DEVELOPMENT, DEFINE THE SPACES, AND TO BRING A PEDESTRIAN 
SCALE TO THE FACADES. THIS REQUIREMENT IS FOR ALL ELEVATIONS (360◦ DESIGN) 

1. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND PATTERNS
2. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES
3. SIMILAR BUILDING MATERIALS AND TEXTURES

48



7 

4. SHADING DEVICES (INCLUDING ARCADES, AWNINGS AND ARBORS)
SIMILAR PROPORTIONS OF ELEMENTS

4.1.2 ARTICULATION 
WALL DESIGN FR ALL FACADES SHALL VARY AT LEAST EVERY FIFTY (50) HORIZONTAL FEET 
BY USE OF AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING: 

1. CHANGES IN COLOR, TEXTURE, OR MATERIALS.
2. CHANGES IN WALL PLAN PROJECTIONS, REVEALS, ENTRANCES, AND RECESSES

WITH A MINIMUM CHANGE OF ONE FOOT.
3. CHANGE IN GLAZING / CURTAIN WALL
4. VARIETY IN ROOFS: SUCH AS PITCH, HEIGHT, AND STYLE.
5. ENHANCED ARTICULATION ALONG PEDESTRIAN PATHS

4.1.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES 
PUBLIC BUILDING ENTRANCES SHOULD BE CLEARLY DEFINED AND FEATURE AT LEAST TWO 
(2) OF THE FOLLOWING ELEMENTS:

1. CANOPIES OR PORTICOS
2. OVERHANGS OR RECESSES OR PROJECTIONS
3. ARCADES
4. ARCHES
5. DISPLAY WINDOWS ALONG SIDEWALKS
6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS WITH INCORPORATED LANDSCAPE

AREAS AND/OR PLACES FOR SITTING
7. DISTINCTIVE ROOF FORMS
8. AWNINGS
9. COLUMNS, TILE WORK, MOLDINGS, AND STONE INTEGRATED INTO THE DESIGN

OF THE BUILDING

4.1.4 MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT, LOADING AREA, AND OUTDOOR STORAGE 
ALL LOADING DOCKS, ACCESSORY OUTDOOR STORAGE AND SERVICE YARDS SHALL BE 
LOCATED TO THE SIDE AND REAR YARDS OF BUILDINGS. 

ALL OUTDOOR STORAGE YARDS, LOADING DOCKS, SERVICE AREAS AND MECHANICAL 
EQUIPMENT SHALL BE CONCEALED FROM VIEW FROM RESIDENTIAL USES AND PUBLIC ROW 
BY A COMBINATION OF SCREENS AND SCREENING MATERIAL (PLANTS) AT LEAST AS HIGH AS 
THE EQUIPMENT OR AREAS THEY HIDE. THEY SHALL BE DESIGNED WITH COLORS AND 
MATERIALS SIMILAR TO THOSE USED ON THE BUILDING ARCHITECTURE. PLANTS USED IN 
COMBINATION WITH SCREENS/FENCING SHALL BE EVERGREEN. 

4.1.5 FENCES 
ALL FENCING SHALL CONSIST OF WOODEN, STAKE, PARCEL PICKET, SPLIT RAIL, VINYL, 
WROUGHT IRON, AND/OR MASONRY. CHAIN LINK WILL ONLY BE ACCEPTED FOR INDUSTRIAL 
USES.  

EXCESSIVE FENCING SHALL BE AVOIDED THROUGH THE USE OF STAGGERING, LANDSCAPE, 
BUFFER, AND ANCHOR MATERIALS.  

4.1.6 RETAINING WALLS 
ANY PORTION OF CONCRETE OR MASONRY RETAINING WALLS VISIBLE FROM PUBLIC 
STREETS WILL BE COVERED WITH DECORATIVE MATERIALS SUCH AS STONE, BRICK OR 
STUCCO. 

49



 
AGENDA ITEM 10B 
 
 
 
 

Public Hearing 
 

P.U.D. Outline Development Plan 
Welty Ridge 

 
Ordinance Number 2020-169 



*PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURE – Ordinance 2020-169, An Ordinance Approving 
the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Welty Ridge –  

1. Open public hearing. 

2. Receive information from staff. 

3. Receive information from applicant. 

4. Receive information from public. 

a. Ask to hear from anyone who supports the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan   

b. Ask to hear from anyone who opposes the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan 

5. Receive rebuttal from applicant.  (Discretionary and only if warranted at the time.) 

6.  Additional questions from Council, if any.  (Council may ask questions at any time until 
the hearing is closed.) 

7. Close the public hearing. (No more questions from Council) 

8. Discussion and deliberation among Council. 

9. Make a decision and/or motion from Council.   

SUGGESTED MOTIONS 

For Approval:   I move to approve Ordinance No. 2020-169, An Ordinance Approving the 
P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Welty Ridge on first reading. 
 
For Approval with conditions:  I move to approve Ordinance No. 2020-169, an Ordinance 
Approving the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Welty Ridge on first reading, with the 
following conditions __________ 
 
For Denial: I move to deny approval of Ordinance No. 2020-169. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 
TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

 
AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
 
ITEM NUMBER:  10B 
 
SUBJECT:  Public Hearing – Ordinance No. 2020-169 An Ordinance Approving the PUD  

Outline Development Plan for Welty Ridge  
 
ACTION PROPOSED:   Consider Ordinance No 2020-169  An Ordinance Approving the PUD Outline 

Development Plan for Welty Ridge 
 
PRESENTED BY:  Kim Meyer, Planning & Development Director 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 
The Town of Johnstown is considering a request for an updated Outline Development Plan (ODP) for the 144.4-acre 
Welty Ridge PUD – annexed and zoned as the Veeman Annexation, with PUD-MU zoning, and a simple “bubble” 
Veeman ODP. If approved, this Outline Development Plan would replace and supersede any prior plans. There is a 
brief discussion in the PZC memo related to potentially conflicting land use language in the Veeman Annexation 
Agreement, but upon conference with the Town Attorney, there appear to be no lingering concerns with that, in relation 
to this proposal.  
 
The site is located west of I-25, south of WCR 48, and the ODP outlines a mix of land uses, development intensity, 
and residential densities. The ODP defines specific “planning areas” and the land uses and densities for each area, as 
well as including conceptual-level utility, drainage, and transportation network planning to provide basic feasibility 
analysis for the land uses proposed. The Outline Development Plan serves as the initial, high-level “zoning document” 
for PUD zones, providing information on land uses, standards, general types of development – and is reviewed 
simultaneously with conceptual utility and drainage documents/reports, a master traffic study, and similar information 
to ensure feasibility. More detailed design guidelines and development plans are provided at the preliminary and final 
stages of development planning and platting. 
 
A detailed memorandum (attached) was provided to the Planning & Zoning Commission (PZC) at the public hearing 
held on December 11, 2019, including detailed description and analysis of the project. Additionally, the proposed and 
updated ODP plan sheets are attached, with the PZC packet included for reference. 
 
Generally, the ODP provides details on a wide mix of permitted and conditional land uses, as well as development 
standards, in each of the five Planning Areas identified in the plan. Additionally, the ODP dictates a cap on intensity 
and density of development that includes a maximum of 800 dwelling units and 700,000 square feet of non-residential 
buildings over the 144.4 acres included in the plan. There is a clause in the ODP that would permit these 
densities/intensities to transfer between planning areas, but must remain under those total maximum numbers. 
 
Planning Areas located closest to the interstate and along WCR 48 are designated for Employment and Mixed Use; 
while the southwestern 30% of the subject site would provide the opportunity for a mix of residential types and 
densities. Several “typical” single family lot layouts are provided to illustrate flexible options for: zero-lot line homes, 
alley-loaded garages, motor-/green-court and “carriage house” type homes.  
 
An in-depth discussion was presented in the PZC memo on a concern over the potential for excessive development of 
outdoor storage (as a primary use), and RV/vehicle rental and sales lots, in the EMP and MU-1 Planning Areas, which 
resulted in several proposed conditions of approval. In the interim the Applicant and Staff have coordinated on 
developing verbiage now incorporated into the final ODP in the Council packet. The PZC Conditions of Approval 
included: 
1. The land use conflicts between the proposed ODP document and the Veeman Annexation Agreement must be 

resolved. If an amended annexation agreement is required and amenable to the Council, an approved and executed 
agreement must occur prior to final approvals by the Town. If significant modifications to land uses or development 
standards, as determined by the Director of Planning & Development, are required in the ODP to accommodate 



the agreement, or amended agreement, the revised ODP will be presented to the Planning & Zoning Commission 
for a final review. RESOLVED / NON-ISSUE 
 

2. The Applicant must work with Staff, prior to a Town Council hearing, to develop revised ODP wording to ensure 
appropriate development of any outdoor storage, display, and sales areas, to address the following specific 
concerns: ALL INCLUDED / RESOLVED 

a. The use categories of Outdoor storage; RV’s, Trailer, Camper, and Limited Equipment (U-Haul type 
business) rentals; and Motor vehicle dealers/ sales may not exceed 20% of land area in the EMP and MU-
1 planning areas, to be tracked by the Director and Developer on the ODP, similar to maximum SF/units. 

b. Outdoor Storage, as a primary use, must be setback a minimum of 300' from any arterial or interstate right-
of-way.  

c. Update the Land Use Tables to modify: 
i. primary Outdoor Storage uses over 5 acres to be processed and considered as conditional uses in MU-

1 and EMP; and  
ii. “RV’s, Trailer, Camper, and Limited Equipment (U-Haul type business) rentals” – add “Max. of 10 

acres” to use description; and 
iii. Add a new use category for “RV’s… rentals, >10 ac.” – and update to “C” Conditional uses in EMP & 

MU-1 
iv. Treat “Motor vehicle dealer/sales” category similarly, as described in subsections ii, and iii above. 

 

3. Update ODP language to require a 50-foot landscaped buffer along the I-25 corridor frontage. INCLUDED / 
RESOLVED 

 
Two Commissioners voiced their concern with the relative lack of parking associated with the cluster-style housing 
and encouraged the developers to consider additional guest parking and ensure on-street parking in areas with high 
density residential. 
 
Public comment at the hearing was related to a desire to see a large chain grocery store in Johnstown, and maintain 
Johnstown’s small town feel especially downtown. One resident wanted to advise the Town to carefully consider 
whether to allow a metro district. Draft minutes of the PZC December 11, 2019, hearing are attached. 
 
In summary, the Planning & Zoning Commission forwarded a recommendation to the Town Council of Approval with 
Conditions. All of these conditions have been resolved. 
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
LEGAL ADVICE: The Town Attorney drafted Ordinance No. 2020-169. 
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: No impact anticipated. 
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approval of Welty Ridge Outline Development Plan. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  
 
Approval:   
I move to approve Ordinance No. 2020-169, An Ordinance Approving the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for 
Welty Ridge on first reading. 
 
Conditional: 
I move to approve Ordinance No. 2020-169, An Ordinance Approving the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for 
Welty Ridge on first reading, with the following conditions ________. 
 
Denial:        
I move to deny approval of Ordinance No. 2020-169. 
 
 
Reviewed: 
 
___________________________ 
Town Manager 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ordinance 2020-169 



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-169 

 
APPROVING P.U.D. OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
WELTY RIDGE LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE 
6TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY 
OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO, CONSISTING OF 
APPROXIMATELY 144.4 ACRES. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Johnstown, Colorado (“Town”) is a Colorado home rule 

municipality, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado and the 
Town’s Home Rule Charter; and  
 

WHEREAS, Platte Land and Water, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, 
submitted an application to the Town for approval of a P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for a 
subdivision known as Welty Ridge, located in the Northeast Quarter of Section 10, Township 4 
North, Range 68 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, Town of Johnstown, County of Weld, State 
of Colorado, consisting of approximately 144.4 acres; and 
 

WHEREAS, on December 11, 2019, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a public 
hearing and recommended approval of the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Welty Ridge 
with conditions, all of which have been satisfied; and 
 

WHEREAS, on January 6, 2020, the Town Council held a public hearing concerning 
approval of the P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Welty Ridge; and 

 
WHEREAS, after considering the Planning and Zoning Commission’s recommendation 

for approval, reviewing the file and conducting such public hearing, Town Council finds that the 
P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Welty Ridge is consistent with, and furthers the goals of, 
the Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan goals and is compatible with all other applicable Town 
standards and regulation; and 
 

WHEREAS, based on the foregoing, Town Council desires to approve the P.U.D. Outline 
Development Plan for Welty Ridge.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, THAT: 
 

 Section 1.  P.U.D. Outline Development Plan Approval.  The P.U.D. Outline 
Development Plan for Welty Ridge, located in the Northeast Quarter of Section 10, Township 4 
North, Range 68 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, Town of Johnstown, County of Weld, State 
of Colorado, consisting of approximately 144.4 acres (“Property”), attached hereto as Exhibit A, 
is hereby approved.  



 
Section 2.  Supersede and Replace.  The P.U.D. Outline Development Plan for Welty 

Ridge adopted herein shall supersede and replace the outline development plan that was 
submitted to, and approved by, the Town at the time of annexation of the Property. 

 
Section 3.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance, after its passage on Outline reading, shall be 

numbered, recorded, published and posted as required by the Town Charter and the adoption, 
posting and publication shall be authenticated by the signature of the Mayor and the Town Clerk 
and by the Certificate of Publication.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon final passage 
as provided by the Home Rule Charter of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado.  Copies of the 
entire Ordinance are available at the office of the Town Clerk.   

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED on first reading by the Town Council of the Town 
of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 2020. 
 
       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ATTEST: 
 
By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
      Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 
 
 
 PASSED UPON FINAL APPROVAL AND ADOPTED on second reading by the 
Town Council of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 
2020. 
 
       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ATTEST: 
 
By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
     Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 
 



 

PZC Minutes, December 11, 2019     

SUMMARY MINUTES 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Wednesday, December 11, 2019 
Council Chambers 

450 S. Parish Ave., Johnstown 
 

I. Call to Order: Chair Montez opened the meeting at 7:00pm. 

II. Roll Call: Present were Commissioners Grentz, Montez, Kiovsky, and Storms.  

III. Public Comments regards items not on the Agenda: none 

IV. Public Hearings: 

a. Welty Ridge ODP 
Kim Meyer, staff, provided brief overview and presentation, as well as a staff report entered into the 
record. 
 
Applicant Representative: Jeff Marck, Terracina Design, 10200 E. Girard Ave. Ste A-314 Denver, CO 
80231 Mr. Marck provided additional details on the proposal and answered questions from the 
Commission. 
 
Commissioner Storms asked about parking for green courts and motor courts.  He was concerned about 
accommodating on-street parking for guests and overflow. Ms. Meyer indicated we would address those 
detailed concerns with preliminary and final development plans. 
 
Commissioner Kiovsky asked applicant about how this project would be affected by the new I-25 
interchange being constructed in 2020. Applicant representative Erik Halverson advised that CDOT is still 
designing the interchange. Commissioner Kiovsky brought up the importance of landscape buffers and 
thought the development could provide a different face for the Town. 
 
There was discussion between staff, applicant, and commissioners about what would be passed tonight.  
 
Public hearing was opened. Colleen Cothron, 250 Ricker Ln. Johsntown, commented on the need for a 
grocery store, and to keep Johnstown’s downtown vibrant.  There was discussion between Ms. Cothron 
and Commissioners about bringing a grocery store to Town. 
 
Frank Wynn commented on concerns with metropolitan districts. There was discussion between Ms. Wynn 
and staff about how the Town generally handles them. 
 
The item was closed to public comment. 

 
Commissioner Kiovsky made Motion to Approve as written. Commissioner Grentz seconded the motion. 
There was discussion on the land planning and grading. 
 
Motion passed 5-0 
 



 

PZC Minutes., December 11, 2019 2 

b. Great Plains Village ODP 
 

Kim Meyer, staff, provided brief overview and presentation, as well as a staff report entered into the 
record.  Staff clarified the frontage road will be abandoned. 
 
Applicant Representative: Jeff Marck, Terracina Design, 10200 E. Girard Ave. Ste A-314 Denver, CO 
80231 Mr. Marck provided additional details on the proposal and answered questions from the 
Commission. 
 
Commissioner Storms asked about parking for green courts and motor courts.  He was concerned about 
accommodating on-street parking for guests and overflow.  
 
Commissioners and applicant had a discussion about traffic impacts and connectivity. 
 
Commissioner Kiovsky asked about open space and parks and a couple of small areas noted for open 
space. Applicant referred her to the annexation agreement, where those areas were indicated for open space 
previously.  
 
Commissioner Storms had questions about the ultimate buildout of WCR 50 and High Plain Blvd. 
Applicant explained the future buildout is four lanes for both roads. Commissioner Storms also had 
questions about uses and how they related to adjacent land uses in Vista Commons PUD to the south. 
 
Public hearing was opened. Tony Connell, representing his mother, who owns property along the proposed 
High Plains Blvd to the north of Great Plains Village. He had questions regarding how her home would be 
preserved and/or affected. Principally, he asked about water and protection for animals that are on her and 
neighboring properties. Tony advised the sewer service would be a benefit to his mother. 
 
John Kelly of Rocksbury Ridge had questions regarding setbacks and additional land needed for High 
Plains Blvd., and was concerned about water treatment plant capacity. Staff advised him that there would 
be no need for additional ROW along the existing subdivision, and that development impact fees help to 
fund plant expansion. 
 
Jerry Bancow expressed concerns about traffic, namely truck traffic on High Plains Blvd. once the 
frontage road is abandoned. Staff stated that Hwy 60 will eventually be widened to provide for additional 
lanes, and a traffic control device will be placed at High Plains Blvd. and Hwy 60. Staff informed that they 
are working with CDOT, and believes that the truck route from Johnson’s Corner would be routed to the 
Hwy 402 interchange, rather than the Hwy 60 interchange. 
 
Laura Chase of 8445 LCR 14 was concerned about development adjacent to her property. She purchased 
land in the country for use as a horse property and residence, but is now faced with the impacts of 
development. Laura further pointed to graphics in the presentation that showed new roads going through 
her current property as upsetting to her and as an unwanted impact on her property. She was further 
concerned because there had been surveyors on her property already that had disrupted her operations, and 
was concerned about new residents trespassing on her property. Ms. Chase claimed she was promised 
fencing around her property by developers and former town staff. Staff advised her concerns were noted 
and understood, and they would research past Council meeting minutes. She claimed these promises were 
made at a community meeting when the property was initially annexed. Ms. Chase was concerned about 
the irrigation pipe running underground in the area and current pressure issues with the line. 
 
Mr. Herrera spoke about the need for irrigation ditches to be maintained. He also believed there should be 
a school site on the property, since there will be so many new people and the schools are already at 
capacity. 
 



 

PZC Minutes., December 11, 2019 3 

The item was closed to public comment. 
 
Commissioners had discussions about land use and parking. 
 
Commissioner Kiovsky made a motion to approve, with direction that staff take all public comments into 
account in later phases of development. Commissioner Weber seconded the motion. 
 
Motion passed 5-0. 

 
V. New Business - None 

VI. Department Report Delivered by Kim Meyer 

Staff is moving forward with comprehensive plan contract award at Council in January. Remember there is an 
open seat on the commission, please let folks know, we will re-advertise in 2020. The department anticipates hiring 
another planner in first quarter of 2020. Staff is working with our GIS consultants to finish up new aerials from the 
counties to be able to start producing some new town and zoning maps. 
 

VII. Adjourn: Chair Montez adjourned the meeting at approximately 10:15 p.m. 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

Respectfully Submitted:     Approved & Accepted: 

     

____________________________________ 

Kim Meyer, Secretary     Lila Montez, Chair 



 

 

Welty Ridge 

Revised Outline Development Plan 

(Submitted 12/20/19) 

 
Incorporating conditions of approval from the 12/11/19 PZC hearing 

  



LARIMER CO. RD. 14/WELD

CO. RD. 50

CO. RD. 48/HWY. 60

GATEWAY

CENTER

HARDING

SUB-DIVISION

LARIMER CO. RD.

14/HWY. 60

CO. RD. 16

CO. RD. 16

S
.
 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
 
L
I
N

E
 
R

O
A

D

I
N

T

E

R

S

T

A

T

E

 
2

5

H
I
G

H
 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
B

L
V

D
.

INTERSTATE 25

FRONTAGE ROAD

INTERSTATE 25

FRONTAGE ROAD

C
O

L
O

R
A

D
O

 
B

L
V

D

C
O

.
 
R

D
.
 
7

C

O

.
 
R

D

.
 
4

8

C
O

.
 
R

D
.
 
7

VISTA

COMMONS

SITE

JOHNSTOWN

TOWN LIMITS

WELD COUNTY
ZONING: A-AGRICULTURE

WELD COUNTY
ZONING: A-AGRICULTURE

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
GATEWAY

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-GATEWAY

WELD COUNTY
ZONING: A-AGRICULTURE

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

I-25

WCR 48

JOHNSTOWN
TOWN LIMITS

C
O

V
E
R

1
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
4
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
C

O
V

E
R

.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

PROJECT INTENT

OWNER

PLATTE LAND & WATER, LLC

210 UNIVERSITY BLVD.

SUITE 710

DENVER, CO 80206

303-263-2105

SHEET INDEX

1 COVER

2 LAND USE PLAN

3-4 LAND USE MATRIX

5 CIRCULATION PLAN

6 STREET SECTIONS

7 TRAILS & OPEN SPACE PLAN

8 CONCEPTUAL UTILITY PLAN

9 CONCEPTUAL GRADING PLAN

10 DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

11-12 DESIGN GUIDELINES

PROJECT MANAGER

ERIK HALVERSON

LAND ASSET STRATEGIES, LLC

15400 WEST 64TH AVENUE

UNIT E9-123

ARVADA, CO 80007

970-319-5836

ehalverson@landassetstrategies.com

ENGINEER

KEVIN ROHRBOUGH

CORE CONSULTANTS

1950 W LITTLETON BLVD.

SUITE 109

LITTLETON, CO 80120

303-703-4444

rohrbough@corecivil.com

PLANNER

JEFF MARCK

TERRACINA DESIGN

10200 E. GIRARD AVENUE

BLDG. A, SUITE 314

DENVER, CO 80231

303-632-8867

jmarck@terracinadesign.com

VICINITY MAP 1"=3000'

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

THE NE ¼ OF SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF

THE 6TH P.M., COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO, EXCEPT THAT

PORTION CONVEYED IN BOOK 1570 AT PAGE 620.

N

APPROVALS

TOWN COUNCIL

THIS  OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN, TO BE KNOWN AS WELTY RIDGE ODP, IS

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED BY THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, BY ORDINANCE NUMBER

_______________, PASSED AND ADOPTED ON FINAL READING AT A REGULAR

MEETING OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO HELD

ON THE __________ DAY OF _____________________, 20____.

BY: _____________________________ ATTEST: ____________________________

    MAYOR                 TOWN CLERK

THE INTENT OF THIS OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN (ODP) IS TO

PROVIDE OVERLAY ZONING TO THE 140+ ACRE WELTY RIDGE

PROPERTY.  WELTY RIDGE IS ENVISIONED AS A MIXED USE

DEVELOPMENT WHICH INCLUDES PLANNING AREAS DESIGNATED

FOR  RESIDENTIAL, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL,

AND OFFICE USES. THIS DOCUMENT WILL GUIDE THE OVERALL

CHARACTER OF WELTY RIDGE TO ENSURE THE QUALITY AND

COHESIVENESS DESIRED IN THIS EMERGING PART OF

NORTHERN COLORADO.

GENERAL NOTES

A. COMMERCIAL, OFFICE OR MULTI-FAMILY DEVELOPMENTS CAN OCCUPY

THE SAME LOT, MIXED HORIZONTALLY OR VERTICALLY.

B. ALL UNPLATTED PROPERTY (PER THE FINAL PLAT SUBDIVISION PROCESS)

WITHIN THIS PUD MAY REMAIN IN AGRICULTURAL USE UNTIL SUCH TIME AS

DEVELOPMENT OF THAT AREA BEGINS.

C. LANDSCAPING, SIGNAGE, ARCHITECTURE, NON-RESIDENTIAL PARKING,

FENCING AND LIGHTING FOR DEVELOPMENT WITH THIS PUD SHALL EITHER

FOLLOW THOSE APPLICABLE STANDARDS IN THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN

MUNICIPAL CODE OR THE DEVELOPER MAY FORMULATE DESIGN

STANDARDS REGULATING THE DESIGN, CHARACTER, LOCATION AND

OTHER DETAILS OF THESE ELEMENTS PRIOR TO THEIR IMPLEMENTATION.

THE DEVELOPER-FORMULATED DESIGN STANDARDS MUST RECEIVE TOWN

APPROVAL PRIOR TO IMPLEMENTATION.

D. WHERE A PROPOSED USE IS NOT LISTED IN THE ODP, IT MAY BE ALLOWED

IF DETERMINED IN WRITING BY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR

TO BE SIMILAR IN CHARACTER AND OPERATION, AND HAVING THE SAME OR

LESSER IMPACT, AS USES THAT ARE ALLOWED.

E. ALL DRAINAGE ELEMENTS ARE CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND FINAL

DETERMINATIONS OF THE DRAINAGE SYSTEM, TO INCLUDE THE

PLACEMENT OF DETENTION/RETENTION PONDS, CHANNELS, AND STORM

SEWER, WILL BE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE FINAL

DRAINAGE REPORTS AND PLANS.

DEVELOPMENT PHASING

PHASING WILL OCCUR IN A LOGICAL AND COST EFFECTIVE MANNER BASED

ON INFRASTRUCTURE EXTENSION, AVAILABILITY OF UTILITY SERVICE, AND

MARKET CONDITIONS.  THE PROJECT WILL BE BUILT IN MULTIPLE PHASES,

AS CONDITIONS DICTATE.

RELATIONSHIP TO TOWN CODE & DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PUD SHALL PREVAIL AND GOVERN

DEVELOPMENT TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN

MUNICIPAL CODE. WHERE STANDARDS, DETAILS, AND GUIDELINES OF THE

PUD - OUTLINE, PRELIMINARY, OR FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS - DO NOT

CLEARLY ADDRESS A SPECIFIC SUBJECT OR ARE SILENT, THE JOHNSTOWN

MUNICIPAL AND OTHER STANDARDS, REGULATIONS, AND GUIDELINES

SHALL BE USED. ALL PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT IS SUBJECT TO TOWN OF

JOHNSTOWN REVIEW PROCEDURES.

EXISTING ZONING 1"=500'

N
LEGEND

PUD-MU

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



PA-4
42.6 AC

R-M

PA-1
20.7 AC

MU-2

I-25
PA-2

27.5 AC
MU-2

PA-3
25.9 AC

MU-1

PA-5
27.7 AC

EMP

WCR 48

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU
"VISTA

COMMONS"

CO HWY 60

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

AG/VACANT

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

C
IR

C
LE

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

D
R.

C
O

M
M

ER
C

E 
D

R.
GREAT WESTERN RAILROAD

JO
HN

ST
O

W
N

 T
O

W
N

 L
IM

ITS

S89° 10' 53"W

2310.14'

N
0

°
 
0

9
'
 
0

9
"
W

2
5

7
9

.
1

2
'

N
0

°
 
0

9
'
 
0

9
"
W

6
0

.
0

0
'

N89° 16' 35"E

2255.06'

S
0

°
 
0

7
'
 
1

9
"
E

3
0

.
0

0
'

S

1

2

°
 
1

0

'
 
1

9

"
E

7

1

3

.
6

7

'

S
0

°
 
0

7
'
 
1

4
"
E

1
8

7
5

.
6

3
'

S89° 10' 53"W

98.89'

L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 P
L
A

N

2
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
4
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
L
A

N
D

-
U

S
E

-
P

L
A

N
.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 200'-0"

10
0

20
0

40
0

LEGEND

MIXED USE - 1 (MU-1)

MIXED USE - 2 (MU-2)

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)

EMPLOYMENT (EMP)

A. INTRODUCTION

THE PURPOSE OF THIS SECTION IS TO ESTABLISH GENERAL PROVISIONS AND CLARIFY

STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE WELTY RIDGE PUD.

DUE TO THE SIZE OF LAND AREA CONTAINED WITHIN THIS PUD AND THE

CORRESPONDING LONG TERM BUILD OUT THAT IS ANTICIPATED, A RATHER BROAD

RANGE OF DENSITIES AND/OR SQUARE FOOTAGES HAVE BEEN PROPOSED FOR EACH

LAND USE PARCEL. THESE RANGES WILL ALLOW A VARIETY OF COMMERCIAL, LIGHT

INDUSTRIAL, AND HOUSING PRODUCTS. IN ADDITION TO PROMOTING LAND USE AND

DENSITY FLEXIBILITY, RANGES WILL ACCOMMODATE HOUSING PRODUCT, LAND

PLANNING, MARKET AND TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES INTO THE FUTURE.  REFER TO THE

PLANNING AREA SUMMARY FOR SPECIFIC DENSITIES AND SQUARE FOOTAGES.

B. DENSITY RANGES

RESIDENTIAL DENSITY RANGES ARE SPECIFIED WITHIN EACH ZONE AS LABELED ON THE

LAND USE PLAN (REFER TO THE PLANNING AREA SUMMARY WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT

FOR DENSITY RANGES).  THE FINAL AVERAGE DENSITY OF A DEVELOPMENT PARCEL

MUST BE WITHIN 10% THE SPECIFIED DENSITY RANGE INDICATED FOR THAT PLANNING

AREA.  THE FINAL AVERAGE DENSITY OF A PLANNING AREA SHALL BE BASED ON ALL

RESIDENTIAL UNITS APPROVED THROUGH THE FINAL PLAT PROCESS WITHIN THE

PLANNING AREA, WHETHER APPROVED AS A SINGLE PLAT OR AS MULTIPLE PLATS.

C. MAXIMUM RESIDENTIAL UNITS PER AREA

TRANSFER(S) OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS FROM PLANNING AREA TO PLANNING AREA

(TRANSFER OF UNITS MAY NOT EXCEED 30% OF THE RECIPIENT PLANNING AREA MAX

UNITS PER AREA) MAY BE PERMITTED BY THE DEVELOPER WITH APPROVAL BY THE

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.  UNIT TRANSFERS SHALL BE TRACKED BY

THE DEVELOPER AND PROVIDED TO THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR

WITH EACH SUCH TRANSFER AT THE FINAL PLAT STAGE OF THE SUBDIVISION PROCESS.

HOWEVER, AT NO TIME SHALL THE TOTAL RESIDENTIAL UNITS WITHIN THIS PUD EXCEED

850 WITHOUT AN AMENDMENT TO THE ODP, APPROVED BY TOWN COUNCIL.

D. RESIDENTIAL UNITS TRANFERS

ONCE A PLANNING AREA HAS BEEN FULLY PLATTED THROUGH THE FINAL PLAT

PROCESS, ANY REMAINING RESIDENTIAL DENSITY/UNITS DESIGNATED ON THE PUD

ZONE DOCUMENT WITHIN SAID PLANNING AREA SHALL REMAIN AVAILABLE FOR

TRANSFER TO OTHER REMAINING RECIPIENT PLANNING AREAS.

E. PLANNING AREA BOUNDARIES

PLANNING AREA ACREAGES AND BOUNDARIES ARE CONCEPTUAL AND SUBJECT TO

CHANGE WITH DETAILED PLANNING. PLANNING AREA ACREAGES MAY CHANGE UP TO

30% WITH APPROVAL BY THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.  SUCH

CHANGES WILL RESULT IN CORRESPONDING CHANGES TO THE MAX SQ. FT./AREA OR

MAX UNITS/AREA SHOWN IN THE PLANNING AREA SUMMARY.

IF PLANNING AREA CHANGES ARE MADE, ALL STREET CLASSIFICATIONS (AS SHOWN ON

SHEET 6) ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE.

F. MAXIMUM COMMERCIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE PER AREA

TRANSFER(S) OF COMMERCIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE FROM PLANNING AREA TO PLANNING

AREA (TRANSFER OF SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY NOT EXCEED 30% OF THE RECIPIENT

PLANNING AREA MAX SQ. FT. PER AREA) MAY BE PERMITTED WITH APPROVAL BY THE

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.  SQUARE FOOTAGE TRANSFERS SHALL BE

TRACKED BY THE DEVELOPER AND PROVIDED TO THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

DIRECTOR WITH EACH SUCH TRANSFER AT THE FINAL PLAT STAGE OF THE SUBDIVISION

PROCESS.  HOWEVER, AT NO TIME SHALL THE OVERALL PUD COMMERCIAL SQUARE

FOOTAGE EXCEED 700,000 SQUARE FEET WITHOUT AN AMENDMENT TO THE ODP,

APPROVED BY TOWN COUNCIL.

PLANNING AREA SUMMARY

LAND USE PLAN

G. MAXIMUM OUTDOOR STORAGE

THE USE CATEGORIES OF OUTDOOR STORAGE; RV'S, TRAILER, CAMPER, AND LIMITED

EQUIPMENT (U-HAUL TYPE BUSINESS) RENTALS; AND MOTOR VEHICLE DEALERS/SALES

MAY NOT EXCEED 20% OF LAND AREA IN THE EMP AND MU-1 PLANNING AREAS, TO BE

TRACKED BY THE DIRECTOR AND DEVELOPER. INCREASES OVER 20% ARE

CONDITIONAL AND REQUIRE APPROVAL BY TOWN COUNCIL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 M
A

T
R

IX

3
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
4
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
L
A

N
D

-
U

S
E

-
P

L
A

N
.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1): PREDOMINANTLY A LARGE COMMERCIAL/LIGHT INDUSTRIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE ALLOWS FOR

LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING USES ALONG WITH COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY USES.

MIXED USE 2 (MU-2): PREDOMINANTLY A NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL / RESIDENTIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE PRIMARILY

ALLOWS FOR COMMERCIAL USES ALONG WITH HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL.

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M): THE INTENT IS TO ALLOW FOR SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES AND SINGLE

FAMILY ATTACHED HOMES.

EMPLOYMENT (EMP): THE INTENT IS TO PROVIDE AREAS THAT WILL SERVE AS AN EMPLOYMENT CENTER OR OFFICE

PARK THAT CAN ACCOMMODATE BUT NOT LIMITED TO CORPORATE CAMPUS, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, LIGHT

INDUSTRIAL, OFFICE/FLEX, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION.

LEGEND

X

A

-

C

PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USE

ACCESSORY USE

EXCLUDED USE

CONDITIONAL USE

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1)

MIXED USE 2 (MU-2)

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)

EMPLOYMENT (EMP)

LAND USE

DEFINITIONS:

1. LIGHT INDUSTRIAL - LABOR-INTENSIVE OPERATIONS THAT TYPICALLY PRODUCE PRODUCTS THAT ARE TARGETED TOWARD END

CONSUMERS RATHER THAN OTHER BUSINESSES (I.E. CONSUMER ELECTRONICS, CLOTHING MANUFACTURING, ETC.)

2. CLUSTER HOMES - ANY RESIDENTIAL GROUPING OF AT LEAST TWO HOMES WHICH ACCESS OFF A COMMON/SHARED DRIVE OR

ALLEY.

3. MOTOR COURT - A TYPE OF CLUSTER HOME WITH A SHARED DRIVEWAY IN WHICH SOME OR ALL FRONT DOORS ACCESS OFF

SHARED DRIVEWAY.

4. GREEN COURT - A TYPE OF CLUSTER HOME WITH SHARED DRIVEWAY AND COMMON OPEN AREA.

5. OPEN AREA - A PRIVATELY OR PUBLICLY OWNED AND MAINTAINED LAND AREA OR BODY OF WATER OR BOTH WITHIN A

DEVELOPMENT UPON WHICH THERE ARE NO STRUCTURES, PARKING AREAS, OR DRIVEWAYS. OPEN AREA MAY BE A LANDSCAPED

AREA, PLAZA, RECREATIONAL AREA, SIDEWALKS, OR SUCH OTHER AREAS. LANDSCAPE AND WALKS LOCATED IN RIGHT-OF-WAY CAN

NOT BE COUNTED TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

6. USABLE OPEN AREA - A PARCEL OF LAND OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY A TOWN, METRO DISTRICT, OR HOME OWNERS' ASSOCIATION

WHICH MEETS THE CRITERIA OF OPEN AREA AND IS PROGRAMMED AS AN ACTIVE OR PASSIVE AREA IN WHICH RESIDENTS CAN

UTILIZE THE SPACE FOR, BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO, SEATING, SPORTS, PARKS, TRAILS, OR GARDENS.

7. A LIVE/WORK UNIT IS DEFINED AS A SINGLE UNIT CONSISTING OF BOTH A COMMERCIAL/OFFICE AND A RESIDENTIAL (PRIMARY

DWELLING) COMPONENT THAT IS OCCUPIED BY THE SAME RESIDENT.

*ANIMAL/LIVESTOCK USES ARE CONDITIONAL USES IF WITHIN 250 FEET OF A RESIDENTIAL USE, BUT ARE PERMITTED

USE-BY-RIGHT OUTSIDE OF THE 250 FOOT LIMIT FROM RESIDENTIAL USES.

**ANIMAL BOARDING AND TRAINING IS A CONDITIONAL USE IF WITHIN 250 FEET OF A RESIDENTIAL USE, BUT IS A PERMITTED

USE-BY-RIGHT OUTSIDE OF THE 250 FOOT LIMIT FROM RESIDENTIAL USES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 M
A

T
R

IX

4
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
9
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
L
A

N
D

-
U

S
E

-
P

L
A

N
.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1): PREDOMINANTLY A LARGE COMMERCIAL/LIGHT INDUSTRIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE ALLOWS FOR

LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING USES ALONG WITH COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY USES.

MIXED USE 2 (MU-2): PREDOMINANTLY A NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL / RESIDENTIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE PRIMARILY

ALLOWS FOR COMMERCIAL USES ALONG WITH HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL.

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M): THE INTENT IS TO ALLOW FOR SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES AND SINGLE

FAMILY ATTACHED HOMES.

EMPLOYMENT (EMP): THE INTENT IS TO PROVIDE AREAS THAT WILL SERVE AS AN EMPLOYMENT CENTER OR OFFICE

PARK THAT CAN ACCOMMODATE BUT NOT LIMITED TO CORPORATE CAMPUS, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, LIGHT

INDUSTRIAL, OFFICE/FLEX, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION.

LEGEND

X

A

-

C

PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USE

ACCESSORY USE

EXCLUDED USE

CONDITIONAL USE

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1)

MIXED USE 2 (MU-2)

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)

EMPLOYMENT (EMP)

LAND USE

***SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES ARE NOT PERMITTED WITHIN 300 FEET OF AN ARTERIAL ROAD.

****OUTDOOR STORAGE, AS A PRIMARY USE, MUST BE SETBACK A MINIMUM OF 300 FEET FROM ANY ARTERIAL OR INTERSTATE

RIGHT-OF-WAY. THE ENHANCED SETBACKS DO NOT APPLY TO OUTDOOR STORAGE THAT IS CONSIDERED ACCESSORY TO A

PRIMARY BUSINESS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



POSSIBLE CONNECTIONS TO
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT (TYP.)

PA-4
42.6 AC

R-M

PA-1
20.7 AC

MU-2

IN
TERSTA

TE 25

PA-2
27.5 AC

MU-2

PA-3
25.9 AC

MU-1

PA-5
27.7 AC

EMP

WCR 48
CO HWY 60

GREAT WESTERN RAILROAD

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

C
IR

C
LE

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

D
R.

C
O

M
M

ER
C

E 
D

R.

MAJOR ARTERIAL

FULL MOVEMENT
INTERSECTIONS

LOCAL

2-
LA

N
E 

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

2-
LA

N
E 

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

4-
LA

N
E 

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

C
IR

C
U

L
A

T
IO

N
 P

L
A

N

5
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
4
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
C

I
R

C
U

L
A

T
I
O

N
-
P

L
A

N
.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 200'-0"

10
0

20
0

40
0

LEGEND

COLLECTOR (2-LANE & 4-LANE)

MAJOR ARTERIAL/HIGHWAY

LOCAL

PROPOSED* FULL MOVEMENT

 INTERSECTION

POTENTIAL ACCESS

CIRCULATION PLAN

*DEPENDENT ON TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY AT TIME

OF INDIVIDUAL DEVELOPMENT APPROVALS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



17.5'

WIDTH VARIES

10' SIDEWALK

105' ROW

24'- 71' PAVED

12'-15' TRAVEL

LANE

2%

TREELAWN

UTILITY

80' ROW

5' SIDEWALK
5' SIDEWALK

12' TRAVEL

LANE

16' TWO-WAY

LEFT TURN

LANE

12' TRAVEL

LANE

17.5'

2.5'2.5'

40' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT 6' UTILITY EASEMENT

MAJOR ARTERIAL (INTERIM)

2-LANE COLLECTOR WITH FLUSH MEDIAN

0-15' ACCEL/

DECELL LANE

12' TRAVEL

LANE

0-12' RIGHT

TURN

LANE

0'-17' TWO-WAY

LEFT TURN

LANE

VARIES

VARIES

10' SIDEWALK

150' ROW

2%

FUTURE MAJOR ARTERIAL (ULTIMATE)

COUNTY ROAD 48

12' ACCEL/

DECEL LANE

12' TRAVEL

LANE

12' ACCEL/

DECEL LANE

32' ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT

13' TRAVEL

LANE

13' TRAVEL

LANE

2.5'2.5'

26' PAVED

2%

2
%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT6' UTILITY EASEMENT

PRIVATE ROAD

2%

10' SIDEWALK

VARIES

2.5'

2.5'

ULTIMATE 75' ROW DEDICATION (SOUTH SIDE OF CR 48)EXISTING 30' ROW (NORTH SIDE OF CR 48)

65' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK

15' TRAVEL

LANE

15' TRAVEL

LANE

2.5'

2.5'

30' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT6' UTILITY EASEMENT

NON-RESIDENTIAL LOCAL STREET

15'15'

12' TRAVEL

LANE

12' TRAVEL

LANE

12' TRAVEL

LANE

2.5'

9'

9'

100' ROW

5' SIDEWALK

5' SIDEWALK

12' TRAVEL

LANE

13' TWO-WAY

LEFT TURN

LANE/MEDIAN

12' TRAVEL

LANE

2.5'

2.5'

69' PAVED

2%
2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT

6' UTILITY EASEMENT

4 - LANE COLLECTOR

12' TRAVEL

LANE

12' TRAVEL

LANE
8' 8'

60' ROW

5' SIDEWALK* 5' SIDEWALK*

12' TRAVEL

LANE

12' TRAVEL

LANE

2.5'2.5'

32' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT

6' UTILITY EASEMENT

RESIDENTIAL LOCAL STREET

11.5'11.5'

6' PARKING 6' PARKING

EXISTING COUNTY ROAD 48

EXISTING CENTERLINE

CENTERLINE

CENTERLINE

CENTERLINE
CENTERLINE

CENTERLINE

CENTERLINE

* ATTACHED OR DETACHED WALK AT DISCRETION OF DEVELOPER

4' BIKE LANE
4' BIKE LANE

1.5'

14' MEDIAN/

LEFT

TURN LANE

1.5'

COUNTY ROAD 48

4' BIKE

LANE

4' BIKE

LANE

C
O

N
C

E
P
T

U
A

L
 S

T
R

E
E
T

 S
E
C

T
IO

N
S

6
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
4
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
C

I
R

C
U

L
A

T
I
O

N
-
P

L
A

N
.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM
CONCEPTUAL STREET SECTIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



*

MULTI-TENANT
SIGN

50' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER

PA-4
42.6 AC

R-M

PA-1
20.7 AC

MU-2

I-25

PA-2
27.5 AC

MU-2

PA-3
25.9 AC

MU-1

PA-5
27.7 AC

EMP

WCR 48

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

C
IR

C
LE

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

D
R.

C
O

M
M

ER
C

E 
D

R.

GREAT WESTERN RAILROAD

T
R

A
IL

S 
&

 O
P
E
N

 S
P
A

C
E
 P

L
A

N

7
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
5
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
T

R
A

I
L
S

-
A

N
D

-
O

P
E

N
-
S

P
A

C
E

.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 200'-0"

10
0

20
0

40
0

LEGEND

5' PEDESTRIAN WALK

PARK*
10' PEDESTRIAN WALK

PRIMARY MONUMENTATION

LANDSCAPE BUFFER

OPEN AREA

A. FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS PUD, "OPEN SPACE OR LANDSCAPE AREA" IS REFERRED TO AS "OPEN

AREA."

B. OPEN AREA PROVIDED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS PUD WILL MEET ALL LANDSCAPE AREA, OPEN

SPACE AREA, OR SIMILAR AREAS REQUIRED PER THE JOHNSTOWN CODE REQUIREMENTS.

C. SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED OR ATTACHED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE A MINIMUM 15%

OPEN AREA.

D. MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE A MINIMUM OF 30% OPEN AREA.

E. COMMERCIAL AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE A MINIMUM 20% OPEN AREA.

F. OPEN AREA REQUIREMENTS WILL BE CALCULATED ON A NET BASIS EXCLUDING PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY.

G. LANDSCAPE BUFFERS AND DETENTION PONDS CAN COUNT TOWARDS OPEN AREA

REQUIREMENT.OPEN AREA MAY BE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED INTO LARGER PARCELS (FOR THE

PURPOSES OF DEVELOPING A LARGER AND MORE FUNCTIONAL OPEN AREA) AT THE DISCRETION OF

THE DEVELOPER AND WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPER DIRECTOR. THE

LOCATION(S) OF THE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED OPEN AREA SHALL BE DESIGNATED AT THE TIME OF

EACH PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN THAT IS CONTRIBUTING TO THAT OPEN AREA.

H. OPEN SPACE LOCATED WITHIN A SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED OR SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED LOT CAN

NOT BE COUNTED TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

I. USABLE OPEN AREA CAN COUNT TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

USABLE OPEN AREA

A. WELTY RIDGE REQUIRES A 10% USABLE OPEN AREA FOR RESIDENTIAL AREAS. FOR PURPOSES OF

THIS PUD, THE 10% USABLE OPEN AREA SHALL BE CALCULATED FROM THE TOTAL AREA OF ALL

RESIDENTIAL LOTS AND ADJACENT LOCAL ROADWAYS THAT SERVE AS DIRECT ACCESS TO THE

RESIDENTIAL LOTS.

B. USABLE OPEN AREA PROVIDED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS PUD WILL MEET ALL DEDICATED

OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS PER THE JOHNSTOWN CODE.

C. USABLE OPEN AREA MAY BE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED INTO LARGER PARCELS (FOR THE PURPOSES

OF DEVELOPING AT LARGER AND MORE FUNCTIONAL PARK OR SIMILAR USES) AT THE DISCRETION OF

THE DEVELOPER AND WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR. THE

LOCATION(S) OF THE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED USEABLE OPEN AREA SHALL BE DESIGNATED AT THE

TIME OF EACH FINAL PLAT THAT IS CONTRIBUTING TO THAT AREA.

D. A MINIMUM OF 1 ACRE OF PARK PER 250 RESIDENTIAL UNITS IS REQUIRED.

E. USABLE OPEN AREA MAY OWNED BY THE TOWN, METRO DISTRICT, OR HOA. OWNERSHIP TO BE

DETERMINED AT THE TIME OF PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS

F. WHERE PRACTICAL USABLE OPEN AREA SHOULD BE CONTIGUOUS.

G. DETENTION PONDS CAN COUNT TOWARDS USABLE OPEN AREA REQUIREMENTS AS LONG AS THEY

MEET THE DEFINITION OF USABLE OPEN AREA PROVIDED IN THIS DOCUMENT. NOT MORE THAN 5% OF

THE USABLE OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT CAN BE MET WITH DETENTION PONDS.

TRAILS & OPEN SPACE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



5' SIDE SETBACK

110' IN THIS EXAMPLE

10' MIN REAR SETBACK

5' 
MIN

25' ACCESS / UTILITY EASEMENT

16' MIN
FLOW

LINE TO
FLOW
LINE

11
0'

 IN
 T

HI
S 

EX
A

M
PL

E

10' FRONT SETBACK

GARAGEGARAGE

GARAGE GARAGE

5' SIDEWALK

5' MIN. SIDE YARD

5' MIN. PORCH SETBACK

PORCH PORCH

PORCH PORCH

PORCH

PORCH

PORCH

PORCH

30' MIN GARAGE
SEPARATION

5'

25' ACCESS / UTILITY EASEMENT

G
A

RA
G

E
G

A
RA

G
E

G
A

RA
G

E

G
A

RA
G

E
G

A
RA

G
E

G
A

RA
G

E

PORCH PORCH

PO
RC

H

PO
RC

H

10' SIDE CORNER SETBACK

5' MIN.

5' MIN SIDE SETBACK

23' MIN
FLOW

LINE TO
FLOW
LINE

5' SIDEWALK

11
5'

 IN
 T

HI
S 

EX
A

M
PL

E

124' IN THIS EXAMPLE

10' MIN. BUILDING SEPARATION

10' MIN.
FRONT

SETBACK

30' MIN GARAGE
SEPARATION

PO
RC

H

PO
RC

H

10' MIN.
FRONT

SETBACK

10'
MIN.
SIDE

SETBACK
(CORNER)

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

15' MIN. REAR SETBACK

 8' TREE LAWN

5' SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PUBLIC STREET

10' FRONT SETBACK

5'
FRONT

SETBACK
TO

COVERED
PORCH

PORCH

10' MIN. BUILDING
SEPARATION

5' MIN. SIDE SETBACK

20' MIN. FRONT
SETBACK TO

GARAGE

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

GARAGE

PORCH

PROPERTY
LINE

ALLEY

3' MIN. SETBACK
(ALLEY LOADED )

PROPERTY
LINE

PUBLIC STREET

ZERO LOT
LINE

 8' TREE LAWN

5' SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PUBLIC STREET

ZERO LOT
LINE

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

20'
MIN.

10' MIN.

10' MIN.

D
E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
S

10
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
5
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
-
S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
S

.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

A. ARCHITECTURAL ELEMENTS SUCH AS ROOF OVERHANGS,

FIREPLACES, AND BAY BOX WINDOWS ARE PERMITTED A 24-INCH

ENCROACHMENT INTO BUILDING SEPARATIONS.  NO PORTION OF

THE STRUCTURE ABOVE GROUND MAY ENCROACH INTO THE

THREE-FOOT BUILDING TO PROPERTY LINE SETBACK WITHOUT

MODIFICATION AND BUILDING DEPARTMENT REVIEW AND

APPROVAL.  OTHER SUBSURFACE ARCHITECTURAL ELEMENTS

INCLUDING STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS OF THE BUILDING

FOUNDATION MAY ENCROACH INTO BUILDING SEPARATIONS OR

SETBACKS PROVIDED THAT SUCH ELEMENTS REMAIN ENTIRELY

WITHIN THE LOT UPON WHICH THEY ORIGINATED.  FOUNDATION

WALLS ARE NOT PERMITTED WITHIN ANY SETBACKS.

UNENCLOSED DECKS MAY ENCROACH INTO REAR SETBACKS BUT

SHALL BE LOCATED NO CLOSER THAN 10' (TEN FEET) FROM THE

REAR PROPERTY LINE BUT SHALL NOT ENCROACH INTO A UTILITY

EASEMENT. DECKS SHALL NOT ENCROACH INTO SIDE SETBACK.

B. A ZERO LOT LINE MAY BE UTILIZED WHEN A MAINTENANCE

EASEMENT AND SIDEYARD EASEMENTS ARE EXECUTED SUBJECT

TO I.B.C. REQUIREMENTS.

C. SETBACK MEANS THE HORIZONTAL DISTANCE BETWEEN ANY

STRUCTURE AND THE ESTABLISHED STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

OR PROPERTY LINE.

D. SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED (SFD) AND SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED

(SFA) FRONT LOADED GARAGES REQUIRE A MINIMUM 18'

DRIVEWAY FROM THE GARAGE FACE TO THE BACK OF WALK.

E. ANY LAND USE OF A LOWER DENSITY MAY BE DEVELOPED WITHIN

A HIGHER DENSITY PARCEL AS LONG AS IT FOLLOWS STANDARDS

OF THE LOWER DENSITY LISTED IN THE TABLES.

F. ALLEY LOADED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MAY FRONT ON AN

ARTERIAL STREET WITH APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING AND

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.

* OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.)

** ACCESSORY USE BUILDING HEIGHT TO BE LESS THAN PRIMARY BUILDING HEIGHT.

* OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.)

* OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.)

CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE A - GREEN COURT

CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE B - MOTOR COURT

ALLEY LOAD SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED TYPICALFRONT LOAD SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED TYPICAL

ZERO LOT LINE TYPICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



D
E
SI

G
N

 G
U

ID
E
L
IN

E
S

11
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
5
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
D

E
S

I
G

N
-
G

U
I
D

E
L
I
N

E
S

.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

DESIGN GUIDELINES

PART 1 - INTRODUCTION

1.1 STATEMENT OF INTENT

WELTY RIDGE IS A +/- 145 ACRE MASTER-PLANNED COMMUNITY

LOCATED WEST OF INTERSTATE 25 IN THE SOUTHWEST

CORNER OF THE I-25 & WCR48/SH-60. THIS MIXED USE PROJECT

INCLUDES PARCELS DESIGNATED FOR MULTIPLE TYPES OF

RESIDENTIAL, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND

OFFICE USES. THE OVERALL CHARACTER OF WELTY RIDGE

MUST BE EVIDENT AND MAINTAINED TO ENSURE THE QUALITY

AND COHESIVENESS DESIRED IN THIS EMERGING PART OF

NORTHERN COLORADO. THE GUIDELINES WILL SERVE AS A

DESIGN CONCEPT FOR ULTIMATE DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT.

HIGH QUALITY DEVELOPMENT IS ENCOURAGED ALONG THE

INTERSTATE 25 CORRIDOR IN GENERAL. WELTY RIDGE WILL BE

VISIBLE FROM THE INTERSTATE, AND ITS DEVELOPMENT WILL

FORM A FIRST IMPRESSION OF THE COMMUNITY.

THE DESIGN GUIDELINES SHALL BE UTILIZED BY RESIDENTS,

DEVELOPERS, ARCHITECTS, ENGINEERS AND PLANNERS FOR

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION DIRECTION WITHIN THIS PUD. ALL

DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN WELTY RIDGE ARE SUBJECT TO THE

DESIGN GUIDELINES CONTAINED HEREIN. IN CASES WHERE

THIS DOCUMENT IS SILENT, THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN

STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS SHALL APPLY.

PART 2 - GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES

2.1  APPLICABILITY

THIS SECTION APPLIES TO ALL DEVELOPMENT WITHIN WELTY

RIDGE AND PROVIDES GENERAL STANDARDS UPON WHICH THE

SUBSEQUENT SECTIONS WILL BUILD TO PROVIDE GREATER

CLARITY FOR SPECIFIC LAND USES. ALL GOVERNING LOCAL

CODES, REGULATIONS, AND STATUTES ENFORCED BY THE

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN WILL APPLY.

2.2 LANDSCAPING

2.2.1 LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES

ALL DEVELOPMENT SHALL DEMONSTRATE ADHERENCE TO 

THE FOLLOWING LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES:

· DESIGN TO PROVIDE AN ATTRACTIVE, COMFORTABLE

ENVIRONMENT FOR USERS WHILE MINIMIZING

MAINTENANCE NEEDS, IRRIGATION WATER

REQUIREMENTS AND THE USE OF HERBICIDES AND

PESTICIDES.

· DESIGN LANDSCAPES TO CREATE A NATURALIZED

APPEARANCE. USE PLANT MATERIALS THAT ARE

INDIGENOUS TO NORTHERN COLORADO WHERE POSSIBLE.

ONLY USE INTRODUCED SPECIES IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE

DESIGN OBJECTIVES THAT CANNOT BE ACHIEVED WITH

THE USE OF NATIVE SPECIES.

· COORDINATE THE DESIGN OF THE LANDSCAPE WITH SITE

EROSION PROTECTION, STORM DRAINAGE AND WATER

QUALITY IMPROVEMENT SYSTEMS.

· DESIGN AND MANAGE IRRIGATION SYSTEMS TO ACHIEVE

PEAK EFFICIENCY.

2.2.2 STREETSCAPE DESIGN

WELTY RIDGE ENTRIES WILL CONTAIN BOTH SIGNAGE AND

LANDSCAPING THAT TIE INTO THE OVERALL STREETSCAPE

DESIGN. THE LAND USE PLAN (SHEET 2) ILLUSTRATES THE

MAJOR AND MINOR ENTRIES INTO THE SITE. IN ORDER TO

CREATE AN APPROPRIATE LANDSCAPE CORRIDOR ALONG

CR48, LARGE MASSES OF TREES AND SHRUBS ARE REQUIRED.

THE RIGHT-OF-WAY (ROW) WILL BE PRIMARILY DROUGHT-

TOLERANT TURF OR IRRIGATED NATIVE SEED. THIS

TREATMENT WILL TRANSITION TO DRIFTS OF

SHRUB/PERENNIAL BEDS AND TREE GROUPINGS THAT

MEANDER FROM JUST INSIDE THE ROW TO THE EDGE OF

LANDSCAPE BUFFERS AND BACK. THE GOAL IS TO AVOID A

STRAIGHT-LINE TREATMENT AT THE EDGE OF THE ROW. WALKS

WILL BE DETACHED AND MEANDER WITHIN THE ROW AND

OUTSIDE OF THE ROW INTO THE LANDSCAPE BUFFER IF

DESIRED. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A SIMILAR FASHION OR

WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED CONCRETE

(SHEET 12, EXHIBIT A).

COLLECTOR & ARTERIAL STREETS:

PLANTING OF ARTERIAL AND COLLECTOR STREETS WILL BE

TREATED IN A SIMILAR FASHION IN ORDER TO CREATE A

UNIFIED AND SIGNIFICANT STREETSCAPE IMAGE. THE

STREETSCAPE DESIGN SHALL EMPHASIZE XERISCAPE

PRINCIPLES AND A UNIQUE LOOK THAT SETS WELTY RIDGE

APART. TREES AND PERENNIALS SHALL BE PLANTED WITHIN

THE PUBLIC ROW, WHILE SHRUBS MAY BE PLANTED OUTSIDE

THE PUBLIC ROW. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A SIMILAR

FASHION OR WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED

CONCRETE.

ARTERIAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER:

A 30' AVERAGE LANDSCAPE BUFFER WILL BE PROVIDED ALONG

WCR48 WITH A MINIMUM WIDTH OF 20'.

SIGHT DISTANCE LINES:

NO PLANTING OVER 30" IN HEIGHT SHALL OCCUR WITHIN A

SIGHT DISTANCE LINES. REFER TO AASHTO REQUIREMENTS

REGARDING SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLES.

2.3 PARKS, OPEN AREA, REGIONAL DETENTION AND

NATURAL AREAS

THE DESIGN OF PARKS, OPEN AREA, DETENTION AND NATURAL

AREAS SHALL MEET THE CRITERIA AS ESTABLISHED IN THE

JOHNSTOWN/MILLIKEN PARKS, TRAILS, RECREATION AND OPEN

SPACE PLAN.  FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS MAY BE SUBMITTED

IN STAGES BY PHASE.  AS SUCH, THE OPEN AREA DESIGN,

APPROVAL AND LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION WILL OCCUR AS

THE LOTS DEVELOP.

2.4 SITE SIGNAGE

2.4.1 PURPOSE

THE OBJECTIVE OF THE WELTY RIDGE  SIGNAGE PROGRAM IS

TO HELP TO CREATE A UNIFIED IMAGE FOR THE COMMUNITY.

ALL FREESTANDING SIGNAGE WITHIN THE DEVELOPMENT WILL

BEAR THE STYLE AND LOGO OF WELTY RIDGE, HOWEVER

INDIVIDUAL LOGOS AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED ON THE SIGN

FACE. FREESTANDING SIGNS LOCATED THROUGHOUT THE

DEVELOPMENT ARE UNIFIED THROUGH THE USE OF SIMILAR

GEOMETRY AND A REPETITION OF A COMMON MATERIALS

PALETTE.

BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNS ARE REGULATED BY LIMITING SIZE.

HOWEVER, TENANT LOGOS AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED. THE

SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS ARE CONGRUENT WITH THE TOWN

OF JOHNSTOWN SIGN CODE. ANY VARIATIONS ARE NOTED.

NO BLINKING LIGHT SIGNAGE WILL BE ALLOWED.

MULTI-TENANT FREESTANDING SIGNS ALONG CR48 WILL MEET

THE TOWN CODE. IF A VARIATION FROM THE CODE IS

REQUIRED A MASTER SIGNAGE PLAN WILL BE PROVIDED.

ONE MULTI-TENANT FREESTANDING SIGN SHALL BE ALLOWED

ON I-25 WITH A MAXIMUM HEIGHT OF 45' (SHEET 12, EXHIBIT C).

ANY VARIATION FROM THIS WILL REQUIRE A MASTER SIGNAGE

PLAN.

2.5 FENCING & WALLS

CHAIN LINK IS ONLY ACCEPTABLE IN THE "EMP" AREA BY

INDUSTRIAL USES AND MUST BE VINYL COATED. CHAIN LINK IS

NOT PERMITTED WITH ANY OTHER USE. OTHER FENCING

MATERIALS SUCH AS SIMULATED WROUGHT IRON AND / OR

CONCRETE OR MASONRY MAY BE REQUIRED DEPENDING UPON

SCREENING NEEDS AND COMPATIBILITY WITH ADJACENT USES.

NO WOOD RETAINING WALLS ARE ALLOWED (NONRESIDENTIAL

ONLY). FENCING AND WALLS SHALL MATCH PRIMARY BUILDING

ARCHITECTURE.

2.6 DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES

DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES ARE A CONVENIENT SERVICE;

HOWEVER, THEY CAN CREATE BARRIERS TO PEDESTRIAN

MOVEMENT AND PRESENT AN UNATTRACTIVE APPEARANCE

UNLESS THEY ARE THOUGHTFULLY DESIGNED AND LOCATED.

DRIVE THROUGH WINDOWS, MENU BOARDS AND STACKING

AREAS SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE SAME SETBACK AND

SCREENING REQUIREMENTS AS PARKING LOTS.

PART 3 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS

THESE STANDARDS REPRESENT MINIMUM ARCHITECTURE AND

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR THE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS

IN AN EFFORT TO CREATE A COHESIVE OVERALL WELTY RIDGE

DEVELOPMENT ACROSS MULTIPLE BUILDERS AND PRODUCTS.

ADDITIONAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS MAY BE INCLUDED

AS MORE DETAILED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT

PLANS ARE CREATED FOR EACH PLANNING AREA, PHASE,

AND/OR RESIDENTIAL PRODUCT.

3.1 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED AND DETACHED

ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

3.1.1 APPLICABILITY

ALL SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED AND ATTACHED DWELLINGS

SHALL CONFORM TO ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF

THESE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS, AS WELL AS APPLICABLE

REQUIREMENTS OF THE ADOPTED BUILDING CODE

REQUIREMENTS.

3.1.2 EXTERIOR CHANGES

EXTERIOR MATERIAL CHANGES SHOULD OCCUR AT CHANGES

IN THE PLANE OF THE BUILDING, NOT EXCLUSIVELY AT THE

OUTSIDE CORNERS.

3.1.3 GARAGES

ALL SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES SHALL INCLUDE A

MINIMUM 2-CAR GARAGE, EITHER ATTACHED OR DETACHED, AS

PART OF THE NEW CONSTRUCTION OR PLACEMENT.

3.1.4 PRODUCT VARIATION

APPLICABILITY:

THE FOLLOWING HOUSING MODEL VARIETY STANDARDS SHALL

APPLY TO ALL NEW RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISIONS AND

DEVELOPMENTS. THESE STANDARDS ARE INTENDED TO

PREVENT MONOTONOUS STREETSCAPES AND OFFER

CONSUMERS A WIDE CHOICE OF HOUSING STYLES.

EACH HOUSING MODEL SHALL PROVIDE AND EXHIBIT AT LEAST

THREE FEATURES THAT CLEARLY AND OBVIOUSLY

DISTINGUISH THEM FROM OTHER HOUSING MODELS.  THESE

FEATURES CAN INCLUDE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. BUILDING MASS - BUILDING MASS IS CONSIDERED TO BE

THE OUTLINE OF THE STRUCTURE.  THIS IS

DETERMINED BY THE HEIGHT, WIDTH, AND DEPTH OF

THE STRUCTURE.

2. BUILDING FORM - BUILDING FORM IS CONSIDERED TO

BE THE STYLE OF THE HOME, INCLUDING RANCH,

TRI-LEVEL OR TWO-STORY STRUCTURES.

3. ROOF TYPE - ROOF TYPES CONSIST OF MANSARD, HIP,

GAMBREL, GABLE, AND FRONT-TO-BACK (SHED STYLE).

DIFFERENTIATION MAY ALSO BE ACHIEVED THROUGH

THE USE OF ROOF DORMERS, GABLES, AND HIPS.  FLAT

OR A-FRAMES ROOFS SHOULD BE AVOIDED UNLESS

APPROPRIATE TO THE ARCHITECTURAL STYLE.

4. WINDOWS AND DOORS - THE VERTICAL OR HORIZONTAL

VARIATION IN THE PLACEMENT OF AT LEAST TWO

WINDOWS AND/OR DOORS ON THE FRONT FACADE

ELEVATION OR WINDOW SHAPES THAT ARE

SUBSTANTIALLY DIFFERENT. THIS STANDARD ALSO

APPLIES TO ANY ELEVATION FACING A STREET, OPEN

SPACE OR PUBLIC / PRIVATE PARK.

5. THE USE OF AT LEAST TWO DIFFERENT MATERIALS ON

THE FRONT FACADE ELEVATION.

6. GARAGES.  VARIATION IN THE LOCATION AND/OR

PROPORTION OF GARAGES AND GARAGE DOORS, SUCH

AS ALLEY-LOADED GARAGES, SIDE-LOADED GARAGES,

ETC.  (2-CAR GARAGE VS. 3-CAR GARAGE OF THE SAME

ELEVATION DO NOT MEET THE INTENT).

7. VARIATIONS IN THE LOCATION, WIDTH, AND

PROPORTION OF FRONT PORCHES (MIN. SIZE 6'x6").

8. MINOR COSMETIC CHANGES SUCH AS DIFFERENT PAINT

COLOR, REVERSING OR CREATING MIRRORED IMAGES

OF THE EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS,

SHUTTERS, DECORATIVE BRACKETS, OR USING

DIFFERENT BRICK OR STONE COLOR SHALL NOT MEET

THE INTENT OF THIS SECTION.

THE SAME HOUSING MODEL WITH THE IDENTICAL STREET

ELEVATION DESIGN (OR NEARLY IDENTICAL) SHALL NOT BE

PLACED LESS THAN THREE AWAY OR DIRECTLY ACROSS THE

STREET FROM ONE ANOTHER. “ACROSS THE STREET” IS

DEFINED AS LOTS THAT OVERLAP EACH OTHER WHEN THE

SIDE LOT LINES ARE EXTENDED ACROSS THE STREET TO THE

OPPOSITE LOT.  THE SAME HOUSING MODEL USED AT THE END

OF ONE BLOCK SHALL NOT BE REPEATED ON THE FIRST LOT

OF THE NEIGHBORING BLOCK.

IDENTICAL OR NEARLY IDENTICAL STREET ELEVATION DESIGN

MEANS LITTLE OR NO VARIATION IN THE ARTICULATION OF THE

FAÇADE, HEIGHT OR WIDTH OF THE FAÇADE, PLACEMENT OF

THE PRIMARY ENTRANCES, PORCHES, NUMBER AND

PLACEMENT OF WINDOWS, AND OTHER MAJOR

ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES.

3.2 CLUSTERED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

3.2.1 GENERAL

CLUSTER HOMES ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC STREET AND

LOCATED ON A MOTOR COURT OR GREEN COURT SHALL HAVE

A SIDE FACING GARAGE. THE GARAGE SHALL FACE THE MOTOR

COURT OR SHARED DRIVE NOT THE PUBLIC STREET (SHEET 12,

EXHIBIT B).

3.2.2 ACCESS

IF FOUR OR FEWER UNITS ACCESS FROM A SHARED DRIVE,

THE MINIMUM DRIVE WIDTH IS 16 FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME

EXAMPLE B - MOTOR COURT ON SHEET 10). IF 5 OR MORE

UNITS ACCESS OFF A COMMON DRIVE THE MINIMUM DRIVE

WIDTH IS 23 FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE A - GREEN

COURT ON SHEET 10).

GARAGES FACING ONTO SHARED DRIVES MUST HAVE A

MINIMUM FACE TO FACE SEPARATION OF 30 FEET.

3.1.3 FACADES

EXTERIOR FACADES SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CURRENT

STANDARDS AND DESIGN GUIDELINES EXCEPT AS FOLLOWS:

IN ORDER TO BE CONSIDERED A DISTINCT ELEVATION, EACH

ELEVATION SHALL INCORPORATE AT LEAST THREE OF THE

FOLLOWING:

1. PLACEMENT OF WINDOWS ON THE FRONT FAÇADE

ELEVATION INCLUDE AT LEAST A TWO-FOOT VERTICAL

OR HORIZONTAL VARIATION IN SIZE OR LOCATION.

2. THE USE OF DIFFERENT MATERIALS OR VARIATIONS OF

THE SAME MATERIAL ON THE FRONT FAÇADE

ELEVATION.

3. VARIATIONS IN FRONT PLANE.

4. VARIATION IN ROOF TYPE, GABLE AND HIP.

NO MORE THAN TWO (2) OF THE SAME MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE

PERMITTED WITHIN A MOTOR OR GREEN COURT. IF TWO

MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE LOCATED WITHIN THE SAME MOTOR

COURT THEY MUST USE DIFFERENT COLORS OR MATERIALS.

NO HOME MODEL ELEVATION SHALL BE REPEATED DIRECTLY

ACROSS ANY STREET. THIS APPLIES TO STREET SIDE HOMES

ONLY. THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO UNITS LOCATED INTERIOR TO

THE MOTOR COURT OR GREEN COURT.

ALL “STREET SIDE CLUSTER HOMES” SHALL MEET THE

FOLLOWING:

1. THE FRONT FAÇADE OF THE HOME INCORPORATES A

COVERED PORCH.

3.3 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL ARCHITECTURAL

STANDARDS

3.3.1 BUILDING DESIGN

THE ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN APPROACH SHALL EMPHASIZE

COMPATIBILITY WITH EXISTING DEVELOPMENT AND SITE

DESIGN.

THE DESIGN OF NEW STRUCTURES IN OR ADJACENT TO

EXISTING DEVELOPED AREAS SHALL BE COMPATIBLE WITH, OR

AN UPGRADE TO, THE ESTABLISHED ARCHITECTURAL

CHARACTER OF SUCH AREAS.  COMPATIBILITY MAY BE

ACHIEVED THROUGH TECHNIQUES SUCH AS:

1. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES.

2. USE OF SIMILAR PROPORTIONS IN BUILDING MASS AND

OUTDOOR SPACES.

3. SIMILAR RELATIONSHIPS TO THE STREET.

4. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND DOOR PATTERNS.

5. BUILDING MATERIALS WITH SIMILAR COLORS AND

TEXTURES.

TREAT ALL SIDES WITH SIMILAR MATERIALS.  MULTI-FAMILY

BUILDING FACADES SHALL BE ARTICULATED WITH PORCHES,

BALCONIES, BAYS OR OTHER OFFSETS.

ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHOULD BE SIMILAR IN CHARACTER

AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY BUILDINGS.

3.3.2 FACADES

FACADES THAT FACE A STREET OR PARKING AREA SHALL NOT

HAVE A BLANK, UNINTERRUPTED LENGTH EXCEEDING 50 FEET

WITHOUT INCLUDING AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. CHANGE IN PLANE.

2. CHANGE IN COLOR, TEXTURE OR PATTERN, MATERIAL.

3. WINDOWS.

4. COLUMNS, PIERS OR EQUIVALENT ELEMENT THAT

SUBDIVIDES THE WALL.

FACADES GREATER THAN 150 FEET IN LENGTH SHALL

INCORPORATE WALL PLANE PROJECTIONS OR RECESSES

HAVING A DEPTH OF AT LEAST 2% OF THE LENGTH OF THE

FACADE AND OCCUPY AT LEAST 20% OF THE LENGTH OF THE

FACADE.

3.3.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES

PRIMARY BUILDING ENTRANCES SHALL BE CLEARLY DEFINED

AND PROVIDE SHELTER, AND INCLUDE A MINIMUM OF TWO (2)

OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. CANOPY, ARCADE OR PORTICO.

2. OVERHANG OR RECESS.

3. RAISED CORNICED PARAPET.

4. PEAKED ROOF OR ARCH.

5. ARCHITECTURAL DETAIL SUCH AS COLUMNS, TILE

WORK, STONE OR MOLDINGS INTEGRATED INTO THE

BUILDING STRUCTURE.

6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS THAT

INCORPORATE LANDSCAPED AREAS AND/OR PLACES

FOR SITTING.

7. SPECIAL LANDSCAPE OR SITE FEATURE(S).

3.3.4 ROOF AND TOP TREATMENTS

ROOFTOP MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT MUST BE NON-OBTRUSIVE,

SCREENED FROM VIEW OR DESIGNED TO BE INTEGRAL

COMPONENTS OF THE BUILDING.

THE AVERAGE PARAPET HEIGHT MAY NOT EXCEED 15% OF THE

SUPPORTING WALL HEIGHT.

LARGE SLOPED ROOFS MUST HAVE VARIATIONS IN HEIGHT OR

OFFSETS TO BREAK UP THE LARGE PLANE WITH A MAXIMUM

100 LINEAR FEET OF ONE PLANE.

ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHALL BE OF THE SAME CHARACTER

AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY BUILDINGS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



WELTY

TENANT 1

45'

TENANT 2

TENANT 3

TENANT 4

TENANT 5

TENANT 6

PUBLIC STREET

D
RI

V
E

MOTOR COURT

GREEN COURT

STREET TREES

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

BACKYARD FRONT DOOR

COMMON/SHARED
GREEN SPACE, TYP.

GREEN COURT

RIGHT-OF-WAY

STREET TREES

PERENNIALS

DROUGHT-TOLERANT
SHRUBS

SIDEWALK

DROUGHT -TOLERANT
 TURF

IRRIGATED
NATIVE SEED

PUBLIC
STREET

FLOW LINE

30' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER (SHRUBS

ALLOWED)
ROW (NO SHRUBS)

D
E
SI

G
N

 G
U

ID
E
L
IN

E
S

12
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

1
2
/
2
0
/
2
0
1
9
 
3
:
2
5
 
P

M
 
;
 
P

:
\
P

L
A

T
T

E
 
L
A

N
D

 
&

 
W

A
T

E
R

\
G

R
E

A
T

 
P

L
A

I
N

S
 
-
W

E
L
T

Y
\
C

A
D

\
S

U
B

M
I
T

T
A

L
S

\
W

E
L
T

Y
 
O

D
P

\
W

E
L
T

Y
-
O

D
P

-
D

E
S

I
G

N
-
G

U
I
D

E
L
I
N

E
S

.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

 PART 4 - COMMERCIAL, OFFICE AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

4.1 GENERAL

THESE DESIGN STANDARDS APPLY TO THE CREATION OF AND

IMPROVEMENTS TO HIGH VISIBILITY, NEIGHBORHOOD, COMMUNITY

AND  REGIONAL-SCALE COMMERCIAL AREAS. REQUIREMENTS

APPLICABLE TO THE OVERALL NATURE OF THE PUD CAN BE FOUND

IN THE GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES (PART 2) AND SHOULD BE

VIEWED AS COMPLEMENTARY.

4.1.1 CONTEXT/SCALE

IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE COHESIVE DESIGNS WITHIN EACH AREA OF

DEVELOPMENT, ATTENTION MUST BE PAID TO BUILDINGS AND

FEATURES SURROUNDING THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENT.

THE DESIGN OF BUILDINGS WHICH FACE PUBLIC STREETS,

ADJACENT DEVELOPMENTS, OR CONNECTED PEDESTRIAN SPACES,

SHALL EMPLOY, ALONG A MINIMUM OF FORTY (40) PERCENT OF THE

FACADE, AT LEAST TWO OF THE FOLLOWING IN AN EFFORT TO FORM

COHESIVE DEVELOPMENT, DEFINE THE SPACES, AND TO BRING A

PEDESTRIAN SCALE TO THE FACADES. THIS REQUIREMENT IS FOR

ALL ELEVATIONS (360◦ DESIGN)

1. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND PATTERNS

2. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES

3. SIMILAR BUILDING MATERIALS AND TEXTURES

4. SHADING DEVICES (INCLUDING ARCADES, AWNINGS AND

ARBORS)

5. SIMILAR PROPORTIONS OF ELEMENTS

4.1.2 ARTICULATION

WALL DESIGN FOR ALL FACADES SHALL VARY AT LEAST EVERY FIFTY

(50) HORIZONTAL FEET BY USE OF AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE

FOLLOWING:

1. CHANGES IN COLOR, TEXTURE, OR MATERIALS.

2. CHANGES IN WALL PLANE PROJECTIONS, REVEALS,

ENTRANCES, AND RECESSES WITH A MINIMUM CHANGE OF

ONE FOOT.

3. CHANGE IN GLAZING / CURTAIN WALL

4. VARIETY IN ROOFS: SUCH AS PITCH, HEIGHT, AND STYLE.

5. ENHANCED ARTICULATION ALONG PEDESTRIAN PATHS

4.1.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES

PUBLIC BUILDING ENTRANCES SHOULD BE CLEARLY DEFINED AND

FEATURE AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING ELEMENTS:

1. CANOPIES OR PORTICOS

2. OVERHANGS OR RECESSES OR PROJECTIONS

3. ARCADES

4. ARCHES

5. DISPLAY WINDOWS ALONG SIDEWALKS

6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS WITH INCORPORATED

LANDSCAPE AREAS AND/OR PLACES FOR SITTING

7. DISTINCTIVE ROOF FORMS

8. AWNINGS

9. COLUMNS, TILE WORK, MOLDINGS, AND STONE INTEGRATED

INTO THE DESIGN OF THE BUILDING

4.1.4 MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT, LOADING AREA, AND OUTDOOR

STORAGE

ALL LOADING DOCKS, ACCESSORY OUTDOOR STORAGE AND

SERVICE YARDS SHALL BE LOCATED TO THE SIDE AND REAR YARDS

OF BUILDINGS.

ALL OUTDOOR STORAGE YARDS, LOADING DOCKS, SERVICE AREAS

AND MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT SHALL BE CONCEALED FROM VIEW

FROM RESIDENTIAL USES AND PUBLIC ROW BY A COMBINATION OF

SCREENS AND SCREENING MATERIAL (PLANTS) AT LEAST AS HIGH AS

THE EQUIPMENT OR AREAS THEY HIDE. THEY SHALL BE DESIGNED

WITH COLORS AND MATERIALS SIMILAR TO THOSE USED ON THE

BUILDING ARCHITECTURE. PLANTS USED IN COMBINATION WITH

SCREENS/FENCING SHALL BE EVERGREEN.

4.1.5 FENCES

ALL FENCING SHALL CONSIST OF WOODEN, STAKE, PARCEL PICKET,

SPLIT RAIL, VINYL, WROUGHT IRON, AND/OR MASONRY. CHAIN LINK

WILL ONLY BE ACCEPTED IN "EMP" AREAS FOR INDUSTRIAL USES.

EXCESSIVE FENCING SHALL BE AVOIDED THROUGH THE USE OF

STAGGERING, LANDSCAPE, BUFFER, AND ANCHOR MATERIALS.

4.1.6 RETAINING WALLS

ANY PORTION OF CONCRETE OR MASONRY RETAINING WALLS

VISIBLE FROM PUBLIC STREETS WILL BE COVERED WITH

DECORATIVE MATERIALS SUCH AS STONE, BRICK OR STUCCO.

MULTI-TENANT HIGHWAY SIGN EXAMPLE (EXHIBIT C)

CLUSTER HOME CONCEPTUAL PLAN (EXHIBIT B)STREETSCAPE TYPICAL (EXHIBIT A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



 

 

 

Welty Ridge 

Outline Development Plan 

 
As presented to Planning & Zoning Commission on 

December 11, 2019 

 



 
 

1 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
AGENDA MEMORANDUM 

  
ITEM:   Welty Ridge PUD – Outline Development Plan (ODP) 
 
DESCRIPTION: The Welty Ridge ODP provides a wide mix of uses in a master planned area, 

encompassing 144.4 acres. This ODP amends and supersedes the prior approved Veeman 
Annexation ODP. 

  
LOCATION:   South of WCR 48, West of I-25                
  
APPLICANT:   Platte Land & Water, LLC 
 
STAFF:  Kim Meyer, Planning & Development Director 
 
HEARING DATE: December 11, 2019 
 
  
OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN PROCESS 
An Outline Development Plan (ODP) is the first step in defining the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning– 
as each is unique; future Preliminary and Final Development Plans follow with increasing levels of detail and site 
specificity.  
 
As previously presented to the Planning & Zoning Commission and Town Council, Town Staff has updated the 
contents of an ODP to expand on the base requirements contained in the Municipal Code. This “pilot program” 
has been undertaken with informed participation of the Applicant. An ODP now requires a larger body of 
information and study, including early stage (“30%”) engineering reports (traffic, utilities, drainage, etc.), to 
ensure the feasibility of the land uses, intensity, and densities shown in the ODP. As the document that establishes 
basic development standards and land uses, similar to a zoning code, an ODP is adopted as an Ordinance by Town 
Council, to have the force of zoning requirements for that PUD, with the analysis, studies, and reports included 
as part of that case file as evidence, by reference.  
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Town of Johnstown is considering a request for an updated ODP for the 144.4-acre Welty Ridge PUD, which 
replaces the Veeman Annexation ODP. This site is planned for a mix of land uses, development intensity, and 
residential densities. The ODP defines specific “planning areas” and the land uses and densities for each area, as 
well as conceptual level utility, drainage, and transportation network planning to provide basic feasibility analysis 
for the land uses proposed.  
 
  



Welty Ridge ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

2 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Vicinity Map  
B. Prior ODP 
C. Outline Development Plan Sheets 
D. Land Use Tables & Definitions (ODP Excerpt) 
E. Land Use Development Standards Matrices (ODP Excerpt) 
F. ODP Text (ODP Excerpt) 

 

PROPERTY DATA 
Location:   South of WCR 48, West of I-25                
Property Size:     144.4 Acres 
Current Zoning/Land Use(s):  PUD-MU currently undeveloped ag 
Surrounding Zoning/Land Uses: 

North:  Gateway Area (retail, light industrial)  
South:  Railroad, undeveloped ag Weld Co.  
East:  I-25, pending Kerr-McGee Well site, undeveloped ag  
West:  Weld Co undev ag land 
 

BACKGROUND  
Veeman Annexation (144 acres) See Attachment B. 

• Annexed into Johnstown in March of 2008, with Zoning Ordinance to PUD-MU 
• Annexation agreement specifies uses are Commercial, Light Industrial and Multifamily, no light industrial 

along the I-25 frontage – NOTE: Any action on this ODP will be fully contingent upon resolution of the 
conflicts between the annexation agreement and the proposed ODP. 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN REVIEW & ANALYSIS 
Land Use Framework Plan   
The exhibit below shows a snippet from the Comprehensive Plan for the Welty Ridge ODP area, which includes: 

• Employment 
• Activity Center at I-25, envisioning larger scale retail, employment, industrial uses  

 

The proposed ODP does include a mix of 
residential uses as well as commercial, 
industrial, and employment uses. Staff 
believes the more “complete” neighborhood 
created by providing a balanced mix of uses 
is favorable and supportable by the written 
goals of the comprehensive plan. 
Additionally, with numerous other projects 
planned in Johnstown, designating a full 144 
acres for commercial and employment uses 
only could conceivably push the absorption 
time for that land out to the point where 
development and the necessary financing 
may become infeasible. 
 
 



Welty Ridge ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

3 

Staff believes the proposed Welty Ridge ODP satisfies or otherwise helps to further the following goals, as 
excerpted from the comprehensive plan:  
 

Community Form (CF) 
Goal CF 1. New development achieves the community’s goals and is consistent with the Town’s vision. 

Contiguous, compact pattern. Promote the efficient use of land and other resources by encouraging an 
orderly, contiguous pattern of compact urban development and minimizing single‐use or low‐density, 
dispersed development. 
Extension of public services and facilities. Direct community growth in a manner that will provide for 
the efficient and effective extension of public services and facilities. 
Provision of infrastructure. All new development is expected to install paved streets, curbs, gutters 
and sidewalks, storm sewer lines, sanitary sewer lines, required water lines, and all other required 
services according to Town standards; and include participation in the oversizing of facilities where 
necessary. 
Fair share of the cost of growth. Maintain current impact fees and dedication requirements which help 
the Town collect adequate funds for improvements such as water or sewer line oversizing, arterial 
streets, parks, etc. 
 

Goal CC 1 (Centers) Walkable, mixed‐use economic centers. 
Hierarchy of mixed‐use centers. Create a hierarchy of mixed‐use Gateway and Village Centers. 
Recognize that Gateway Centers along the I‐25 corridor and the Downtown are the largest scale 
commercial areas. 
Center size. Encourage centers to have sufficient critical mass and a range of goods and services. 
Avoid small, fragmented strip‐ type commercial. 
Market‐driven centers. Encourage mixed‐use centers that will allow for the market‐driven 
development of a wide array of retail, commercial, employment and residential land uses, and that will 
encourage a synergy between land uses. 
Center location. Locate centers where existing economic activity, infrastructure, and regional 
transportation systems can be maximized. 
Residential activity in centers. Surround centers with moderate to high density neighborhoods within 
a walkable distance (typically ½ mile). 
Employment. Centers in combination with Districts and Downtown should form a network of 
employment opportunities linked by the Town’s transportation system. 

 

Districts (DD) – Employment Districts (Employment, Commercial and Commercial-Mixed-Use) are focused 
on major transportation corridors that shape the location of major concentrations of retail, office and industrial 
uses. Districts provide regional, highway and auto serving commercial, office, and light-industrial uses that are 
dependent upon high traffic counts and volume. The flexible nature of a district allows the accommodation of 
manufacturing and light industry along with major big-box retailers. Siting requirements for industry should 
include parcel size, topography, access to rail and transportation, proximity to other like uses, land use 
compatibility and other infrastructure requirements. Districts should be focused along major highways, 
including I-25 and U.S. 34 and should have adequate utility and infrastructure system capacities. 
Goal DD 1 (Districts) A diversified economic base with employment opportunities available to the region. 

District mix. Establish districts that include a combination of employment, commercial and 
commercial‐mixed‐use areas that diversify the Town’s economic base. 
District location. Locate district land uses in locations that capitalize on the market, transportation 
corridors (I‐25 and U.S. 34), and the provision of utilities. 



Welty Ridge ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

4 

Residential opportunities. Where appropriate, consider opportunities for residential and residential 
mixed‐use areas near Gateway and Village Centers. 
Primary jobs. Increase the number of primary jobs within Johnstown by creating an adequate supply 
of fully‐served, entitled parcels for future commercial and light industrial development. 
 

Neighborhoods (NH): 
Goal NH 1: A diversity of housing types to support the housing needs of a diverse population. 

Location and proximity. The appropriate type of new neighborhoods will be determined by their 
proximity to retail centers, employment and commercial areas, educational facilities, and open spaces, in 
addition to their effects on existing infrastructure and traffic. 
Housing diversity distribution. Encourage builders and developers to use their ingenuity to combine a 
variety of housing types at a compatible scale and character within the same attractive neighborhood. As 
the acreage of the residential project increases, the number of housing types within it will also increase. 

 

Goal NH 2 A fabric of complete mixed‐use neighborhoods that provide a full range of local services. 
Full range of services. New residential development will be focused into a series of mixed‐use 
neighborhoods that are in close proximity to a full range of complementary, local‐serving commercial, 
civic, and recreational uses. 
 

JOHNSTOWN MUNICIPAL CODE (JMC) REVIEW CRITERIA (§16-303) 
The code states that PUDs are to “provide a more flexible approach to the physical development” of land, 
allowing for more creative solutions and design. At the general planning ODP level, the review criteria outlined 
in the JMC are not applicable at the level of detail provided – this will be further reviewed at Preliminary and 
Final Development Plan stages. The ODP lays the foundation and creates opportunity for creative and unique 
land development solutions through a big picture overview of development possibilities with the development 
and architectural standards. In this regard, the ODP is in substantial compliance with the municipal code. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION & STAFF ANALYSIS 
The Applicant submitted an Outline Development Plan as well as a full complement of supplementary submittal 
documents and reports including engineering studies and plans, a master traffic impact study, and a geotech study. 
These documents were reviewed multiple times by the Town’s ancillary reviewers, including the fire district, 
traffic engineer and civil engineer, until each reviewer was satisfied with the state of the plan and documents at 
this conceptual planning stage. See Attachments C & D for the ODP and enlarged Land Use Tables.  
 

Land Use 
The proposed planning areas and land uses within this ODP are generally in keeping with the purpose of the PUD-
MU zoning district. As mentioned under Background section, in researching historical data for this report it was 
discovered that there is a current conflict with the Veeman Annexation Agreement which specifies only 
commercial, light industrial, and multifamily uses on this property, as well as requiring no light industrial be 
located along the I-25 frontage. These issues are being discussed and negotiated with the applicant. Staff believes 
an amended annexation agreement will be required prior to Town Council approving this annexation. A condition 
of approval to this effect has been added to Staff Recommended Findings and Motion. 
 

The ODP, due to its size and location, offers a wide range of permitted land uses, covering the gamut from 
recreational, to a variety of residential products and options, to commercial and industrial uses, with designated 
permitted uses and conditional uses for each planning area. The Land Use Tables written into the ODP clarify 
these general classifications of uses.  



Welty Ridge ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

5 

The ODP identifies five “Planning Areas” and indicates acreage and type of land use proposed for each. Below is 
the Land Use Summary from the ODP indicating the total area encompassed by each: 
 

R-M is largely intended for the creation of single-family 
attached and detached neighborhoods, with nearly a third of 
the land acreage devoted to this use. Densities are proposed at 
3-6 DU/acre. 

MU-1 is located at the northeast corner of the site, adjacent to 
the I-25 interchange. MU-1 is intended for larger commercial 
and light industrial uses, and encourages a mix of higher 
intensity uses, including multi-family. 

MU-2 planning areas make up just over 33% of the land area, 
and are situated along the northern half, adjacent to WCR 48. 
MU-2 permits high-density residential integrated with more 
neighborhood-scale commercial uses that provide goods and 
services to neighborhoods. With this proximity to the 
interchange, it is likely commercial may also serve I-25 
travelers. 

Employment is located in the southeast portion of the site, adjacent to I-25, providing 27.7 acres for uses such as 
office parks, light industrial, commercial, warehouse and distribution uses. These areas are more focused on 
visibility and access to the I-25 corridor. 

Overall Density & Maximums.   

Residential Maximum Units   850 units 
Commercial/Industrial Maximum SF  700,000 SF 
Density Transfer (between Planning Areas) Permitted with Director’s approval. Not to exceed total of 

130% of max units or SF for the Receiving Planning Area 
Planning Areas. 

This ODP table provides more specific densities and “maximums” for each Planning Area.  

At no time may the 
cumulative numbers of 
Units and SF listed above 
be exceeded, without an 
amendment to the ODP. 

 

 

Planning 
Area 

Land Use Acreage Commercial 
Max SF 

Residential: 
Min DU/Ac 

Max 
DU/Ac 

Max 
Units 

1 MU-2 20.7 270,508 3 15 311 
2 MU-2 27.5 359,370 3 15 413 
3 MU-1 25.9 338,461    
4 R-M 42.6  3 6 256 
5 EMP 27.7 361,984    



Welty Ridge ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

6 

Uses: Outdoor Storage, RV/Boat/U-Haul Rentals, Motor Vehicle Sales. 

One significant area of concern for Staff has been the potential for large areas of outdoor storage and rental/sales 
displays. The visibility of the EMP and MU-1 areas (which permit these uses) from the interstate, and the 
combined area of nearly 53.6 acres, 37.1% of the project area, are cause for concern. The potential for an excess 
of land at this highly-visible “gateway” being devoted to these uses may undermine the Town’s interests in 
promoting and preserving high-quality commercial, employment, and mixed-use areas. While communities rely 
heavily upon market forces to ensure a mix and distribution of uses, these are sought-after uses in Northern 
Colorado due to current “Colorado” lifestyles, a strong local economy, and current success in the construction and 
oil and gas industries. The Town wants to ensure these uses do not adversely overshadow or impact the long-term 
viability of this area for future employers, retailers, and other commercial opportunities.  

Outdoor storage, in particular, is a land use that tends to “deaden” a neighborhood and streetscape with no foot 
traffic; little customer traffic; few jobs provided; and long typically-monotonous screening walls and fences 
dominating the streetscape. The outdoor displays associated with dealerships and equipment rental businesses can 
also be excessive and appear visually-cluttered. The ODP does include language that requires outdoor storage be 
“concealed from view” of residences and public rights-of-way, to the side and rear of associated primary buildings, 
and screened to full height. 

For primary outdoor storage uses, Staff would like to see these sites located more mid-block or otherwise offset 
from prime streetscapes via functional setbacks from arterials and the highway, setbacks from residential areas, 
and/or limits on individual and cumulative acreages devoted to this use. Presently uses with outdoor storage are 
generally permitted only in Industrial or Gateway zoning, and typically as an accessory use.  

For perspective as to size and scale, Staff did an informal survey of highway-adjacent development along I-25 to 
better understand the acreage and impact of various existing Northern Colorado developments on the look and 
“feel” along a highway corridor. 

• Johnstown area: 
o Lazydays RV sales – 28 ac., clearly a large development, visually overwhelming and cluttered 
o “Boatel” on Marketplace (now Exodus Moving) – 6.2 ac, not as overwhelming visually, much 

storage is interior, outdoor storage areas feel crowded and cluttered 
• Crossroads Blvd area: 

o Thunder Mountain Harley Davidson – 7.5 ac., feels like an appropriate highway scale, might be 
too much along an arterial, all display is interior – just customer parking outside 

o Various car dealerships – 6 to 9 acres each, full lots, easy to see vehicles, with the concentration 
of dealerships in one area Staff found it helpful that each dealership is individualized and 
somewhat visually separated with architecture, landscaping, site lighting.  

• Timnath area: 
o Costco site (exclusive of pads) – 12 ac, tall building helps with scale of surface parking, no 

outdoor storage or display to compare 
o Walmart (exclusive of pads) – 22 ac, big lot, too much parking, visually overwhelming – the use 

gets lost in the expanse of asphalt, no outdoor storage or display to compare 

Given this variety of comparison sites and Staff’s informal analysis above, Staff feels that the best option along 
our I-25 frontages in general, may be to limit permitted site sizes for any sales/rental display. The ODP does 
provide a conditional use grant provision for Outdoor Storage of Vehicles over 5 acres, in MU-1 areas – Staff 
recommends extending this to all outdoor storage over 5 acres. Additionally, as the ODP has the developer(s) and 
Staff tracking development maximums (units/SF) as well as any density transfers, similarly there could be a 
tracking system for the maximum acreage devoted to sales lots and outdoor storage uses – not to exceed 20% in 



Welty Ridge ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

7 

each use area (EMP and MU-1) which would provide a cumulative 10.72 acres, of the 53.6 acres in those planning 
areas. That seems to allow for a reasonable accommodation of that use, without the risk of these uses dominating 
the area.  

The applicant is aware of this concern and is open to working with Staff to refine the ODP language to address, 
limit, and mitigate the potential visual and community impacts of these types of uses within these areas. Staff will 
continue to work with the applicant on this issue to arrive at a workable and agreeable solution, prior to Town 
Council hearings on this project. The goal of that negotiation will be to provide reasonable accommodation of the 
uses, as well as protect Town interests in creating a vibrant, resilient, and attractive community. Resolution of this 
issue prior to Town Council hearings is a recommended condition of approval. 

Development Standards 

The ODP lays out specific development standards for certain elements of each land use and planning area. On 
subjects or elements where the ODP does not address the issue, Johnstown’s current codes, regulations, guidelines, 
and specifications would prevail.  

To encourage a diversity of housing types and a mix of uses, the ODP provides a range of options for residential 
lot configurations from alley-loaded garages to zero-lot-line layouts. Reference the Land Use Development 
Standards Matrices and typical lot layouts on Sheet 10 of the ODP (See Attachment E for enlargements of those 
tables) for the different options by planning area and land use type for setbacks, height, lot sizes and non-
residential lot coverage. 

• Architectural Standards. As specific uses and users are not yet known, the Architectural Standards in 
the ODP are fairly minimal. Where the ODP does not address a given element of design requirements, 
Johnstown Municipal Code and/or Design Guidelines would prevail. 
• Residential architectural standards include: 

 SFD & SFA: Incorporating three distinct architectural features to create unique facades from 
other housing models: mass, form, roof design, fenestrations, materials, garage 
location/proportion, porch location/proportion.   

 SFD & SFA: Housing model variation along a streetscape 
 MF: Use of similar exterior materials on all facades 
 MF: Walls >50' require some feature to avoid monotony 
 MF: Building entry definition using various features 

• Non-residential architectural standards include:  
 Employing some “similar” feature – to other buildings, once something is built – on 40% of 

all facades. 
 Wall articulation options applied at least every 50' 
 Building entry features 

 

• Landscaped areas throughout are encouraged to utilize native, drought-tolerant plant materials. 
Streetscape is discussed as including drought-tolerant turf, xeric plants, and native seed areas. This is a 
departure from the typical sodded, water-thirsty tree lawns; however, given the climate of Northern 
Colorado and the value of our water resources, Staff has encouraged the Developer to consider more xeric 
landscapes to lower water demand; believing this shift will best serve the neighborhood and the 
community over time. 
 

• Buffer from Arterials. A minimum 20' landscape buffer would be required along WCR 48 – with an 
average width of 30' to allow varying setbacks for structures and the option for a more natural, meandering 
buffer area. One area that has not been addressed is the “Streetscape” along I-25, where Staff believes a 



Welty Ridge ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

8 

50-foot landscaped buffer along this corridor begins to set a meaningful precedent for development along 
I-25. 
 

• Signage. A detailed signage program has not yet been designed and reviewed. An example of a multi-
tenant sign concept is presented in the ODP. Staff expects to see more detailed plans come in with 
Preliminary & Final Development Plans for the specific planning areas.   

Transportation/Traffic 

The transportation network proposed is centered on two new collector roads entering the site from WCR 48, 
leading to future local internal streets. Appropriate connectivity will be achieved internally as future development 
plans are proposed and reviewed. At least one street connection to adjacent parcels to the west is planned. No road 
connection to the south is planned due to the location of the existing railroad tracks.  

Several street cross sections are illustrated in the ODP, and final design will be subject to approval by Town 
Engineer. Most of the sections shown do meet current Town standards and specifications. Those modified local 
street and private drive cross-sections will be considered more fully with future development plans. The Town is 
willing to review and consider these modifications dependent upon the intended use and purpose of the roadway.  

Utilities 

The ODP Utility Plan is based on “30%” plans and reports provided to date, to ensure feasibility only. Water and 
wastewater services will be provided by the Town, as water and sewer service agreements are executed and raw 
water is dedicated with each future site specific development plan or final plat.  

Water is available to the site via a 10" water main in WCR 48 and and 8" main in Gateway Drive, currently serving 
the Gateway development to the north. An existing 8" sanitary sewer main is also located in Gateway Drive. The 
site will be served by the Central Wastewater Treatment Plant. Limited sewer capacity is available to serve some 
amount of immediate development demand, while the majority of future development of the Welty Ridge PUD 
must be timed appropriately to be served by a future sanitary sewer interceptor intended to fully serve the demand 
in this area. The ultimate sanitary sewer lines will connect to a planned interceptor at the south corner of the site. 

Stormwater Management / Floodplain 

This site is not located in the 100 or 500-year designated floodplain. Although planning is at a very preliminary 
level, the Applicant’s drainage report indicated that twelve regional detention ponds are anticipated throughout 
the area to manage developed runoff and provide full spectrum detention. Historic drainage patterns will be 
maintained. 

Oil and Gas 

An existing gas pipeline runs east-west through the center of the site from the west, to a set of wells that has been 
Plugged & Abandoned (COGCC website). Staff believes these facilities will not impact development of this site. 

Summary 
 

The ODP amendment requested is in keeping with and furthers the Comprehensive Plan goals and Land Use 
Framework Plan, as well as the Transportation Master Plan. Staff believes this amendment is compatible with the 
initial intent of the annexation and original Outline Development Plans of the three annexations – providing a mix 
of uses at densities and intensities that are appropriate for the emerging transportation and infrastructure network.  
Review of future Preliminary and Final Development Plans for the area will require conformance with this ODP, 
and Staff will be looking for high-quality development, architecture, and signage, especially along the major 
transportation corridors. With current codes and processes, the Planning & Zoning Commission and Town Council 
will have the opportunity to review and consider all future Preliminary and Final Plats and Development Plans. 



Welty Ridge ODP 
December 11, 2019 - Planning & Zoning Commission 
 

9 

COMMUNITY / NEIGHBORHOOD RESPONSE 
This public hearing was posted in the Johnstown Breeze. Staff mailed public notice to all property owners within 
500 feet of the boundaries of the PUD. No neighborhood meeting was required. No inquiries were received. 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION FINDINGS AND MOTIONS 
Based on the application received, associated submittal materials, and the preceding analysis, the Planning & 
Zoning Commission finds that the request for the Welty Ridge Outline Development Plan furthers the Johnstown 
Area Comprehensive Plan goals, and is compatible with all other applicable Town standards and regulations, and 
therefore moves to recommend to the Town Council approval of the Welty Ridge Outline Development Plan, with 
the following conditions: 
 

1. The land use conflicts between the proposed ODP document and the Veeman Annexation Agreement must 
be resolved. If an amended annexation agreement is required and amenable to the Council, an approved and 
executed agreement must occur prior to final approvals by the Town. If significant modifications to land uses 
or development standards, as determined by the Director of Planning & Development, are required in the ODP 
to accommodate the agreement, or amended agreement, the revised ODP will be presented to the Planning & 
Zoning Commission for a final review. 
 

2. The Applicant must work with Staff, prior to a Town Council hearing, to develop revised ODP wording to 
ensure appropriate development of any outdoor storage, display, and sales areas, to address the following 
specific concerns: 

a. The use categories of Outdoor storage; RV’s, Trailer, Camper, and Limited Equipment (U-Haul type 
business) rentals; and Motor vehicle dealers/ sales may not exceed 20% of land area in the EMP and 
MU-1 planning areas, to be tracked by the Director and Developer on the ODP, similar to maximum 
SF/units. 

b. Outdoor Storage, as a primary use, must be setback a minimum of 300' from any arterial or interstate 
right-of-way. 

c. Update the Land Use Tables to modify: 
i. primary Outdoor Storage uses over 5 acres to be processed and considered as conditional uses in 

MU-1 and EMP; and  
ii. “RV’s, Trailer, Camper, and Limited Equipment (U-Haul type business) rentals” – add “Max. of 

10 acres” to use description; and 
iii. Add a new use category for “RV’s… rentals, >10 ac.” – and update to “C” Conditional uses in 

EMP & MU-1 
iv. Treat “Motor vehicle dealer/sales” category similarly, as described in subsections ii, and iii above. 

 

3. Update ODP language to require a 50-foot landscaped buffer along the I-25 corridor frontage. 
 

ALTERNATE MOTIONS 
A. Motion to Approve with no Conditions: “…and therefore moves to recommend to the Town Council approval 

of the Welty Ridge Outline Development Plan as presented.” 
 

B. Motion to Deny: “I move that the Commission recommend to the Town Council denial of the Welty Ridge 
Outline Development Plan, with the following findings: the proposed amendment…” 
Examples/options: 

a. is not in keeping with or furthering the Comprehensive Plan with regard to protecting the Town’s 
Gateway areas. 

b. introduces a use that the Commission finds incompatible with the surrounding area and the intent 
of the PUD and the Comprehensive Plan. 



ATTACHMENT A 
WELTY RIDGE ODP 

Vicinity Map 

11



ATTACHMENT B

VEEMAN ANNEXATION 
OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT 

PLAN

12



ATTACHMENT C 
 

WELTY RIDGE ODP 
 
 

13



LARIMER CO. RD. 14/WELD
CO. RD. 50

CO. RD. 48/HWY. 60

GATEWAY
CENTER

HARDING
SUB-DIVISION

LARIMER CO. RD.
14/HWY. 60

CO. RD. 16CO. RD. 16

S.
 C

O
U

N
TY

 L
IN

E 
R

O
AD

IN
TE

R
ST

AT
E 

25

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
BL

VD
.

INTERSTATE 25
FRONTAGE ROAD

INTERSTATE 25
FRONTAGE ROAD

C
O

LO
R

AD
O

 B
LV

D

C
O

. R
D

. 7

CO. RD. 48

C
O

. R
D

. 7

VISTA
COMMONS

SITE
JOHNSTOWN
TOWN LIMITS

WELD COUNTY
ZONING: A-AGRICULTURE

WELD COUNTY
ZONING: A-AGRICULTURE

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
GATEWAY

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-GATEWAY

WELD COUNTY
ZONING: A-AGRICULTURE

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

I-25

WCR 48

JOHNSTOWN
TOWN LIMITS

C
O

V
E
R

1
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
48

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

C
O

VE
R

.D
W

G
;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

PROJECT INTENT

OWNER

PLATTE LAND & WATER, LLC
210 UNIVERSITY BLVD.
SUITE 710
DENVER, CO 80206
303-263-2105

SHEET INDEX

1 COVER
2 LAND USE PLAN
3-4 LAND USE MATRIX
5 CIRCULATION PLAN
6 STREET SECTIONS
7 TRAILS & OPEN SPACE PLAN
8 CONCEPTUAL UTILITY PLAN
9 CONCEPTUAL GRADING PLAN
10 DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS
11-12 DESIGN GUIDELINES

PROJECT MANAGER

ERIK HALVERSON
LAND ASSET STRATEGIES, LLC
15400 WEST 64TH AVENUE
UNIT E9-123
ARVADA, CO 80007
970-319-5836
ehalverson@landassetstrategies.com

ENGINEER

KEVIN ROHRBOUGH
CORE CONSULTANTS
1950 W LITTLETON BLVD.
SUITE 109
LITTLETON, CO 80120
303-703-4444
rohrbough@corecivil.com

PLANNER

JEFF MARCK
TERRACINA DESIGN
10200 E. GIRARD AVENUE
BLDG. A, SUITE 314
DENVER, CO 80231
303-632-8867
jmarck@terracinadesign.com

VICINITY MAP 1"=3000'

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

THE NE ¼ OF SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF
THE 6TH P.M., COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO, EXCEPT THAT
PORTION CONVEYED IN BOOK 1570 AT PAGE 620.

N

APPROVALS

TOWN COUNCIL

THIS  OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN, TO BE KNOWN AS WELTY RIDGE ODP, IS
APPROVED AND ACCEPTED BY THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, BY ORDINANCE NUMBER
_______________, PASSED AND ADOPTED ON FINAL READING AT A REGULAR
MEETING OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO HELD
ON THE __________ DAY OF _____________________, 20____.

BY: _____________________________ ATTEST: ____________________________
    MAYOR                 TOWN CLERK

THE INTENT OF THIS OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN (ODP) IS TO
PROVIDE OVERLAY ZONING TO THE 140+ ACRE WELTY RIDGE
PROPERTY.  WELTY RIDGE IS ENVISIONED AS A MIXED USE
DEVELOPMENT WHICH INCLUDES PLANNING AREAS DESIGNATED
FOR  RESIDENTIAL, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL,
AND OFFICE USES. THIS DOCUMENT WILL GUIDE THE OVERALL
CHARACTER OF WELTY RIDGE TO ENSURE THE QUALITY AND
COHESIVENESS DESIRED IN THIS EMERGING PART OF
NORTHERN COLORADO.

GENERAL NOTES

A. COMMERCIAL, OFFICE OR MULTI-FAMILY DEVELOPMENTS CAN OCCUPY
THE SAME LOT, MIXED HORIZONTALLY OR VERTICALLY.

B. ALL UNPLATTED PROPERTY (PER THE FINAL PLAT SUBDIVISION PROCESS)
WITHIN THIS PUD MAY REMAIN IN AGRICULTURAL USE UNTIL SUCH TIME AS
DEVELOPMENT OF THAT AREA BEGINS.

C. LANDSCAPING, SIGNAGE, ARCHITECTURE, NON-RESIDENTIAL PARKING,
FENCING AND LIGHTING FOR DEVELOPMENT WITH THIS PUD SHALL EITHER
FOLLOW THOSE APPLICABLE STANDARDS IN THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
MUNICIPAL CODE OR THE DEVELOPER MAY FORMULATE DESIGN
STANDARDS REGULATING THE DESIGN, CHARACTER, LOCATION AND
OTHER DETAILS OF THESE ELEMENTS PRIOR TO THEIR IMPLEMENTATION.
THE DEVELOPER-FORMULATED DESIGN STANDARDS MUST RECEIVE TOWN
APPROVAL PRIOR TO IMPLEMENTATION.

D. WHERE A PROPOSED USE IS NOT LISTED IN THE ODP, IT MAY BE ALLOWED
IF DETERMINED IN WRITING BY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR
TO BE SIMILAR IN CHARACTER AND OPERATION, AND HAVING THE SAME OR
LESSER IMPACT, AS USES THAT ARE ALLOWED.

E. ALL DRAINAGE ELEMENTS ARE CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND FINAL
DETERMINATIONS OF THE DRAINAGE SYSTEM, TO INCLUDE THE
PLACEMENT OF DETENTION/RETENTION PONDS, CHANNELS, AND STORM
SEWER, WILL BE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE FINAL
DRAINAGE REPORTS AND PLANS.

DEVELOPMENT PHASING

PHASING WILL OCCUR IN A LOGICAL AND COST EFFECTIVE MANNER BASED
ON INFRASTRUCTURE EXTENSION, AVAILABILITY OF UTILITY SERVICE, AND
MARKET CONDITIONS.  THE PROJECT WILL BE BUILT IN MULTIPLE PHASES,
AS CONDITIONS DICTATE.

RELATIONSHIP TO TOWN CODE & DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PUD SHALL PREVAIL AND GOVERN
DEVELOPMENT TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
MUNICIPAL CODE. WHERE STANDARDS, DETAILS, AND GUIDELINES OF THE
PUD - OUTLINE, PRELIMINARY, OR FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS - DO NOT
CLEARLY ADDRESS A SPECIFIC SUBJECT OR ARE SILENT, THE JOHNSTOWN
MUNICIPAL AND OTHER STANDARDS, REGULATIONS, AND GUIDELINES
SHALL BE USED. ALL PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT IS SUBJECT TO TOWN OF
JOHNSTOWN REVIEW PROCEDURES.

EXISTING ZONING 1"=500'

N
LEGEND

PUD-MU

15

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



PA-4
42.6 AC

R-M

PA-1
20.7 AC

MU-2

I-25
PA-2

27.5 AC
MU-2

PA-3
25.9 AC

MU-1

PA-5
27.7 AC

EMP

WCR 48

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU
"VISTA

COMMONS"

CO HWY 60

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

JOHNSTOWN
PUD-MU

AG/VACANT

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

C
IR

C
LE

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

D
R.

C
O

M
M

ER
C

E 
D

R.
GENESEE & WYOMING RAILROAD

JO
HN

ST
O

W
N

 T
O

W
N

 L
IM

ITS

S89° 10' 53"W

2310.14'

N
0°

 0
9'

 0
9"

W

25
79

.1
2'

N
0°

 0
9'

 0
9"

W

60
.0

0'

N89° 16' 35"E

2255.06' S0
° 0

7'
 1

9"
E

30
.0

0'

S12° 10' 19"E

713.67'

S0
° 0

7'
 1

4"
E

18
75

.6
3'

S89° 10' 53"W

98.89'

L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 P
L
A

N

2
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
48

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

LA
N

D
-U

SE
-P

LA
N

.D
W

G
;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 200'-0"

10
0

20
0

40
0

LEGEND

MIXED USE - 1 (MU-1)

MIXED USE - 2 (MU-2)

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)

EMPLOYMENT (EMP)

A. INTRODUCTION

THE PURPOSE OF THIS SECTION IS TO ESTABLISH GENERAL PROVISIONS AND CLARIFY
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE WELTY RIDGE PUD.
DUE TO THE SIZE OF LAND AREA CONTAINED WITHIN THIS PUD AND THE
CORRESPONDING LONG TERM BUILD OUT THAT IS ANTICIPATED, A RATHER BROAD
RANGE OF DENSITIES AND/OR SQUARE FOOTAGES HAVE BEEN PROPOSED FOR EACH
LAND USE PARCEL. THESE RANGES WILL ALLOW A VARIETY OF COMMERCIAL, LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL, AND HOUSING PRODUCTS. IN ADDITION TO PROMOTING LAND USE AND
DENSITY FLEXIBILITY, RANGES WILL ACCOMMODATE HOUSING PRODUCT, LAND
PLANNING, MARKET AND TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES INTO THE FUTURE.  REFER TO THE
PLANNING AREA SUMMARY FOR SPECIFIC DENSITIES AND SQUARE FOOTAGES.

B. DENSITY RANGES

RESIDENTIAL DENSITY RANGES ARE SPECIFIED WITHIN EACH ZONE AS LABELED ON THE
LAND USE PLAN (REFER TO THE PLANNING AREA SUMMARY WITHIN THIS DOCUMENT
FOR DENSITY RANGES).  THE FINAL AVERAGE DENSITY OF A DEVELOPMENT PARCEL
MUST BE WITHIN 10% THE SPECIFIED DENSITY RANGE INDICATED FOR THAT PLANNING
AREA.  THE FINAL AVERAGE DENSITY OF A PLANNING AREA SHALL BE BASED ON ALL
RESIDENTIAL UNITS APPROVED THROUGH THE FINAL PLAT PROCESS WITHIN THE
PLANNING AREA, WHETHER APPROVED AS A SINGLE PLAT OR AS MULTIPLE PLATS.

C. MAXIMUM RESIDENTIAL UNITS PER AREA

TRANSFER(S) OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS FROM PLANNING AREA TO PLANNING AREA
(TRANSFER OF UNITS MAY NOT EXCEED 30% OF THE RECIPIENT PLANNING AREA MAX
UNITS PER AREA) MAY BE PERMITTED BY THE DEVELOPER WITH APPROVAL BY THE
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.  UNIT TRANSFERS SHALL BE TRACKED BY
THE DEVELOPER AND PROVIDED TO THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR
WITH EACH SUCH TRANSFER AT THE FINAL PLAT STAGE OF THE SUBDIVISION PROCESS.
HOWEVER, AT NO TIME SHALL THE TOTAL RESIDENTIAL UNITS WITHIN THIS PUD EXCEED
850 WITHOUT AN AMENDMENT TO THE ODP, APPROVED BY TOWN COUNCIL.

D. RESIDENTIAL UNITS TRANFERS

ONCE A PLANNING AREA HAS BEEN FULLY PLATTED THROUGH THE FINAL PLAT
PROCESS, ANY REMAINING RESIDENTIAL DENSITY/UNITS DESIGNATED ON THE PUD
ZONE DOCUMENT WITHIN SAID PLANNING AREA SHALL REMAIN AVAILABLE FOR
TRANSFER TO OTHER REMAINING RECIPIENT PLANNING AREAS.

E. PLANNING AREA BOUNDARIES

PLANNING AREA ACREAGES AND BOUNDARIES ARE CONCEPTUAL AND SUBJECT TO
CHANGE WITH DETAILED PLANNING. PLANNING AREA ACREAGES MAY CHANGE UP TO
30% WITH APPROVAL BY THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.  SUCH
CHANGES WILL RESULT IN CORRESPONDING CHANGES TO THE MAX SQ. FT./AREA OR
MAX UNITS/AREA SHOWN IN THE PLANNING AREA SUMMARY.

IF PLANNING AREA CHANGES ARE MADE, ALL STREET CLASSIFICATIONS (AS SHOWN ON
SHEET 6) ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE.

F. MAXIMUM COMMERCIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE PER AREA

TRANSFER(S) OF COMMERCIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE FROM PLANNING AREA TO PLANNING
AREA (TRANSFER OF SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY NOT EXCEED 30% OF THE RECIPIENT
PLANNING AREA MAX SQ. FT. PER AREA) MAY BE PERMITTED WITH APPROVAL BY THE
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.  SQUARE FOOTAGE TRANSFERS SHALL BE
TRACKED BY THE DEVELOPER AND PROVIDED TO THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
DIRECTOR WITH EACH SUCH TRANSFER AT THE FINAL PLAT STAGE OF THE SUBDIVISION
PROCESS.  HOWEVER, AT NO TIME SHALL THE OVERALL PUD COMMERCIAL SQUARE
FOOTAGE EXCEED 700,000 SQUARE FEET WITHOUT AN AMENDMENT TO THE ODP,
APPROVED BY TOWN COUNCIL.

PLANNING AREA SUMMARY

LAND USE PLAN

16

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 M
A

T
R

IX

3
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
48

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

LA
N

D
-U

SE
-P

LA
N

.D
W

G
;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1): PREDOMINANTLY A LARGE COMMERCIAL/LIGHT INDUSTRIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE ALLOWS FOR
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING USES ALONG WITH COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY USES.

MIXED USE 2 (MU-2): PREDOMINANTLY A NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL / RESIDENTIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE PRIMARILY
ALLOWS FOR COMMERCIAL USES ALONG WITH HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL.

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M): THE INTENT IS TO ALLOW FOR SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES AND SINGLE
FAMILY ATTACHED HOMES.

EMPLOYMENT (EMP): THE INTENT IS TO PROVIDE AREAS THAT WILL SERVE AS AN EMPLOYMENT CENTER OR OFFICE
PARK THAT CAN ACCOMMODATE BUT NOT LIMITED TO CORPORATE CAMPUS, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL, OFFICE/FLEX, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION.

LEGEND

X

A

-

C

PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USE

ACCESSORY USE

EXCLUDED USE

CONDITIONAL USE

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1)
MIXED USE 2 (MU-2)
MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)
EMPLOYMENT (EMP)

LAND USE

DEFINITIONS:

1. LIGHT INDUSTRIAL - LABOR-INTENSIVE OPERATIONS THAT TYPICALLY PRODUCE PRODUCTS THAT ARE TARGETED TOWARD END
CONSUMERS RATHER THAN OTHER BUSINESSES (I.E. CONSUMER ELECTRONICS, CLOTHING MANUFACTURING, ETC.)

2. CLUSTER HOMES - ANY RESIDENTIAL GROUPING OF AT LEAST TWO HOMES WHICH ACCESS OFF A COMMON/SHARED DRIVE OR
ALLEY.

3. MOTOR COURT - A TYPE OF CLUSTER HOME WITH A SHARED DRIVEWAY IN WHICH SOME OR ALL FRONT DOORS ACCESS OFF
SHARED DRIVEWAY.

4. GREEN COURT - A TYPE OF CLUSTER HOME WITH SHARED DRIVEWAY AND COMMON OPEN AREA.
5. OPEN AREA - A PRIVATELY OR PUBLICLY OWNED AND MAINTAINED LAND AREA OR BODY OF WATER OR BOTH WITHIN A

DEVELOPMENT UPON WHICH THERE ARE NO STRUCTURES, PARKING AREAS, OR DRIVEWAYS. OPEN AREA MAY BE A LANDSCAPED
AREA, PLAZA, RECREATIONAL AREA, SIDEWALKS, OR SUCH OTHER AREAS. LANDSCAPE AND WALKS LOCATED IN RIGHT-OF-WAY CAN
NOT BE COUNTED TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

6. USABLE OPEN AREA - A PARCEL OF LAND OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY A TOWN, METRO DISTRICT, OR HOME OWNERS' ASSOCIATION
WHICH MEETS THE CRITERIA OF OPEN AREA AND IS PROGRAMMED AS AN ACTIVE OR PASSIVE AREA IN WHICH RESIDENTS CAN
UTILIZE THE SPACE FOR, BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO, SEATING, SPORTS, PARKS, TRAILS, OR GARDENS.

7. A LIVE/WORK UNIT IS DEFINED AS A SINGLE UNIT CONSISTING OF BOTH A COMMERCIAL/OFFICE AND A RESIDENTIAL (PRIMARY
DWELLING) COMPONENT THAT IS OCCUPIED BY THE SAME RESIDENT.

*ANIMAL/LIVESTOCK USES ARE CONDITIONAL USES IF WITHIN 250 FEET OF A RESIDENTIAL USE, BUT ARE PERMITTED
USE-BY-RIGHT OUTSIDE OF THE 250 FOOT LIMIT FROM RESIDENTIAL USES.
**ANIMAL BOARDING AND TRAINING IS A CONDITIONAL USE IF WITHIN 250 FEET OF A RESIDENTIAL USE, BUT IS A PERMITTED
USE-BY-RIGHT OUTSIDE OF THE 250 FOOT LIMIT FROM RESIDENTIAL USES.

17

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



L
A

N
D

 U
SE

 M
A

T
R

IX

4
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
48

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

LA
N

D
-U

SE
-P

LA
N

.D
W

G
;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1): PREDOMINANTLY A LARGE COMMERCIAL/LIGHT INDUSTRIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE ALLOWS FOR
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING USES ALONG WITH COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY USES.

MIXED USE 2 (MU-2): PREDOMINANTLY A NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL / RESIDENTIAL FOCUS. THIS ZONE PRIMARILY
ALLOWS FOR COMMERCIAL USES ALONG WITH HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL.

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M): THE INTENT IS TO ALLOW FOR SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES AND SINGLE
FAMILY ATTACHED HOMES.

EMPLOYMENT (EMP): THE INTENT IS TO PROVIDE AREAS THAT WILL SERVE AS AN EMPLOYMENT CENTER OR OFFICE
PARK THAT CAN ACCOMMODATE BUT NOT LIMITED TO CORPORATE CAMPUS, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL, OFFICE/FLEX, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION.

LEGEND

X

A

-

C

PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USE

ACCESSORY USE

EXCLUDED USE

CONDITIONAL USE

MIXED USE 1 (MU-1)
MIXED USE 2 (MU-2)
MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-M)
EMPLOYMENT (EMP)

LAND USE

***SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES ARE NOT PERMITTED WITHIN 300 FEET OF AN ARTERIAL ROAD.

18

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



POSSIBLE CONNECTIONS TO
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT (TYP.)

PA-4
42.6 AC

R-M

PA-1
20.7 AC

MU-2

IN
TERSTA

TE 25

PA-2
27.5 AC

MU-2

PA-3
25.9 AC

MU-1

PA-5
27.7 AC

EMP

WCR 48
CO HWY 60

GENESEE & WYOMING RAILROAD

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

C
IR

C
LE

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

D
R.

C
O

M
M

ER
C

E 
D

R.

MAJOR ARTERIAL

FULL MOVEMENT
INTERSECTIONS

LOCAL

2-
LA

N
E 

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

2-
LA

N
E 

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

4-
LA

N
E 

C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

C
IR

C
U

L
A

T
IO

N
 P

L
A

N

5
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
48

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

C
IR

C
U

LA
TI

O
N

-P
LA

N
.D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 200'-0"

10
0

20
0

40
0

LEGEND

COLLECTOR (2-LANE & 4-LANE)

MAJOR ARTERIAL/HIGHWAY

LOCAL

PROPOSED* FULL MOVEMENT

 INTERSECTION

POTENTIAL ACCESS

CIRCULATION PLAN

*DEPENDENT ON TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY AT TIME
OF INDIVIDUAL DEVELOPMENT APPROVALS

19

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



17.5'

WIDTH VARIES

10' SIDEWALK

105' ROW

24'- 71' PAVED

12'-15' TRAVEL
LANE

2%
TREELAWN

UTILITY

80' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK
12' TRAVEL

LANE

16' TWO-WAY
LEFT TURN

LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

17.5'

2.5'2.5'

40' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT 6' UTILITY EASEMENT

MAJOR ARTERIAL (INTERIM)

2-LANE COLLECTOR WITH FLUSH MEDIAN

0-15' ACCEL/
DECELL LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

0-12' RIGHT
TURN
LANE

0'-17' TWO-WAY
LEFT TURN

LANE

VARIES

VARIES
10' SIDEWALK

150' ROW

2%

FUTURE MAJOR ARTERIAL (ULTIMATE)
COUNTY ROAD 48

12' ACCEL/
DECEL LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' ACCEL/
DECEL LANE

32' ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT

13' TRAVEL
LANE

13' TRAVEL
LANE 2.5'2.5'

26' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT6' UTILITY EASEMENT

PRIVATE ROAD

2%

10' SIDEWALK VARIES

2.5'

2.5'

ULTIMATE 75' ROW DEDICATION (SOUTH SIDE OF CR 48)EXISTING 30' ROW (NORTH SIDE OF CR 48)

65' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK

15' TRAVEL
LANE

15' TRAVEL
LANE

2.5'2.5'

30' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT6' UTILITY EASEMENT

NON-RESIDENTIAL LOCAL STREET

15'15'12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

2.5'

9'9'

100' ROW

5' SIDEWALK 5' SIDEWALK

12' TRAVEL
LANE

13' TWO-WAY
LEFT TURN

LANE/MEDIAN

12' TRAVEL
LANE

2.5'2.5'

69' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT 6' UTILITY EASEMENT

4 - LANE COLLECTOR

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE8' 8'

60' ROW

5' SIDEWALK* 5' SIDEWALK*

12' TRAVEL
LANE

12' TRAVEL
LANE

2.5'2.5'

32' PAVED

2%2%

6' UTILITY EASEMENT6' UTILITY EASEMENT

RESIDENTIAL LOCAL STREET

11.5'11.5'

6' PARKING 6' PARKING

EXISTING COUNTY ROAD 48
EXISTING CENTERLINE

CENTERLINE

CENTERLINE

CENTERLINECENTERLINE

CENTERLINE

CENTERLINE

* ATTACHED OR DETACHED WALK AT DISCRETION OF DEVELOPER

4' BIKE LANE 4' BIKE LANE

1.5'

14' MEDIAN/
LEFT

TURN LANE

1.5'

COUNTY ROAD 48

4' BIKE
LANE

4' BIKE
LANE

C
O

N
C

E
P
T

U
A

L
 S

T
R

E
E
T

 S
E
C

T
IO

N
S

6
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
48

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

C
IR

C
U

LA
TI

O
N

-P
LA

N
.D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JMCONCEPTUAL STREET SECTIONS

20

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



*

MULTI-TENANT
SIGN

30' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER

PA-4
42.6 AC

R-M

PA-1
20.7 AC

MU-2

I-25

PA-2
27.5 AC

MU-2

PA-3
25.9 AC

MU-1

PA-5
27.7 AC

EMP

WCR 48

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

WELD
COUNTY

"A"
ZONE

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

C
IR

C
LE

G
A

TE
W

A
Y 

D
R.

C
O

M
M

ER
C

E 
D

R.

GENESEE & WYOMING RAILROAD

T
R

A
IL

S 
&

 O
P
E
N

 S
P
A

C
E
 P

L
A

N

7
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
49

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

TR
AI

LS
-A

N
D

-O
PE

N
-S

PA
C

E.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

N0

Scale: 1"= 200'-0"

10
0

20
0

40
0

LEGEND

5' PEDESTRIAN WALK

PARK*
10' PEDESTRIAN WALK

PRIMARY MONUMENTATION

LANDSCAPE BUFFER

OPEN AREA

A. FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS PUD, "OPEN SPACE OR LANDSCAPE AREA" IS REFERRED TO AS "OPEN
AREA."

B. OPEN AREA PROVIDED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS PUD WILL MEET ALL LANDSCAPE AREA, OPEN
SPACE AREA, OR SIMILAR AREAS REQUIRED PER THE JOHNSTOWN CODE REQUIREMENTS.

C. SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED OR ATTACHED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE A MINIMUM 15%
OPEN AREA.

D. MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE A MINIMUM OF 30% OPEN AREA.

E. COMMERCIAL AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE A MINIMUM 20% OPEN AREA.

F. OPEN AREA REQUIREMENTS WILL BE CALCULATED ON A NET BASIS EXCLUDING PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY.

G. LANDSCAPE BUFFERS AND DETENTION PONDS CAN COUNT TOWARDS OPEN AREA
REQUIREMENT.OPEN AREA MAY BE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED INTO LARGER PARCELS (FOR THE
PURPOSES OF DEVELOPING A LARGER AND MORE FUNCTIONAL OPEN AREA) AT THE DISCRETION OF
THE DEVELOPER AND WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPER DIRECTOR. THE
LOCATION(S) OF THE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED OPEN AREA SHALL BE DESIGNATED AT THE TIME OF
EACH PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN THAT IS CONTRIBUTING TO THAT OPEN AREA.

H. OPEN SPACE LOCATED WITHIN A SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED OR SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED LOT CAN
NOT BE COUNTED TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

I. USABLE OPEN AREA CAN COUNT TOWARDS OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT.

USABLE OPEN AREA

A. WELTY RIDGE REQUIRES A 10% USABLE OPEN AREA FOR RESIDENTIAL AREAS. FOR PURPOSES OF
THIS PUD, THE 10% USABLE OPEN AREA SHALL BE CALCULATED FROM THE TOTAL AREA OF ALL
RESIDENTIAL LOTS AND ADJACENT LOCAL ROADWAYS THAT SERVE AS DIRECT ACCESS TO THE
RESIDENTIAL LOTS.

B. USABLE OPEN AREA PROVIDED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS PUD WILL MEET ALL DEDICATED
OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS PER THE JOHNSTOWN CODE.

C. USABLE OPEN AREA MAY BE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED INTO LARGER PARCELS (FOR THE PURPOSES
OF DEVELOPING AT LARGER AND MORE FUNCTIONAL PARK OR SIMILAR USES) AT THE DISCRETION OF
THE DEVELOPER AND WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR. THE
LOCATION(S) OF THE CUMULATIVELY GATHERED USEABLE OPEN AREA SHALL BE DESIGNATED AT THE
TIME OF EACH FINAL PLAT THAT IS CONTRIBUTING TO THAT AREA.

D. A MINIMUM OF 1 ACRE OF PARK PER 250 RESIDENTIAL UNITS IS REQUIRED.

E. USABLE OPEN AREA MAY OWNED BY THE TOWN, METRO DISTRICT, OR HOA. OWNERSHIP TO BE
DETERMINED AT THE TIME OF PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS

F. WHERE PRACTICAL USABLE OPEN AREA SHOULD BE CONTIGUOUS.

G. DETENTION PONDS CAN COUNT TOWARDS USABLE OPEN AREA REQUIREMENTS AS LONG AS THEY
MEET THE DEFINITION OF USABLE OPEN AREA PROVIDED IN THIS DOCUMENT. NOT MORE THAN 5% OF
THE USABLE OPEN AREA REQUIREMENT CAN BE MET WITH DETENTION PONDS.

TRAILS & OPEN SPACE PLAN

21

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

G

G

G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G
G

G
G

G

G G

G G G

G
G

G G

G
G

G
G

G

G

G
G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G G

G

G

G

G

E

E E

SAUER WEST, LLC
(UNPLATTED)

RMSJ, LLC
(UNPLATTED)

PP

PP

PP

OH
OH

T
T

4'

SAUER WEST, LLC
(UNPLATTED)

W

S
S

S
S

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

O
H

O
H

60' RAILROAD RIGHT OF WAY
(BOOK 190 AT PAGE 80 & BOOK 228 AT PAGE 200)

30' NON-EXCLUSIVE PIPELINE RIGHT-OF-WAY
(REC. NO. 3911684) (SEE NOTE 4)

30' NON-EXCLUSIVE PIPELINE RIGHT-OF-WAY
(REC. NO. 3911684) (SEE NOTE 4)

SS

SSSSSSSSSS
WWWWWW

SS
SS

SS

WWW

W
W

W
W

W

WWWW

SSSSSS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS SS SS SS

SS
SS

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W

SD SD SD SD SD

30' PROPOSED UTILITY EASEMENT

COUNTY ROAD 48 (105' ROW)

GATEWAY CENTER

DETENTION

POND

DETENTION POND

20' WATER PIPELINE EASEMENT
(REC. NO. 3677233) (NO WATER PIPELINE LOCATED)
(SEE NOTE 4)

30' NON-EXCLUSIVE PIPELINE RIGHT-OF-WAY
(REC. NO. 3911679) (SEE NOTE 4)

20' WATER PIPELINE EASEMENT (REC. NO. 3677233)
(NO WATER PIPELINE LOCATED)
(SEE NOTE 4)

30' PERMANENT EASEMENT
(BOOK 1570, PAGE 624)

20' PERMANENT EASEMENT
(BOOK 1570, PAGE 624)

20' PERMANENT EASEMENT
(BOOK 1570, PAGE 624)

60' EXISTING ROW

105' PROPOSED ROW

30' PROPOSED
LANDSCAPE
BUFFER

80' PROPOSED ROW

80' PROPOSED ROW

65' PROPOSED ROW

80' PROPOSED ROW

EXISTING
GAS LINE

(SEE NOTE 4)

EXISTING 16"
RAW WATER LINE
(SEE NOTE 3)

EXISTING 16"
RAW WATER LINE
(SEE NOTE 3)

EXISTING
GAS LINE

(SEE NOTE 4)

EXISTING GAS LINE
(NO EASEMENT FOUND)

(SEE NOTE 4)

EXISTING GAS LINE
(NO EASEMENT FOUND)

(SEE NOTE 4)

EXISTING
GAS LINE.

(SEE NOTE 4)

EXISTING
GAS LINE

EXISTING
GAS LINE
(SEE NOTE 4)

EXISTING
GAS LINE

(SEE NOTE 4)

PROPOSED
8" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED 12" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

FUTURE SEWER EXTENSION
TO THE EAST (SEE NOTE 6)

CONNECT TO EXISTING
10" WATER LINE (SEE NOTE 1)

CONNECT TO EXISTING
8" WATER LINE (SEE NOTE 1)

EXISTING
OVERHEAD ELECTRIC

EXISTING
COMMUNICATIONS LINE

CONNECT TO FUTURE SEWER EXTENSION
(SEE NOTE 6)

EXISTING
OVERHEAD POWER
(SEE NOTE 4)

PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT

I
N

T
E

R
S

T
A

T
E

 
2

5
 
C

O
R

R
I
D

O
R

(
R

.
O

.
W

 
V

A
R

I
E

S
)

PROPOSED 10" WATER MAIN

EXISTING UNDERGROUND POWER

EXISTING GAS LINE
(NO EASEMENT FOUND)

(SEE NOTE 4)

PROPOSED 10" WATER MAIN

PROPOSED
12" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED
8" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED 10" WATER MAIN

PROPOSED 8" WATER MAIN

PROPOSED 8" WATER MAIN

PROPOSED 8" WATER MAIN

PROPOSED
8" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING OIL AND GAS FACILITIES
(SEE NOTE 4)

EXISTING 8" WATER LINE
(SEE NOTE 1)

EXISTING 12" LITTLE
THOMPSON EMERGENCY

WATER LINE (SEE NOTE 1)

12" LITTLE THOMPSON
EMERGENCY CONNECTION
(PROTECT IN PLACE) (TYP)

FUTURE CDOT ROW
(SEE NOTE 5)

FUTURE CDOT ROW
(SEE NOTE 5)

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING GAS LINE
(NO EASEMENT FOUND)
(SEE NOTE 4)

PROPOSED
8" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING 8" SANITARY
SEWER (SEE NOTE 1)

EXISTING 8" SANITARY
SEWER (SEE NOTE 1)

100' PROPOSED ROW

PROPOSED
8" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

PA-4
42.6 AC

R-M

PA-1
20.7 AC

MU-2

PA-2
27.5 AC

MU-2

PA-3
25.9 AC

MU-1

PA-5
27.7 AC

EMP

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING 10" WATER LINE
(SEE NOTE 1)

EXISTING 8" WATER LINE
(SEE NOTE 1)

PROPOSED 10" WATER MAIN

CONNECT TO EXISTING
8" SANITARY SEWER (SEE NOTE 1)

30' PROPOSED DRAINAGE EASEMENT

30' PROPOSED DRAINAGE EASEMENT

PROPOSED STORM SEWER

PROPOSED STORM SEWER

PROPOSED
8" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT

PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT

65' PROPOSED ROW PROPOSED
8" SANITARY SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED
FIRE HYDRANT

65' PROPOSED ROW

PROPOSED 10" WATER MAIN

0 150'

1 inch = 150 ft.

300'

1. THE SIZE AND LOCATION OF ALL KNOWN UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES ARE APPROXIMATE AND BASED OFF THE BEST
AVAILABLE INFORMATION WHEN SHOWN ON THESE
DRAWINGS. EXACT LOCATIONS OF EXISTING UTILITIES AND
TIE-IN POINTS SHALL BE DETERMINED/CONFIRMED DURING
FINAL DESIGN. BEFORE COMMENCING NEW CONSTRUCTION,
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL
UNKNOWN UTILITIES.

2. UTILITY MAINS AND SERVICES ARE SHOWN SCHEMATICALLY
AND FINAL LOCATIONS WILL BE DETERMINED DURING THE
FINAL PLAT AND CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENT PROCESS
THROUGH THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN.

3. THE 16" RAW WATERLINE TO THE SOUTH OF THE WELTY
RIDGE PROPERTY IS NONPOTABLE AND WILL NOT PROVIDE
A LOOPED CONNECTION TO THE SITE.

4. EXISTING EASEMENTS AND UTILITIES IN CONFLICT WITH
PROPOSED DESIGN SHALL BE VACATED AND REMOVED
PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  EXACT LIMITS WILL BE
DETERMINED DURING FINAL DESIGN.

5. APPROXIMATE ROW LIMITS BASED OFF PRELIMINARY
DESIGNS PROVIDED BY CDOT. FINAL LOCATION WILL BE
DETERMINED DURING THE FINAL DESIGN OF THE I-25
WIDENING PROJECT.

6. AN OFFSITE SEWER MAIN IS REQUIRED TO BE
CONSTRUCTED TO THE EAST THAT CONNECTS INTO THE
EXISTING JOHNSTOWN SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM. SEWER
LINE BELOW I-25 SHALL BE BORED AND PERMITTED WITH
CDOT. EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION SHALL BE DETERMINED
DURING FINAL DESIGN.

7. SEE SHEET 6 FOR ROADWAY CROSS SECTIONS.

NOTES

LEGEND

TV

E

FO

G

IRR

T

PROPOSED ROW

PROPERTY LINE

CABLE TV

ELECTRIC & METER

FIBER OPTIC LINE & MH

GAS LINE & METER

IRRIGATION

OVERHEAD POWER

TELEPHONE LINE & MH

< EXISTING SWALE

EX. / PR. LIGHT POLE

EX. / PR. SIGNS

PROPOSED SANITARY MAIN W/ FLOW ARROWS

FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY

PROPOSED WATER MAINW

S

W

PROPOSED CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED LANDSCAPE BUFFER

EX. POWER POLEPP

EXISTING ROW

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

3/
20

19
 9

:2
3 

AM
 ; 

X:
\1

8-
15

6 
G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S\
C

AD
D

\C
IV

IL
\2

 - 
W

EL
TY

 R
ID

G
E\

W
EL

TY
 R

ID
G

E 
- O

D
P 

U
TI

LI
TY

 P
LA

N
.D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7

C
O

N
C

E
P
T

U
A

L
 U

T
IL

IT
Y

 P
L
A

N
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

128

AM

AM

KR
PLANNING AREA DELINEATION

OH

PROPOSED SANITARY STUB

PROPOSED WATER STUB
SD PROPOSED STORM SEWER

22



SS

SSSSSSSSSS
WWWWWW

SS
SS

SS

WWW

W
W

W
W

W

WWWW

SSSSSS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS SS SS SS

SS
SS

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W
W

SD SD SD SD SD

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

G

G

G

G
G

G

G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G
G

G
G

G

G G
G G G

G G

G G

G
G

G
G

G

G

G
G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G G

G

G

G

G

E

E
E

SAUER WEST, LLC
(UNPLATTED)

RMSJ, LLC
(UNPLATTED)

<
PP

PP

PP

OH
OH

T
T

4'

SAUER WEST, LLC
(UNPLATTED)

W

S
S

S
S

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

O
H

O
H

5000

5005

5010

5015

5015

50
20

5020

50
25

5025

50
25

5025

50
30

5030

5035

50
35

5040

5040

5045

50
45

5050

5050

5055

50
55

5060

50
60

50
65

50
65

4997

4998

4999

5001
5002
5003
5004

5006
5007
5008
5009

5011
5012
5013
501450145014

50
16

5016

50
17

5017

50
18

5018

5019

5019

5021

5021

5022

5022

5023

5023

50
24

5024

5026

5026

5027

5027

50
28

50
28

50
29

50
29

50
31

50
31

5032

50
32

5033

50
33

5034

50
34

5036

50
36

5037

50
37

5038

5038

5039

5039

5041

50
41

5042

50
42

5043

50
43

5044

50
44

5044
5044

5046

5046

5047

5047

5048

5048

5049

5049

5051

5051

5052

5052

5053

5053

5054

5054

5056

5056

5057

50
57

50
58

50
58

5058

50
58

5059

50
59

5061

50
61 5061

5061

5061 50
61

50
625

06
2

50
62

50
62

50
635

06
3

50
63

50
63

50
6450

64 50
64

50
64

50
66

5020

5025

5030

5035

5016

50
17

5018
5019

5021
5022

5023
5024

5026
5027

5028
5029

50315032
5033

5034

5036

5037
5038

5045

5050

5055

50
60

5065 50
655065

50
65

5044

5046
5047

5048

5049

5051
5052
5053

5054

5056

5057

5058

5059
5061
5062
5063
5064

50
64

5066 50
66506750
67

50
10

5015

5020

5025

5030

5035

50
40

5045

50
50

5007
5008
5009

5011
5012
5013
5014

5016
5017
5018
5019

5021
5022

5023

5024

5026
5027
5028
5029

50
31

50325033
5034

5036

5037

5038

5039

5041
50425043
5044

5046

5047

5048
5049

50
5150

52

50
45

50
50

50
55

50
44

50
46

5047504850
49

50
51

50
52

5053

5054

5056

5060

5060

50
65 5065

50
65

50705075

50
565056 50

5750575058

5058

50
59

50595061

5061

5062

50
62

50
635064 5064

50
6450665067506850695071507250735074

5020

5018
5019

5021

5022

5023

5024

49954995
4995

5000
50055010

50
15

5015 5020 5020

4991
499249934994

4996499749984999
5001500250035004

50065007
5008

50095011501250135014
5016 50

16

50
17 5017

5018 50185019 5019

5015

5020

5025

50
30

50
35

5040

5045

50
50

50
55

5060

5065

5016

5017

5018

5019

5021
5022

5023
5024

5026
50

27
50

28
50

29

50
31

50
32

5033

5034

50
36

50
37

50
38

5039

5041

5042

50
43

5044

5046
5047

5048

5049

50
51

50
52

50
53

50
54

50
56

50
57

50
58

5059

5061

5062

5063

5064

5060 50
65

5059

5061 50
62

50
63

50
64

50
66

5066
5067

50
67

506850
68

DETENTION POND

DETENTION POND

PA-4
42.6 AC

R-M

PA-1
20.7 AC

MU-2

PA-2
27.5 AC

MU-2

PA-3
25.9 AC

MU-1

PA-5
27.7 AC

EMP

50
15

50
20

50
25

5030

5035

5040

5045

5050

5055

5060

5065

5070

501250
13

50
14

50
16

50
17

50
18

50
19

50
21

50
22

50
23

50
24

50
2650

27

50
28

5029

5031

5032

5033

5034

50365036

50365036

5036

5037

5037

5037

5038

5039

5041

5042

5043

5044

5046

5047

5048

5049

5051

5052

5053

5054

5056

5057
5058
5059

5061
5062
5063
5064

5066
5067
5068
5069

5071
50725073

5055

505550
605065 5065

5065
5070

5075 50
56 50

56

50
57

50
57

50
57

50
58

50
59

50
61

50
62

50
63

5064 5064 50
6450665067

5068
5069

5071
5072

5073
5074

50
15

5020

5025

5030

5035

5040

5045

5050

5055

50
12

50
13

50
14

50
16

5017
5018

5019

5021

50
22

5023

5024

5026

5027

5028

5029

5031
5032

50335033

5033

5034

5036

5037

5038
5039

5041
50

42

5043

5044

5046

5047

5048
5049

5051

5052

50525052

50525052
50535054

5056

5057

5058
5059

5010
5010

5015

5015

5020
5020

5025

5025

5030

5030

5035

5035

5040

5040

5045

5045

5050

5050

5055

5055

5060

5060

5065

5011

5011

5012
5012

5012

5012

5012

5012

5013

5013
5014

5014
5016

5016

5017

50175018

5018
5019 5019

5021 5021

5022

5022

5023

5023

5024

5024

5026

5026

5027

5027

5028

5028

5029

5029

5031

5031

5032

5032

5033

5033

5034

5034

5036

5036

5037

5037

5038

5038

5039

5039

5041

5041

5042

5042

5043

5043

5044

5044

5046

5046

5047

5047

5048

5048

5049

5049

5051

5051

5052

5052

5053

5053

5054

5054

5056

5056

5057

5057

5058

5058

5059

5059

5061

5061

5062

5062

5063

5063

5064

5064

506650665066

5000
49

9749984999

5025

5022

5023

5024

5017

5018

5015

5020

5012

5011

5010 50
09

5005
5000

50
25

50
30

5035

5040

5045

5050

5055

5060

5023
5024

50
26

50
27

50
28

50
29

50
31

5032

5033

5034

5036

50365036
50365036
5037

50
38

5039

5041

5042

5043

5044

5046

5047

5048

5049

5051

5052

5053

5054

5056
5056

50565057

5058

5059

5061

506250635064

50
00

50
05

50
10

50
15

50
20

50
24

50
32

50
45

5055
5053

5043

5025 5020 5015 5010 5005 5000

5025
5020

5030
5035

COUNTY ROAD 48 (105' ROW)

60' EXISTING ROW105' PROPOSED ROW

I
N

T
E

R
S

T
A

T
E

 
2

5
 
C

O
R

R
I
D

O
R

(
R

.
O

.
W

 
V

A
R

I
E

S
)

FUTURE CDOT ROW
(SEE NOTE 4)

FUTURE CDOT ROW
(SEE NOTE 4)

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

3/
20

19
 9

:2
4 

AM
 ; 

X:
\1

8-
15

6 
G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S\
C

AD
D

\C
IV

IL
\2

 - 
W

EL
TY

 R
ID

G
E\

W
EL

TY
 R

ID
G

E 
- O

D
P 

G
R

AD
IN

G
 P

LA
N

.D
W

G
;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7

PLANNING AREA DELINEATION

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

 G
R

A
D

IN
G

 P
L
A

N
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

129

AM

AM

KR

1. DETENTION POND SIZING AND LOCATIONS ARE
CONCEPTUAL AND WILL BE DETERMINED
DURING THE PLAT AND CONSTRUCTION
DOCUMENT PROCESS THROUGH THE TOWN OF
JOHNSTOWN.

2. THE TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY AND BOUNDARY
SHOWN ARE BASED ON THE FIELD SURVEY
WORK OF PLS GROUP (PROJECT #18042.001).
FIELD SURVEY WAS COMPLETED ON OR
AROUND MAY 22, 2018.

3. SEE SHEET 6 FOR ROADWAY CROSS SECTIONS.

4. APPROXIMATE ROW LIMITS BASED OFF
PRELIMINARY DESIGNS PROVIDED BY CDOT.
FINAL LOCATION WILL BE DETERMINED DURING
THE FINAL DESIGN OF THE I-25 WIDENING
PROJECT.

NOTES

LEGEND

5280

5279 EXISTING MINOR CONTOUR

EXISTING MAJOR CONTOUR

PROPERTY LINE

5280

5279 PROPOSED MINOR CONTOUR

PROPOSED MAJOR CONTOUR

PROPOSED CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED R.O.W.

PROPOSED UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED LANDSCAPE BUFFER

0 150'

1 inch = 150 ft.

300'

FLOW ARROW

23



5' SIDE SETBACK

110' IN THIS EXAMPLE

10' MIN REAR SETBACK

5' 
MIN

25' ACCESS / UTILITY EASEMENT

16' MIN
FLOW

LINE TO
FLOW
LINE

11
0'

 IN
 T

HI
S 

EX
A

M
PL

E

10' FRONT SETBACK

GARAGEGARAGE

GARAGE GARAGE

5' SIDEWALK

5' MIN. SIDE YARD

5' MIN. PORCH SETBACK

PORCH PORCH

PORCH PORCH

PORCH

PORCH

PORCH

PORCH

30' MIN GARAGE
SEPARATION

5'

25' ACCESS / UTILITY EASEMENT

G
A

RA
G

E
G

A
RA

G
E

G
A

RA
G

E

G
A

RA
G

E
G

A
RA

G
E

G
A

RA
G

E

PORCH PORCH

PO
RC

H

PO
RC

H

10' SIDE CORNER SETBACK

5' MIN.

5' MIN SIDE SETBACK

23' MIN
FLOW

LINE TO
FLOW
LINE

5' SIDEWALK

11
5'

 IN
 T

HI
S 

EX
A

M
PL

E

124' IN THIS EXAMPLE

10' MIN. BUILDING SEPARATION

10' MIN.
FRONT

SETBACK

30' MIN GARAGE
SEPARATION

PO
RC

H

PO
RC

H

10' MIN.
FRONT

SETBACK

10'
MIN.
SIDE

SETBACK
(CORNER)

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

15' MIN. REAR SETBACK

 8' TREE LAWN

5' SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PUBLIC STREET

10' FRONT SETBACK

5'
FRONT

SETBACK
TO

COVERED
PORCH

PORCH

10' MIN. BUILDING
SEPARATION

5' MIN. SIDE SETBACK

20' MIN. FRONT
SETBACK TO

GARAGE

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

GARAGE

PORCH

PROPERTY
LINE

ALLEY

3' MIN. SETBACK
(ALLEY LOADED )

PROPERTY
LINE

PUBLIC STREET

ZERO LOT
LINE

 8' TREE LAWN

5' SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PUBLIC STREET

ZERO LOT
LINE

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

D
RI

V
EW

A
Y

20'
MIN.

10' MIN.

10' MIN.

D
E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
S

10
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
49

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T-
ST

AN
D

AR
D

S.
D

W
G

;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

A. ARCHITECTURAL ELEMENTS SUCH AS ROOF OVERHANGS,
FIREPLACES, AND BAY BOX WINDOWS ARE PERMITTED A 24-INCH
ENCROACHMENT INTO BUILDING SEPARATIONS.  NO PORTION OF
THE STRUCTURE ABOVE GROUND MAY ENCROACH INTO THE
THREE-FOOT BUILDING TO PROPERTY LINE SETBACK WITHOUT
MODIFICATION AND BUILDING DEPARTMENT REVIEW AND
APPROVAL.  OTHER SUBSURFACE ARCHITECTURAL ELEMENTS
INCLUDING STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS OF THE BUILDING
FOUNDATION MAY ENCROACH INTO BUILDING SEPARATIONS OR
SETBACKS PROVIDED THAT SUCH ELEMENTS REMAIN ENTIRELY
WITHIN THE LOT UPON WHICH THEY ORIGINATED.  FOUNDATION
WALLS ARE NOT PERMITTED WITHIN ANY SETBACKS.
UNENCLOSED DECKS MAY ENCROACH INTO REAR SETBACKS BUT
SHALL BE LOCATED NO CLOSER THAN 10' (TEN FEET) FROM THE
REAR PROPERTY LINE BUT SHALL NOT ENCROACH INTO A UTILITY
EASEMENT. DECKS SHALL NOT ENCROACH INTO SIDE SETBACK.

B. A ZERO LOT LINE MAY BE UTILIZED WHEN A MAINTENANCE
EASEMENT AND SIDEYARD EASEMENTS ARE EXECUTED SUBJECT
TO I.B.C. REQUIREMENTS.

C. SETBACK MEANS THE HORIZONTAL DISTANCE BETWEEN ANY
STRUCTURE AND THE ESTABLISHED STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE
OR PROPERTY LINE.

D. SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED (SFD) AND SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED
(SFA) FRONT LOADED GARAGES REQUIRE A MINIMUM 18'
DRIVEWAY FROM THE GARAGE FACE TO THE BACK OF WALK.

E. ANY LAND USE OF A LOWER DENSITY MAY BE DEVELOPED WITHIN
A HIGHER DENSITY PARCEL AS LONG AS IT FOLLOWS STANDARDS
OF THE LOWER DENSITY LISTED IN THE TABLES.

F. ALLEY LOADED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MAY FRONT ON AN
ARTERIAL STREET WITH APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR.

* OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.)
** ACCESSORY USE BUILDING HEIGHT TO BE LESS THAN PRIMARY BUILDING HEIGHT.

* OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.) * OR AS REQUIRED BY CURRENT FIRE CODE / INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (I.B.C.)

CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE A - GREEN COURT

CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE B - MOTOR COURT

ALLEY LOAD SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED TYPICALFRONT LOAD SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED TYPICAL

ZERO LOT LINE TYPICAL

24

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



D
E
SI

G
N

 G
U

ID
E
L
IN

E
S

11
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
49

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

D
ES

IG
N

-G
U

ID
EL

IN
ES

.D
W

G
;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

DESIGN GUIDELINES

PART 1 - INTRODUCTION

1.1 STATEMENT OF INTENT

WELTY RIDGE IS A +/- 145 ACRE MASTER-PLANNED COMMUNITY
LOCATED WEST OF INTERSTATE 25 IN THE SOUTHWEST
CORNER OF THE I-25 & WCR48/SH-60. THIS MIXED USE PROJECT
INCLUDES PARCELS DESIGNATED FOR MULTIPLE TYPES OF
RESIDENTIAL, RETAIL, COMMERCIAL, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND
OFFICE USES. THE OVERALL CHARACTER OF WELTY RIDGE
MUST BE EVIDENT AND MAINTAINED TO ENSURE THE QUALITY
AND COHESIVENESS DESIRED IN THIS EMERGING PART OF
NORTHERN COLORADO. THE GUIDELINES WILL SERVE AS A
DESIGN CONCEPT FOR ULTIMATE DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT.
HIGH QUALITY DEVELOPMENT IS ENCOURAGED ALONG THE
INTERSTATE 25 CORRIDOR IN GENERAL. WELTY RIDGE WILL BE
VISIBLE FROM THE INTERSTATE, AND ITS DEVELOPMENT WILL
FORM A FIRST IMPRESSION OF THE COMMUNITY.

THE DESIGN GUIDELINES SHALL BE UTILIZED BY RESIDENTS,
DEVELOPERS, ARCHITECTS, ENGINEERS AND PLANNERS FOR
DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION DIRECTION WITHIN THIS PUD. ALL
DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN WELTY RIDGE ARE SUBJECT TO THE
DESIGN GUIDELINES CONTAINED HEREIN. IN CASES WHERE
THIS DOCUMENT IS SILENT, THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN
STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS SHALL APPLY.

PART 2 - GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES

2.1  APPLICABILITY

THIS SECTION APPLIES TO ALL DEVELOPMENT WITHIN WELTY
RIDGE AND PROVIDES GENERAL STANDARDS UPON WHICH THE
SUBSEQUENT SECTIONS WILL BUILD TO PROVIDE GREATER
CLARITY FOR SPECIFIC LAND USES. ALL GOVERNING LOCAL
CODES, REGULATIONS, AND STATUTES ENFORCED BY THE
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN WILL APPLY.

2.2 LANDSCAPING

2.2.1 LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES

ALL DEVELOPMENT SHALL DEMONSTRATE ADHERENCE TO 
THE FOLLOWING LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES:

· DESIGN TO PROVIDE AN ATTRACTIVE, COMFORTABLE
ENVIRONMENT FOR USERS WHILE MINIMIZING
MAINTENANCE NEEDS, IRRIGATION WATER
REQUIREMENTS AND THE USE OF HERBICIDES AND
PESTICIDES.

· DESIGN LANDSCAPES TO CREATE A NATURALIZED
APPEARANCE. USE PLANT MATERIALS THAT ARE
INDIGENOUS TO NORTHERN COLORADO WHERE POSSIBLE.
ONLY USE INTRODUCED SPECIES IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE
DESIGN OBJECTIVES THAT CANNOT BE ACHIEVED WITH
THE USE OF NATIVE SPECIES.

· COORDINATE THE DESIGN OF THE LANDSCAPE WITH SITE
EROSION PROTECTION, STORM DRAINAGE AND WATER
QUALITY IMPROVEMENT SYSTEMS.

· DESIGN AND MANAGE IRRIGATION SYSTEMS TO ACHIEVE
PEAK EFFICIENCY.

2.2.2 STREETSCAPE DESIGN

WELTY RIDGE ENTRIES WILL CONTAIN BOTH SIGNAGE AND
LANDSCAPING THAT TIE INTO THE OVERALL STREETSCAPE
DESIGN. THE LAND USE PLAN (SHEET 2) ILLUSTRATES THE
MAJOR AND MINOR ENTRIES INTO THE SITE. IN ORDER TO
CREATE AN APPROPRIATE LANDSCAPE CORRIDOR ALONG
CR48, LARGE MASSES OF TREES AND SHRUBS ARE REQUIRED.
THE RIGHT-OF-WAY (ROW) WILL BE PRIMARILY DROUGHT-
TOLERANT TURF OR IRRIGATED NATIVE SEED. THIS
TREATMENT WILL TRANSITION TO DRIFTS OF
SHRUB/PERENNIAL BEDS AND TREE GROUPINGS THAT
MEANDER FROM JUST INSIDE THE ROW TO THE EDGE OF
LANDSCAPE BUFFERS AND BACK. THE GOAL IS TO AVOID A
STRAIGHT-LINE TREATMENT AT THE EDGE OF THE ROW. WALKS
WILL BE DETACHED AND MEANDER WITHIN THE ROW AND
OUTSIDE OF THE ROW INTO THE LANDSCAPE BUFFER IF
DESIRED. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A SIMILAR FASHION OR
WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED CONCRETE
(SHEET 12, EXHIBIT A).

COLLECTOR & ARTERIAL STREETS:
PLANTING OF ARTERIAL AND COLLECTOR STREETS WILL BE
TREATED IN A SIMILAR FASHION IN ORDER TO CREATE A
UNIFIED AND SIGNIFICANT STREETSCAPE IMAGE. THE
STREETSCAPE DESIGN SHALL EMPHASIZE XERISCAPE
PRINCIPLES AND A UNIQUE LOOK THAT SETS WELTY RIDGE
APART. TREES AND PERENNIALS SHALL BE PLANTED WITHIN
THE PUBLIC ROW, WHILE SHRUBS MAY BE PLANTED OUTSIDE
THE PUBLIC ROW. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A SIMILAR
FASHION OR WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED
CONCRETE.

ARTERIAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER:
A 30' AVERAGE LANDSCAPE BUFFER WILL BE PROVIDED ALONG
WCR48 WITH A MINIMUM WIDTH OF 20'.

SIGHT DISTANCE LINES:
NO PLANTING OVER 30" IN HEIGHT SHALL OCCUR WITHIN A
SIGHT DISTANCE LINES. REFER TO AASHTO REQUIREMENTS
REGARDING SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLES.

2.3 PARKS, OPEN AREA, REGIONAL DETENTION AND
NATURAL AREAS

THE DESIGN OF PARKS, OPEN AREA, DETENTION AND NATURAL
AREAS SHALL MEET THE CRITERIA AS ESTABLISHED IN THE
JOHNSTOWN/MILLIKEN PARKS, TRAILS, RECREATION AND OPEN
SPACE PLAN.  FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS MAY BE SUBMITTED
IN STAGES BY PHASE.  AS SUCH, THE OPEN AREA DESIGN,
APPROVAL AND LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION WILL OCCUR AS
THE LOTS DEVELOP.

2.4 SITE SIGNAGE

2.4.1 PURPOSE

THE OBJECTIVE OF THE WELTY RIDGE  SIGNAGE PROGRAM IS
TO HELP TO CREATE A UNIFIED IMAGE FOR THE COMMUNITY.
ALL FREESTANDING SIGNAGE WITHIN THE DEVELOPMENT WILL
BEAR THE STYLE AND LOGO OF WELTY RIDGE, HOWEVER
INDIVIDUAL LOGOS AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED ON THE SIGN
FACE. FREESTANDING SIGNS LOCATED THROUGHOUT THE
DEVELOPMENT ARE UNIFIED THROUGH THE USE OF SIMILAR
GEOMETRY AND A REPETITION OF A COMMON MATERIALS
PALETTE.

BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNS ARE REGULATED BY LIMITING SIZE.
HOWEVER, TENANT LOGOS AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED. THE
SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS ARE CONGRUENT WITH THE TOWN
OF JOHNSTOWN SIGN CODE. ANY VARIATIONS ARE NOTED.

NO BLINKING LIGHT SIGNAGE WILL BE ALLOWED.

MULTI-TENANT FREESTANDING SIGNS ALONG CR48 WILL MEET
THE TOWN CODE. IF A VARIATION FROM THE CODE IS
REQUIRED A MASTER SIGNAGE PLAN WILL BE PROVIDED.

ONE MULTI-TENANT FREESTANDING SIGN SHALL BE ALLOWED
ON I-25 WITH A MAXIMUM HEIGHT OF 45' (SHEET 12, EXHIBIT C).
ANY VARIATION FROM THIS WILL REQUIRE A MASTER SIGNAGE
PLAN.

2.5 FENCING & WALLS

CHAIN LINK IS ONLY ACCEPTABLE IN THE "EMP" AREA BY
INDUSTRIAL USES AND MUST BE VINYL COATED. CHAIN LINK IS
NOT PERMITTED WITH ANY OTHER USE. OTHER FENCING
MATERIALS SUCH AS SIMULATED WROUGHT IRON AND / OR
CONCRETE OR MASONRY MAY BE REQUIRED DEPENDING UPON
SCREENING NEEDS AND COMPATIBILITY WITH ADJACENT USES.
NO WOOD RETAINING WALLS ARE ALLOWED (NONRESIDENTIAL
ONLY). FENCING AND WALLS SHALL MATCH PRIMARY BUILDING
ARCHITECTURE.

2.6 DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES

DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES ARE A CONVENIENT SERVICE;
HOWEVER, THEY CAN CREATE BARRIERS TO PEDESTRIAN
MOVEMENT AND PRESENT AN UNATTRACTIVE APPEARANCE
UNLESS THEY ARE THOUGHTFULLY DESIGNED AND LOCATED.

THERE SHALL BE NO STACKING OF WAITING VEHICLES INTO
THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY, PRIMARY INTERIOR CIRCULATION
ROUTES OR ACROSS PEDESTRIAN WALKWAYS.

DRIVE THROUGH WINDOWS, MENU BOARDS AND STACKING
AREAS SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE SAME SETBACK AND
SCREENING REQUIREMENTS AS PARKING LOTS.

PART 3 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS

THESE STANDARDS REPRESENT MINIMUM ARCHITECTURE AND
DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR THE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS
IN AN EFFORT TO CREATE A COHESIVE OVERALL WELTY RIDGE
DEVELOPMENT ACROSS MULTIPLE BUILDERS AND PRODUCTS.
ADDITIONAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS MAY BE INCLUDED
AS MORE DETAILED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT
PLANS ARE CREATED FOR EACH PLANNING AREA, PHASE,
AND/OR RESIDENTIAL PRODUCT.

3.1 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED AND DETACHED
ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

3.1.1 APPLICABILITY

ALL SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED AND ATTACHED DWELLINGS
SHALL CONFORM TO ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF
THESE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS, AS WELL AS APPLICABLE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE ADOPTED BUILDING CODE
REQUIREMENTS.

3.1.2 EXTERIOR CHANGES

EXTERIOR MATERIAL CHANGES SHOULD OCCUR AT CHANGES
IN THE PLANE OF THE BUILDING, NOT EXCLUSIVELY AT THE
OUTSIDE CORNERS.

3.1.3 GARAGES

ALL SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES SHALL INCLUDE A
MINIMUM 2-CAR GARAGE, EITHER ATTACHED OR DETACHED, AS
PART OF THE NEW CONSTRUCTION OR PLACEMENT.

3.1.4 PRODUCT VARIATION

APPLICABILITY:
THE FOLLOWING HOUSING MODEL VARIETY STANDARDS SHALL
APPLY TO ALL NEW RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISIONS AND
DEVELOPMENTS. THESE STANDARDS ARE INTENDED TO
PREVENT MONOTONOUS STREETSCAPES AND OFFER
CONSUMERS A WIDE CHOICE OF HOUSING STYLES.

EACH HOUSING MODEL SHALL PROVIDE AND EXHIBIT AT LEAST
THREE FEATURES THAT CLEARLY AND OBVIOUSLY
DISTINGUISH THEM FROM OTHER HOUSING MODELS.  THESE
FEATURES CAN INCLUDE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. BUILDING MASS - BUILDING MASS IS CONSIDERED TO BE
THE OUTLINE OF THE STRUCTURE.  THIS IS
DETERMINED BY THE HEIGHT, WIDTH, AND DEPTH OF
THE STRUCTURE.

2. BUILDING FORM - BUILDING FORM IS CONSIDERED TO
BE THE STYLE OF THE HOME, INCLUDING RANCH,
TRI-LEVEL OR TWO-STORY STRUCTURES.

3. ROOF TYPE - ROOF TYPES CONSIST OF MANSARD, HIP,
GAMBREL, GABLE, AND FRONT-TO-BACK (SHED STYLE).
DIFFERENTIATION MAY ALSO BE ACHIEVED THROUGH
THE USE OF ROOF DORMERS, GABLES, AND HIPS.  FLAT
OR A-FRAMES ROOFS SHOULD BE AVOIDED UNLESS
APPROPRIATE TO THE ARCHITECTURAL STYLE.

4. WINDOWS AND DOORS - THE VERTICAL OR HORIZONTAL
VARIATION IN THE PLACEMENT OF AT LEAST TWO
WINDOWS AND/OR DOORS ON THE FRONT FACADE
ELEVATION OR WINDOW SHAPES THAT ARE
SUBSTANTIALLY DIFFERENT. THIS STANDARD ALSO
APPLIES TO ANY ELEVATION FACING A STREET, OPEN
SPACE OR PUBLIC / PRIVATE PARK.

5. THE USE OF AT LEAST TWO DIFFERENT MATERIALS ON
THE FRONT FACADE ELEVATION.

6. GARAGES.  VARIATION IN THE LOCATION AND/OR
PROPORTION OF GARAGES AND GARAGE DOORS, SUCH
AS ALLEY-LOADED GARAGES, SIDE-LOADED GARAGES,
ETC.  (2-CAR GARAGE VS. 3-CAR GARAGE OF THE SAME
ELEVATION DO NOT MEET THE INTENT).

7. VARIATIONS IN THE LOCATION, WIDTH, AND
PROPORTION OF FRONT PORCHES (MIN. SIZE 6'x6").

8. MINOR COSMETIC CHANGES SUCH AS DIFFERENT PAINT
COLOR, REVERSING OR CREATING MIRRORED IMAGES
OF THE EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS,
SHUTTERS, DECORATIVE BRACKETS, OR USING
DIFFERENT BRICK OR STONE COLOR SHALL NOT MEET
THE INTENT OF THIS SECTION.

THE SAME HOUSING MODEL WITH THE IDENTICAL STREET
ELEVATION DESIGN (OR NEARLY IDENTICAL) SHALL NOT BE
PLACED LESS THAN THREE AWAY OR DIRECTLY ACROSS THE
STREET FROM ONE ANOTHER. “ACROSS THE STREET” IS
DEFINED AS LOTS THAT OVERLAP EACH OTHER WHEN THE
SIDE LOT LINES ARE EXTENDED ACROSS THE STREET TO THE
OPPOSITE LOT.  THE SAME HOUSING MODEL USED AT THE END
OF ONE BLOCK SHALL NOT BE REPEATED ON THE FIRST LOT
OF THE NEIGHBORING BLOCK.

IDENTICAL OR NEARLY IDENTICAL STREET ELEVATION DESIGN
MEANS LITTLE OR NO VARIATION IN THE ARTICULATION OF THE
FAÇADE, HEIGHT OR WIDTH OF THE FAÇADE, PLACEMENT OF
THE PRIMARY ENTRANCES, PORCHES, NUMBER AND
PLACEMENT OF WINDOWS, AND OTHER MAJOR
ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES.

3.2 CLUSTERED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL
ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

3.2.1 GENERAL

CLUSTER HOMES ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC STREET AND
LOCATED ON A MOTOR COURT OR GREEN COURT SHALL HAVE
A SIDE FACING GARAGE. THE GARAGE SHALL FACE THE MOTOR
COURT OR SHARED DRIVE NOT THE PUBLIC STREET (SHEET 15,
EXHIBIT B).

3.2.2 ACCESS

IF FOUR OR FEWER UNITS ACCESS FROM A SHARED DRIVE,
THE MINIMUM DRIVE WIDTH IS 16 FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME
EXAMPLE B - MOTOR COURT ON SHEET 10). IF 5 OR MORE
UNITS ACCESS OFF A COMMON DRIVE THE MINIMUM DRIVE
WIDTH IS 23 FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE A - GREEN
COURT ON SHEET 10).

GARAGES FACING ONTO SHARED DRIVES MUST HAVE A
MINIMUM FACE TO FACE SEPARATION OF 30 FEET.

3.1.3 FACADES

EXTERIOR FACADES SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CURRENT
STANDARDS AND DESIGN GUIDELINES EXCEPT AS FOLLOWS:

IN ORDER TO BE CONSIDERED A DISTINCT ELEVATION, EACH
ELEVATION SHALL INCORPORATE AT LEAST THREE OF THE
FOLLOWING:

1. PLACEMENT OF WINDOWS ON THE FRONT FAÇADE
ELEVATION INCLUDE AT LEAST A TWO-FOOT VERTICAL
OR HORIZONTAL VARIATION IN SIZE OR LOCATION.

2. THE USE OF DIFFERENT MATERIALS OR VARIATIONS OF
THE SAME MATERIAL ON THE FRONT FAÇADE
ELEVATION.

3. VARIATIONS IN FRONT PLANE.
4. VARIATION IN ROOF TYPE, GABLE AND HIP.

NO MORE THAN TWO (2) OF THE SAME MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE
PERMITTED WITHIN A MOTOR OR GREEN COURT. IF TWO
MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE LOCATED WITHIN THE SAME MOTOR
COURT THEY MUST USE DIFFERENT COLORS OR MATERIALS.

NO HOME MODEL ELEVATION SHALL BE REPEATED DIRECTLY
ACROSS ANY STREET. THIS APPLIES TO STREET SIDE HOMES
ONLY. THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO UNITS LOCATED INTERIOR TO
THE MOTOR COURT OR GREEN COURT.

ALL “STREET SIDE CLUSTER HOMES” SHALL MEET THE
FOLLOWING:

1. THE FRONT FAÇADE OF THE HOME INCORPORATES A
COVERED PORCH.

3.3 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL ARCHITECTURAL
STANDARDS

3.3.1 BUILDING DESIGN

THE ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN APPROACH SHALL EMPHASIZE
COMPATIBILITY WITH EXISTING DEVELOPMENT AND SITE
DESIGN.

THE DESIGN OF NEW STRUCTURES IN OR ADJACENT TO
EXISTING DEVELOPED AREAS SHALL BE COMPATIBLE WITH, OR
AN UPGRADE TO, THE ESTABLISHED ARCHITECTURAL
CHARACTER OF SUCH AREAS.  COMPATIBILITY MAY BE
ACHIEVED THROUGH TECHNIQUES SUCH AS:

1. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES.
2. USE OF SIMILAR PROPORTIONS IN BUILDING MASS AND

OUTDOOR SPACES.
3. SIMILAR RELATIONSHIPS TO THE STREET.
4. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND DOOR PATTERNS.
5. BUILDING MATERIALS WITH SIMILAR COLORS AND

TEXTURES.

TREAT ALL SIDES WITH SIMILAR MATERIALS.  MULTI-FAMILY
BUILDING FACADES SHALL BE ARTICULATED WITH PORCHES,
BALCONIES, BAYS OR OTHER OFFSETS.

ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHOULD BE SIMILAR IN CHARACTER
AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY BUILDINGS.

3.3.2 FACADES

FACADES THAT FACE A STREET OR PARKING AREA SHALL NOT
HAVE A BLANK, UNINTERRUPTED LENGTH EXCEEDING 50 FEET
WITHOUT INCLUDING AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. CHANGE IN PLANE.
2. CHANGE IN COLOR, TEXTURE OR PATTERN, MATERIAL.
3. WINDOWS.
4. COLUMNS, PIERS OR EQUIVALENT ELEMENT THAT

SUBDIVIDES THE WALL.

FACADES GREATER THAN 150 FEET IN LENGTH SHALL
INCORPORATE WALL PLANE PROJECTIONS OR RECESSES
HAVING A DEPTH OF AT LEAST 2% OF THE LENGTH OF THE
FACADE AND OCCUPY AT LEAST 20% OF THE LENGTH OF THE
FACADE.

3.3.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES

PRIMARY BUILDING ENTRANCES SHALL BE CLEARLY DEFINED
AND PROVIDE SHELTER, AND INCLUDE A MINIMUM OF TWO (2)
OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. CANOPY, ARCADE OR PORTICO.
2. OVERHANG OR RECESS.
3. RAISED CORNICED PARAPET.
4. PEAKED ROOF OR ARCH.
5. ARCHITECTURAL DETAIL SUCH AS COLUMNS, TILE

WORK, STONE OR MOLDINGS INTEGRATED INTO THE
BUILDING STRUCTURE.

6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS THAT
INCORPORATE LANDSCAPED AREAS AND/OR PLACES
FOR SITTING.

7. SPECIAL LANDSCAPE OR SITE FEATURE(S).

3.3.4 ROOF AND TOP TREATMENTS

ROOFTOP MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT MUST BE NON-OBTRUSIVE,
SCREENED FROM VIEW OR DESIGNED TO BE INTEGRAL
COMPONENTS OF THE BUILDING.

THE AVERAGE PARAPET HEIGHT MAY NOT EXCEED 15% OF THE
SUPPORTING WALL HEIGHT.

LARGE SLOPED ROOFS MUST HAVE VARIATIONS IN HEIGHT OR
OFFSETS TO BREAK UP THE LARGE PLANE WITH A MAXIMUM
100 LINEAR FEET OF ONE PLANE.

ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHALL BE OF THE SAME CHARACTER
AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY BUILDINGS.

25

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



WELTY

TENANT 1

45'

TENANT 2

TENANT 3

TENANT 4

TENANT 5

TENANT 6

PUBLIC STREET

D
RI

V
E

MOTOR COURT

GREEN COURT

STREET TREES

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

D
RI

V
E

BACKYARD FRONT DOOR

COMMON/SHARED
GREEN SPACE, TYP.

GREEN COURT

RIGHT-OF-WAY

STREET TREES

PERENNIALS

DROUGHT-TOLERANT
SHRUBS

SIDEWALK

DROUGHT -TOLERANT
 TURF

IRRIGATED
NATIVE SEED

PUBLIC
STREET

FLOW LINE

30' LANDSCAPE
BUFFER (SHRUBS

ALLOWED)
ROW (NO SHRUBS)

D
E
SI

G
N

 G
U

ID
E
L
IN

E
S

12
SHEET

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

OF

B
Y

D
A

T
E

#
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

11
/1

4/
20

19
 1

2:
49

 P
M

 ; 
P:

\P
LA

TT
E 

LA
N

D
 &

 W
AT

ER
\G

R
EA

T 
PL

AI
N

S 
-W

EL
TY

\C
AD

\S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

\W
EL

TY
 O

D
P\

W
EL

TY
-O

D
P-

D
ES

IG
N

-G
U

ID
EL

IN
ES

.D
W

G
;

W
E

L
T

Y
 R

ID
G

E

LOCATED IN SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 68 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN JOHNSTOWN, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO

OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
WELTY RIDGE

te
rra

cin
a

10
20

0 
E.

 G
ira

rd
 A

ve
, S

te
 A

-3
14

D
en

ve
r, 

C
O

  8
02

31
ph

: 3
03

.6
32

.8
86

7
td

de
sig

n
O

U
T

L
IN

E
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

JO
H

N
ST

O
W

N
, 
C

O

12

JM

KB

JM

 PART 4 - COMMERCIAL, OFFICE AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL
ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS

4.1 GENERAL

THESE DESIGN STANDARDS APPLY TO THE CREATION OF AND
IMPROVEMENTS TO HIGH VISIBILITY, NEIGHBORHOOD, COMMUNITY
AND  REGIONAL-SCALE COMMERCIAL AREAS. REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO THE OVERALL NATURE OF THE PUD CAN BE FOUND
IN THE GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES (PART 2) AND SHOULD BE
VIEWED AS COMPLEMENTARY.

4.1.1 CONTEXT/SCALE

IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE COHESIVE DESIGNS WITHIN EACH AREA OF
DEVELOPMENT, ATTENTION MUST BE PAID TO BUILDINGS AND
FEATURES SURROUNDING THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENT.

THE DESIGN OF BUILDINGS WHICH FACE PUBLIC STREETS,
ADJACENT DEVELOPMENTS, OR CONNECTED PEDESTRIAN SPACES,
SHALL EMPLOY, ALONG A MINIMUM OF FORTY (40) PERCENT OF THE
FACADE, AT LEAST TWO OF THE FOLLOWING IN AN EFFORT TO FORM
COHESIVE DEVELOPMENT, DEFINE THE SPACES, AND TO BRING A
PEDESTRIAN SCALE TO THE FACADES. THIS REQUIREMENT IS FOR
ALL ELEVATIONS (360◦ DESIGN)

1. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND PATTERNS
2. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES
3. SIMILAR BUILDING MATERIALS AND TEXTURES
4. SHADING DEVICES (INCLUDING ARCADES, AWNINGS AND

ARBORS)
5. SIMILAR PROPORTIONS OF ELEMENTS

4.1.2 ARTICULATION

WALL DESIGN FOR ALL FACADES SHALL VARY AT LEAST EVERY FIFTY
(50) HORIZONTAL FEET BY USE OF AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE
FOLLOWING:

1. CHANGES IN COLOR, TEXTURE, OR MATERIALS.
2. CHANGES IN WALL PLANE PROJECTIONS, REVEALS,

ENTRANCES, AND RECESSES WITH A MINIMUM CHANGE OF
ONE FOOT.

3. CHANGE IN GLAZING / CURTAIN WALL
4. VARIETY IN ROOFS: SUCH AS PITCH, HEIGHT, AND STYLE.
5. ENHANCED ARTICULATION ALONG PEDESTRIAN PATHS

4.1.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES

PUBLIC BUILDING ENTRANCES SHOULD BE CLEARLY DEFINED AND
FEATURE AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING ELEMENTS:

1. CANOPIES OR PORTICOS
2. OVERHANGS OR RECESSES OR PROJECTIONS
3. ARCADES
4. ARCHES
5. DISPLAY WINDOWS ALONG SIDEWALKS
6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS WITH INCORPORATED

LANDSCAPE AREAS AND/OR PLACES FOR SITTING
7. DISTINCTIVE ROOF FORMS
8. AWNINGS
9. COLUMNS, TILE WORK, MOLDINGS, AND STONE INTEGRATED

INTO THE DESIGN OF THE BUILDING

4.1.4 MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT, LOADING AREA, AND OUTDOOR
STORAGE

ALL LOADING DOCKS, ACCESSORY OUTDOOR STORAGE AND
SERVICE YARDS SHALL BE LOCATED TO THE SIDE AND REAR YARDS
OF BUILDINGS.

ALL OUTDOOR STORAGE YARDS, LOADING DOCKS, SERVICE AREAS
AND MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT SHALL BE CONCEALED FROM VIEW
FROM RESIDENTIAL USES AND PUBLIC ROW BY A COMBINATION OF
SCREENS AND SCREENING MATERIAL (PLANTS) AT LEAST AS HIGH AS
THE EQUIPMENT OR AREAS THEY HIDE. THEY SHALL BE DESIGNED
WITH COLORS AND MATERIALS SIMILAR TO THOSE USED ON THE
BUILDING ARCHITECTURE. PLANTS USED IN COMBINATION WITH
SCREENS/FENCING SHALL BE EVERGREEN.

4.1.5 FENCES

ALL FENCING SHALL CONSIST OF WOODEN, STAKE, PARCEL PICKET,
SPLIT RAIL, VINYL, WROUGHT IRON, AND/OR MASONRY. CHAIN LINK
WILL ONLY BE ACCEPTED IN "EMP" AREAS FOR INDUSTRIAL USES.

EXCESSIVE FENCING SHALL BE AVOIDED THROUGH THE USE OF
STAGGERING, LANDSCAPE, BUFFER, AND ANCHOR MATERIALS.

4.1.6 RETAINING WALLS

ANY PORTION OF CONCRETE OR MASONRY RETAINING WALLS
VISIBLE FROM PUBLIC STREETS WILL BE COVERED WITH
DECORATIVE MATERIALS SUCH AS STONE, BRICK OR STUCCO.

MULTI-TENANT HIGHWAY SIGN EXAMPLE (EXHIBIT C)

CLUSTER HOME CONCEPTUAL PLAN (EXHIBIT B)STREETSCAPE TYPICAL (EXHIBIT A)

26

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-23-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD SUBMITTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
JM



ATTACHMENT C 
 

LAND USE TABLES 
WELTY RIDGE ODP 

 
See full ODP document for context and additional text and information. 

 
 

  

27



ATTACHMENT C 
 

  

28



ATTACHMENT C 
 

 
  

29



ATTACHMENT C 
 

 

30



ATTACHMENT E 

LAND USE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS MATRIX 

WELTY RIDGE ODP 

See full ODP document for context and additional text and information 

31



ATTACHMENT E 

32



ATTACHMENT E 

 

 

33



ATTACHMENT F 

 
 

 
Welty Ridge Outline Development Plan (ODP) 

 
NOTE: This document provides a more functional way to read and review these design guidelines. This text in 
incorporated in full into the ODP plan set, to be recorded.  
 
 

DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 
PART 1 – INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 STATEMENT OF INTENT 
WELTY RIDGE IS A +/- 145 ACRE MASTER-PLANNED COMMUNITY LOCATED WEST OF 
INTERSTATE 25 IN THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE I-25 & WCR48/SH-60. THIS MIXED USE 
PROJECT INCLUDES PARCELS DESIGNATED FOR MULTIPLE TYPES OF RESIDENTIAL, RETAIL, 
COMMERCIAL, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE USES. THE OVERALL CHARACTER OF WELTY 
RIDGE MUST BE EVIDENT AND MAINTAINED TO ENSURE THE QUALITY AND COHESIVENESS 
DESIRED IN THIS EMERGING PART OF NORTHERN COLORADO. THE GUIDELINES WILL SERVE 
AS A DESIGN CONCEPT FOR ULTIMATE DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT. HIGH QUALITY 
DEVELOPMENT IS ENCOURAGED ALONG THE INTERSTATE 25 CORRIDOR IN GENERAL. WELTY 
RIDGE WILL BE VISIBLE FROM THE INTERSTATE, AND ITS DEVELOPMENT WILL FORM A FIRST 
IMPRESSION OF THE COMMUNITY. 
 
THE DESIGN GUIDELINES SHALL BE UTILIZED BY RESIDENTS, DEVELOPERS, ARCHITECTS, 
ENGINEERS AND PLANNERS FOR DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION DIRECTION WITHIN THIS PUD. 
ALL DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN WELTY RIDGE ARE SUBJECT TO THE DESIGN GUIDELINES 
CONTAINED HEREIN. IN CASES WHERE THIS DOCUMENT IS SILENT, THE TOWN OF 
JOHNSTOWN STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS SHALL APPLY. 
PART 2 - GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 
2.1   APPLICABILITY 
THIS SECTION APPLIES TO ALL DEVELOPMENT WITHIN WELTY RIDGE AND PROVIDES 
GENERAL STANDARDS UPON WHICH THE SUBSEQUENT SECTIONS WILL BUILD TO PROVIDE 
GREATER CLARITY FOR SPECIFIC LAND USES. ALL GOVERNING LOCAL CODES, 
REGULATIONS, AND STATUTES ENFORCED BY THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN WILL APPLY. 

 
2.2 LANDSCAPING 

 
2.2.1 LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES 
ALL DEVELOPMENT SHALL DEMONSTRATE ADHERENCE TO THE FOLLOWING LANDSCAPE 
DESIGN PRINCIPLES: 

• DESIGN TO PROVIDE AN ATTRACTIVE, COMFORTABLE ENVIRONMENT FOR USERS 
WHILE MINIMIZING MAINTENANCE NEEDS, IRRIGATION WATER REQUIREMENTS AND 
THE USE OF HERBICIDES AND PESTICIDES. 

• DESIGN LANDSCAPES TO CREATE A NATURALIZED APPEARANCE. USE PLANT 
MATERIALS THAT ARE INDIGENOUS TO NORTHERN COLORADO WHERE POSSIBLE. 
ONLY USE INTRODUCED SPECIES IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE DESIGN OBJECTIVES THAT 
CANNOT BE ACHIEVED WITH THE USE OF NATIVE SPECIES. 

• COORDINATE THE DESIGN OF THE LANDSCAPE WITH SITE EROSION PROTECTION, 
STORM DRAINAGE AND WATER QUALITY IMPROVEMENT SYSTEMS. 

• DESIGN AND MANAGE IRRIGATION SYSTEMS TO ACHIEVE PEAK EFFICIENCY. 
 
 

34



ATTACHMENT F 

 
 

2.2.2 STREETSCAPE DESIGN 
WELTY RIDGE ENTRIES WILL CONTAIN BOTH SIGNAGE AND LANDSCAPING THAT TIE INTO THE 
OVERALL STREETSCAPE DESIGN. THE LAND USE PLAN (SHEET 2) ILLUSTRATES THE MAJOR 
AND MINOR ENTRIES INTO THE SITE. IN ORDER TO CREATE AN APPROPRIATE LANDSCAPE 
CORRIDOR ALONG CR48, LARGE MASSES OF TREES AND SHRUBS ARE REQUIRED. THE 
RIGHT-OF-WAY (ROW) WILL BE PRIMARILY DROUGHT- TOLERANT TURF OR IRRIGATED NATIVE 
SEED. THIS TREATMENT WILL TRANSITION TO DRIFTS OF SHRUB/PERENNIAL BEDS AND TREE 
GROUPINGS THAT MEANDER FROM JUST INSIDE THE ROW TO THE EDGE OF LANDSCAPE 
BUFFERS AND BACK. THE GOAL IS TO AVOID A STRAIGHT-LINE TREATMENT AT THE EDGE OF 
THE ROW. WALKS WILL BE DETACHED AND MEANDER WITHIN THE ROW AND OUTSIDE OF THE 
ROW INTO THE LANDSCAPE BUFFER IF DESIRED. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A SIMILAR 
FASHION OR WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED CONCRETE (SHEET 12, 
EXHIBIT A). 
 
COLLECTOR & ARTERIAL STREETS: 
PLANTING OF ARTERIAL AND COLLECTOR STREETS WILL BE TREATED IN A SIMILAR FASHION 
IN ORDER TO CREATE A UNIFIED AND SIGNIFICANT STREETSCAPE IMAGE. THE STREETSCAPE 
DESIGN SHALL EMPHASIZE XERISCAPE PRINCIPLES AND A UNIQUE LOOK THAT SETS WELTY 
RIDGE APART. TREES AND PERENNIALS SHALL BE PLANTED WITHIN THE PUBLIC ROW, WHILE 
SHRUBS MAY BE PLANTED OUTSIDE THE PUBLIC ROW. MEDIANS WILL BE PLANTED IN A 
SIMILAR FASHION OR WILL BE CONSTRUCTED OF COLORED & STAMPED CONCRETE. 
 
ARTERIAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER: 
A 30' AVERAGE LANDSCAPE BUFFER WILL BE PROVIDED ALONG WCR48 WITH A MINIMUM 
WIDTH OF 20'. 
 
SIGHT DISTANCE LINES: 
NO PLANTING OVER 30" IN HEIGHT SHALL OCCUR WITHIN A SIGHT DISTANCE LINES. REFER 
TO AASHTO REQUIREMENTS REGARDING SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLES. 
 
2.3 PARKS, OPEN AREA, REGIONAL DETENTION AND NATURAL AREAS 
THE DESIGN OF PARKS, OPEN AREA, DETENTION AND NATURAL AREAS SHALL MEET THE 
CRITERIA AS ESTABLISHED IN THE JOHNSTOWN/MILLIKEN PARKS, TRAILS, RECREATION AND 
OPEN SPACE PLAN.  FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS MAY BE SUBMITTED IN STAGES BY PHASE.  
AS SUCH, THE OPEN AREA DESIGN, APPROVAL AND LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION WILL OCCUR 
AS THE LOTS DEVELOP. 
 
2.4 SITE SIGNAGE 
 
2.4.1 PURPOSE 
THE OBJECTIVE OF THE WELTY RIDGE SIGNAGE PROGRAM IS TO HELP TO CREATE A UNIFIED 
IMAGE FOR THE COMMUNITY.  ALL FREESTANDING SIGNAGE WITHIN THE DEVELOPMENT WILL 
BEAR THE STYLE AND LOGO OF WELTY RIDGE, HOWEVER INDIVIDUAL LOGOS AND GRAPHICS 
ARE ALLOWED ON THE SIGN FACE. FREESTANDING SIGNS LOCATED THROUGHOUT THE 
DEVELOPMENT ARE UNIFIED THROUGH THE USE OF SIMILAR GEOMETRY AND A REPETITION 
OF A COMMON MATERIALS PALETTE. 
 
BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNS ARE REGULATED BY LIMITING SIZE. HOWEVER, TENANT LOGOS 
AND GRAPHICS ARE ALLOWED. THE SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS ARE CONGRUENT WITH THE 
TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN SIGN CODE. ANY VARIATIONS ARE NOTED. 
 
NO BLINKING LIGHT SIGNAGE WILL BE ALLOWED. 
 

35



ATTACHMENT F 

 
 

MULTI-TENANT FREESTANDING SIGNS ALONG WCR 50/LCR 14 AND HIGH PLAINS BLVD. WILL 
MEET THE TOWN CODE. IF A VARIATION FROM THE CODE IS REQUIRED A MASTER SIGNAGE 
PLAN WILL BE PROVIDED. 
ONE MULTI-TENANT FREESTANDING SIGN SHALL BE ALLOWED ON I-25 WITH A MAXIMUM 
HEIGHT OF 45' (SHEET 12, EXHIBIT C). ANY VARIATION FROM THIS WILL REQUIRE A MASTER 
SIGNAGE PLAN. 
 
2.5 FENCING & WALLS 
CHAIN LINK IS ONLY ACCEPTABLE IN THE INDUSTRIAL USES AND MUST BE VINYL COATED. 
CHAIN LINK IS NOT PERMITTED IN ANY OTHER USE. OTHER FENCING MATERIALS SUCH AS 
SIMULATED WROUGHT IRON AND / OR CONCRETE OR MASONRY MAY BE REQUIRED 
DEPENDING UPON SCREENING NEEDS AND COMPATIBILITY WITH ADJACENT USES. NO WOOD 
RETAINING WALLS ARE ALLOWED (NONRESIDENTIAL ONLY). FENCING AND WALLS SHALL 
MATCH BUILDING ARCHITECTURE.  
 
2.6 DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES 
DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES ARE A CONVENIENT SERVICE; HOWEVER, THEY MAY CREATE 
BARRIERS TO PEDESTRIAN MOVEMENT AND PRESENT AN UNATTRACTIVE APPEARANCE 
UNLESS THEY ARE THOUGHTFULLY DESIGNED AND LOCATED. 
 
DRIVE THROUGH WINDOWS, MENU BOARDS AND STACKING AREAS SHALL BE SUBJECT TO 
THE SAME SETBACK AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS AS PARKING LOTS. 
 
PART 3 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 
THESE STANDARDS REPRESENT MINIMUM ARCHITECTURE AND DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
FOR THE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS IN AN EFFORT TO CREATE A COHESIVE OVERALL WELTY 
RIDGE DEVELOPMENT ACROSS MULTIPLE BUILDERS AND PRODUCTS. ADDITIONAL 
ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS MAY BE INCLUDED AS MORE DETAILED PRELIMINARY AND 
FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS ARE CREATED FOR EACH PLANNING AREA, PHASE, AND/OR 
RESIDENTIAL PRODUCT. 
 
3.1 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED AND DETACHED ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 
3.1.1 APPLICABILITY 
ALL SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED AND ATTACHED DWELLINGS SHALL CONFORM TO ALL 
APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF THESE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS, AS WELL AS 
APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF THE ADOPTED BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS. 
3.1.2 EXTERIOR CHANGES 
EXTERIOR MATERIAL CHANGES SHOULD OCCUR AT CHANGES IN THE PLANE OF THE 
BUILDING, NOT EXCLUSIVELY AT THE OUTSIDE CORNERS. 
3.1.3 GARAGES 
 
ALL SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HOMES SHALL INCLUDE A MINIMUM 2-CAR GARAGE, EITHER 
ATTACHED OR DETACHED, AS PART OF THE NEW CONSTRUCTION OR PLACEMENT. 
 
3.1.4 PRODUCT VARIATION 
 
APPLICABILITY:  
THE FOLLOWING HOUSING MODEL VARIETY STANDARDS SHALL APPLY TO ALL NEW 
RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISIONS AND DEVELOPMENTS. THESE STANDARDS ARE INTENDED TO 
PREVENT MONOTONOUS STREETSCAPES AND OFFER CONSUMERS A WIDE CHOICE OF 
HOUSING STYLES. 
 

36



ATTACHMENT F 

 
 

EACH HOUSING MODEL SHALL PROVIDE AND EXHIBIT AT LEAST THREE FEATURES THAT 
CLEARLY AND OBVIOUSLY DISTINGUISH THEM FROM OTHER HOUSING MODELS.  THESE 
FEATURES CAN INCLUDE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING: 

1. BUILDING MASS - BUILDING MASS IS CONSIDERED TO BE THE OUTLINE OF THE 
STRUCTURE.  THIS IS DETERMINED BY THE HEIGHT, WIDTH, AND DEPTH OF THE 
STRUCTURE. 

2. BUILDING FORM - BUILDING FORM IS CONSIDERED TO BE THE STYLE OF THE 
HOME, INCLUDING RANCH, TRI-LEVEL OR TWO-STORY STRUCTURES. 

3. ROOF TYPE - ROOF TYPES CONSIST OF MANSARD, HIP, GAMBREL, GABLE, AND 
FRONT-TO-BACK (SHED STYLE).  DIFFERENTIATION MAY ALSO BE ACHIEVED 
THROUGH THE USE OF ROOF DORMERS, GABLES, AND HIPS.  FLAT OR A-FRAMES 
ROOFS SHOULD BE AVOIDED UNLESS APPROPRIATE TO THE ARCHITECTURAL 
STYLE. 

4. WINDOWS AND DOORS - THE VERTICAL OR HORIZONTAL VARIATION IN THE 
PLACEMENT OF AT LEAST TWO WINDOWS AND/OR DOORS ON THE FRONT FACADE 
ELEVATION OR WINDOW SHAPES THAT ARE SUBSTANTIALLY DIFFERENT. THIS 
STANDARD ALSO APPLIES TO ANY ELEVATION FACING A STREET, OPEN SPACE OR 
PUBLIC / PRIVATE PARK.  

5. THE USE OF AT LEAST TWO DIFFERENT MATERIALS ON THE FRONT FACADE 
ELEVATION. 

6. GARAGES.  VARIATION IN THE LOCATION AND/OR PROPORTION OF GARAGES AND 
GARAGE DOORS, SUCH AS ALLEY-LOADED GARAGES, SIDE-LOADED GARAGES, 
ETC.  (2-CAR GARAGE VS. 3-CAR GARAGE OF THE SAME ELEVATION DO NOT MEET 
THE INTENT). 

7. VARIATIONS IN THE LOCATION, WIDTH, AND PROPORTION OF FRONT PORCHES 
(MIN. SIZE 6'x6'). 

8. MINOR COSMETIC CHANGES SUCH AS DIFFERENT PAINT COLOR, REVERSING OR 
CREATING MIRRORED IMAGES OF THE EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS, 
SHUTTERS, DECORATIVE BRACKETS, OR USING DIFFERENT BRICK OR STONE 
COLOR SHALL NOT MEET THE INTENT OF THIS SECTION. 

THE SAME HOUSING MODEL WITH THE IDENTICAL STREET ELEVATION DESIGN (OR NEARLY 
IDENTICAL) SHALL NOT BE PLACED LESS THAN THREE AWAY OR DIRECTLY ACROSS THE 
STREET FROM ONE ANOTHER. “ACROSS THE STREET” IS DEFINED AS LOTS THAT OVERLAP 
EACH OTHER WHEN THE SIDE LOT LINES ARE EXTENDED ACROSS THE STREET TO THE 
OPPOSITE LOT.  THE SAME HOUSING MODEL USED AT THE END OF ONE BLOCK SHALL NOT 
BE REPEATED ON THE FIRST LOT OF THE NEIGHBORING BLOCK. 
 
IDENTICAL OR NEARLY IDENTICAL STREET ELEVATION DESIGN MEANS LITTLE OR NO 
VARIATION IN THE ARTICULATION OF THE FAÇADE, HEIGHT OR WIDTH OF THE FAÇADE, 
PLACEMENT OF THE PRIMARY ENTRANCES, PORCHES, NUMBER AND PLACEMENT OF 
WINDOWS, AND OTHER MAJOR ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES. 
 
3.2 CLUSTERED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 
3.2.1 GENERAL 
 
CLUSTER HOMES ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC STREET AND LOCATED ON A MOTOR COURT OR 
GREEN COURT SHALL HAVE A SIDE FACING GARAGE. THE GARAGE SHALL FACE THE MOTOR 
COURT OR SHARED DRIVE NOT THE PUBLIC STREET (SHEET 12, EXHIBIT B).  
 
3.2.2 ACCESS 
IF FOUR OR FEWER UNITS ACCESS FROM A SHARED DRIVE, THE MINIMUM DRIVE WIDTH IS 16 
FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME EXAMPLE B - MOTOR COURT ON SHEET 10). IF 5 OR MORE UNITS 
ACCESS OFF A COMMON DRIVE THE MINIMUM DRIVE WIDTH IS 23 FEET (SEE CLUSTER HOME 
EXAMPLE A - GREEN COURT ON SHEET 10). 

37



ATTACHMENT F 

 
 

 
GARAGES FACING ONTO SHARED DRIVES MUST HAVE A MINIMUM FACE TO FACE 
SEPARATION OF 30 FEET. 

 
3.1.3 FACADES 
EXTERIOR FACADES SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CURRENT STANDARDS AND DESIGN 
GUIDELINES EXCEPT AS FOLLOWS: 
 
IN ORDER TO BE CONSIDERED A DISTINCT ELEVATION, EACH ELEVATION SHALL 
INCORPORATE AT LEAST THREE OF THE FOLLOWING: 

1. PLACEMENT OF WINDOWS ON THE FRONT FAÇADE ELEVATION INCLUDE AT LEAST 
A TWO-FOOT VERTICAL OR HORIZONTAL VARIATION IN SIZE OR LOCATION. 

2. THE USE OF DIFFERENT MATERIALS OR VARIATIONS OF THE SAME MATERIAL ON 
THE FRONT FAÇADE ELEVATION.  

3. VARIATIONS IN FRONT PLANE. 
4.  VARIATION IN ROOF TYPE, GABLE AND HIP. 
 

NO MORE THAN TWO (2) OF THE SAME MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE PERMITTED WITHIN A 
MOTOR OR GREEN COURT. IF TWO MODEL ELEVATIONS ARE LOCATED WITHIN THE SAME 
MOTOR COURT THEY MUST USE DIFFERENT COLORS OR MATERIALS.  
 
NO HOME MODEL ELEVATION SHALL BE REPEATED DIRECTLY ACROSS ANY STREET. THIS 
APPLIES TO STREET SIDE HOMES ONLY. THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO UNITS LOCATED INTERIOR 
TO THE MOTOR COURT OR GREEN COURT.  
 
ALL “STREET SIDE CLUSTER HOMES” SHALL MEET THE FOLLOWING: 

1. THE FRONT FAÇADE OF THE HOME INCORPORATES A COVERED PORCH. 
 
3.3 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 
 
3.3.1 BUILDING DESIGN  
THE ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN APPROACH SHALL EMPHASIZE COMPATIBILITY WITH EXISTING 
DEVELOPMENT AND SITE DESIGN. 
 
THE DESIGN OF NEW STRUCTURES IN OR ADJACENT TO EXISTING DEVELOPED AREAS SHALL 
BE COMPATIBLE WITH, OR AN UPGRADE TO, THE ESTABLISHED ARCHITECTURAL CHARACTER 
OF SUCH AREAS.  COMPATIBILITY MAY BE ACHIEVED THROUGH TECHNIQUES SUCH AS: 

1. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES. 
2. USE OF SIMILAR PROPORTIONS IN BUILDING MASS AND OUTDOOR SPACES. 
3. SIMILAR RELATIONSHIPS TO THE STREET. 
4. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND DOOR PATTERNS. 

 5.    BUILDING MATERIALS WITH SIMILAR COLORS AND TEXTURES. 
 
TREAT ALL SIDES WITH SIMILAR MATERIALS.  MULTI-FAMILY BUILDING FACADES SHALL BE 
ARTICULATED WITH PORCHES, BALCONIES, BAYS OR OTHER OFFSETS. 
 
ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHOULD BE SIMILAR IN CHARACTER AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY 
BUILDINGS. 
 
3.3.2 FACADES 
FACADES THAT FACE A STREET OR PARKING AREA SHALL NOT HAVE A BLANK, 
UNINTERRUPTED LENGTH EXCEEDING 50 FEET WITHOUT INCLUDING AT LEAST TWO (2) OF 
THE FOLLOWING: 

1. CHANGE IN PLANE. 

38



ATTACHMENT F 

 
 

2. CHANGE IN COLOR, TEXTURE OR PATTERN, MATERIAL. 
3. WINDOWS. 

 4. COLUMNS, PIERS OR EQUIVALENT ELEMENT THAT SUBDIVIDES THE WALL. 
 
FACADES GREATER THAN 150 FEET IN LENGTH SHALL INCORPORATE WALL PLANE 
PROJECTIONS OR RECESSES HAVING A DEPTH OF AT LEAST 2% OF THE LENGTH OF THE 
FACADE AND OCCUPY AT LEAST 20% OF THE LENGTH OF THE FACADE. 
 
3.3.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES 
PRIMARY BUILDING ENTRANCES SHALL BE CLEARLY DEFINED AND PROVIDE SHELTER, AND 
INCLUDE A MINIMUM OF TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING: 

1. CANOPY, ARCADE OR PORTICO. 
2. OVERHANG OR RECESS. 
3. RAISED CORNICED PARAPET. 
4. PEAKED ROOF OR ARCH. 
5. ARCHITECTURAL DETAIL SUCH AS COLUMNS, TILE WORK, STONE OR MOLDINGS 

INTEGRATED INTO THE BUILDING STRUCTURE. 
6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS THAT INCORPORATE LANDSCAPED AREAS 

AND/OR PLACES FOR SITTING. 
 7.     SPECIAL LANDSCAPE OR SITE FEATURE(S). 
 
3.3.4 ROOF AND TOP TREATMENTS 
ROOFTOP MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT MUST BE NON-OBTRUSIVE, SCREENED FROM VIEW OR 
DESIGNED TO BE INTEGRAL COMPONENTS OF THE BUILDING.   
 
THE AVERAGE PARAPET HEIGHT MAY NOT EXCEED 15% OF THE SUPPORTING WALL HEIGHT. 
 
LARGE SLOPED ROOFS MUST HAVE VARIATIONS IN HEIGHT OR OFFSETS TO BREAK UP THE 
LARGE PLANE WITH A MAXIMUM 100 LINEAR FEET OF ONE PLANE. 
 
ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SHALL BE OF THE SAME CHARACTER AND MATERIALS AS PRIMARY 
BUILDINGS. 
 
PART 4 - COMMERCIAL, OFFICE AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 
 
4.1 GENERAL 
THESE DESIGN STANDARDS APPLY TO THE CREATION OF AND IMPROVEMENTS TO HIGH 
VISIBILITY, NEIGHBORHOOD, COMMUNITY AND  REGIONAL-SCALE COMMERCIAL AREAS. 
REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO THE OVERALL NATURE OF THE PUD CAN BE FOUND IN THE 
GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES (PART 2) AND SHOULD BE VIEWED AS COMPLEMENTARY. 

 
4.1.1 CONTEXT/SCALE 
IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE COHESIVE DESIGNS WITHIN EACH AREA OF DEVELOPMENT, 
ATTENTION MUST BE PAID TO BUILDINGS AND FEATURES SURROUNDING THE PROPOSED 
IMPROVEMENT. THE DESIGN OF BUILDINGS WHICH FACE PUBLIC STREETS, ADJACENT 
DEVELOPMENTS, OR CONNECTED PEDESTRIAN SPACES, SHALL EMPLOY, ALONG A MINIMUM 
OF FORTY (40) PERCENT OF THE FACADE, AT LEAST TWO OF THE FOLLOWING IN AN EFFORT 
TO FORM COHESIVE DEVELOPMENT, DEFINE THE SPACES, AND TO BRING A PEDESTRIAN 
SCALE TO THE FACADES. THIS REQUIREMENT IS FOR ALL ELEVATIONS (360◦ DESIGN) 

1. SIMILAR WINDOWS AND PATTERNS 
2. REPETITION OF ROOF LINES 
3. SIMILAR BUILDING MATERIALS AND TEXTURES 
4. SHADING DEVICES (INCLUDING ARCADES, AWNINGS AND ARBORS) 

  SIMILAR PROPORTIONS OF ELEMENTS 

39



ATTACHMENT F 

 
 

4.1.2 ARTICULATION 
WALL DESIGN FOR ALL FACADES SHALL VARY AT LEAST EVERY FIFTY (50) HORIZONTAL FEET 
BY USE OF AT LEAST TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING: 

1. CHANGES IN COLOR, TEXTURE, OR MATERIALS. 
2. CHANGES IN WALL PLAN PROJECTIONS, REVEALS, ENTRANCES, AND RECESSES 

WITH A MINIMUM CHANGE OF ONE FOOT. 
3. CHANGE IN GLAZING / CURTAIN WALL 
4. VARIETY IN ROOFS: SUCH AS PITCH, HEIGHT, AND STYLE. 
5. ENHANCED ARTICULATION ALONG PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 

4.1.3 BUILDING ENTRANCES 
PUBLIC BUILDING ENTRANCES SHOULD BE CLEARLY DEFINED AND FEATURE AT LEAST 

TWO (2) OF THE FOLLOWING ELEMENTS: 
1. CANOPIES OR PORTICOS 
2. OVERHANGS OR RECESSES OR PROJECTIONS 
3. ARCADES 
4. ARCHES 
5. DISPLAY WINDOWS ALONG SIDEWALKS 
6. INTEGRAL PLANTERS OR WING WALLS WITH INCORPORATED LANDSCAPE 

AREAS AND/OR PLACES FOR SITTING 
7. DISTINCTIVE ROOF FORMS 
8. AWNINGS 
9. COLUMNS, TILE WORK, MOLDINGS, AND STONE INTEGRATED INTO THE DESIGN 

OF THE BUILDING 
 

4.1.4 MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT, LOADING AREA, AND OUTDOOR STORAGE 
ALL LOADING DOCKS, ACCESSORY OUTDOOR STORAGE AND SERVICE YARDS SHALL BE 
LOCATED TO THE SIDE AND REAR YARDS OF BUILDINGS. 
 
ALL OUTDOOR STORAGE YARDS, LOADING DOCKS, SERVICE AREAS AND MECHANICAL 
EQUIPMENT SHALL BE CONCEALED FROM VIEW FROM RESIDENTIAL USES AND PUBLIC ROW 
BY A COMBINATION OF SCREENS AND SCREENING MATERIAL (PLANTS) AT LEAST AS HIGH AS 
THE EQUIPMENT OR AREAS THEY HIDE. THEY SHALL BE DESIGNED WITH COLORS AND 
MATERIALS SIMILAR TO THOSE USED ON THE BUILDING ARCHITECTURE. PLANTS USED IN 
COMBINATION WITH SCREENS/FENCING SHALL BE EVERGREEN. 

 
4.1.5 FENCES 
ALL FENCING SHALL CONSIST OF WOODEN, STAKE, PARCEL PICKET, SPLIT RAIL, VINYL, 
WROUGHT IRON, AND/OR MASONRY. CHAIN LINK WILL ONLY BE ACCEPTED FOR INDUSTRIAL 
USES.  
 
EXCESSIVE FENCING SHALL BE AVOIDED THROUGH THE USE OF STAGGERING, LANDSCAPE, 
BUFFER, AND ANCHOR MATERIALS.  
 
4.1.6 RETAINING WALLS 
ANY PORTION OF CONCRETE OR MASONRY RETAINING WALLS VISIBLE FROM PUBLIC 
STREETS WILL BE COVERED WITH DECORATIVE MATERIALS SUCH AS STONE, BRICK OR 
STUCCO. 

40



 
AGENDA ITEM 10C 
 
 
 
 
                  Intergovernmental Agreement 
 
                    (Little Thompson Water 
                                   District) 



TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
  
ITEM NUMBER:  10C. 
 
SUBJECT: Ownership Transfer from Little Thompson Water District LTWD 

to Town of Johnstown 
 
ACTION PROPOSED: Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement with LTWD as 

Presented 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  1. IGA between LTWD and Town of Johnstown 
    2. Map showing property Town will service with water 
 
PRESENTED BY:  Matt LeCerf, Town Manager 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  
Enclosed for your consideration is an Intergovernmental Agreement between the Little 
Thompson Water District (LTWD) and the Town of Johnstown for the transferring of water 
services from LTWD to the Town’s ownership. The transfer of ownership, which includes four 
(4) properties (see attached map with blue location dots identifying the properties), is being 
requested by LTWD as part of their desire to minimize the existence of water lines that are not 
providing significant value to them and at the same time reaching their effective life cycle. Also 
contributing to this request, are the I-25 improvements, which as part of the interchange 
improvements would necessitate new line installation for LTWD to be installed under I-25 to 
continue servicing these properties.  
 
When approached by LTWD about this possibility, the Town worked with LTWD on this 
agreement with the caveat that we be kept whole. Based on the historical water usage of the four 
(4) properties, the Town will provide to LTWD with eight (8) CBT units and the Town will in 
exchange receive two (2) Home Supply Shares which currently are unchanged. These shares will 
be included in our water court change case. 
 
Ultimately, a 2” line to the 7-11 property will need to be installed and a 12” main down the 
frontage road will need to be installed to provide service. We expect to do this work outside of 
the I-25 improvement projects with our own contractors so as to distance ourselves from federal 
project cost increases that are not necessary to complete our work. As part of establishing 
services and providing adequate water mains to the properties on our system, the Town is 
working with CDOT to fully evaluate the cost savings that is being realized or funds that would 
have been necessary to meet the requirements of LTWD if the services continued to be LTWD. 
These funds as we are working through the process would be applied to the Town’s 
improvements to service the property. While a budget amendment may be necessary, simply 
from an expenditure standpoint, we expect there to be a corresponding revenue source depending 
on where we run the line to down the frontage road. 
 



One unique aspect to this agreement is the fact that the water service cost will increase. Three of 
the four properties are not in Town limits currently. Accordingly, in the agreement, the Town is 
proposing to provide the properties with in-town rates for a period of one year. During this time, 
the property owners can decide if they want to annex into the Town. If they choose not to during 
this time period, after the year expires, they would move to the out-of-town rate.  
 
LEGAL ADVICE: 
The agreement was reviewed and drafted by the Town Attorney. 
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: 
The Town will realize additional revenue from water sales at these four services 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff recommends approval of the agreement as presented. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
 
For Approval: 
I move to approve the Intergovernmental Agreement Concerning Water Services Between Town 
Of Johnstown and Little Thompson Water District as presented.  
 
For Denial: 
I move that we deny the Intergovernmental Agreement Concerning Water Services Between 
Town of Johnstown and Little Thompson Water District as presented. 
 
Reviewed and Approved for Presentation: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Town Manager 



INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONCERNING WATER SERVICES 
BETWEEN TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN AND LITTLE THOMPSON WATER DISTRICT 

 
 THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONCERNING WATER SERVICES 
(“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ____ day of ____________, 20__, by and between 
the TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, a home rule municipal corporation of the State of Colorado 
(“Town”), and the LITTLE THOMPSON WATER DISTRICT, a Title 32 special district and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (“District”), collectively referred to as “the 
Parties.”  
 
 WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the Town owns and operates a potable water system, providing water 
service primarily to residents of the Town, and the District owns and operates a potable water 
system, providing water service to, among other areas, portions of Larimer County that are 
adjacent, or in close proximity, to the Town; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Colorado Department of Transportation is making improvements to 

Interstate 25 in Northern Colorado, which includes improvements to the interchange at Interstate 
25 and State Highway 34; and 

WHEREAS, for the regional interest and to control costs related to the Interstate 25 
improvements, the District has requested that the Town assume water service for four properties 
that are currently served by the District, to wit:  

 
(i) real property with a street address of 6150 E. Highway 34 and legal description of 

BEG AT NE COR 15-5-68, JSTN, S 89 29' 30" W 1650 FT, S 1 4' W 165.9 FT 
TPOB, S 1 4' W 439.16 FT, N 89 29' 30" E 360 FT, N 1 4' E 565 FT M/L TO PT 
ON S R/W HWY 34, S 89 29' 30" W ALG SD R/W LN 256.97 FT, S 0 30' 30" E 
10 (Parcel No. 8515000014);  

(ii) real property with a street address of 856 NE Frontage Road and legal description 
of LOT 1, ARNDT MLD #04-S2257, 20040052759 (Parcel No. 8515106701); 

(iii) real property with a street address of 640 NE Frontage Road and legal description 
of PAR IN SE 1/4 15-5-68, DESC AS BEG AT PT ON E SIDE R/W HWY 87, 
20 FT S OF INTSEC OF SD R/W WITH S SIDE OF R/W G W R/R TPOB, S 
ALG SD HWY 506 FT, E 280 FT, N 180 FT, W 179.96 FT, N 273.51 FT, W 100 
FT M/L TO E LN HWY TPOB  (Parcel No. 8515000011); and 

(iv) real property with a street address of 648 NE Frontage Road and legal description 
of PAR IN SE 15-5-68 BEG AT PT WH BEARS S 0 22' W 42 FT & N 89 8' E 50 
FT FROM CEN 1/4 COR, S 0 23' 30" W 40 FT, N 89 8' E 100 FT, S 0 23' 30" W 
273.51 FT, N 89 31' 6" E 374.42 FT, S 35 16' 33" E 114.13 FT, E 379.25 FT, S 6 
(Parcel No. 8515000019). 

 



 

 2 

WHEREAS, the four properties shall be collectively referred to as “Properties” and 
singularly as “Property;” and  

 
WHEREAS, upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the District 

desires for the Town to provide the water service to the Properties and the Town agrees to 
provide the water service; and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Article XIV, Section 18(2) of the Colorado 

Constitution and Sections 29-1-201 et seq., C.R.S., government entities may cooperate and 
contract to provide any function, service or facility lawfully authorized to each of the 
cooperating or contracting entities; and 

 
WHEREAS, to effectuate the foregoing, the Parties desire to enter into this Agreement. 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements, covenants, promises, 
representations, and warranties hereinafter contained and other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 
 
 1. Recitals.  The Recitals are incorporated into the Agreement as if fully set forth 
herein. 
 

2. Water Service.  The Town hereby agrees to provide water service to the 
Properties.  For the first twelve (12) monthly water bills, the Town shall charge the in-town 
water rate for water service to each Property.  Subsequent thereto, the Town shall charge the in-
town water rate for water service to any of the Properties that have annexed into the Town and 
the out-of-town water rate to any of the Properties that remain outside the boundaries of the 
Town.  The Town recognizes and agrees that the real property referenced above with a street 
address of 6150 E. Highway 34 is already within the boundaries of the Town and shall thus be 
charged the in-town water rates at all times. 

 
3. Water Exchange.  As consideration for the Town’s agreement to provide water 

service to the Properties and to provide a viable supply of water to the Town to satisfy such 
obligation, the Parties agree to exchange water shares.  The District agrees to convey to the 
Town two (2) shares of the Consolidated Home Supply Ditch and Reservoir Company that have 
been changed to municipal use, with Certificate Number ____, and the Town agrees to convey to 
the District eight (8) units of Colorado Big Thompson Project.  The District agrees to pay the 
transfer fees to the Consolidated Home Supply Ditch and Reservoir Company and the Northern 
Colorado Water Conservancy District, if any, and take the requisite action to effectuate the 
foregoing transfer.  The water exchange shall be complete prior to the Town’s installation of 
water meters at any of the Properties.   
 

4. Effective Date.  This Agreement shall be effective as to each Property on the date 
that the Town installs the water meter at such Property.   

 



 

 3 

 5. Additional Documents or Action.  The Parties agree to execute any additional 
documents and take any additional action reasonably necessary to carry out the terms of this 
Agreement. 
 

6. Notices.  All notices, demands, or other documents required or desired to be 
given, made or sent to either Party under this Agreement shall be made in writing, shall be 
deemed effective upon receipt and shall be personally delivered or mailed postage prepaid, 
certified mail, return receipt requested as follows: 
 
 TO DISTRICT:     TO THE TOWN: 
 Little Thompson Water District   Town of Johnstown  

Attn: District Director     Attn: Town Clerk 
835 E. Highway 56     450 S. Parish Ave.     
Berthoud, CO 80513     PO Box 609 

Johnstown, CO 80534 
 

The addresses for notices may be changed by written notice given to the other Party in the 
manner provided above.  Notice may also be sent via e-mail delivery and shall be effective upon 
confirmation of receipt of the email.   
 
 7. Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assigned without the prior consent of 
the other Party.  
  
 8. Amendment or Modification.  No amendment or modification of this 
Agreement shall be of any force or effect unless in writing and signed by the Parties hereto. 
 
 9. Waiver.  The waiver of any breach of any of the provisions of this Agreement by 
either Party shall not constitute a continuing waiver of any subsequent breach by said Party, 
concerning either the same or any other provision of this Agreement. 
 
 10. Headings for Convenience Only.  Paragraph headings and titles contained herein 
are intended for convenience and reference only and are not intended to define, limit or describe 
the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement. 
 
 11. Choice of Laws and Venue.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of 
the Parties hereto shall be governed by the laws of the State of Colorado.  Venue for any claim, 
proceeding or action shall be in Larimer County or Weld County, State of Colorado. 
 
 12. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 
Parties related to the subject matter hereof and any prior agreements pertaining thereto whether 
oral or written have been merged or integrated into this Agreement. 
 
 13. No Presumption.  Each Party acknowledges that it has obtained, or has had the 
opportunity to obtain, the advice of legal counsel of its own choosing in connection with the 



 

 4 

negotiation and execution of this Agreement and with respect to all matters set forth herein.  In 
the event of any dispute, disagreement or controversy arising from this Agreement, the Parties 
shall be considered joint authors and no provision shall be interpreted against any Party because 
of authorship. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Intergovernmental Agreement 
Concerning Water Services the day and year first above written. 
 

      
       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 
ATTEST:      a municipal corporation 
 
 
By:__________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
     Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 
 

 
 

LITTLE THOMPSON WATER 
DISTRICT 

ATTEST: 
       
 
By: ________________________________           By: ________________________________ 
       _____________, Secretary          _________, Chairperson 
 



0

7,200

0.17

NAD_1983_HARN_StatePlane_Colorado_North_FIPS_0501_Feet

Date Prepared: 12/31/2019 11:55:16
AM

This map was created by Larimer County GIS using data from multiple sources for informal purposes
only  and  may  not  have  been  prepared  for,  or  be  suitable  for  legal,  engineering,  or  surveying
purposes.  This  map  may  not  reflect  recent  updates  prior  to  the  date  of  printing.  Larimer  County
makes no warranty or guarantee concerning the completeness, accuracy, or reliability of this content.

Legend Notes

Larimer County Web Map

1:

0.09 0.17Miles

Tax Parcels
PLSS Township and Range
PLSS Sections
PLSS Quarter Sections
Railroads
Major Road System
Road System
Lakes and Ponds
Major Rivers and Streams
Rivers and Streams
County Boundary
Rocky Mountain National 
Park

Incorporated Areas
City or Town
County

State
Federal
Other



 
AGENDA ITEM 10D 
 
 
 
 

Award Bid 
 

Street Sweeper 



TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
  
ITEM NUMBER:  10D 
 
SUBJECT: Purchase Street Sweeper  
 
ACTION PROPOSED:        Approve Bid to Purchase Street Sweeper 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  1. Faris Machinery Quote  
    2. Hardline Equipment Quote 
    3. ECON Equipment Quote 
    4. OJ Watson Quote 
 
PRESENTED BY:  Marco Carani, Director of Public Works 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  
Enclosed for your review and consideration is a bid award request for a new Street Sweeper that 
was budgeted for the 2020 fiscal year.  
 
Staff reached out to companies who sell street sweepers.  All four vendors delivered their 
product to the town so public works staff could demo their product.  Staff operated and tested the 
sweepers in areas of the town. As every machine is a little different, they were rated by their turn 
radius, functions and overall quality. The Elgin Pelican from Faris Machinery was rated the best 
for staff needs. This sweeper reaches a top speed of 18 MPH and is a three wheeled design.  
 
The town’s current sweeper is a 2011 and will be kept as a backup for the 2534 area since this 
machine can reach higher speeds for transport.  
 
The four bids are as follows: 
 

• Faris Machinery – Elgin Pelican $248,864 
• Hardline Equipment – Dulevo       $260,726 
• Econ – Global          $273,252 
• OJ Watson – Schwarze                  $267,100 

 
LEGAL ADVICE: 
N/A 
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: 
$275,000 was budgeted for the 2020 fiscal year.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the purchase of a new Elgin Street Sweeper. 
 
 



SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
 
For Approval: 
I move to approve the bid award to Faris Machinery for the Elgin Pelican in an amount not to 
exceed $248,864. 
 
For Denial: 
I move that we deny the award and solicit more bids.  
 
 
Reviewed and Approved for Presentation: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Town Manager 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sweeper Quotes 



























 
AGENDA ITEM 10E 
 
 
 
 

Award Bid  
 

Backhoe 
 
 



TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
  
ITEM NUMBER:  10E 
 
SUBJECT: Backhoe Purchase 
 
ACTION PROPOSED: Approve Bid to Purchase Backhoe 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  1. 4 Rivers Quote  
    2. Wagner Cat Quote 
    3. New Holland 
 
PRESENTED BY:  Marco Carani, Director of Public Works 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  
Enclosed for your review and consideration is a bid award request for a new Backhoe that was 
budgeted for the 2020 fiscal year.  
 
Public Works Staff were able to demo two different backhoes. Two of the backhoe’s were 
delivered to the town so public works staff could demo their product.  Staff graded, dug holes 
and put both machines to their limits. The third backhoe was not provided as a demo, but in 
compliance with our purchasing requirements, we received a quote for the third unit. The John 
Deere proved to be more powerful and had better response on the digging controls.  
 
The town’s current backhoe is a 1990 John Deere. While not ideal for many of our jobs today, 
this machine will be kept as a backup at our Low Point Wastewater Plant for small jobs (moving 
sludge dumpster and grading gravel driveway to the Low Point Plant). 
 
The three bids received are as detailed below, and Staff believe the best machine for our needs is 
the John Deere.  
 

• 4 Rivers (John Deere) - $113,450 
• Wagner Cat (Cat) - $120,000. 
• New Holland - $142,745. 

 
LEGAL ADVICE: 
N/A 
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: 
$140,000 was budgeted for the 2020 fiscal year.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the purchase of the John Deere as presented. 
 
 



SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
 
For Approval: 
I move to approve the bid award to 4 Rivers for a John Deere Backhoe in an amount not to 
exceed $113,450. 
 
For Denial: 
I move that we deny the award and solicit more bids.  
 
 
Reviewed and Approved for Presentation: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Town Manager 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Backhoe Quotes 











 
AGENDA ITEM 10F 
 
 
 
 

Award Bid for Lone Tree  
Electrical Contractor 



TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
  
ITEM NUMBER:  10F 
 
SUBJECT: Town of Johnstown Lone Tree Project 
 
ACTION PROPOSED: Approve Electrical Contractor 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  1. Sturgeon quote 
    2. Weifield quotes  
      
PRESENTED BY:  Marco Carani, Director of Public Works 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  
Enclosed for your review and consideration is a request to award an Electrical Contractor for the Lone 
Tree Pump House Project.   
 
As you may recall, Staff presented an item in November of 2019 to award the purchase of pumps and the 
SCADA contractor for the Lone Tree project. As you may also recall this project required additional 
funds that were requested and approved in the 2020 fiscal year to complete the work.  
 
The improvements will include the removal of all electrical from the underground vault and install an 
above ground electrical panel with a new transformer to accommodate future growth at the pump house 
and we will replace the three 75 HP pumps with three 100 HP submersible pumps purchased in 2019  
 
For the planned electric work, Staff solicited three bids of which, two contractors responded; Sturgeon 
Electric and Weifield Electric. The difference in the two bids was significant and to make sure of no 
mistakes in the submittals, we checked with the contractors directly to ensure they were both correct. The 
bid numbers are shown below and Staff is recommending awarding this project to Sturgeon Electric. The 
project should get underway no later than the end of January, pending any weather delays.   
 
Bids are as follows: 
Sturgeon Electric – $109,360 
Weifield Electric – $191,543 
 
LEGAL ADVICE: 
N/A 
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: 
All fund are within the budgeted amount 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Award Electrical Contractor for the Lone Tree project as presented 
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
For Approval: 
I move to award the bid to Sturgeon Electric in the amount not to exceed $109,360 with an additional 
10% in the case of minor changes to the work scope which approvals are delegated to the Town Manager 
or his designee.   



 
For Denial: 
I move that we deny this award and solicit bids from additional contractors.   
 
 
Reviewed and Approved for Presentation: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Town Manager 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Electrical Contractor Quotes 













 
AGENDA ITEM 10G 
 
 
 
 

Award Operations Agreement 
 

(Ramey Environmental Compliance, Inc.) 
 
 





































 
AGENDA ITEM 10H 
 
 
 
 

Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan  
Update 

 
(Contract – Logan Simpson) 

 
 
 
 



TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
  
ITEM NUMBER:  10 H 
 
SUBJECT: Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan Update 
 
ACTION PROPOSED: Approve Planning Consultant contract award 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  1. Logan Simpson Proposal & Revised Bid 

2. RICK Engineering Proposal & Revised Bid 
    3. Sanderson Stewart Proposal & Revised Bid 
    4. Cushing Terrell (CTA) Proposal & Revised Bid 
         
PRESENTED BY:  Kim Meyer, Planning & Development Director 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  
Enclosed for your review and consideration is a bid award request for the update to the Johnstown Area Comprehensive 
Plan. The Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Code update was budgeted for $150,000 in 2020, to work with town staff and 
the community to develop a full update of background, analysis, community engagement, and drafting of the 2020 update 
to the comprehensive plan and land use code rewrite. 
 
A request for proposals was posted online on APA (American Planning Association) Colorado website as well as the Town 
website in September. The initial request was for a Comprehensive Plan update as well as a rewrite of the town’s municipal 
code related to development. 
 
Four well-qualified consultants responded with proposals. Due to several factors, Staff requested a modification to the 
scope, timeline, and estimated fees based on only developing the Comprehensive Plan scope, removing the land use code 
from the proposals and moving forward with the Comprehensive Plan update only. The full proposals and revised 
quotes/timelines/scope are attached, and number respectively, for your information. The four consultants are: 

1. Logan Simpson ($100,000) 
2. RICK Engineering ($149,765) 
3. Sanderson Stewart ($140,000) 
4. Cushing Terrell (CTA) ($146,740) 

 
Upon detailed review of these proposals, extensive review of current and past work products for similar-size municipalities, 
and discussions with referenced municipalities, Staff believes that Logan Simpson will be a strong partner in assessing the 
current situation and resources of Johnstown and assisting Town Staff with engaging the public, a range of stakeholders, 
and our Town officials in crafting a vision, goals, and action items to move the Johnstown community forward as we 
continue to respond to growth pressures and external/economic factors while working diligently to preserve and enhance 
the current quality of life of all Johnstown area residents. Logan Simpson has assembled a great project team, with extensive 
experience throughout Colorado and the Front Range. 
 
The Town will be utilizing our standard, previously-approved Professional Services Agreement, with Town Manager as 
signatory. 
 
LEGAL ADVICE: 
N/A 
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: 
$150,000 for 2020 is budgeted for this project. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Approve a contract award. 
 



SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
 
For Approval: 
I move to approve the contract award to Logan Simpson for the Comprehensive Plan project in an amount not to exceed 
$100,000.00. 
 
For Denial: 
I move that we deny the award and solicit additional bids.  
 
 
Reviewed and Approved for Presentation: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Town Manager 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposals 



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE  
AND DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE
PROPOSAL SUBMITTED BY LOGAN SIMPSON 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2019



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 1

September 30, 2019
Kim Meyer, Director
Planning and Development
Town of Johnstown
4510 South Parish Avenue
Johnstown, Colorado 80534
Subject: Request for Proposals, Comprehensive Plan Update and Development Code Rewrite
Dear Ms. Meyer and members of the Selection Committee, 
Logan Simpson is pleased to submit our qualifications and approach for the Town of Johnstown’s updates to both the Comprehensive 
Plan and Development Code. Founded in 1990 in Tempe, Arizona, Logan Simpson also has offices in Tucson and Flagstaff, Arizona; 
Salt Lake City, Utah; Eugene, Oregon; Boise, Idaho; and Fort Collins, Colorado. As a planning and design firm, Logan Simpson strives 
to understand the relationships between the elements that create a sense of place and the social fabric that creates a sense of 
community. We have developed comprehensive plans; design guidelines; downtown plans; mobility, housing, and economic plans; 
and functional placemaking opportunities for communities in Colorado, Wyoming, Utah, Idaho, Montana, Florida, and Arizona. 
Logan Simpson uses proven tools and methods to ensure we understand who will use a space, how they will use it, what infrastructure 
and amenities are essential to accommodate that use, how much it will cost to implement, and which funding mechanisms are 
available to the Town and community. In recent years, many of our comprehensive planning efforts have either included elements 
of or full land use/development code updates; in some cases, code updates have been completed as separate efforts following our 
successful completion/adoption of the comprehensive plan. 
We also bring a long history of working with Johnstown; two of our principals contributed to a considerable amount of the Town’s 
planning while at EDAW|AECOM; Bruce Meighen led the 2006 Comprehensive Plan and Downtown Master Plan, and Jana McKenzie 
guided the design for the 2534 Development Design Guidelines, Downtown Master Plan, and Downtown Streetscape Enhancements. 
They bring a wealth of historical and institutional knowledge, which will be blended with the fresh perspective of our planning 
staff and subconsultant team to create a unique dynamic that promotes feasible, tangible, creative planning concepts and code 
recommendations. Our project team has further been chosen to balance this experience, expertise, and availability with the needs 
outlined in the scope of work. Principal Planner Bruce Meighen will guide the team through contracting, provide big ideas, and 
facilitate public engagement, while project manager Jennifer Gardner will oversee day to day coordination, serve as the primary 
author of, and manage discussions with the public and stakeholders for both plans and will work with our in-house planners, urban 
and landscape designers, public outreach specialists, land use planners, and production team to produce materials and draft 
language/graphics for the comprehensive Plan update. We have partnered with White & Smith, a planning and law group, to guide 
the code tasks; assistant project manager Tyson Smith will draft updated language, review current code and recommendations 
against applicable case law and state statutes, and can assist in ensuring conformance with Reed vs. Gilbert on sign code updates 
specifically for the Development Code Rewrite.
We encourage you to reach out with any questions you might have on our submittal, and look forward to a discussion on how Logan 
Simpson can continue to help guide responsible change in Johnstown’s growing community!
Regards, 

Bruce Meighen, AICP, Principal Planner Jennifer Gardner, PLA
Principal Planner  Project Manager 
E: bmeighen@logansimpson.com  E: jgardner@logansimpson.com

1. COVER LETTER

2 1 3  L i n d e n  S t r e e t ,  S u i t e  3 0 0 0 
F o r t  C o l l i n s ,  C o l o r a d o  8 0 5 2 4  

P :  9 7 0 - 4 4 9 - 4 1 0 0  
 w w w . l o g a n s i m p s o n . c o m

L O G A N S I M P S O N



2  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

2. QUALIFICATIONS AND KEY PERSONNEL
Logan Simpson proposes a cohesive team to work collaboratively on both the comprehensive plan update and development code 
rewrite. Our planning principal, Bruce Meighen, will serve as principal in charge of the plans, providing contract management, 
engagement support, and overall guidance on the document authorship. Planner Jennifer Gardner will serve in the role of project 
manager for both plans, managing the day to day operations and coordination with the Town, consultant White & Smith, and internal 
staff. Strong technical support for the Development Code Rewrite portion of the project will come from Tyson Smith from White 
& Smith, LLC. As Co-Project Manager for the Code, Tyson will manage the majority of the assessment and draft language. This is 
an effective team that can be trusted to run the projects in parallel to each other, crossing when necessary for public input; Staff, 
Boards and Commissions, and committee meetings; and integration of vision, goals and policies. 
In addition to the project management team, Logan Simpson is supported by a staff of planners, designers, and GIS and graphics 
specialists who will contribute to specific elements of the plan and code update, such as downtown and development standards, 
mapping and cartography, public engagement materials and facilitation, research and data gathering, and graphic and technical 
development and review. Our firms bring the full support and capacity of our respective staffs, as outlined in the organizational chart 
below and detailed in key personnel résumés.

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

PUBLIC & STAKEHOLDER 
INVOLVEMENT 

Bruce Meighen
Jennifer Gardner
Miriam McGilvray

Emily Morales
Megan Moore

Logan Simpson

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
(LAND USE, GIS)

Jennifer Gardner
Megan Moore
Emily Morales

Mitch Hendrick
Kristy Bruce 
Brian Taylor

Logan Simpson

DEVELOPMENT CODE 
ASSESSMENT AND 

REWRITE
Tyson Smith
Kelly Cousino
Mark White

White & Smith 

Jennifer Gardner
Miriam McGilvray
Logan Simpson

LOGAN SIMPSON 
SERVICES AND 

SUPPORT*

Public Engagement 
Preparation and 
Facilitation

Graphics

GIS Analysis

Parks, Recreation and 
Open Space Planning

Natural Resources 
Planning

PROJECT INITIATION & MANAGEMENT
Bruce Meighen, AICP;  

Principal in Charge 
Jennifer Gardner, PLA;  

Overall Project Manager (both plans)
Tyson Smith;  

Co-Project Manager, Development 
Code Rewrite

White & SmithLogan Simpson



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E  3

BRUCE MEIGHEN, PRINCIPAL, AICP | LAND USE ADVISOR
Bruce is a certified planner with 25 years of experience and more than 50 awards in comprehensive 
planning and public involvement. His planning experience includes the successful completion of 
hundreds of public involvement programs associated with economic, recreation, transportation, and 
planning assignments. Bruce has spent his career working with quality of life communities in the West, 
particularly those seeking to preserve their character while exercising adaptability and innovation. Many 
of his projects include incorporation of funding sources and incentivization, and a number of plans 
have resulted in changes to code and development strategies. He will serve as the project’s principal in 
charge, and will be responsible for responsible for contract management in addition to land use review, 
public engagement facilitation, and quality assurance review of the draft update. 
Selected Relevant Experience 
• Wellington Comprehensive Plan and Land Use 

Code Update, Colorado
• Elevate Eagle Comprehensive and Land Use 

and Development Code Update, Colorado 
• Imagine Winter Park Town Master Plan, 

Colorado
• Town of Mead Comprehensive Plan and 

subsequent Transportation Master Plan, 
Colorado 

• Larimer County Comprehensive Plan and 
Mountain Resiliency Plan, Colorado

• Timnath Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• Create Loveland Comprehensive Plan Update, 

US 287 Strategic Plan, and subsequent Zoning 
Code Update, Loveland, Colorado

• City and County of Broomfield Comprehensive 
and Transportation Plan Updates, Colorado

• Green Mountain Falls Comprehensive Plan, 
Colorado

• Be Brighton Comprehensive Plan Update, 
Brighton, Colorado

• Adams County Local District Plan, Brighton and 
Adams County, Colorado

• Arvada Comprehensive and Transportation 
Plan and subsequent Land Use Code Update, 
Colorado

• PlanCOS Comprehensive Plan, Colorado 
Springs, Colorado 

• Westminster Comprehensive Plan Update, 
Colorado 

• Castle Pines Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• Generation Casper Comprehensive Plan, 

Wyoming
• Cody Comprehensive Plan, Wyoming
• Douglas 2013 Master Plan, Wyoming
• Town of Jackson / Teton County 

Comprehensive Plan and Character Districts; 
Land Development Regulations Update; 
Workforce Housing Action Plan; and Integrated 
Transportation Plan, Wyoming 

• Teton View Regional Plan for Sustainable 
Development, Idaho and Wyoming

• Teton County Comprehensive Plan, Idaho
• West Central Mountains Economic 

Development Strategy, Valley County and 
Meadows Valley, Idaho

• MyMeridian Comprehensive Plan, Idaho
• Historic Preservation Master Plan, Twin Falls, 

Idaho 
• Grow With Use—Twin Falls Comprehensive 

Plan, Idaho
• McCall Downtown Master Plan Update; 

Comprehensive Plan and Transportation Plan 
Updates; and Workforce Housing Study, Idaho

• Millcreek General Plan, Meadowbrook District 
Form Based Code, and Town Center Code 
Graphics, Utah

• Salt Lake City Sustainable Code Review, Utah 
• Ogden Valley General Plan Update, Utah
• Wasatch Canyon General Plan, Utah
• South Jordan General and Subarea Plans, Utah
• The River Bottoms Vision Plan, Spanish Fork, 

Utah
• Commercial Centers Land Use Evaluation and 

Code Language, Osceola County, Florida 
• W192 Streetscape and Building Design 

Guidelines, Sign Code, and Land Use Code,  
Osceola County, Florida 

• Wasatch Canyons General Plan, Salt Lake 
County, Utah

• Farmington 2040 Comprehensive Plan Update, 
New Mexico 

• Southwest Salt Lake County Vision, Utah
• Bozeman Community Plan, Montana
• Big Sky Resort Area District Community 

Visioning Strategy, Montana

Education
Master of City and Regional 
Planning, Georgia Institute 
of Technology, 1994

B.A., Geography Urban 
Systems, McGill University, 
Montreal, Quebec, 1992

Professional 
Registrations
American Institute of 
Certified Planners (AICP)

PROJECT MANAGEMENT TEAM



4  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

JENNIFER GARDNER, ASLA, PLA | PROJECT MANAGER
Over the past 19 years, Jennifer has been dedicated to the planning and design of spaces small 
and large. Her tireless passion for connecting the natural and built environments has led to an 
extensive resume of planning and design projects spanning both public and private sector. Jennifer is 
experienced with planning and entitlement, land use code development, design guideline development, 
and comprehensive plans. Through years of entitlement work, she has gained much insight into the 
opportunities and challenges that small and rural communities face, and is dedicated to building the 
framework to help each community achieve their ultimate development goals. 
Jennifer is the project manager for the land use code update portion of Eagle Land Use Code Update, 
which will include a complete overhaul of the existing code which has not been substantially updated 
since the 1980s. Some of the new concepts being contemplated for inclusion in the new code 
include green building standards, mixed use zone districts to provide a more sustainable approach to 
development of commercial areas, accessory dwelling units, and tiny homes. The process will include a 
full code audit and final assessment document to include recommendations. She has also been working 
on on-call projects in Osceola County, Florida, developing a mixed-use district handbook, conducting a 
land use evaluation of commercial centers, and creating streetscape and building design guidelines. As 
the project manager for this effort, Jennifer will provide day-to-day coordination between the Town and 
consultant team, will conduct land use research and stakeholder interviews, review of the existing code 
and reference documents, and will draft both the Comprehensive Plan Update and recommendations 
for the Development Code Rewrite.
Selected Relevant Experience 
• Eagle Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Code

Update, Eagle, Colorado
• Town Planner, Milliken, Colorado
• Wellington Comprehensive Plan and Land Use

Code Update, Colorado
• Teton County Land Use Code Update, Idaho
• Westminster Forward Comprehensive Plan

Update, Colorado
• Zoning Code Update, Loveland, Colorado
• Larimer County Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• Commercial Centers Land Use Evaluation and

Code Language, Osceola County, Florida
• W192 Streetscape and Building Design

Guidelines, Sign Code, and Land Use Code,
Osceola County, Florida

• South Jordan General and Subarea Plans, Utah
• River Bottoms Vision Plan, Spanish Fork, Utah
• Green Mountain Falls Comprehensive Plan,

Colorado
• Imagine Winter Park Town Master Plan,

Colorado
• Driggs Comprehensive Plan, Idaho
• McCall Comprehensive Plan, Idaho

• West Henderson Inspirada Town Center,
Nevada

• PlanCOS Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
Springs, Colorado

• Land Use Code Update, Arvada, Colorado
• Arvada Traffic Standards, Arvada, Colorado
• La Plata Land Use and Development Code,

Colorado
• Salt Lake City Sustainable Code Review, Utah
• Southwest Salt Lake County Vision, Utah
• Mixed-Use Design Guidelines, Castle Pines,

Colorado
• Meadowbrook District Form Based Code,

Millcreek, Utah
• Millcreek Town Center Code Graphics, Utah
• Sign Code, Fort Collins, Colorado
• Historic Preservation Master Plan, Twin Falls,

Idaho
• Denver Parks and Recreation Project

Management Manual, Colorado
• Adams County Gateway Park, Colorado
• Englewood Police Headquarters, Colorado

Education
B.S., Landscape 
Architecture, Colorado 
State University, 2000 
(ASLA Student Merit 
Award)

Professional 
Registrations/
Accreditations
Registered Landscape 
Architect, Colorado #714, 
Wyoming #LA-0136C

Colorado ASLA North Area 
Director

CSU Alumni Advisory Board 
for Landscape Architecture 
Department

Member American Society 
of Landscape Architects



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 5

EDUCATION
Juris Doctor 
University of Florida

Master of Urban &  
Regional Planning 
University of Florida

Bachelor of Arts, Economics University of 
North Carolina  
at Chapel Hill

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
Partner, White & Smith, LLC  
(2005 - Present)

Associate, Freilich, Leitner & Carlisle 
(2000-2005)

Assistant City Planner,  
City of Key West (1995-1997)

Planning Technician,  
Monroe County, Florida  
(1992-1993)

CERTIFICATIONS & MEMBERSHIPS
Florida Bar

South Carolina Bar

American Institute of  
Certified Planners

Certified Family and Civil Court Mediator 
(South Carolina) 

American Planning Association (National & 
SC Chapters)

Growth & Infrastructure Consortium (past 
Chair)

E. TYSON SMITH, ESQ., AICP | CO-PROJECT MANAGER
(DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE)
Tyson Smith has 27 years of experience as a city and county planner, planning 
consultant, and attorney, focused entirely on governmental relations and community 
planning. 
After graduating from UNC-Chapel Hill in 1992, Tyson was a planner with the Monroe 
County Division of Growth Management in the Florida Keys. He later served as the 
Assistant City Planner for the City of Key West, Florida. Tyson’s experience in these roles 
– both as a certified planner and attorney – has included zoning code programming,
plan development, infrastructure planning & financing, growth management, land use
and military compatibility, impact fees, public facilitation, mediation, legal defense,
and public outreach. Over the course of his career, Tyson has worked with Colorado
jurisdictions on matters related to impacts fees, development standards, zoning codes,
and fractional fee/short-term rentals. Tyson is a certified mediator and expert at public
facilitation and mutual problem solving.

SELECTED PUBLICATIONS
• What Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Management District means for Planners…for

Now, Zoning Practice (American Planning Association); October 2013.
• Legal Aspects of Conservation Easements: A Primer for Transportation Agencies,

Legal Research Digest: 60 (Transportation Research Board); October 2013.
• Land Use Compatibility Near Military Bases, Zoning Practice (American Planning

Association); May 2011(with Appel).

SELECTED CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS
• Impact Fees Since the Great Recession, 2019 National Planning Conference

American Planning Association, San Francisco (April 2019)
• Case Law Update: Recent Taking Cases 2016 Georgia /South Carolina APA Chapters

Joint Planning Conference, Augusta, GA (Sept. 2016)
• Mobility Fees, TDRs, & Form-Based Guidelines, 2012 National Planning Conference/

American Planning Association, Los Angeles (April 2012)

SELECTED EXPERIENCE
• Wellington Comprehensive Plan and

Land Use Code Update, CO
• Teton County Land Use Code Update, ID
• Land Use Code Update, Eagle, CO
• Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance

Revision, St. Croix County, WI
• Rural Preservation and Transfer of

Development Rights, Prince George’s
County, MD

• Rural Preservation and Conservation
Easements, Weddington, NC

• Smart Growth Management Strategy,
Suffolk, VA

• Zoning Regulations, Roanoke, VA
• Land Development Strategies, St.

Petersburg, FL
• Growth Management, Commercial

Strategies, Land Use and Sign Code
Amendments, Aspen, CO

• Revision of Zoning Ordinance, Amarillo,
TX

• Military Influence Overlay Districts
& Memorandum of Understanding,
Marine Corps Air Station Cherry Point &
Surrounding Communities, NC

• Military Influence Area Overlay
Districts, Joint Base Lewis-McChord &
Surrounding Communities, WA

• Targeted Zoning Code Amendments,
Kiawah Island, SC

• Targeted Zoning Code Amendments,
York County, SC

• Nonconformities and Amortization,
Georgetown, SC

• Negotiation of Planning Coordination
for Zoning & Plan Amendments, Naval
Air Station Key West, FL



6  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

MIRIAM MCGILVRAY, AICP | PROJECT MANAGER
Miriam is an accomplished community planner with experience in long-range planning, urban and 
economic  revitalization, authentic outreach and engagement, sustainability and resiliency, zoning and 
land use codes, and international development. Her background and practical knowledge provide a 
multi-disciplinary approach to localized planning, using progressive and integrated planning techniques 
to positively impact the urban landscape and overall health of urban, suburban, and rural communities. 
She applies her strong verbal, graphic and written skills to enrich the planning process as well as enhance 
the effectiveness and accessibility of comprehensive plans. Her work shows a deep understanding of 
how policy and regulation can shape built spaces and create a sense of community. 
Selected Relevant Experience
• Mead Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• Create Loveland Comprehensive Plan Update,

US287 Corridor Strategic Plan, and subsequent
Code Update, Loveland, Colorado

• Larimer County Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• Westminster Forward Comprehensive Plan,

Colorado
• Wellington Comprehensive Plan and Land Use

Code Update, Colorado
• Castle Pines Comprehensive Plan Update,

Mixed-Use Design Guidelines, and Parks &
Recreation Comprehensive Plan, Castle Pines,
Colorado

• McCall in Motion Downtown Master
Plan Update; Comprehensive Plan and
Transportation Plan Updates; and Workforce
Housing Study, Idaho

• Grow With Us—Twin Falls Comprehensive Plan,
Idaho

• Meridian Comprehensive Plan, Idaho

• PlanCOS Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
Springs, Colorado

• Broomfield City and County Comprehensive and
Transportation Plan, Colorado

• Arvada Comprehensive + Transportation Plan,
Arvada, Colorado

• Arvada Land Use Code Update, City of Arvada,
Colorado

• Draper General Plan, Draper, Utah
• Englewood Forward Comprehensive Plan,

Colorado
• Bluffdale General Plan Update, Bluffdale, Utah
• Douglas Master Plan, Douglas, Wyoming
• North Ranch Long-Term Master Plan, Osceola

County, Florida
• W192 Corridor Redevelopment Plan,  Osceola

County, Florida
• MetroVision 2040, Denver Regional Council of

Governments
• John Lambert Subdivision Master Plan,

Douglas, Wyoming
EMILY MORALES, MCRP | PLANNER
Emily is a planner with knowledge of socioeconomic development, land use, and permitting policy 
that stems from her work with the City of Vancouver and the Vancouver Economic Commission. While 
new to Logan Simpson, Emily brings vast experience in community outreach, project management, 
research, facilitation, and communication. Emily has worked both in the private and public sector, 
including leading grass-root organizations. She knows what it takes to collaborate with a broad range 
of stakeholders in order to make bold ideas come to fruition. Emily’s contribution to this project will be 
in the form of project coordination, research and writing, and graphic design. 
Selected Relevant Experience 
• Southwest Salt Lake County Vision, Utah
• Farmington 2040 Comprehensive Plan Update, New Mexico
• Transportation Resource Stewardship Protection Tool (for Parks Services), Washington
• W192 Streetscape and Building Design Guidelines, Osceola County, Florida
• Wasatch Canyons General Plan, Salt Lake County, Utah
• Driggs Comprehensive Plan Update, Idaho
• Sustainability Scholar and Planning Assistant, Social Policy and Projects Department, City of

Vancouver, BC. Canada
• Auxiliary staff member, Corporate Communications Department, City of Vancouver, BC. Canada
• Women Transforming Cities, City of Vancouver, BC. Canada
• National Campaign Manager, Aga Khan Foundation Canada, Ottawa, ON. Canada

Education
Master of Urban and 
Regional Planning, Focus 
in Placemaking, University 
of Colorado Denver, 2013; 
B.A., Portuguese and 
Brazilian Studies, minor 
in Architecture, Smith 
College, 2010

Professional Affiliations
American Institute of 
Certified Planners (AICP)

American Planning 
Association (APA)

Education
Master of Community 
and Regional Planning,  
University of British 
Columbia, 2018; Bachelor 
of Social Science, 
International Development 
& Globalization, University 
of Ottawa, 2012; Print 
Media Diploma, Algonquin 
College, 2006

SUPPORT STAFF



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 7

MEGAN MOORE, ASLA, ASSOC. AIA | PLANNER
Megan is an urban designer with extensive experience in planning and design at a wide range of 
scales. She specializes in comprehensive, subarea, and corridor planning with a key focus on urban 
revitalization and redevelopment. With nearly 15 years of experience, she is the recipient of more 
than 30 design and planning awards. Her planning capabilities are enhanced by her background in 
architecture and landscape architecture, giving her a unique perspective into urban design strategies 
and solutions and implementing policy guidance to create human-scale places. Megan carries a deep 
understanding of the use and development of graphics to convey intent, procedures, and processes 
necessitated by planning guidelines.
Selected Relevant Experience 
• Wellington Comprehensive Plan and Land Use

Code Update, Colorado
• Mead Comprehensive Plan and subsequent

Transportation Master Plan, Colorado
• Westminster Forward  Comprehensive Plan

Update, Colorado
• US 287 Strategic Plan and subsequent Zoning

Code Update, Loveland, Colorado
• Larimer County Comprehensive Plan and

Mountain Resiliency Plan, Colorado
• Timnath Comprehensive Plan Update and

Parks, Recreation, Open Space, and Trails
(PROST) Plan Update, Colorado

• Elevate Eagle Comprehensive and Land Use
and Development Code Update, Colorado

• Imagine Winter Park Town Master Plan,
Colorado

• Arvada Comprehensive and Transportation
Plan, Colorado

• Castle Pines Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• City and County of Broomfield Comprehensive

and Transportation Plan Updates, Colorado

• Be Brighton Comprehensive Plan Update,
Brighton, Colorado

• Generation Casper Comprehensive Plan,
Wyoming

• West Henderson Land Use Plan Update and
subsequent Inspirada Town Center, Nevada

• McCall Downtown Master Plan Update;
Comprehensive Plan and Transportation Plan
Updates; and Workforce Housing Study, Idaho

• Grow With Us Twin Falls Comprehensive Plan,
Idaho

• MyMeridian Comprehensive Plan, Idaho
• Bozeman Community Plan, Montana
• Commercial Centers Land Use Evaluation and

Code Language, Osceola County, Florida
• W192 Streetscape and Building Design

Guidelines, Sign Code, and Land Use Code,
Osceola County, Florida

• Narcoossee Community Plan and Context-
Sensitive Code and District Street Standard
Guidance: A Planner’s Guidance Document,
Osceola County, Florida

• Southwest Salt Lake County Vision, Utah
MITCH HENDRICK | PLANNER
Mitch is a planner with experience in community engagement, economic analysis, and in-depth, 
community-level research. He brings relevant experience from the both the public and private sectors, 
having served as a planning intern for the City of Fort Collins while completing his degree in Urban 
Planning and also as a project coordinator for a real estate financial consultant firm. In both positions, 
Mitch conducted detailed population and economic research focused on a variety of communities 
around the Country. He will work with this team to develop existing conditions and projections, organize 
materials, and prepare documents. His background using Adobe products and ArcMap enables him to 
provide support related to graphic and map production. 
Selected Relevant Experience 
• Bozeman Community Plan, Montana
• Big Sky Resort Area District Community

Visioning Strategy, Montana
• Meridian Comprehensive Plan, Idaho
• Westminster Forward Comprehensive Plan

Update, Colorado
• Green Mountain Falls Comprehensive Plan,

Colorado

• Elevate Eagle Comprehensive Plan and Land
Use Development Code Update, Colorado

• Lightengale Group Affordable Housing Tax
Credit Applications, Chicago, Illinois

• The Concord at Sheridan (Lender Regulation
Compliance Assistance), Chicago, Illinois

• Madison Apartments Tax Credit Application and
Site Review Process, Peoria, Illinois

Education
Master of Architecture, 
University of Colorado at 
Denver, 2005

Master of Landscape 
Architecture, University of 
Colorado at Denver, 2005

Graduate Certificate in 
Historic Preservation, 
University of Colorado at 
Denver, 2005

B.S. in Architectural 
Studies, University 
of Illinois at Urbana-
Champaign, 2001

Professional 
Affiliations
American Institute of 
Architects

American Society of 
Landscape Architects 
(ASLA)

Education
Master of Urban Planning,  
University of Louisville, 
2017; Bachelor of Criminal 
Justice, Illinois State 
University, 2013



8  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

KRISTY BRUCE, MLA, GISP | LAND USE/DEMOGRAPHIC MODELING
Kristy is an environmental planner with a specialty in GIS analysis and cartography, and has been 
responsible for mapping and spatial analysis for much of Logan Simpson’s comprehensive plans. She 
conducts spatial analysis, manages data, and forms geo-spatial models. In addition, Kristy is skilled at 
applying related software such as SketchUp, AutoCAD-Map, and the Adobe Creative Suite. She will be 
responsible for GIS analysis, and will provide scenario mapping/modeling. 
Selected Relevant Experience 
• Wellington Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Code Update, Colorado
• Green Mountain Falls Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• Strategies for a Sustainable Future, Osceola County, Florida
• Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) On-Call Planning Services. Denver, Colorado
• Mountain Vista Subarea Plan Alternative Scenario, Fort Collins, Colorado
• Land Use Allocation Model, Colorado, North Front Range MPO
• Arvada Comprehensive Plan and next Steps Study, Colorado
• US287 Strategic Plan, Loveland, Colorado
• State Highway 7 BRT Feasibility Study and TOD Recommendations. Boulder, Broomfield, and Adams

Counties
• Englewood Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• I-25 Managed Lanes Demographic Forecasting, Colorado
• I-25 US-34 Demographic Analysis, Colorado

BRIAN TAYLOR | GIS ANALYSIS
Brian is a GIS analyst with 10 years of experience in environmental consulting. His experience includes 
cartography, data management, modeling, GPS deployment, and GIS analysis. His primary focus 
has been leading GIS analyses and cartographic design on Environmental Impact Statements and 
Environmental Assessments for pipeline, mining, wind farm, and transmission line projects.
Selected Relevant Experience 
• GIS Infrastructure for the Town of Wellington, Colorado
• Larimer County Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• Timnath Comprehensive Plan, Colorado
• Imagine Winter Park, Colorado
• Meridian Comprehensive Plan Public Commenting Tool, Idaho
• Wasatch Canyon General Plan, Utah
• NCWCD Glade Reservoir Recreation Plan, Colorado
• Xcel Weld County Electrical Infrastructure, Colorado
• Enyo Rawhide Transmission Line, Larimer/Weld Counties, Colorado
• Fall River Trail, Estes Park, Colorado
• Brodie Avenue Improvements, Estes Park, Colorado
• GIS Internship for Public Works Department, City of Greeley, Colorado

Education
Master of Landscape 
Architecture, University of 
Colorado, 2008; Bachelor 
of Environmental Design, 
emphasis in planning, 
University of Colorado, 
2005

Education
B.A., Geography, Emphasis 
GIS, University of Northern 
Colorado, 2007



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E  9

KELLY COUSINO, AICP | PLANNING ASSOCIATE
WHITE & SMITH | PLANNING AND LAW GROUP 
Kelly Cousino brings over 14 years of local government experience to White & Smith’s 
planning projects. She is skilled at the local government process and, in particular, 
interfacing with the public and appointed and elected officials. She will assist 
throughout the project, including with ordinance analysis, code drafting, and public 
engagement.
Kelly brings experience assisting citizens, business owners, developers, engineers, 
architects, and real estate professionals with interpretation and application of Zoning 
Code and Land Development Regulation requirements. 
In addition, Kelly has experience leading the development of local government 
Comprehensive Plans and, notably, the development of implementing ordinances and 
code amendments, including the comprehensive overhaul of local government zoning 
codes.
Finally, Kelly has experience running growth management programming in high growth 
areas and applying for and administering grants at the local government level.

SELECTED EXPERIENCE
• Land Use Code Update, Eagle, CO
• Wellington Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Code Update, CO
• Teton County Land Use Code Update, ID 
• Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance Revision, St. Croix County, WI
• Rural Preservation and Transfer of Development Rights, Prince George’s County, MD
• Rural Preservation and Conservation Easements, Weddington, NC
• Smart Growth Management Strategy, Suffolk, VA
• Zoning Regulations, Roanoke, VA
• Land Development Strategies, St. Petersburg, FL
• Growth Management, Commercial Strategies, Land Use and Sign Code 

Amendments, Aspen, CO
• Landscaping Regulations Diagnosis & Annotated Outline, Adams County, CO 
• Comprehensive Zoning Code Update, Eau Claire County, WI
• Targeted Zoning Code Revisions, York County, SC
• Zoning & Land Development Regulations Update, Charleston County, SC
• Zoning Ordinance Update, Mobile, AL
• Military Influence Areas Overlay & Lighting Study, South Sound Military & 

Communities Partnership, City of Lakewood, WA
• Principal Use Table and Supplemental Use Regulations, Mount Pleasant, SC
• Comprehensive Plan & Zoning Implementation, Mount Pleasant, SC

EDUCATION 
Master of  
Public Administration  
Appalachian State University

Bachelor of Arts 
Environmental Studies  
University of North Carolina  
at Wilmington

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
Planning Associate  
White & Smith, LLC  
(October 2016 - Present)

Principal Planner  
Town of Mount Pleasant,  
South Carolina  
(June 2004 - October 2016)

CERTIFICATIONS & MEMBERSHIPS
American Institute of  
Certified Planners

American Planning Association  
(National & SC Chapters)



1 0  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

S. MARK WHITE, ESQ., AICP | PARTNER
WHITE & SMITH | PLANNING AND LAW GROUP 
S. Mark White is recognized as an expert in zoning and subdivision law, form-based
zoning, and sign regulations. He has over 29 years of experience representing
clients at every level from city, state, and local governments, as well as major private
developers. Mark has completed nearly 70 code updates and 110 similar projects in
over 36 states. Mark is widely published, and his articles have appeared in a variety
of notable publications, including the American Planning Association’s Planning
Advisory Service, the American Bar Association’s Urban Lawyer, the International
Municipal Attorneys Association’s Municipal Lawyer, and the United Kingdom’s
Transport Policy. Mark is a frequent speaker at the national meetings of the American 
Planning Association, American Center for National and International Law, Congress
for the New Urbanism, and various other professional organizations.
Mark is a former President of the board of directors of the nonprofit community 
development group Westside Housing Organization, a member of the Lee’s Summit 
Land Clearance and Redevelopment Authority, and a member of the American 
Institute of Certified Planners and North Carolina and Missouri Bars. 
Mark was a member of the leadership team for the City of Lee’s Summit, Missouri’s 
Livable Streets Committee. This resulted in adoption of the Kansas City region’s first 
Complete Streets resolution.

SELECTED EXPERIENCE
• Land Use Code Update, Eagle, CO
• Rural Preservation + Transfer of Development Rights, Prince George’s County, MD
• Smart Growth Management Strategy, Suffolk, VA
• Land Development Strategies, St. Petersburg, FL
• Growth Management, Commercial Strategies, Land Use and Sign Code

Amendments, Aspen, CO
• Landscaping Regulations Diagnosis & Annotated Outline, Adams County, CO
• Zoning & Land Development Regulations Update, Charleston County, SC

ADDITIONAL UDO, ZONING CODE, & SIGN CODE CLIENTS

EDUCATION
Juris Doctor 
University of North Carolina  
at Chapel Hill

Master of Urban &  
Regional Planning  
University of North Carolina  
at Chapel Hill

Bachelor of Arts,  
magna cum laude 
History/Political Science  
Bethany College

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
Partner, White & Smith, LLC  
(2005 - Present)

Adjunct Professor, University of Kansas 
(2014-Present)

Partner, Freilich, Leitner & Carlisle (1990-
2005)

CERTIFICATIONS & MEMBERSHIPS
Missouri Bar

North Carolina Bar (inactive)

American Institute of  
Certified Planners

American Planning Association

International Municipal Lawyer’s 
Association

• Albuquerque, NM
• Arlington, TX
• Boulder, CO
• Brighton, CO
• Centennial, CO
• Chapel Hill, NC
• Cole County, MO
• Collier County, FL
• Concord-Cabarrus

County, NC
• Davidson, NC
• Hillsborough

County, FL
• Huntersville, NC
• Irving, TX
• Jackson County, MO
• Jefferson City, MO
• Kansas City, MO

• Lee’s Summit, MO
• Livingston

County, MO
• Los Angeles, CA
• Loudoun County, VA
• Memphis, TN
• Madison, WI
• North Augusta, SC
• Olathe, KS
• Pulaski County, AR
• Rio Blanco

County, CO
• San Antonio, TX
• Sparks, NV
• Topeka, KS
• Union County, NC

• Unified Government
of Wyandotte County,
Kansas City, KS

• Washington, DC
• Westminster, CO
• Winchester, VA



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E  1 1

3. UNDERSTANDING AND APPROACH
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING

Through our past and recent work in and around the Town of Johnstown, 
our consultant team has gained much insight into the current development 
climate. With the population more than doubling over the last 14 years and 
the current growth projections topping the charts for Weld and Larimer 
Counties, our team sees many potential opportunities and challenges for 
the Town. One of the biggest challenges is the need for potable water. It is 
our understanding that Colorado Big Thompson (CBT) water share prices 
are at an all-time high and applicants for development are required to bring 
water to the table rather than pay a fee in lieu. Water supply impacts both 
residential development and agricultural production so the two will need 
to be analyzed side by side to assess the best approach for the Town to be 
able to grow sustainably.
As referenced in the RFP and evidenced by our on first hand experiences 
living, working, dining, and shopping in Johnstown, there is a great disparity between the historic downtown and the newer, booming 
development at I-25 and Highway 34. Not only are the uses, densities and intensities drastically different between the two areas, but 
the land is only connected along the I-25 frontage road. One element of the Comprehensive Plan and Code Update process will be to 
consider connectivity between these two polarized areas of town while respecting agricultural land that lies between. 
As Johnstown continues to grow and accommodate new demographics, the Town will be challenged to position itself to attract 
young families by incorporating quality of life opportunities. The new YMCA Recreation Center, currently under construction, will 
prove to be a great step in the right direction by offering desired amenities for this new demographic. The Town has invested in 
the downtown area over the past few years with pedestrian friendly streetscape elements and very few storefront vacancies. The 
challenge will be to continue to foster walkability on the south side of Highway 60 and develop pedestrian friendly approaches to 
crossing the busy highway. Additionally, as the demand for retail and office space are on the decline it will be necessary to assess 
both the Plan and the Code for ways to incorporate more mixed use standards to accommodate the changing real estate needs.
Having our team involved in the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Code simultaneously, ensures that the momentum built during 
the planning process can roll smoothly into code language to implement resulting policies. The Future Land Use and Zoning Maps 
will be key to understanding and providing policy and standards to address many of the opportunities and challenges addressed 
in the text above and to create a unified development vision for the Town. Logan Simpson has successfully been a partner in 
accomplishing just that in a number of communities across the country. For example, our team recently facilitated implementation 
of the City of Loveland Land Development Code update to ensure the policies of our award-winning Comprehensive Plan, Create 
Loveland, were implemented. Logan Simpson’s reach within the Loveland community extends well beyond the Comprehensive Plan 
and Code, with resiliency planning and design projects focusing on reconstruction of recreation facilities affected by the 2013 flood 
that wiped out much of the Big Thompson River corridor. We have similar relationships and experience in Arvada, Westminster, and 
Eagle, Colorado, Teton County, Idaho and Osceola County, Florida where we have ongoing planning, design, and code projects that 
stem from initial Comprehensive and Corridor planning efforts, and which focus on a greater integration of land use, transportation, 
sustainability, and healthy lifestyles.



1 2  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

APPROACH TO THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PROCESS
Our team will employ a thorough process of stakeholder 
outreach and public events, and deliver a Comprehensive Plan 
that describes the values and core objectives of the Town 
of Johnstown. The plan will be adapted into the planning 
frameworks of Town, County, State, and Federal governments 
with management jurisdiction over lands in Johnstown. 
Our sense is that we can help the Town achieve a successful 
project by providing a fresh team with local and national 
experience managing projects of similar scales and challenges, 
while understanding the unique pressures of planning for 
growing agricultural communities like Johnstown. Our approach 
is based on a Plan that:
• Is founded on great planning, fiscal responsibility,

partnerships, and play
• Employs non-traditional public involvement strategy that

creates trust and community
• Supports innovative, action-oriented, and grounded in

common-sense regulations and codes, representative of a
strong community.

APPROACH TO THE LAND USE 
CODE PROCESS
Our Code team, led by White & Smith with Logan Simpson as 
co-author, relies on state of the art best practices in preparing 
code documents, and can provide companion documents such 
as code guides, FAQs, and application forms, if requested. The 
consultant team will work closely with Town staff and attorneys 
throughout the code development process to develop a Unified 
Development Code (UDC) with blended structure that is rich in 
images, tables, charts, maps, and graphics for a streamlined and 
user-friendly document. White & Smith brings over 30 years of 
experience in land use law to the team. One of their unique assets 
is an enormous digital library, which contains over 120,000 
research reports and other documents related to planning 
issues, 65,000 ordinances and plans from jurisdictions in the 
United States and internationally, 75,000 digital photographs of 
innovative development and other situations, and 3,300 urban 
design and planning graphics. The primary goals of the code 
development effort will result in a code that is:
• Updated and progressive to reflect sustainability goals, smart

growth, and the emerging trends in the community
• Simplified, graphic intense, and user friendly;
• Consistent with other relevant standards and policies set

forth by the Town of Johnstown

APPROACH TO ENGAGEMENT AND OUTREACH 
When it comes to public engagement, we understand what works. 
We strive to listen; coordinate with the Town’s current activities; 
create interesting, engaging events and exercises; and promote 
flexibility to reach a variety of interest groups. We routinely 
implement a variety of online questionnaires, text polling, one-
on-one interviews, focus groups, coffee talks, use of co-creators, 
and mobile meetings to gather input. Our stakeholder and 
steering committee feedback is tracked to help identify missing 
or underrepresented groups, and comments are maintained in 
a database in order to be able to cross check against the final 
recommendations. 
Our approach to updating comprehensive plans, land use codes, 
and development regulations incorporates tailored public 
engagement techniques. Effective stakeholder engagement 
depends on clearly identifying the purposes and roles of potential 
project stakeholders, and then determining which engagement 
techniques will result in accomplishing project objectives. We 
will work with the Town to identify interested stakeholders and 
determine how each group will most productively participate in 
the process. 

Stakeholder roles can range from simply being notified of the 
ongoing process to inputting on the outcomes through focus 
groups, advisory panels, participatory decision-making, and 
public/developer forums. 
We envision a steering committee to be the foundation of our 
comprehensive plan and code update process, and anticipate 
utilizing the steering committee members, stakeholders, and key 
representatives from up to four practitioner working or interest 
groups to facilitate outreach. This process can easily be tailored 
to different interest groups; initially, though, we recommend 
meeting with the development/homebuilder community, citizen 
environmental and science advisory boards, residents and 
homeowners, and elected government officials. 
Through meaningful public engagement, we aim to ensure long-
term resiliency; promote health, safety, and efficient provision 
of services; set the stage for economic development through 
focused growth; encourage new land patterns; and provide 
metrics to measure success over this planning horizon.



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 1 3

4. WORK PLAN
The following section details a work plan for accomplishing the 
project, including descriptions of the tasks to be performed and 
a summary of the deliverables to be provided to the Town. Logan 
Simpson proposes to organize the Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Use and Development Code Update project in five main Tasks: 
Foundation; Vision and Opportunities; Plan Development; Land 
Use Code Assessment; and Land Use Code Development.

PHASE 1 | FOUNDATION
1.1 KICKOFF & ONGOING PROJECT 
MANAGEMENT
An initial in-person meeting will occur between Town Staff (TS) 
and the consultant team to review the project schedule and 
communication protocols; confirm and identify key issues; begin 
data acquisition; and prepare a list of potential stakeholders, 
including individuals, agencies, and community groups. As 
mentioned in section 3 above, we envision the creation of a 
Steering Committee (SC) to serve the life of the comprehensive 
plan and code update process. Ideally, the committee would 
be comprised of eight to ten community members including 
one Planning and Zoning Commission (PC) member, one Town 
Council (TC) member, business owners, local home builders/
developers, representatives of local boards, and active residents. 
Ongoing project management activities include in-person 
progress meetings and biweekly phone calls ensuring that the 
project scope, schedule, deliverables, and budget are effectively 
managed and meet expectations throughout the entire process.

Public engagement can take many forms, from meeting 
residents and staff at a local football game to hosting a 
booth at a City event. We’ve played with giant Legos to get 
people talking about what they want out of their community; 
we’ve set up photo booths to strengthen and encourage 
community pride; and we’ve gone to neighborhoods for 
backyard meetings with co-creators. Logan Simpson knows 
what it takes to encourage participation!



1 4  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

1.2 PLAN BRANDING
How we message the plan is equally important to the 
actual process itself. When we define the process, we 
will “brand” events and tasks in a way that sounds fun 
and interesting, attracting a range of people to stay 
engaged. If desired, our in-house graphic specialists 
will work with the SC and TS to capture the look and 
feel of the project, resulting in a logo and tagline for 
the Plan and Code Update. The goal would be to build 
off the Town’s current brand, but still have a unique 
and recognizable look with consistent messaging and 
format. In addition to a project logo, we can assist in 
developing online formats, printed materials, wearable 
items, custom project signage, street banners, and 
other materials to ensure that key messages are 
defined and reinforced throughout the project. The 
brand should be reflected in the design and content of 
the project website.

[ INVITE + ENGAGE ]

Principles of Non-Traditional Engagement
Create fun and inviting interactions: Utilizing booths at community events, tech-based interactive 
displays, and pop-up art create more participation in a fun, inviting way and generates excitement 
about the plan. This should not feel like a government process; it should ask people to join the 
discussion.

Brand the policy: Refining a policy name and logo can help to set the tone for the update, and “brand” 
the Growth Policy. A brand can be applied to presentation materials, postings on the County’s 
website and social media forums, or in local newspapers and media outlets throughout the region. 
With client input, Logan Simpson has developed a number of plan brands, colors and logos that are 
carried forward in to the graphic layout and plan development. 

Connect with the masses: Exciting social media reaches a broad group that may not otherwise be 
engaged, and acts as a convenient, low-stress introduction to a public involvement process that 
should other mediums.

Focus on those who do not self-select: Millennials and Generation Z must know why they should 
participate; those in their 30s are often too busy, while minorities often do not feel comfortable. 
Methods must invite them to participate in a method that is comfortable to them. They have unique 
voices and perspectives integral to a plan. 

Engage Co-creators: Use our co-creators - our positive everyday citizens and heroes and ambassadors 
to engage the rest of the community. 

Create great conversations: Our events also include the ability to sit down one-on-one with the 
community to discuss topics, or hold practitioner forums, or “TEDTalk” events to discuss topics that 
affect us in an open an honest way, elevating the planning process.

Plan brands developed by Logan Simpson.



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 1 5

1.3 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT PLAN
In consultation with SC and TS, the consultant team will 
create a community engagement plan (CEP) that will identify 
and describe project meetings and public events; define 
responsibilities for event logistics and notification; and generally 
identify locations, venues, and format. We will craft the CEP for 
robust and meaningful community involvement, seeking input in 
the preliminary areas as identified below. Other important areas 
may be identified throughout the plan process.
1. Design and compatibility
2. Densities
3. All-ages neighborhoods and housing
4. Parks, trails, and open space
5. Jobs/housing balance
6. Connectivity
7. Transportation concerns
8. Adequate community facilities, and other big picture issues
Working with the SC and TS, we will refine the CEP, discuss data 
needs, outline a communication protocol, and identify needed 
updates to the Plan and Code. We will provide TS with content/
links to update the town’s website and social media platforms. 

Should that town desire a separate webpage, unique to the Plan 
and Code update, we can discuss options available. Our outreach 
approach is designed to not only engage stakeholders in fun, 
interactive ways, but it is also data-driven to support defensible 
decision-making. We stand out from other firms by using non-
traditional outreach tools as an invitation to participate and 
remained engaged. Each outreach phase starts with inviting, 
educational events that provide people with an opportunity to 
participate both on and off line. Using intriguing text polling and 
social media tools, we link audiences to more empirical methods 
of data collection, including digital questionnaires, focus groups, 
and work sessions. This effort results in informed, engaged, and 
excited members of the community willing to champion both 
the process and the final plan. Our approach and tools allow us 
to track socioeconomic and geographic information that can 
be cross-tabulated and isolated by community cross-sections 
to identify the missing demographic sectors that require more 
targeted efforts. We have found that if information cannot be 
tabulated or tracked to see common themes, participating/
missing communities, changes over times, and meaningful 
results, it has not been an efficient process.

[ INVOLVE + CO-CREATE ]

Principles of Analytical Engagement
Track what counts: Tracking demographics such as the location, age, and relationship (resident, business owner, second-homeowner, etc.) allows us to 
understand who is and is not participating. Data can be cross-tabulated to identify common themes across demographics, or key data can be isolated. 
Tools include an interactive website with up-to-date project information, digital questionnaires, real-time result pages, ESRI story map, photovoice and 
survey-integrated online mapping, link to text input software, and input to a Logan Simpson database. 

Respect all voices: Every individual that participates in the process has an equal and significant voice - one not louder or softer dependent on a role in 
the community, we ensure all voices are engaged. We will know who has participate and who has not and will ensure our data represents a cross section 

of the entire community. Tools include a comment tracking system analytics reports who has inputted 
and who has not, by age, location, and role in the community by each phase.

Collect standardized data: Consistent collection of input across all media and events creates input 
can be summarized on the fly, providing real time results to various boards and commissions. Whether 
it is a “Planning and Art Event”, “Ted Talk” or “Burgers and Beer”, most input will be directed through 
our text or website questionnaire. Tools include interconnected software: at all non-traditional events, 
attendees are asked to engage real-time on their phones or later through their computer, same is true 
with our Facebook and Twitter outreach. Our text polling software is linked to our imbedded website 
questionnaire, asking the user to dig deeper. 

Ensure individual input counts: Showing how input was integrated makes the community feel involved 
and trusting of the process. This includes full transparency and real-time display of our questionnaire 
data. Tools include public input summaries. Since all data is consolidated in a central database, 
phase by phase public summaries can provided on the website.

Dive deeper: In order to create a plan that is truly strategic, we suggest actively engaging elected 
officials, stakeholders, and key groups using worksessions, interviews, and charrettes. Tools include 
committee meetings, Council presentations, interviews, charrettes, forums, and focus groups.

Set the foundation for defensible decisions: Each of the principles above arms decision makers with 
the knowledge to make informed decisions based community-wide values and desires. Tools include 
comparative analyses: we must return to each phase of the process and the input we received to 
ensure the final represent the will of the community and elected officials.



1 6  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

Baseline Keystone Indicators and Trends

8800

8600

8400

8200

8000

9000

Current 
Trend

M
et

ric
 (e

g.
 V

M
T 

pe
r c

ap
ita

)

Implementation Target Year

Current 
Trend

M
et

ric
 (e

g.
 V

M
T 

pe
r c

ap
ita

)

2000 2020 2050
Year

Peer Community 2

Peer Community 1

1.4 EXISTING CONDITIONS & 
TRENDS ANALYSIS
Using the best and most recent available 
data from the Town, County, State 
and other proven resources, our team 
will compile, examine, and synthesize 
information for various comprehensive 
plan elements (i.e. population projections; 
land use and zoning; growth boundaries; 
housing stock, public facilities, and 
infrastructure; natural hazards; natural 
resource areas and environmentally 
sensitive areas) as well as for existing 
plans, studies, guidelines and codes.  As 
necessary, we will develop GIS mapping 
and analyses that aid and support the 
compiled data. We will use discussions 
with stakeholders, the SC and TS to 
supplement the conclusions made from data and GIS-based 
analysis. 
We will create a series of existing conditions and trends – 
snapshots – that will provide an overview of baseline conditions, 
and define how those conditions and projections influence 
the development of policies, actions, and focus areas for the 
comprehensive plan. These snapshots will aid the Town and 
the public in updating Johnstown’s vision by identifying major 
trends and opportunities while developing a strategic, forward-
thinking plan. The existing conditions snapshots will be a 
standalone document that will later be incorporated into the 
final plan. Illustrating these trends within the snapshots and the 
need for potential new strategies and direction will be important 
to increase public understanding and awareness during the 
Comprehensive Plan process.

1.5 BENCHMARKING & EXISTING POLICY 
ASSESSMENT
It is key to understand how the Town’s current policy guidance 
needs to be improved or added to in order to ensure a vision 
that both meets the community’s expectations and addresses 
resiliency and adaptability to changing trends and needs. In 
consultation with the SC and TS, the consultant team will compile 
a database of metrics or indicators from the County as well as 
similar and surrounding towns. These indicators are quantifiable 
elements that contribute to a typical—if not high— quality of 
life, such as housing affordability, access to amenities, tax 
revenue, and level of service standards. We will utilize our policy 
benchmarking tool to measure and compare the Town’s existing 
strategies, objectives, tools, and programs against these other 
communities to identify gaps in Johnstown’s existing policy. 
Once aggregated, the indicators will be modified and adjusted 

to reflect the Town’s unique characteristics. Existing conditions 
metrics identified in task 1.4 will be compared to the aggregated 
indicators, highlighting a quick “State of the Town” as compared 
to best practices. The consultant team will also examine trends 
and how they would be expected to influence these existing 
conditions and indicators within the plan horizon. 
After the indicators, existing conditions, and trends have been 
charted, the consultant team will develop a digital policy audit 
and work with SC and TS to take a hard look and ensure alignment 
(relevance, efficacy, and consistency) with adopted Town plans, 
adopted County Comprehensive Plan, and existing IGAs and 
neighboring municipality Comprehensive Plans. This audit will 
specifically look at how well existing guidance addresses the 
indicators. This benchmarking assessment will illustrate where 
Johnstown already has policy in place to support key indicators 
and where additional policy, programming, or funding need to be 
developed in order to address new or changing environments. 
The goal is for the SC to provide informed feedback on each goal 
or objectives’ effectiveness and usefulness; present potential 
opportunities for further consideration; as well as to highlight 
areas that could be reconsidered or modified in the Plan and 
Code Update. This exercise will give the team a head start on 
strategic plan implementation considerations.
Phase 1 Meetings and Deliverables
• Bi-weekly calls or in-person meetings (every other week)
• Final scope of work and project timeline
• TS Kickoff Meeting agendas, materials, facilitation, and 

summaries
• SC Meeting #1 and #2 agendas, materials, facilitation, and 

summaries
• Project logo and branding
• Draft and final Community Engagement Plan (CEP)



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 1 7

• Initial website/social media graphics, content, and updates
• Data compilation and peer community identification (with TS

and SC input); indicator compilation and comparison
• Draft and final existing conditions snapshots and preliminary

identification indicators
• Preliminary indicators identification (with TS and SC input),

and associated tabular compilation of metrics and data
• Plan audit compilation; digital platform setup, and

distribution
• Tracked changes document of the existing Comprehensive

Plan identifying where updates, enhancements, data updates;
and state regulatory updates are needed

• Plan audit summary of policy gap findings and
recommendations

• PC/TC presentation #1 PowerPoint and assistance in
presentation (to present Phase 1 summary)

PHASE 2 | VISION & 
OPPORTUNITIES
2.1 VALUES & VISION
Phase 2 will begin with a meeting with the SC to review results of 
Phase 1, establish goals for this key phase, and set expectations 
for the public outreach components of Tasks 2.1 and 2.2. 
Anticipated outreach events will be based on the final CEP, but 
are generally expected to include:

Stakeholder Interviews and/or Small Group 
Meetings
Our team will conduct two (2) full days of one-on-one interviews 
with stakeholders or small groups that have an interest in 
the plan update. Interviewees will be identified based on 
recommendations from TS and SC. Interviews and small group 
meetings should include elected officials; 
board members; residents; business 
groups and large employers; developers, 
builders, and realtors; infrastructure 
providers (e.g. water/ sewer districts; 
emergency services); under-represented 
groups (e.g. seniors, and minority 
populations); representatives of the 
agricultural community; conservation/ 
wildlife groups and agencies; and all 
individual members of the SC. The 
purpose of these sessions will be to gather 
feedback on issues and opportunities, 
generate initial visioning ideas, and 
stimulate community interest in both the 
Comprehensive Plan and Code Update 
projects. In an effort to remain informal 
and encourage substantial feedback, we 

suggest holding the interviews outside town offices, at venues 
such as the Johnstown Community Centre, the Glenn A. Jones, 
M.D. Memorial Library, or other local community spaces. The
consultant team will reach out to the individual stakeholders to
schedule meetings and prepare agendas and materials, facilitate, 
and summarize the interviews.

Visioning Outreach
Outreach efforts will capitalize on existing local events such as 
‘Meet Santa & Mrs. Claus at Scheels, Johnstown BBQ Day, and the 
Farmer’s Market. At the events, we will engage citizens by asking 
them, what they love about Johnstown, and what opportunities 
they see for improvement. All activities will be paired with an 
online component or questionnaire to extend participation 
opportunities. Workshop packages that can be used as “to-go” 
materials will be provided to TS for distribution throughout the 
community and to be posted online. 
As part of this and subsequent community events, an online 
questionnaire will also be developed and embedded within the 
existing Town website. Each online component will generally be 
launched a week prior to events, and extend for approximately 
one month to allow residents, visitors, etc. to offer feedback when 
convenient to them. Demographic questions can be included to 
allow for tracking and monitoring involvement by demographic 
and/or neighborhood, to identify who is involved, and allow 
for flexibility to reach underrepresented groups to ultimately 
ensure a broad range of involvement. Text polling questions 
will also be linked to the website questionnaire, allowing us to 
connect people at the community events to the more analytical 
questionnaire.

5

DRAFTOur Character: Encourage a character that is truly McCall, representing 

its unique local, small town feel, while highlighting its mountain setting and 

Payette Lake.

Our Community: Support local businesses, entrepreneurship, and 

recreational tourism, while containing a variety of housing types to meet 

varied income levels and stages of life.

Our Connections: Foster a sense of exploration and seek to enhance 

the recreational experience and mobility within the City, for visitors and 

residents through safe walkable places, diverse transportation modes, and 

efficient transit choices.

Our Streets: Support an efficient circulation system that contains well-

maintained and diverse street types that allow for ease of traffic flow and 

provide comfort, safety and ease of travel in all seasons.

Our Pathways: Encourage an accessible and connected pathway system, 

with safe pedestrian and bicycle routes serving both residents and visitors.

Comprehensive Plan Vision Themes

Transportation Master Plan Vision Themes 

Shared Vision Theme 

4

DRAFT
Our Vision

McCall is a diverse, small town united 

to maintain a safe, clean, healthy 

and attractive environment. It is 

a friendly, progressive community 

that is affordable and sustainable. 

Vision document, McCall in Motion



1 8  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

Vision Document
Using the results of the visioning 
outreach and input from stakeholder 
interviews and visioning outreach, 
the consultant team will generate a 
summary of community values, vision 
statement(s), and preliminary goals that 
provide direction for the Plan. We will 
illustrate the community’s vision through 
narrative, sketches, photos, diagrams, 
and infographics, as appropriate. The 
vision will integrate the demographic 
and population projections and existing 
conditions snapshots from Task 1 to tell 
the story of Johnstown, both today and 
into the future. An internal draft will be 
reviewed by TS, SC, and forwarded to the 
(PC) and (TC) for discussion at a work 
session. The final vision document will 
incorporate PC and TC considerations 
and will include a summary of public outreach activities and 
comments to-date.

2.2 OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS
The consultant team, with input from TS and SC, will translate 
the vision and goals into reality by identifying opportunities that 
reflect Johnstown’s values for the future and meet the finalized 
vision. Building on the input heard so far, specific opportunities 
will be established, covering each of the Comprehensive Plan 
elements. The consultant team will work together to ensure that 
the opportunities are in line with the vision, and relate to the 
before mentioned indicators.

Opportunities Outreach 
Working closely with the community provides the chance to 
identify authentic characteristics and what changes would 
benefit them and their community. The consultant team will 
host an opportunities workshop with the community, and set 
up kiosks throughout the Town at popular destinations such 
as the Johnstown Community Centre, the Glenn A. Jones, M.D. 
Memorial Library, and the Candlelight Dinner Playhouse, to 
mention a few. In addition to the in-person outreach, our team 
members will seek input online through a second questionnaire 
and online activities relevant to the opportunities. 

The team will isolate key strategies and feasible, implementable 
land use options that are based on the identified opportunities. 
Instead of creating loaded opportunities, which tend to be divisive 
and unlikely to occur as analyzed (e.g. a no-growth versus a 
high-density option), we will examine good, better, and best 
options, in which each opportunity is investigated and methods 
examined to improve their effectiveness. This evaluation takes a 
proactive approach in setting policy and investment decisions to 
achieve the desired future of the community, and will answer the 
questions: “What is the benefit to the community,” “What will it 
take,” and “Who will pay for it?” 
The final opportunities summary will include framework mapping; 
preliminary action items; suggested code language updates and 
further refinement and direction for associated indicators.

Water Supply/Demand Analysis 
As part of translating opportunities into a preliminary Future 
Land Use Map, the consultant team will refine/develop a GIS 
base to determine areas of stability, transition, and change. For 
existing “areas of stability”, water demand coefficients by parcel 
and land use type will be generated using general water use 
or existing coefficients. Existing developments that represent 
desired future land use forms for design and sustainability will 
be isolated to provide a baseline for modeling scenarios in a 
sensitivity analysis. Coefficients will be applied to future land 
uses; different land use forms and conservation strategies can 
then be optimized related the amount and distribution of existing 
water rights, and a targeted strategy can be developed that links 
water and land use.

Big Moves and Choices

8800

8600

8400

8200

8000

9000

Implementation

Good

Better

Best
Target Year

Current 
Trend

M
et

ric
 (e

g.
 V

M
T 

pe
r c

ap
ita

)

2000 2020 2050
Year

Key Strategies/
Additional Actions



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E  1 9

 

Land Use Allocation Model Update | 21 
 

New Jobs Per TAZ at 2035 

The Logan Simpson team served as the on-call land use and demographic 
planners for DRCOG and NFR MPO. We have the ability to assign a 
development date in 5-year increments with detailed breakdown of place 
types, incomes, and housing and employment types. This GIS model could be 
used in fundamental economic and transportation policies. 

Subarea Planning
In addition to assessing sufficient water supply, it is the desire 
of the Town to evaluate several areas of Town with the goal of 
developing specific policies to support future planning efforts 
conducive to long-term socioeconomic stability. The following is 
a preliminary list of area to consider:
• Downtown
• Big Thompson River
• I-25 Corridor
• Hwy 60 Corridor
• Freedom Parkway Corridor (LCR18 / WCR54)
• High Plains Boulevard corridor
Other areas may be identified during the planning process. 
Utilizing the areas of stability analysis identified above, paired 
with stakeholder, SC and TS input and on the ground analysis, 
the strengths and weaknesses of each area will be assessed 
and primary issues or opportunities identified and prioritized via 
mapping and strategy development. Logan Simpson often works 
closely with market analysts and transportation experts that 
could be engaged should the specific areas require additional 
analysis as part of this or future efforts.
Phase 2 Meetings and Deliverables
• Bi-weekly Conference Calls (every other week)
• SC Meetings #3 and #4 agendas, materials, facilitation, and 

summaries
• Project website monthly updates 
• Meeting plan and agendas for Values and Vision events, web/

social media notification; presentation materials, facilitation, 
summary, and online questionnaire setup and distribution for 
stakeholder interviews and community event(s) 

• Stakeholder interviews invitation, questionnaire, facilitation 
and summary 

• Community events materials, facilitation and summary 

• Online Values and Vision questionnaire #1 development, 
incorporation on website, notification messaging, and 
summary

• Draft and final Town vision, and preliminary goals summary 
document/ brochure 

• Meeting plan and agendas for Opportunities events, web/
social media notification; presentation materials, facilitation, 
summary, and online questionnaire setup and distribution for 
opportunities workshop and kiosks 

• Opportunities small group workshops 
• Kiosk materials development 
• Online Opportunities questionnaire #2 development, 

incorporation on website, notification messaging, and 
summary

• Summary of water supply and demand analysis
• Summary of subarea plan evaluation 
• PC/ TC presentation #2 and #3 PowerPoint and assistance 

in presentation (to present Vision & Values summary; and 
Opportunities summary)

• Plan framework and template (including an annotated 
outline; mockup of layout of front end and one standard 
goals/ principles chapter)



2 0  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

PHASE 3 | PLAN DEVELOPMENT
Based on the data analysis, vision, and preliminary goals identified to this point, the Logan Simpson team will work with TS and SC 
to prepare an innovative, streamlined, and graphically appealing framework and format. It is important that the documents illustrate 
the process itself, and reflect the character of the community. 

3.1 PROPOSED 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
FRAMEWORK
Based on community outreach and 
research to date, Logan Simpson will work 
with TS to develop the Comprehensive Plan 
Framework and outline. Content, layout, 
and format will be mocked up for discussion 
and review with Town TS and SC members, 
and will be based on the structure and 
content of the Vision Document.
Further, meetings with TS and SC will be 
held to review the results of the process to-
date; review public feedback from Phase 
2; set final project goals, based on the 
indicators developed through the process; 
and identify specific targets and processes 
for measurement. At this juncture, updated 
and new principles and policies will be 
drafted based on community feedback. 
Based on previous phases, including the plan audit and policy gap analysis, a draft of preliminary principles, policies, and strategies 
will be presented and reviewed with TS and SC. As part of this review, key enhancements should be identified, including format and 
layout changes, and opportunities for illustrations and graphics. In addition, key updates in regard to Code Update will be discussed 
at this time (refer to Task 4.3). 
The policy format will be reviewed against other municipality plans for consistency, in particular, the Larimer County Comprehensive 
Plan; existing IGAs; and neighboring Comprehensive Plans. Any discrepancies or inconsistencies will be discussed with TS and 
SC. Defining each community’s inclination for regulation and the resources available can often predict the likelihood of successful 
implementation. To this end, the consultant team will identify a range of possible implementation practices while the plan’s goals 
and objectives are taking shape—prior to making final recommendations. The result will be a community-supported policy that TS 
can defend and implement.
Once draft policies have been reviewed and refined by TS and SC, a set of small group workshops will be held to vet and enhance 
the policies and create an advocacy base for plan adoption. The consultant team will prepare materials for, and facilitate up to six 
small group meetings, which will also be aligned with Task 4.3 to identify initial reaction to preliminarily identified code changes.

3.2 ACTION PLAN
As the Town grows, meeting each goal becomes more critical and projects and associated triggers can ensure their implementation. 
A prioritized action plan with anticipated capital projects, regulations, studies, and funding options will help prioritize projects, which 
could include updates to existing, or new MOUs and IGAs with neighboring municipalities, local road improvements, or regional 
trail system projects. This action plan would track accountability, follow through, and effectiveness of the updated Plan. Indicators 
previously identified in Phase 1, and refined in Phase 2 will determine if we are heading in the right direction. The Action Plan works 
best when there are minor check-ins before a trigger is hit so smaller corrective actions can prevent the need for larger capital 
projects. This adaptive management approach avoids the mistakes of many plans that are overly general. Plans using this approach 
allow to look back 5 to 10 years later and ensure we are always making the lives of our citizens better.

Adaptive Management and Monitoring

8800

8600

8400

8200

8000

9000

Monitoring 

Corrective Action 
Catalyst Projects

Implementation Target Year

5-Year Check-In

M
et

ric
 (e

g.
 V

M
T 

pe
r c

ap
ita

)

2000 2020 2050
Year

Preferred
Scenario



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 2 1

3.3 DRAFT PLAN DEVELOPMENT
The consultant team will develop an end product that is easily 
navigated and accessible to the public with minimal technical 
language or jargon. It will meet all functional and statutory 
requirements with a consistent, integrated look, feel, and 
aesthetics that celebrate the Town. Content, layout, and format 
for each document will be mocked up for discussion and through 
an in-person graphic workshop, reviewed and enhanced with 
TS and SC. The Plan will include an extensive use of maps, 
tables, illustrative renderings, and other graphics that enhance 
readability. In addition, Logan Simpson will produce an executive 
summary of the Plan in condensed format (e.g., brochures, 
posters, etc.) available in electronic format. The Pan will include 
recommended land use mixes, opportunity areas schematics, 
priority areas for growth, and implementation priorities and 
phasing.
During the public review period, the consultant team will conduct 
a series of four public events, in various locations to present the 
draft Plan at either a festival-type event or a formal public open 
house. Key policy changes and features will be highlighted, and 
attendees will have the opportunity to discuss questions with the 
consultant team, TS, and SC members. 

3.4 FINAL PLAN & ADOPTION
Our team will support TS in individual briefings of PC and TC 
members, and subsequent presentations of the final document at 
PC and TC public hearings. The consultant team anticipates two 
rounds of minor revisions, as directed by PC, TC, and comments 
received during the public hearing. The consultant team will use 
each set of revisions to update the document for a TC draft and a 

final Plan. The consultant 
team will make minor 

revisions, if any, as directed by TC, following the hearing. The 
consultant team will provide TS with final packaged InDesign 
and .pdf electronic files, an MS Word document of extracted text, 
and supporting mapping, graphics, and analyses files. 

3.5 IMPLEMENTATION GUIDELINES & 
TEMPLATES
Once complete, and to facilitate implementation of the action 
plan, the consultant team will create sample templates for an 
annual work plan, annual indicator report, and development 
review checklist.
Phase 3 Meetings and Deliverables
• Bi-weekly Conference Calls (every other week)
• SC Meetings #5, #6 and #7 agendas, materials, facilitation,

and summaries
• PC / CC presentation #4 PowerPoint and assistance

in presentation (to present Plan Framework and Code
Assessment, Task 4.2)

• Project website monthly updates
• Draft, two rounds of revisions, and final Plan Framework and

Future Land Use map
• Meeting plan and agendas for small group meetings, web/

social media notification; presentation materials, facilitation,
and summary

• Draft and final action plan, identifying specific targets and
measurements for final indicators

• Draft Plan document for TS review; revised draft document
for SC review; revised draft for public review; revised draft for
PC; final draft for TC

• Meeting plan and agendas for public review/ open houses,
web/social media notification; presentation materials,
facilitation, summary, and online questionnaire setup and
distribution for public open houses

• PC and TC briefings, public hearing presentation materials,
and assistance in presentation

• Final Plan document with associated live files (i.e. Adobe
InDesign document package 
with fonts and linked graphics; 
Adobe Illustrator graphic files; GIS 
mapping files; and any associated 
Microsoft Word/ Excel files)
• Draft and final
implementation guidelines/
templates (i.e. annual work plan,
annual indicator report, and
development review checklist)

A few examples 
of Logan Simpson’s comprehensive plan 
documents include Imagine Winter Park and 
Mead, Colorado and Millcreek Together, Utah. 

2018 TOWN PLAN

Imagine 

ADOPTION DRAFT | NOVEMBER 2018

Winter Park

MILLCREEK
T O G E T H E R

MILLCREEK
T O G E T H E R

MILLCREEK
T O G E T H E R

Adopted February 2019

MILLCREEK
T O G E T H E R

GENERAL PLAN

TOWN OF MEAD 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
ADOPTION DRAFT, MARCH 2018



2 2  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

PHASE 4 | DEVELOPMENT CODE ASSESSMENT
4.1 CODE AUDIT
An essential first step in the code update process is to 
understand the existing code structure - how it works, what’s 
inside, what’s working and what’s not. As part of Phase 4, 
Task 4.1, the consultant team will review the existing code, 
the new comprehensive plan, other planning documents, 
recent development approvals, variances, and other pertinent 
documents as well as relevant case law to ensure that our 
recommendations are consistent with State statutes. As part of 
early stakeholder interviews/small group meetings identified in 
Task 2.1 the consultant team will gather feedback on the current 
development review process and existing standards from the 
perspective of those who are developing, building, and operating 
businesses in the community - essentially those who are most 
familiar with the development application process. 

4.2 CODE AUDIT REPORT
Team member, White & Smith, LLC, will synthesize the 
information gathered from the Task 4.1 Code Audit and initial 
public outreach (Task 2.1) along with information resulting from 
the Comprehensive Plan visioning process and our review of 
existing documents (Task 4.1) into a Code Assessment Report. 
The Code assessment will include general recommendations (not 
in code amendment language) to address basic code structure; 
what regulations need to be added or removed; any necessary 
modifications to zoning districts; character area standards; 
sign code updates for content neutrality and innovation; 
sustainability; affordability; development trends; and any other 
topics that arise from the information gathering meetings. 

Town of

Johnstown

Downtown
Design
Guidelines
January 2009

FINAL

JOHNSTOWN AREA
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
2006

Downtown Johnstown Improvements
 Master Plan

December 2007

200 W. Oak Street, 
Fort Collins, CO 

80521 970.498.7000 
larimer.org

May 2019 Public Draft

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
LARIMER COUNTY 

During the Code Audit, we will 
review the existing code, 2006 

Area Comprehensive Plan, 
Downtown Improvements 

Master Plan, Downtown 
Design Guidelines, Larimer 

County Comprehensive Plan 
(2019), and other  applicable 

planning guidance in order 
to be consistent with State 

statutes.



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 2 3

Detached single family standards developed for Loveland’s code update. 

4.3 OUTLINE OF PROPOSED UPDATES
In tandem with the development and finalization of the Comprehensive Plan document, and in order to develop a comprehensive 
code structure, the consultant team will develop an annotated outline of proposed updates, combining current chapters 15, 16, and 
17 into a unified LDC. The outline will not only provide a vehicle for organization of the code sections but also track existing code 
sections regarding their placement in the code update: relocation, amalgamation, removal or no change. The assessment report will 
be reviewed and refined by TS and SC, and then presented to PC and TC for approval prior to detailed development of the draft code 
language.

4.4 COMMUNITY OUTREACH
In an effort to keep the code process transparent and inclusive, the consultant team will prepare targeted code questions at a 
conceptual, high level, and present these questions as part of the Comprehensive Plan outreach efforts (Task 3.3). This lets us 
make the most of public feedback by using it in a seamless manner at both the development and implementation (at a code policy 
level) of the Comprehensive Plan Furthermore, this unified outreach effort provides an opportunity for the TS, SC, P&ZC, and TC to 
appreciate the transition and story from Comprehensive Plan to Code Update, while remaining efficient with the project schedule 
and minimizing public outreach fatigue. Subsequently, during Task 4.3, White & Smith will present the completed code assessment 
to P&ZC and TC to provide an overview and schedule of the project and gauge support of developing priorities suggested.
Phase 4 Meetings and Deliverables
• Staff Conference Calls (as-needed)
• Draft and final code assessment report
• Draft and final code update outline
• 3 Trips by White & Smith personnel:
• Meeting materials for Vision and Values events (Task

2.1), specifically key questions related to efficacy and
changes needed to the Code

• Meeting materials for Opportunities Analysis events
(Task 2.2), specifically key questions related to
character areas and related standards desired for the
Code

• Meeting materials for public review events (Task 3.3),
specifically key questions related to transition from
Comprehensive Plan policy to implementation of Code

• Meeting materials for SC#3, #4 and #5, PC, and TC (if
applicable) review and confirmation of assessment
report and outline (Tasks 4.1-4.3)

DOCUMENT SECTION SUBJECT REGULATIONS AND STANDARDS COVERED

Land Development Code LDC 6.5.7 Arterial and Collector Frontage 
Screening Design Requirements

Double Frontage Lots 
Sound Barrier Fences and Walls 
Minimum Open Frontage 
Maximum Fence or Wall Length or Plane 
Fence or Wall Setbacks

Land Development Code LDC 7.6.17 Easements Natural Gas Easements 
Utility Easements 
Sanitary Sewer Easements 
Drainage Easements

Code of Ordinances Chapter 54 Motor Vehicles and Traffic Model Traffic Code

Example of a Standards Decision Matrix from the City of Arvada Transportation Manual. 



2 4  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

During the comprehensive 
plan process for 

Millcreek Together, 
character illustratives 

were developed that set 
the stage for the code 

graphics. 



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 2 5

5.2 FINAL DRAFT OF UPDATED DEVELOPMENT CODE
A public draft of the completed code document will be made 
available for public comment following general approval by 
TS and SC. This event will take place in a central location and 
include materials to represent the basic components of the 
updated document. 
Our team will support TS in individual briefings of PC and TC, 
and subsequent presentations of the final document at public 
hearings. The consultant team will incorporate TS, PC, and TC 
responses into the final development code, and anticipates two 
rounds of minor revisions based on written direction by TS. We 
anticipated attending two adoption meetings to be determined 
after TS consultation.

Phase 5 Meetings and Deliverables
• Staff Conference Calls (as-needed)
• Meeting plan and agendas for public code review/ open

houses, Town web/social media notification; presentation
materials, facilitation, and summary for the following
meetings:

• Procedural Code Revisions
• Zoning Revisions
• Development Standard Revisions
• Meeting materials for SC#8, #9, agendas, materials,

facilitation, and summaries
• Public Review of Initial Draft LDC
• Adoption meetings for the Final LDC
• PC & TC #5 and #6 briefings, public hearing presentation

materials, and assistance in presentation
• Drafts of three Code Modules for TS review, SC review, and PC

/ TC review
• Final Code document – 5 copies and in digital format

PHASE 5 | CODE DEVELOPMENT
TASK 5.1 INITIAL DRAFT OF UPDATED DEVELOPMENT CODE
The consultant team will transition to implementing the newly 
adopted Comprehensive Plan policy into Code. In order to 
develop a user-friendly code to appeal to a variety of audiences, 
the updated code document will need to be clear and organized, 
and include an appropriate balance of text, tables, and illustrated 
procedural diagrams. The code will be drafted in three separate 
modules organized by the following three topics: procedures, 
zoning and development standards.
Procedures. Basic development application procedures will 
be reviewed in conformance with best practices and adjusted 
to streamline development applications. The administrative 
section will be strengthened so that decisions are not subjective. 
Subdivision standards will be re-written to provide more land 
division options and provide clarity in the expectation of 
application requirements. We also will use flow charts and table 
and text boxes to illustrate key procedures for ease of use.
Zoning. Current zoning designations will be analyzed to provide 
new or consolidated zone districts to encourage housing 
diversity and right sized development in commercial areas and 
the Downtown Corridor.

Development Standards. Our team has helped community 
develop requirements and incentives for communities 
throughout Colorado and the country. We will employ overlays, 
requirements, incentives, and nongovernmental programs for the 
protection of community quality, development patterns dictated 
by the updated comprehensive plan, scenery, floodplains, slopes, 
wildland-urban interface, and recreational access. Design 
standards will be consolidated and organized for ease of use.
Coordination with TS will take place throughout the code drafting 
process by way coordination calls on a bi-weekly basis or as-
needed. Meetings will be held with the SC, PC, and TC following 
completion of each module for general buy in. However, it is 
our intent that the code would be adopted as one consolidated 
document following completion of all three modules. This 
process ensures a fully coordinated document and a more 
cohesive end-product.



2 6  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

5. SCHEDULE
We recognize that the anticipated 18 month schedule could be extended, and recommend extending the code process to 22 months  
in order to accommodate an extensive outreach process and incorporate the goals and policies developed during the Comprehensive 
Plan appropriately in to the Code Rewrite. 

2019 2020 2020 2021

M1 M2 M3 M4 M5 M6 M7 M8 M9 M10 M11 M12 M13 M14 M15 M16 M17 M18 M19 M20 M21 M22

NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

PHASE 1 | FOUNDATION

1.1 Kickoff & Ongoing Project Management TS/SC 1

1.2 Plan Branding

1.3 Community Engagement Plan

1.4 Existing Conditions & Trends Analysis

1.5 Benchmarking & Existing Policy Assessment SC2 
PC/TC1

PHASE 2 | VISION & OPPORTUNITIES

2.1 Values & Vision PE1 PC/TC2

2.2 Opportunities Analysis SC3 PE2 SC4 PC/TC3

PHASE 3 | PLAN DEVELOPMENT

3.1 Proposed Comprehensive Plan Framework PC/TC4 SC5

3.2 Action Plan SC6

3.3 Draft Plan Development SC7

3.4 Final Pan & Adoption PE3 SC8 PC/TC5

3.5 Implementation Guidelines & Templates

DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

PHASE 4 | DEVELOPMENT CODE ASSESSMENT

4.1 Code Audit SC3 SC4

4.2 Code Audit Report PC/TC4

4.3 Outline of Proposed LDC Updates SC5

4.4 Community Outreach PE1 PE2 PE3

PHASE 5 | CODE DEVELOPMENT

5.1 Initial Draft of Updated Land Use Code SC6 SC7 SC8 PC/TC5 SC9 PC/TC6

5.2 Final Draft of Updated Land Use Code PE4 PC/TC7 PC/TC8

PE: Public Event  •  TS: Town Staff Meeting  •  SC: Steering Committee Meeting 

PC Hearing: Planning Commission Hearing  •  TC Hearing: Town Council Hearing 



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E  2 7

2019 2020 2020 2021

M1 M2 M3 M4 M5 M6 M7 M8 M9 M10 M11 M12 M13 M14 M15 M16 M17 M18 M19 M20 M21 M22

NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

PHASE 1 | FOUNDATION

1.1 Kickoff & Ongoing Project Management TS/SC 1

1.2 Plan Branding

1.3 Community Engagement Plan

1.4 Existing Conditions & Trends Analysis

1.5 Benchmarking & Existing Policy Assessment SC2 
PC/TC1

PHASE 2 | VISION & OPPORTUNITIES

2.1 Values & Vision PE1 PC/TC2

2.2 Opportunities Analysis SC3 PE2 SC4 PC/TC3

PHASE 3 | PLAN DEVELOPMENT

3.1 Proposed Comprehensive Plan Framework PC/TC4 SC5

3.2 Action Plan SC6

3.3 Draft Plan Development SC7

3.4 Final Pan & Adoption PE3 SC8 PC/TC5

3.5 Implementation Guidelines & Templates

DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

PHASE 4 | DEVELOPMENT CODE ASSESSMENT

4.1 Code Audit SC3 SC4

4.2 Code Audit Report PC/TC4

4.3 Outline of Proposed LDC Updates SC5

4.4 Community Outreach PE1 PE2 PE3

PHASE 5 | CODE DEVELOPMENT

5.1 Initial Draft of Updated Land Use Code SC6 SC7 SC8 PC/TC5 SC9 PC/TC6

5.2 Final Draft of Updated Land Use Code PE4 PC/TC7 PC/TC8

PE: Public Event  •  TS: Town Staff Meeting  •  SC: Steering Committee Meeting 

PC Hearing: Planning Commission Hearing  •  TC Hearing: Town Council Hearing 



2 8  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

WHITE & SMITH LLC
White & Smith was founded in February of 2005 by Mark White and Tyson Smith. Prior to the formation of White 
& Smith, LLC, the principals worked together for five years at a leading national law and planning firm. White & 
Smith continues the tradition that was started by their former firm: a national land use law practice focused on 
municipal representation. From 1996 to 2004, Mark White managed and prepared nearly all of the development 
code work for that firm, and has over 24 years of experience as an urban planner and land use attorney. Their professional staff 
includes attorneys with planning (AICP) certifications and a LEED-certified architect with experience in designing residential, 
commercial and historic buildings. White & Smith have completed over 50 code updates in 24 states, ranging from conventional 
zoning regulations to modern form-based or composite zoning codes.
White & Smith is a trusted partner with whom Logan Simpson is currently developing the Land Use Code for Eagle, Colorado  and 
Teton County, Idaho, and was recently subcontracted for Logan Simpson’s work on  Wellington, Colorado and Teton County, Idaho. 
In addition, White & Smith is updating the design and development standards for the City of Westminster, Colorado concurrently 
with Logan Simpson’s work to update Westminster’s Comprehensive Plan. Partner Tyson Smith will be primarily responsible for 
legal based review of the LDC update. He and his team will not only review the updates, they will draft sections of code and provide 
a general review based on their legal expertise. 

6. SUBCONSULTANT SERVICES



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 2 9

7. FEE PROPOSAL AND RATE SCHEDULE
HOURS LABOR EXPENSES TOTALS

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

PHASE 1 | FOUNDATION

1.1 Kickoff & Ongoing Project Management 102 $11,372 $100 $11,472 

1.2 Plan Branding 36 $3,478 $0 $3,478 

1.3 Community Engagement Plan 40 $3,432 $0 $3,432 

1.4 Existing Conditions & Trends Analysis 84 $7,012 $0 $7,012 

1.5 Benchmarking & Existing Policy Assessment 48 $4,032 $100 $4,132 

Subtotal 310 $29,326 $200 $29,526 

PHASE 2 | VISION & OPPORTUNITIES

2.1 Values & Vision 138 $13,232 $600 $13,832 

2.2 Opportunities Analysis 166 $16,052 $3,900 $19,952 

Subtotal 304 $29,284 $4,500 $33,784 

PHASE 3 | PLAN DEVELOPMENT

3.1 Proposed Comprehensive Plan Framework 48 $4,032 $0 $4,032 

3.2 Action Plan 90 $8,064 $150 $8,214 

3.3 Draft Plan Development 178 $16,584 $150 $16,734 

3.4 Final Plan & Adoption 98 $8,888 $500 $9,388 

3.5 Implementation Guidelines & Templates 56 $4,824 $0 $4,824 

Subtotal 470 $42,392 $800 $43,192 

Comprehensive Plan Total 1,084 $101,002.00 $5,500.00 $106,502

DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

PHASE 4 | DEVELOPMENT CODE ASSESSMENT

4.1 Code Audit 64 $8,184 $50 $8,234 

4.2 Code Audit Report 72 $8,664 $150 $8,814 

4.3 Outline of Proposed LDC Updates 34 $4,466 $50 $4,516 

4.5 Community Outreach 14 $1,822 $250 $2,072 

Subtotal 184 $23,136 $500 $23,636 

PHASE 5 | CODE DEVELOPMENT

5.1 Initial Draft of Updated Land Use Code 730 $99,410 $300 $99,710 

5.2 Final Draft of Updated Land Use Code 226 $30,034 $300 $30,334 

Subtotal 956 $129,444 $600 $130,044 

Development Code Rewrite Total 1,140 $152,580 $1,100 $153,680

COMBINED PROJECT GRAND TOTAL 2,224 $253,582 $6,600 $260,182



3 0  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

HOURLY RATES LOGAN SIMPSON
Bruce Meighen $228
Jennifer Gardner $103
Miriam McGilvray $95
Emily Morales        $75
Megan Moore         $150
Mitch Hendrick      $75
Kristy Bruce           $85
Brian Taylor            $75
Support Staff  $66-96

WHITE & SMITH
Tyson Smith $185
Kelly Cousino $145
Mark White $185 
Support Staff $100

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES
Logan Simpson charges project expenses at cost, with mileage reimbursed at the current Federal rate. 



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 3 1

8. EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES
Our team is pleased to provide the following 10 projects and their references. These plans are representative of work along the Front 
Range, Colorado, and Utah that are either combined comprehensive and code projects or planning projects that pave the way for 
code updates, enhancements, and recommendations. Many of these areas are struggling with growth challenges similar to what 
Johnstown is experiencing, such as insufficient water demand, the balance of growth pressures and the agricultural community, and 
a short supply of mixed-use and multi-family housing to support a new generation of industrial, commercial, and retail employees.

ELEVATE EAGLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND LAND USE AND 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, COLORADO
Reference: Brandy Reitter, Town Manager | Town of Eagle | P: 970.328.9628 | E: brandy.reitter@townofeagle.org
The Town of Eagle is located approximately 200 miles west of Denver in Eagle County. The town has a population of approximately 
6,500 people (census 2010) and is currently experiencing high growth pressures. Influenced by Western Slope ranching, federal 
lands, and two world-class ski resorts (Vail and Beaver Creek), the town has a mix of rich historical agriculture and new recreation 
economies that influence the growth and development of the community. Although the last plan was adopted just eight years ago, 
demographic and geographic shifts in the town have spurred many questions about the town’s future growth, disaster preparedness, 
transportation, housing, and resource management. While Eagle has adequate land to satisfy the high demand for growth, the need 
to protect neighborhoods, green space, and natural assets constrains the Town’s growth area and requires careful thought about 
how the community wants to take advantage of each opportunity for change. The comprehensive plan update, Elevate Eagle, is 
being updated in conjunction with the town’s Development Code. Adopted in 1976, a full overhaul will be necessary to align the 
Development Code with Elevate Eagle, as well as to address a number of issues including downtown parking management, low-
water landscape standards, lighting, a process perceived as onerous and outdated, and inconsistency in interpretation. White & 
Smith are assisting with development of the draft code language and providing legal review for compliance with state statues and 
case law.

Æ_

Æ_

Æ_

Æ_
Æ_

Æ_

Æ_

Æ_

Æ_

HWY
6

I-70

ELEVATING OUR ADVENTUROUS LIFESTYLE 

1. Promote Year-Round Recreation
Promote ourselves as Colorado’s best-kept secret - a 
unique getaway where one can fly-fish, river raft, 
mountain bike, and camp in the summer and ski, snow-
board, and snowshoe in the winter.

2. Provide More Tourist Amenities 
Provide visitors the opportunity to experience Eagle like a local 
with exceptional amenities including hotels close to downtown, 
wayfinding signage, and campsites. 

3. Preserve, Enhance, and Expand our Parks 
and Trails System 
Continue to maintain our incredible trails and parks as well 
as find new opportunities for expansion and connections to 
keep up with our residents’ adventurous lifestyle.

E_

Parks and Open Space

BLM Owned Land

Trailhead

Paved Trails and Sidewalks

EXISTING CONDITIONS

“The Town of Eagle offers the opportunity to adventure, live, and 
work in a community supported by our world-class outdoor 
playground.  ”



3 2  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

US287 STRATEGIC PLAN, CREATE LOVELAND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, 
AND ZONING CODE UPDATE, LOVELAND, COLORADO
Reference: Alan Krcmarik, Executive Economic Advisor | City of Loveland | P: 970.962.2625 | E: alan.krcmarik@cityofloveland.org
Loveland is a community seeking to leverage their artistic 
identity, address growing challenges with changing 
demographics, and proactively manage growth and regional 
coordination. Beginning in 2013, Logan Simpson’s team worked 
with the City to develop the US 287 Strategic Plan for this regional 
highway in a sustainable manner, also the predominant north/
south route through the City. The plan provides both policy and 
physical improvement recommendations, with a focus on the 
revitalization and improved economic vitality of the corridor over 
the next 20 years. Key objectives of the plan included creation of 
a positive, welcoming image along the corridor and at gateways; 
generation of private investment; redevelopment of deteriorated 
areas; generation of jobs and new tax revenue; and improvement 
of public infrastructure. 
Partway through the US287 strategic planning process, Logan 
Simpson began working with the City on the comprehensive plan 
update. Logan Simpson’s approach to Create Loveland included 
a focus on the redevelopment of downtown and key commercial 
corridors; resiliency in all its economic, fiscal, neighborhood 
and environmental dimensions; and greater integration of land 
use, transportation, and healthy 
lifestyles. The plan used broad 
community input to articulate 
the shared values and vision 
of Loveland’s citizens. A set 
of performance indicators, 
prepared in partnership with our 
subconsultant team, support the 
plan by showing historic trends, 
a future trajectory, and ways to 
assess Loveland’s progress in 
achieving that vision. Create 
Loveland was awarded a 2017 
Merit Award from APA Colorado 
— more than just aggressive 
monitoring, this plan lays the 
foundation for the immediate 
update of the municipal code as 
well as prepositioning to apply 
for HUD resiliency funding.

Most recently, Logan Simpson joined an attorney-led team to 
complete the City’s Zoning Code Update. Specific attention was 
given to developing new zoning code language and standards 
to reflect the Comprehensive Plan’s vision for new Complete 
Neighborhoods and Enhanced Corridors. This involved creating 
a series of graphics that illustrate different building types within 
a housing palette, building massing concepts for the downtown 
area, and new infill, corridor, and neighborhood development 
standards. This cohesive graphic language complements the 
updated code, ensuring a more user-friendly and functional 
document. The Complete Neighborhoods concept was worked 
into the code as an optional alternative land use designation 
to encourage a more sustainable approach to neighborhood 
design by bringing everyday services closer to home to 
reduce number of automobile trips and increase walkability. A 
complete neighborhood includes a fine grained mix of housing 
types, densities, and neighborhood scale commercial and 
civic uses arranged in a pattern that supports pedestrian and 
bicycle transportation ultimately integrating commercial and 
employment uses with housing.

2-9

Artist’s rendering depicts a general concept, and illustrates only one of several possible futures, 
and actual development and redevelopment options will vary.

Grocery anchor Connections to existing 
neighborhoods

Improved/ expanded  
transit transfer center

Main street concept with 
on-street parking

Signature entry

Improved retail
DR

AF
T

2-9

Artist’s rendering depicts a general concept, and illustrates only one of several possible futures, 
and actual development and redevelopment options will vary.

Grocery anchor Connections to existing 
neighborhoods

Improved/ expanded  
transit transfer center

Main street concept with 
on-street parking

Signature entry

Improved retail
DR

AF
T

1



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 3 3

4-9

Artist’s rendering depicts a general concept, and illustrates only one of several possible futures, 
and actual development and redevelopment options will vary.

Gateway bridge New, river-oriented retail

Big Thompson River walk with river-
oriented shopping and restaurants

Outdoor 
amphitheater

Hotel

Outdoor event area/ 
wedding venue

New access drive 
and parking areas

Barnes Softball 
Complex

Pedestrian 
bridge

Improved and expanded trails, including 
trail connections to Downtown, and 
crosswalks to Fairgrounds Park

Improved drainage between ponds 
and existing drainage ditches

US 287

SE 8th Street

New, destination garden area, 
community gardens, or orchardsDR

AF
T

1,2) Artist’s renderings depict general concepts for future development and redevelopment 
3-5) These three graphics support Loveland’s policies for implementation through the code 
update, and include a Housing Palette, the Downtown Redevelopment Area, and Complete 
Neighborhoods, which incorporates sustainability elements through a mix of housing types, 
parks, and retail in a walkable setting. 

2

54

3



3 4  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

TOWN OF MEAD COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND SUBSEQUENT 
TRANSPORTATION MASTER PLAN, MEAD, COLORADO 
Reference: Jennifer E. Vecchi, AICP, LEED AP BD+C, Principal, Vecchi & Associates, LLC | Town of Mead Interim Planning Director 
and Project Manager for the Mead Comp Plan & LU Code Update | P: 303.774.0173 | E: jennifer@vecchiassociates.com
Logan Simpson recently completed the Town of Mead’s Comprehensive Plan, which strives to preserve the rural, small-town 
character integral to its identity while addressing regional development pressures to meet residential and commercial demand. The 
Plan recognized the need to move forward with diversification of housing types and focused on economic health and employment 
opportunities, specifically right-sizing commercial hubs, and allowing for more flexibility in mixed use and residential land uses to 
sustain vibrant and resilient commercial areas. While drafting policy language, the team identified components of the Plan that 
would require implementation actions affecting the Land Use Code. By writing the Comprehensive Plan update and code review in 
tandem, the Town’s planning and development strategies and objectives were developed alongside regulatory tools.
As a key part of the Plan update, targeted Strategic Action Plans were created for three priority sub-areas – the areas in which there 
were opportunity to create the most impactful change. For two of these sub-areas, Downtown Mead and the Walker Avenue Corridor, 
and the Highway 66 Corridor Logan Simpson developed detailed illustrative corridor plans to illustrate the character and mix of 
future development; highway laneage, parking options, intersection and median treatments, access management, and parallel 
routes; and identity, wayfinding and streetscape elements and of which planning staff will use to review development proposals and 
locate and construct infrastructure and amenities. 
The final Mead Comprehensive Plan was adopted 
unanimously by the Planning Commission, and 
unanimously approved by the Board of Trustees in April 
2018. Action items from the Plan are already underway, 
with the initiation of the Transportation Master Plan led 
by a transportation engineer and supported by Logan 
Simpson. The land use character and future housing and 
employment densities established within the Plan has 
influenced the demographic numbers and projections 
that will be used in the transportation demand model, and 
Logan Simpson also converted the land use designations 
and associated projections into TAZs that will influence 
the volume of and possible mitigation strategies for 
future traffic.

DOWNTOWN SUB-AREA PLAN
BIRDSEYE VIEW OF THE EXPANDED DOWNTOWN CORE ALONG THE WELKER AVENUE CORRIDOR FROM I-25

N

Roundabout that transitions CR 34 from 4 lanes into 2 
lanes and serves as a memorable landmark/ gateway 
feature announcing entry into Mead’s Downtown Core

Extension of the Downtown grid pattern with flexible design 
and mix of higher-density residential and retail/office spaces

New trail connection from Town Hall to Ames Park

Mead Towne Center: 2-story mixed use 
building with boutique grocer

Centrally-located community center adjacent to Ames Park

Tree-lined streets to enhance the pedestrian environment

Planned CDOT improvements and 
monument interchange features

Expansion of 
the Downtown 

Mixed Use (DMU) 
zoning district 

Walkable south-facing 
shops with charming, 
”Main Street” character 

and scale

Minor collector as an alternate 
route for vehicles, accessible via 
roundabout, CR 7, and/or Welker 

Avenue
Streetscape enhancements along the 
Welker Avenue Corridor

Walkable north-facing shops with charming, “Main Street” character and scale

Downtown redevelopment

Larger-scale commercial uses with 
parking located in the rear

Streetscape, branding and signage 
enhancements at Welker Avenue & 3rd 

Street intersection

Safe and interconnected 
bicycle and pedestrian 
pathways

Extension of the Downtown grid pattern

Large setbacks/ greenways buffering 
larger-scale commercial buildings

Lighting, signage, and wayfinding 
enhancements 



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 3 5

DOWNTOWN SUB-AREA PLAN
BIRDSEYE VIEW OF THE EXPANDED DOWNTOWN CORE ALONG THE WELKER AVENUE CORRIDOR FROM I-25

N

Roundabout that transitions CR 34 from 4 lanes into 2 
lanes and serves as a memorable landmark/ gateway 
feature announcing entry into Mead’s Downtown Core

Extension of the Downtown grid pattern with flexible design 
and mix of higher-density residential and retail/office spaces

New trail connection from Town Hall to Ames Park

Mead Towne Center: 2-story mixed use 
building with boutique grocer

Centrally-located community center adjacent to Ames Park

Tree-lined streets to enhance the pedestrian environment

Planned CDOT improvements and 
monument interchange features

Expansion of 
the Downtown 

Mixed Use (DMU) 
zoning district 

Walkable south-facing 
shops with charming, 
”Main Street” character 

and scale

Minor collector as an alternate 
route for vehicles, accessible via 
roundabout, CR 7, and/or Welker 

Avenue
Streetscape enhancements along the 
Welker Avenue Corridor

Walkable north-facing shops with charming, “Main Street” character and scale

Downtown redevelopment

Larger-scale commercial uses with 
parking located in the rear

Streetscape, branding and signage 
enhancements at Welker Avenue & 3rd 

Street intersection

Safe and interconnected  
bicycle and pedestrian 
pathways

Extension of the Downtown grid pattern

Large setbacks/ greenways buffering 
larger-scale commercial buildings

Lighting, signage, and wayfinding 
enhancements 



3 6  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

WESTMINSTER FORWARD, COLORADO
Reference: Andrew Spurgin, Principal 
Planner | City of Westminster Long 
Range Planning | P: 303.658.2127 |  
E: aspurgin@cityofwestminster.us 
Logan Simpson is currently working 
with the City of Westminster on a 
comprehensive plan update, which 
is one component of Westminster 
Forward, the City’s planning initiative 
that will help to develop the framework 
for long-term projects. In addition to 
leading the comprehensive plan update 
effort, Logan Simpson is serving in 
a coordination role for six projects 
encompassed by Westminster Forward 
including: the Comprehensive Plan; Land 
Use Code Update being led by White & 
Smith; Parks, Recreation and Libraries 
Plan; Transportation and Mobility Plan; 
Sustainability Plan; and Water Supply 
Plan.

The comprehensive plan update is 
focused on aligning land uses with the 
community values and needs, such as 
economic and community resiliency, 
energy and climate concerns, and water 
resources. As such, Logan Simpson is 
working closely with the city’s public 
works and utilities staff to analyze the 
difference in water demand between 
existing and updated comprehensive 
plan land use categories and mapping. 
Limited water supply and higher than 
anticipated development densities have 
impacted the city’s overall availability of 
water, and key to this Plan update is the 
ability to produce a future land use map 
that meet’s the city’s vision, while still 
being feasible based on water supply. 

To support the Sustainability Plan 
effort, the consultant team is working to 
coordinate and review key sustainability 
metrics and water-saving techniques as 
well as review the new code language 
and make recommendations to ensure 
alignment with the City’s sustainability 
goals.
Currently in the draft plan phase, the plan 
has incorporated an extensive public 
outreach process resulting in hundreds of 
online survey responses, nearly 2,100 poll 
responses at the City’s Harvest Festival, 
and more than 40 stakeholder interviews.



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 3 7

ARVADA COMPREHENSIVE AND TRANSPORTATION PLAN, LAND USE 
CODE UPDATE, AND TRAFFIC DIVISION STANDARDS, COLORADO
Reference: Carol Ibanez, AICP, Senior Planner | P: 720.898.7463 | E: cibanez@arvada.org 
In 2013, Logan Simpson managed the consultant team to update the City of Arvada’s comprehensive plan. The City was experiencing 
many changes with the opening of a new commuter rail line, a new regional parkway, large-scale new developments and a renaissance 
in its Olde Town. Arvada’s aging population, older neighborhoods, and declining retail environment, presented challenges requiring 
economic development strategies focused on building home-grown businesses, developing in brown-field or infill areas, revitalizing 
blighted areas through active urban renewal authority, and maintaining an aging infrastructure. 
The Logan Simpson team worked to leverage Arvada’s strengths through integrated land use and transportation planning; focused 
effort on key corridors and catalyst sites; and a robust analysis of demographics, economic conditions, and fiscal impacts. The 
multi-pronged community engagement strategy aimed to continually reach and unify this diverse first-tier suburb of Denver through 
an interactive website, speakers on the big issues and opportunities facing the community, multimedia coverage of events, mailed 
newsletters to all residents, advisory board summits, and engagement of youth in the planning process. 
The overall policy reform focuses on sustainability and active living. In an additional segment of the study, Logan Simpson 
integrated land use and transportation planning for four new TOD Stations, a regional parkway, and a new creative district along 
Wadsworth Boulevard with transit options addressing the expanding Arvada Center. This creative arts district looks to strengthen 
the connection between the historic downtown and the regionally significant Arvada Center, by considering retail redevelopment, 
placemaking, supporting transit, and the need for building space and housing appropriate to artists and creative industries. The plan 
was unanimously adopted by City Council in December 2014.
Following adoption of the comprehensive plan in 2014, Logan Simpson has been working with an attorney-led team on the two year 
project of updating the land development code to both comply with the new comprehensive plan policies and develop new regulation 
to address mixed use and infill development as well as emerging trends in sustainability and transportation including ride share, 
scooter share and Uber/Lyft. More recently, Logan Simpson joined a team of transportation engineers to assist in development of 
a transportation manual. Our team is currently reviewing the existing code for any language related to traffic and transportation 
planning and populating a matrix to help determine redundancy, inconsistency, and/or missing regulations. This information will 
be used to determine what needs to belong in the new transportation manual and what updates need to be made to the land 
development code to correlate. Recommendations to code language updates will be made as a final deliverable to the project.

The multi-pronged community engagement 
strategy aimed to continually reach and unify 
this diverse first-tier suburb of Denver through 
an interactive website, keynote speaker events 
discussing big issues and opportunities, 
multimedia event coverage, mailed newsletters 
to all residents, advisory board summits, and 
engagement of youth in the planning process. 



3 8  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

MILLCREEK TOGETHER 
GENERAL PLAN AND 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, 
UTAH
Reference: Francis Lilly, AICP, 
Planning Director | Millcreek 
Planning Services | P: 801.214.2752 |  
E: flilly@millcreek.utah.gov
Logan Simpson is leading the project to 
develop a General Plan and recommend 
ordinance changes for the City of 
Millcreek, incorporated in 2016. This will 
be the first General Plan for the City, and 
the project is of great interest throughout 
the community. Millcreek is unique in 
Utah in that it encompasses a broad 
diversity of demographics, ethnicities, and 
economic conditions, and the City leaders 
are committed to developing a plan that 
is both individualized to the needs and 
circumstances of all its residents, and 
unifies and brands the new City as a 
great place to live and invest. Hallmarks 
of the project include a neighborhood-
by-neighborhood outreach and education 
public engagement program, and 
identification and design of a town center 
overlay zone and a Main Street overlay 
zone. As we move forward with developing 
the code, Logan Simpson will recommend 
amendments to the Salt Lake County land 
use regulations that were adopted by the 
City at incorporation and tailor them to 
meet the City’s objectives.



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 3 9

Firm: White & Smith
Dates: 2006-2007, 2008-2009, 2016-2017, 2017
Population: 6,658
Land Area: 3.88 mi2

Mark White assisted City staff with amendments 
relating to growth management, affordable 
housing, and commercial design. Mark addressed 
difficult legal issues, such as vested rights, and 
suggested alternative standards and approaches. 
The City adopted amendments to its Growth 
Management Quota System (GMQS) in May 2007 
that moved the city from a mechanical system 
to one with a normative set of approval criteria. 
These new standards offer greater predictability to 
applicants while, at the same time, implementing 
the City’s design, housing, and sustainable 
development criteria.
Mark also developed approaches for the City 
to retain locally serving and character-based 
businesses, along with comments on the housing 
impact calculations. In 2016, Mark led a team of 
consultants on a variety of amendments to the City’s Land Use Code (adopted in January 2017). These included:
• Land use mix, including a use mix and design that promotes locally serving businesses by reserving space for

second tier businesses;
• Updated commercial design standards;
• Comprehensive parking and transportation design that includes a “soft” parking maximum;
• Updated view plane regulations; and
• Updated housing mitigation requirements.
In 2017, Mark updated the City’s sign regulations to reflect the content neutrality principles of the United States 
Supreme Court decision of Reed v. Town of Gilbert. The revised sign code was adopted in August 2017.
Reference:
Jessica Garrow, AICP  
Community Development Director 
City of Aspen  
City Hall 
130 South Galena Street  
Aspen, CO 81611 
jessica.garrow@cityofaspen.com  
970.429.2780

A
S

P
E

N
, C

O

G
R

O
W

T
H

 M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

, C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
 S

T
R

A
T

E
G

IE
S

,  
L

A
N

D
 U

S
E

 &
 S

IG
N

 C
O

D
E

 A
M

E
N

D
M

E
N

T
S



4 0  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

Firm: White & Smith
Dates:  2012-2015
Population: 120,623
Land Area: 53.91 mi2

White & Smith, LLC consolidated Parish-wide zoning and subdivision 
regulations into a single Unified Development Code (UDC). As part 
of the supplemental use regulations, Mark White updated the sign 
regulations and assisted the City with an analysis of political sign 
regulations. The UDC was unanimously recommended for approval by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission, and adopted in May 2015. Mark 
conducted staff and elected and appointed officials training on the 
new UDC prior to its effective date in December 2015. The new UDC:
• Consolidates and reduces the zoning districts.
• Introduces smart growth and form-based design principles,

including new mixed use districts, a downtown form-based code,
and parking reductions.

• Consolidates the zoning and subdivision processes for both the
City and the unincorporated Parish.

• Brings the list of permitted uses up to date.
• Creates incentives for agricultural preservation and conservation.
Wallace Roberts & Todd, LLC led the overall project, with its efforts 
primarily focused on development of the Comprehensive Plan in the 
first phase. Mark’s efforts were focused on the latter phases of the 
project, where he led the implementation of the newly adopted plan 
through the UDC. The project was completed on time and within 
budget.
Unified Development Code: http://www.lafayettela.gov/PZD/
Documents/UDC%20Amended%20January%202018.pdf
Reference: 
Carlee Alm-LeBar 
(former Development & Planning Director, 
Lafayette Consolidated Government)  
1100 Camellia Boulevard, Suite 201 
Lafayette, LA 70508 
337.216.6513 
carlee@rrcoa.com

L
A

FA
Y

E
T

T
E

, L
A

U
N

IF
IE

D
 D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

 C
O

D
E

“Mark and his team provided 
exceptional service and technical 
guidance in developing a modern 
and practical UDC for our community. 
Mark was always responsive and 
helpful in providing advice and policy 
recommendations throughout the 
entire process. 

I recommend strong consideration of 
White & Smith for consulting services 
in local government planning and 
code development.”
Carlee Alm-LeBar 
former Development & Planning Director 
Lafayette Consolidated Government



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E 4 1

Firm: White & Smith
Dates: March 2017 - March 2018
Population: 441,603
Land Area: 1,184 mi2

White & Smith, LLC worked with TischlerBise 
and Felsburg, Holt & Ullevig to review Adams 
County’s landscaping regulations, update 
regional traffic impact fees, and provide a 
legal review of specified planning issues.
Mark White and Kelly Cousino (White 
& Smith, LLC) prepared a technical 
memorandum pertaining to the Adams 
County landscaping regulations. We 
first conducted a review of landscaping 
regulations in three peer counties in 
Colorado, and compared those regulations 
to Adams County. We then analyzed the relationship of the current landscaping regulations to Adams County’s long-
range plans and planning policies. The technical memorandum outlined recommended technical, administrative, and 
formatting changes. An annotated outline proposed a reorganization of the landscaping regulations.
Mark White prepared several legal memorandums addressing issues identified by County staff. The memorandums 
addressed diverse planning issues including agricultural uses, dedication issues, inclusionary zoning & affordable 
housing, and revolving loan funds.
The project was completed on time and within budget.
Reference: 
Nana Appiah, AICP  
Manager, Development Services  
Department of Community and Economic Development 
Adams County, Colorado  
4430 South Adams County Parkway  
Brighton, CO 80601 
nappiah@adcogov.org  
720.523.6819

A
D

A
M

S
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
, C

O

R
E

V
IE

W
 O

F
 L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
IN

G
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 A

N
D

  
O

T
H

E
R

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
S

 &
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IO
N

S



4 2  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

Firm: White & Smith
Dates: 2014 - 2016
Population: 6,666 
Land Area: 3,223 mi2

White & Smith, LLC was part of a team that revised Rio Blanco County’s Land Use Resolution (LUR). The project was 
initiated as an internal County project and several articles of the LUR were revised in 2011 & 2012. Then, in 2014, 
Rio Blanco County hired the consultant team to complete the LUR update. 
White & Smith, LLC worked with a planning consultant to rewrite LUR Articles to update language, improve 
organization, increase clarity and language precision, remove redundancies, address requirements of state and 
case law, and clarify how discretionary decisions are made. The team also evaluated and updated design and 
development standards to recognize the variety of development contexts in Rio Blanco County.

R
IO

 B
L

A
N

C
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, C
O

L
A

N
D

 U
S

E
 R

E
S

O
L

U
T

IO
N

 R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S



TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE  
AND DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE
REVISED FEE AND SCHEDULE SUBMITTED BY LOGAN SIMPSON 
NOVEMBER 20, 2019



2  LO G A N  S I M P S O N  S U B M I T TA L

REVISED SCHEDULE
We recognize that the anticipated 18 month schedule could be extended, and recommend extending the code process to 22 months  
in order to accommodate an extensive outreach process and incorporate the goals and policies developed during the Comprehensive 
Plan appropriately in to the Code Rewrite. 

2020 2020 2021

M1 M2 M3 M4 M5 M6 M7 M8 M9 M10 M11 M12 M13 M14

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

PHASE 1 | FOUNDATION

1.1 Kickoff & Ongoing Project Management TS1
PC/
TC1

1.2 Plan Branding

1.3 Community Engagement Plan

1.4 Existing Conditions & Trends Analysis

1.5 Benchmarking & Existing Policy 
Assessment 

PHASE 2 | VISION & OPPORTUNITIES

2.1 Values & Vision SC1 PE1 PC/
TC2

2.2 Opportunities Analysis SC2 PE2
PC/
TC3

PHASE 3 | PLAN DEVELOPMENT

3.1 Proposed Comprehensive Plan 
Framework SC3

3.2 Action Plan

3.3 Draft Plan Development SC4 SC5

3.4 Final Pan & Adoption PE3 PC TC

3.5 Implementation Guidelines & Templates

DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE - NOT PART OF THIS CONTRACT - SCHDULEE COMPLETED 
AT A LATER DATE

PE: Public Event  •  TS: Town Staff Meeting  •  SC: Steering Committee Meeting 

PC Hearing: Planning Commission Hearing  •  TC Hearing: Town Council Hearing 

ONGOING STAFF COORDINATION



C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N  U P D AT E  &  D E V E LO P M E N T C O D E  R E W R I T E  3

REVISED FEE PROPOSAL AND RATE SCHEDULE
HOURS LABOR EXPENSES TOTALS

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

PHASE 1 | FOUNDATION

1.1 Kickoff & Ongoing Project Management 102 $11,372 $100 $11,472 

1.2 Plan Branding 36 $3,478 $0 $3,478 

1.3 Community Engagement Plan 40 $3,432 $0 $3,432 

1.4 Existing Conditions & Trends Analysis 84 $7,012 $0 $7,012 

1.5 Benchmarking & Existing Policy Assessment 48 $4,032 $100 $4,132 

Subtotal 310 $29,326 $200 $29,526 

PHASE 2 | VISION & OPPORTUNITIES

2.1 Values & Vision 126 $12,076 $300 $12,376 

2.2 Opportunities Analysis 154 $14,869 $300 $15,196 

Subtotal 280 $26,972 $600 $27,572 

PHASE 3 | PLAN DEVELOPMENT

3.1 Proposed Comprehensive Plan Framework 48 $4,032 $0 $4,032 

3.2 Action Plan 90 $8,064 $100 $8,164

3.3 Draft Plan Development 162 $13,944 $200 $14,144

3.4 Final Plan & Adoption 98 $8,888 $500 $9,388 

3.5 Implementation Guidelines & Templates 70 $4,824 $0 $4,824 

Subtotal 468 $42,102 $800 $42,902 

Comprehensive Plan Total 1,058 $98,400 $1,600 $100,000

DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

PHASE 4 | DEVELOPMENT CODE ASSESSMENT

4.1 Code Audit 64 $8,184 $50 $8,234 

4.2 Code Audit Report 72 $8,664 $150 $8,814 

4.3 Outline of Proposed LDC Updates 30 $4,054 $50 $4,104

4.5 Community Outreach 64 $7,760 $1,450 $9,210

Subtotal 184 $28,662 $1,700 $30,362

PHASE 5 | CODE DEVELOPMENT

5.1 Initial Draft of Updated Land Use Code 716 $97,060 $1,350 $98,410 

5.2 Final Draft of Updated Land Use Code 226 $30,034 $1,376 $31,410

Subtotal 956 $127,094 $2,726 $129,820

Development Code Rewrite Total 1,140 $152,580 $1,100 $160,182

COMBINED PROJECT GRAND TOTAL 2,230 $254,156 $6,026 $260,182



Comprehensive Plan Update & 
Development Code Rewrite

Proposal to Provide the

RICK ENGINEERING COMPANY
5690 WEBSTER STREET, ARVADA, CO 80112

303.537.8029 | WWW.RICKENGINEERING.COM

SEPTEMBER 30, 2019



September 30, 2019

Ms. Kim Meyer
Director, Planning & Development 
Town of Johnstown 
450 S. Parish Avenue
Johnstown, CO 80534

RE: Proposal for the Town of Johnstown – Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite

Dear Ms. Meyer,

The Community Planning Group of Rick Engineering Company (RICK) has assembled a dynamic team with proven 
national and regional leadership in the creation of Comprehensive Plans and Development Codes to support the Town 
of Johnstown on this critical project. We understand the tremendous opportunity this project represents - in addition to 
the technical and visionary objectives, which will provide the Town of Johnstown (Town) with a strategy for future growth 
that enhances the lives of its residents for decades to come.

Over the past 64 years, RICK has worked with town, city and county governments and stakeholders to create 
comprehensive plans and development codes for communities across the West. The Town of Johnstown is positioned 
for continued significant growth in the coming years. The update of the Johnstown Comprehensive Plan must provide 
a roadmap for how the community will continue to evolve in a thoughtful way, for the wide range of local households, 
stakeholders and businesses.

RICK will lead the overall planning effort, including community engagement, land use planning, coordination with 
infrastructure planning, housing strategies, sustainability, economic analysis, and the drafting of plan components, 
including implementation strategies. Plan Tools LLC and Murray Dahl Beery & Renaud LLP (MDBR) bring significant 
experience in creating and implementing land development codes in Colorado and will lead the completion of the 
Development Code Rewrite. Louisville-based GreenPlay LLC leads the completion of park and open space planning 
efforts nationally, and will lead planning for parks and open spaces for the Comprehensive Plan update. We are currently 
working with Felsburg, Holt, & Ullevig (FHU) on the completion of the Comprehensive Plan for Lafayette, and FHU will 
lead transportation planning elements. We are also currently working with Francisco Miraval of Project Vision 21 in 
conducting bilingual outreach to the Latino population in Lafayette, and Francisco will assist, as needed, with outreach to 
the Latino community in Johnstown. 

We understand the importance of effective project management and communication and will use our proven techniques 
to keep Town officials, elected leaders, and the community engaged, connected and informed of project progress. We are 
proposing a comprehensive Community Engagement strategy, employing innovative tools and a “hands-on” approach to 
help create alternatives, preferred elements, and final components of the Comprehensive Plan Update and Development 
Code Rewrite. 

Our team thanks you in advance for your time and consideration. We have organized our submittal in the suggested 
format, although we have integrated the understanding, approach and work plan elements into a single section for ease 
of reference. As Project Manager and your primary point-of-contact, I am fully available to answer any questions you may 
have regarding our submittal. I can be reached at 303.537.8020 or via email at bpalmberg@rickengineering.com. We look 
forward to the opportunity to support the Town of Johnstown in the completion of this important project.

Sincerely,

    
Britt Palmberg, AICP     Brian Mooney, FAICP
Project Manager     Principal-in-Charge

5690 Webster Street, Suite 200   •   Arvada, Colorado 80002  •   (303) 423-6036  •   www.rickengineering.com

DENVER   SAN DIEGO   RIVERSIDE   ORANGE   SACRAMENTO   SAN LUIS OBISPO   LAS VEGAS   PHOENIX   TUCSON



2 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

CONSULTANT 
TEAMSECTION 1

RICK FIRM PROFILE
Rick Engineering Company (RICK) is a full-service planning, 
engineering, and design firm that has served thousands of public 
and private sector clients across the West since our founding in 
1955. RICK has served clients in Colorado for the past 36 years in 
communities throughout the state. Since the company’s founding, 
Glenn A. Rick and his sons believed in personal and professional 
accountability to each client, colleague, and community. We uphold 
these standards as evidenced in enduring client relationships, our 
strong record of employee retention, and our record of community 
involvement. The RICK Team upholds these standards and will 
pursue this assignment for the Town of Johnstown (Town) with the 
same commitment.

With over 300 employees, we offer a full range of services, from 
initial planning and visioning through concept development, final 
designs and comprehensive plans, and implementation. Although 
we offer comprehensive services, we operate like a smaller firm, 
and as a result we are able to respond rapidly, and with more 
creative solutions for clients, with highly personalized service.
RICK’s Community Planning Group regularly leads planning and 
design projects, and economic analysis assignments, for cities and 
counties across the West. Our professionals have degrees in Urban 
Planning and Design, Economics, and Landscape Architecture, 
and specialize in integrating the thinking of a wide range of 
professionals on our team, ranging from engineers to economists to 
planners, in a range of specializations.

OUR SERVICES
 » Community Planning & 

Outreach
 » Market & Economic 

Analysis Services
 » Water Resources 

Engineering 

 » Civil Engineering
 » Environmental Studies
 » GIS Services
 » Surveying & Mapping
 » Sustainable Design
 » Landscape Architecture
 » Traffic Engineering
 » Transportation Planning
 » Photogrammetry

LEGAL NAME
Glenn A. Rick Engineering 
& Development Company 
dba Rick Engineering 
Company (RICK)

ADDRESS & PHONE 
5690 Webster Street 
Arvada, CO 80112

T: 303.537.8029

POINT-OF-CONTACT
Britt Palmberg, AICP, 
Principal Community 
Planner

bpalmberg@
rickengineering.com

5690 Webster Street 
Arvada, CO 80112

T: 303.537.8029

CO FEDERAL TAX ID
20131566989

CO STATE TAX ID
81757900-1

TYPE OF FIRM
Corporation

YEARS IN BUSINESS
64

TOTAL EMPLOYEES
300+

LOCAL EMPLOYEES
40

DATE ESTABLISHED
9/21/1955

COLORADO

ARIZONA

CALIFORNIA

NEVADA

NEW MEXICO
PHOENIX

LAS VEGAS

SACRAMENTO

SAN LUIS OBISPO

RIVERSIDE

IRVINE

TUCSON

ARVADA

CENTENNIAL

SAN DIEGO

UTAH



3RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

SUBCONSULTANTS
The following highly-qualified subconsultant partners are members of the RICK Team and provide specialty services 
required for the project. Their background is described below and their specific services are outlined on our organization 
chart on page five. RICK has well-established relationships with all firms and we are currently working together on 
Comprehensive Plans on the Front Range.

PLAN TOOLS, LLC (PLAN TOOLS)
Plan Tools, LLC is a consulting practice based in Loveland, Colorado that 
specializes in the preparation of comprehensive plans, development 
regulations and planning studies. The firm provides services to public 
sector clients throughout Colorado, including statutory towns, home 
rule cities, rural counties, and land conservation interests and excels in 
providing targeted solutions to municipal land planning issues. Plan Tools, 
led by Martin Landers, AICP, is dedicated to delivering high quality, cost-
effective planning services that meet the unique needs of communities 
across Colorado. In recent years, Martin has worked on comprehensive 
plans and development codes for Georgetown, Lochbuie, Brighton, 
Lafayette, and several other communities across the state.

In partnership with Plan Tools, Gerald Dahl, JD, from Murray Dahl Beery 
& Renaud LLP (MDBR) will provide support for the Development Code 
Rewrite portion of the project. Gerald has practiced in local government 
law since 1976, emphasizing land use regulation, government operations, 
public officials’ roles and responsibilities, and governmental liability. He is 
the City Attorney for Wheat Ridge and the Town Attorney for Georgetown, 
Morrison and Poncha Springs. Gerald represents municipalities and 
counties in the planning and regulation of land development. He 
has authored numerous complete land use codes for municipalities 
and specializes in land use code diagnosis and revision to implement 
planning goals. 

FELSBURG, HOLT, & ULLEVIG (FHU)
Founded in 1984, Felsburg Holt & Ullevig (FHU) specializes in 
transportation and transit planning, traffic engineering, civil 
engineering design, and environmental services. Their team of more 
than 160 professionals delivers high-quality services on a wide range 
of transportation projects, emphasizing creative, cost-effective, 
and environmentally sensitive solutions. FHU believes meaningful 
comprehensive plans that meet the needs of the traveling public and 
reflect the values of the communities they support are achieved through 
open communication and collaborative efforts with their clients.

In recent years, FHU has provided services for Comprehensive Plans 
and Transportation Plans, to the Front Range communities of Timnath, 
Wellington, Lafayette, Englewood, Centennial, and Broomfield, among 
others. They have worked with the various counties across the Front 
Range on a variety of regional planning efforts, as well as with CDOT. 
They are currently working with our RICK Community Planning Team in 
completing the new Comprehensive Plan for Lafayette. FHU looks forward 
to working with the Johnstown community in order to provide viable 
solutions for its existing and future transportation needs.

CONTACT INFORMATION
Plan Tools, LLC

601 N. Cleveland Avenue, Suite 7202 
Loveland, CO 80537

Contact Person: Martin Landers, 970.622.9811 

Project Role: Development Code Rewrite and 
Implementation

CONTACT INFORMATION
Felsburg, Holt & Ullevig (FHU)

6300 S. Syracuse Way, Suite 600 
Centennial, CO 80111

Contact Person: Jenny Young, 
303.721.1440

Project Role: Transportation Planning

Bennett Comprehensive Plan

Roundabout Design for 14th, Old Cheney & Warlick



4 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

GREENPLAY, LLC (GREENPLAY)
GreenPlay LLC operates as a consortium of experts to provide services 
nationally for park, recreation, open space, and related assignments.  
In 1999, Teresa Penbrooke, PhD, MAOM, CPRE, an experienced public 
parks and recreation professional, identified needs in the industry that 
were not being met. Teresa noticed that although many land planning, 
design, and architecture consultants served this industry, most did 
not have actual operations and management experience within the 
profession. This reality forced parks and recreation organizations to rely 
on guidance from multiple consulting firms, often spending needless 
time organizing and managing these specialists into one cohesive team. 
GreenPlay became a viable solution by offering practical, innovative, and 
comprehensive consulting services by professionals with direct experience 
in parks, recreation, and open space operations and management.

GreenPlay is responsive, experienced in the field, and they understand 
the needs of administrators and their communities. GreenPlay works 
nationwide with 17 employees and over 75 technical consortium agencies 
and sub-consultants to complete projects for large and small agencies 
around the United States. Since 1999, GreenPlay has completed over 
475 projects in 44 states for governmental agencies and private sector 
companies.

PROJECT VISION 21
Project Vision 21, founded in February 1997 by Dr. Francisco Miraval, is 
an independent, bilingual (English/Spanish) news and consulting service 
agency with main offices in Aurora, Colorado. This minority-owned, 
DBE/SBE certified company provides services for local corporations and 
non-profit organizations, including translations (trans-creation and trans-
contextualization of messages), community and media outreach, and 
multicultural media training. Project Vision 21 generates and distributes 
original daily stories and information in English and in Spanish for local, 
regional, and national media outlets. 

Currently, Project Vision 21 offers consulting services to several agencies 
and organizations, including Hunger Free Colorado, Children’s Museum of 
Denver, City of Denver (Human Rights Office, Denver Art & Venues), and 
the cities of Lakewood and Lafayette, among others. Previously, Project 
Vision 21 was a member of the Public Information Team of the CDOT/
RTD Transportation Expansion Project (T-REX), in charge of Hispanic/
Latino community and media outreach. Project Vision 21 also offered 
similar services for RTD Fastracks (North Metro Corridor, I-225 Corridor, 
Northwest Rail) and for other transportation related projects (Longmont 
Main and First, State Highway 7, US36, North I-25. US6/I-25 Bridge, City 
of Thornton STAMP, City of Northglenn STAMP). Francisco is currently 
working with the RICK Team to provide bilingual translation and related 
engagement services for the Lafayette Comprehensive Plan.

In all cases, Project Vision 21 provided translation and transcreation 
of materials, interpretation, community outreach, media outreach, 
public meeting support, and similar services. In addition, Project Vision 
21 provides creative solutions for Hispanic/Latino outreach to large 
corporations, government agencies, and nonprofit organizations. 

CONTACT INFORMATION
Greenplay, LLC

1021 E. South Boulder Road, Suite N
Louisville, CO 80027

Contact Person: Teresa Penbrooke, 
303.439.8369

Project Role: Parks and Open Space

Lafayette Parks, Recreation, Open 
Space & Trails Master Plan Update

Children’s Museum of Denver

CONTACT INFORMATION
Project Vision 21

18121 E. Hampden Ave. Suite 120-C 
Aurora, CO 80013

Contact Person: Francisco Miraval, 
720.936.1769

Project Role: Community Engagement



5RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

ORGANIZATION CHART
We have structured our organization to include leadership with extensive and specifically-relevant experience on 
comprehensive planning projects, including Britt Palmberg, AICP, as Project Manager, and Brian Mooney, FAICP, as 
Principal-in-Charge and QA/QC Manager. Our key personnel are highly-experienced in their areas of expertise and they will 
be supported by our team of technical experts. 

Britt Palmberg AICP 
PROJECT MANAGER

Brian Mooney FAICP 
PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE / QA/QC

Brian Mooney FAICP 
RICK

Martin Landers AICP 
PLAN TOOLS

LAND USE PLANNING

Jenny Young PE, AICP 
FHU

Kelly Leadbetter AICP 
FHU

TRANSPORTATION PLANNING

Mimi Morisaki AICP 
RICK

Kim Nelson PLA 
RICK

Francisco Miraval PhD 
PROJECT VISION 21

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Brian Mooney FAICP 
RICK

Britt Palmberg AICP 
RICK

Martin Landers AICP 
PLAN TOOLS

IMPLEMENTATION

Teresa Penbrooke PhD, 
MAOM, CPRE 

GREENPLAY

Keri Konold CPRP 
GREENPLAY

PARKS & OPEN SPACE

MARKET/HOUSING/FISCAL 
ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT

Britt Palmberg AICP 
RICK

Hannah Wong 
RICK

ECONOMICS

Martin Landers AICP 
PLAN TOOLS

Gerald Dahl JD
MURRAY DAHL BEERY & 

RENAUD LLP

LAND USE CODE UPDATE

Rob Fitch PE 
RICK

Troy Bales PE 
RICK

INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING

KEY PERSONNEL QUALIFICATIONS
The following section includes resumes of key personnel providing the work effort for the project. The resumes include 
their qualifications and select project experience and demonstrate their experience for their assigned roles. These team 
members have worked together on similar Comprehensive Plan assignments in Colorado, which will provide additional 
efficiencies for the Town of Johnstown on this project. All team staff members are fully available for this contract. 



6 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Planning, Economic & Fiscal 
Analysis, and Community 
Engagement

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

20

EDUCATION

MBA, Business, University of 
North Carolina, Chapel Hill

MCRP, City and Regional 
Planning, University of North 
Carolina, Chapel Hill

BA, Economics, 
Northwestern University

REGISTRATION

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP), No. 251135

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

American Planning Association 
(APA)

Urban Land Institute (ULI) 

BRITT PALMBERG | AICP
PROJECT MANAGER

Britt Palmberg, AICP, will serve as the Project Manager and Lead Planner for the new 
Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update, and will also lead the completion of Economic 
components of the plan, including a Demographic, Housing and Market Analysis, Fiscal 
Analysis, and the Economic Development component of the Comprehensive Plan. Britt 
will also coordinate with Mimi Morisaki from our Team to orchestrate our Community 
Engagement and Public Input efforts. He has led numerous community planning 
efforts across the Midwest and West over the last 20 years, including Comprehensive 
Plans for local municipalities, corridor plans, streetscape plans, neighborhood plans, 
and downtown plans. Britt has also completed market studies, including housing 
studies and fiscal analyses, for numerous Comprehensive Plans and for private sector 
clients. He has regularly led public and community outreach efforts and worked 
with stakeholders and client groups to prepare planning documents. Representative 
projects include:
Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, Lafayette, CO | Britt is currently serving as Project 
Manager for the new Comprehensive Plan for Lafayette, known as Legacy Lafayette. 
Britt has completed housing studies and fiscal analyses as part of the Comprehensive 
Plan. Legacy Lafayette has involved an extensive and thorough community 
engagement effort. Britt is leading meetings with the Community Advisory Committee 
(CAC) for the project and coordinating bi-lingual community outreach, including a 
dedicated, stand-alone project website, outreach at community events, stakeholder 
meetings, and meetings with the City Council and the broader community.
Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan, Elizabeth, CO | As Project Manager, Britt is nearing 
completion and adoption of the new Comprehensive Plan for Elizabeth. Britt has led 
the project team, completed economic analyses for the plan, and led community 
outreach efforts, including content for a project webpage, outreach at community 
events and festivals, a series of community meetings, monthly meetings with a 
Steering Committee, and coordination meetings with outside agencies.
Valley Center Community Plan Update, Valley Center, CA | Britt is serving as the 
Economic Analysis lead for this community plan. He is completing a market study 
of the local community, including a detailed housing analysis, as well as feasibility 
analyses associated with the plan, including scenario development and proforma 
analysis, and a fiscal impact analysis.
Additional Relevant Experience *:

 » Comprehensive Plan, Lansing, KS: Economic Analysis Lead, & Fiscal Impact Analysis
 » Comprehensive Plan, Eagan, MN: Economic Development Lead
 » Comprehensive Plan, Waukee, IA: Project Manager & Economic Analysis Lead
 » Comprehensive Plan, Grain Valley, MO: Project Manager & Economic Analysis Lead
 » Comprehensive Plan, St. Francis, MN: Project Manager & Economic Analysis Lead
 » Comprehensive Plan, New Richmond, WI: Economic Analysis Lead
 » Englewood Market Study, City of Englewood, CO
 » Academy Boulevard Great Streets Plan, Colorado Springs, CO: 

Economic Analysis Lead
 » Thornton Health Care District Master Plan, Thornton, CO: Project Manager & 

Economic Analysis Lead for Market Study
 » Downtown Wheaton Market Study and Downtown Plan, Wheaton, IL: 

Project Manager
 » Downtown Chanhassen Market Study, Chanhassen, MN
 » Northwest Quadrant Economic Analysis, Santa Fe, NM

* Experience prior to joining RICK



7RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Planning, QA/QC, and 
Community Outreach

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

40

EDUCATION

MA, Urban History, 
Concentration in City Planning 
in the Twentieth Century, 
University of San Diego

BA, Anthropology, 
Concentration in Urban 
Anthropology and Cultural 
Resource Management, 
San Diego State University

REGISTRATION

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP), No. 010920

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

American Planning Association 
(APA)

Association of Environmental 
Professionals (AEP)

Congress of New Urbanism 
Lambda Alpha International

BRIAN MOONEY | FAICP
PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE

Brian Mooney, FAICP, has over 40 years of professional experience specializing in 
planning, public outreach, environmental analysis, research, and development 
of public policy. His extensive experience includes preparation, coordination, and 
completion of comprehensive plans and general plans for counties, cities, towns, 
special districts, and tribal governments. Brian’s experience also includes leading the 
preparation of National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) documents. His areas of 
expertise focus on this training and experience in understanding the complex physical, 
cultural, political and legal issues of planning and developing communities.

As the Managing Principal of the Community Planning & Landscape Architecture 
Division, his primary focus has been to identify the key issues at an early stage, 
develop methodologies to adequately analyze those issues, integrate stakeholders into 
the planning process, and create a sense of place with innovative designs that meet 
the long term needs of the community. He has been recognized with both regional 
and statewide awards by the American Planning Association (APA), the Association 
of Environmental Professionals (AEP), the American Institute of Architects (AIA), and 
local government agencies for numerous planning and environmental studies. Brian is 
currently serving as the Principal-in-Charge for two Comprehensive Plans in Colorado, 
for Lafayette and Elizabeth. Representative projects include:

 » Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, Lafayette, CO
 » Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan, Elizabeth, CO 
 » Red Rocks Ranch, Morrison, CO
 » General Plan Update, County of San Diego, CA
 » Downtown Specific Plan and General Plan Update, Murrieta, CA
 » General Plan and Zoning Ordinance, El Centro, CA
 » General Plan and Zoning Ordinance, Brawley, CA
 » General Plan Update, Imperial County, CA
 » General Plan Update, Modesto, CA
 » General Plan Update, San Marcos, CA
 » General Plan Update, Lake Elsinore, CA
 » Town Center Specific Plan and EIR, Santee, CA
 » Growth Management Strategies, City of San Diego, CA
 » Northside Redevelopment Plan and Specific Plan, Riverside, CA
 » Downtown Specific Plan and Form Based Code, Lemon Grove, CA
 » General Plan Stakeholder Involvement Program, Citrus Heights, CA
 » Community Identity and Scenic Roadways Element, Vista, CA
 » Cedros Crossing Transit-Oriented Development Plan, Solana Beach, CA
 » Downtown Revitalization Plan and Form Based Code, City of Del Mar, CA
 » Mixed-Use Zoning Program, City of San Diego, CA
 » America’s Cup Harbor Redevelopment Plan, San Diego, CA
 » San Dieguito River Park Master Plan, San Diego, CA
 » Interim Planning Director, City of Del Mar, CA
 » On-Call Planning Services for: City of Solana Beach, CA; City of Calexico, CA; City 

of El Centro, CA; City of Brawley, CA; County of San Diego, CA; City of Santee, CA; 
County of Imperial, CA



8 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Community Engagement

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

6

EDUCATION

MS, City Planning, 
San Diego State University

REGISTRATION

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP), No. 31145

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS
American Planning Association 
(APA)

Women’s Transportation 
Seminar (WTS)

MIMI MORISAKI | AICP
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Mimi Morisaki, AICP, is an Associate Community Planner at RICK who specializes in 
designing and implementing Community Engagement programs and strategies for 
community plans throughout the western United States. She will serve as the Lead for 
Community Engagement, working with Britt Palmberg from our team to design and 
orchestrate the Community Engagement efforts for the Johnstown Comprehensive Plan 
Update. Representative projects include:

Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, Lafayette, CO: Mimi is working with Britt Palmberg 
and the rest of the RICK Community Planning Team on community engagement efforts, 
including community meetings, the project website, and other materials, for the 
Lafayette Comprehensive Plan (Legacy Lafayette). She is also helping to craft alternative 
concepts for consideration for the Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, focusing on economic 
development and integrating sustainability elements into the Comprehensive Plan.

General Plan Updates, County of San Diego, CA: Mimi is serving as a Land Use / 
Environmental Planner and leading community engagement for the analysis of 21 
property-specific requests, including reviews for conformance with the General Plan 
and reviews for changes to land use in the General Plan document. The analysis also 
incorporates the review of planning and environmental issues and constraints that affect 
the findings of General Plan conformance. Other responsibilities include the preparation 
of notices and materials for public meetings, and responding to stakeholder and 
property owner inquiries.

Northside Inter-Jurisdictional Specific Plan and EIR, Riverside, CA: Mimi is serving as 
the Project Coordinator for the preparation of an Environmental Baseline Study, Specific 
Plan and Program EIR for the 1,400-acre Northside Specific Plan for the City of Riverside. 
Mimi developed a comprehensive community engagement plan, working with City 
staff and stakeholders, that has involved numerous community workshops, stakeholder 
meetings, and interactions with various agencies. She has worked with our team to craft 
various flyers, banners, and workshop tools throughout the project. The plan focuses on 
the revitalization of an existing golf course owned by the city, incorporation of significant 
historic resources and a rethinking of underutilized industrial designated lands. A special 
focus is on creating unique neighborhoods with an interlinked mobility system that 
utilizes active transportation in association with automobiles.

Downtown Murrieta Specific Plan, Murrieta, CA: Mimi served as an Associate Planner 
for the preparation of the Downtown Murrieta Specific Plan in Murrieta, CA. She helped 
craft and coordinate community engagement efforts for this planning effort, including 
various workshops and meetings. The plan created four Planning Areas with unique 
development standards to create a pedestrian oriented downtown on 253 acres in 
the City of Murrieta. These Planning Areas included Washington Avenue as the “main 
street” for the city with a wide range of mixed use development focusing on first floor 
retail and restaurants; Civic Center, which included civic uses such as City Hall, Police 
Headquarters, Heritage Park and development of office complexes, museums and a 
theater on publicly owned lands; the Jefferson Planning Area, a predominantly a high 
density residential neighborhood with Paseos and Pocket Parks; and finally the Creek 
Planning Area, which focuses on preservation of the natural resources found in Murrieta 
Creek and its historic resources. Mimi contributed in preparing numerous sections of the 
Specific Plan and editing.

Valley Center Community Plan, Valley Center, CA: Mimi is serving as Project Coordinator 
for this plan, to create a new community plan for a rapidly growing unincorporated area 
of the County. She is coordinating the activities of various subconsultants and working 
with the client to create and execute community engagement efforts.



9RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Community Engagement, 
Graphics, Landscape 
Architecture

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

30

EDUCATION

MS, Landscape Architecture, 
Colorado State University

BS, Landscape Architecture,  
Cal Poly San Luis Obispo 

REGISTRATION

Professional Landscape 
Architect in CO, No. 210

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

American Society of Landscape 
Architects (ASLA)

CLARB

KIM NELSON | PLA
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Kim Nelson is a Landscape Architect and Planner with RICK and has over 30 years of 
experience in assisting with the design and planning of communities and public places 
in Colorado and the Western U.S. She regularly supports community engagement 
efforts, at community open houses and events, and works on designs and graphics for 
comprehensive plans, land use plans, site plans, and designs for parks and amenities. 
Throughout her career, Kim has focused on the intricacies and challenges related to 
the urban built environment. Representative projects include:

City / County of Broomfield Open Space & Trail System, Broomfield, CO*: Kim 
helped lead overall planning and design for Broomfield’s open space and trail system, 
including trail layout, hardscape design, grading, native planting design, and site 
furniture selection.

Town of Berthoud Unified Trail Master Plan, Berthoud, CO*: Kim led the creation of 
content and writing for the completion of the trail plan for Berthoud. The master plan 
outlines alignments for regional trails connecting Berthoud to the larger region, as well 
as local trails (provided by the Town, and by developers) throughout areas designated 
for future growth. The master plan identified key park areas, sidewalk connections, 
and implementation strategies.

Red Rocks Ranch, Jefferson County, CO: Kim is leading the parks and open space 
planning for Red Rocks Ranch, a new community of around 1,200 homes on the edge 
of Morrison, including the planning and design of park corridors, neighborhood parks, 
and other amenities. She is helping to coordinate approvals with local agencies.

Wildrose, Erie, CO: Kim provided design services for this single family development 
including design development of trail systems, parks and open space and right-of-way 
improvements for the Town of Erie.  Integral coordination with Town of Erie Park and 
Recreation and Planning Divisions along with our Civil Engineering team was crucial in 
preparing Final Plat Documents (Construction Documents) for construction, irrigation 
and planting.  Existing utilities, mines and existing regional trail systems provided both 
opportunities and constraints on this project. 

Lagae Ranch, Castle Pines, CO: Kim provided design services for this 23-acre, 145 unit 
multi-family development which included three neighborhood parks, monuments, 
walkways, respites and open space elements. Walkways and slopes presented unique 
challenges on this project. Construction administration was provide by our Landscape 
Division during installation.

Additional Experience: 
 » Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, Lafayette, CO
 » Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan, Elizabeth, CO
 » Sack Farms, Park and Open Space Design, Thornton, CO 
 » Mineral Palace Park & Trail System, Pueblo, CO*
 » Shiloh Corridor Streetscape Design, Billings, MT*

* Experience prior to joining RICK



10 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Planning and GIS; Assistance 
with Economic Analysis

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

3

EDUCATION

MS, Planning, 
University of Arizona

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS
American Planning Association 
(APA)

HANNAH WONG
PLANNING & GIS
Hannah Wong is a Planner at RICK, and specializes in GIS analysis and economic and 
demographic research. Hannah has experience working on Comprehensive Plans in 
Colorado including Elizabeth and Lafayette, and has completed various other planning 
projects, ranging from site due diligence and feasibility studies, to preparing re-
zonings, specific plan amendments and various other entitlement projects. She has 
worked with Britt Palmberg of our Team in analyzing demographic and economic data 
and findings for these two projects and will assist with this focus on the Johnstown 
Comprehensive Plan Update. Hannah has worked on a number of new communities 
across the West and has prepared planning documents as part of public approval 
processes across a variety of jurisdictions. She is regularly involved in public meetings 
to discuss projects with various stakeholders and works with other planners to achieve 
projects that respond to physical and environmental constraints, public policies and a 
variety of other factors. Hannah frequently contributes to the creation of graphics and 
exhibits for a wide range of public and private sector planning projects. Representative 
projects include:

Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan, Elizabeth, CO: Hannah has assisted with graphic 
production for the Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan, including GIS analysis and creation 
of graphics for three different alternatives for future land use and parks and open 
space corridors and amenities in the Elizabeth area. She is assisting the RICK Team 
in demographic and economic analysis, the creation of preferred plan elements, and 
the creation and production of the Comprehensive Plan document for Elizabeth. 
The team has used Hannah’s graphics in public meetings and in meetings with 
individual stakeholders.

Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, Lafayette, CO: Hannah has assisted with graphic 
production for the Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, including GIS analysis and 
creation of graphics for various planning elements. She is contributing to analyses 
of demographics and opportunities and constraints for the Lafayette area and is 
preparing materials for open houses in the Lafayette area.

Rancho Del Lago, Pima County, AZ: Rancho Del Lago is a 427-acre Master Planned 
Community in Pima County, Arizona. Hannah is involved in the plan preparation of 
various plats, which involved identifying onsite and offsite constraints such as hillside 
development and riparian habitat. Hannah was also involved in coordinating with 
multiple public agencies to coordinate various easements.

Honors College Architectural Documentation, Tucson, AZ: Hannah was involved in the 
preparation of full architectural historic documentation of multiple buildings north of 
the University of Arizona. She was tasked with coordinating between the University 
and the City of Tucson to inventory historic buildings to provide the City with 
documentation before development of the property could begin. The final package 
contained dimensioned site plans, photos, a list of construction materials and text 
describing the history and importance of the structures to the community.

Quail Canyon Due Diligence, Pima County, AZ: Hannah performed a due diligence 
report for a 54-acre site in Pima County. The report involved reaching out to various 
utility providers regarding their ability to serve the project and address any capacity 
concerns. The report addressed environmentally sensitive areas, in particular riparian 
habitat and the mitigation options. The report uncovered hydrology constraints that 
would impact development on the site and this helped in developing various concepts 
for development going forward.



11RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Community Engagement

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

30

EDUCATION

PhD, Philosophy in 
Comparative Religion, 
University of Sedona

PhD, Theology, Trinity 
Evangelical Christian University

Masters, Biblical Archaeology 
and Biblical Studies, Trinity 
Evangelical Christian University

MA and BA, Philosophy, 
Universidad de Buenos Aires, 
Argentina

BS, Education, Escuela Normal 
Nacional Superior de San Justo, 
Buenos Aires, Argentina

FRANCISCO MIRAVAL | PHD
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Francisco Miraval, PhD, born and raised in Argentina, arrived in the United States 
in the early 1990s to work with a local charity on multicultural, multi-lingual, and 
community-oriented projects. In 1997, Francisco founded Project Vision 21, an 
independent, bilingual (English/Spanish) news and consulting service, based in 
Aurora. Project Vision 21 provides creative solutions for Hispanic/Latino outreach 
to large corporations, government agencies, and nonprofit organizations. The firm 
provides services for several local corporations and non-profit organizations, including 
translations (trans-creation and trans-contextualization of messages), community and 
media outreach, and multicultural media training. Project Vision 21 generates and 
distributes original daily stories and information in English and in Spanish for local, 
regional, and national media outlets.

Francisco’s education and experience provide him with a solid foundation for working 
with clients to convey complex messages to groups that are very different from the 
group that created the message. He has particular expertise in translating technical 
information and messages created as part of engineering or planning projects 
into easily relatable messages for non-native speakers and audiences from varying 
cultural and educational backgrounds. Since the early 1980s, he has helped many 
individuals, families, and organizations in Argentina, Canada, the United States, and 
the Dominican Republic to transform their lives and the lives of their communities. 
Francisco has served as an ordained minister (since 1978), a professional translator 
(since 1984), a presenter of scholarly papers about philosophy and theology at 
regional and national conferences (since 1984), a college professor (since 1985), and a 
journalist (since 1988).

Francisco and Project Vision 21 will help lead outreach to the Latino community in 
Johnstown, as needed, through various media, translations of project content, and 
outreach to members of the community, through various community events, and 
meetings with stakeholders.

Selected Project Experience:
 » Currently, Project Vision 21 offers consulting services to several agencies and 

organizations, including Hunger Free Colorado, Children’s Museum of Denver, City 
of Denver (Human Rights Office, Denver Art & Venues), Colorado Department of 
Health, Denver Center for the Performing Arts, the City of Lafayette, and the City 
of Lakewood, among others.

 » Previously, from 2001 to 2006, Project Vision 21 was a member of the Public 
Information Team of the CDOT/RTD Transportation Expansion Project (T-REX), in 
charge of Hispanic/Latino community and media outreach. Subsequently, Project 
Vision 21 offered similar services for RTD Fastracks (North Metro Corridor, I-225 
Corridor, Northwest Rail) and for other transportation related projects (Longmont 
Main and First, State Highway 7, US36, North I-25. US6/I-25 Bridge, City of 
Thornton STAMP, City of Northglenn STAMP).

 » Other previous clients include the City of Commerce, City of Thornton, City of 
Colorado Springs, Colorado Heights University, College in Colorado, The Denver 
Post / Via Colorado, 9News (Senior Source), the Chamber of the Americas, and 
other organizations, agencies, and companies.

 » In all cases, Project Vision 21 provided translation and transcreation of materials, 
interpretation, community outreach, media outreach, public meeting support, 
and similar services. In addition, Project Vision 21 provides creative solutions 
for Hispanic/Latino outreach to large corporations, government agencies, and 
nonprofit organizations.



12 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Land Use Planning, 
Implementation & Land Use 
Code Update

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

37

EDUCATION

MA, Urban & Regional 
Planning, University of 
Colorado

BA, Environmental 
Conservation, University of 
Colorado

REGISTRATION

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP)

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

Outstanding Project Award, 
Costilla County Comprehensive 
Plan, Colorado Chapter of the 
American Planning Association

Governor’s Smart Growth 
Award, Oak Creek 
Comprehensive Plan 

Governor’s Smart Growth 
Award, Steamboat Springs 
Vision 2020

Presidents Award, Colorado 
Chapter American Planning 
Association

MARTIN LANDERS | AICP
LAND USE PLANNING, IMPLEMENTATION & LAND USE CODE UPDATE

Martin Landers, AICP, has more than 37 years of community planning and 
management experience in Colorado for both public and private clients. Martin 
specializes in comprehensive land use planning, development code preparation, 
and special projects, all of which involve public outreach and engagement. Martin is 
currently working with RICK Community Planning on the new Comprehensive Plan in 
Lafayette, Colorado.

Comprehensive/Master Plans:
 » Bennett Comprehensive Plan
 » Bent County/City of Las Animas Joint Comprehensive Plan
 » Buena Vista Comprehensive Plan
 » Costilla County Comprehensive Plan
 » Custer County Master Plan
 » Evans Riverside Neighborhood Master Plan
 » Fort Morgan Comprehensive Plan Update
 » Georgetown Comprehensive Plan
 » Lafayette Comprehensive Plan (in progress)
 » Las Animas County Master Plan
 » Leadville Comprehensive Plan
 » Moffat County/City of Craig Master Plan
 » Montezuma Comprehensive Plan
 » North Washington Street Subarea Plan
 » Oak Creek Comprehensive Plan
 » Poncha Springs Comprehensive Plan
 » Platteville Comprehensive Plan Update
 » Prowers County/City of Lamar Joint Comprehensive Plan
 » Rio Grande County Joint Master Plan
 » Silverthorne Comprehensive Plan
 » Steamboat Springs Area Community Plan
 » Thornton Comprehensive Plan
 » Timnath Comprehensive Plan Update
 » Trinidad Comprehensive Plan and Comprehensive Plan Update
 » Walsenburg Comprehensive Plan
 » Westcliffe Master Plan
 » Yampa Master Plan

Land Use Codes:
 » Bennett Land Use Regulations
 » Brush Land Use Code
 » Costilla County Land Use Code
 » Fountain Sign Code
 » Fort Morgan Land Use Code
 » Fraser Land Development Code
 » Granby Land Use Code
 » Las Animas County Land Use Regulations
 » Leadville Zoning Ordinance and Associated Regulations
 » Lochbuie Land Development Code
 » Louisville Sign Code (in progress)
 » Meeker Subdivision Regulations
 » Monte Vista Land Use Code
 » Monument Zoning and Subdivision Code Rewrite (in progress)
 » Poncha Springs Land Use Code



13RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Development Code Rewrite

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

41

REGISTRATION

Licensed Attorney

EDUCATION

JD, University of Colorado

BA, Political Science, University 
of Colorado

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS
Colorado Bar Association

Colorado Municipal 
League 

GERALD DAHL | JD
DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE
Gerald Dahl has practiced in local government law since 1976, emphasizing land 
use regulation, annexation, government operations, public officials’ roles and 
responsibilities, annexation and governmental liability. He is the City Attorney for 
Wheat Ridge and the Town Attorney for Georgetown, Morrison and Poncha Springs. 
He is also special counsel to several Colorado municipalities and counties.

Gerald represents municipalities and counties in the planning and regulation of land 
development.  His practice in this field is statewide. He has authored numerous 
complete land use codes for municipalities and counties. He specializes in land use 
code diagnosis and revision to implement planning goals. He is a frequent speaker on 
land use and local government issues.

From 1984 to 1990, Gerald was General Counsel to the Colorado Municipal League.  
He represented the League in legislative matters before the Colorado General 
Assembly and supervised the conduct of litigation including participation by the 
League as amicus curiae in cases involving substantial statewide questions of 
municipal interest.

From 1978 to 1984, Gerald was General Counsel to the Northwest Colorado Council 
of Governments. This work included litigation of water and land use matters and 
drafting and defense of county and municipal zoning and subdivision regulations. 
Representative projects include:

 » Town of Georgetown; Comprehensive Plan; Serves as Town Attorney
 » City of Wheat Ridge; City Attorney since 1995
 » City of Durango; Sign Code Update
 » City of Brighton; Sign Code Update
 » Town of Poncha Springs; Town Attorney; Team member in revising Land Use Code; 

Worked on Annexations and IGA’s
 » Town of Morrison; Town Attorney since May 2014
 » Town of Silverthorne; Town Attorney; Drafted home rule charter
 » Town of Lochbuie; Land Use Code Rewrite
 » City of Fort Morgan; Comprehensive Revision of Land Use Code
 » City of Brush; Comprehensive Revision of Land Use Code. Special counsel on 

annexation matters
 » City of Fort Collins; Land Use Code review for Overlay District project
 » City of Commerce City; Comprehensive Revision of Land Use Code
 » City and County of Broomfield; Open Space Plan and Land Use Regulations
 » Summit County; Comprehensive Performance Zoning Code
 » City of Trinidad; Revised code on Historic Preservation & Vested Property Rights
 » Mesa County / Town of Fruita; Land Use ISA and implementing regulations for 

transferable development rights system
 » Town of Granby; Annexation agreements and related documents for annexation of 

Sol Vista development
 » Eagle County; Drafted home rule charter
 » Archuleta County: Drafted new zoning regulations and updated oil and gas 

regulations
 » City of Fountain; Revised sign code; nuisance code and enforcement mechanisms
 » Elbert County; Drafted and assisted in adoption of oil and gas regulations



14 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Transportation Planning

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

21

EDUCATION

MS, Civil Engineering, 
University of Colorado

BS, Civil Engineering, Bucknell 
University

REGISTRATION

Registered PE in CO, No. 37330

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP)

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

American Planning Association 
(APA)

Association of Pedestrian and 
Bicycle Professionals

WTS-Colorado – 2015/2016 − 
Executive Board

JENNY YOUNG | PE, AICP
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING

Jenny Young, PE, AICP, is a Principal at FHU, with expertise in municipal, county, 
regional, and statewide transportation plans; travel demand modeling; and corridor 
studies. She has successfully completed several municipal multimodal transportation 
plans, and had a leading role in establishing FHU’s bicycle and pedestrian planning 
practice. Jenny is adept at integrating land use and transportation concepts; 
developing creative and sustainable solutions to travel needs; and working with 
divergent interests to prioritize improvement needs to position transportation 
projects for funding and successful implementation. Representative projects include:

Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, Lafayette, CO: Jenny is leading the completion of 
multimodal transportation planning as part of the new Comprehensive Plan for 
Lafayette, working with RICK Community Planning. The multimodal planning for 
Lafayette is focusing, in particular, on how to mitigate traffic congestion in the 
community, and how to pursue an improved jobs to housing balance, to reduce the 
need for commutes in the Lafayette area.

Larimer County Transportation Infrastructure Funding Strategy, Larimer County, CO: 
Jenny is serving as the Principal, leading a team from FHU to develop a strategy to 
fund regional transportation infrastructure projects within the nine municipalities 
and the unincorporated portions of Larimer County. The FHU team is evaluating 
revenue options including property tax and sales tax, and the overall effort resulted 
in consensus on a prioritized list of high priority regional transportation projects for 
Larimer County.

Loveland Comprehensive Plan, Loveland, CO: Jenny served as the Transportation 
Lead, where she focused develop a snapshot of multimodal transportation in 
Loveland today, identified opportunities and challenges related to transportation 
mobility in the future and integrated transportation with the land use and 
sustainability aspects of the plan. The mobility sections of the plan include 
transportation polices/strategies to support the community’s overall vision, and key 
transportation indicators. Her role also involved identifying modal priority within 
each of Loveland’s land use categories along with associated typical facility types for 
bicycle, pedestrian, transit, and motor vehicles.

Broomfield Bicycle and Pedestrian Assessment, Broomfield, CO: Jenny is serving 
as Project Manager, to complete an assessment of bicycle and pedestrian 
accommodation. The project involves conducting a level of traffic stress analysis 
on Broomfield’s street system to assess the level of comfort afforded to bicyclists, 
development of a tiered network of on-street facilities and trails, a toolbox for 
pedestrian improvements, and identification and prioritization of projects for 
inclusion in the Capital Improvement Program.

Lincoln MPO Long Range Transportation Plan, Lincoln, NE: Jenny served as the 
Project Manager for the development of the Lincoln MPO Long Range Transportation 
Plan. Performance Measures were developed for each of the principal goals 
addressing Maintenance, Mobility and System Reliability, Livability and Travel Choice, 
Safety and Security, Economic Vitality, Environmental Sustainability, Funding, and Cost 
Effectiveness. A transportation system analysis was conducted to consider different 
funding and implementation strategies. Jenny led a process with stakeholders and the 
public that resulted in a well-supported funding plan that focused on implementing 
technology advances, maintaining the MPO’s current assets, advancing the 
multimodal system, and addressing the most pressing congestion needs.



15RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Transportation Planning

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

9

EDUCATION

MS, Urban and Regional 
Planning, University of 
Colorado

REGISTRATION

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP)

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS
American Planning Association 
(APA)

KELLY LEADBETTER | AICP
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING
Kelly Leadbetter, AICP, is a transportation planner with nine years of municipal, 
county, state, and federal multimodal transportation planning experience. Kelly has 
successfully aided in the completion of many municipal transportation plans. She 
has led the public involvement efforts for multiple studies in Colorado and has a 
passion for engaging the public and stakeholders. She is a member of the American 
Planning Association and recently served as the vice president of the Master of Urban 
and Regional Planning Alumni Association at the University of Colorado Denver. She 
is experienced with spatial analysis though her work on GIS-based analyses and 
database management. Representative projects include:

Lafayette Comprehensive Plan, Lafayette, CO: Kelly is working on the completion 
of multimodal transportation planning as part of the new Comprehensive Plan 
for Lafayette, working with RICK Community Planning. The multimodal planning 
for Lafayette is focusing, in particular, on how to mitigate traffic congestion in the 
community, and how to pursue an improved jobs to housing balance, to reduce the 
need for commutes in the Lafayette area.

Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Active Transportation Plan: Kelly 
is currently working with Toole Design Group on the DRCOG Active Transportation 
Plan, the metro area’s first-ever regional active transportation plan. Kelly is 
responsible for researching and compiling baseline information on demographics 
and active transportation conditions and trends in each of the ten member counties. 
Kelly is currently reviewing every county’s relevant plans and policies and has a 
keen understanding of the local and regional active  transportation framework and 
facilities.

Silverthorne Town Core Streets Improvement Plan, Silverthorne, CO: FHU is 
leading the Town Core Streets Improvements Plan for State Highway (SH) 9 through 
Silverthorne. Kelly has been actively engaged in the alternatives development and 
evaluation process. Alternatives considered include posted speed reduction, mid-
block pedestrian crossings, narrower travel lanes, on street bike facilities, additional 
traffic signals, intersection improvements, roundabouts, strategic access control, and 
on-street parking. Kelly is also working closely with urban designers to consider the 
relationship between the roadway and adjacent land uses, building setbacks, and how 
excess right-of-way could be transformed to support the Town’s vision.

Fort Collins Bicycle Master Plan, City of Fort Collins, CO: Kelly prepared a demand 
analysis to understand the spatial distribution of various community characteristics 
such as population density, transit stations, community activity centers, and 
employment bases that tend to result in a higher demand for biking. The 
implementation plan includes action steps to realize the plan recommendations in 
concert with the City’s capital improvement plan and maintenance programmed 
projects.

Additional Experience:
 » Mead Transportation Plan, Mead, CO
 » Larimer County Transportation Infrastructure Funding Strategy, 

Larimer County, CO



16 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Parks & Open Space

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

25

EDUCATION

PhD, North Carolina State 
University, College of Natural 
Resources, Parks, Recreation, 
and Tourism Management, 
2017 

MA, Organizational 
Management, University of 
Phoenix

BS, Magna Cum Laude, 
Kinesiology, University of 
Colorado

NRPA Revenue/Leadership 
Schools

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

Commission for Accreditation 
of Parks and Recreation 
Administration (CAPRA) 
Official Visitor, 2008 - present

Top 100 Women-Owned 
Businesses, Colorado Biz, 2003, 
2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2012, 
2013, 2015, 2016

TERESA PENBROOKE | PHD, MAOM, CPRE
PARKS & OPEN SPACE

Teresa brings substantial career experience and planning expertise to parks, 
recreation, and related community quality of life projects for large and small 
communities on a national level. She founded GreenPlay in 1999, and has been 
integral in the research, quality, recommendations, and implementation of the 
innovations that GreenPlay contributes to the field. In addition to leading projects 
and the firm, Teresa teaches and researches best practices around the world. She is a 
Visitor Chair for the Commission on Accreditation for Parks and Recreation Agencies 
(CAPRA). She has led the firm in completion of over 475 projects for communities of 
all sizes around the U.S. since 1999 and is based in Louisville, Colorado. Representative 
projects include:

 » Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan, Elizabeth, CO
 » Parks and Recreation Master Plan, Castle Rock, CO
 » Parks, Recreation, Open Space, and Trails Master Plan, Erie, CO
 » Needs Assessment for Parks, Recreation, and Tourism, Gloucester County, VA
 » Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Master Plan, Lafayette, CO
 » Parks and Recreation Needs Assessment, Montrose, CO
 » City and County of Denver, CO – Multiple projects, including the city-wide Game 

Plan, the master plan for the Stapleton Airport Redevelopment, and the detailed 
study of 29 indoor recreation centers

 » National Recreation and Park Association, Ashburn, VA – National Inventory and 
USA Football Grant Project

 » Washington DC, National Capital Planning Commission – Capital Space Master Plan 
for parks and recreation

 » Along with many other plans for large and small communities, regions, and states

Education For:
 » American Society of Landscape Architects
 » Athletic Business
 » Colorado Open Space Alliance & Colorado Outdoor Recreation Resource Project
 » Environmental Design Research Association
 » Innovations Group – Transforming Local Government
 » International Coastal and Marine Tourism Congress
 » International Transportation and Public Health Symposium
 » Metropolitan State College of Denver, Colorado
 » National Association of Youth Sports
 » National Executive Development School
 » National Recreation and Parks Association
 » North Carolina State University
 » Reitz Pacific (Vice-Chair) & Rocky Mountain Revenue and Management Schools
 » World Leisure Organization
 » Numerous State and Regional Parks and Recreation Associations



17RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Parks & Open Space

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

11

EDUCATION

BS, Anthropology, Kansas State 
University

Program Graduate, University 
of Virginia’s Weldon Cooper 
Center for Public Service 
Leading, Educating, and 
Developing

Certificate - International 
Association of Public 
Participation Foundations in 
Effective Public Participation

Certificate of Level 1, ArcGIS

REGISTRATION

Certified Parks and Recreation 
Professional (CPRP)

PUBLICATION

“For Lafayette Parks, Open 
Space and Golf: Recognition is 
Multi-Directional”, Colorado 
Parks and Recreation 
Association Byline, Fall 2012

KERI KONOLD | CPRP
PARKS & OPEN SPACE

Keri is a Certified Parks and Recreation Professional (CPRP) with experience in public 
open space, parks, recreation, golf course, and cemetery management with three 
public agencies (Boulder, Lafayette, and Carbon Valley Parks and Recreation District) 
since 2007. She is currently working with Britt Palmberg and Brian Mooney from RICK 
on the new Comprehensive Plan for Elizabeth, Colorado. Keri has a passion for public 
land management, integrating roles for health and agriculture, balancing conservation 
and use, and improving working relationships for all involved.

She has also served as a member of the City of Lafayette, Colorado’s Open Space 
Advisory Committee. Keri received a BS in Anthropology at Kansas State University, 
with a focus in accounting. Keri’s business acumen and abilities for quick discernment 
of key issues match with her professional people skills, making her an ideal consultant 
on a variety of types of projects. Representative projects include:

 » Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan, Elizabeth, CO 
 » Worked with Boulder Open Space Conservancy to meet organizational goals, 

including the development of a regional agricultural center to provide resources 
on sustainable practices and business needs

 » Led collaborative open space planning efforts including the 2013 Lafayette Parks, 
Recreation, Open Space and Trails Master Plan and the 2014 Lafayette-Pioneer 
Outdoor Play Yard Project Task Force

 » Led staff to comprehension of a department’s financial plan and suggested long-
term strategies for holistic programmatic evaluation and success

 » Negotiated improved terms for intergovernmental, joint-use , and special use 
agreements by working collaboratively with public agency leaders and gaining buy-
in for the long-term vision 

 » Strategically planned and marketed large public events including Imagina Open 
Space and the grand opening of the Thomas Open Space Barn, a public building 
for the retail sales of locally grown produce and goods

 » Managed a Prairie Dog Working Group consisting of 13 community members and 
four city staff charged with recommending consensus-based, innovative solutions 
to improve prairie dog management on city-managed lands

 » Assisted with impact analysis on Community-Building Strategic Team and 
implemented internal guidelines for community events

 » Met master plan directives by reaching the agricultural community and helping 
select the property’s tenants by improving connections between the community 
and the open space program



18 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Infrastructure Planning

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

15

EDUCATION

BS, Civil Engineering, 
University of Colorado

REGISTRATION

Registered PE in CO, No. 48704

LEED Accredited Professional

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

American Society of Civil 
Engineers (ASCE)

Architectural, Construction,  
& Engineering (ACE) Mentor 
Program

U.S. Green Building Council  
(USGBC)

ROB FITCH | PE, LEED AP
INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING

Rob Fitch is an Associate Principal of RICK and  leads a civil engineering division of 
project managers, civil engineers, designers, drafters and administrative assistants. 
He provides engineering support for our planning teams in conducting plans for 
comprehensive plans and similar plans for municipalities. He is responsible for project 
management and design engineering for many public and private sector projects, 
including single and multi-family residential, commercial and tribal projects. He 
directs staff through the entitlement process, the preparation of preliminary site 
layouts, final engineering plans, final plats, surveying and construction support. 
Representative projects include:

Norris Master Planned Development, Fountain, CO: Served as manager, engineer 
of work and main point of contact for this 541-acre planned community consisting 
of 1,860 units of Single Family and Multi-Family homes, 17.3 acres of Commercial 
Development, 119.3 acres of Parks, Recreation and Open Space and a 20-acre School 
Site. His work consisted of preliminary and final engineering design for grading, 
drainage, roadways, underground utilities, a CLOMR and Bridge Crossing.  

Red Rocks Ranch, Jefferson County, CO: Associate Principal for the 350-acre 
development of 1,381 residential units including 40 acres of neighborhood 
commercial uses. Entitlements for the project included rezoning the property 
within the Town of Morrison and annexation of the property into Jefferson County. 
Engineering services included design of finished lots, parks and open space, 
roadways, storm drainage, sanitary sewer, water supply, grading and erosion control 
improvements. The work includes design of a Special Treatment Area Corridor along 
McIntyre Street and major drainage improvements to Rooney Gulch which is being 
designed in partnership with the Urban Drainage Flood Control District and Army 
Corps of Engineers.

Trails, Douglas County, CO:  Serves as manager, engineer of work and main point of 
contact for this 291 acre planned development.  RICK has provided civil engineering 
and land planning services for the development of Trails, a 139-unit residential 
community in Douglas County. The development consists of 139-residential units 
in the northern portion of the site, leaving over 200 acres as open space and 
recreational use. The open space portion of the community includes a series of trails 
that connect with other nearby trails serving adjoining residential areas. The land 
plan also preserves the drainages that extend through the community as open space 
amenities. RICK has provided initial due diligence, entitlement and preliminary/final 
engineering services for the development. 

Additional Experience:
 » Hunters Run West – 200 ac Master Planned Development, Loveland, CO
 » Town of Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan Engineering Support, Elizabeth, CO
 » City of Lafayette Comprehensive Plan Engineering Support, Lafayette, CO
 » Westwood Development, Entitlement & Civil Engineering, Thornton, CO
 » Town of Lyons Housing Recovery & Municipal Campus Feasibility, Lyons, CO
 » Waterfront – 500 ac Master Planned Development, Mead, CO
 » Lagae Ranch – Construction Mgmnt & Engineering Services, Castle Pines, CO
 » Plaza de Panama, Balboa Park – Civil Engineering Services, San Diego, CA



19RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 
Given the significant and anticipated growth in Johnstown 
and the surrounding area, the Town Comprehensive 
Plan requires an update that outlines the vision for 
the community over the next 20 years and provides a 
roadmap for how the development and evolution of the 
community will proceed. The updated Comprehensive Plan 
must outline the Town strategy for the various planning 
frameworks discussed in the RFP (including future land uses, 
connectivity, economic development, sustainability, equity 
and diversity, parks and open spaces, tourism, and more). 

Importantly, drawing from community and stakeholder 
input, the updated plan will illustrate how to unite the 
Johnstown community (between the established small town core and the newer areas of development near US 34 and 
I-25), and create a distinct brand and character for Johnstown, which will distinguish it within the Northern Colorado 
region. The plan will outline the vision and framework of plans for key corridors and sub-areas (such as the Highway 
60 corridor, Freedom Parkway, I-25, Downtown, High Plains Boulevard, and others) and evaluate these areas for future 
planning efforts. The overall project includes a Development Code Rewrite, which is necessary to bring the Town’s codes 
up to date, given changes in the legal environment and the pace of growth in Northern Colorado. The Comprehensive 
Plan and Development Code Rewrite will be coordinated to ensure both documents will work in tandem, in a smooth 
fashion going forward, so the vision of the community for future development and growth is properly implemented.

PROJECT APPROACH
Based upon our Team’s experience working in Colorado and across the country, we have formulated our Project Approach 
based upon the following themes. 

INNOVATION IN COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT Our overall approach to the completion of the Comprehensive Plan and 
Development Code Rewrite is to pursue a very innovative and inclusive, yet 
grassroots and homegrown style, community engagement effort, in order to 
allow the people of Johnstown to help craft the direction of the plan and, thus, 
the future of the Town. While our Team brings significant technical expertise to 
this assignment, we have learned that the best plans have drawn from – and truly 
reflected – input from the full cross section of a community. 

We have created a plan for Community Engagement that draws from the use of 
community meetings, ongoing discussions with stakeholders, and online input. 
In particular, we will tailor our Community Engagement strategy to ensure that 
members of communities that typically do not participate as much in planning 
efforts (such as senior citizens, youth, and working parents) are fully engaged 
in the process. We propose holding stakeholder meetings and targeting events 
that will reach these groups in Johnstown, to make sure that a cross-section 
of the community participates in the plan formation. In addition, we are 
including on our Team Francisco Miraval, a bilingual speaker who facilitates 
planning efforts with Latino communities around the Front Range, to assist with 
engagement as needed with Spanish speakers in Johnstown. Francisco will be 
available to assist with stakeholder meetings and with any translation needs, 
whether at community meetings or in translating materials as requested.

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING & 
APPROACH & WORK PLANSECTION 2

Community Engagement

Downtown Johnstown



20 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

ONLINE MAPPING TOOLS We have used online mapping tools that have allowed people to comment on alternatives and 
preferred plan elements from the comfort of home, via the project webpage. Using these technologies will allow us to 
reach many more people in the community, via online platforms, and it will allow us to gain more substantive online input, 
as opposed to strategies that simply solicit general comments from the public.

CREATIVE USE OF ONLINE SURVEYS We have found that online surveys, with well-conceived questions that tie to the 
key elements and options for the Comprehensive Plan, help significantly with gaining consensus for the direction of 
the Comprehensive Plan. Our approach is relying on having numerous online surveys throughout the process to gain 
quantitative input regarding various plan elements.

EMPHASIS ON GIS AND TECHNOLOGY As a full service firm, we have access at our finger-tips to the full range of 
technological resources used in planning today, ranging from GIS analysis, to interactive mapping, to web and mobile 
based survey tools, and interactive websites used to engage communities. Depending on the preferences of the Town, 
we can tailor our technological innovations in GIS and related planning technologies to the creation of the updated 
Comprehensive Plan and the Development Code Rewrite.

INTEGRATION WITH FISCAL ANALYSIS In our approach, we are integrating a fiscal analysis throughout the creation 
of alternative and preferred versions of the Comprehensive Plan Update, so that results from the fiscal analysis can 
inform our planning team and assist us in making revisions and modifications to scenarios, in order to reach the best 
comprehensive plan that serves community interests while building the fiscal position of the Town. Our fiscal analysis will 
also analyze how all aspects of the Comprehensive Plan, encompassing the implications of policies and goals in the plan as 
well as recommended capital expenditures, will impact the Town’s fiscal position. This information will assist our Team and 
the community at arriving at the best possible update to the Comprehensive Plan.

A FOCUS ON IMPLEMENTATION Our planning team will focus on implementation – how to bring the great ideas 
for Johnstown to life – throughout the planning process. Our methodology will involve discussing the relationship 
between the community vision, plan themes, achievable goals, guiding policies, and implementation tools very early 
on in the planning process. This approach allows the Steering Committee and elected officials to explore a range of 
options and to fully vet ideas for implementation, rather than waiting until nearly the end of a planning process to 
discuss Implementation. 

LEVERAGING THE POWER OF GRAPHICS AND VISUALIZATION We will employ the use of 3D graphics and renderings to 
help illustrate the key components of the Comprehensive Plan and the Development Code Rewrite, in order to effectively 
communicate the vision of Johnstown for the future. In particular, the creation of graphics will assist in conveying the vision 
and goals for character areas and sub-areas in the community. We have found that the use of compelling graphics helps in 
engaging the public and creates planning documents that better stand the test of time and maintain excitement in the goals 
of a planning effort. We have also found that employing high quality graphics allows a community to make its comprehensive 
plan somewhat of a marketing tool or business plan, to help attract new investment and interest in the community.   

Graphical Rendering for Downtown Planning



21RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

WORK PLAN
PART 1 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

TASK 1 – PROJECT KICK-OFF AND INITIATION
Task 1.1: Ongoing Project Management: Our Team will work with the Town staff to organize a Steering Committee 
to guide the planning efforts. Members of the Committee may include representatives from various neighborhoods; 
representatives from the business community; local developers and property owners; representatives from the local school 
districts, representatives from the Town staff; select representatives from the Town Council and the Planning and Zoning 
Commission; and other stakeholders identified in the initial stages of the project. The Steering Committee could potentially 
include 8 to 12 people, in order to provide the broadest representation while maintaining efficiency in decision-making.

Our Team will implement a regular and efficient communication strategy. Conference calls involving the Town staff and 
members of our Team will facilitate communication on a regular basis. We anticipate conducting bi-weekly coordination 
conference calls between the Project Manager from the Town and the Project Manager from the RICK Team. In addition, 
we will communicate with the Steering Committee on a regular basis via phone calls and emails, and periodic in-person 
meetings, which are anticipated to take place at several times throughout the process, as articulated in the Project Schedule.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Notes from coordination calls / meetings with Town staff
 » Agendas for Steering Committee meetings
 » Powerpoint and graphics, as needed, for Steering Committee meetings
 » Notes / minutes from Steering Committee meetings

Task 1.2: Project Kick-off Meetings: The RICK Community Planning Team will conduct an initial meeting with Town 
staff to discuss and determine parameters and objectives for the Comprehensive Plan Update and the Development Code 
Rewrite. Our Team will then meet with the Steering Committee, the Planning and Zoning Commission, and the Town Staff 
in a formal Kick-off Meeting to finalize the schedule for the project, schedule meetings, and begin the process of data 
acquisition. Our Team and the Steering Committee will establish goals and expectations for the planning effort and finalize 
plans and strategies for community engagement. We anticipate conducting a tour of the community (of one to two hours) 
with the Steering Committee and Town staff at the conclusion of the Kick-Off meeting to visit key areas of interest and 
focus in the planning effort.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Agendas for initial staff meeting and for Kick-off meeting with Steering Committee
 » Powerpoint presentation, for Kick-off meeting with Steering Committee
 » Minutes / notes from kick-off meetings

TASK 2 – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY
The following outlines the key strategies to effectively involve the Johnstown community in the development of the new 
Comprehensive Plan.

Task 2.1: Public Outreach Materials and Project Contact Database: We will work with Town staff to develop 
language to include on emails, press releases, informational flyers, banners, and community signage, communicating 
the goals of the project, as well as the purpose for particular community engagement efforts. Our Team will work with 
Town staff to develop a database of contact names from throughout the Johnstown area, as well as stakeholders and 
representatives from other agencies and municipalities, for use throughout the project. We will include sign-in sheets at 
community events and at community workshops held during the project to gather additional names for inclusion in the 
database. We will use the database to create email blasts to the community, to publicize community workshops and to 
direct community members to the Town’s website to view information (including exhibits and graphics) concerning the 
Comprehensive Plan. We will work with Town staff to develop information to share with the local media to promote the 
Comprehensive Plan.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Content for press releases throughout project
 » Informational flyers at various stages of the project



22 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

 » Content for banners to promote the project
 » Content for community signage to promote the project
 » Database of contacts for use throughout the project
 » Sign in sheets at meetings and events

Task 2.2: Project Webpage: Our Team will ensure that the Town’s website contains sufficient and appropriate 
information concerning the planning effort. We suggest that a portion of the Town webpage dedicated to the 
Comprehensive Plan should include online versions of survey questions developed for the community workshops, as well 
as PDF versions of key concepts, alternatives, and information presented at the community workshops. The webpage could 
also include videos of meetings and presentations and links to online mapping and comment tools and discussion forums.

DELIVERABLE:

 » Written content and graphics to be included on the Town’s website (in a location dedicated for the Comprehensive 
Plan Update and Development Code Rewrite)

Task 2.3: Social Media Engagement: Our Team will provide content necessary to publicize the Comprehensive Plan 
effort on the Town’s Facebook page and Twitter feed. Content for these social media platforms will, in particular, advertise 
links to additional information concerning the planning effort (on the Town’s website) and information concerning 
upcoming community meetings, as well as opportunities to provide input on the plan at upcoming community events.

DELIVERABLE:

 » Written content and graphics, as necessary, for staff to include in social media engagement, to promote the overall 
project, upcoming community meetings and events, and other key information at various stages of the project

Task 2.4: RICKMaps: Online Mapping Engagement Tool: We will utilize RICK’s online engagement tool (RICKMaps) 
throughout the planning process to gain additional input from the public. RICKMaps will enable citizens to post comments 
and images on a map of the Johnstown area in order to obtain input concerning various planning topics (transportation, land 
use and development, recreation and open space, etc.) tied to specific locations or geographic areas in the Johnstown area. 

Image from RICKMaps application used for the Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan, Elizabeth, CO

DELIVERABLES:

 » Online RICKMaps Engagement Tool
 » Summary of comments in graphical form, from RICKMaps engagement at various stages of the project

Task 2.5: Connecting with Community Organizations: While strong promotion and support of the planning effort 
from the Town will be important, we also recommend an effort be spearheaded to engage local community organizations, 
churches, schools, and other groups to assist in creating public awareness of and engagement with the planning process. 
We anticipate that members of the Steering Committee would be able to assist with this effort, in reaching out to various 
community organizations and working with them to help spread the word about the Comprehensive Plan.

DELIVERABLE:

 » Matrix of potential community organizations and contact names, for ongoing outreach during the project (for 
discussion with Town staff and Steering Committee)



23RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

Task 2.6: Stakeholder Meetings: Our Team will work with Town staff and the Steering Committee to identify key 
stakeholders for engagement as part of stakeholder meetings. Potential key stakeholders may include members of the 
Town staff, the Johnstown Milliken Chamber of Commerce”, the Town’s Boards and Commissions (including the Planning 
and Zoning Commission), local neighborhoods, and other social and civic organizations. In addition, we will engage 
individual property owners and developers, representatives from Larimer County and Weld County, the Thompson School 
District and Weld County School District, and other agencies. We anticipate engaging at least five to seven  special interest 
groups, and will finalize the list of stakeholder meetings based upon discussions with the Steering Committee and Town 
staff. Specifically, the stakeholder meetings would be organized in the following fashion:

1st Round Stakeholder Meetings (during the same week as the first Community Workshop): Introduce the project 
and gain input concerning the overall goals and vision for the creation of the Comprehensive Plan Update. Review 
information collected by the project team concerning existing conditions in Johnstown and key findings from 
this information. Discussion at each meeting concerning how these key takeaways may affect the creation of the 
Comprehensive Plan Update.

2nd Round Stakeholder Meetings (during the same week as the second Community Workshop): Review of and 
input concerning key alternatives pertaining to key planning topics (land use and development, housing, historical 
preservation, transportation and mobility, etc.).

3rd Round Stakeholder Meetings (during the same week as the third Community Workshop): Review of and input 
concerning the preferred direction for the Comprehensive Plan, pertaining to key planning topics, as well as the draft 
implementation strategies.

In addition, we will conduct an additional set of stakeholder meetings toward the end of the project, centered on the 
examination of implementation strategies for the Comprehensive Plan and resolving any remaining key issues. In total, we 
anticipate conducting up to six stakeholder meetings during each of the three rounds identified above, plus an additional 
four stakeholder meetings (as needed) toward the end of the project. For each stakeholder meeting, we will provide an 
agenda, minutes, and necessary presentation materials (including exhibits and graphics).

DELIVERABLES:

 » Agendas for stakeholder meetings
 » Presentation materials, including handouts and/or powerpoints, for stakeholder meetings
 » Summaries of discussion of stakeholder meetings

Task 2.7: Worksessions with Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council: We propose conducting joint 
worksessions with the Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council at two key points during the planning process, 
to review concepts and input from the community and provide feedback to our Team. We anticipate conducting a 
worksession following the first community open house, to review input from the community regarding the vision and key 
goals for Johnstown and their input on a range of planning issues. We anticipate a second worksession after the second 
community open house, to review input from the community regarding the various planning alternatives (for land use, 
parks and open space, etc.). As outlined in Task 10.1, we will conduct a third worksession with the group to review their 
input on the preferred plan and the draft version of the Comprehensive Plan update. Our Team would be happy to include 
additional worksessions with these boards, or provide content for additional briefings of the boards, as requested, and 
based upon discussions with the Steering Committee and Town staff.

Engagement at Community and Events and Local Schools



24 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

DELIVERABLES:

 » Agendas for worksessions
 » Powerpoint presentations for worksessions with Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council
 » Written memorandums, as necessary, for packets for Planning and Zoning Commission and Town 

Council worksessions

Task 2.8: Community Events and “Pop-Up” Activities: In addition to community workshops, the project team will 
gain input and reach out to the broader community by conducting outreach at selected community events. For example, 
we anticipate that a small informational booth could be set up at community events such as the Finally Fridays events, 
Johnstown Farmers Market, and the Johnstown BBQ Day. We could also provide outreach at more focused community 
events such as school carnivals, or other events led by local schools, churches, and other community groups. We will 
select community events and opportunities that will allow the project team to reach a full range of community members, 
including seniors, parents of young children, youth, students, and people with disabilities. We will design our booths at 
community events to include a “fun factor”, and will brainstorm with the Steering Committee and Town staff concerning 
outreach tools that will make people excited about contributing their input regarding the Comprehensive Plan.

The outreach booth materials used at community events could also be used to conduct “pop up” outreach at places where 
most people go in their daily lives, including local stores, recreation centers, and other key gathering places. For example, 
the project could include “pop up” engagement opportunities at local retailers in Johnstown. Our consultant team will lead 
and participate in a total of two community events and two additional “pop up” opportunities over the course of the 
project, to be decided at the kick-off for the project. We will work with the members of the Steering Committee to explore 
the option for members of the committee (and their associated organizations) to use the materials we develop for 
outreach at community events, to conduct additional outreach on their own. For example, representatives on the Steering 
Committee could use materials produced by our Team to conduct additional outreach sessions at local schools, in local 
parks, or with local civic groups.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Publicity materials, including graphics, handouts, sign in sheets, flyers, etc. for engagement at community events

Additional Components of Community Engagement Strategy:
Community Workshops – As described in subsequent tasks, our Team will conduct a series of three rounds of community 
workshops.

All three rounds of community workshops will include a variety of maps and graphics in order to make the information 
more compelling and attractive for the general public and to illustrate key ideas and takeaways. Each meeting will include a 
series of presentation boards and “stations” around the room that will highlight key information by topic. 

The workshops will include in-person surveys of participants, as part of introductory presentations to attendees. We 
anticipate using the Mentimeter app, which will allow participants to complete survey questions using their phones and 
then will display the results of the survey in real-time, on a presentation screen in the room. The workshops will also 
include a series of “breakout groups” that will allow residents to discuss the key elements of the Comprehensive Plan and 

Examples of “Stations” by Topic, Northside Specific Plan 



25RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

to provide feedback to the broader group assembled at the meeting concerning their conclusions and key takeaways. 

In addition, our Team has the ability to stream the community workshops online (via Facebook or the Town’s website). 
We have found in previous planning efforts that providing an online, streaming version of a community meeting can spark 
greater interest and participation in a plan. 

Importantly, we will work with the Steering Committee to brainstorm ideas to make the community workshops more 
fun and inviting for every day residents. We have found that providing food and drink helps to draw great turnouts at 
community events and workshops. The setting for the community workshops could include games (cornhole, etc.) for 
attendees, and the workshops could involve local restaurants or food trucks to participate in the event. Our objective 
would be to explore ways to make the community workshops as fun as possible, to generate as much of a great 
community discussion as possible.

Online Surveys (Tied to Community Workshops) – We will provide an online version of the same survey questions posed 
at each of the three rounds of community workshops, on the project webpage, in order to gain input from the broader 
community and individuals unable to attend the community workshops. We will publicize the online survey on the project 
webpage, in emails to the database of contacts throughout the community, and on flyers that publicize the various 
community workshops.

TASK 3 – COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT
Our Team will conduct an analysis of existing conditions, and the content outlined below will be included in draft and final 
versions of the plan document. All of the information and tasks outlined as follows will address the Town, as well as the 
three-mile planning area surrounding the Town. 

Task 3.1: Review of Existing Plans: Members of our consultant team will conduct a thorough review of existing plans 
and studies (such as the 2006 Johnstown Comprehensive Plan, plans from Larimer and Weld County and neighboring 
jurisdictions, and various utility and infrastructure studies). We will document the takeaways from the various plans as 
they relate to the Comprehensive Plan update. With regard to the existing Comprehensive Plan, we will document the 
areas in which the Town has achieved success and met the goals and action items from the previous 2006 Comprehensive 
Plan, and areas in which additional actions are needed to fulfill the goals established in the prior Comprehensive Plan.

Task 3.2: Economic, Housing and Demographic Analysis: We will prepare a population analysis of Johnstown, 
including a composite demographic analysis including key trends and projections for future growth in and around the 
Town. Based upon this analysis, we will identify potential geographic areas of residential and commercial growth in and 
within three miles of Johnstown, for consideration as the planning effort moves forward. We will complete projections 
for future population, households, and employment in Johnstown, using information from the Town as well as from ESRI 
and DOLA. We will examine data and issues pertaining to the age, mixture, and affordability of housing in Johnstown and 
identify gaps in the local housing market. We will identify how the evolving economic position and trends concerning the 
northern Front Range may impact prospects for economic development and the growth of population and employment in 
Johnstown.

Task 3.3: Parks, Open Space, and Tourism 
Analysis: The RICK Team will review the inventory 
of parks and open space assets, and the elements 
of tourism, in Johnstown and identify the 
Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats 
(SWOT) of the local parks and open space system 
and the tourism position of the Town. We will 
also review the inventory of park and recreational 
programs in Johnstown and identify key issues and 
opportunities for enhancement.

Task 3.4: Existing Transportation Conditions 
and Opportunities: The RICK Team will review 
base information and document opportunities 
to improve the primary transportation corridors 
and ensure that the Town’s transportation vision 
is reflected throughout the Comprehensive Plan. Pop-Up Community Engagement at a Local Walmart



26 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

We will identify specific opportunities for each mode of 
transportation in Johnstown, such as deficiencies in the 
roadway network (e.g., access, connectivity and safety), 
opportunities to complete gaps and increase the level of 
comfort in the bicycle network and enhance the walkability 
of the community. We will document the current conditions 
for each mode of travel (motorized, walking, and biking) in 
the Town. We will draw from existing data available from 
previous planning efforts as well as data provided by the 
Town / Town Engineer, Larimer and County and Weld County, 
and CDOT.

Task 3.5: Updating of Existing Conditions and Trends: 
Our Team will compile the remaining components of Existing 
Conditions and Trends for Johnstown, including information concerning:

 » The Regional Context; Existing Land Use Patterns in Johnstown and in the three-mile plan area; 
 » Historic Resources and historic preservation issues; 
 » Evaluation of natural hazards and identification of mitigation needs;
 » Resiliency issues; 
 » Existing Zoning and Zoning Codes; 
 » School District facilities; 
 » Community and public facilities and services, and identification of future needs;
 » Water and Sewer infrastructure and identification of future needs;

These analyses will document the overall picture of where Johnstown is today, and outline key trends that suggest where 
Johnstown is heading. The analyses will identify key needs of the community in the various frameworks identified above.

Task 3.6: Opportunities and Constraints Analysis: Drawing from the various analyses conducted in the Community 
Assessment, we will outline the opportunities and constraints for future development and redevelopment in Johnstown. 
We will produce this analysis by completing a composite Opportunities and Constraints map that identifies key constraints 
(such as floodplains, areas outside utility service areas, etc.) and opportunities (such as key transportation connections, 
areas for potential development as key districts or nodes of development, etc.). The analysis will integrate all of the 
technical information and provide a foundation from which to create alternatives for land use and other plan elements 
going forward.

Task 3.7: Creation of Base Maps: Our Team will create base maps for Johnstown that will include the key data from the 
Existing Conditions and Trends analysis, for use in creating preliminary and final versions of the plan.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Community Assessment document, summarizing the technical analyses outlined in Task 3, along with maps 
and graphics

 » Base maps, to be used throughout the planning process
 » Relevant graphics and diagrams, included within the Community Assessment document

TASK 4 – ROUND ONE COMMUNITY WORKSHOP
The RICK Team will host an initial community workshop to introduce the process of updating the Comprehensive Plan and 
to explore new ideas for how to guide the growth and evolution of Johnstown over the next few decades. We anticipate 
organizing the workshops into a series of workshop stations (around the room) focusing on key topic areas, such as: 
Discussion of the Vision for Johnstown in the future; Transportation; Economics, Housing and Demographics; Land Use and 
Zoning; Parks, Open Space and Tourism; Environment; and Historic Preservation.

We anticipate a workshop of two hours in length, including an opening presentation and time allotted for attendees to 
visit the various workshop stations. The stations will contain presentation boards and graphics necessary to depict the key 
information for attendees, on the various topics. In addition, we will provide comment cards and surveys (available in-
person on paper, and also online) to all attendees, to gain their general input on the planning efforts for Johnstown.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Maps, graphics, and presentation boards for Community Workshop

Community Workshop



27RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

 » Powerpoint presentation for presentation to the attendees
 » Sign in sheets, comment sheets, name tags, and related meeting supplies
 » Publicity materials to publicize meeting (including flyers, banners, and related materials, for distribution around 

Town)

TASK 5 – CONCEPTUAL ALTERNATIVES AND APPROACHES
Building off of what was learned through the process to date, members of the RICK Team will develop a series of diagrams 
and exhibits to outline potential alternatives and approaches to address key issues in the Comprehensive Plan. While the 
exact nature of alternatives presented will naturally evolve as the planning effort moves forward, we anticipate that our 
Team would create alternatives addressing the following topics:

 » Alternatives for future land uses and development / redevelopment in Johnstown and the surrounding area
 » Alternative concepts or ideas for overall economic development and sustainability
 » Alternative concepts for housing opportunities and equity / diversity
 » Alternative concepts for parks, recreation, open space, and tourism
 » Alternative concepts for community branding and historic and cultural resources
 » Alternative concepts for Historic Preservation
 » Alternative concepts for transportation and mobility and public facilities, including water conservation
 » Alternative concepts for the ongoing Resiliency of the Johnstown community, including ideas to address hazards and 

risk management

Fiscal Analysis: We will conduct a fiscal analysis of the various alternatives created as part of Task 5, to evaluate how 
each would impact the fiscal position of the Town, from a revenue perspective (through the generation of additional tax 
revenue, fees, and other sources) and through a cost perspective (through additional capital expenditures or through 
additional cost of services). While the outcomes of the fiscal analysis will not represent the only metric for evaluation of 
the alternatives, this analysis will provide an important tool that Town staff, elected officials, and members of the public 
may use to evaluate the various alternatives considered for the Comprehensive Plan Update.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Maps, graphics, and diagrams illustrating alternative concepts, for presentation to Town staff, Steering Committee, 
and the community

 » Written summary of the key elements of the alternative concepts (in memorandum format) for discussion with Town 
staff and Steering Committee

TASK 6 – ROUND TWO COMMUNITY 
WORKSHOP: REVIEW OF KEY ALTERNATIVES
Our Team will convene a second community workshop to 
gain input regarding design and planning alternatives for 
the Comprehensive Plan. We again anticipate conducting a 
workshop of up to two hours in length, during which members 
of the public would be able to visit a central meeting place 
at their leisure, review the key alternatives for the overall 
Comprehensive Plan, and provide their creative input directly to 
members of our Team. 

We will make a presentation to attendees at the workshop, 
reviewing the key alternatives for the Comprehensive Plan. The presentation will include a series of survey questions that 
attendees will be able to complete via Mentimeter (and then see the results almost instantly in the room). We will provide 
an online version of the survey on the project webpage to gain input from community members concerning the various 
alternatives outlined for the planning effort. All of the presentation materials concerning the various alternatives for the 
Comprehensive Plan will be highly visual and will include graphics, renderings, and other illustrative components to clearly 
communicate the intent of ideas for particular elements of the alternative plans.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Maps, graphics, and presentation boards for Community Workshop

Community Workshop



28 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

 » Powerpoint presentation for presentation to the attendees
 » Sign in sheets, comment sheets, name tags, and related meeting supplies
 » Publicity materials to publicize meeting (including flyers, banners, and related materials, for distribution around 

Town)

TASK 7 – CREATION OF PREFERRED PLAN
Task 7.1: Creation of Preferred Concepts for the Comprehensive Plan: The RICK Community Planning Team will 
create preferred versions of the various elements of the Comprehensive Plan for Johnstown, drawing from input to date 
from the public and the range of stakeholders. The Preferred Plan will include the following components:

 » Outline of projected needs for the transportation system serving Johnstown, including major thoroughfares and 
arterial roadways as well as pedestrian and bicycle facilities and routes;

 » Outline of projected future public facility needs for Johnstown, including strategies for water and for conservation;
 » Preferred Future Land Use Plan for Johnstown and areas within the 3-mile planning area. The Plan will outline the 

most effective use of existing developed land, undeveloped land, and surrounding land outside the town limits and 
within the 3-mile planning area; 

 » Preferred concepts for opportunities for use of vacant or underutilized building sites and redevelopment areas;
 » Preferred strategies for enhancing the housing stock in Johnstown to serve all sectors of the housing market;
 » Preferred strategies for community branding, historic preservation and cultural resources;
 » Preferred strategies to achieve goals for equity and diversity in the Johnstown community;
 » Preferred recreation and tourism element, as required by state statute, and preferred elements for parks and open 

spaces in Johnstown;
 » A Resiliency section, identifying the risks and vulnerabilities of natural and human-caused hazards and goals, 

strategies, and/or actions to provide risk management and address various hazards that may impact Johnstown;
 » Recommendations concerning areas for potential modification of the development code, resulting from the 

outcomes of the Comprehensive Plan (to be used in Part II of the project).

DELIVERABLES:

 » Maps, graphics, and diagrams illustrating the preferred concepts, for presentation to Town staff, Steering Committee, 
and the community

 » Written summary of the key elements of the alternative concepts (in memorandum format) for discussion with Town 
staff and Steering Committee

Task 7.2: Fiscal Analysis of Preferred Plan: We will conduct a fiscal analysis of the elements of the Preferred Plan, to 
evaluate how each would impact the fiscal position of the Town, from a revenue perspective (through the generation of 
additional tax revenue, fees, and other sources) and through a cost perspective (through additional capital expenditures or 
through additional cost of services).

DELIVERABLE:

 » Spreadsheets and memorandum outlining conclusions of Fiscal Analysis of Preferred Plan

Task 7.3: Creation of Draft Implementation Strategies: Our Team will work with the Steering Committee and 
Town staff to create draft versions of Implementation Strategies that will be embedded within the various sections of 
the Comprehensive Plan (as outlined in Task 7.1). A summary of Implementation Strategies will be included within the 
Comprehensive Plan document, to articulate the relationship of the Comprehensive Plan to the Town’s functional plans, 
organize action items by plan themes into a matrix, and present an approach for monitoring and evaluating progress 
toward achieving the Plan’s vision and goals. The Implementation Strategies will:

 » Identify clear steps, timing and phasing for action items, tied to various elements of each plan, and the 
responsibilities of particular entities with regard to implementing various parts of the plan (including Town staff and 
various agencies or stakeholder groups). We will prioritize the various components of the final recommendations into 
short, middle and long-term objectives;

 » Identify key strategies, recommendations, and performance measures related to transportation infrastructure, 
programs, and services; 

 » Include estimated costs and associated financial resources and mechanisms (public and private) for various elements 
of the plan, including private and public development;



29RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

 » Identification of planning-level cost estimates for recommended improvements for inclusion in the Town’s Capital 
Improvement Plan;

 » Identify key potential barriers to successful development of the plan, including analysis of barriers to development 
and recommendations for solutions or programs to mitigate the identified barriers;

 » Importantly, the implementation strategies section will identify a series of “catalyst projects” that would generate 
momentum and confidence in the progress of the Comprehensive Plan, over the first few years following adoption.;

 » Recommendations for performance indicators and a framework for tracking progress over time in achieving the 
various implementation items outlined in the updated Comprehensive Plan.

DELIVERABLE:

 » Memorandum and tables outlining implementation strategy elements (for review by Town staff and Steering 
Committee). This content will later be integrated into the draft and final versions of the Comprehensive Plan 
document.

Task 7.4: Evaluation of Sub-Areas and Corridor for Future Planning: Drawing from technical analysis and input 
throughout the planning process, our Team will evaluate and provide draft recommendations for future sub-area planning 
efforts such as Downtown, Big Thompson River corridor, I-25 corridor, Highway 60 corridor, Freedom Parkway, High Plains 
Boulevard corridor, and others identified through the planning effort. In conjunction with the completion of the preferred 
plan and the Implementation strategies, we will complete the following tasks:

 » Identification of key corridors and sub-areas for future study, through a Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and 
Threats (SWOT) analysis (and IFAS / EFAS evaluation process) of the various corridors considered. This analysis will 
also draw from input from technical analyses and input from stakeholders and the broader community;

 » Formation of recommendations for key issues and priorities to address in future studies, for each corridor identified 
through this project;

 » Identification of potential funding and implementation strategies for development and redevelopment within each 
corridor identified through the process.

DELIVERABLE:

 » Text and graphics, to be included within the Comprehensive Plan document, outlining the analysis performed in Task 
7.4 and providing recommendations for future planning of corridors and sub-areas in Johnstown

TASK 8 – ROUND THREE COMMUNITY WORKSHOP: REVIEW OF PREFERRED PLAN
Our Team will convene a third and final community workshop to gain input regarding the preferred components of the 
Comprehensive Plan, using a similar format to the first two workshops. We again anticipate conducting a workshop of up 
to two hours in length, during which members of the public would be able to visit a central meeting place at their leisure, 

Engagement at Community Workshops



30 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

review the preferred components for the overall Comprehensive Plan, and provide their input directly to the project team. 

The workshop will include a series of survey questions that attendees will be able to complete via Mentimeter (and then 
see the results almost instantly in the room). We will provide an online version of the survey on the project webpage to 
gain input from community members concerning the preferred components of the plan. All of the presentation materials 
will be highly visual and will include graphics, renderings, and other illustrative components to clearly communicate the 
intent of the various components of the preferred plan.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Maps, graphics, and presentation boards for Community Workshop
 » Powerpoint presentation for presentation to the attendees
 » Sign in sheets, comment sheets, name tags, and related meeting supplies
 » Publicity materials to publicize meeting (including flyers, banners, and related materials, for distribution around 

Town)

TASK 9 – DRAFT VERSION OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
Drawing from all of the information created and presented in preceding tasks, our Team will create a draft version of the 
updated Comprehensive Plan for Johnstown. The draft document will include the following components:

 » Summary of community and stakeholder engagement conducted during the planning effort
 » Summary of findings from the Community Assessment
 » The various sections of the Comprehensive Plan, including graphics
 » Implementation strategies and actions for each element of the Comprehensive Plan
 » An appendix will include the results of in-person and online polling
 » All of the elements of the final plan will include various renderings, graphics, and other illustrative tools to convey the 

vision and intent of each plan

DELIVERABLE:

 » Draft copy of the Comprehensive Plan (PDF format)

TASK 10 – FINALIZING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DOCUMENT
Task 10.1: Work session with Town Council and Planning and Zoning Commission to Review Draft 
Comprehensive Plan Document: We will work with Town staff to conduct a worksession (or study session) with the 
Town Council and Planning and Zoning Commission (assembled together) to review the various components of the draft 
version of the Comprehensive Plan and to obtain detailed input and edits from these bodies, prior to finalizing the plan 
documents.

DELIVERABLE:

 » Powerpoint presentation and supporting materials (including copies of the Draft Comprehensive Plan) to facilitate 
worksession with Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council

Task 10.2: Final Version and Adoption of Comprehensive Plan: Drawing from input from the Town Council and the 
Planning and Zoning Commission, as well as input from Town staff, we will produce a final version of the Comprehensive 
Plan document, in PDF form, and will provide the working files to the Town for use going forward. We will make a final 
presentation of the completed Comprehensive Plan at the Planning and Zoning Commission for adoption.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Five printed copies of the Final Comprehensive Plan document, including maps and graphics
 » Electronic copy of the Final Comprehensive Plan document
 » Printable PDFs and original source files of all final documents and the files used to create these documents, including 

graphics, GIS files, spreadsheets, and other pertinent files.

PART 2 – DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TASK 11 – DEVELOPMENT CODE DIAGNOSIS
Task 11.1: Project Orientation: Our Team will meet with Town staff to discuss project goals and the project schedule, 



31RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

specific issues, Town policies, and opportunities and/or problems relating to the regulation of the current land use codes. 
The product of this task is a written meeting summary, with any suggested modifications or refinements to the Scope of 
Services identified. 

DELIVERABLES:

 » Agenda for project orientation meeting
 » Draft and final versions of project schedule
 » Written meeting summary from orientation meeting

Task 11.2: Document Review: Our Team will conduct a review of the Town’s land use planning documents, including 
the current Comprehensive Plan, the Town’s Official Zoning Map, the Town Municipal Code, and any available Town 
information on zoning variances granted during the past several years. 

DELIVERABLE:

 » Memorandum summarizing Document Review

Task 11.3: Code Diagnosis Report: Our Team will prepare a Code Diagnosis Report based on a thorough evaluation 
between the existing land use codes and the draft Johnstown Comprehensive Plan goals, objectives and implementation 
strategies. In general, Our Team will determine what works within the current codes and what doesn’t. The Code Diagnosis 
Report will include as an appendix a “redline” (tracked changes) version of the existing land use codes with comment 
balloon notes, integrating Consultant recommendations and information gathered from the Town staff. Specifically, the 
Code Diagnosis Report will: 

 » Review current organizational structure of the existing land use codes and recommend an improved structure. Our 
Team will evaluate various code options and hybrid formats that may best suit Johnstown - form based, performance, 
incentive, etc.

 » Identify outdated, contradictory or duplicative codes and provide recommendations for revisions. 
 » Review the existing land use regulations for compliance with applicable state and federal regulations. 
 » Assess inefficiencies to determine what isn’t addressed within the current code.
 » Evaluate uses within each zoning district and identify appropriate approval levels, missing uses, outdated uses, etc. 
 » Evaluate and provide options for addressing the “legacy” zoning in built-out areas of Town and the abundance of 

PUDs in newly or undeveloped areas.
 » Review existing zoning districts and development standards (landscaping standards, design guidelines, downtown 

design guidelines, etc.) and make recommendations for changes to achieve the vision of the Comprehensive Plan. 
 » Address special issues: adequate public facilities, wireless, signage, mobile food trucks, redevelopment, accessory 

dwelling units, short term rentals, tiny homes, etc.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Draft and final versions of Code Diagnosis Report

Task 11.4: Community Engagement: Our Team will meet with local development community representatives and 
other project stakeholders identified by Town staff, such as business and agricultural interests, to discuss specific issues 
and opportunities for updating the existing land use codes. Town staff will be requested to assist with identifying project 
stakeholders and scheduling meetings. To ensure efficiency, a maximum of sixteen (16) stakeholder interviews will be held 
over a two day period.

Our Team will prepare exhibit boards that provide information concerning the project, along with comment cards for 
feedback. The exhibit boards will be set up in a day-long open house event on a date, time and location established to 
maximize public attendance. 

Our Team will meet with Town staff and attend Planning and Zoning Commission, Town Council and/or Steering Committee 
meetings as needed to present the Code Diagnosis Report and feedback from the public open house event. 

DELIVERABLES:

 » Agendas and minutes for stakeholder interviews
 » Exhibit boards, comment boards, and presentation materials to gather input
 » Presentation materials for meetings with Town staff and elected leaders, to discuss input from community 

engagement



32 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TASK 12 – DEVELOPMENT CODE UPDATE
Task 12.1 Annotated Outline: Our Team will prepare an annotated outline for rewriting Johnstown’s Municipal Code 
sections, combining current chapters covering Annexation, Zoning, and Subdivision into a unified land development code. 
The outline will consist of a draft table of contents and indicate 1) guidance for text revisions and updates, 2) where 
charts will be used to explain certain regulatory features and procedural matters, and 3) where graphics may be useful 
for illustrating complex definitions, zoning standards and subdivision details. A sample page of the proposed Unified 
Development Code (UDC) will be designed to serve as a template for the user-friendly code format. Our Team will attend 
one joint work session with the Town Council and Planning and Zoning Commission to present the annotated outline. 

DELIVERABLE:

 » Annotated outline for Development Code Rewrite

Task 12.2 Draft Code: Using the annotated outline as a guide, our Team will completely update, reorganize and 
consolidate the existing land use codes, with refinements that implement the updated Comprehensive Plan and establish 
predictable rules and processes in a user friendly format that is legally sound. Our Team will draft code revisions and new 
regulations to achieve stakeholder goals and evaluation results. In addition to incorporating Consultant recommendations 
from the Code Diagnosis Report, specific enhancements will include:

 » Reorganizing and consolidating the existing land use codes to provide a clear structure and format to increase 
usability and enforceability.

 » Updating existing land use code requirements to support the goals, policies, and recommendations identified in the 
new Comprehensive Plan and to ensure zoning is aligned with the updated Land Use Plan.

 » Updating the sign regulations to reflect the Gilbert vs Reed Supreme Court decision by removing content-based sign 
regulations. In addition, we will improve the usability of the sign regulations by providing tables and graphics to 
describe various sign types.

 » Updating and creating consistent and streamlined approval processes and evaluating the levels of approval, 
simplifying various approval processes to be easier to administer. This includes creating a set of checklists for each 
type of development application.

 » Reviewing and updating definitions to ensure all necessary terms used throughout the UDC are defined in a user-
friendly, glossary-style Definitions section.

 » Making necessary clerical and grammatical changes to provide correct cross-referencing and improve the overall 
administration of the UDC. This includes drafting amendments to sections in other Chapters to ensure consistency 
throughout the Municipal Code.

 » Providing graphics and illustrations to support the draft UDC. 

DELIVERABLE:

 » Draft Code document, including text, graphics and illustrations 

Task 12.3: Community Engagement: As the new UDC is drafted, our Team will prepare cover memorandums 
summarizing each major section (article) of the draft UDC. The cover memorandums and the draft articles will be posted 
on the project website and transmitted to the Town Staff for their review. Our Team will meet with Town staff and attend 
Planning and Zoning Commission and/or Steering Committee meetings as needed to present each article of the UDC. At 
the request of Town staff, our Team will also attend work sessions with the Town Council as needed to discuss key policy 
issues that arise during the drafting process. 

Our Team will prepare exhibit boards that provide options concerning specific UDC issues of interest to the general public, 
along with comment cards for feedback. The exhibit boards will be setup in a day-long open house event on a date, time 
and location established to maximize public attendance. 

Our Team will prepare a consolidated, complete draft of the UDC incorporating suggested refinements from the Town staff, 
project stakeholders, steering committee, Town Council and Planning and Zoning Commission discussions. 

DELIVERABLES:

 » Written memorandums of major sections of Draft UDC
 » Exhibit boards and graphics for meetings
 » Comment cards for feedback from meetings
 » Complete, consolidated draft of UDC incorporating refinements from meetings and discussions



33RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

TASK 13 – DEVELOPMENT CODE ADOPTION
Task 13.1 Community Engagement: Our Team will attend one work session with the Town Council and one work 
session with the Planning and Zoning Commission to discuss the complete draft of the UDC prior to scheduling public 
hearings. At the Town’s discretion, a joint work session may be held with the Town Council and Planning and Zoning 
Commission in lieu of separate work sessions. Our Team will prepare a final draft of the UDC incorporating all suggested 
refinements from the Town Council and Planning and Zoning Commission work sessions.

Our Team will prepare exhibit boards that provide information concerning the final draft of the UDC, along with comment 
cards for feedback. The exhibit boards will be set up in a day-long open house event on a date, time and location 
established to maximize public attendance. 

DELIVERABLES:

 » Exhibit boards for worksessions and meetings
 » Notes from worksessions and open house

Task 13.2 Public Hearings: Our Team will attend one public hearing each before the Planning and Zoning Commission 
and Town Council to present the revised draft code for adoption. Prior to the hearings, our Team will:

 » Provide an adoption timeline that incorporates advertising and public hearing requirements.
 » Review and confirm public notice format and timing pursuant to state statutes;
 » Prepare a cover memorandum summarizing key process events to date, significant issues and recommendations;
 » Confirm the proper Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council resolution formats for recommendation and 

adoption of the new code, and;
 » Prepare for and facilitate any final amendments desired by the Town Council to be incorporated at the conclusion of 

the public hearing, in the form of amendments to the adopting resolution made by motion. 

DELIVERABLES:

 » Memorandum summarizing adoption outline
 » Emails confirming public notice format and timing
 » Cover memorandum summarizing process, issues, and recommendations
 » Preparation of final amendments to UDC

Task 13.3 Development Code Rewrite: Final Documents: Based on the outcome of the public hearings, our Team will 
incorporate approved amendments into a final UDC document. One electronic version and five hardcopies of the adopted 
UDC document will be produced and delivered, formatted in Microsoft Word and Adobe Acrobat software (both a PDF 
format high resolution and web ready format). Our Team will also provide an updated file of the Town’s zoning map.

DELIVERABLES:

 » Five printed copies of Land Use Code document along with digital file
 » Printable PDFs and original source files of all final documents and files used to create UDC, including graphics, GIS, 

spreadsheets, etc.



34 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

PROJECT SCHEDULE
The following is our proposed project schedule broken down by tasks, as organized by our Work Plan. Our schedule 
assumes a Notice to Proceed (NTP) in November, with the Community Assessment completed by the end of January of 
2020, followed by an initial Community Workshop to introduce the project and conduct Visioning for the community. A 
set of alternatives and approaches for the Comprehensive Plan Update will be developed between February and May, and 
the second Community Workshop (to review various alternatives) will take place in May, 2020. The Preferred Plan will be 
developed during the summer of 2020. The third Community Workshop will take place in September, 2020, with work to 
complete and adopt the Final Version of the plan by January, 2021. We anticipate beginning the formal process for the 
Development Code Rewrite in August, 2020, as the Preferred Plan for the Comprehensive Plan (in terms of land use and 
other plan elements) is coming into focus. We anticipate completing the Development Code Rewrite, including formal 
adoption, by April 2021. Therefore, the schedule reflects a total time, for both the Comprehensive Plan and Development 
Code Rewrite, of 18 months. This schedule can be shortened in select areas to accommodate project needs, if necessary.

PROPOSED 
SCHEDULESECTION 3

2019 2020 2021
TASK NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR

1: Project Kick-Off and Initiation

2: Community Engagement

3: Community Assessment

4: Round One Community Workshop 
(Introduction and Visioning)

5: Preparation of Conceptual 
Alternatives and Approaches

6: Round Two Community Workshop 
(Review of Key Alternatives)

7: Creation of Preferred Plan

8: Round Three Community Workshop 
(Review of Preferred Plan)

9: Draft Version of Comprehensive Plan

10: Finalizing the Comprehensive Plan 
Document

11: Development Code Diagnosis

12: Development Code Update

13: Development Code Adoption

Steering Committee Meetings

Stakeholder Meetings

Worksessions with Town Council and 
Planning Commission



35RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

SUBCONSULTANT 
SERVICESSECTION 4

PLAN TOOLS, LLC (PLAN TOOLS)
DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE & IMPLEMENTATION
Plan Tools will draw from its decades of experience in crafting and administering 
development does and municipal ordinances to lead the Development Code Rewrite 
process for the Town of Johnstown. Martin Landers of Plan Tools is already working 
with RICK on Lafayette’s new Comprehensive Plan and we have an established 
relationship of collaboration.

FELSBURG, HOLT, & ULLEVIG (FHU)
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING
FHU is the leader along the Front Range in conducting transportation planning for 
local municipalities and counties, and will lead transportation planning components 
of the Comprehensive Plan Update. FHU has recently worked with the various 
communities in Larimer County on planning for future transportation enhancements 
and has previous experience working in the Johnstown area.

GREENPLAY, LLC (GREENPLAY)
PARKS AND OPEN SPACE
GreenPlay is a national leader in conducting park and park system planning for 
communities large and small. Based in Louisville, GreenPlay has worked with several 
communities along the northern Front Range in completing similar planning efforts for 
parks, recreation, and tourism.

PROJECT VISION 21
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
Francisco Miraval of Project Vision 21 provides translation and outreach services to 
the bi-lingual Latino community throughout the Front Range. Francisco will assist 
us, as needed, with any translation services needed to engage Latino populations in 
Johnstown as part of the planning efforts.



36 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

FEE PROPOSALSECTION 5
COST PROPOSAL

LABOR BY TASK

PART 1: COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

TASK 1 Project Kick-Off and Initiation $6,300 

TASK 2 Community Engagement

Outreach Materials, Coordination $9,750 

Online Mapping Tool $4,475 

Stakeholder Meetings & Steering Committee Meetings $9,900 

1st & 2nd Worksessions with Planning Commission & Town Council $3,550 

Community Events and "Pop-Up" Activities $3,950 

TASK 3 Community Assessment

Review of Existing Plans $3,950 

Economic, Housing, and Demographic Analysis $6,500 

Parks, Open Space, & Tourism Analysis $4,450 

Existing Transportation Conditions & Opportunities $2,950 

Opportunities & Constraints Analysis $3,650 

Existing Conditions Analyses & Base Maps $6,650 

TASK 4 Round One Community Workshop $15,600 

TASK 5 Creation of Conceptual Alternatives and Approaches $17,300 

TASK 6 Round Two Community Workshop: Review of Key Alternatives $15,200 

TASK 7 Creation of Preferred Plan

Creation of Preferred Concepts $14,960 

Fiscal Analysis of Preferred Plan $2,120 

Creation of Draft Implementation Strategies $5,770 

Evaluation of Corridors & Sub-Areas for Future Planning $4,520 

TASK 8 Round Three Community Workshop $13,900 

TASK 9 Draft Version of Comprehensive Plan $14,850 

TASK 10 Finalizing the Comprehensive Plan Document $7,100 

PART 2: DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

TASK 11 Development Code Diagnosis $28,500 

TASK 12 Development Code Update $35,800 

TASK 13 Development Code Adoption $29,000 

SUBTOTAL LABOR, PARTS 1 AND 2 $270,695 

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

Mileage $1,552 

Printing & Plotting $2,150 

Food & Supplies for Community Meetings $500 

SUBTOTAL REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES $4,202 

TOTAL PROJECT COST $274,897 



37RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

INDIVIDUAL ROLE COMPANY HOURLY RATE

BRIAN MOONEY Principal in Charge, QA / QC RICK $200 

ROB FITCH Infrastructure Planning RICK $175 

BRITT PALMBERG Project Manager RICK $160 

KIM NELSON Community Engagement, Planning Support RICK $125 

MIMI MORISAKI Community Engagement, Planning Support RICK $105 

KEATH FLINT Graphics Support RICK $95 

HANNAH WONG Planning Support & GIS RICK $90 

FRANCISCO MIRAVAL Bi-Lingual Community Engagement Project Vision 21
$100 

MARTIN LANDERS Land Use Code Plan Tools $150 

GERALD DAHL Land Use Code MDBR $200 

TERESA PEMBROOKE Parks, Open Space, Tourism Planning GreenPlay $150 

KERI KONOLD Parks, Open Space, Tourism Planning GreenPlay $150 

JENNY YOUNG Transportation Planning FHU $200 

KELLY LEADBETTER Transportation Planning FHU $125 

HOURLY RATE SCHEDULE 



38 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

PROJECT 
EXPERIENCE & 
REFERENCES

SECTION 6

CLIENT NAME REFERENCE PROJECT TYPE ADDRESS PHONE

FHU 
REFERENCE Town of Timnath Don Tarranto, 

Public Works Director
Transportation 
Infrastructure

4750 Signal Tree Drive
Timnath CO, 80547 970.226.0557

PLAN TOOLS/
MDBR

REFERENCE
Town of Lochbuie Steve Stamey, 

Town Manager
Land Development 

Code
703 Weld County Rd. 37

Lochbuie, CO 80603 303.655.9308

PROJECT VISION 
21 REFERENCE City of Lafayette

Paul Rayl, AICP, 
Planning & Building 

Director
Comprehensive Plan 1290 S. Public Road

Lafayette, CO 80026 303.661.1269

GREENPLAY
REFERENCE City of Lafayette Monte Stevenson, 

Parks Director

Parks, Recreation 
Open Space, and 

Trails Planning

787 N. 95th Street, 
Lafayette, CO 80026 303.661.1306

REFERENCES
The following references can speak to the quality of service and the products produced by the RICK Community 
Planning group and its core team members. We have provided three (3) references for completed projects to meet RFP 
requirements. In addition, we have provided references for similar projects that are substantially complete or in progress, 
as well as references for our subconsultant partners.

CLIENT NAME REFERENCE PROJECT TYPE ADDRESS PHONE

REFERENCE 1 City of Lafayette
Paul Rayl, AICP, 

Planning & Building 
Director

Comprehensive Plan 1290 S. Public Road
Lafayette, CO 80026 303.661.1269

REFERENCE 2 City of Murrieta Ivan Holler, Assistant 
City Manager

General Plan Update 
& Downtown Specific 

Plan

1 Town Square
Murrieta, CA 92562 951.304.2489

REFERENCE 3 County of 
San Diego

Eric Lardy, 
Project Manager General Plan Update 1600 Pacific Highway, 

San Diego, CA 92101 858.495.5334

REFERENCE 4 City of Riverside Jay Eastman, Project 
Manager Specific Plan 3900 Main St. 3rd Floor 

Riverside, CA 92522 951.826.5371

REFERENCE 5 Ventana Capital Andrew Trietley, 
Project Manager Community Plan 9801 E. Easter Avenue 

Centennial, CO 80112 303.346.7006

REFERENCE 6 City of Brawley
Gordon Gaste, 

Development Services 
Director

General Plan Update 383 W. Main Street 
Brawley, CA 92227 760.344.8464

RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING

SUBCONSULTANTS



39RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

* Projects completed by Project Manager, Britt Palmberg, AICP, while with previous firm

PROJECT EXPERIENCE SUMMARY
Britt Palmberg, AICP, Project Manager and Brian Mooney, FAICP, Principal-in-Charge, bring a combined total of over 60 
years of experience in completing comprehensive plans, neighborhood and subarea plans, downtown plans, corridor plans 
and related planning efforts for communities. Plan Tools and MDBR have completed Development Code Rewrite efforts 
for a wide range of communities across Colorado and will lead the Development Code portion of this project. GreenPlay 
has completed numerous park, open space, and trail master plans and will assist the team with park and open space 
plan implementation. FHU has significant experience completing transportation plan components of comprehensive 
plans and will work with our team to integrate transportation planning with the rest of the content for the Johnstown 
Comprehensive Plan Update. RICK will lead the consultant team 
from our Arvada, CO office. The following matrix provides a 
summary of team experience on projects with a similar scope of 
work to the Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update and 
Development Code Rewrite project.

Detailed project descriptions are provided 
in the following pages.

Lafayette Comprehensive Plan (RICK, Plan Tools, 
FHU, Project Vision 21) x x x x

Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan (RICK, GreenPlay) x x x x

Red Rocks Community Plan (RICK) x x x x

Murrieta General Plan (RICK) x x x x

Northside Specific Plan (RICK) x x x x x

Pauma Tribal Land Use Plan (RICK) x x x x x

General Plan Updates, San Diego County (RICK) x x x

Marana Specific Plan (RICK) x x x

Waukee Comprehensive Plan * x x x

Grain Valley Comprehensive Plan * x x x

Thornton Health Care District Master Plan * x x

Maplewood Comprehensive Plan * x x

Loveland Comprehensive Plan (FHU) x x

Larimer County Transportation Planning (FHU) x x

Broomfield Comprehensive Plan (FHU) x x
Basalt Parks, Open Space, and Trails Master Plan 
(GreenPlay) x x

Carbon Valley Parks & Rec Master Plan (GreenPlay) x x

Bennett Comprehensive Plan (Plan Tools) x x x x x

Georgetown Master Plan (Plan Tools) x x x x x
Platteville Comprehensive Plan Amendments/ 
Three-Mile Area Plan (Plan Tools) x x x x x

Lafayette Parks & Rec Master Plan Update (GreenPlay) x x

Erie Parks, Recreation, Open Space, and Trials 
Master Plan Update (GreenPlay) x x

LA
ND U

SE PLA
NNIN

G

ECONOMIC STUDIES

TRANSPORTA
TIO

N/

IN
FRASTRUCTURE 

     
    

PLA
NNIN

G

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

AND PUBLIC
 IN

PUT PLA
NS

PARK, O
PEN SPACE AND 

TOURISM PLA
NNIN

G

TEAM PROJECTS

* Projects completed by Project Manager, Britt Palmberg, AICP, while with previous firm



40 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

RELEVANT PROJECTS
The following section includes project descriptions for RICK and our subconsultant partners. The projects we have presented 
represent assignments with a similar scope of work to the Johnstown project. We have included detailed information of 
RICK’s current work for Comprehensive Plans in Lafayette and Elizabeth, CO, as well as other similar projects by both RICK 
and our subconsultants. For your reference, we have also provided additional project summaries for projects that are 
substantially complete or in progress, with scopes of work very similar to the Town of Johnstown assignment.

SOUTH BOULDER ROAD 

BASELINE ROAD 

H
W

Y.
 2

87
SO

U
TH

  P
U

BL
IC

 R
O

AD

SOUTH HWY 287 CORRIDORSSOSOUTUTHH HWHWY Y 28287 7 COCORRRRIDIDORORUTSS

SOUTH BOULDER ROAD CORRIDORSSSS CCORORRIRIDODORROOADADODEDERR ROROLLOUTH BOUU CCOO OOOOOOOUTH BOUU RRRIRI RRLLDEDERR RR AALLTH RRUTH BOUSOSSSS

OLD TOWN & PUBLIC ROAD CORRIDOROOLO D TOOWN && PUBU LICC ROOAD CCORO RIDOORBLOO

BASELINE ROAD CORRIDORB EE RROOOAOAD CORRIDORBABASESELILINENEBB

LEGEND

GATEWAYS

OPPORTUNITY PARCELS

COMPLETE STREETS CORRIDOR

TRAIL CORRIDOR

LAFAYETTE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN “LEGACY LAFAYETTE” 
LAFAYETTE, COLORADO
RICK is currently leading the creation of a new Comprehensive Plan (referred to as “Legacy 
Lafayette”) for Lafayette, Colorado, a community of around 30,000 residents between 
Boulder and Denver. Lafayette is nearing build-out, and the Comprehensive Plan is focusing 
in particular on how the community can guide development of older portions of the city 
and diversify the range of housing available in Lafayette, to ensure that sufficient housing 
is available for people of all generations and for people of different professions and 
backgrounds. The Plan effort involves significant public outreach, including a Community 
Advisory Committee and outreach to various groups and constituencies in Lafayette.

RICK has developed a project website for the effort that includes bi-lingual components (in 
both English and Spanish) and is conducting outreach to the Latino / Hispanic community 
in Lafayette throughout the process. The project website includes online discussion forums, 
online surveys, and the full range of background information and project content. We 
have conducted outreach at community events and festivals throughout the Lafayette 
community, in order to go beyond traditional meetings and bring community outreach and 
public input efforts to the people of Lafayette, where they live, work, and play. The Legacy 
Lafayette Comprehensive Plan includes economic and housing analysis, fiscal analysis of the 
Comprehensive Plan, transportation planning, sustainability planning, land use planning, 
and integration of parks and open space planning concepts. Brian Mooney, FAICP, and Britt 
Palmberg, AICP, of RICK Community Planning are serving as Principal and Project Manager, 
respectively, for the Lafayette Comprehensive Plan.

CLIENT

City of Lafayette, CO

KEY COMPONENTS

 » Land Use Planning
 » Housing/Market/Fiscal 
Analyses

 » Infrastructure Analysis 
and Planning

 » Community Outreach 
(including Bi-Lingual 
Outreach)

 » Project Website
 » Implementation 
Strategies

 » Urban Design 
Components, including 
planning for character 
districts



41RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

ELIZABETH COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
ELIZABETH, COLORADO
RICK is currently working on the creation of a new Comprehensive Plan for Elizabeth, 
Colorado, a small but rapidly growing town around 40 miles southeast of Denver, in Elbert 
County, along the Palmer Divide. Elizabeth, with a current population of 1,500 residents, is 
beginning to feel the effects of growth from the Front Range to the west, with several new 
housing developments under construction, and the population is expected to grow to at least 
10,000 residents over the next twenty years. The Town urgently needs a new Comprehensive 
Plan to guide the orderly growth of the community, in terms of land use, transportation 
facilities, economic development, housing, infrastructure, and parks and open space. A key 
focus of the planning effort involves the creation of future plans for areas within a few miles 
of Elizabeth that may grow in coming years, but are currently located in unincorporated 
Elbert County. The plan is also focusing on how to build the economic base of Elizabeth in 
terms of employment and retail businesses, to help Elizabeth evolve beyond a “bedroom 
community” orientation.

The Elizabeth Comprehensive Plan includes the creation of a Downtown Plan for the town, 
historic preservation strategies, and planning for resiliency and hazards. The planning effort 
involves significant public outreach, including facilitation of a Steering Committee and 
outreach to various groups and constituencies in Elizabeth. The planning effort also involves 
coordination meetings with a number of agencies in the area, including ongoing meetings 
with Elbert and Douglas Counties and CDOT. RICK is leading the overall Comprehensive Plan 
effort, involving the coordination of efforts with consultants creating a Streets Plan and 
Utilities Plan for the Town. 

CLIENT

Town of Elizabeth, CO

KEY COMPONENTS

 » Land Use Planning
 » Economic Analysis
 » Community Outreach
 » Implementation 
Strategies

 » Urban Design 
Components, including 
planning for Old Town 
district

 » Resiliency Planning
 » Tourism and Economic 
Development

 » Historic Preservation
 » Parks and Open 
Space Plan



42 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

MURRIETA GENERAL PLAN UPDATE & DOWNTOWN SPECIFIC PLAN 
MURRIETA, CALIFORNIA
RICK is currently working on an update to the General Plan for the City of Murrieta. We are 
also working on an update to the City’s Climate Action Plan and Supplemental Environmental 
Impact Report (SEIR). During this effort, the RICK Team is working with City staff to promote 
Murrieta’s vision to continue to build upon the great quality of life it currently has as a safe 
and family-oriented community, with top ranked K-12 schools and recreational amenities. 
The plan for Murrieta aims to capitalize upon the creation of a new four-year State 
University campus in the City to establish a regional employment destination for medical and 
technology companies and to strengthen the City’s status as a regional retail center. 

RICK recently completed the Downtown Murrieta Specific Plan, covering 350 acres. The Plan 
was a significant update to a plan developed in 2000 that had limited success in encouraging 
new development due to restrictive development standards. The plan was developed around 
a series of Guiding Principles that included the creation of a cultural and government center, 
an attractive downtown, historic character and pedestrian activity, proactive economic 
development, sustainable development and open space preservation, mobility choices and 
attractive residential neighborhoods with diverse housing options. The new Specific Plan 
divides the Downtown into four distinct neighborhoods with new development standards 
and design guidelines that encourages a more distinctive and intensive development 
program. The planning program included an extensive public outreach program with a series 
of community workshops and pop-up events.

CLIENT

City of Murrieta, CA

AWARDS

2017 IES-APA Merit Award 
in the Comprehensive Plan, 
Large Jurisdiction Category

KEY COMPONENTS

 » Public Participation 
Program

 » General Plan Update
 » Zoning Ordinance 
Update

 » Environmental 
Documents

AWARD 
WINNER



43RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

CITY OF COLTONCITY OF COLTON

C
ITY O

F R
IA

LTO
C

ITY O
F R

IA
LTO

CITY OF RIVERSIDECITY OF RIVERSIDE

C
ITY O

F C
O

LTO
N

C
ITY O

F C
O

LTO
N

Northside

Potential Area B
Hunter Park
Residential

Potential Area C
Colton Transition Area

Pellissier
Ranch

Potential Area A
North Main Street

Specialty Services District

Potential
Area D

LEGEND
STUDY AREA EXTENTS
CITY BOUNDARIES
CURRENT SPECIFIC PLAN AREA (SPA)
POTENTIAL SPECIFIC PLAN AREA (SPA)

J-17964
Data Source:
ESRI World Imagery Baselayer
City of Riverside, City of Colton, County of Riverside
U:\17964_NorthsideSpecificPlan\GIS\Northside_Figure1_StudyAreaMap.mxd

Northside Specific Plan
Figure 1

DATE:4/28/2017
Study Area Map

0 1,000 2,000 3,000500

SCALE IN FEET

A new plan to guide future land use, mobility, 

open space and community design in the 

Northside area is now underway. Achieving 

a great plan for the neighborhood relies on 

involvement from the community and other 

stakeholders like you! 

The City of Riverside has initiated the 

preparation of a Specific Plan for the Northside 

Neighborhood and we would like your input. 

The Northside, one of Riverside’s earliest 

settled neighborhoods, is known for its 

history, environmental resources, and strong 

community connections. Based on a shared 

vision for the future, the Northside Specific Plan 

will establish goals, policies, and development 

regulations to guide future changes.

Public involvement is essential for the success 

of this planning effort and will help shape 

the future of the Northside. There will be two 

opportunities for you to participate in the first 

community workshop, and we hope that you 

are able to attend one of them! 

What is important to you? What are your ideas? 

What kinds of experience can you share about 

Northside history? Transportation and traffic? 

Places for our families, seniors and children? 

Businesses and the local economy? Healthy 

environment?

Be part of shaping the future of this incredible 

neighborhood. Please help to spread the word 

to your neighbors and friends, and we’ll see 

you at one of the first workshops in June. 

w w w. Nor ths idePl an .com  S I G N - U P  TO  R E C E I V E  P R O J E C T  A N N O U N C E M E N T S !

WELCOME TO THE 

NORTHSIDE SPECIFIC PLAN!

N O R T H S I D E S P E C I F I C  P L A N   A N I N T E R J U R I S D I C T I O N A L P R O J E C T O F T H E C I T Y O F R I V E R S I D E & C I T Y O F C O LTO N

Pro j e c t  M a n a g e r :  D av i d  M u rray,  C i t y  of  R i ve r s i d e   /  d m u rray@ r i ve r s i d e c a .g ov  /  (951)  8 26 -57 7 3

COMMUNITY 
WORKSHOPS
Your input is needed! 

Together we’ll make a great plan for the Northside!

Mark your calendar for the first community 

workshops happening in June*

*The June 7th & 10th workshops will be the same.

WEDNESDAY 
J U N E

7

LOCATION

SPRINGBROOK CLUBHOUSE

1011 ORANGE STREET

RIVERSIDE, CA 92501

TIME
6PM – 9PM

SATURDAY 
J U N E

1 0

MONDAY 
J U N E

1 2

LOCATION
FREMONT ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 

MULTI-PURPOSE ROOM

1925 ORANGE STREET

RIVERSIDE, CA 92501

TIME
9AM – 12PM

LOCATION
RUTH LEWIS COMMUNITY CENTER 

REID PARK – MEETING ROOM

701 ORANGE STREET
RIVERSIDE, CA 92501

TIME
2PM – 6:30PM

DROP-IN SESSION: 

TALK WITH THE PLANNERS

Activities for kids. Refreshments and fun for everyone.

In October, input from the community was 

sought during the second round of community 

involvement. The project team shared three 

land use concepts with the community, and 

took in their comments and suggestions. The 

second round of outreach  also consisted of 

coordinated activities, including community 

organization meetings, focused outreach to 

Spanish-speaking community members, a 

community workshop, and an informal open 

house with the project planners. Since then, the project team consolidated 

the input received from the various groups 

and stakeholders, and designed a Draft Plan. 

The Draft Plan takes into consideration land 

use, transportation, historic resources, parks 

and open spaces. 

www.Norths idePlan .com   S I G N - U P  TO  R E C E I V E  P R O J E C T  A N N O U N C E M E N T S !

Project Manager: David Murray, City of Riverside  /  dmurray@riversideca.gov  / (951) 826-5773

A third community workshop is scheduled to 

present and discuss the Draft Plan.
We look forward to seeing you at the third 

workshop. Bring your family, friends and 

neighbors with you!
About the Northside Specific Plan 

The Northside, one of Riverside’s earliest 

settled neighborhoods, is known for its history, 

environmental resources, and strong community 

connections. The City of Riverside initiated the 

preparation of the Northside Specific Plan in 

Spring 2016. Based on a shared vision for the 

future, the Northside Specific Plan will establish 

goals, policies and development regulations to 

guide future changes. Achieving a great plan 

for the neighborhood relies on involvement of 

community members like you!

WORKSHOP #3

MONDAY
JUNE
25

NORTHSIDE SPECIFIC PLAN

COMMUNITY WORKSHOP #3
LOCATIONSpringbrook Clubhouse1011 Orange StreetRiverside, CA 92501

TIME
6:30 pm – 9:00 pm

RED ROCKS RANCH COMMUNITY PLAN 
MORRISON, CO
RICK led the community planning and engineering effort behind the creation of the plan for the 
Red Rocks Ranch community in Jefferson County. This community plan draws from the community 
planning principles articulated in Plan Rooney Valley, a plan for the sensitive Rooney Valley area 
between Morrison and Lakewood, in the shadows of the hogback foothills area. It outlines a plan 
for a series of open space corridors and community and neighborhood park areas that preserve 
sensitive riparian areas and connect Red Rocks Ranch to Bear Creek State Park and to additional 
open space areas in Jefferson County, to the west of C-470. The project carefully preserves view 
corridors of the foothills and of Bear Creek Lake and provides lands for civic uses for the Town.

NORTHSIDE SPECIFIC PLAN 
RIVERSIDE, CA
RICK led an inter-disciplinary team of consultants to complete an Environmental Baseline Study, 
Specific Plan and Program EIR for the 1,400-acre Northside Specific Plan for the City of Riverside. 
The plan focused on the revitalization of an existing golf course owned by the City, incorporation 
of significant historic resources, and a rethinking of underutilized industrial designated lands and a 
new master plan for a ranch owned by the Riverside Public Utilities Commission. There was a special 
focus on creating unique neighborhoods with an interlinked mobility system that utilizes active 
transportation in association with automobiles. RICK used a variety of tools for visioning efforts with 
the community and utilized visualization techniques, including various renderings, to convey the 
options for the plan components.

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO GENERAL PLAN UPDATE 
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CA
RICK Community Planning division recently completed an assignment as an extension of staff to 
complete the planning analysis on 21 property specific requests (PSR’s) and study areas involving 
increases in land use for residential, commercial and industrial uses throughout the County of 
San Diego, as part of the GPU. The analysis included a constraints and opportunities analysis 
relating into land use compatibility, biology, geology, slopes, floodplain, visual, transportation and 
General Plan Policy analysis. The project required RICK staff to work closely with County staff on 
the interpretation of the analysis and the recommendation to allow the development increases or 
alternative uses. The work was completed in both a report and graphic format in order to be used 
in the community planning process to inform of community members of key issues. RICK used 
a variety of tools for visioning efforts with the community and utilized visualization techniques, 
including various renderings, to convey the options for the plan components.

CLIENT

Town of Morrison, 
CO & Ventana Capital

CLIENT

City of Riverside, CA

CLIENT

County of San Diego, 
CA



44 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

RICK – ECONOMIC ANALYSIS PROJECT EXPERIENCE
As a part of RICK Community Planning, we offer in-house Market and Economic Analysis Services. We help our clients in 
the public and private sectors to:

 » Identify the market for various types of land uses, over the short term and long term
 » Determine the end users and target markets for a project or a given part of a community
 » Examine strategies for the phasing and financing of developments
 » Provide specialized and more targeted analysis, including Housing analyses and fiscal impact analyses
 » Outline Economic Development strategies for local communities

The best plans, whether for a municipality or for a private development, grow from a solid understanding of 
demographics, economic factors, and market demands. RICK’s Britt Palmberg has completed dozens of economic and 
market analysis assignments as part of Comprehensive Plans, Neighborhood Plans, district plans, and plans for various 
private developments. We work with city officials, developers, the community, and planners to craft community plans, 
and implementation strategies that help achieve project goals. Britt and support staff have led the completion of 
the Economic Development section for several Comprehensive Plans. His work in various communities has identified 
innovative strategies to promote Economic Development, such as the creation of business incubators, co-working hubs, 
or agri-tourism strategies, in small to mid-sized cities. His analysis has also helped communities pinpoint the range of 
industries and types of companies to pursue as part of their Economic Development strategies. Some examples of projects 
completed by Britt include:

Lafayette Comprehensive Plan: Britt has completed a market analysis, along with a Housing Study and Fiscal Analysis, 
as part of the creation of the overall Comprehensive Plan

Lansing Comprehensive Plan: Britt completed a fiscal analysis associated with the Economic Development strategy for 
this Comprehensive Plan.

Valley Center Community Plan: Britt is providing a comprehensive Market Study and fiscal analysis, in the creation of 
alternatives and the preferred plan elements for this plan update.

Pauma Tribal Land Use Plan: Britt completed a Housing Analysis and Economic Development strategy as part of this 
community plan update.

Le Sueur Downtown Plan: Britt developed an economic model to analyze the fiscal impacts of various alternatives for 
downtown redevelopment.

Wheaton Downtown Plan: Britt developed an economic model to analyze the fiscal impacts of the final Downtown 
redevelopment strategy, along with a comprehensive market study analyzing all potential land use types.

National Experience: In addition Britt has completed Economic Analysis assignments in the following communities, at 
RICK and at previous companies.

Aspen, CO Dakota County, MN Missoula, MT St. Francis, MN

Colorado Springs, CO Eagan, MN New Richmond, WI St. Louis, MO

Denver, CO Excelsior, MN Northfield, MN Story County, IA

Englewood, CO Grain Valley, MO Oklahoma City, OK Tucson, AZ

Greeley, CO Haysville, KS Pauma Valley, CA Valley Springs, CA

Thornton, CO Kansas City, KS Red Wing, MN Victoria, MN

Bend, OR Kansas City, MO Reno, NV Waukee, IA

Buffalo, MN Lansing, KS Richfield, MN Wheaton, IL

Calgary, AB, Canada Le Sueur, MN Salinas, CA Wichita, KS

Chanhassen, MN Leawood, KS San Diego, CA Williston, ND

Coeur d'Alene, ID Lenexa, KS Santa Fe, NM Wimberly, TX

Columbia Heights, MN Maplewood, MN Saratoga Springs, NY Yuma, AZ

Representative Economic Analysis Assignments



45RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

TIMNATH TRANSPORTATION PLAN 
TIMNATH, CO
FHU completed the Timnath Transportation Plan, a plan which provided guidance on how 
to strategically plan and accommodate the significant growth anticipated by the Town. The 
primary purpose of updating the transportation plan was to provide the Town with a tool to 
ensure consistency in the preservation of the required right-of-way and the implementation 
of transportation improvement projects using multimodal street design standards that meet 
the specific needs of the Town. The plan addresses all modes of transportation and is intended 
to accommodate projected growth through 2040. The guidance included in the plan supports 
staff and policy makers in reviewing development proposals and implementing transportation 
improvements. The plan also contains guidance on how to strategically fund the prioritized 
transportation improvements. The process resulted in a clear action plan that includes a list of 
short-term, mid-term, and long-term projects necessary to realize Timnath’s transportation goals.

CLIENT

Town of Timnath, CO

BROOMFIELD COMPREHENSIVE TRANSPORTATION PLAN 
BROOMFIELD, CO
FHU conducted a comprehensive transportation study for the City which has become part of 
the City’s Comprehensive Master Plan. This will serve as a strategic plan to provide guidance in 
developing strategies for the transportation system in the short-term and over the long-term. 
It identifies alternatives and options, and provides input regarding the local and the regional 
implications of each, such that the ramifications can be fully understood.

The study’s scope of work included an extensive inventory of the transportation system, an 
assessment of immediate deficiencies, a projection of long range needs, an identification of a 
transportation plan, and an implementation program. An extensive public participation program 
was an integral part of the planning process.

CLIENT

City of Broomfield, CO



46 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

ARVADA TRANSPORTATION PLAN 
ARVADA, CO
FHU prepared the Arvada Transportation Plan Update in coordination with a Comprehensive 
Plan Update. A northwest Denver metro area suburb with a population of 106,000, Arvada is 
responding to two key challenges in shaping its transportation plan. The western, historically rural 
parts of the City are currently developing with residential and commercial uses and these areas 
need to be connected to the established central and eastern parts of the City via street, transit 
and bicycle systems. At a citywide level, FHU used a refined version of DRCOG’s regional travel 
model to develop 2035 travel demand forecasts for major roadway and transit links. In addition, 
FHU evaluated multi-modal mobility and access needs for each of six opportunity areas in the City.

Transportation goals and policies and modal plans were developed with a multi-tiered stakeholder 
engagement process in coordination with the comprehensive planning process. Outreach 
activities included public open houses in various parts of the City and workshops with numerous 
groups including the City Council, Planning Commission, Transportation Committee, Gold Line 
Committee, and high school student groups.

CLIENT

City of Arvada, CO

ERIE PARKS, RECREATION, OPEN SPACE & TRAILS MASTER PLAN UPDATE 
ERIE, CO
This plan incorporated an extensive inventory and assessment of all Town recreation programs 
and services, open spaces, trails, and facilities; previous citizens’ and parks and recreation 
survey results; and updated demographics and trends reports for the final Master Plan Update. 
Recommendations and action plans for future land acquisition and development were identified, 
and operational, maintenance, and organizational standards for the Parks and Recreation 
Department were updated.

CLIENT

City of Erie, CO



47RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

LAFAYETTE PARKS, RECREATION, OPEN SPACE & TRAILS MASTER PLAN UPDATE 
LAFAYETTE, CO
In February 2012, the Parks, Open Space, and Golf Department and the Recreation Department 
of the City of Lafayette, Colorado received a grant from Great Outdoors Colorado to conduct 
an objective, city-wide assessment of the needs and desires for the City’s Parks, Recreation, 
Open Space, and Trails (PROST) assets, lands, programs, and services. GreenPlay consultants 
completed this update which involved an extensive public input process, including development 
of a MindMixer online engagement site. The team also conducted a detailed component based 
Level of Service Analysis and conducted a demographics and trends analysis. From these tasks, 
our team compiled relevant key issues and made realistic, implementable recommendations to 
address them. GreenPlay was again selected to conduct an update to the PROST plan for the City 
of Lafayette and recently completed and received City Council approval for the draft of the new 
plan, in August 2019.

CLIENT

City of Lafayette, CO

WINDSOR PARKS, RECREATION & CULTURE MASTER PLAN 
WINDSOR, CO
The Town has a current population of approximately 20,500 residents within a 25 square mile 
area. It is bordered on the north, south and east by unincorporated Weld County and the Towns 
of Severance and Johnstown and unincorporated Larimer County /I-25 to the west. The Plan 
is a resource for the Windsor Parks, Recreation, and Culture Department that through a long 
range approach provides direction for future decisions regarding development, programming 
and services of the Department into the next 15 – 20 years. The document is a broad-based 
visioning document to guide operations and potential expansion of services as the Town of 
Windsor continues to build out. The document will be responsive to the changing pulses of 
the community and sets forth a legacy of sustainability for the Windsor Parks, Recreation, and 
Culture Department.

CLIENT

City of Windsor, CO



48 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

BENNETT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
BENNETT, CO
Plan Tools worked as part of a multi-disciplinary team to prepare an update to the comprehensive 
plan for the Town of Bennett, Colorado. The 2015 Town of Bennett Comprehensive Plan expands 
upon the success of the 2012 Bennett Comprehensive Plan, which was also led by a Plan Tools 
project team. Bennett is committed to responsible planned development, economic vitality, a 
program for public service improvements and improving the quality of life for its residents. The 
purpose of the Town of Bennett Comprehensive Plan is to address the potential for development 
within Bennett’s 91.4 square mile planning area using Smart Growth and Healthy Eating and Active 
Living principles. The vision of the Bennett Comprehensive Plan is to set the Denver metropolitan 
area’s rural eastern I-70 corridor apart from conventional development, concentrating future 
development in centers. Rather than a sequential approach to development that consumes 
available resources as market pressure extends out from the Denver metro-area, planning for 
concentrated neighborhood and employment centers offers a sustainable approach for land 
development that is responsive to recent market trends.

The 2015 Town of Bennett Comprehensive Plan is structured around a Preferred Scenario that 
serves as the heart of the plan, and eight plan themes: Neighborhoods, Employment, Open Lands, 
Transportation, Services and Infrastructure, Community Health, Annexation, and Intergovernmental 
Relations. In recognition of its innovation, the Town of Bennett’s Comprehensive Plan was a finalist 
for DRCOG’s LIVE, WORK, PLAY award.

CLIENT

City of Bennett, CO

GEORGETOWN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
GEORGETOWN, CO 
In 2016, Plan Tools was retained to assist the Town of Georgetown with a Comprehensive 
Plan update. The plan built upon the Town’s 2000 Comprehensive Plan and responded to a 
series of key issues and goals identified by the citizens of the community and the Town Staff. 
The plan provides clear direction, time frames and potential funding partners to assist in the 
implementation of the goals in the future. The document was also developed to serve as the 
foundation for land development regulations and capital improvement programming. 

Plan Tools and its team structured the colorful, “user friendly” 40 page document around three 
major sections, tied to key elements of the plan.

CLIENT

City of Georgetown, CO



49RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

EVANS RIVERSIDE MASTER PLAN 
EVANS, CO
Plan Tools teamed with Matrix Design Group and Ricker Cunningham to prepare a neighborhood 
plan for the City of Evans, Colorado. In September 2013, torrential rains led to massive flooding of 
numerous rivers in northern Colorado, including the South Platte River. In Evans, the devastating 
floods resulted in the loss of over 200 homes and destruction of a regional park, roads, and other 
public infrastructure and private property within the historic Evans Riverside neighborhood. The 
flood recovery effort led to an opportunity to create a plan for the Evans Riverside neighborhood 
that preserves its historic character yet targets areas for reinvestment. The principal objective: 
provide a vision for redevelopment that focuses available resources on building resiliency through 
improved land use and community design. 

A citizen task force guided the planning effort. Over 300 responses to a community survey shaped 
the project goals, which include: retention of neighborhood character, enhanced recreation 
opportunities, and reestablishment of the historic downtown commercial district. Three plan 
alternatives were prepared and a preferred concept selected. The Preferred Concept serves as the 
heart of the Evans Riverside Master Plan. 

CLIENT

City of Evans, CO

PLATTEVILLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS/ 
THREE-MILE AREA PLAN 
PLATTEVILLE, CO
Plan Tools led a consultant team to amend Platteville’s comprehensive plan. The amendments also 
resulted in the creation of a separate document, the Platteville Three-Mile Area Annexation Plan. 
Amendments to Platteville’s Urban Growth Area boundaries were needed to bring the Town into 
closer compliance with adopted intergovernmental agreements with neighboring towns. Amending 
the Urban Growth Area boundaries also required amendments to several sections of the Platteville 
Comprehensive Plan, and numerous associated maps. Map revisions include expansion of the 
Urban Growth Area boundary and Town limits, feature additions within the new Urban Growth 
Area boundary, updates to map legends, and formatting for consistency. 

Creating the Three-Mile Area Plan as a separate document also required associated amendments 
to several sections of the Platteville Comprehensive Plan, inclusive of text and maps. The new Town 
of Platteville Three-Mile Area Plan is a two-sided document, with a map on one side and descriptive 
text on the reverse. 

CLIENT

City of Platteville, CO



50 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE & DEVELOPMENT CODE REWRITE

CLAIMS & 
LEGAL ACTIONSECTION 7

RICK is in solid financial standing, with a strong Dun & Bradstreet rating. We have no litigation, mediation, arbitration, or 
claims resulting from any public agency project. For developer projects, we have a single case pending, where we were 
uninvolved, but all team members were named.

CASE PROJECT OWNER BASIS OF CLAIM RESOLUTION

City of San Diego v. 
Black Mountain Ranch Black Mountain Ranch Bicycle Accident Pending



RICK ENGINEERING COMPANY
5690 WEBSTER STREET, ARVADA, CO 80112

303.537.8029 | WWW.RICKENGINEERING.COM



34 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

PROJECT SCHEDULE
The following is our proposed project schedule broken down by tasks, as organized by our Work Plan. Our schedule 
assumes a Notice to Proceed (NTP) in January, with the Community Assessment completed by mid-March of 2020, 
followed by an initial Community Workshop to introduce the project and conduct Visioning for the community. A set 
of alternatives and approaches for the Comprehensive Plan Update will be developed in April and May, and the second 
Community Workshop (to review various alternatives) will take place in May, 2020. The Preferred Plan will be developed 
during the summer of 2020. The third Community Workshop will take place in August, 2020, with work to complete and 
adopt the Final Version of the plan by the end of December, 2020. This schedule can be shortened in select areas to 
accommodate project needs, if necessary.

PROPOSED 
SCHEDULESECTION 3

2020
TASK JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

1: Project Kick-Off and Initiation

2: Community Engagement

3: Community Assessment

4: Round One Community Workshop 
(Introduction and Visioning)

5: Preparation of Conceptual 
Alternatives and Approaches

6: Round Two Community Workshop 
(Review of Key Alternatives)

7: Creation of Preferred Plan

8: Round Three Community Workshop 
(Review of Preferred Plan)

9: Draft Version of Comprehensive Plan

10: Finalizing the Comprehensive Plan 
Document

Steering Committee Meetings

Stakeholder Meetings

Worksessions with Town Council and 
Planning Commission



36 TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN | COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

FEE PROPOSALSECTION 5
COST PROPOSAL

LABOR BY TASK

PART 1: COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

TASK 1 Project Kick-Off and Initiation $3,300 

TASK 2 Community Engagement

Outreach Materials, Coordination $6,500  

Online Mapping Tool $4,000  

Stakeholder Meetings & Steering Committee Meetings $7,250  

1st & 2nd Worksessions with Planning Commission & Town Council $3,550 

Community Events and "Pop-Up" Activities $3,950 

TASK 3 Community Assessment

Review of Existing Plans $3,950 

Economic, Housing, and Demographic Analysis $5,800  

Parks, Open Space, & Tourism Analysis $4,450 

Existing Transportation Conditions & Opportunities $2,950 

Opportunities & Constraints Analysis $3,250  

Existing Conditions Analyses & Base Maps $5,800  

TASK 4 Round One Community Workshop $13,800  

TASK 5 Creation of Conceptual Alternatives and Approaches $12,850  

TASK 6 Round Two Community Workshop: Review of Key Alternatives $12,500  

TASK 7 Creation of Preferred Plan

Creation of Preferred Concepts $11,260  

Fiscal Analysis of Preferred Plan $1,920  

Creation of Draft Implementation Strategies $5,770 

Evaluation of Corridors & Sub-Areas for Future Planning $3,440  

TASK 8 Round Three Community Workshop $11,700  

TASK 9 Draft Version of Comprehensive Plan $12,750  

TASK 10 Finalizing the Comprehensive Plan Document $6,200  

SUBTOTAL LABOR, PART 1 $146,940

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

Mileage $1,250  

Printing & Plotting $1,250  

Food & Supplies for Community Meetings $325  

SUBTOTAL REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES $2,825  

TOTAL PROJECT COST $149,765  



37RICK COMMUNITY PLANNING | 2019

INDIVIDUAL ROLE COMPANY HOURLY RATE

BRIAN MOONEY Principal in Charge, QA / QC RICK $200 

ROB FITCH Infrastructure Planning RICK $175 

BRITT PALMBERG Project Manager RICK $160 

KIM NELSON Community Engagement, Planning Support RICK $125 

MIMI MORISAKI Community Engagement, Planning Support RICK $105 

KEATH FLINT Graphics Support RICK $95 

HANNAH WONG Planning Support & GIS RICK $90 

FRANCISCO MIRAVAL Bi-Lingual Community Engagement Project Vision 21
$100 

TERESA PEMBROOKE Parks, Open Space, Tourism Planning GreenPlay $150 

KERI KONOLD Parks, Open Space, Tourism Planning GreenPlay $150 

JENNY YOUNG Transportation Planning FHU $200 

KELLY LEADBETTER Transportation Planning FHU $125 

HOURLY RATE SCHEDULE 



September 30, 2019 

Response to Request for 
Proposals for: 

 
Comprehensive Plan 
Update & Development 
Code Rewrite

Submitted to: 
Kim Meyer, Director
Planning & Development
Town of Johnstown
450 South Parish Ave.
Johnstown, Colorado 80534

Submitted by:
Sanderson Stewart
3270 Blake St., Ste. 120
Denver, Colorado 80205

in conjunction with
Fairfield and Woods, P.C.
1801 California St., Ste. 2600
Denver, Colorado 80202

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN

Comprehensive Plan 
Update & Development 

Code Rewrite

PROPOSAL



CONTENTS

Cover Letter ................................................................................ (facing page)

Qualifications Statement ...............................................................................1

A. Who We Are........................................................................................................1

B. Project Roles ........................................................................................................2

C. Organizational Chart ..........................................................................................6

Project Understanding ...................................................................................7

A. Generally ............................................................................................................7

B. Comprehensive Plan ...........................................................................................8

C. Development Code .............................................................................................8

Work Plan ...................................................................................................10

A. Generally ..........................................................................................................10

B. Phases and Tasks ...............................................................................................11

Conceptual Project Schedule .......................................................................20

Fee Proposal ...............................................................................................24

Hourly Rates................................................................................................25

Similar Work Experience ..............................................................................27

A. City of Loveland Comprehensive Plan ................................................................27

B. City of Dillon, Montana Growth Policy & Downtown Plan ....................................28

C. Town of Glendive Downtown Plan ......................................................................29

D. Town of Laurel Gateway Strategic Plan ..............................................................30

E. Anaconda Downtown Master Plan .....................................................................31

F. City of Loveland Unified Development Code ......................................................32

G. City of Alamosa Unified Development Code ......................................................33

Appendix (Project Team Resumes) ................................................................34



September 30, 2019

Kim Meyer, Director
Planning and Development
Town of Johnstown, Colorado
450 South Parish Avenue
Johnstown, Colorado 80534

Reference:  Response to RFP for Comprehensive Plan Update and Development Code Rewrite

Dear Ms. Meyer:

Johnstown is literally and figuratively at multiple crossroads. Like many small towns in the path of explosive 
regional growth, it struggles to maintain its essential character and lifestyle in a turbulent and fast-
changing environment. In its attempt to manage the forces of change, the Town uses the available tools —
principally the planned unit development process—to shape development on a case-by-case basis. But too 
often the outcomes of approaches that simply react to the pressure of the real estate market are less than 
optimal. Proactive policy and regulations are needed.

As Abraham Lincoln once put it, 
“The best way to predict your future is to create it.”

Sanderson Stewart and our team-mate Fairfield and Woods, P.C. bring a combined 135 years of success 
in helping public and private-sector clients make plans and put those plans into action. Our team is 
collaborative, passionate, and imaginative. We believe in the power of thoughtful and carefully crafted 
plans and implementing regulations to leverage and shape private investments in a manner that creates 
the types of opportunities and environments that communities want. Whether we’re working for the public 
sector or the private sector, we help our clients articulate and implement bold visions for the future.

Since we work in both the public and private sectors, we use plans and development codes every day. 
Consequently, our perspectives are shaped by not only our planning and plan implementation experience, 
but also our experience taking individual applications through approval processes. We know “the good, the 
bad, and the ugly” of development codes throughout the region, and can offer valuable insight into the 
likely response of the private market to various plan implementation options.

We hope that the enclosed proposal is favorably received. If you have any questions about our proposal, 
please contact me at any time at 303.263.4370 or kbarton@sandersonstewart.com.

Sincerely,

Karl Barton, AICP
Project Manager | Senior Land Planner



Sanderson Stewart delivers innovative solutions and 
creates positive outcomes with its focus on dedicated 

customer service, interdisciplinary collaboration, 
and comprehensive implementation. We approach 

every project with a multidisciplinary method we call 
“Complete Design.” This holistic approach produces 

improved results compared to that which any 
individual planning, design, landscape architecture, or 

engineering discipline can develop alone. 



QUALIFICATIONS 
STATEMENT
A. Who We Are

From its beginning in a garage in 1969, Sanderson 
Stewart has followed one core purpose “To Plan 
and Design Enduring Communities.” Out of that 
core purpose, Sanderson Stewart has grown into 
a well-respected full-service community design 
firm, offering services to public and private-sector 
entities in the Rocky Mountain region in the fields 
of community planning, landscape architecture 
and placemaking, land development and finance, 
infrastructure and utilities engineering, stormwater 
management and control, traffic engineering, 
surveying and mapping, and branding. In all of 
these areas, we are at our best when we engage 
with the client community, identify issues, and 
collaborate.

Fairfield and Woods, P.C. is a 46-attorney, 
Colorado-based, and Colorado-focused law 
firm that has represented public, private, and 
non-profit sector clients for 85 years. The firm 
provides a full range of services in the areas of 
local government law and public policy, land use 
and zoning, legislative drafting, real estate, utility 
law, eminent domain, construction, employment, 
public and private financing, litigation, corporate 
law, tax, housing, securities, insurance, water, 
environmental law, and more. The firm’s attorneys 

are all Colorado-licensed, so it brings the added 
value of combining practical code reform work with 
the ability to provide legal advice—a service that 
traditional planning and design firms cannot offer. 
Fairfield and Woods’ principal office is located at 
1801 California Street, Suite 2600, in downtown 
Denver.

The Town of Johnstown comprehensive plan 
update is proposed to be led by Sanderson 
Stewart’s Placemaking Studio. The Studio consists 
of Urban Designers, Land Planners, Landscape 
Architects, and Multi-Modal Transportation 
Engineers, collectively applying a design-thinking 
approach to first understand the “Why?” of 
the project. With this purpose in mind, the 
team can think beyond what is and envision 
what can be. This understanding allows the 
team to reveal opportunities and innovative 
solutions that are often overlooked in a standard 
planning approach—and then create something 
extraordinary.

As Johnstown evolves from the community it 
was at the time of the 2006 comprehensive 
plan, it does so in an environment (economic, 
demographic, and natural) that is also changing. 
Placemaking, a multi-faceted approach to the 
planning, design and management of cities and 
towns, including both the public and private 
realms, provides a way for the community to take 
the next step and ensure that the next wave of 
growth builds towards a complete, connected, 
and cohesive Town. Where the downtown 
can assert its rightful place as the center and 
residential and commercial development can 
relate to each other spatially in a meaningful and 
legible way.

Sanderson Stewart, along with Fairfield & Woods, 
P.C., will apply our Complete Design approach 
and a placemaking lens to the comprehensive 
plan and code rewrite, in order to make the most 
of the continued growth of the Town.   

1



B. Project Roles

1. Generally
The professionals assigned to this team bring decades of experience—and demonstrable success—in 
helping communities articulate a vision, set goals and measurable outcomes, and then translate the 
policies and objectives reflected in the plans into new or revised land development codes. In order to 
optimize project resources, the Comprehensive Plan project will be led by Sanderson Stewart’s Placemaking 
Studio, and the Development Code Rewrite will be led by Fairfield and Woods, P.C. Sanderson Stewart will 
provide the principal point of administrative contact for the Town with respect to contract administration 
and billing throughout the project. Full resumes of all team members are in the Appendix to this response.

2. Sanderson Stewart

John Tufte, PE 
Principal-in-Charge

John is a Principal and the Colorado Region Manager in the firm’s Fort 
Collins office. John’s expertise includes infrastructure design, due diligence 
investigations, master planning and value engineering, commercial site 
development, municipal infrastructure design, residential site development, 
GIS, owner’s representation, sustainable and low impact designs, stormwater 
management and more. John has extensive experience working on 
development in Johnstown. He will provide staff and project oversight, as well 
as assist in infrastructure assessments, cost estimates, and coordination with 
capital improvements planning.

Karl Barton, AICP 
Project Manager

Karl joined Sanderson Stewart in 2017 as Senior Planner in the Placemaking 
Studio. Since 2007, he has worked as an urban planner, leading projects 
such as corridor, comprehensive, and transportation plans, design guidelines, 
entitlement project management, and creating development code. Karl 
managed the creation of the City of Loveland’s most recent comprehensive 
plan, Create Loveland, including managing the plan drafting, scope, schedule, 
budget, and consultant coordination. In that capacity, he led a multi-disciplinary 
team focused on breaking down the barriers between planning, engineering, 
finance and economic development to implement City strategies and capital 
expenditures related to major transportation corridors. Karl presented on the use 
of metrics and indicators in comprehensive plans to measure progress towards 
community goals, and the inclusion of considerations regarding the impacts on 
public health of how a city is planned, designed, built, and operated. Karl will be 
the principal draftsperson for the plan, will provide GIS mapping, analysis, and 
graphics, and lead public outreach and input. Karl will lead the project team 
and be the primary contact for the Town on the plan update.

2 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



While working with the City of Loveland, Karl managed multiple projects 
that involved cooperating with the Town of Johnstown staff related to 
growth management and intergovernmental cooperation where the two 
community’s Growth Management Areas (“GMAs”) overlapped. These projects 
included joint comprehensive plan and GMA boundary amendments and an 
intergovernmental agreement establishing an area where the two communities 
would consult with each other on annexation requests. These projects included 
public meetings that with affected property owners that were jointly hosted 
by Loveland and Johnstown. With these projects, Karl gained a significant 
understanding of the issues related to Johnstown’s GMA. 

Lauren Waterton, AICP 
Senior Land Planner

As leader of our Placemaking Studio, Lauren will be responsible for 
coordinating the multidisciplinary team and assisting with the public outreach, 
analysis and plan development. She is a certified land planner with over 20 
years of experience in public and private sector planning. Lauren has worked 
with numerous public and private sector entities to create master plans, 
evaluate development proposals and land suitability, and create action plans 
to move projects forward. She draws from the full range of land planning 
consulting practice areas in addressing site feasibility, regulatory compliance, 
concept planning and project implementation. Lauren’s experience is in 
developing plans based on collaboration with interdisciplinary teams of 
design professionals and facilitating public processes that are focused on 
implementation. 

Eären Hummel, PLA, ASLA 
Senior Landscape Architect

Eären Hummel is a landscape architect with more than 20 years of design, 
planning and historic preservation experience throughout the United States. 
Eären specializes in historic landscape preservation, land planning, and 
sustainable design projects. She is experienced in the design and planning of 
public parks and recreation facilities, design guidelines, master planning, and 
urban revitalization projects. She was a team member and project manager 
on the 2006 Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan, the 2007 Downtown 
Johnstown Improvements Master Plan, and the 2009 Johnstown Downtown 
Design Guidelines. In addition, she served as an on-call specialist for plan 
review for the Town of Johnstown. She will be providing graphics, assisting 
with public outreach, and evaluation of historic and cultural resources and 
parks and recreation.

3



D.J. Clark, PE, PTOE 
Senior Transportation Engineer

D.J. is an Associate and Manager of the firm’s Community Transportation 
Studio. He serves as project manager for the majority of the firm’s traffic 
and safety engineering projects. He is also responsible for the oversight and 
coordination of traffic engineering tasks across all project and client disciplines, 
as well as quality assurance/quality control for traffic engineering deliverables. 
D.J. has extensive pre- and post-professional training in the specialty areas 
of geometric design, traffic operations analysis, traffic impact assessment and 
construction traffic control design, as well as project management experience 
on numerous projects transportation planning, Intelligent Transportation 
Systems (“ITS”) and roundabout components. D.J. also previously served as 
an officer in the Montana Chapter and for the Intermountain Section of the 
Institute of Traffic Engineers (“ITE”), and he is currently serving on the ITE 
committee to develop an updated Multi-modal Traffic Impact Assessment 
recommended practices document.  DJ will be evaluating transportation 
infrastructure and assisting with capital planning estimates.

Charles Sonnier, PE, CFM 
Senior Engineer - Floodplain Expertise

Charles is a Senior Engineer and Project Manager located in the firm’s Fort 
Collins office. Charles has provided project management services related to the 
design and permitting of single family/multi-family residential developments, 
commercial sites, industrial facilities and oil and gas pads. He also has 
experience with floodplain analysis, navigating the FEMA process and irrigation 
ditch review. He is the review engineer for the Reorganized Farmer’s Ditch 
Company (“RFDC”) in Loveland and Johnstown. Charles’ project work in 
the Johnstown area includes assisting with floodplain review for the Town of 
Milliken and floodplain permitting through the Counties of Weld and Adams.
Charles will be assisting with matters related to open space, floodplains, 
hazards, water, and conservation.

Kari Andren 
Marketing Specialist

Kari is an Associate on the Leadership Team, working closely with the Board of 
Directors to implement numerous marketing processes and campaigns which 
promote the Sanderson Stewart brand. She also leads the firm’s Branding 
Group, which provides graphic design and marketing services for a wide variety 
of clients, including municipalities like Johnstown. Services include brand 
development and promotion, website design and implementation, marketing 
plans and materials design, concept graphics, and three-dimensional 
modeling. Kari’s role on this project will be to lend her marketing expertise 
to the marketing strategy portion of the Comprehensive Plan. Kari will also 
be available to develop any other graphics or marketing materials for public 
outreach events.

4 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



Todd Messenger, Esq. 
Code Project Manager and Principal Draftsperson

Todd Messenger brings nearly two decades of experience, both creating 
comprehensive and special area plans and putting them into action through 
(among other things) regulatory reform. Among dozens of plan implementation 
projects across 12 states, Todd was the project manager and principal 
draftsperson for the award-winning Centennial Land Development Code, the 
recently adopted Loveland Unified Development Code, the Durango Land 
Use and Development Code, the Alamosa Unified Development Code, and 
the Central City Land Development Code. Todd has also assisted a number of 
municipalities with sign code reform in the wake of the Reed v. Gilbert case, 
which changed the game for sign regulation and put more than 90 percent of 
Colorado sign codes at risk for constitutional attack. When Todd is not working 
with local governments to implement their plans through new or revised code, 
he is working with private and civic-sector entities on land use entitlements, 
real estate transactions, and land use and constitutional litigation.

Todd’s success in regulatory updates is rooted in the diversity and depth of his 
practice:

• Todd understands how to identify, articulate, and implement community 
objectives through both plans and codes. In addition to his experience 
with code drafting, he is the principal author of several award-winning 
plans, including Tangipahoa Parish, Louisiana (comprehensive plan); 
Oviedo, Florida (downtown master plan); and Bradenton, Florida (corridor 
revitalization plan).

• As counsel to private developers, Todd frequently engages in regulatory due 
diligence, carefully evaluating the “fit” between proposed development and 
local regulations. Accordingly, he understands the practical implications of 
the language and organization of code, and the importance of structuring 
code to avoid the “gotcha” scenario—the case in which a pertinent code 
provision is discovered late in the development review process.

• Todd’s involvement in land use litigation, continuing legal education, and 
code drafting provides a deep and multifaceted understanding of the legal 
framework (and the legal risks) of land development regulation.

As a representative of public, private, and civic sector clients in a wide variety 
of contexts, Mr. Messenger understands the interests, perspectives, and 
vocabularies of the various participants in the land use process. Accordingly, 
he is able to help communities identify and articulate their shared values with 
respect to the land use (and the process for land use approvals)—and then to 
ensure that those shared values shape the updated code.

3.	 Fairfield	and	Woods,	P.C.

5



C. Organizational Chart

John Tufte, PE

Principal-in-Charge
Project Oversight, Infrastructure Assessment, 
Capital Improvements Planning Coordination

Karl Barton, AICP

Plan Project Manager
Plan Project Team Lead, Plan Development,  
Public Outreach, Primary Contact

Lauren Waterton, AICP

Senior Land Planner
Public Outreach Assistance,  
Analysis, Plan Development

Charles Sonnier, PE, CFM

Senior Engineer
Floodplain Analysis

Kari Andren

Marketing Specialist
Marketing Materials, Graphics

Todd Messenger, Esq.

Code Project Manager
Strategic Advisor (Implementation),  
Code Project Team Lead, Code Bridge,  
Code Development, Public Outreach,  
Legal Review

D.J. Clark, PE, PTOE

Senior Transportation Engineer
Traffic Engineering Operations & Analysis

Eären Hummel, PLA, ASLA

Senior Landscape Architect
Graphics, Public Outreach,  
Historic & Cultural Resources Evaluation

CORE PROJECT TEAM

PROJECT SUPPORT TEAM

6 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



PROJECT	
UNDERSTANDING
A. Generally
The Town of Johnstown is about 13.5 square miles 
in area, located in Weld and Larimer Counties. It 
is located along (and generally to the East of) the 
fast-growing I-25 corridor between Denver and 
Fort Collins. Johnstown’s land area is a poor proxy 
for its reach. That is, a rectangle drawn around 
the Town’s current boundaries would encompass 
nearly 60 square miles (from North to South, the 
Town spans almost 10 miles, and from East to West, 
the Town spans about six miles). Consequently, 
developed areas of the Town are separated by 
large areas of unincorporated agricultural land, 
including several large “enclaves.”

Not surprisingly, new development areas in 
the Town are zoned planned unit development 
(“PUD”) as they are annexed and planned for new 
development, often at large scales (e.g., “2534”). 
From a planning and regulatory standpoint, that 
means that the Town is implementing a number of 
different zoning codes, as each PUD essentially sets 
out its own regulatory program. As the RFP notes, 
only the traditional, older parts of the Town are still 
zoned in a “Euclidean” form.

We think that based on the geometry of the Town, 
the explosive regional growth along the I-25 and 
U.S. 34 corridors, and the desire of the Town 
to maintain a “small-town feel,” the planning 
and regulatory approach (especially including 
the growth management area / three-mile area 
plan) will have to provide the strategies and tools 
for connecting tradition to growth and change, 
community to region, and quiet suburban, estate, 
and rural lifestyles to vibrant retail, entertainment, 
and employment centers—without compromising 
the elements of these environments that are most 
valued by Town residents.

7



Johnstown became a home-rule municipality in 
2006, when its first charter was overwhelmingly 
approved by the electorate. That means that the 
Town has the legal authority to chart its own course. 

B. Comprehensive Plan
The Town’s current Comprehensive Plan was 
last updated in 2006. Located at the edge of 
Northern Colorado’s largest cities, with extensive 
transportation access and available land, Johnstown 
is likely to continue to grow faster than the region 
as a whole. The comprehensive plan update will 
help the community to use the energy and resources 
of the real estate market to deliver the types of 
places and amenities that reflect the community’s 
shared values and objectives.

We see the following as key considerations for the 
Comprehensive Plan update process:

1. Build Upon Previous Planning Efforts. 
The comprehensive plan update will build 
upon the previous documents, including the 
previous comprehensive plan and parks and 
transportation plan, as well as the ongoing 
sanitary sewer study in the western part of 
the GMA. We will also consider the plans of 
and IGAs with adjacent communities. We can 
integrate recommendations and implementation 
from those plans, create consistency with or 
transitions from previous plans as appropriate, 
and articulate the relationships and links 
between the smaller focus areas, the Town as a 
whole, and the larger region.

2. Provide Creative Public Engagement. 
The combination of the plan update and 
development code rewrite presents a unique 
opportunity to discuss with stakeholders both the 
policy and the tools available to implement the 
policy within the same process. We plan to use a 
public outreach process that capitalizes on that 
opportunity. To meet the goals of this project, 
an iterative public process will be needed. 
Not only does this process identify a common 
vocabulary and shared community values and 
goals, but also creates a sense of ownership of 
the documents by members of the community. 
A public outreach plan will be created in 

collaboration with the Town to lay out strategic 
and tactical goals, activities, and responsibilities 
for the project. Since projects like these are often 
dynamic, this plan will be flexible and may be 
updated to include specific meetings, venues, 
online activities, and other information as 
needed.

3. Articulate A Vision That Reflects Shared 
Community Values / Create a Meaningful 
Plan that Advances the Vision. Our process is 
thoughtfully designed to address the goals of the 
project as outlined in the RFP. Throughout the 
planning process, we will apply our substantive 
and procedural experience to bring the best 
practices and innovative solutions to the Town, 
and help the Town select and calibrate planning 
approaches in collaboration with the community. 
Our focus is to create a plan that successfully 
achieves these goals:

• Provide effective and efficient public 
engagement that shapes and gives meaning 
to the plan;

• Articulate a vision based on identified, 
shared community values and priorities;

• Create an accessible and flexible framework 
for policy, regulations, and strategies;

• Create an implementation framework, 
including performance measures, indicators, 
and cost estimates that are adaptable to 
changing conditions; and

• Achieve measurable results based on 
community priorities

C. Development Code
Chapters 15, 16, and 17 of the Johnstown 
Municipal Code are the key development codes. 
Even in the absence of a comprehensive plan 
update, the codes appear outmoded, and, in 
the case of Chapters 16 and 17, hopelessly 
disorganized. As we understand it, the Town intends 
to scrap the current codes and start over again 
with a unified code that merges the content areas 
of the three Chapters into a single Chapter, and 
incorporates materials from related design guideline 

8 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



documents. Todd and Karl recently helped the City 
of Loveland complete a comparable (and successful) 
revision and consolidation of its development codes. 

As to regulatory reform and plan implementation, 
our general approach follows five proven principles:

1. Principle #1: Understand the Context. 
Writing good code requires not only a technical 
understanding of the planning objectives and 
legal context of the community, but also an 
understanding of how the community functions, 
both politically and economically. Diverse 
and representative inputs are key, and the 
community must be engaged with an open 
mind.

2. Principle #2: Develop and Use a Shared 
Vocabulary. Although zoning regulations 
require a certain degree of technical and legal 
language to be effective, they must also be 
accessible, well-organized, internally consistent, 
and written in the vocabulary of the community. 
That means that the way people utilize the 
code and the shared vocabulary people use 
with respect to land development must also be 
identified during the process.

3. Principle #3: Use the Power of the Market 
to Create Value. Regulators and code 
drafters should have an understanding of the 
impacts of their regulations on the market, 
and conversely (within evolving constitutional 
boundaries) they should use the power of the 
market to shape community character and 
deliver community benefits. This understanding 
is best developed through a diverse practice 
that involves representation of public, private, 
and civic interests in matters involving real 
estate transactions, development, land use, and 
constitutional law.

4. Principle #4: Use the Right Tool for the Job—
and Use it Correctly. There are identifiable 
fads and movements in planning and land 
development regulation (Euclidean zoning, 
conditional zoning, planned unit development, 
performance zoning, form-based codes, “smart 
codes,” “hybrid” codes, and so on), but despite 
the hype they sometimes generate, none has 
provided an effective, universal “pre-packaged” 

solution to land use problems. Instead, there 
are simply a growing number of “tools” or 
“approaches” to draw from. In short, in zoning 
(as in all other fields), problems ought to be 
identified and articulated before solutions are 
crafted.

5. Principle #5: Work Very Hard, and Leverage 
the Expertise and Experience of Client Staff. 
Finally, the corollary to principles #1-4, above, 
is that there is still no substitute for creative, 
critical, and collaborative thinking—and hard 
work.

On the one hand, plans are relatively broad 
policy documents. For example, during a plan 
process, the Town may create a narrative about 
what a “small-town feel” means to the Town’s 
residents, in terms of built form, natural areas, 
agriculture, land uses, scale, and personal 
relationships. On the other hand, development 
codes are enforceable rules. For example, during 
the code process, the Town would translate 
the qualitative information from the plan into 
quantitative or qualitative standards, tables, and 
illustrations. 

The Sanderson Stewart / Fairfield and Woods 
team is adept at helping to identify which 
community preferences are worth regulating, 
which tools will be used to regulate them, and 
how those tools will be organized and calibrated. 
While the plan and the code projects are separate 
in terms of their content, they are closely related 
in terms of the approach. Each informs the other.

That is, plans should be drafted with 
implementation in mind. They should set out 
bold visions, but realistic and practical pathways 
to achieve those visions. Likewise, the code 
should be drafted with plan implementation as 
the principal purpose. Each choice made during 
drafting should be guided by the policies and 
objectives of the plan. As such, the project team 
proposes to maintain continuity throughout 
the project in terms of staffing and committee 
involvement, although the relative levels of 
involvement among the project team members will 
shift as the work transitions from plan to code.

9



WORK	PLAN
A. Generally
Sanderson Stewart creates plans with implementation in mind. This means that we will work closely with 
the Town to learn about the Town’s land use decision-making, prioritizing, and capital planning processes 
to make sure that the comprehensive plan and development code use these existing systems to the extent 
they are effective, or build upon or depart from them as appropriate. Successful implementation is not 
just a matter of elaborate tools but of creating plan champions and partnerships with consensus on a 
resonant and realistic vision that ensure the momentum is maintained. We operate under the premise 
that these champions and partnerships are built during the planning process. Our focus is to update the 
comprehensive plan and rewrite the development code that successfully achieve these goals:

• Understand and articulate the existing conditions and the trends that will shape them into the future;

• Recognizes that the Town and its three-mile area’s physical environments are very diverse, and that 
different areas likely have different priorities;

• Engage the community in an outreach and feedback effort that captures the depth, breadth, and 
diversity of perspectives, finds consensus, and creates an actionable community vision-based plan 
centered on priority growth and development topics;

• Identify the central vision, and articulate strategic goals and tactical policies related to land use, growth, 
development, capital planning, and implementation (including code reform);

• Seize the opportunity created by the combined plan and code projects to achieve seamless and effective 
policy direction and plan implementation; and

• Provide an attractive, substantive, and effective document that the Town will use, and that its residents 
can be proud of.

Sanderson Stewart and Fairfield and Woods will be working together seamlessly throughout both facets of 
the project. While Sanderson Stewart will take the lead on the comprehensive plan and Todd Messenger 
of Fairfield and Woods will take the lead on the development code rewrite, both teams will be involved 
throughout. Phase 7, the “Code Bridge” is where the policy work of the comprehensive planning project is 
transitioned to the detailed regulatory work of the development code rewrite. The team will begin to build 
the “Code Bridge” before the comprehensive plan is finished. At key junctures, such as the Public Outreach 
process, the two components of the project will be managed so as to appear seamless to the public.

10 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



The following tasks will be undertaken to begin the process of collaboration 
among the Project Team, the Town, and local residents to ensure that 
expectations and needs are managed and met.

Tasks:
Task 1.1 Project Steering Committee. The team supports the Town’s proposal 
to utilize a Steering Committee in the plan and code process. Sanderson 
Stewart and Fairfield and Woods have used comparable processes successfully 
in previous projects, and will work with Town staff to select the participants. The 
Steering Committee should represent a broad range of interests to reflect the 
greater community. It will provide advice, guidance, and oversight to the Project 
Team and, if practical based on the Steering Committee’s composition and 
experience, take a deep dive into the material to ensure that it is technically 
appropriate for the Town’s circumstances.

Task 1.2 Project Kick-Off Meeting. A first task of the project will be to have 
a Project Kick-Off Meeting with Town Staff, the Steering Committee, and key 
officials, which will serve as an opportunity for the Project Team to meet with 
the key project personnel and participants. Additionally, this meeting will 
serve to discuss and refine the project’s scope, process, schedule, and goals. 
The meeting will also address project organization, staff coordination, and 
procedures for sharing information.

Task 1.3 Review Project Objectives and Identify Key Elements of the 
Plan. As part of the initial kick-off meeting, the project objectives will be 
discussed and refined to evaluate the goals and objectives of the study. The 
Project Team will work with the Steering Committee to prioritize and organize 
the work tasks to ensure the highest priority items are included in the Plan.

Task 1.4 Project Coordination Plan. A Project Coordination Plan will be 
prepared to identify a task-by-task work plan for each deliverable identified in 
the scope of work and prioritized during the project kick-off meeting, to include 
a schedule of activities to be completed, public participation and stakeholder 
involvement, and critical decision points.

• Project Kickoff 
Meeting Agenda and 
Post Meeting Notes

• Project Coordination 
Plan

DELIVERABLES PHASE	1:	Focus	(Kick-Off	and	Initial	Coordination)

B. Phases and Tasks

11



While the Project Team provides expertise, background knowledge, and 
broad and deep planning and implementation experience, ultimately the 
comprehensive plan contents will be generated by the community itself. 
Consequently, the public outreach plan will leverage the community’s 
knowledge and insights to develop actions and opportunities to achieve 
the vision. We understand that the process serves a central role in the plan 
development for the discovery and refinement of the ideas and implementation 
solutions to community challenges.

The Project Team will work with Town staff to create a Public Outreach Plan 
(“POP”) that meets the project needs and budget. The POP will cover the 
comprehensive plan, development code rewrite, and the “Code Bridge” (the 
transition between the two). We believe in designing public outreach that 
goes where the people are and allows them to provide relevant input no 
matter where (or how) they join the process. We will cover the required topics 
(design, density, transportation, etc) at the appropriate level for each juncture 
in the process and communicate with project participants in terms of their own 
vocabularies and experiences.

The POP will provide an opportunity to solidify and build the community 
partnerships that are required to successfully leverage the opportunities that 
are outside the Town’s direct control. Ideally, the POP will engage a mix of local 
leaders and under-represented voices to participate in committees, focus groups, 
events, and one-on-one interviews. This engagement helps to building the trust 
that is needed to implement comprehensive plan goals and objectives, and to 
facilitate the acceptance and administration of the new development code.

Tasks:
Task 2.1 Initial POP, Project Website, and Brand. In Task 2.1, the Project 
Team will create a public outreach plan that will incorporate schedule and 
format for the remaining tasks in this Phase. If desired, Sanderson Stewart’s 
Branding Studio will create a logo and “brand” for the comprehensive plan 
and development code update. This will allow for easy recognition of public 
flyers, documents, and events. The brand will also serve as the foundation for 
a project website, which will create a location for project updates, documents, 
surveys, maps, and other documents relevant to the project. Sanderson Stewart 
will develop and update content for the website, but the Town will host it.  

Task 2.2 Online Engagement and Interactive Mapping. Sanderson 
Stewart has experience with a variety of online outreach tools such as Open 
Town Hall and Online interactive mapping, including the sMapp App (smapapp.
com) and Wikimap.  The Project Team will work with Town staff to decide upon 
the most appropriate digital and interactive outreach tools and techniques. 
Additionally, the Project Team will keep track of the comments received and 
the actions taken on those comments. As the plan moves forward, this tracking 
is an invaluable way to demonstrate and maintain accountability from the 
planning team to the public.

• Public Outreach Plan

• Project Logo / Project 
Website

• Comment tracking 
sheet

• Online engagement 
content

• Public event / 
meeting materials

DELIVERABLES PHASE	2:	Engage	(Identify	Priorities	and	Shared	Values)

12 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



Task 2.3 Public Events. Throughout the plan update, there will be 
opportunities for the community to learn about the plan and code update and 
provide input. As outlined in the schedule, we also hold plan-specific events, 
such as walking tours, ice cream socials, and picnics in the park, where the 
input can be gathered through a facilitated conversation. Throughout the 
project schedule, we will engage with stakeholders and the Steering Committee 
to generate ideas, identify issues, present and discuss completed work, and 
receive feedback on alternatives and plan elements as they are developed. The 
Project Team will track public input and how it is being used in the plan. Specific 
activities include:

• Creating Partnerships: Connecting with existing institutions, organizations, 
and community groups can create the opportunity to develop and nourish 
the partnerships required to successfully leverage the opportunities. We 
have previously presented to Rotary clubs, garden clubs, and high school 
government classes as a method to engage community members not 
otherwise engaged in the planning process. It will be important to seek out 
a diverse group of interested individuals and make sure to include them on 
committees and invite them to events.

• Identifying and Recruiting Plan Champions: An effective plan needs people 
outside of Town Hall to take a direct interest in implementing the plan. 
The public outreach process will seek to identify champions and develop 
community ownership of the plan.

• Conducting Open House Meetings: The open house format allows for 
information to be presented in an informal, yet controlled and in-depth 
manner. We will work to make the open houses compelling through the 
dynamic and interactive presentation of important material. We will look for 
opportunities to combine open houses with other community events so that 
we can go where the people are.

• Meeting Interest Groups: Sanderson Stewart will facilitate meetings with 
particular interest groups identified by Town staff or other stakeholders. The 
POP will address when in the process it is best to hold such meetings.   

Task 2.4 Public Meetings. The official adoption process and the public 
hearings and presentations that go with it are a key part of the public outreach 
process. To make these hearings and meetings as productive as possible, and 
to ensure that there are no “surprises” late in the planning process, the Project 
Team will ensure that elected and appointed officials are involved throughout 
the planning process. As part of the POP, the specific approach, such as having 
elected and appointed officials on the Steering Committee and / or having 
work sessions with those bodies will be determined.

13



Understanding the existing conditions is essential to creating a plan for the 
future. In this phase, the Project Team will evaluate the existing data and 
documents, and examine the physical and economic conditions of the Town. 
Data gathering and analysis for Phase 3 will overlap with Phase 2.

Tasks:
Task 3.1 Review Previous Documents. The Project Team anticipates that 
this project will benefit from the tradition of planning excellence in Johnstown. 
Sanderson Stewart will update the Plan by building from the previous 
documents and by integrating recommendations and implementation measures 
from those plans as appropriate to the Town’s current vision and trajectory. We 
will create consistency with, or transition from, previous plans as appropriate, 
and articulate the relationships and links between the smaller focus areas, the 
Town as a whole, and the larger region.

We will build upon the previous work in three specific ways:

• Plan Audit: We will review existing plans and policies in light of the 
understandings developed during Phase 2, in order to gain deeper 
understanding of the forces that have shaped the existing conditions.

• Existing Conditions: We will meet with Town staff to better understand the 
documents, status of implementation, and key elements that should carry 
through to the plan update.

• Community Conversations: We will meet with appropriate stakeholders to 
understand critical plan elements and key implementation areas.

The goal is for the consultant team to understand and assess the plans and 
provide the opportunity for a dialogue on how the community’s vision, goals, 
and actions are viewed today.

Task 3.2 Conduct Interviews. Interviews with key staff, elected and 
appointed officials, and other stakeholders will provide insights as the team 
constructs the policy framework for the comprehensive plan (identification 
of those to be interviewed, initial topics to be covered, and schedule will 
be discussed during the kick-off meeting in Phase 1). Along with the public 
outreach and meetings, these interviews help to shape the community vision 
narrative and identify and test emerging priorities.  

Task 3.3 Review Existing Conditions. Sanderson Stewart will evaluate 
land use, demographics, economic conditions, housing stock, public facilities, 
environmentally sensitive areas, natural resource areas, circulation, street 
infrastructure conditions based on planning-level field work and existing data 
sources. Existing conditions review will include identifying opportunities and 
constraints within the downtown area. 

• Plan Audit Report

• Interview questions 
and notes

• Existing Conditions 
Background 
Summary Report

• Base maps

DELIVERABLES PHASE	3:	Investigate	(Review	Existing	Conditions)

14 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



Task 3.4 Prepare Base Maps. The plan will depict conditions and ideas 
visually as well as textually. The “base map” is the graphic and analytical 
foundation upon which many of the visual elements of the plan are constructed. 
It is used to show existing conditions, future land use, conceptual designs, 
critical areas, important natural resources, key assets that shape “small town” 
character, and more. In this task, the Project Team will prepare a base map 
to include street network, natural resources and natural features, significant 
building locations, and other pertinent information. Available data will be used, 
with sources including publicly available GIS, Town records, and county records.

Task 3.5 Prepare Background Report. The culmination of this phase 
will result in the preparation of a background report and summary of the 
existing conditions. This report will be submitted to the Town and the Steering 
Committee for review and comment. Revisions will be incorporated and a final 
report will be issued, to be included in the final plan.

Using the input and narratives created through public outreach and existing 
conditions analysis, The Project Team will work closely with Town Staff, the 
Steering Committee, and other stakeholders to develop and iterate the 
Community Vision and the land use and development goals and objectives.

Tasks:
Task 4.1 Community Vision Statement and Narrative. Working with 
staff and stakeholders, and using the input gathered during the public outreach 
process, a “working vision” will be created to serve as a reference during the 
development of goals and objectives.

Task 4.2 Goals and Objectives. This task begins the implementation 
process and answers the questions, “How do we achieve our vision?” and “How 
will we know if we are making progress?” Goals and objectives for relevant 
areas, along with their attendant draft indicators, will be developed during 
this task. Additionally, regulatory tools that may help achieve these goals will 
be conceptually identified. Identifying potential implementation strategies in 
conjunction with the goals and objectives allows the Project Team and project 
participants to more smoothly transition between the planning effort and the 
development code effort.

Task 4.3 Plan Elements. Once the Community Vision, Goals, and Objectives 
are in draft form, the Project Team will integrate and iterate them into the 
comprehensive plan elements. These Elements: recreation and tourism, 
economic development, sustainability, transportation and mobility, natural 
resources, housing, branding, historic resources, hazards and risk management, 
equity / diversity, water, open space, natural areas, and recreation, will form 
the basis of the draft comprehensive plan, to be put together in Phase 6.

• Draft Vision 
Statement and 
Narrative

• Draft Goals and 
Objectives

• Draft Elements 
analysis

• Draft Land Use 
Framework Map

• Sub-Area and 
corridor evaluation

DELIVERABLES PHASE	4:	Evaluate,	Draft,	Iterate

15



Task 4.4 Land Use Framework Map and Growth Management 
Areas (“GMAs”). In this task, the land use framework map, including the 
GMA boundaries, will be updated. Potential approaches for this work include a 
buildable lands analysis that ensures protection of prime farmland and water 
sources, or representations of different development densities. In every case, 
the question will continually be asked, “what does the community vision and 
narrative look like on the ground?”

Task 4.5 Evaluate Sub-Areas and Corridors. In this task, areas where 
there is a potential need for subsequent more detailed planning efforts will 
be identified and evaluated.  Tasks include establishing criteria, purpose, and 
intended outcomes for the plan development. Preliminary neighborhood or 
corridor planning boundaries can be developed, to be refined at the time of the 
actual planning efforts.

The development of strategies for plan implementation begins during the 
plan drafting phases. Of course, zoning and subdivision controls are principal 
implementation tools, but they are not the only tools. Sanderson Stewart will 
work closely with the Town and the Steering Committee to develop strategies 
for implementation of the priorities and changes identified through the 
planning process. We consider this to be a key to the document and a roadmap 
for the community to move forward. 

Tasks:
Task 5.1 Implementation Strategy Development. This task will consider 
all previous work to date to establish workable and realistic implementation 
strategies. These will include the identification of development opportunities 
and constraints including site-specific opportunities and the financial tools and 
mechanisms available to act on them. The strategies identified in Phase 4 will 
be collected, tested and refined. The internal planning and operations systems 
of the Town will be examined, and recommendations will be made regarding 
how best to integrate the comprehensive plan into those systems to facilitate 
implementation.

Task 5.2 Performance Indicators. Performance indicators can be a useful 
implementation tool in that they create easily understandable and reportable 
information, but also because the process of tracking and reporting them 
keeps the plan relevant. However, indicators must be carefully designed and 
selected to ensure that they are relevant and that they are used. We propose 
an indicator session with the Steering Committee to select those that will be 
included in the plan.

• Draft Implementation 
Strategies

• Performance 
Indicators including 
meeting materials

• Cost estimates

• Draft Annual Work 
Plan

DELIVERABLES PHASE	5:	Implementation	and	Measurement

16 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



Task 5.3 Cost Estimates and Capital Planning. Sanderson Stewart 
has extensive experience in creating cost estimates for planning, civil and 
infrastructure projects. Planning level cost estimates will be created for 
the capital and planning projects identified through the planning process. 
Sanderson Stewart has experience managing capital improvement plans and 
understands the information that is required to allow for effective decision 
making.  

Task 5.4 Annual Work Plan. Developing a priority of tasks into an annual 
work plan can be useful for communities seeking to implement multiple 
activities in a given year or have different stakeholders responsible for the 
implementation. A work plan will be developed and incorporated into the 
comprehensive plan update.

Assembling the previous work products and refinements into one consolidated plan 
will be the focus of this phase.

Tasks:
Task 6.1 Draft Plan Document. The culmination of the previous tasks will be 
an easily readable plan that identifies goals, objectives, and strategies. This will 
be the complete document that includes all the required elements, supporting 
graphics, illustrations, analysis, implementation strategies, and appendices that 
include previous work products. Recommendations will be clearly identified and 
classified into short, medium, and long-term time horizons.

Task 6.2 Public Review of Draft Plan. Prior to formal adoption, the draft 
plan will be released for another iteration of public review and comment. The 
documents will be available via electronic format and in print for all community 
members to have the opportunity to participate. Following this public review 
(provided that there is adequate time prior to scheduled adoption hearings), the 
Project Team will evaluate the comments and meet with the Steering Committee 
to identify revisions to be incorporated into the public hearing plan document.

Task 6.3 Finalize Plan / Adoption. The Project Team will incorporate all 
remaining revisions from the community, Steering Committee, and City as 
appropriate, and submit a public hearing plan document for consideration 
in the formal plan approval process.  The Task includes Planning and Zoning 
Commission and Town Council public hearings. Sanderson Stewart will prepare 
materials for these hearings and, if requested by Town Staff, will present the 
public hearing plan document. 

• Draft Comprehensive 
Plan

• Public hearing 
materials

• Final comprehensive 
plan

• Map and graphic 
packages

DELIVERABLES PHASE	6:	Completion	and	Adoption

17



Plans are broad and flexible. That is how they endure over long-range planning 
horizons. Codes are specific, and while they may also be flexible, they contain 
a significantly greater level of detail than plans. That way, they can provide 
meaningful rules and meet the essential requirements of the due process 
clauses of the state and federal constitutions. 

Consequently, there is a natural (and necessary) “gap” between plans and 
codes. In Phase 7, the Project Team (in this Phase led by Fairfield and Woods, 
P.C.) creates a “Code Bridge” document to bridge the gap. In this Phase, there is 
a handoff of substantive project management and development of deliverables 
from Sanderson Stewart to Fairfield and Woods.

The Code Bridge is a strategic document that sets forth the proposed 
organization of the code, the regulatory priorities and tools that may be used to 
address them, and the key legal and process issues that the code will address. It 
is part assessment of the current regulatory approach (e.g., identifying the tools 
and standards in the current codes, including PUD approvals, that are effective), 
and part rough outline of the proposed structure and approach of the new 
development code. 

The Code Bridge is not incorporated into the comprehensive plan because it is 
too detailed, and it is not incorporated into the development code because it 
is not detailed enough. It is different from the Implementation Strategy that is 
developed during Phase 5 (which is part of the plan) because it is specific to the 
process of creating a development code. 

Ultimately, the Code Bridge focuses the work of Code project, ensures that it is 
closely tied to the plan, and provides a preliminary overview of the new code to 
help project participants navigate the details as they are rolled out. Unlike the 
more general implementation strategy that is included in the plan, the Code 
Bridge becomes moot once the new Development Code is adopted.

Tasks:
Task 7.1 Creation of Code Bridge. The Project Team will review existing 
development codes, synthesize the information developed in Tasks 1 through 6, 
and work with Town Staff in order to develop the Code Bridge document.

Task 7.2 Approval of Code Bridge. The project team will present the Code 
Bridge to members of the Steering Committee and then to a joint meeting of 
the Planning and Zoning Commission and the Town Council. The project team 
will request Town Council approval of the Code Bridge as the “roadmap” for 
moving the development code rewrite component of the project forward.

• Code Bridge 
document

• Presentation 
materials

DELIVERABLES PHASE	7:	Bridge	the	Gap	(the	“Code	Bridge”)

18 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



The Project Team, in this Phase led by Fairfield and Woods, P.C., provides a 
thoughtful approach to code reform that synthesizes the planning objectives, 
community values, legal context, physical context, market realities, and 
administrative capabilities, and generates regulations that respond to that 
context. The team applies its extensive experience with drafting and calibrating 
a variety of regulatory tools and approaches in order to create a code that 
implements the plan in a manner that reflects the community’s values, 
priorities, and administrative capabilities. 

This is an iterative process. The Project Team will work with Town staff, 
the Steering Committee, elected and appointed officials, residents, and 
stakeholders to identify specific, “code-level” issues and articulate known and 
foreseeable challenges, suggest approaches, and then test those approaches. 
Next, the team will draft proposed language, test it, and repeat—with either 
a revised approach or a revised language, as appropriate—in order to tailor 
regulations that serve multiple objectives.

The process is difficult, so fundamentally, the Project Team believes that it 
has to be engaging and rewarding. Generally, the team favors a focused, yet 
conversational approach that stimulates discussion and affirmatively seeks 
perspective and input from participants. In the end, participants in the process 
know that they are heard, respected, and empowered to contribute to the 
regulations that will guide the future development of the community.

Phases 8 and 9 are set on an aggressive schedule (see next page) in 
accordance with the scope of work in the RFP. While the Project Team is 
fully capable of delivering on this schedule, our clients have often preferred 
to lengthen the schedule by a few months to ensure that new ideas that 
are introduced during the process are given the time they need to be fully 
processed and accepted by the community. The Project Team is prepared to 
work with the Town to create a schedule that fits the Town’s expectations.

Tasks:
Task 8.1 Steering Committee Engagement. During this Task, the Project 
Team will engage with the Steering Committee in an iterative process of issue 
identification, tool selection, tool calibration, and regulatory drafting. There are 
two general ways to accomplish the task, and the appropriate technique will 
depend upon the level of comfort the Steering Committee has with reviewing 
the details of regulatory language.

First, the Project Team could draft an issue outline (setting out issues and 
potential policy choices, relevant regulatory “tools,” and alternative ways that 
the tools could be used to address the issues), and use the outline as a basis 

• 6 “issue outlines” in 
PDF format

• 3 to 6 code 
“modules” 
(depending upon 
the approach of the 
Steering Committee)

• A copy of the 
complete discussion 
draft code in PDF 
format

• A conceptual zoning 
map

• Presentation 
materials for 
Planning and 
Zoning Commission 
and Town Council 
meetings and Open 
Houses

DELIVERABLES PHASE	8:	Iterative	Code	Drafting

(continued on page 22)

19



0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

PHASE 1: Focus (Kick-Off and Initial Coordination)

CONCEPTUAL	PROJECT	SCHEDULE

1.1 Steering committee & 1.2 Kickoff

1.3 Review project objectives / identify key elements

1.4 Project coordination plan

PHASE 2: Engage (Identify Priorities and Shared Values)

2.1 Initial POP, project website, and brand

2.2 Online engagement and interactive mapping

2.3 Public events & 2.4 Public meetings 

PHASE 3: Investigate (Review Existing Conditions)

3.1 Review previous documents

3.2 Conduct interviews

3.3 Review existing conditions & 3.4 Prepare base maps

3.5 Prepare background report

PHASE 4: Investigate (Review Existing Conditions)

4.1 Community vision statement and narrative

4.2 Goals and objectives & 4.3 Plan elements

4.4 Land use framework map and GMAs

4.5 Evaluate sub-areas and corridors

PHASE 5: Implementation and Measurement

5.1 Implementation strategy development

5.2 Performance indicators

5.3 Cost estimates and capital planning

5.4 Annual work plan

PHASE 6: Completion and Adoption

6.1 Draft plan document

6.2 Public review of draft plan & 6.3 Finalize plan/adoption 

PHASE 7: Code Bridge

7.1 Creation of code bridge & 7.2 Approval of code bridge

PHASE 8: Iterative Code Drafting

8.1 Steering Committee engagement

8.2 Reporting and refinement

8.3 Creation of draft code and map

PHASE 9: Code Adoption

9.1 Creation of public hearing code and map

9.2 Presentation of public hearing code and map

9.3 Finalization of code and map

20 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

PHASE 1: Focus (Kick-Off and Initial Coordination)

PHASE 2: Engage (Identify Priorities and Shared Values)

PHASE 3: Investigate (Review Existing Conditions)

PHASE 4: Investigate (Review Existing Conditions)

PHASE 5: Implementation and Measurement

PHASE 6: Completion and Adoption

PHASE 7: Code Bridge

PHASE 8: Iterative Code Drafting

PHASE 9: Code Adoption

Key

Meeting, Open House, or Hearing 

Multiple Meetings on Same Day

Ongoing Process

Process

21



for discussion at a Steering Committee meeting. From there, the team would 
simultaneously: 

• Draft a “module” of Code (a large “chunk” of interrelated code 
provisions) that addresses the issues in the outline according to the 
Steering Committee discussion; and 

• Draft the next issue outline. 

This process would iterate four times, with Steering Committee time after 
the first meeting split between reviewing the draft code and discussing the 
next issue outline. This is the technique that is outlined in the proposed 
project schedule. Todd applied this technique to develop the award-winning 
Valparaiso (Indiana) Unified Development Code.

Second, the Project Team could use Steering Committee meeting time 
for exclusively policy-level discussion, using issue outlines to focus that 
discussion. From there, Steering Committee members and others could 
submit technical comments on the code draft in the same manner as other 
members of the public. This keeps the Steering Committee focused at the 
conceptual level, and allows individual members to deepen their involvement 
by reviewing actual code on their own time. Todd applied a version of 
this technique to develop the award-winning Centennial Colorado Land 
Development Code, the Loveland Unified Development Code, and the 
Alamosa Unified Development Code.

Task 8.2 Reporting and Refinement. During the process of iterative 
work with the Steering Committee, the Project Team will meet with the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council two times (at joint 
meetings if possible) to verify that they support the direction of the project, 
to answer questions, and to recalibrate as appropriate. The Project Team 
will also host an open house in order to provide information to community 
residents and business owners and to solicit feedback from them. This Task 
of reporting and refinement allows the Project Team to “truth test” the work 
of the Steering Committee to ensure that it is reflective of shared community 
values and preferences. The information developed during this Task helps to 
identify what may otherwise be last-minute issues that experience shows can 
derail code reform projects during the adoption phase.

Task 8.3 Creation of Draft Code and Map. During this Task, the results 
of Tasks 8.1 and 8.2 will be refined into a discussion draft, and Sanderson 
Stewart will create a conceptual zoning map to show how the proposed 
zoning districts should be applied. Further, a summary presentation of the 
Code and Map will be developed for the Planning and Zoning Commission 
and Town Council, and for public education purposes. The summary will 
highlight the major features of the proposed Code and how it relates to the 
City’s plans and project objectives. The documents developed during this Task 
will be released for public comment using tools identified in the POP.

(continued from page 19)

22 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



In this Phase, the Project Team will finalize the code and map documents for 
adoption, and will present them at formal adoption hearings (and, if requested 
by the Town, Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council workshops).

Tasks:
Task 9.1 Creation of Public Hearing Code and Map. During this Task, 
the Project Team will revise the discussion draft code and zoning map as 
appropriate to reflect input from Task 8.3.

Task 9.2 Presentation of Public Hearing Code and Map. During this 
Task, the Project Team will present the public hearing versions of the Code 
and zoning map to a meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission and a 
meeting of the Town Council. At the request of the Town, the scope of work 
could be expanded to include Commission and Council workshops as well.

Task 9.3 Finalization of Code and Map. During this Task, the Project Team 
will finalize the code and map to include any changes requested by the Town 
Council at public hearing, and will provide final deliverables to the Town in 
paper and electronic format.

• A copy of the 
complete public 
hearing draft code in 
PDF format

• A final zoning map

• Presentation 
materials for 
Planning and 
Zoning Commission 
and Town Council 
meetings

DELIVERABLES PHASE	9:	Code	Adoption

23



FEE	PROPOSAL

Project Budget
Phase 1: Focus (Kick-Off and Initial Coordination) $5,000
Phase 2: Engage (Identify Priorities and Shared Values) $40,000
Phase 3: Investigate (Review Existing Conditions) $15,000
Phase 4: Evaluate, Draft, Iterate $45,000
Phase 5: Implementation and Measurement $20,000
Phase 6: Completion and Adoption $15,000
Phase 7: Bridge the Gap (the “Code Bridge”) $10,000
Phase 8: Iterative Code Drafting $125,000
Phase 9: Code Adoption $5,000
Total: $280,000

The fee proposal presented below is based on our interpretation of a scope of work that would meet 
the requirements of the RFP. However, there are many ways to approach a project of this nature, 
including reallocation of certain responsibilities between the consultant team and Town staff, and we 
would welcome the opportunity to work with the Town to develop a scope and budget that optimizes 
the Town’s available resources while producing the desired results.

24 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



HOURLY	RATES 

Staff Personnel Services
Expert Witness/Special Consultant $  265.00 /hour
Principal $  185.00 /hour
Senior Engineer I $  145.00 /hour
Senior Engineer II $ 170.00 / hour
Project Engineer I $ 110.00 /hour
Project Engineer II $ 120.00 / hour
Staff Engineer I $ 95.00 /hour
Staff Engineer II $ 105.00 / hour
Engineer Intern $   65.00 /hour
Senior Land Planner $  135.00 /hour
Land Planner $  130.00 /hour
Right-of-Way Agent $  135.00 /hour
Landscape Architect $  115.00 /hour
Senior Landscape Architect I $  125.00 / hour
Senior Landscape Architect II $  140.00 / hour
Landscape Designer I $ 80.00 /hour
Landscape Designer II $ 100.00 / hour
Senior Professional Land Surveyor $  135.00 /hour
Professional Land Surveyor $  115.00 /hour
Staff Surveyor I $   85.00 /hour
Staff Surveyor II $ 100.00 / hour
Field Survey Technician I $   75.00 /hour
Marketing Director $  125.00 /hour
Graphic Artist $   95.00 /hour
Photographer $  180.00 /hour
Web Developer $   90.00 /hour
Senior Designer I $   95.00 /hour
Senior Designer II $ 105.00 / hour
Designer $   90.00 /hour
CAD Technician $   80.00 /hour
Senior Construction Engineering Technician $  115.00 /hour
Construction Engineering Technician $   85.00 /hour
Construction Inspector $   80.00 /hour
Project Administrator $   75.00 /hour
Administrative/Clerical $   70.00 /hour
Subconsultant Fairfield and Woods, P.C. (Todd Messenger, Esq.) $ 300.00 /hour

25



COMPATIBILITY

PHYSICAL FACTORS

Historic context

Building scale

Architectural style

Building placement

Building massing

Rhythm of solids and voids

Building intensity

Auto trip generation

Noise

Lighting

Dust, smoke, odors, EMF

Traffic movements

External risks (projectiles; explosions; hazardous materials)

Hours of operation / peak hours

Stormwater runoff

Security / crime

Blighting influences

Parking overflow

Heavy truck trip generation

Outdoor storage

Structures / outdoor equipment

Access

FUNCTIONAL FACTORS

Frontage type

Use synergies / critical mass

Landscaping / fences

Building orientation

Signage

Window and door openings Vehicular / pedestrian conflict

Cladding materials and color

Views; geo hazards; school impacts; marginal impacts on infrastructure and services

The “compatibility” of new development with existing development is always a concern for communities. 
Indeed, Johnstown’s current zoning and subdivision codes use the word “compatible” or “compatibility” in 
15 different sections. However, the word “compatibility,” on its own, does not necessarily lead to consistent 
decision-making. That is, different decision-makers will interpret the word in different ways in each 
individual circumstance.

Consequently, Sanderson Stewart and Fairfield and Woods focus in on more than 30 different factors 
(illustrated above) that influence whether one land use or development is “compatible” with another. 
Planning policies address which elements are priorities in each area of the Town, and zoning regulations 
ensure “compatibility” by addressing these priority elements using techniques like landscape buffering, 
spacing, location requirements, operational limitations, design standards, and a variety of other 
performance standards. 

26 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



SIMILAR	WORK	EXPERIENCE

A. City of Loveland Comprehensive Plan
Reference:
Steve Adams, City Manager
City of Loveland
970.962.2306
Steve.adams@cityofloveland.org

While the senior long-range planner in Loveland, 
Colorado Karl Barton was the project manager 
for Create Loveland, the City’s most recent 
comprehensive plan. As the project manager he 
was responsible for scoping the plan and defining 
its purpose, role, and goals within the community 
and Loveland’s planning framework. He led the 
consultant selection process, including drafting the 
RFP, creating the scoring criteria, and managing the 
selection committee. As the project manager, Karl 
was responsible for all aspect of the plan: working 
with the consultant team to draft and implement 
the public outreach plan, create the plan structure, 
and draft the plan content. He was the public face of 
the plan and led and coordinated the plan adoption. 
Through this experience and his experience at Sanderson 
Stewart, Karl understands how to draft an effective and 
implementable plan from both the public sector and 
consultant perspectives. 

Project Results: Goals from the Comprehensive Plan were included directly into the 
capital planning process.

27



B. City of Dillon, Montana 
Growth Policy & Downtown Plan
Reference:
Michael L. Klakken, Mayor
City of Dillon
406.683.4245
mayor@dillonmt.org

The Dillon Community Plan updated the City’s 
growth policy (comprehensive plan) to address 
changing community conditions and include a plan 
specifically for downtown. Dillon, Montana is a rural 
community of 5,000 located in southwest Montana. 
Home to University of Montana Western, some of 
the country’s best trout fishing, and an economy 
largely driven by the surrounding farms and ranches, 
Dillon’s population includes students, ranchers and 
outdoor enthusiasts. The Community Plan focuses on 
infrastructure, long term growth priorities, economic 
development and public services. Through a series of 
public meetings, walking tours, a community survey, 
and regular work sessions with the Planning Board, 
the Community Plan reflects the vision of the citizens 
with specific goals, statements, and actions items. 
Sanderson Stewart worked with the Dillon Main 
Street group to prepare a plan that would reflect the 
goals of the City while helping them advance with 
the Montana Main Street Program. The plan focused 
on the four elements of the Main Street program: 
economic restructuring, promotions, organization 
and design. Additionally, the plan identified goals 
and actions for preservation and enhancements 
of the historic downtown. The Plan identifies 
specific action items to achieve the goals set by the 
community.

Project Results: Since the adoption of the plan in 
2016, progress has been made on several initiates:

City of Dillon has submitted and received a grant to 
complete streetscape improvements along Montana 
Avenue. Design is underway.

The Dillon Community Foundation successfully 
raised $427,000 to improve the downtown park 
with a splash pad and playground. Additional park 
improvements including an amphitheater and public 
restrooms are also planned.

Before & After: Proposed Downtown Dillon Improvements

28 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



C. City of Glendive  
Downtown Plan
Reference:
Jerry Jimison, Mayor
City of Glendive
406.377.3318 ext. 11
mayor@midrivers.com

Armed with funds from the Montana Main Street 
Program, The City of Glendive, Building Active 
Glendive, Glendive Chamber of Commerce, and 
the Greater Glendive Community Foundation 
came together with the goal of creating a feasible 
downtown master plan so that the Glendive 
residents and visitors could start seeing upgrades 
and beautification in their community. This would 
be the City of Glendive’s first downtown master 
plan, which meant that changes would most likely 
need to be incremental as more funding and 
community support developed. Sanderson Stewart’s 
Placemaking Studio was tasked with creating a 
list of prioritized action items that could follow the 
City’s need for incremental implementation so that 
starting with small changes and big goals, over 
time, Glendive residents would start to see changes 
in their downtown community. Sanderson Stewart’s 
Placemaking Studio provided: master planning, 
community evaluation, historic resource assessment, 
economic analysis, placemaking opportunities, 
mobility and access information, hosted public input 
meetings, and created master plan documents for 
City adoption.

Project Results: Since the adoption of the plan 
in December 2017, the Glendive community has 
been busy implementing the improvements to the 
railroad underpass adjacent to downtown. Serving 
as the access between downtown and the popular 
Makoshika State Park, the Barry Street underpass 
has been transformed.

“I want to thank you for all of your help and hard work 
on the project. We could not have done it without you. 
From the first meeting through the final document you 
have brought the expertise and professionalism that we 
needed. The final product will be something we can all 
be proud of. I particularly appreciate your facilitation 
skills and patience answering questions and listening 
to suggestions. I’ve learned a lot in the process and 
your impact on our little town will be felt for a long 
time. Hopefully we will have the opportunity to work 
with you and Sanderson Stewart in the future.”
- Dillon Planning Board Member, Ed Mooney

Proposed Placemaking Improvements in Glendive, Montana

29



D. City of Laurel Gateway Strategic Plan
Reference:
Noel Eaton, City Planner
City of Laurel
406.628.4796

Sanderson Stewart teamed with EPS in the creation of a Development Strategy Plan for the Laurel Urban 
Renewal District. The plan assessed the opportunities and constraints within the district, identified economic 
benefits of redevelopment and created an overall marketing strategy to support existing business and 
attract new targeted industries. The study identified projects that can act as a catalyst for private investment 
in the community. Development strategies, action items and a work plan was created for the District board 
to assist in the implementation of the plan.

Project Results: The Laurel Gateway Plan focused on creating action items for the urban renewal district in 
order to prioritize funding and advance the goals of the district. Since the adoption of the plan, a building 
façade improvement program has been creating, granting over $75,000 annually since 2015. Additionally, 
the district worked to create infrastructure improvements to attract redevelopment activities. One of the first 
projects involved the installation of pedestrian crossings that improved access between businesses along a 
busy corridor. The district has also extended public utilities, spurring additional economic development in 
the area.

The Placemaking Studio-hosted Ice Cream Social Gained 
Valuable Project Feedback From Laurel Residents

30 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal



E. Anaconda Downtown Master Plan
Reference:
Jim Davison, Executive Director
Anaconda Local Development Corp.
406.6563.5538
jim.davison@aldc.org

Anaconda-Deer Lodge County became part of the Montana Main Street Program in 2015. Sanderson 
Stewart worked with Anaconda Local Development Corporation to prepare a plan that would reflect the 
goals for downtown while helping them advance with the Main Street Program. The community of 9,000 
residents wanted to develop an action plan to address issues within the community and building an 
economic base centered on its downtown.

The plan focused on the four elements of the Main Street program: economic restructuring, promotions, 
organization and design. Additionally, the plan identified goals and actions for preservation and 
enhancements of the historic downtown. Through public meetings, walking tours, community surveys, and 
meetings with the staff, the Downtown Plan identifies specific action items to achieve the goals set by the 
community.

31



F.	 City	of	Loveland	Unified	Development	Code
Reference:
Brett Limbaugh, Director of 
Development Services
City of Loveland
970.962.2777

Fairfield and Woods was the 
principal consultant in the 
recent consolidation of the City 
of Loveland’s development 
related codes and guidelines 
(three chapters of the Loveland 
Municipal Code, as well as 
several design guidelines 
documents) into a single Unified 
Development Code (“UDC”). 
Prior to joining Sanderson 
Stewart, Karl Barton was a key 
City Staff member on the project.

The UDC was designed to 
implement the City’s recently 
adopted “Create Loveland” 
Comprehensive Plan. The 
City describes the UDC as 
“more resilient, flexible, 
comprehensive, and responsive 
to modern development trends” 
than the prior regulations. 

Procedurally, the UDC reduces 
reliance on open-ended development review procedures like planned unit development (“PUD”) and 
creates flexibility within “straight-zones” that allow for (and encourage) creative and market-responsive 
development. The range of land uses that must go through public hearings prior to approval is reduced 
and those subject to administrative decision-making based on clear standards is correspondingly increased. 
In addition to this procedural streamlining and modernization, the UDC reconciled and resolved a number 
of internal inconsistencies that were present in the prior codes.

On substance, the new UDC addresses emerging and desirable uses and patterns such as micro homes, 
cluster development, mixed-use, walkable “complete neighborhoods,” and smaller lot sizes for single-family 
detached homes. It creates a new zoning district for the City’s downtown in order to reinforce its essential 
character, and opens up residential zoning districts that are used for new development so that a “complete 
neighborhood” with a mix of land uses can be created without PUD procedures or multiple rezonings. 

The Loveland UDC was created in enCodePlus™, and is published online at:

http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/loveland-co/ 

Project Results: The Unified Development Code was adopted unanimously by the Loveland City Council in 
December 2018 and became effective in January 2019.

32 Town of Johnstown Comprehensive Plan Update & Development Code Rewrite Proposal

http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/loveland-co/


G.	 City	of	Alamosa	Unified	Development	Code
Reference:
Heather Brooks, City Manager
City of Alamosa
719.589.2593

Fairfield and Woods was the principal 
consultant in the consolidation of the 
City of Alamosa’s development related 
codes into a single Unified Development 
Code (“UDC”). The UDC was designed to 
implement the City’s Comprehensive Plan, 
and the UDC project was sequenced with the 
Comprehensive Plan project such that there 
was a quick and seamless transition between 
the two. The planning project commenced 
in November 2015, the plan was adopted in 
January 2017, and the UDC was adopted in 
December 2017.

The UDC project began with a Strategic 
Assessment document that provided 11 
recommendations for Comprehensive Plan 
implementation and eight recommendations 
for code organization and procedural 
reform. The UDC incorporated all 19 
recommendations. 

The new UDC streamlines the development 
review process by creating standardized 
procedures for all application types, and 
by offering more administrative decision-
making based on articulated standards, and 
meaningful flexibility within straight zoning 
districts. The UDC introduced four new zoning 
districts that address current patterns, new 
development in greenfields, and anticipated 
re-use and infill development: a mixed-use 
district, a downtown (“CBD”) district, a campus 
district (for master-planned campuses), and an 
established neighborhoods district. 

The Alamosa UDC is published online at:

https://library.municode.com/co/alamosa/
codes

Project Results: The Unified Development Code was adopted unanimously by the Alamosa City Council in 
December 2017 and became effective in January 2018.

33

https://library.municode.com/co/alamosa/codes 
https://library.municode.com/co/alamosa/codes 


A
P
P
EN

D
IX

: R
ESU

M
ES



EXPERIENCE

JOHN TUFTE, PE

 � ELCO I-25 and Vine Drive Water Line Replacement, East 

Larimer County, Colorado

 � FedEx Facility Design and Subsequent Expansion, 

Johnstown, Colorado*

 � Ironhorse Industrial Park, Quality Control, Johnstown, 

Colorado*

 � Roosevelt High School (School District RE-5J) ADA 

Accessibility Improvements, Concessions Building, Parking, 

and Transit Facility, Johnstown, Colorado*

 � School Site Assessments for School District RE-5J, Johnstown 

and Milliken, Colorado*

 � Town of Milliken Principal Consultant, Stormwater Utility 

Assistance, Little Thompson Sewer Crossing, Plan Review 

Assistance, Miscellaneous Town Concepts, Milliken, 

Colorado*

 � Village East Subdivision Construction Design Services 

(Drainage, Irrigation, Streets, Water, Sanitary Sewer), 

Windsor, Colorado*

 � City of Loveland: Public Improvement Construction Plans for 

Centerra Parkway (County Road 5), Loveland, Colorado*

 � Centerra Development & Great Western Campus 

Engineering, Loveland & Windsor, Colorado*

Project Manager: duties include project visioning, planning and design; resource 
allocation; client communications; and team leadership.*work completed while 
with previous employer.

EDUCATION

John joined Sanderson Stewart in 2017 as a Principal and Colorado 
Region Manager in Fort Collins. He is a Montana State University 
graduate and a Sanderson Stewart alum, having worked at the firm in 
the 1990s before moving to Colorado to pursue a master’s degree in 
Civil Engineering from Colorado State University, and eventually, an 
MBA. John’s expertise includes infrastructure design, due diligence 
investigations, master planning and value engineering, commercial 
site development, municipal infrastructure design, residential site 
development, GIS, owner’s representation, sustainable and low impact 
designs, stormwater management and more.

p 1-970-893-1688
jtufte@sandersonstewart.com
www.sandersonstewart.com

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC AFFILIATIONS

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

Colorado State University, Fort Collins
M.B.A., 2011

M.S., Civil Engineering, 2003

Montana State University, Bozeman
B.S., Civil Engineering, 1999

Colorado State University Institute for the Built 
Environment Green Building Certificate Program, 2005

Professional Engineer, Colorado 
#34935

Professional Engineer, Montana
#11434 PE

LEED Accredited Professional

American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE), Member

 ASCE Utility Engineering and Surveying Institute, Member

Lookout Village HOA, Fraser, CO, Former President

Rocky Mountain High School Career Days, Past Participant

Fort Collins Soccer Club, Former Youth Soccer Coach

Previous Employer’s City of Fort Collins Climate Wise, 
Former Liason

Previous Board Member for the Colorado Water Innovation 
Cluster (CWIC)



EXPERIENCE

KARL BARTON, AICP

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC AFFILIATIONS

PUBLICATIONS & PRESENTATIONS

 � “Create Loveland” Comprehensive Plan Creation and 

Management including drafting, scope, schedule, budget, 

and subconsultant coordination, Loveland, Colorado

 � Managed regional growth management projects focused 

on intergovernmental agreements to facilitate cooperation 

around annexation and infrastructure, Loveland and Johnstown 

Colorado

 � Worked with Todd Messenger on the City of Loveland Unified 

Code Development focused on translating the comprehensive 

plan into code, the creation of new residential zoning districts, 

and aligning zoning processes with the development process, 

Loveland, Colorado

 � Drafted zoning code for Downtown Loveland including design 

guidelines and form based code elements for commercial and 

residential infill in a historic context, Loveland, Colorado

 � Participated/managed projects related to land use and 

infrastructure, including two transportation master plans, 

a bicycle and pedestrian master plan, raw water master 

plans, sewer tap and flow yield analyses, Loveland 

Colorado and Bozeman, Montana

 � Capital planning and plan implementation with analysis of 

land use patterns and fiscal sustainability

 � Proficient in GIS including data creation and analysis

 � Represents multiple developers through the entitlement process 

Senior Planner: duties include project visioning, planning and design; resource 
allocation; client communications; and team leadership.

EDUCATION

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

University of Denver, Denver
M.S., Real Estate Development and Finance, 2017

University of Colorado, Denver
Masters of Urban Design, 2006

Masters of Urban and Regional Planning, 2006

University of Colorado, Boulder
B.A., Economics, 2004

B.S., Business Administration, 2004

American Institute of Certified Planners (AICP) 

Beta Gamma Sigma Business Honor Society, member

Tau Sigma Delta Architectural Honor Society, member

NAIOP Mixed Use Plan Challenge Contest Team, member

Guest Lecturer at University of Denver Daniels College of 
Business, Land use planning and development topics

Guest Panelist, American Planning Association  Colorado 
Chapter, “How Health Happened: Envisioning Public Health 

in Comprehensive Plans: Stories from
Loveland, Longmont, Arvada and beyond!”, 2017

Various presentations on topics including: “The Use of 
Indicators & Metrics in Comprehensive Plans”, “Integrating 

Public Health & the Built Environment”, and “The Impact of 
Development Codes & Zoning on Infill Development”

Karl joined the firm in 2017 as Senior Planner in the Placemaking 
Studio. Since 2007, he has worked as an urban planner, leading projects 
such as comprehensive, corridor and transportation plans, entitlement 
project management, creating development code and design guidelines 
for downtowns, he managed and crafted the “Create Loveland” 
Comprehensive Plan; Karl oversaw the drafting, scope, schedule, 
budget, and subconsultant coordination for the comprehensive plan. 
He understands how zoning codes are created and how they are 
implemented from all perspectives. He was a key participant in the 
drafting of Unified Development Code that translated the plan into 
zoning. He also drafted the zoning code for Downtown Loveland that 
includes form based and character district elements. He has worked on a 
variety of design guidelines and corridor and small area plans. Working 
to bring development projects to fruition, he has interacted with many 
zoning codes and knows what works. 

p 1-303-263-4370
kbarton@sandersonstewart.com

www.sandersonstewart.com

HONORS & AWARDS

Merit Award:Innovative Partnerships & Collaborations, 
“Create Loveland” comprehensive plan team,

 APA Colorado Chapter, 2017

Outstanding Graduate in Urban Design Award, 
University of Colorado at Denver, 2006



EXPERIENCE

LAUREN WATERTON, AICP

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC AFFILIATIONS

HONORS & AWARDS

 � City of Bozeman Development Review Term Contract, 

Bozeman, Montana

 � Glendive Downtown Master Plan, Glendive, Montana

 � Anaconda Downtown Master Plan, Anaconda, Montana

 � City of Dillon Growth Policy Update & Downtown Master Plan, 

Dillon, Montana

 � Gallatin Valley Land Trust Strategic Conservation Plan Update, 

Bozeman, Montana

 � City of Laurel TIF District Strategy Plan, Laurel, Montana

 � Lockwood Targeted Economic Development District, 

Yellowstone County, Montana

 � Gallatin County Triangle Planning Project, Gallatin County, 

Montana

 � Tri-Township Comprehensive Plan, McKenzie County, North 

Dakota

 � Midtown Urban Renewal District Term Contract, Bozeman, 

Montana

 � Sanders County Capital Improvement Plan, Sanders County, 

Montana

 � Midtown Action Plan: A Plan for Redevelopment, Bozeman, 

Montana

Project Manager: duties include project visioning, planning and design; resource 
allocation; client communications; and team leadership.

Project Planner: duties include leading community and land planning through 
task management, public outreach, document preparation, and overall project 
oversight.

EDUCATION

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

Portland State University, Portland, Oregon
Master of Urban and Regional Planning, 1994

Rhodes College, Memphis, Tennessee
B.A., Urban Studies, 1991

American Institute of Certified Planners, 1997

American Planning Association, Planners’ Advocacy 
Network

Montana Association of Planners

Advisory Committee, Bozeman Unified Development 
Code Update, 2015-2017

Bozeman Planning Board, 2016-Present

Bozeman Planning Coordinating Committee Member

Leadership Bozeman, 2013-2014

AICP - National Student Award  for Creating a Better 
Tomorrow, 1996

Oregon Chapter APA Student Project Award for Creating  
a Better Tomorrow, 1995

As an Associate, Senior Land Planner, and Placemaking Studio 
Manager, Lauren’s work centers on community planning, revitalization 
studies, and land development projects. With over 20 years of 
professional experience, Lauren focuses on creating plans and 
environments that support communities and the people that live there. 
Skilled at solving complex problems, Lauren has experience working 
in collaborative environments and bringing diverse people together to 
help achieve a common goal. She has extensive experience in a broad 
scope of planning projects including master planning, urban renewal 
and redevelopment, design review, and real estate development.

Prior to Sanderson Stewart, Lauren served as the Director of Planning 
at American Land Development in Bozeman, Montana. Her work in 
Colorado included Principal of UrbanPlan, inc., Director of Design 
Review for Vail Resorts, and Town Planner for the Town of Vail.  

p 1-406-922-4313
lwaterton@sandersonstewart.com

www.sandersonstewart.com

PROFESSIONAL TRAINING

Greater Yellowstone  Framework for Sustainable 
Development, Yellowstone Business Partnership

2009

Historical and Architectural Survey Workshop, Colorado 
Historical Society, 2004



EXPERIENCE

EÄREN HUMMEL, PLA, ASLA

HONORS & AWARDS

 � Johnstown Area Comprehensive Plan 2006, Johnstown, 

Colorado

 � Johnstown Downtown and Downtown Design Guidelines, 

Johnstown, Colorado

 � Town of Johnstown On-call Planning Review, Johnstown, 

Colorado

 � Erie Town Hall, Erie, Colorado

 � North Avenue Corridor Plan, Grand Junction, Colorado

 � North Nevada Urban Renewal Area Master Plan, Colorado 

Springs, Colorado

 � Speer Boulevard, Denver, Colorado

 � Old Town Fort Collins and Alleys Redevelopment, Fort Collins, 

Colorado

 � Loveland Feed and Grain Master Plan, Loveland, Colorado

 � City Park Master Plan and Design Guidelines, Denver, 

Colorado

 � Fossil Creek Park, Fort Collins, Colorado

 � Museo de las Tres Colonias, Fort Collins, Colorado

 � 17-Mile House Farm Park, Arapahoe County, Colorado

 � Bromley-Hishinuma Farm, Brighton, Colorado

 � Discovery Science Center and Museum, Fort Collins, Colorado

 � Northside Aztlan Community Center, Fort Collins, Colorado

 � Englewood Parks & Recreation Master Plan, Englewood, 

Colorado

Senior Landscape Architect: responsible for aesthetics and landscape planning 
and design. Work experience is prior to joining Sanderson Stewart.

EDUCATION

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

University of Oregon, Eugene
M.S., Historic Preservation, 2006

Colorado State University, Fort Collins
B.S., Landscape Architecture, 1999

Landscape Architect, Missouri #LA-2012019937

CLARB #37117

Merit Awards for Design, Wildwood Valley Gardens at 
Bellefontaine Cemetery, Central States and St. Louis Chapter 

American Society of Landscape Architects (ASLA)

Friend of Preservation Award, City of Fort Collins, Tenney 
Court Alley and Trimble Court Alley Redevelopment

Honor Award, Pittman Wash/Arroyo Grande/Project 
GREEN Master Plan, Nevada Chapter, ASLA

Merit Award for Design, Medical Center of the Rockies, 
Colorado Chapter, ASLA

Fort Collins Urban Design Award: Green Design, Northside 
Aztlan Community Center

State Honor Award for Historic Preservation, Colorado 
Preservation Inc., Museo de las Tres Colonias

Daniel Burnham Award, American Planning Association 
(highest national award), PlanCheyenne

Eären has worked on projects throughout the United States for both 
public and private clients. She has designed and managed projects 
that range from intimate private gardens to large community parks, 
and from urban streetscapes to park system master plans. She has 
participated in natural and cultural resource assessment projects that 
spanned multiple states. Her passion is in creating and cultivating 
spaces where people can live and thrive – to enhance and support a 
community for all. In her work, her goal is to find creative solutions 
that respect and complement the local setting by sensitively integrating 
contemporary needs into each place. With a background in historic 
preservation, she looks for the unique character of places and how 
to tell the stories of each place. Eären also has a deep respect for the 
environment and pursues sustainable solutions for each project.

p 1-720-657-2934
ehummel@sandersonstewart.com

www.sandersonstewart.com

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC AFFILIATIONS

Denver Landmark Preservation Commission, Member

American Society for Landscape Architect Historic 
Preservation Professional Practice Network, Vice-Chair

Historic American Landscape Survey (HALS) Liaison to the 
American Society of Landscape Architects

Fort Collins Landmarks Preservation Commission, Member 
and Chair,

EXPERIENCE

D.J. CLARK, PE, PTOE

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC AFFILIATIONS

 � City of Billings East Billings Urban Renewal District – 10th to 

13th Infrastructure Improvements, Billings, Montana

 � Molt Road Turn Bay Improvements, Billings, Montana

 � Western Sky Subdivision TIS, Billings, Montana

 � City of Billings Grand Avenue (48th to 58th) Reconstruction 

and Widening, Billings, Montana

 � City of Billings Exposition Gateway Improvements & Pre-

Design Study, Billings, Montana

 � Billings West End Multi-Modal Modeling Project, Billings, 

Montana

 � Josephine Landing Subdivision TIS, Billings, Montana

 � Ben Steele Middle School TIS, Billings, Montana

 � 32nd Avenue West Improvements, Williston, North Dakota

Project Manager: duties include project visioning, planning and design, resource 
allocation, client communications, public involvement, quality management, 
construction administration oversight, project accounting and team leadership. 

EDUCATION

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

Montana State University, Bozeman
M.S., Civil Engineering, 2002
B.S., Civil Engineering, 2001

Professional Engineer, Montana
#14922 PE

Professional Engineer, North Dakota
#6731 PE 

Professional Traffic Operations Engineer
#2255 PTOE

Yellowstone Board of County Commissioners Bicycle & 
Pedestrian Advisory Committee, Representative, 2017-present

Leadership Montana, 2016-2017

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), MT Chapter, 
Intermountain Section, Western District & International 

Member

Bentley OpenRoads Special Interest Group Webinar, 2015

Fundamental Design of Precast for Stormwater 
Improvements, Cretex, 2014

Roundabouts: Planning, Design Principles and Current 
Practices,  Lorman, 2008

Oregon Transportation Research & Education Consortium 
(OTREC) Traffic Signal Design Workshop, 2008

D.J. is an Associate/Senior Engineer and serves as Manager of 
Sanderson Stewart’s Community Transportation Studio, which is 
responsible for roadway and traffic-based design, traffic operations and 
impact analysis, and research-related activities in support of a variety 
of transportation, land development and municipal projects. D.J. has 
extensive experience in the areas of geometric design, traffic operations 
analysis and impact assessment, transportation planning and signing 
and striping design. He has also managed a wide variety of municipal 
street and utility projects, subdivision projects and traffic-based 
planning and impact analysis studies. D.J. is passionate about improving 
the communities we live and work in through the implementation of 
safer and more efficient multi-modal transportation solutions.  

p 1-406-869-3358
dclark@sandersonstewart.com

www.sandersonstewart.com

PROFESSIONAL TRAINING

Billings Engineers Club Young Engineer of the Year Award, 
2009

Graduate Research Fellow, Western Transportation Institute, 
2001-2002

HONORS & AWARDS

Senior Engineer: responsible for traffic-based data collection, analysis and report 
writing , as well as geometrics, signing and striping, and construction traffic 
control design.  

 � Central Avenue & 56th Street West Roundabout, Billings, 

Montana

 � King Avenue & 56th Street West Roundabout, Billings, 

Montana

 � Bench Boulevard Reconstruction, Billings, Montana

 � Shiloh Road Corridor Reconstruction, Billings, Montana

 � King Avenue West Reconstruction - Shiloh Road to 44th Street 

West, Billings, Montana



EXPERIENCE

D.J. CLARK, PE, PTOE

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC AFFILIATIONS

 � City of Billings East Billings Urban Renewal District – 10th to 

13th Infrastructure Improvements, Billings, Montana

 � Molt Road Turn Bay Improvements, Billings, Montana

 � Western Sky Subdivision TIS, Billings, Montana

 � City of Billings Grand Avenue (48th to 58th) Reconstruction 

and Widening, Billings, Montana

 � City of Billings Exposition Gateway Improvements & Pre-

Design Study, Billings, Montana

 � Billings West End Multi-Modal Modeling Project, Billings, 

Montana

 � Josephine Landing Subdivision TIS, Billings, Montana

 � Ben Steele Middle School TIS, Billings, Montana

 � 32nd Avenue West Improvements, Williston, North Dakota

Project Manager: duties include project visioning, planning and design, resource 
allocation, client communications, public involvement, quality management, 
construction administration oversight, project accounting and team leadership. 

EDUCATION

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

Montana State University, Bozeman
M.S., Civil Engineering, 2002
B.S., Civil Engineering, 2001

Professional Engineer, Montana
#14922 PE

Professional Engineer, North Dakota
#6731 PE 

Professional Traffic Operations Engineer
#2255 PTOE

Yellowstone Board of County Commissioners Bicycle & 
Pedestrian Advisory Committee, Representative, 2017-present

Leadership Montana, 2016-2017

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), MT Chapter, 
Intermountain Section, Western District & International 

Member

Bentley OpenRoads Special Interest Group Webinar, 2015

Fundamental Design of Precast for Stormwater 
Improvements, Cretex, 2014

Roundabouts: Planning, Design Principles and Current 
Practices,  Lorman, 2008

Oregon Transportation Research & Education Consortium 
(OTREC) Traffic Signal Design Workshop, 2008

D.J. is an Associate/Senior Engineer and serves as Manager of 
Sanderson Stewart’s Community Transportation Studio, which is 
responsible for roadway and traffic-based design, traffic operations and 
impact analysis, and research-related activities in support of a variety 
of transportation, land development and municipal projects. D.J. has 
extensive experience in the areas of geometric design, traffic operations 
analysis and impact assessment, transportation planning and signing 
and striping design. He has also managed a wide variety of municipal 
street and utility projects, subdivision projects and traffic-based 
planning and impact analysis studies. D.J. is passionate about improving 
the communities we live and work in through the implementation of 
safer and more efficient multi-modal transportation solutions.  

p 1-406-869-3358
dclark@sandersonstewart.com

www.sandersonstewart.com

PROFESSIONAL TRAINING

Billings Engineers Club Young Engineer of the Year Award, 
2009

Graduate Research Fellow, Western Transportation Institute, 
2001-2002

HONORS & AWARDS

Senior Engineer: responsible for traffic-based data collection, analysis and report 
writing , as well as geometrics, signing and striping, and construction traffic 
control design.  

 � Central Avenue & 56th Street West Roundabout, Billings, 

Montana

 � King Avenue & 56th Street West Roundabout, Billings, 

Montana

 � Bench Boulevard Reconstruction, Billings, Montana

 � Shiloh Road Corridor Reconstruction, Billings, Montana

 � King Avenue West Reconstruction - Shiloh Road to 44th Street 

West, Billings, Montana



EXPERIENCE

CHARLES SONNIER, PE, CFM, LEED AP

 � Reorganized Farmers Ditch Company (RFDC) Ditch Review, 

Johnstown, Colorado 

 � Town of Milliken Floodplain Review Assistance, Milliken, 

Colorado*

 � Colorado Sweet Gold Fire Supply System Design 

Johnstown, Colorado*

 � Clearview Apartments, Johnstown, Colorado*

 � Floodplain permitting through Counties of Weld and 

Adams, Colorado*

 � Airpark North Industrial Park, Loveland, Colorado

 � Saunders Fort Collins Hotel Project, Fort Collins, Colorado

 � Home2 Suites by Hilton 107-unit 4-story Hotel Site Civil, 

Landscape, and Irrigation Design, Stapleton, Colorado

 � Rivendell School Site Improvements and Parking Lot Infill 

Improvements, Fort Collins, Colorado

 � First National Bank Boardwalk Drive-Thru Improvements, 

Fort Collins, Colorado

 � First National Bank ADA Assessment, Greeley, Colorado

 � Creek View Apartments, Greeley, Colorado 

 � Grace Point Senior Housing, Greeley, Colorado

 � NorthWestern Energy Big Sky Substation Site Analysis, Big 

Sky, Montana

 � Primrose School Building Improvements Site/Civil Design, 

Greenwood Village, Colorado

Senior Engineer/Project Manager: duties include project planning and design. 
*indicates work was completed while employed with a different firm

EDUCATION

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

Montana State University, Bozeman
B.S., Civil Engineering, 2007

Professional Engineer, Colorado
#48403 

LEED Accredited Professional, #10378575

Certified Floodplain Manager #36324

Charles is a Senior Engineer and Project Manager located in the firm’s 
Fort Collins office. He is a Montana State University graduate and 
Sanderson Stewart alum having previously worked at the firm in the 
2000s. Charles has provided project management services related to 
the design and permitting of single family/multi-family residential 
developments, commercial sites, industrial facilities and oil and gas 
pads. He also has experience with floodplain analysis, navigating 
the FEMA process and irrigation ditch review. He is also the review 
engineer for the Reorganized Farmer’s Ditch Company. p 1-970-488-0169

csonnier@sandersonstewart.com
www.sandersonstewart.com



EXPERIENCE

KARI ANDREN

HONORS & AWARDS

 � Yellowstone Kelly Interpretive Site, Brand Architecture, Website 

Design, and Marketing Materials, Billings, Montana

 � Montana Firefighter’s Memorial 3D Rendering & Fly-through, 

Laurel, Montana

 � Alberta Bair Theater Re-brand, Billings, Montana

 � Billings NOW! Brand Architecture, Billings, Montana

 � Annafeld Subdivision 3D Rendering and Video Fly-through, 

Marketing Materials, and Exhibits, Billings, Montana

 � Billings Parks, Recreation, and Preservation Foundation Re-

brand, Billings, Montana

 � Sanderson Stewart Re-brand, Brand Architecture, Website 

Design, and Marketing Materials, Billings, Montana

 � Shiloh Commons Brand Architecture, Website Design, 

Marketing Materials, and 3D Modeling, Billings, Montana

 � 3D Concept Models for Annafeld Subdivision Potential 

Commercial Development and Drive Thru Restaurant for 

Coldwell Banker, Billings, Montana

 � Farmstead Subdivision 3D Concept Model and Fly-through, 

Billings, Montana

 � New Originals Craft Soda Website Design

 � InterUrban Apartments Marketing Materials, Billings, Montana

 � Interpointe Apartments Marketing Materials, Billings, Montana

 � RusTek Builders Brand Architecture, Website Design, and 

Marketing Materials, Billings, Montana

Project Manager: duties include project visioning, planning and design; resource 
allocation; client communications; and team leadership.

EDUCATION

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC AFFILIATIONS

New Mexico State University, Las Cruces
B.S., Industrial Engineering, 1995

Society for Marketing Professional Services (SMPS)

National SMPS Marketing Excellence Merit Award, 
Recruitment and Retention Category, 2018

ZweigWhite Best Firm to Work For, 2018

National SMPS Marketing Excellence Award, Recruitment 
and Retention Category, 2014

SMPS Colorado Chapter Marketing Excellence Award,  
Recruitment and Retention  Category, 2014

Best Civil Engineering Logo Award, Civil Engineering 
Central, 2009

Kari is an Associate on the Leadership Team, working closely with the 
Board of Directors to implement numerous marketing processes and 
campaigns which promote the Sanderson Stewart brand. Major efforts 
include a corporate re-branding effort; launching a new, more user-
friendly website; creating corporate identity standards for proposal 
submittals, reports, and marketing materials; and the creation and 
management of a client contact database.

In addition to her marketing duties for Sanderson Stewart, Kari 
leads the firm’s Branding Studio, which provides graphic design and 
marketing services for a wide variety of clients. Services include brand 
development and promotion, website design and implementation, 
marketing plans and materials design, concept graphics, and 
3-dimensional modeling.

p 1-406-861-4297
kandren@sandersonstewart.com

www.sandersonstewart.com



TODD G. MESSENGER, ESQ.
Fairfield and Woods, P.C.
1801 California Street, Ste. 2600
Denver, Colorado  80202
D (303) 894-4469
tmessenger@fwlaw.com

EXPERIENCE
DIRECTOR
Fairfield and Woods, P.C.
Fairfield and Woods, P.C. is a general practice law firm that provides services in the areas 
of real estate, local government, water law, litigation, business, and wealth and succession 
planning.  As a Director in the firm’s real estate practice group, Todd maintains a diverse 
practice representing home-rule and statutory local governments, special districts, 
landowners, and developers in the areas of land use, development regulation, and real 
estate transactions, including:
• Providing strategic advice regarding, and drafting revisions for, development codes
• Negotiating and drafting development and improvements agreements
• Advocating for development approvals
• Negotiating, drafting, and managing purchase and sale agreements
• Negotiating and drafting easements, licenses, and leases

• Creating and implementing urban renewal authorities and plans

CODE PRACTICE LEADER
Kendig Keast Collaborative
Kendig Keast Collaborative is a national, multi-faceted planning and plan implementation 
firm with a focus on comprehensive and special area plans and implementing land 
development regulations.  As the firm’s national Code Practice Leader, Mr. Messenger served 
as strategic advisor or project manager / principal draftsperson for code rewrite and code 
amendment projects.  This work involved close communication with—and consensus-
building among—elected and appointed officials, developers, planning staff, steering 
committees, the public, and other units of local government.  

PLANNING LAW ATTORNEY
Siemon & Larsen, PA (now GrayRobinson)
Siemon & Larsen, PA was a nationally-known “boutique” law firm that focused on land 
use law, land development, and planning consulting.  The firm’s particular emphasis 
was community redevelopment.  As a planning law attorney, Mr. Messenger managed 
development approvals; defended clients in code enforcement proceedings; negotiated 
development agreements; negotiated and prepared commercial real estate contracts; and 
conducted real estate closings.  He also played a key role in land use litigation in state and 
federal courts (original actions, certiorari petitions, and appeals) for public and private 
sector clients.  
In addition to the legal work, Mr. Messenger drafted community redevelopment plans 
and due diligence studies; provided redevelopment finance analysis and community 
redevelopment agency tax increment projections; drafted land development codes and 
code amendments (for public, private, and civic sector clients); and performed expert 
witness analysis. 

BAR & COURT  
ADMISSIONS
Colorado

Florida

10th Circuit Ct. of Appeals

U.S. District Courts:
- Northern Dist. of Fla.
- Southern Dist. of Fla.

EDUCATION
J.D., Order of the Coif 
Univ. of Fla.

Master of Public Admin. 
Env. Growth Mgmt. Fellow 
Fla. Atlantic Univ.

B.A., Highest Honors 
Univ. of Fla.

AWARDS
Centennial Land Dev. Code - 
Outstanding Planning Project, 
CO Chapter, APA

Valparaiso Unified Dev. 
Code - Outstanding Project 
Honorable Mention, IN 
Chapter, APA

Tangipahoa Parish Comp. 
Plan - Outstanding Plan, LA 
Chapter, APA

Zachary Unified Dev. Code - 
Outstanding Project/Program 
Tool, LA Chapter, APA

Edinburg Unified Dev. Code, 
TX Chaper, APA

Downtown Master Plan, City 
of Oviedo, Fla., Fla. Planning 
and Zoning Association

Tamiami Tomorrow Corridor 
Plan, Fla. Planning and 
Zoning Association



REPORTED CASES
Vista Del Mar, L.C. v. City of Delray Beach, 12 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 335b (Fla. 15th Jud. Cir. Jan. 18, 2005) and Rosa Hotel 
Developers, et al. v. City of Delray Beach, 10 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 600b (Fla. 15th Jud. Cir. June 12, 2003) (both cases 
involved the question of whether City’s failure to follow its own procedural rules constituted a violation of the essential 
requirements of law).
City of Delray Beach v. Dharma Properties, Inc., 809 So. 2d 35 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2002) (effect of dismissal of removed federal 
claims on state court jurisdiction over formerly pendent state claims which had not been adjudicated).
Rectory Park, L.C. v. City of Delray Beach, 208 F. Supp. 2d 1320 (S.D. Fla. 2002) (whether municipality’s land development 
regulations with regard to bonus density were sufficiently definite to fetter the discretion of the decision-makers as required 
by the due process clause).
Dharma Properties, Inc. v. City of Delray Beach, 8 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 824b (Fla. 15th Jud. Cir. Oct. 17, 2001) (whether 
municipality’s quasi-judicial development approval process violated due process and the essential requirements of law in 
light of ex parte communications, three-minute time restrictions on substantially affected neighbors, and other matters that 
related to the partiality of the tribunal).

SELECTED PRESENTATIONS
Presenter: “Subdivisions, Streets, and Access;” Colorado Land Planning and Development Law; Denver, CO (2018).
Panelist: “Ethics: Should Ex Parte Communication Be Allowed in Quasi-Judicial Proceedings? Why or Why Not?”  Land Use 
Law:  The Great Debates; Denver, CO (2017).
Panelist: “Living Small with Micro Housing;” Commercial Real Estate: Growing Pains & Gains; Denver, CO (2016).
Panelist: “Defining ‘Sign’ and Other Pesky Sign Regulation Problems;”  The Art of “RE” (Colorado American Planning 
Association Annual Conference); Colorado Springs, CO (2016).
Presenter: “Why Your Sign Ordinance Could Fail Even the “Laugh Test” (and What You Should Do About It);” Colorado County 
Attorney’s Association Annual Conference; Colorado Springs, CO (2015).
Panelist: “Is It a Sign? Emerging Thinking on Sign Regulation;”  CLE International Inaugural Local Government Law 
Conference; Denver, CO (2015).
Panelist: “Tailoring Community Sustainability Plans: Going Beyond the Checklist;” Western Planner APA Four Corners 
Conference; Santa Fe, NM (2011).
Panelist / Organizer: “Managing Growth and Cushioning Falls;” 20th Annual Rocky Mountain Land Use Institute Land Use 
Conference; University of Denver Sturm College of Law; Denver, CO (2011).
Panelist: “The Art (and Law) of Sign Controls;” Colorado Municipal League Annual Conference; Breckenridge, CO (2010).
Panelist / Organizer: “Chasing Green; Urban Form and Local Revenue Policy;” 19th Annual Rocky Mountain Land Use 
Institute Land Use Conference; University of Denver Sturm College of Law; Denver, CO (2010).
Panelist: “Integrating Sustainability Into Your Ordinance;” Indiana American Planning Association Fall Conference; Fishers, IN 
(2009).
Panelist: “Unified Development Codes;” Indiana Continuing Legal Education Forum Masters Convention; French Lick Resort 
and Casino; French Lick, IN (2009).
Instructor: “Place Making;” National Garden Club Landscape Design Study Program; Davie, FL (2003). 

Panelist: “Quasi-Judicial Hearings;” Growth Management Short Course; Orlando, FL (2002).

PUBLICATIONS
“Subdivisions, Streets, and Access;” in Elliott, Donald, Colorado land Planning and develoPment law (10th ed. 2015; 11th ed. 2018); 
“Administration of Local Air Pollution Control Programs in Florida,” 21 Fla. B. Envtl. & Land Use L. Sec. Rep. 1 (Dec. 1999).
“Transit-Oriented Development in the Sunbelt — Get Real,” with Reid Ewing, 1552 Trans. Research Record 145-52 (1996).
“Appendix B: Mode Share Analysis — Land Use Influences,” in Ewing, Reid, Pedestrian and Transit-Friendly Design, Fl. Dept. of 
Trans. (March 1996).

TODD G. MESSENGER, ESQ.
Fairfield and Woods, P.C.





 

 
 

Kim Meyer 
Planning & Development Director 
Town of Johnstown, Colorado 
450 S Parish Ave 
Johnstown, CO 80534 
 
Dear Kim, 
 
Per your email dated November 7th, 2019, I have prepared this letter in response to the questions 
posed in regarding our proposal to complete the Comprehensive Plan Update and Code Rewrite.  
This memo will respond to your two questions: 

1. Will the $140,000 budget amount remain valid? 
2. Can the schedule be tightened up to complete the draft project by the end of 2020? 

 
In response to these questions I am including a revised schedule and budget proposal. 
 
Revised Project Budget: 
 

 
 
The Revised project schedule is included on the next page for legibility.   
 
Sanderson Stewart is available to commence work on this project immediately.  Please let me know 
if you have any questions. 
 
Karl Barton 

 
 
Senior Planner | Placemaking Studio  
 
 
 



To
w

n 
of

 Jo
hn

st
ow

n 
C

om
pr

eh
en

siv
e 

Pl
an

 
N

ov
em

be
r 1

4,
 2

01
9 

Pa
ge

 2
 

 



T o w n  o f  J o h n s t o w n ,  C o l o r a d o

P r o p o s a l  R e s p o n s e  f o r  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  U p d a t e  & 
D e v e l o p m e n t  C o d e  R e w r i t e 

9  |  3 0  |  1 9

A Convenience District

B MIXED USE

C VILLAGE CORE

D BOUTIQUE STORE FRONT

1 RESIDENTIAL CORE

2 MIXED USE

3 Streetfront Walkup Townhomes

4 MIXED USE

5 OFFICE ABOVE RETAIL

A B

C

D

1

2

3

4

5



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 2

Ta b l e  o f  C o n t e n t s

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t

3  |  P r o j e c t  A p p r o a c h  a n d  U n d e r s t a n d i n g 

4  |  W o r k  P l a n ,  D e l i v e r a b l e s ,  a n d  S c h e d u l e 

5  |  S p e c i a l  S e r v i c e s  a n d  S u b c o n s u l t a n t s 

1  |  C o v e r  L e t t e r

6  |  F e e  P r o p o s a l

7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 3

1  |  C o v e r  L e t t e r

Dear Ms. Meyer,

Allow me to introduce you to CTA planning. We are a core group 
of planners and landscape architects based in Denver, however, we 
provide planning support to all of our offices throughout the Mountain 
West. We generally avoid work in the large metropolitan markets in 
favor of serving communities the size of Johnstown who are facing 
major growth issues and are struggling to retain portions of their rural 
or historic character while weighing inevitable growth options. We 
understand these issues of context and struggles of transition from rural 
to urban growth. 

It's exciting, rewarding, and very difficult work. We have also excelled 
at it, which is why we keep coming back to places like Johnstown. Our 
planning work has promoted sustainable economic development and 
brought meaningful social and cultural benefits to many communities 
similar to the Town of Johnstown, Colorado. In both our professional 
work and in our ongoing research, we strive to promote our approach 
to planning design that: 

• Maximizes Social Impact
• Engages Communities
• Optimizes Urban Resources
• Retains a sense of Place
• Communicates Values and Creates Value for All Involved  

Our core team at CTA has worked in countless rural communities similar 
to Johnstown and have tackled similar issues. From Big Sky, Bozeman, 
Kalispell, and Whitefish, Montana to McCall, Driggs, and Boise, Idaho. 
Across North Dakota's Bakken Oil Fields, to Basalt, Salida, Buena 
Vista and Golden, Colorado. Planning in the Mountain West is unique 
but has similar needs for deliberate action. We have framed a scope 
of services that draws on our experiences in such rural towns while 
showing deference to the uniqueness of Johnstown, Colorado.  

You will work directly with the following key leaders of CTA's Planning 
Team for the duration of the project: 

 Wayne Freeman | Principal-in-Charge 
 David Dixon | Project Manager/GIS Specialist/Planner 
 Stephanie Ray | Lead Community Engagement 
 

Through our office located in Denver, Colorado, and with the support of 
our additional 12 offices throughout the United States, CTA will utilize a 
specialized and integrated group of planning, landscape architecture, 
architecture, and engineering professionals. Our philosophy embraces 
a fully integrated, multi-disciplined approach, structuring our teams to 
reflect the uniqueness of the communities where we work. The CTA 
team not only has the comprehensive planning and code development 
experience, but also sufficient depth of personnel and resources to 
assure responsiveness on this project. 

CTA alone is comprised of over 450 professionals and support 
personnel representing the majority of disciplines and services required 
for your planned services. That may sound like an ominously large 
corporation, however, we started 82 years ago in the cow town of 
Billings, Montana, and we still retain those small-town roots but with a 
lot of resources to provide results for our clients' needs. Think of us as a 
great-big-little firm.   

We do stuff a little bit different and our clients like us for “dancing 
out of the box.” Our team is prepared to work closely with you, 
the community, all project stakeholders and partners to make this 
comprehensive plan update and development code rewrite project a 
success. 

We look forward to the opportunity to discuss our proposal with you 
and your team in further detail. 

Sincerely,

CTA Planning

Wayne Freeman, RLA, CLARB
Principal-in-Charge and Legally Authorized to Bind CTA 
waynef@ctagroup.com 
406.599.7109



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 4

About CTA  
 
CTA is a multi-discipline planning, architectural and engineering firm 
that was established in 1938 by Ralph Cushing and Everett Terrell. 
They knew the most effective and efficient way to provide professional 
planning services was to provide the service via a multi-discipline 
integrated design approach. 

Thus, the core philosophy of CTA is centered on the integration of the 
planning, design and engineering disciplines on our projects. We still 
sincerely believe in that tenet, and as building and engineering systems 
become more sophisticated, we continue to add specialists to our staff 
that enable us to provide a complete, integrated package of services to 
our clients. 

CTA has risen to the forefront of planning and urban design. Our master 
planning work has promoted sustainable economic development and 
brought meaningful social and cultural benefits to many communities. 

CTA's long-range and current planning includes subdivision, zoning, 
mixed-use community design, market analysis, growth policies, 
area structure plans, master plans, comprehensive plans, code 
development, and housing studies. By applying our knowledge and 
experience, we provide clients with successful planning tools through 
creative implementation of broad planning concepts. 

CTA Planning is uniquely joined with Landscape Architectural, Civil 
Engineering and Surveying disciplines to form CTA SITE. Again, further 
integrating planning and design. Our philosophy embraces a fully 
integrated, multi-disciplined approach, structuring our teams to reflect 
the uniqueness of the communities where we work. 

Through our office located in Denver, Colorado and with the support of 
our additional 12 offices throughout the United States, CTA will present 
a specialized and integrated group of planning, engineering, landscape 
architecture, and architecture professionals for this project.

Our all-inclusive planning services allow us to approach each project 
holistically and comprehensively. 

These services include:
• Comprehensive Plans

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t

• Capital Improvement Plans
• Code Writing/Updates
• Zone Text Amendments
• Zoning Codes
• Master Plans and Subarea Plans
• Growth Policies
• Grant Writing
• Urban Design/Streetscapes 
• Site and Master Planning
• Public Facilitation
• Market Analysis
• Park/Recreation Planning & Design
• Landscape Design
• Land Trust/Conservation Development
• Site Restoration and Reclamation
• Neighborhood/Residential Planning
• Visual Impact Assessment/Mitigation
• Contract Administration
• Construction Administration
• Campus Planning
• Planned Unit Developments 

What Makes Us Different? 

Our approach to our work is locally-based and hands-on, with the 
responsiveness and creativity of a small-scale office. At the same time, 
we are uniquely able to leverage the strengths and knowledge of a 
national design and planning firm, commanding the resources that 
have supported CTA’s rise to the forefront of planning and urban design 
across the country and Canada.

At CTA, we  treat our clients as friends.  While we have a very large 
bench of professionals and support structure, we are steeped in a small 
office mentality.  We are a great big, little firm.
 

• EXPERIENCED: Firm-wide, CTA has experience in leading 
challenging community and urban planning, visioning, and 
assessment of revitalization potential across the US. Our team is 
well-rounded, with experience and expertise in both public and 
private-sector planning, public infrastructure planning, public 

outreach, GIS, and more. We listen carefully and develop planned 
solutions that clearly articulate the clients’ goals.  

• DEPENDABLE: Our firm has been in existence for over 80 years 
and has planned and designed dozens of urban plans, master plans, 
growth policies, area redevelopment plans and comprehensive 
plans in communities throughout the Rocky Mountain West. 

• COLLABORATIVE: The CTA planning team is a multidisciplinary 
team of planners, architects, urban designers, landscape architects, 
and civil engineers who understand the value of close collaboration-
we do all of our planning, surveying, and public outreach in-house 
and include our clients’ input in every step of the process. 

• ENGAGED: CTA is committed to stakeholder outreach and 
education. We tailor this dimension of our work specifically to 
each project and the decision-making process of our clients and 
communities to uncover the most meaningful and lasting vision for 
compelling and implementable comprehensive planning. 

• 
• RESPONSIBLE: CTA, as a firm, has led the design of several 

hundred LEED Certified, Silver, Gold, and Platinum projects to date. 
As a firm-wide strategy, we assign performance benchmarks (social, 
environmental, and economic) to all of our projects to help track the 
performance of our designs over time. 

• OTHER RELEVANT STUFF: We like to have fun. You are going 
to work hand-in-glove with a planning consultant for the next 18 
months. Know this; We take planning seriously but we ain't boring. 
We like to try new things, get creative and encourage our clients to 
enjoy the planning process. 



Ai
rp

or
t A

cc
es

s R

ou
te

OS

OS

LI

PF

PF HC

GCI

R

R

R

0 0.5 1 Mile0.25

Box
E lder
Lake

MAN
N RD

5

5

16

16

Plen tywood
Landf i l l

Sher-wood
Ai rpor t

Truck Bypass Route

AIRPORT RD

LAUREL AVE

BOUNDARY AVE

PARK AVE

HILLSIDE AVE

SHIPPE CANYON RD

NICHOLS RD

HIGHLAND AVE

M
AI

N 
ST

FIRST AVE

ONE-MILE GROWTH AREA

Flood Haza rd  
and  Unsu i tab le

So i ls  A rea

*currently underway

Our Experience
 
CTA is confident that we have the depth of experience, qualifications, 
and professional staff necessary to perform and provide a 
comprehensive plan update and development code rewrite for the 
Town of Johnstown, Colorado. 

Our comprehensive and integrated methodology allows for efficiency, 
objectivity, and transparency in our process. CTA provides the balanced 
mix of planning principles, statistical market analysis, and economic 
development necessary for planning services of this scale and 
complexity.

Over the past decade, CTA’s lead team of planners and land-use 
economists have conducted similar planning services including 
community master plans, comprehensive plans, growth policy updates, 
and area structure plans for a range of similarly sized counties and 
communities across North America. 

Our project experience illustrates that we know how to provide 
thorough, accurate, objective analyses of rural and urban design, policy 
and infrastructure, and understand planning principles that respect and 
celebrate local environments. We are also experts in rural and mountain 
community comprehensive and master planning leading into code 
development.
 
We understand planning in the west, rural values, and what it means to 
fight for water. Our team understands that planning is about maintaining 
and improving quality of life to ensure the best and most efficient use of 
public and private resources. 

Our planning approach promotes a sense of pride in all aspects of living 
and working. With a commitment to integrity and innovation, our team 
of skilled professionals works closely with clients to develop successful 
and compelling projects that breathe life into communities while 
recognizing the need to preserve rural assets that define Place. 

We encourage you to contact our clients and hear first-hand from them 
the level of expertise and client service that CTA brings to their projects. 

We have completed numerous Community Master Plans, 
Comprehensive Plans, Growth Policy Updates and Engagement 

Services for the following communities, for a select few, we have 
provided project narratives, imagery and references in this proposal 
response.  

Significant recent CTA rural community planning efforts developed by 
the core team members proposed herein include: 
 

• Basalt, CO*
• Belgrade, MT
• Big Sky, MT
• Boise, ID
• Bozeman, MT
• Browning, MT
• Buena Vista, CO
• Carbon County, MT
• Chaffee County, CO*
• Churchill, MT
• Columbus, MT
• East Helena, MT
• Gallatin County, MT
• Gardiner, MT
• Granite County, MT
• Helena, MT
• Heart Butte, MT
• Kalispell, MT
• Lambert, MT
• Lewistown, MT
• Libby, MT
• Livingston, MT
• McCall, ID
• Melfort, SK
• Missoula, MT
• Red Lodge, MT
• Spruce Grove, AB 
• Stillwater County, MT
• Weyburn, SK
• White City, SK
• White Sulphur Springs, MT 

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 5

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t



WAS H I N GTO N

M O N TA N A

CO LO R A D O

I DA H O

T E X AS

LO U I S I A N A

M I N N E S OTA

Seattle

Missoula Great Falls

Helena

Billings

Boise

Kalispell

Bozeman
Livingston

Denver

Austin
New Orleans

Minneapolis

BY  T H E  N U M B E R S 

450+ 
professionals

$600m+ 
annual construction volume

80+ 
years in business

50+ 
LEED accredited professionals

13 
office locations

1 
customer-driven mission

O F F I C E  LO C AT I O N S

COLORADO Denver
IDAHO Boise
LOUISIANA New Orleans
MINNESOTA Minneapolis
MONTANA Billings 
 Bozeman 
 Great Falls 
 Helena 
 Kalispell 
 Livingston
 Missoula
TEXAS Austin
WASHINGTON Seattle

O U R  D E S I G N  S E RV I C E S

ARCHITECTURE

ENGINEERING
Civil  ·  Electrical  ·  Environmental  
Industrial Hygiene  ·  Mechanical 
Plumbing  ·  Structural  ·  Refrigeration

BUILDING COMMISSIONING

CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION

ENERGY MODELING & CONSERVATION 

FACILITY MANAGEMENT

FIRE PROTECTION 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING

GRAPHIC DESIGN /  
MULTIMEDIA DESIGN / WAYFINDING

HISTORIC PRESERVATION

INTERIOR DESIGN / FURNISHINGS

IT / COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

LIFE CYCLE COSTING 

MARKET ANALYSIS

ROOFING / BUILDING  
ENCLOSURE CONSULTING

SECURITY /  
ACCESS CONTROL DESIGN 

CODE DEVELOPMENT

SPACE PLANNING

SUSTAINABLE DESIGN / LEED®

VALUE ENGINEERING

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 6

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 7

Principal-in-Charge
Wayne Freeman, RLA, 

CLARB

Project Manager/
GIS Specialist/Lead Planner

David Dixon, AICP

Planning & Development 
Director

Kim Meyer

Lead Community Engagement
Stephanie Ray, AICP 

CTA
 

Lead Civil Engineer
Michael White, PE 

CTA
 

Lead Architect
Bill Wood, LEED GA 

CTA

Affordable Housing Strategist
Randy Rhoads 

MBS 

Community Planning and 
Code Specialist

Nicole Olmstead 
CTA 

Community Planning
Nora Bland 

CTA 

Social Media Coordinator
Marni Moore 

CTA
 

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t

Organizational Chart 

Our collaborative team can often be found all over Montana and 
Colorado working together on a variety of projects. We can assure 
you we’ve assembled a strong team with diverse knowledge and 
capabilities to deliver an excellent product. 

Your project will be managed and developed mostly from our Denver 
planning office with input and support from our Bozeman office. 

Your project will be led by Denver-based Principal-in-Charge, Wayne
Freeman, RLA, CLARB. Wayne is a Principal and the Principal-in-Charge
of CTA SITE, the group within CTA that includes the company’s civil
engineers, landscape architects, surveyors, and planners. He has nearly
35 years of experience in land planning, landscape architecture, urban,
and environmental planning. In addition to traditional land planning
and design experience, Wayne has directed two large land trusts in
the Midwest. Wayne has managed teams of professionals in planning
design and construction of projects as varied as community park
projects to corporate buildings.

Your project will be managed by Denver-based David Dixon, AICP.
He is experienced in land planning, site development planning, code 
development, urban design, and comprehensive planning for rural and 
urban communities. David has completed comprehensive plans, master 
plans, feasibility analyses, and redevelopment plans in towns, cities, 
counties, provinces, and states across the Western US and Canada. In 
addition, David also brings a specialization in GIS to the project team.

Stephanie Ray, AICP, Community Engagement Lead, has 20+ years
in planning and project management and specializes in public
engagement and participation. Stephanie will keep the team engaged
and communicating throughout the project, facilitating creative
solutions and making sure that critical milestones are met and the
community is engaged.

We have added McCormack Baron Salazar to our team for their
affordable housing expertise, specifically the expertise of Randy
Rhoads. Note, all other required services will be performed in-house by 
CTA. 



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 8

David is an Urban Planner in CTA’s Denver Office. 
He is experienced with land planning, urban 
revitalization, site development planning, urban 
design, and comprehensive planning for urban 
and rural environments. David has completed 
long-range plans, master plans, feasibility 
analyses, and redevelopment plans in towns, 
cities, counties, provinces, and states across 
the Western US and Canada. He has written 
development code for communities in the west 
facing significant growth issues. 

His approach to urban planning synthesizes a 
community’s vision with market realities and the 
local regulatory framework to deliver a practical list 
of buildable projects. In addition, David brings a 
specialization in GIS to the project team.

DAVID DIXON, AICP
PROJECT MANAGER/GIS SPECIALIST/PLANNER (CTA)

• Belgrade Growth Policy Update and Park and 
Recreation Master Plan; Belgrade, MT

• Chaffee County Comprehensive Plan Update; Chaffee 
County, CO

• Town of Basalt Master Plan Update; Basalt, CO

• Contributing Author, “Commercial & Mixed-Use 
Development Trends in the Rocky Mountain West," 
Sonoran Institute

• Trout Creek Land Planning; Buena Vista, CO

• CCDC Shoreline District Framework Plan; Boise, ID

• South Kalispell Urban Renewal Plan; Kalispell, MT

• Carbon County Comprehensive Plan Update; Carbon 
County, MT

• Sheridan County Growth Policy Update; Sheridan 
County, MT

• Plentywood Growth Policy Update; Plentywood, MT

• Granite County Growth Policy Update; Granite, MT

• Streetscape Plan; Roberts, MT

• Community Needs Assessment HRDC; Bozeman/
Gallatin/Meagher/Park Counties, MT

• City of Ray Current and Long-Range Planning; Ray, ND 

• City of Boise Lusk District; Boise, ID

• Downtown Revitalization Study; Spruce Grove, AB

REGISTRATION 
Certified Planner / National Certificate (AICP) 
 
EDUCATION 
Master of Urban Planning 
University of California-Los Angeles

As Principal-in-Charge (PIC), Wayne will be 
responsible for the team’s performance - making 
certain that every resource necessary to make 
this effort successful is dedicated to you. As 
a principal, Wayne has nearly 35 years of 
professional experience in landscape architecture, 
land planning, urban planning, and multi-
discipline project delivery.

As the firm’s senior practicing landscape 
architect, he often is the principal in charge 
for complicated and diverse projects. He did 
his first comprehensive plan and wrote his first 
development code in 1991 for his hometown of 
Godfrey, Illinois. 

Wayne is an expert in conservation easements 
and conservation land trusts.  He has served as 
Executive Director of two successful regional  
land trusts in his career and has authored more 
than 70 conservation easements.  Wayne has 
lectured extensively on creative conservation 
easement tools and their use with private/public 
partnerships to preserve critical lands and as 
planning tools to promote targeted economic 
development.

Wayne’s urban, community, and regional planning 
work has included land decisions on thousands of 
acres of land trust land and consulting on projects 
across the U.S., Western Canada, Europe and 
Pacific Rim. 

WAYNE FREEMAN, RLA, CLARB

PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE (CTA)

• Belgrade Growth Policy Update and Park and 
Recreation Master Plan; Belgrade, MT

• Chaffee County Comprehensive Plan Update; Chaffee 
County, CO

• Town of Basalt Master Plan Update; Basalt, CO

• Trout Creek Land Planning and Park Master Plan; 
Buena Vista, CO

• Buena Vista Land Use Study; Buena Vista, CO

• Spruce Grove Area Structure Plan; Spruce Grove, AB

• South Kalispell Urban Renewal Plan; Kalispell, MT

• East Billings Downtown TIF District; Billings, MT

• Medical District Master Plan; Great Falls, MT

• Village of Godfrey Comprehensive Plan; Godfrey, IL

• Alton Riverfront Redevelopment District; Alton, IL

• Tug Fork Greenway Project, 125-mile river corridor 
master plan for NPS, WV, KY, & VA

• Oregon Trail Scenic Byway Corridor Master Plan; 
Torrington, WY

• Meeting of the Great Rivers Scenic Byway; Alton, IL

• 5,000 Acre Land-use Plan, Theodore Roosevelt 
Medora Foundation; Medora, ND

• Piasa Creek Watershed Project, 135-square -mile 
environmental preservation planning project

REGISTRATION 
Landscape Architect / AR, AZ, CA, CO, ID, IL, KS, MN, MT, 
NV, NM, OR, WA, BC, SK 
 
EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Landscape Architecture 
University of Illinois

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t



Nora recently joined CTA after graduating with 
a Master of Urban and Regional Planning and a 
background in nonprofit work and sustainability 
planning. Nora is passionate about creating 
places and spaces that are beautiful, equitable, 
affordable, and sustainable. 

Most recently, Nora worked with Lake County, 
Colorado on a capstone project to recommend 
and design a site for affordable housing 
development. She conducted an affordable 
housing market study and designed and led 
a community meeting that engaged residents 
through interactive polling and design charrettes. 

• Chaffee County Comprehensive Plan Update; Chaffee 
County, CO

• City of Lakewood Sustainability Planning*  
Development of reports, advertisements, and social 
media campaigns through data collection, analysis, and 
management, as well as graphic design and creative 
visual communication; Engage with the public through 
educational campaigns and open discussion forums 
on topics related to sustainability; Conduct research, 
perform data analysis and visualization, and do graphic 
design for projects that further the goals of the Lakewood 
Sustainability Plan.

• University of Colorado Denver Teacher's Assistant for 
the Planning Profession Course* 
Nora assisted Ken Schroeppel, PH.D. in teaching the 
Planning Profession course by helping with technology 
workshops, grading assignments, and giving one-on-one 
student tutorials. 

NORA BLAND
COMMUNITY PLANNING (CTA)

 
EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science in Urban Planning; Virginia 
Commonwealth University  
 
Master of Urban and Regional Planning; University of 
Colorado Denver

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 9

Nicole brings strong public-sector experience 
in project review, compliance and analysis of 
use permit entitlements. With over 10 years in 
state and local government, Nicole is versed 
in subdivision, drinking water, wastewater, 
floodplain and zoning regulations and review 
processes.  Nicole’s experience includes 
analysis of complex entitlement projects, code 
updates, grant programs, environmental review, 
and project management.  While working with 
Gallatin County, Nicole was critical in the creation 
of the comprehensive Gallatin County Zoning 
Administrative Regulation and initiated and lead 
cross-jurisdictional collaboration with the County 
Attorney’s Office, the Department of Planning and 
Community Development and the City-County 
Health Department to enforce environmental and 
land use regulations. 

NICOLE OLMSTEAD
COMMUNITY PLANNING/CODE SPECIALIST (CTA)

• Chaffee County Comprehensive Plan Update; Chaffee 
County, CO

• Montana Heritage Center; Helena, MT

• Gallatin County, Montana Zoning Administrative 
Regulation* 
Creation of a new administrative regulatory framework 
applicable to 15 county districts.  As head of the 
Compliance Department, Nicole was responsible for 
drafting new regulatory language and collaborated 
extensively with other county departments to develop 
regulations focused on alleviating variability in process, 
criteria and legal authority across 15 zoning districts.

• Gallatin County, Montana  Community Decay 
Ordinance* 
Update to an existing ordinance in order to regulate, 
control, and prohibit conditions that contribute to 
community decay on or adjacent to any public roadway 
within the county.  Nicole’s responsibilities included 
identifying provisions needing improvement, drafting 
new language and shepherding the ordinance through 
the adoption process.

 *projects completed prior to joining CTA

 
EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science in Resource Conservation; University of 
Montana, Missoula

AFFILIATIONS 
American Planning Association (APA), Member 
Montana Association of Planners (MAP), Member 
American Association of Code Enforcement (AACE), Member



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 10

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t

Stephanie brings 20+ years of municipal planning, 
project management, and oversight to the project 
team. She specializes in public engagement 
and participation. Stephanie will keep the team 
engaged and communicating throughout the 
project, facilitating creative solutions and making 
sure that critical milestones are met and the 
community is engaged.

Additionally, she is well versed in zoning 
regulations and municipal process and will assist 
in reviewing and recommending proposed 
policy changes as well as provide quality control 
and assurance. Stephanie will assist with public 
outreach and education and will attend some of 
the public meetings to help convey the regulations 
to a variety of end users, whether it is the Town, 
developer, citizen, or other regulatory agency.

• Belgrade Growth Policy Update and Park and 
Recreation Master Plan; Belgrade, MT

• Chaffee County Comprehensive Plan Update; Chaffee 
County, CO

• Town of Basalt Master Plan Update; Basalt, CO

• Prickly Pear Land Trust; Helena, MT

• City of Yelm, Program/Project Manager; Yelm, WA

• South Kalispell Urban Renewal Plan; Kalispell, MT

• Ridge Major PUD Amendment; Bozeman, MT

• Kalispell North Town Center; Kalispell, MT

• Blackfeet Industrial Park; Browning, MT

• Lamping Field, Montana Environmental Trust Group; 
Helena, MT

• Carbon County Floodplain Management; Carbon 
County, MT

• Zoning Ordinance, permitting processes, general 
planning services; City of Grenora, ND and Ray, ND

• Albertsons Companies; Land Entitlements and Site 
Planning; Various Locations Nationwide

• Boise Shoreline District Master Plan; Boise, ID

STEPHANIE RAY, AICP
LEAD COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT (CTA)

REGISTRATION 
Certified Planner / National Certificate 
 
EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Psychology, St. Martin’s University 
Master of Communication/PR, Montana State University

 Bill brings with him 24 years of preservation 
experience in all aspects of historic preservation, 
preservation analysis, detailing, design and 
specifications. He has successfully led designs 
using the Department of the Interior’s Standards 
for Preservation in the States of Colorado, 
Wyoming, New Mexico and Arizona. Bill is 
a Grants application reviewer for the State of 
Colorado and he also volunteers with outdoor 
initiatives that work for the stabilization of existing 
historic structures in Colorado’s high country.

Outside of preservation work, Bill is a licensed 
architect and project manager with an extensive 
portfolio in detail and specification work for 
intense projects with entities such as the National 
Park Service, the U.S. Postal Service, and the State 
of Colorado. 

BILL WOOD, AIA, LEED GA
LEAD ARCHITECT (CTA)

• Foothills Park and Recreation District, Grant 
Amphitheater, Littleton, CO*

• Carbon County Museum, Renovation and 
Preservation; Rawlins, WY*

• Avon Hotel, Preservation and Renovation; Silverton, 
CO*

• Auraria Higher Education Center, St. Cajetan’s 
Historic Window and Foundation Repair; Denver, CO*

• Denver Public Schools, Bryant Webster Elementary 
School Preservation and Window Replacement; 
Denver, CO*

• City of Denver, Washington Park Boat House and 
Neighborhood House Renovation; Denver, CO*

• Town of Cripple Creek, Fire Station #3 Preservation 
and Reconstruction; Cripple Creek, CO*

• United State Postal Service, Kemmerer Renovation 
and Preservation and Yellowstone Window 
Restoration; Kemmerer and Yellowstone, WY*

• Regis University, Carroll Hall Renovation; Denver, CO*

• University of Colorado, Libby Hall/Cheyenne-Arapaho 
Hall, Portico Paver Replacement; Denver, CO*

• City of Longmont, Roosevelt Park Memorial Building 
Renovation and Addition and Roosevelt Park Master 
Plan and Design; Longmont, CO*

• State of Colorado, Canon City Armory Renovation; 
Canon City, CO* 
 
*projects completed prior to joining CTA

REGISTRATION 
Architect / CO 
 
EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science in Environmental Design, University of 
Colorado at Boulder



Mike brings over thirteen years of broad-based 
professional experience in civil engineering 
design and project management. He has worked 
on all phases of projects with both private and 
public entities and carries a diverse portfolio 
of engineering projects that includes land 
development for residential and commercial 
product in municipalities throughout the Denver 
Metro Region and nationally. Mike is passionate 
about fostering valuable and recurring client 
relationships and is dedicated to providing 
technical excellence to the communities we serve.

• Chaffee County Comprehensive Plan Update; Chaffee 
County, CO

• Town of Basalt Master Plan Update; Basalt, CO

• Buena Vista Land Use Study; Buena Vista, CO

• O’Brien Subdivision; Wheat Ridge, CO

• Les Schwab Tire Centers; Utah, Idaho, Wyoming

• Boulders at Buena Vista; Buena Vista CO*

• Boulders at Homesteader; Jefferson County, CO*

• West Pace Village Forensics Engineering; Auburn, AL*

• Floor & Décor; Mission Viejo, CA*

• Apex Community School, The Meadows; Castle Rock, 
CO*

• Top Golf; Thornton, CO*

• Renaissance Secondary School; Castle Rock, CO*

• Empire Nissan; Lakewood, CO*

• Denver Justice Center; Denver, CO*

• Hampden Avenue/Hwy 285 Widening; Lakewood & 
Englewood, CO*

• Avana on the Platte Apartments; Sheridan, CO*

• 5151 Downtown Littleton; Littleton, CO* 
 
 *projects completed prior to joining CTA

MICHAEL WHITE, PE
LEAD CIVIL ENGINEER (CTA)

REGISTRATION 
Engineer / CO 
 
EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering 
Drexel University

Marni is a communications professional with 
18 years of experience in internal and external 
communications. Her current focus is on digital 
(web and blog) and social media content. She 
will coordinate and collaborate with the Town 
of Johnstown to craft compelling social media 
messaging (Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Town 
Blog) regarding the comprehensive plan update 
process including creating social media event 
pages for community meetings and workshops.

MARNI MOORE
SOCIAL MEDIA COORDINATOR (CTA)

• Social Media Campaigns: Creating, Scheduling, 
Managing, Analyzing CTA social media campaigns 
on all social channels including LinkedIn, Facebook 
(14 individual office pages and corporate CTA page), 
Instagram (corporate and “People of CTA” accounts), 
and Twitter.

• Rebranding Efforts: Working with CTA’s Digital 
Communications Manager, Marni has been very involved 
in the firm’s initial discussions and refined decision to 
rebrand the firm name including updates on all social 
media channels.

• Content Creation: Developing messaging to highlight 
CTA’s many service sectors and vertical markets via the 
company blog and company social media channels.

 *projects completed prior to joining CTA

 
EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Arts in Cultural Anthropology; University of Oregon

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 11



Mr. Rhoads has more than 25 years of experience 
in the design of residential, commercial/retail, 
educational, and governmental/institutional 
projects.

As a McCormack Baron Salazar project architect, 
Mr. Rhoads’ main responsibility is to guide the 
physical plan from initial master plan conception 
through construction in order to guarantee a 
McCormack Baron Salazar solution: a high-
functioning, high-quality, well-designed, safe, and 
connected community. In order to fill this vision, 
Mr. Rhoads manages, coordinates, and critiques 
the work of outside architects and planners, civil 
and structural engineers, and environmental 
consultants. He is also responsible for procuring 
professional services and general contractors, 
evaluating cost estimates, value engineering, 
supervising document development, observing 
construction, and coordinating meetings with 
neighborhood and tenant associations.

Randy has served as an affordable housing 
strategist consultant for CTA on numerous 
occasions.

• Town of Basalt Master Plan Update; Basalt, CO

• Chaffee County Comprehensive Plan Update; Chaffee 
County, CO

• East Billings TIF District; Billings, MT 
Advisor and workshop facilitator

• Big Sky Workforce Housing Strategist; Big Sky, MT

• 6 North Multifamily Building; St. Louis, MO 
Lead architect for 6 North in St. Louis, MO, the first 
multifamily, mixed-income building in the U.S. to 
incorporate universal design features into every unit.

• Tremont Pointe: Cleveland, OH 
Lead project architect for Tremont Pointe in Cleveland, 
OH, which was one of the first affordable housing 
developments to be certified under the Enterprise Green 
Communities Criteria.

• University Place Homes: Memphis, TN 
Lead project architect for University Place which achieved 
LEED for Homes Certification in 2009 and LEED for 
Neighborhood Development certification in 2010.

• North Sarah Apartments: Durham, NC

• East Side/Wheatley Courts, Choice Neighborhood 
Implementation Grant: San Antonio, TX

• East Liberty/Larimer, Choice Neighborhood 
Implementation Grant; Pittsburgh, PA

RANDY RHOADS
AFFORDABLE HOUSING STRATEGIST (MBS) 

REGISTRATION 
Architect / CA 
 
EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Architecture, Kansas State University

2  |  Q u a l i f i c a t i o n s  S t a t e m e n t

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 12



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 13

3  |  P r o j e c t  A p p r o a c h  a n d  U n d e r s t a n d i n g

Project Management Approach

CTA prides itself on taking a proactive approach to project management by 
establishing a Project Management Plan (PMP) at the outset of any project. 
The PMP outlines the project vision and key objectives, in this case, to deliver 
a successful comprehensive plan update within the required timeframe and 
budget in order to meet the Town's long-term planning needs. In addition 
to proactively creating a project management approach, CTA project 
management integrates a Communications Plan, Change Management Plan, 
and Quality Control Plan.

Communications Plan

CTA presents a streamlined communication plan with open access to project 
staff. We practice an internal communication management strategy to keep 
all project team members tied into key project decisions in order to facilitate 
open and productive dialogue. Wayne Freeman will serve as the main point 
of contact for the Town of Johnstown. He will always be accessible. His cell is 
406.599.7109 and will answer unless he is in a meeting or on a plane. 

• One Point of contact
• Direct contact with the planning team
• Direct access to Principal-in-Charge

Change Management Plan

CTA practices a proactive approach to change management. By defining 
our project scope as clearly as possible in the initial phases, we attempt to 
incorporate and thoroughly explain project contingencies and our approach 
to mitigating these contingencies. We communicate the project scope and 
risks to the overall project vision during the project kick-off meeting, and by 
keeping open and clear communication with the Town from the start, we 
inherently involve Town staff for feedback, ideas, and discussions. 

Responsiveness and Team Coordination 

Our team members are well-versed in monitoring schedules, achieving 
milestones, and working through scope changes. With CTA, Johnstown 
stakeholders can expect the highest form of professionalism and best 
management practices to see the project through completion. As you will see 
from our proposed scope of work, CTA believes communication is the key to 
executing a successful project and has allocated many hours for coordination 
and progress meetings. 

Project Understanding

We stated in our cover letter; we know what you're facing. We live in Denver 
and we know what small agricultural communities are facing on the Front 
Range. It's similar to what communities are facing everywhere we work in the 
new west, only Colorado's Front Range is on steroids. How do you plan for 
inevitable growth and a wholesale landscape level change of land use? How 
do you preserve portions of  the small-town agrarian character of Johnstown 
when dollars and outside development pressure pours in? How do you find 
room for conservation of land when land values are skyrocketing? These issues 
are central to today's Johnstown and we have the history, planning techniques, 
and participation tools to lead your community in identifying, defining, and 
moving a vision for the Town's future. 

We know conflicting and often confounding land use pressures will meet on 
the outskirts of your town. We appreciate the difficulties such an oddly shaped 
municipal boundary will bring to your project (see our work example in Basalt, 
Colorado). 

We also understand the pressures and costs that massive residential growth 
can make on a community. How do you augment that residential growth by 
cautiously encouraging a commercial tax base without selling out your rural 
small-town character? 

We feel the answers to this provocative series of questions are found within the 
hearts and souls of your residents; new and native combined with a talented 
team of planning professionals who have been there before. We also feel we 
have tested and proposed a unique process through the scope of work on the 
following pages. We have thought hard about how to move forward with the 
Town of Johnstown project and are anxious to start. 



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 14

4  |  W o r k  P l a n ,  D e l i v e r a b l e s ,  a n d  S c h e d u l e

If you review our project list, you will see that we specialize in rural western 
communities being confronted with rapid growth. Colorado is facing this 
issue, and we are uniquely qualified to help you with your comprehensive plan 
and development code update. Whether comprehensive plans, area structure 
plans, community master plans, or zone rewrites, CTA Planning specializes in 
municipal and county planning. 

The making of a comprehensive plan is more often about a steady but flexible 
process than about a rigid vision of what the community wants to be prior to 
going through the planning exercise.  It’s the nature of the comprehensive 
planning game.

Given all the potential directions that the course of the next year and a half may 
take the planning process, we feel it is critical to the planning effort to organize 
the process in areas of “mindset” with associated planning tasks. This thought 
process is juxtaposed against narrow and firm preconceived notions of what 
we are going to accomplish which leads to consultant driven solutions instead 
of community driven vision.  We propose to approach the project in the 
following broad frames of perspective: 

• ANNOUNCE the project to the greater community.
• GATHER extensive background data and existing resources about 

Johnstown
• EXPLORE various opportunities and challenges that the Town of 

Johnstown presents.
• CHALLENGE findings or suggestions resulting from the initial planning 

process.
• NARROW options identified during the planning process.
• RECOMMEND a series of creative solutions that result in long term 

comprehensive plan.
• CRAFT a flexible, creative, and user-friendly development code

We have aligned our proposal and scope of work to rely heavily on visual 
documentation and media. We propose three major products that will 
encompass the resulting comprehensive plan update and a fourth that takes 
the information gathered during the outreach and planning process and 
develops a state-of-the-art development code for Johnstown. The first is an 
updated comprehensive planning document that is heavy on mapping, 
scenario planning, graphics, and charts in a user-friendly written report that 
summarizes process, findings and community vision.  

As part of the process, we want to further the value and use of the project by 
having a website created for the comprehensive plan that can be regularly 
updated to give interim progress in real time. This is a key component in our 
effort to maximize our outreach component. The project website will be 

used to announce public meetings, take surveys, garner feedback, and as 
a tool to advance the planning process by giving every citizen in the Town 
of Johnstown the power to follow and become a vested participant in their 
comprehensive plan and equally critical during the development code rewrite 
to gain feedback in real time as decisions are being made about code. 

1 .0  ANNOUNCE

It is important that the Town make a strong announcement about the effort 
to develop a comprehensive plan update for Johnstown. The reasons are 
persuasive and extensive including:

• Johnstown is at a crossroads for growth, housing, economic viability and 
change.

• The Town has one chance to frame the project to the community.
• A strong announcement has a way of paving a path forward for successful 

participation in the planning effort with increased community support. 
Broad and active public participation from all viewpoints are key to 
successful comprehensive planning. 

TASK 1.1  PR O JEC T KI CK-O F F  STA F F  M E E TI NG

To hit-the-ground-running, the team will hold a full-day/two-part staff 
meeting/workshop to establish ground rules and set the course for the next 
eighteen months of planning work.  Major elements for discussion include:

• Establish Goals for the plan
• Confirm Schedule including an 8-month community engagement 

calendar
• Identify early critical community leader interviews
• Evaluate possible venues for workshops and meetings
• Identify potential Op/Ed writers, media opportunities and other 

conveyances to the public
• Establish Key Contacts
• Build out the outreach team

TASK 1.2  B U IL D OUT  THE  O U TR E ACH TEAM

CTA will work with Johnstown to establish a team of ten to twelve key 
connected individuals within the Town who have (2) two basic qualities and 
(1) one responsibility. They first must support the comprehensive plan update 
and second must have deep connections within the community. Their one task 
is to reach out to their network of friends and contacts and encourage them to 
participate in the open houses and other planning efforts. CTA will work with 

this group to train them and reach out to their contacts. Local citizens are key 
to the outreach process. CTA can coordinate the work, but we need locally 
engaged volunteers to make the process a true success. CTA will utilize our 
network and email system as well as our project website to alert and update 
our outreach team. 

TASK 1 . 3  SOC IAL  M E DI A  D EVELOPM ENT 

CTA will work with the Town to establish and develop social media content 
including a project Facebook page and Twitter accounts. CTA will advertise 
open house and neighborhood meetings on Facebook and use the medium 
to gain input throughout the course of the project. 

The team will refresh the page regularly for events such as topic 
discussion takeovers and other ways to keep the site interesting and 
useful. 

Equal attention will be paid to Twitter and Instagram accounts where 
crossover uses for content will be gained. These platforms will help 
us reach out to greater audiences and drive citizens to the website for 
survey updates and news. 

TASK 1 . 4  D E E P-DI V E  HI STORIC  F ILE/BAC KGROUND 
R E S E A RC H

The team will work with staff and other agencies such as town planning to 
do file search for existing relative data, studies and information relative to the 
comprehensive plan.  The team will obtain all recent relevant studies leading 
up to the comprehensive plan, infrastructure data including utilities mapping, 
any available GIS data, public works information, etc. 

2.0  GATHER

Following on the heels of the deep dive document effort, the team will 
remotely begin the process of gathering and developing information relative 
to the project. 

TASK 2 .1  AB S O RB  &  U ND ERSTAND

The team will work largely remotely during this phase of the project gathering 
data and developing tools to be used throughout the planning process. Work 
to include:

• Phone Interviews



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 15

4  |  W o r k  P l a n ,  D e l i v e r a b l e s ,  a n d  S c h e d u l e

• Developing maps
• Establish/Advertise Bang the Table
• Create project Facebook page, Twitter, and Instagram accounts 
• Data Research
• Develop Surveys for both Bang the Table software and CTA's smart phone 

data response system
• Conducting Zoom meetings with project team including Town Staff
• GIS development
• Create Website
• Build Outreach Team
• Study Infrastructure 

 -Analysis of conditions of water, wastewater, and Town roads 
 -Capacity for growth

• Identify Neighborhood Hosts
• Recreation and Tourism
• Review Transportation Data  

 -Long Range Plans 
 -Conditions Assessment  
 -ADT’s

• Explore/Interview growth issues in Johnstown over the past ten years.  
 -Population Growth 
 -Major Economic Development Projects (public/private) 
 -Taxation 
 -Transportation Projects 
 -Average Job Growth/Unemployment

TASK  2.2 PROJE CT K ICK- OFF PUBLIC WORKSHOP

The team will hold a community-wide project kick-off to gain traction on the 
project.  The bulk of the meeting will be overall discussion of process and use 
of smart phone data response system to gain real time feedback on a broad 
array of planning topics that will be addressed over the course of the year-long 
planning exercise.  The intent is to gain a baseline feeling of interested parties 
and judge against same data later in the project. Major elements of the Project 
Public Kick-Off Workshop include: 

• Training session for community facilitators
• Storytelling and place capture exercise
• Mapping Exercise
• Push Pin attendance Mapping
• Broad speaking opportunity on Johnstown
• Utilize CTA's smart phone data response software to gain real time 

feedback on structured presentation/visual planning survey

INTRODUCTION TO BANG THE TABLE! 

How do we responsibly and cost effectively gain community support, provide 
a positive, non-confrontational forum for discussion, and create a process that 
involves all facets of the community in this comprehensive plan? Let’s BANG 
THE TABLE!  

The team proposes the use of one of the fastest growing community 
engagement software platforms…www.bangthetable.com to create an 
effective, inclusive, innovative community engagement process that will 
achieve the goals of this comprehensive planning effort and be an on-going 
resource for Johnstown to stay engaged with all its citizens.
 
The key components of the Bang the Table platform that we will utilize for this 
project include:

• Custom URL 
• Surveys: Overall surveys that can ask questions regarding the vision, 

direction, and overall growth of the Town of Johnstown. Bang the Table 
surveys are formatted much like the well-known Survey Monkey Platform. 

• Polls: Polls are used throughout the master plan process, and beyond, to 
test the community on simple questions to which we want quick answers.

• Guestbook: Citizens can sign in and stay up to date on the entire master 
plan process and stay engaged in the Bang the Table platform well 
beyond the master plan effort.

• Stories: This is an important tool to communicate the project to everyone 
that visits the website. 

• Places: All the information that might be shared in an open house setting 
can now be captured in this software. Citizens can identify special places, 
or problem places, or a new vision for how they see a place. 

• Ideas: Citizens interacting with the software can also share specific ideas 
– everything from design elements they envision to suggested edits to 
concept plans.

• Forums: Forums are moderated places that people can share ideas and 
engage in discussions about the comprehensive plan and the future of the 
Town in a safe space. 

Currently, The Bang the Table platform does not replace more traditional 
methods of outreach that you will see outlined in the following tasks. 
However, it allows all the information that flows in and out of this outreach 
process to be accessible to a broader audience, provides a stable platform 
beyond 2020 in which citizens can continue to engage, and gathers all the 
citizen input into one simple place for incorporation by the comprehensive 
planning team. 

TASK 2.3 SEVEN ( 7)  NE IG HB O RHO O D I N-HO M E 
WORKSHOP S

The team will seek out and identify with support from Town staff and 
the outreach team, neighborhood sponsors who are willing to host 
neighborhood meetings to gather input in smaller sessions on a wide range 
of topics relative to the comprehensive plan. The team will attempt to utilize 
volunteer facilitators within the community to lead these sessions with support 
from CTA. 

Topics and Format include:

• Issue Surveys and announce/review website 
• Utilize/advertise and train Bang the Table
• Chart Issues and collect opinion through Bang the Table 

 -Land Use  
 -Housing and Housing Mismatch 
 -Economic 
 -Community Social Issues 
 -Growth, Recreation, etc. 

3.0  EXPLORE

Key project team members will spend a week or more in Johnstown to explore 
areas of the Town and surrounding region.  

TASK 3 .1  I NTERV IEWS/WORKSH OP

The team will hold one-on-one and group interviews over a one-week period 
to capture issues of concern and look for opportunities for partnership with 
the greater community as it relates to core comprehensive plan elements.  The 
team will conduct interviews and utilize data response system to gain real-time 
feedback. 

In addition, the team will hold a breakout workshop/charrette with the 
community to study unfolding issue(s) that may include housing needs, 
transportation or some other hot button issue that may be of importance but 
not obvious at this time. During this workshop, the team will conduct and 
expand on SWOT and review land-use and development options for future 
development and redevelopment opportunities. 

TASK 3 . 2 DAYS  IN T HE PARK 

Team representatives will host "pop-up" time in Johnstown's community parks 
to gain access to public and traditional soccer mom input. These will include 
Saturday visits to have a pop-up tent venue in Clearview Park, Eddie Aragon 
Park, Hays Park, Lake Park, Parish Park, Rolling Hills Ranch Park, Pioneer 



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 16

4  |  W o r k  P l a n ,  D e l i v e r a b l e s ,  a n d  S c h e d u l e

Ridge Park, and Sunrise Park. The team will show up for half day morning 
events sporting a pop-up booth, chairs, coffee, and doughnuts and armed 
with project promotion and tablet surveys. It's a great tool to reach out to 
park users and ordinary citizens who might not attend workshops for project 
awareness and feedback. 
 
TASK  3.3  SHORT R IDE - A LONGS

Borrowing from the classic form of police “ride-alongs” to better learn about 
the job and issues confronting police protection in communities, the team 
will break-up and do short one-on-one issues and shadow key Town staff to 
better understand what is confronting citizens in their various public service 
capacities.  We have found this format indispensable in breaking down 
barriers and opening eyes as to what is happening in municipalities like the 
Town of Johnstown.  We propose to spend time and perform select interviews 
with the following departments:

• Building
• Town Clerks
• Town Managers
• Dispatch
• Economic Development
• Finance
• Fire
• Human Resources
• Information Technology
• Infrastructure and Development Services
• Municipal Court
• Parks & Recreation 
• Planning
• Attend Planning and Zoning Commission
• Police

TASK  3.4 HOUSING A N D M UNICIPAL F ISCAL IMPACT 
STUDY

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC BASE ASSESSMENT  
We will prepare a demographic profile of Johnstown and its regional context, 
including population and employment trends using data from the US Census, 
Colorado State Demography Office and other sources.

HOUSING ASSESSMENT
We will analyze the Town of Johnstown's existing housing stock and profile 
newer developments in the community to understand recent trends. We will 
build upon our demographic assessment to assess current and near-term 

demand for different types of housing product, including affordable housing. 
We will conduct interviews with key informants to gain insight on the local 
housing market.

HOUSING AFFORDABILITY POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
Building on our experience in other communities, we will identify potential 
policy efforts that could be considered to expand housing affordability. We 
will develop a number of tools and take a wide look at affordable housing 
issues in Johnstown including: 
• Performing Public Outreach
• Making Recommendations to Town on Actions to be taken to improve 

affordable housing
• Analyze Johnstown’s existing housing stock
• Fiscal Impact considerations framework for considering new 

developments
• Test Affordability Options such as: 

-Survey ADU options with Public  
Get the the public to build affordability into their own communities by  
 determining how much outside support ($) would be needed for existing    
landowners to build affordable ADU’s.  
What are the stumbling blocks for ADU development or new developments 
to build affordable housing units?  
  -Zoning  
  -Workforce 
  -Funding 
  -Infrastructure Access 
  -Available Contractor Resources

• Evaluation of different housing types, development scenarios and land 
use restrictions to provide real world data driven options on affordable 
housing: 
-How did they do it? 
-How did they fund it? Gap.  
-Style and mix of housing that worked best.  
-Do's and Don'ts 

• Test Johnstown’s appetite for providing some source of GAP funding for 
affordable housing.  
-Bang the table survey 
-Facebook Outreach Survey 
-Outreach Team 
-Storefront Survey 
-Solicited Meeting through Outreach Team and Facebook of broad group 
of Town residents.

TASK 3 . 5 SC HOOL S 

The project team will hold one evening workshop at Roosevelt High School. 
The team will look to hold meetings in a workshop format that brings students 
and parents together in a collective sessions to talk about issues affecting 
each. As with all portions, attendees will be introduced to Bang the Table but 
also be asked to draw and become part of the pre-planning team.  

ROOSEVELT HIGH SCHOOL STUDENT MEETINGS 
An exercise that always proves an effective way to gain younger demographic 
input is in school civics or government classes can be accomplished by a 
student outreach class appearance such as in the following format: 

In advance of the trip, ask students to visit the project website. There, they will 
review the project and take the online survey.  

• We will send the comment paper to the teacher and have he or she ask 
that students complete it (format is 8 1/2" x 11", 3 basic questions). 

• The teacher will scan and send CTA the completed papers (2) days before 
the meeting. 

• CTA will review the comment papers and coalesce comments into similar 
topics for a presentation board display. 

 
Day of Student Sessions-Assume we have 55 minutes per class: 

• Introduce project – 5 minutes
• Discuss website: How can CTA improve effort? What can be done to 

increase input? – 5 minutes
• Discuss results of Comment Papers -15 Minutes
• Complete a “Dot Ranking Exercise” where students assign a priority rank 

to their coalesced comments using three (3) dots – 5 minutes
• Quickly discuss the results of the Dot Ranking Exercise – 15 Minutes 

-What topic was found most important, why and why not? 
• "Johnstown Bucks" purchase exercise (10 minutes). Students are given (5), 

one thousand "Johnstown Bucks." They are asked to invest in major capital 
investments in the Town such as: 
 -Town investment in Affordable Housing 
 -A circulator shuttle to commercial nodes from residential points 
 -Town investment in expanded childcare facilities 
 -Town investment in a drug addiction awareness and treatment   
 program and behavioral health 
 -Town investment in trail and walkway connectivity program 
 -Town investment in Carbon Reduction assets; Solar, Electric Vehicles,  
 etc. 
 -Other



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 17

4  |  W o r k  P l a n ,  D e l i v e r a b l e s ,  a n d  S c h e d u l e

4.0  C H A L LEN GE

By this point in the project, the team will have received a sizeable amount 
of data, information, opinion and comments relative to the comprehensive 
planning process. This phase will focus on looking at commonalities in the 
information and challenge some of the data and feedback.

TASK  4.1  RE VIE W AND  COMPILE  DATA

The team will work largely remotely during this phase of the project, 
challenging and sifting through data and information. Work to include:

• Collect and refine web-based survey
• Consolidate Bang the Table data
• Identify action items
• Edit Website
• Zoom meetings 
• Housing Issues
• Economic Opportunities
• Further Housing Municipal Fiscal Impact Study Infrastructure, Land Use, 

and Transportation Evaluation
• 3-mile growth plan and growth management 

TAS K  4.2 COMMUNIT Y WORKSHOP #2 

Based on information received through the first half of the project planning 
process, the team will advertise and hold a community workshop to provide 
some initial findings and commonalities in feedback. This is the first time the 
community will be able to respond to general findings and to push-back on 
action items. The team will work with the Town to hold community workshops 
in various locations within the Town. Elements of the second workshop 
include:

• Challenge Findings in standard comprehensive plan focal elements
• Challenge preliminary action items in comprehensive plan
• Interview selected respondents
• Bang the Table response
• EXPLORE initial comprehensive mapping exhibits 

 -Land Use 
 -Housing Options 
 -Transportation 
 -Growth Areas 
 -Infrastructure 
 -Municipal Fiscal Impacts 

 -Recreation and Tourism 
 -Other

TASK 4.3 FUT U RE G ROWT H MAP PI NG SET  

The team will evaluate future growth and building activity inside the primary 
nodes within Municipal Boundaries and “Sub Areas”.  The deliverable will be 
Future Land Use Maps, including +/- 10 parcels identified through the public 
process and through staffing meetings. The team will work with the Town to 
define potential growth issues and prepare future land-use mapping.  During 
this session, the team will review growth options and begin to recommend 
infrastructure and transportation needs for the future including high level costs 
associated with future improvements. 

5.0  NARROW

Based on feedback from the previous phases and data collection phases, the 
team will begin to consolidate and coalesce information into a broad range of 
recommendations and strategies that may have competing interests. 

TASK 5.1  COA LESC E  F IND ING S 

The project team will work largely remotely during this period creating a 
broad series of draft recommendations and putting findings into graphic form 
and maps. The team will begin to fine tune content and format the website for 
a draft plan.

TASK 5.2 STAFF MEET ING S

The team will begin to circulate the preliminary draft comprehensive plan 
internally.  The team will hold a meeting with key Town departments and 
leadership during this phase. It is important to point out here that the 
CTA team will hold bi-weekly meetings in-person or via webinar 
format throughout the 18-month process.  

TASK 5.3  P U BLI C AND  STAKEHO LD E R SESSI O NS  TO 
REVIEW F IND ING S 
 
The team will conduct a large public meeting and public outreach through 
Bang the Table and social media to discuss and review preliminary findings 
and results of the planning and design process. Again, this effort will be 
presented as an open house community gathering, including food, games, 
and F.U.N.! The Team will also conduct one smaller special interest meeting 
with representatives identified by the city and defined throughout the 

planning process. As typical, we will alert the public via social media platforms 
as well as traditional advertisements. Major elements of the Public Meeting #3 
Preparation and Completion:
• Build survey Round #2 questions
• Utilize the Places and Ideas tool to capture specific site feedback on the 

planning scenarios
• Individual, site-specific feedback on planning scenarios
• Potential polling questions to get quick real-time feedback on hot button 

issues
• Sample early testing of some broad code elements

6.0  RECOMMEND

Following results from Section 5, the team will synthesize the data and 
comments received as well as refine graphics, text, and website into a draft 
comprehensive plan update.

TASK 6 .1  D RAFT  COMP REH ENSIVE PLAN

The team will craft a draft comprehensive plan pulling together the project’s 
research, data collection, public and staff input and professional opinion into a 
draft plan. 

TASK 6 . 2 D RAFT  PR E S E NTAT ION

The team will circulate the draft comprehensive plan online to the public 
and staff for the project. We will do this in two formats. We will present to 
the town planning and zoning commission and council (if desired) and film 
presentations for use on the project website. 

TASK 6 . 3 F I NA L R E V ISI O NS

As with every project of as long a duration and complexity as the Johnstown 
comprehensive plan, there will be edits to all deliveries up to the final point.  
We assume this project will be no different and have planned for such 
contingency.  

7.0  JOHNSTOWN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

TASK 7.1  F INAL  CI TY CO M PREH ENSIVE PLAN

The team will deliver and present the final Town of Johnstown comprehensive 
plan update. The document will be delivered in hard copy, digital, and a 
digital appendix of all blogs, film, and website data on a four (4) terabyte hard 
drive. 



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 18

4  |  W o r k  P l a n ,  D e l i v e r a b l e s ,  a n d  S c h e d u l e

As part of this final effort, we will do a ten (10) minute documentary video. 
We will use film of the process that we have been shooting throughout the 
project. We will be conducting interviews with the public, planning staff, 
planning and zoning, and Town Council to piece together a video of the 
process and results. 

TASK  7.2 BANG THE  TA B L E  HANDOFF 

Task 7.2 will include a personal training and hand-off of the Bang the Table 
platform to planning staff to continue to capitalize on the momentum of the 
comprehensive planning process.
  
8 .0  C RAF T 

TASK  8.1  DE VE LOPME NT CODE REWRITE 

During the course of the development of the Comprehensive Planning 
process, the project team will work with Johnstown to identify major 
components of a Code Rewrite.  During the gather phase, the team will 
collect existing PUD’s and gain an early understanding of how development 
has occurred/evolved.  Throughout the planning process, we will look for 
examples of elements of the Johnstown development fabric have worked and 
collect data of areas where PUD’s have stumbled.

The CTA Team has, in fact, authored dozens of PUDs since the early 2000’s in 
rural communities across Montana, Wyoming, North Dakota and Idaho.  We 
understand the pros and significant cons that go into the work particularly 
as it impacts staffing for smaller municipalities.  We are very confident in our 
understanding and use of PUDs and will use that to our advantage when 
conditionally working with Johnstown staff in the Development Code Rewrite.

As part of the Development Code Rewrite and as an order of course during 
the development of the Comprehensive Plan, we will explore major topics to 
consider as part of the rewrite process including items such as: 

• Highlighting and defining areas for Growth as well as preservation.
• Looking at Johnstown existing budgets and costs for development 

reviews and gaging the types and length of responses.  We can use this 
information to cite and develop a proforma evaluation of costs to Town of 
different types of applications as well as management of PUD’s.

• Put language to code for cluster development to transition from 
developed areas to countryside.  The team will be considering specifically 
as it explores the subarea plans.

• Consider a variety of options to do total reform of PUD’s and Legacy 
Zoning areas considering options to bring language of each into a unified 

development code.  This is most likely done through establishment of a 
revisionary PUD code that transitions existing PUD’s to a systematic and 
cohesive language that strives to bring diverse PUD language into similar 
context.

• Annexation Policies.  Explore options that preserve the rural character 
while embracing a level of growth that coincides with public input from 
the comprehensive planning process.  Annexation Policies at a minimum 
will:  
-Establish a matrix of relative costs to Town (and therefore developers) by 
zoning type for utilities, transportation management, first responders, and 
ancillary amenity costs.  
-Evaluate densities in specific areas and conform to established future land 
use plans 
-Identify necessary developer required amenities and set asides 
-Conform to minimum architectural guidelines loosely defined during 
the comprehensive planning process as well as the development code 
rewrite.

• Through the comprehensive planning process, the team will attempt to 
chart existing agricultural and sensitive environmental and natural areas 
and identify mechanisms to ensure some level of protection.

• Based on infrastructure analysis during comprehensive planning process, 
utilize water and wastewater infrastructure practices that meet required 
development goals.  Establish sustainable measures that developers 
must show in order to meet minimum requirements to build in the new 
Johnstown.

The team recognizes that in many communities much of the framework 
of zoning code is already in tact but it is not user-friendly, does not read 
well, and requires serious text modification. We understand the difference 
between design guidelines (non-regulatory, comprehensive plan) and design 
standards (legal setbacks, height, etc. in code) and that using a consistent 
graphic language between comprehensive plan and zoning code will greatly 
increase legibility of both documents. Much of the work of the comprehensive 
planning process will define the direction of the code rewrite.  We will focus 
on each of the three things in code: design standards/language, zoning map, 
as well as the approval process. 

Our educated assessment of Johnstown’s code is that there are portions that 
can be retained, but we are basing our fee on a substantial rewrite and near 
total reformatting of the entire code.  We have budgeted for a substantial 
series of design guidelines for the community including new development 
and development in the downtown area.  Again, these parameters will be 
flushed out loosely during the comprehensive planning process but fully 
developed as a part of this phase.



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 19

Tasks

1.0 ANNOUNCE  | Task 1.1 Project Kick-Off Staff Meeting 

1.0 ANNOUNCE  | Task 1.2 Build Out the Outreach Team

1.0 ANNOUNCE  | Task 1.3 Social Media Development

1.0 ANNOUNCE  | Task 1.4 Deep-Dive Historic File/Background Research 

2.0 GATHER  | Task 2.1 Absorb and Understand 

2.0 GATHER  | Task 2.2 Project Kick-Off Public Workshop

2.0 GATHER  | Task 2.3 Seven Neighborhood In-Home Workshops

3.0 EXPLORE  | Task 3.1 Interviews/Workshop 

3.0 EXPLORE  | Task 3.2 Days in the Park

3.0 EXPLORE  | Task 3.3 Short Ride-Alongs

3.0 EXPLORE  | Task 3.4 Housing and Municipal Fiscal Impact Study

3.0 EXPLORE  | Task 3.5 Schools

4.0 CHALLENGE | Task 4.1 Review and Compile Data

4.0 CHALLENGE | Task 4.2 Community Workshop #2

4.0 CHALLENGE | Task 4.3 Future Growth Mapping Set

5.0 NARROW | Task 5.1 Coalesce Findings 

5.0 NARROW | Task 5.2 Staff Meetings

5.0 NARROW | Task 5.3 Public and Stakeholder Sessions to Review Findings

6.0 RECOMMEND | Task 6.1 Draft Comprehensive Plan 

6.0 RECOMMEND | Task 6.2 Draft Presentation

6.0 RECOMMEND | Task 6.3 Final Revisions

7.0 JOHNSTOWN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN | Task 7.1 Final Comprehensive Plan

7.0 JOHNSTOWN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN | Task 7.2 Bang the Table Handoff

8.0 CRAFT | Development Code Rewrite

OCT.

2019 2020

I N T E R N A L / STA F F  P R O D U C T I O N

P U B L I C  PA R T I C I PAT I O N

4  |  W o r k  P l a n ,  D e l i v e r a b l e s ,  a n d  S c h e d u l e

NOV. DEC. JAN. FEB. MAR. APR. MAY JUN. JUL. AUG. SEPT. OCT. NOV. DEC. JAN. FEB. MAR.

2021
APR.



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 20

5  |  S p e c i a l  S e r v i c e s  a n d  S u b c o n s u l t a n t s

We have added McCormack Baron Salazar to our team for their 
affordable housing expertise, specifically the expertise of Randy 
Rhoads. 

About McCormack Baron Salazar

Since its founding in 1973, McCormack Baron Salazar has made quality, 
affordable housing the cornerstone of their efforts to rebuild central 
cities across the United States that have deteriorated through decades 
of neglect and disinvestment.

McCormack Baron Salazar’s role as an innovator in community and 
urban redevelopment can be traced to 1963, when an idealistic Oberlin 
College student named Richard Baron volunteered at a Freedom 
School established by social activists and residents of Cleveland’s 
impoverished Hough neighborhood. Mr. Baron’s experience working 
with children in Hough opened his eyes to the needs, hopes and 
potential of low-income urban communities.

After graduating from law school, Mr. Baron became a legal aid lawyer 
representing public housing tenants in St. Louis. There he saw first-
hand huge disparities in housing quality and opportunity available to 
poor families. Baron helped create a more responsive public housing 
bureaucracy and persuaded the agency to give tenants a role in 
managing public housing developments.

During this time, he forged a relationship with labor leader and 
homebuilder Terry McCormack and in 1973 the two formed 
McCormack Baron & Associates (now McCormack Baron Salazar). Their 
vision, to rebuild low-income communities by providing quality housing 
options for all people, is the core principle of the company’s mission 
today.

Through the intervening years, the firm has evolved in order to address 
broader challenges and create stronger impacts. Early projects 
focused on the development of small, single sites with mixed-income 
rental housing. Striving for even greater impact on disadvantaged 
neighborhoods, McCormack Baron Salazar began to develop multi-
block areas, creating financial structures that combined local and 
Federal programs to support a mix of affordable, public housing and 
market-rate homes. Recognizing that quality, secure and stable housing 
was just the beginning, McCormack Baron Salazar now includes the 

development and support of neighborhood schools, early childhood 
education, youth and senior activities, resident job training and self-
sufficiency, economic development, access to quality health services, 
environmental stewardship and energy efficiency and
a long-term commitment to the community as core activities in 
comprehensive neighborhood revitalization.

Through the same period, the company began expanding its real estate 
services to include property management, asset management and 
specialized services like public infrastructure consulting, sustainability, 
and a New Markets Tax Credit group. In expanding its vision and scope, 
McCormack Baron Salazar has also created long-term partnerships 
with local governments, housing authorities, non-profit providers, key 
institutions, and employers. 

The results of these efforts are tangible: revitalized communities, 
with stable, sustainable housing, quality educational choices, access 
to economic opportunities, connections to retail and services, and 
enriched recreational and health options. These are communities of 
choice, not of last resort, where families can raise their children, seniors 
can age in place, and all people have the opportunity to thrive.

McCormack Baron Salazar is poised to help cities meet 21st century 
challenges head on. They bring a comprehensive and workable 
approach to a complex development environment and their successes 
demonstrate their ability to deliver on the goals set for them by their 
clients: the cities, residents, authorities, institutions, and businesses of 
Urban America. Through it all, they strive to achieve their vision: a future 
when all people live in sustainable, opportunity-rich communities.

Randy Rhoads has developed dozens of affordable housing projects 
throughout the country and has worked with CTA on many of our 
comprehensive planning efforts as an affordable housing strategist. 
He brings with him a unique and national view on affordable housing 
and how to get projects started and completed from the developer's 
perspective. 



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 21

STA N DA R D  H O U R LY  R AT E S

Wayne Freeman 

Stephanie Ray

David Dixon

Nora Bland

Nicole Olmstead

Bill Wood

Michael White

Randy Rhoads

Marni Moore

 
 

$215

$120

$125

$75

$120

$160

$187

$150

$87

R E I M B U R SA B L E +  S U B CO N S U LTA N T  E X P E N S E S

A N C I L L A RY  S E RV I C E S 

PAY M E N T  S C H E D U L E  A N D  T E R M S

Reimbursable expenses will be reviewed with you for 
approval prior to proceeding. These expenses, including 
subconsultant fees, are typically passed to the client in a 
lump sum fee and include a 10% mark up.  

Changes in scope of work, or additional revisions that 
impact the project time schedule will be reviewed with 
you prior to CTA proceeding with design changes. 
Adjustments to the project fee or schedule will be 
determined accordingly.

CTA shall invoice on a monthly basis professional services 
and reimbursable expenses incurred during the previous 
month. Invoices shall be due and payable 30 days from 
the date of invoice. Amounts unpaid thirty (30) days after 
the invoice date shall bear interest at the rate of 12% per 
annum. Payment of invoices shall not be subject to any 
discounts or set-offs by the Owner unless agreed to in 
writing by CTA. If any amounts remain unpaid more than 
sixty (60) days, CTA may either suspend services, or, at 
CTA’s discretion, terminate this agreement. 

6  |  F e e  P r o p o s a l

HoursProposed Staff Fee
1.0 ANNOUNCE
Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Nicole Olmstead 
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Randy Rhoads
Marni Moore

Hourly Rate

12
22
22
32
2
2
2
4
20

$215
$120
$125
$75
$120
$160
$187
$150
$87

$2,580
$2,640
$2,750
$2,400
$240
$320
$374
$600
$1,740

SUBTOTAL $13,644

2.0 GATHER

3.0 EXPLORE

4.0 CHALLENGE

5.0 NARROW

HoursProposed Staff FeeHourly Rate

SUBTOTAL $211,274

BANG THE TABLE SOFTWARE $5,000

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES $9,500

SUBTOTAL EXPENSES $14,500

TOTAL $225,774

CTA PROPOSED FEE $225,774

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Nicole Olmstead 
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Randy Rhoads
Marni Moore

16
8
40
40
2
8
16
8
20

$215
$120
$125
$75
$120
$160
$187
$150
$87

$3,440
$960
$5,000
$3,000
$240
$1,280
$2,992
$1,200
$1,740

SUBTOTAL $19,852

24
16
60
80
12
8
24
24
16

$215
$120
$125
$75
$120
$160
$187
$150
$87

$5,160
$1,920
$7,500
$6,000
$1,440
$1,280
$4,488
$3,600
$1,392

SUBTOTAL $32,780

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Nicole Olmstead 
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Randy Rhoads
Marni Moore

24
12
40
80
8
8
16
8
16

$215
$120
$125
$75
$120
$160
$187
$150
$87

$5,160
$1,440
$5,000
$6,000
$960
$1,280
$2,992
$1,200
$1,392

SUBTOTAL $25,424

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Nicole Olmstead 
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Randy Rhoads
Marni Moore

24
8
80
120
8
8
8
8
12

$215
$120
$125
$75
$120
$160
$187
$150
$87

$5,160
$960
$10,000
$9,000
$960
$1,280
$1,496
$1,200
$1,044

SUBTOTAL $31,100

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Nicole Olmstead 
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Randy Rhoads
Marni Moore

6.0 RECOMMEND

$215
$120
$125
$75
$120
$160
$187
$150
$87

$3,440
$960
$10,000
$6,000
$960
$640
$1,496
$1,200
$1,044

SUBTOTAL $25,740

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Nicole Olmstead 
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Randy Rhoads
Marni Moore

HoursProposed Staff FeeHourly Rate
7.0 COMP. PLAN

12
8
22
40
8
8
16
8
12

$2,580
$960
$2,750
$3,000
$960
$1,280
$2,992
$1,200
$1,044

$16,766

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Nicole Olmstead 
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Randy Rhoads
Marni Moore

8.0 CODE REWRITE

40
12
110
110
50
24
8
8
16

$8,600
$1,440
$13,750
$8,250
$6,000
$3,840
$1,496
$1,200
$1,392

$45,968

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Nicole Olmstead 
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Randy Rhoads
Marni Moore

SUBTOTAL

SUBTOTAL

$215
$120
$125
$75
$120
$160
$187
$150
$87

$215
$120
$125
$75
$120
$160
$187
$150
$87

16
8
80
80
8
4
8
8
12



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 22

Project Name: Growth Policy and Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
Update; City of Belgrade, Montana

Project Description: CTA was recently engaged by the City of Belgrade, 
Montana, to prepare an updated growth policy and parks and recreation 
master plan. This plan will provide guidance for both short and long-range 
planning for the City of Belgrade and its 4.5-mile planning jurisdiction by 
integrating community input, identifying future land use needs, economic 
development, community goals, and recreation planning standards. 
The City’s rapidly growing planning jurisdiction contains a population 
of approximately 20,000 people. Our team worked with City Planning 
and Public Works staff, the Belgrade Parks & Recreation Board, and the 
Belgrade City-County Planning Board in order to make recommendations 
to the Belgrade City Council and the Gallatin County Commission for the 
adoption of the updated growth policy and parks and recreation master 
plan. Expected adoption is scheduled for September 2019. 

Coming off of the busiest year in its history in 2018, the Gallatin Airport 
Authority met with the Project Team to describe how they are continually 
adapting and expanding to meet growing demands and to discuss the 
importance of collaboration between the City and the Airport. Controlling 
about 2,200 acres of land and employing about 1,000 people -— many 
of whom live in Belgrade —the airport is possibly the largest stakeholder 
affecting the physical environment around the community. Existing 
Airport Influence Area Zoning is currently in place to regulate surrounding 
land uses and to prevent nuisances between aviation and urban uses. 
Future plans may include additional facilities related to growing aviation 
operations, however, the Authority does not intend to interfere with private 
development. Lands to the south of the airport adjacent to the incorporated 
municipal boundary that may be appropriate for commercial uses are 
likely to be held by the Authority until development or market conditions 
change. Infrastructure demand and improvements will need continual 
communication between the City and the Airport as demands increase and 
infrastructure upgrades are required.

Project Cost: $80,000.00 Planning Fee
CTA Scope: Planning Services and Community Outreach
Date of Completion: Ongoing, First Draft for Public Review
Project Reference: Jason Karp, Planning Director, City of Belgrade, 
406.388.3783

7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s

Future Land Use Plan



" The City of Belgrade has contracted with CTA to develop the Belgrade’s 
City-County Growth Policy and to develop a Citywide Parks and Recreation 
Plan. The process has been very smooth, and CTA has been great to work 
with. They’re doing an excellent job of shaping our plans with help from 
the public, and City staff. I would not hesitate to recommend CTA to other 
municipalities in Montana." 

-Jason Karp, Planning Director

"Stephanie, Thank you to you and your team. I think your work has been 
outstanding. The feedback that I've received has been excellent." 

-Ted Barkley, Belgrade City Manager

7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 23
Existing Zoned Areas



7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s

Project Name: "Together Chaffee County" Comprehensive Plan Update; 
Chaffee County, Colorado 

Project Description: CTA was selected by Chaffee County 
Commissioners to prepare a Comprehensive Plan Update, the first new 
comprehensive plan since 2000. 

The CTA team had more than 70 people from all across the County attend 
the kick-off meeting to provide input to the process. The team setup the 
space with a series of tables and giant boards, designed to give people 
more information about the goal areas. Along with what became hundreds 
of sticky note questions, concerns, and comments on the big boards, 
participants were asked to complete a three-question survey. This project is 
ongoing. 

CTA is in the middle of completing a significant comprehensive plan 
update for Chaffee County which includes a massive public outreach 
component. The community includes the towns of Buena Vista, Salida, 
and Poncha Springs, and faces enourmous growth problems. As a tourist-
based economy, the County doubles in size for six months out of the year. 
Transportation, housing, water and servicing top the charts of issues facing 
Chaffee County. 

Project Cost: $248,000.00 Planning Fee
CTA Scope: Planning Services and Community Outreach 
Date of Completion: Ongoing
Project Reference: Dan Swallow, Chaffee County Project Manager and 
Director of Development Services, 719.530.5567

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 24



7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 25



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 26

Project Name: Town of Basalt Master Plan Update; Basalt, Colorado

Project Description: In early December 2018, the town government 
issued a Request for Proposal soliciting proposals from firms interested in 
updating a 12-year-old master plan. CTA was awarded the project, which 
needs to be complete by the end of 2019. 

This master plan will be a framework and guide for accomplishing 
community aspirations and intentions. It states goals and objectives and 
recommends courses of action for future growth and development of land, 
public facilities and services, and environmental protection. 
 
This plan will provide the policy framework for regulatory tools like zoning, 
subdivision regulations, annexations and other policies. The plan will 
promote the community’s vision, goals, objectives and policies; establish 
a process for orderly growth and development; address both current and 
long-term needs; and provide for a balance between the natural and built 
environment.

The Town's process and engagement platform is live and is www.letstalk.
basalt.net. 

Project Cost: $200,000.00 Planning Fee
CTA Scope: Planning and Community Outreach with local collaborators, 
Connect One Design
Date of Completion: Ongoing
Project Reference: Susan Philp, Basalt Planning Director, 970.279.4397

7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 27

Project Name: Feasibility and Conceptual Land Use Plan; Town of Buena 
Vista, Colorado

Project Description: CTA completed a land-use and market plan for 830 
acres of land adjacent to the Town of Buena Vista, Colorado. The project 
includes summary market analysis and water rights assessment for lands and 
water currently being offered to the City-only for purchase. CTA explored 
options for use of both land and water to explore option for purchase. 
This was a massive undertaking by the Town of Buena Vista. They envision 
completing and investing in the total future of this mountain recreational 
community. 

Project Cost: $80,000.00 Planning Fee
CTA Scope: Planning Services and Community Outreach 
Date of Completion: February 2019
Project Reference: Phillip Puckett, Town Administrator, Town of Buena 
Vista, Colorado, 719.581.1031

"The Town of Buena Vista hired CTA in the fall of 2018 
to conduct a feasibility study and produce conceptual 
land use options for a complex land and water 
project. We chose CTA for this project because they 
instantly recognized how unique this project was and 
proposed a detailed plan that captured what we 
wanted to achieve. Over the course of three months, 
CTA conducted an assessment of roughly 900 acres of 
land along with a mixture of water rights and a 1,300 
acre-foot reservoir. During this time CTA spent a lot of 
time in our town conducting interviews with community 
members, analyzing the site with existing infrastructure 
and reviewing the water rights. By spending this time 
at the site and with our community, CTA was able to 
capture our priorities and all of the nuances relating to 
the property. We were very impressed with team that 
CTA put together." 

-Phillip Puckett, Town Administrator 

7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s



Project Name: Capital City Development Corporation (CCDC) Boise 
Shoreline District Framework Plan; Boise, Idaho

Project Description: CTA worked in conjunction with Red Sky Public 
Relations, assisted CCDC, and the City of Boise to establish its newest 
urban renewal district, the Shoreline District.  District creation will reduce, 
eliminate, and prevent the spread of blight and catalyze growth and 
private investment within its boundaries as well as parts of the western 
edge of the city of Boise. To accomplish the districts purposes, the 
Shoreline Framework promotes objectives of adopted community planning 
documents, studies, and assessments while advancing the priorities of 
Boise City’s Comprehensive Plan. Projects and recommendations set forth 
in the Shoreline Urban Framework similarly advance these same priorities.  
Through a series of stakeholder and public meetings, the CTA team 
developed conceptual ideas for key focus areas including:  Urban Form, 
Riverfront Development, and Streetscapes. 

Project Cost: $150,000.00 Planning Fee
CTA Scope: Planning Services and Community Outreach 
Date of Completion: 2018
Project Reference: Shellan Rodriguez, PMP, Real Estate Development 
Manager for CCDC, 208.319.1225

7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 28



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 29

Project Name: 
South Kalispell Urban Renewal Plan; Kalispell, Montana

Project Description: 
CTA was hired by the City of Kalispell to provide the City 
of Kalispell, Airport Advisory Board, and Community with 
guidance for the future development of South Kalispell. The 
objective of this plan is to assist the Community with the 
future planning and vision of South Kalispell that includes an 
analysis of the Airport’s future development options. The final 
document will be the South Kalispell Urban Renewal Plan. The 
effort included a ‘live’ project website intended to encourage 
public comment as well as keep the planning process as 
dynamic as possible. Public outreach, input, and feedback are 
critical to the successful outcome of the South Kalispell Urban 
Renewal Plan. 

Project Cost: $76,000.00 Planning Fee
CTA Scope: Planning Services and Community Outreach
Date of Completion: 2016
Project Reference: Tom Jentz, AICP, Building and 
Community Development Director, City of Kalispell, MT, 
406.758.7940

“I would like to take this opportunity to recommend to you 
CTA Architecture and Engineering. In my capacity as the 
Planning Director for the City of Kalispell I have worked 
closely with CTA on a broad variety of projects over the 
past 10 years.

I continually find the CTA staff to be responsive, 
professional, creative problem solvers who make project 
happen. In my 36 years in the planning profession I have 
found them to be in the top tier of all professional firms.

I have worked with CTA staff on the Core Area Plan, a 
visionary redevelopment plan for our aging rail industrial 
downtown neighborhood containing 400 acres and 450 
property owners. The plan featured a vision to remove a 
short branch rail line
from the city, relocate two remnant industries (grain 
elevators and drywall firm), replace the rail with an urban 
trail and then create a graphic redevelopment plan for this 
entire area. 

The plan had limited support as we began, yet a year later, 
it won community and chamber support, a unanimous 
vote by city council and it continues to be held up as 
the example of where the future of Kalispell should be. 
Additionally the plan has been presented at 4 state and 
national conferences.”

-Tom Jentz, Building and Community Development 
Director

7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s



7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s

CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 30



CTA ARCHITECTS  EN GIN EERS  PLAN N ERS 31

1 | Growth Policy and Parks and Recreation Master Plan 

Update; City of Belgrade, Montana
 
Reference Contact: 

Jason Karp 
Planning Director 
406.388.3783

2 | Carbon County Growth Policy Update; Carbon 
County, Montana

Reference Contact: 

Angela Newell 
Executive Assistant to the Carbon County Commissioner’s Office 
406.446.1595

3 | Stillwater County Growth Policy Update; Stillwater 
County, Colorado 

Reference Contact: 

Mark Crago 
Stillwater County Commissioner 
406.322.8013

4 | Prickly Pear Greenway Feasibility Study; Helena, 

Montana 

Reference Contact: 

Andrea Silverman 
Land Protection Coordinator 
406.442.0490

5 | Town of Buena Vista Feasibility and Conceptual Land 

Use Plan; Buena Vista, Colorado
 
Reference Contact: 

Phillip Puckett 
Town Administrator 
719.581.1031

6 | South Kalispell Urban Renewal Plan; Kalispell, 

Montana
 
Reference Contact: 

Tom Jentz 
Building & Community Development Director 
406.758.7940 

7  |  W o r k  P e r f o r m e d  o n  S i m i l a r  P r o j e c t s



C TA  A R C H I T E C TS  E N G I N E E R S  P L A N N E R S 
303 E. 17th Avenue, Suite 105 | Denver, CO 80203 | 720.359.1416 

 
www.CTAGROUP.com



 

cushingterrell.com  

  November 22, 2019 

Kim Meyer, AICP 
Planning & Development Director 

Town of Johnstown 
Kmeyer@townofjohnstown.com  

RE: Town of Johnstown, Colorado Comprehensive Plan Update and Development Code 
Rewrite RFP Response Addendum.  

Dear Ms. Meyer:  

On November 6, 2019, CTA Architects Engineers Planners became Cushing Terrell.  After 
nearly 82 years, we are returning to our roots as we recognize our two founders, Ralph Cushing 
and Everett Terrell.  We are celebrating our history as we expand into new geographies and 
markets.  In January, we will open our first east coast office in Atlanta.  Cushing Terrell is the 
same firm, same people, and same quality of service that our thousands of clients have grown 
to expect from CTA.   
 
Per our discussion this week, I have modified the proposal that we submitted in October for 
above-referenced project.  It is our understanding that the Town of Johnstown desires to 
remove the Development Code Rewrite portion of the RFP, complete the Comprehensive Plan 
Update in 2020, and modify portions of the proposal to eliminate services that may be less 
important to the specifics of the Town of Johnstown.  Thank you for the opportunity to submit 
this addendum to our RFP response. 
 
The following is a summary of modifications proposed to the Cushing Terrell Johnstown 
Comprehensive Plan and Code Rewrite RFP Response: 

o 4. Work Plan, Deliverables, and Schedule – Page 15 Task 2.3 Seven (7) Neighborhood 
In-Home Workshops 

§ Reduce the number of workshops from seven (7) to five (5). 
o 4. Work Plan, Deliverables, and Schedule – Page 15 Task 3.2 Days in the Park  

§ Per our discussion, we are proposing to reduce our “Pop-Up” exercise of Days in 
the Park from nine (9) days to two (2) days and focus the effort for existing 
gatherings such as Barbeque Days that are already a part of the Town of 
Johnstown’s fabric of events. 

o 4. Work Plan, Deliverables, and Schedule – Page 16 Task 3.3 Short Ride-Alongs 
§ Per our discussion, we are proposing to eliminate this entire task. 

o 4. Work Plan, Deliverables, and Schedule – Page 16 Task 3.4 Housing and Municipal 
Fiscal Impact Study 

§ Per our discussion, we are proposing to eliminate this entire task. 
o 4. Work Plan, Deliverables, and Schedule – Page 18 Task 8.1 Development Code 

Rewrite. 
§ Per our discussion, we are proposing to eliminate this entire task. 

o 4. Work Plan, Deliverables, and Schedule – Page 19 – Schedule 



2 

cushingterrell.com  

§ Per our discussion, we are modifying the schedule of the project to ensure that 
the Comprehensive Plan Update is completed in 2020.  A revised schedule is 
submitted as an attachment to this letter. 

o 4. Work Plan, Deliverables, and Schedule – Page 21 - Fee Proposal  

§ The Cushing Terrell Fee Proposal has been modified to reflect changes made to 
the scope of services noted above.  We have prepared a revised fee proposal 
and project schedule as an attachment to this letter. 

Thank you once again for allowing us to modify our proposal to better meet your anticipated 
needs for this exciting project.  We look forward to your reply. 

 
Sincerely,  
 
CUSHING TERRELL 
 

 
Wayne Freeman, PLA, CLARB 
Principal-in-Charge 
406.599.7109 

 



TASKS

1.0 ANNOUNCE  | Task 1.1 Project Kick-Off Staff Meeting 

1.0 ANNOUNCE  | Task 1.2 Build Out the Outreach Team

1.0 ANNOUNCE  | Task 1.3 Social Media Development

1.0 ANNOUNCE  | Task 1.4 Deep-Dive Historic File/Background Research 

2.0 GATHER  | Task 2.1 Absorb and Understand 

2.0 GATHER  | Task 2.2 Project Kick-Off Public Workshop

2.0 GATHER  | Task 2.3 Five Neighborhood In-Home Workshops

3.0 EXPLORE  | Task 3.1 Interviews/Workshop 

3.0 EXPLORE  | Task 3.2 Days in the Park

3.0 EXPLORE  | Task 3.3 Schools

4.0 CHALLENGE | Task 4.1 Review and Compile Data

4.0 CHALLENGE | Task 4.2 Community Workshop #2

4.0 CHALLENGE | Task 4.3 Future Growth Mapping Set

5.0 NARROW | Task 5.1 Coalesce Findings 

5.0 NARROW | Task 5.2 Staff Meetings

5.0 NARROW | Task 5.3 Public and Stakeholder Sessions to Review Findings

6.0 RECOMMEND | Task 6.1 Draft Comprehensive Plan 

6.0 RECOMMEND | Task 6.2 Draft Presentation

6.0 RECOMMEND | Task 6.3 Final Revisions

7.0 JOHNSTOWN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN | Task 7.1 Final Comprehensive Plan

7.0 JOHNSTOWN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN | Task 7.2 Bang the Table Handoff

2020

I N T E R N A L / STA F F  P R O D U C T I O N

P U B L I C  PA R T I C I PAT I O N

4  |  R e v i s e d  W o r k  P l a n ,  D e l i v e r a b l e s ,  a n d  S c h e d u l e

JAN. FEB. MAR. APR. MAY JUN. JUL. AUG. SEPT. OCT. NOV. DEC.

1CUSHING TERRELL



STA N DA R D  H O U R LY  R AT E S

Wayne Freeman 

Stephanie Ray

David Dixon

Nora Bland

Bill Wood

Michael White

Marni Moore

 
 

$215

$120

$125

$75

$160

$187

$87

R E I M B U R SA B L E +  S U B CO N S U LTA N T  E X P E N S E S

A N C I L L A RY  S E RV I C E S 

PAY M E N T  S C H E D U L E  A N D  T E R M S

Reimbursable expenses will be reviewed with you for 
approval prior to proceeding. These expenses, including 
subconsultant fees, are typically passed to the client in a 
lump sum fee and include a 10% mark up.  

Changes in scope of work, or additional revisions that 
impact the project time schedule will be reviewed with 
you prior to Cushing Terrell proceeding with design 
changes. Adjustments to the project fee or schedule will 
be determined accordingly.

Cushing Terrell shall invoice on a monthly basis 
professional services and reimbursable expenses incurred 
during the previous month. Invoices shall be due and 
payable 30 days from the date of invoice. Amounts unpaid 
thirty (30) days after the invoice date shall bear interest at 
the rate of 12% per annum. Payment of invoices shall not 
be subject to any discounts or set-offs by the Owner unless 
agreed to in writing by Cushing Terrell. If any amounts 
remain unpaid more than sixty (60) days, Cushing Terrell 
may either suspend services, or, at Cushing Terrell’s 
discretion, terminate this agreement. 

6  |  R e v i s e d  F e e  P r o p o s a l

HoursProposed Staff Fee
1.0 ANNOUNCE
Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Marni Moore

Hourly Rate

12
22
22
32
2
2
20

$215
$120
$125
$75
$160
$187
$87

$2,580
$2,640
$2,750
$2,400
$320
$374
$1,740

SUBTOTAL $12,804

2.0 GATHER

3.0 EXPLORE

4.0 CHALLENGE

5.0 NARROW

HoursProposed Staff FeeHourly Rate

SUBTOTAL $134,240

BANG THE TABLE SOFTWARE $5,000

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES $7,500

SUBTOTAL EXPENSES $12,500

TOTAL $146,740

CTA PROPOSED FEE $146,740

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Marni Moore

16
8
40
40
8
16
20

$215
$120
$125
$75
$160
$187
$87

$3,440
$960
$5,000
$3,000
$1,280
$2,992
$1,740

SUBTOTAL $18,412

12
16
40
60
4
12
4

$215
$120
$125
$75
$160
$187
$87

$2,580
$1,920
$5,000
$4,500
$640
$2,244
$348

SUBTOTAL $17,232

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Marni Moore

24
12
40
80
8
16
16

$215
$120
$125
$75
$160
$187
$87

$5,160
$1,440
$5,000
$6,000
$1,280
$2,992
$1,392

SUBTOTAL $23,264

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Marni Moore

20
8
70
100
8
8
8

$215
$120
$125
$75
$160
$187
$87

$4,300
$960
$8,750
$7,500
$1,280
$1,496
$696

SUBTOTAL $24,982

Wayne Freeman 
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Bill Wood
Michael White 
Marni Moore

6.0 RECOMMEND

$215
$120
$125
$75
$160
$187
$87

$3,440
$960
$10,000
$6,000
$640
$1,496
$1,044

SUBTOTAL $23,580

Wayne Freeman
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Bill Wood
Michael White
Marni Moore

HoursProposed Staff FeeHourly Rate
7.0 COMP. PLAN

12
8
22
40
4
16
12

$2,580
$960
$2,750
$3,000
$640
$2,992
$1,044

$13,966

Wayne Freeman
Stephanie Ray
David Dixon
Nora Bland
Bill Wood
Michael White
Marni Moore

SUBTOTAL

$215
$120
$125
$75
$160
$187
$87

16
8
80
80
4
8
12

2CUSHING TERRELL



 
AGENDA ITEM 10I 
 
 
 
 

Ballot Measure Consideration 
 

(April 2020 Election) 
 



TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATION 

AGENDA DATE:  January 6, 2020 
  
ITEM NUMBER:  10I 
 
SUBJECT: Ballot Measure Considerations for Town’s April 2020 Election Day 
 
ACTION PROPOSED: Guidance for desired items for Citizen Consideration of 

Ballot/Referendum Questions 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  1. Election Timeline 

2. Ballot Language Examples 
           
PRESENTED BY:  Matt LeCerf, Town Manager 
 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  
In November, Council was provided with a detailed schedule of the election timetable for the April 7, 
2020 (see attachment). This same timetable is used to apply any ballot questions the Council desires 
to ask the registered voters of Johnstown to consider. The information provided below offers items 
the Council may want to consider asking in the upcoming election. The deadline for adoption of 
resolutions to add any questions is January 22, 2020, which is the next Council meeting. Staff is 
asking for direction on two general questions related to each of the suggested items for ballot 
measures as guidance and preparation for the January 22, 2020 meeting: 
 

1. Does Council desire to see a resolution presented on the specific topic(s) discussed this 
evening? 

2. If the first answer is yes, which language provided as example would the Council prefer to 
see used as the language used in the formal question on the ballot? – subject to minor 
revisions. 

 
Topic 1: Charter Revisions 
It was proposed by Councilmember Mellon that our Town’s Charter which has not been modified 
since its inception, should be improved with language to clarify the following sections of the Home 
Rule Charter detailed below. In each of the Sections, changes to the Home Rule Charter would make 
clear and reaffirm that the Mayor is included in the qualifications for a quorum and in both instances 
as a voting member. 
 
Section 3.3:   Quorum 
Section 4.2(B):  Voting clarifications for an ordinance 
Section 4.7(A): Voting clarifications for an emergency ordinance 
 
The language alternatives that the Council may want to choose from is included in the attachment 
provided.  
 
Topic 2: SB 152 Broadband Opt-Out 
Town Council has discussed high-speed internet and broadband in 2019. The discussions included 
both options and ideas related to how high-speed broadband can be and in other instances, has been 



implemented by other communities. In the most recent presentation, Severance’s Town 
Administrator presented to Council, their success in a public/private partnership they have 
established to provide both broadband fiber and wireless high-speed internet options for their 
community. This presentation was an opportunity that peaked the Johnstown Council’s interest. 
Subsequently, it was requested that ballot language be provided to review with the thought that, we 
could provide the same opportunity or model in our community for our residents.  
 
Included in the attachment provided are examples of language the Council may want to consider in 
the April 2020 election cycle. It is important to note that in order for the Town to embark on any 
activity or business related to broadband, the Town must opt-out of SB 152 and have the registered 
voters approve language accordingly. The language provided achieves this objective to opt-out of SB 
152 and in no way obligates the Town financially to any project or projects related to broadband. If a 
private partner would approach us or if the Town wanted to move forward in a direction that creates 
a broadband project, passage of this measure would allow the Town to proceed at Council’s 
discretion. 
 
Topic 3: One Half Cent 0.5% Sales & Use Tax for Transportation 
As discussed during the FY 2020 Budget Work Sessions, the Town currently has in place a Street 
Maintenance Fee. Ordinance 2016-142 established this fee, which is effective from January 1, 2017 
and is set to expire on December 31, 2021. The fees when first established were as follows: 
 

Monthly Fee 
Residential (per unit)    $4.48 
Non-Residential (per 1,000 sf) 
Retail      $3.05 
Office     $0.63 
Industrial     $0.27 
 
The annual revenue generated for this fee is approximately $350,000. As we learned this year while 
performing our road maintenance improvements, unanticipated additional costs may occur. Case and 
point was the additional ~$400,000 necessary to reconstruct 4th Street and Jay Avenue due to its thin 
asphalt section. 
 
During the work sessions, staff suggested Council may want to consider asking the voters for a sales 
and use tax for street maintenance and improvements in April 2020. If the question is asked, and the 
voters approve the request, it would be recommended to remove the street maintenance fee paid by 
each household and business immediately. Changing from a fee based approach to a sales and use tax 
allows end users to make a conscious decision, if they want to make a purchase or not. It also allows 
those who use our roadways and make purchases in Town to contribute to help pay for the 
maintenance of our roadways. Lastly and contrary to our current application of the street 
maintenance fee, this doesn’t put the burden of responsibility exclusively upon our residence and 
businesses in the community, who contribute to the success of our community. 
 
Solid information is difficult to identify related to dollars spent in our community by visitors and  
residents. Based on median household income levels and discretionary spending, staff believes that at 
least 32% of all sales tax revenues are generated from out of Town visitors. This figure could be as 
high as 65%. 
 



Based on the audit and adding an error factor for an increase in sales and use tax generation staff 
would estimate that $1,750,000 may be generated in FY 2021 for street improvements. The ballot 
language alternatives included in the attachment is all encompassing application to street 
maintenance types including overlay, capital projects and other transportation improvements.  
 
LEGAL ADVICE: 
Ballot languages have been reviewed by the Town Attorney with the exception of the transportation 
item due to timing. All ballots recommended to be brought forward at the next Council meeting 
would be reviewed by the Town Attorney prior to being presented in a resolution. 
 
FINANCIAL ADVICE: 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff believes there are benefits and merits to asking the voters to 
consider each of these items presented. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
 
Not Applicable – Staff is requesting direction on each of these items in preparation for the January 
22, 2020 meeting. 
 
Reviewed and Approved for Presentation: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Town Manager 



DRAFT BALLOT QUESTIONS 
APRIL 2020 

 
CHARTER: 

 

SHALL SECTIONS 3.3, 4.2(B) AND 4.7(A) OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN HOME RULE 
CHARTER BE AMENDED TO CLARIFY THAT A MAJORITY OF THE ENTIRE COUNCIL 
HOLDING OFFICE, INCLUDING THE MAYOR, SHALL BE A QUORUM FOR THE 
TRANSACTION OF BUSINESS AT ALL COUNCIL MEETINGS AND THAT THE VOTING 
REQUIREMENTS FOR THE ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS, MOTIONS AND EMERGENCY 
ORDINANCES SHALL INCLUDE THE VOTE OF THE MAYOR? 

 

SHALL SECTIONS 3.3, 4.2(B) AND 4.7(A) OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN HOME RULE 
CHARTER BE AMENDED TO CLARIFY THE STATUS OF THE MAYOR AS A MEMBER OF 
THE COUNCIL FOR THE PURPOSE OF CALCULATING QUORUM AND FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF DETERMINING THE MAJORITY VOTING REQUIREMENTS FOR THE 
ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS, MOTIONS AND EMERGENCY ORDINANCES? 

 

SHALL SECTIONS 3.3, 4.2(B) AND 4.7(A) OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN HOME RULE 
CHARTER BE AMENDED TO CLARIFY RESPECTIVELY THAT A MAJORITY OF THE 
ENTIRE COUNCIL HOLDING OFFICE SHALL BE A QUORUM FOR THE TRANSACTION OF 
BUSINESS AT ALL COUNCIL MEETINGS, THE ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS AND 
MOTIONS SHALL REQUIRE THE AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF A MAJORITY OF THE ENTIRE 
COUNCIL PRESENT AT A MEETING AND THE ADOPTION OF AN EMERGENCY 
ORDINANCE SHALL REQUIRE THE AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF FIVE MEMBERS OF THE 
ENTIRE COUNCIL? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



SB 152: 

 

SHALL THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, WITHOUT INCREASING TAXES, BE AUTHORIZED TO 
RESTORE THE TOWN’S RIGHT TO PROVIDE ALL SERVICES RESTRICTED SINCE 2005 BY 
TITLE 29, ARTICLE 27 OF THE COLORADO REVISED STATUTES, DESCRIBED AS 
“ADVANCED SERVICES,” “TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES” AND “CABLE TELEVISION 
SERVICES,” INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, IMPROVED BROADBAND AND HIGH-
SPEED INTERNET SERVICES AND FACILITIES BASED UPON FUTURE TECHNOLOGIES, 
EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, WITH PUBLIC AND/OR PRIVATE SECTOR PARTNERS, 
TO RESIDENTS, BUSINESSES, SCHOOLS, LIBRARIES, NON-PROFIT ENTITIES AND 
OTHER USERS OF SUCH SERVICES. 

 

SHALL THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, WITHOUT RAISING TAXES AND TO RESTORE LOCAL 
AUTHORITY, BE AUTHORIZED TO PROVIDE HIGH-SPEED INTERNET SERVICES 
(ADVANCED SERVICES), TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES AND/OR CABLE 
TELEVISION SERVICES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY NEW AND IMPROVED 
HIGH BANDWIDTH SERVICES BASED ON FUTURE TECHNOLOGIES, EITHER DIRECTLY 
OR INDIRECTLY, WITH PUBLIC AND/OR PRIVATE SECTOR PARTNERS, TO RESIDENTS, 
BUSINESSES, SCHOOLS, LIBRARIES, NON-PROFIT ENTITIES AND OTHER USERS OF 
SUCH SERVICES, AS PERMITTED  WITH VOTER APPROVAL BY COLORADO REVISED 
STATUTES §§29-27-101 TO 304. 

 

WITHOUT INCREASING TAXES, SHALL THE CITIZENS OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN 
RE-ESTABLISH THE TOWN'S RIGHT TO PROVIDE ALL SERVICES RESTRICTED BY 
TITLE 29, ARTICLE 27 OF THE COLORADO REVISED STATUTES, DESCRIBED AS 
“ADVANCED SERVICES,” “TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES” AND “CABLE 
TELEVISION SERVICES,” INCLUDING ANY NEW AND IMPROVED HIGH BANDWIDTH 
SERVICES BASED ON FUTURE TECHNOLOGIES, EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, 
WITH PUBLIC AND/OR PRIVATE SECTOR PARTNERS, TO RESIDENTS, BUSINESSES, 
SCHOOLS, LIBRARIES, NON-PROFIT ENTITIES AND OTHER USERS OF SUCH SERVICES? 

 

 

 

 

 

 



TRANSPORTATION PURPOSED SALES TAX: 

 

SHALL TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN TAXES BE INCREASED BY $1,750,000 IN THE FIRST 
FISCAL YEAR (2021) AND BY WHATEVER ADDITIONAL AMOUNTS ARE RAISED ANNUALLY 
IN EACH SUBSEQUENT YEAR, THROUGH A ONE-HALF PERCENT (0.5%) INCREASE IN 
THE TOWN SALES AND USE TAX RATE COMMENCING ON JULY 1, 2020, THE REVENUES 
FROM SUCH ONE-HALF PERCENT (0.5% - 5 CENTS ON A $10.00 PURCHASE) INCREASE 
TO BE USED SOLELY TO FUND STREET MAINTENANCE, WHICH INCLUDES PAVING, 
OVERLAYS, POTHOLE PATCHING AND OTHER MINOR REPAIRS, SIDEWALKS, AND 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS FOR STREETS AND FOR NO OTHER PURPOSES 
AND SHALL ALL TAX REVENUES GENERATED FROM THE SALES TAX AUTHORIZED 
HEREBY AND FROM ANY EARNINGS FROM THE INVESTMENT OF SUCH REVENUES 
CONSTITUTE A VOTER-APPROVED REVENUE CHANGE AND AN EXCEPTION TO THE 
REVENUE AND SPENDING LIMITS OF ARTICLE X, SECTION 20 OF THE COLORADO 
CONSTITUTION? 

 

SHALL TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN TAXES BE INCREASED BY $1,750,000 IN THE FIRST 
FISCAL YEAR (2021), AND THE REVENUES TO BE USED SOLELY TO FUND STREET 
MAINTENANCE, WHICH INCLUDES PAVING, OVERLAYS, POTHOLE PATCHING AND 
OTHER MINOR REPAIRS, SIDEWALKS, AND CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS FOR 
STREETS AND FOR NO OTHER PURPOSE, BEGINNING JULY 1, 2020, AND BY SUCH 
AMOUNTS AS ARE RAISED ANNUALLY THEREAFTER, BY IMPOSING AN ADDITIONAL 
ONE-HALF PERCENT (ONE-HALF CENT PER DOLLAR SPENT) SALES TAX AND USE TAX, 
WITH THE RESULTING TAX REVENUES ALLOWED TO BE COLLECTED AND SPENT, 
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY EXPENDITURE, REVENUE RAISING, OR OTHER LIMITATION 
CONTAINED IN ARTICLE X, § 20 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION ANY OTHER 
LIMITATIONS PROVIDED BY LAW? 

 

SHALL TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN TAXES BE INCREASED BY $1,750,000 IN THE FIRST 
FISCAL YEAR (2021), TO BE USED SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF FUNDING THE 
STUDY, DESIGN, ENGINEERING, CONSTRUCTION, ACQUISITION, OPERATION, AND 
MAINTENANCE OF PUBLIC TRANSIT, PUBLIC MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION 
IMPROVEMENTS, PUBLIC TRAILS, AND CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS WITHIN 
AND NEAR THE TOWN. AND FOR NO OTHER PURPOSE, BEGINNING JULY 1, 2020, AND 
BY SUCH AMOUNTS AS ARE RAISED ANNUALLY THEREAFTER, BY IMPOSING AN 
ADDITIONAL ONE-HALF PERCENT (ONE-HALF CENT PER DOLLAR SPENT) SALES TAX 
AND USE TAX, WITH THE RESULTING TAX REVENUES ALLOWED TO BE COLLECTED 
AND SPENT, NOTWITHSTANDING ANY EXPENDITURE, REVENUE RAISING, OR OTHER 
LIMITATION CONTAINED IN ARTICLE X, § 20 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION ANY 
OTHER LIMITATIONS PROVIDED BY LAW? 



 2020 ELECTION CALENDAR FOR BALLOT QUESTIONS 
 
 
 
 January 7, 2020                   1st Day nomination petitions may be circulated          
 
January 22, 2020                  Last Day to approve Resolution referring ballot questions to the   
                                                voters                                    
 
January 27, 2020                  Last Day to file nomination petitions  
 
February 21, 2020                 Last Day to File comments with Municipal Clerk for any ballot  
                                                (Tabor) issues   - due by 12:00 (noon)  
 
March 6, 2020                        Last day to mail Blue Book to each household 
 
March 16, 2020                      First day mail ballots can be sent  
 
April 7, 2020                           Election Day 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                       



 
 
 
 
 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

 
                      
 
                          

 











 
 
 
 
 

INFORMATIONAL 



 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-___ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE IV OF CHAPTER 10 OF 
THE JOHNSTOWN MUNICIPAL TO INCLUDE SECTION 10-76 
CONCERNING UNLAWFUL CAMPING 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Johnstown, Colorado (“Town”) is a Colorado home rule 

municipality, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado and the 
Town’s Home Rule Charter; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council is vested with authority to administer the affairs of the 

Town; and  
 

WHEREAS, Article IV of Chapter 10 of the Johnstown Municipal Code regulates offenses 
against property; and  

WHEREAS, the Johnstown Police Department has received numerous complaints and 
calls for service regarding persons using vehicles for dwelling purposes on property within the 
Town and recommends that the Town adopt an ordinance to regulate such use; and  

WHEREAS, based upon such recommendation, Town Council desires to adopt regulations 
restricting the use of vehicles for dwelling purposes on the condition that, based upon policies 
and procedures adopted by the Johnstown Police Department, persons shall be entitled to obtain 
a permit to allow the temporary occupancy of a vehicle, recreational vehicle, trailer or camper 
for dwelling purposes to accommodate vacation travelers; and  

WHEREAS, Town Council hereby finds, determines and declares that this Ordinance is 
promulgated under the general police power of the Town, that it is promulgated for the 
preservation of the public health, welfare, peace, safety and property, that this Ordinance is 
necessary for the protection of public convenience and welfare and that this Ordinance is in the 
best interests of the citizens of the Town. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, THAT: 

Section 1.  Section 10-76.  Article IV of Chapter 10 of the Johnstown Municipal Code is 
hereby amended to include Section 10-76, which shall read as follows:  

Sec. 10-76.   Unlawful camping.  

(1) No person shall use a vehicle, recreational vehicle, trailer or camper for dwelling 
purposes, including, but not limited to, sleeping, spending the night or cooking, on any 
public street, sidewalk or other public place within the Town for more than one night in a 
thirty day period. 
 



 

(2) Without limiting subsection (1), no person shall use a vehicle, recreational vehicle, trailer 
or camper for dwelling purposes, including, but not limited to, sleeping, spending the 
night or cooking, on any property in the Town, and no property owner or lessee shall 
allow a person to use a vehicle, recreational vehicle, trailer or camper for dwelling 
purposes on such property, for more than two nights in a thirty day period. 
 

(3) Notwithstanding the foregoing, persons may obtain permits from the Town to allow the 
temporary occupancy of a vehicle, recreational vehicle, trailer or camper for dwelling 
purposes to accommodate vacation travelers. 

Section 2.  Policies and procedures.  The Johnstown Police Department is hereby directed to 
adopt policies and procedures regarding the issuance of a permit to allow the temporary 
occupancy of a vehicle, recreational vehicle, trailer or camper for dwelling purposes to 
accommodate vacation travelers. 

Section 3.  Code changes. Minor changes such as the format and other changes to unify the 
revised Code may be necessary.  The Town Clerk is hereby authorized to make such changes, 
provided that neither the intent nor substantive content will be altered by such changes. 

Section 4.  Repeal. Existing or parts of ordinances covering the same matters as embraced in 
this Ordinance are hereby repealed and all ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with the 
provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed, except that this repeal shall not affect or 
prevent the prosecution or punishment of any person for any act done or committed in violation 
of any ordinance hereby repealed prior to the taking effect of this Ordinance. 

Section 5.  Publication; Effective Date; Recording.  This Ordinance, after its passage on 
final reading, shall be numbered, recorded, published and posted as required by the Town 
Charter and the adoption, posting and publication shall be authenticated by the signature of the 
Mayor and the Town Clerk and by the Certificate of Publication.  This Ordinance shall become 
effective upon final passage as provided by the Home Rule Charter of the Town of Johnstown, 
Colorado.  Copies of the entire Ordinance are available at the office of the Town Clerk.   

 INTRODUCED, AND APPROVED on first reading by the Town Council of the Town 
of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 2020. 

       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

ATTEST: 

 

By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
      Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 

 



 

 PASSED UPON FINAL APPROVAL AND ADOPTED on second reading by the 
Town Council of the Town of Johnstown, Colorado, this _____ day of __________________, 
2020. 

       TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

ATTEST: 

 

By:___________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
     Diana Seele, Town Clerk          Gary Lebsack, Mayor 

 


	ADPE351.tmp
	___________________________
	Town Manager

	ADP95F6.tmp
	ORDINANCE NO. 2019-165
	REQUIRED SPACING OF HYDRANTS


	ADP6D40.tmp
	___________________________
	Town Manager

	ADP1008.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10A

	ADPB139.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10E

	ADP3D24.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 9A

	ADP15C9.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10B

	ADP9F7C.tmp
	___________________________
	Town Manager

	ADP89BB.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10D

	ADP7E75.tmp
	2019 List of Bills Dec

	ADP2973.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 7

	ADP3F45.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10C

	ADPCB3.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10D

	ADP2AC8.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10E

	ADPF0AF.tmp
	Town Council
	Town Hall, Council Chambers
	450 So. Parish Avenue
	7:00 PM
	MISSION STATEMENT-“The mission of the government of the Town of Johnstown is to provide leadership based upon trust and integrity, commitment directed toward responsive service delivery, and vision for enhancing the quality of life in our community.
	Members of the audience are invited to speak at the Council meeting.  Public Comment (item No. 5) is reserved for citizen comments on items not contained on the printed agenda.  Citizen comments are limited to three (3) minutes per speaker. When sever...

	Hearing - TC GPV ODP Packet 1.6.19 FINAL.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Hearing - PZC GPV ODP FINAL Report 12.11.19.pdf
	PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION
	AGENDA MEMORANDUM
	PROPERTY DATA
	Goal CF 1. New development achieves the community’s goals and is consistent with the Town’s vision.
	Goal DD 1 (Districts) A diversified economic base with employment opportunities available to the region.
	Goal NH 1: A diversity of housing types to support the housing needs of a diverse population.
	Goal NH 2 A fabric of complete mixed‐use neighborhoods that provide a full range of local services.




	Submittal 5 GPV ODP 12.20.19.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	1 COVER
	2 EXISTING ZONING
	3 LAND USE PLAN
	4 LAND USE MATRIX
	6 CIRCULATION PLAN
	7 STREET SECTIONS
	8 OPEN SPACE & TRAILS PLAN
	13 DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS
	14 DESIGN GUIDELINES 1
	15 DESIGN GUIDELINES 2

	GPV-ODP-LAND-USE-PLAN-LAND USE MATRIX.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	LAND USE MATRIX



	2019-12-11 Minutes DRAFT.pdf
	Wednesday, December 11, 2019
	Council Chambers
	I. Call to Order: Chair Montez opened the meeting at 7:00pm.
	III. Public Comments regards items not on the Agenda: none
	IV. Public Hearings:
	V. New Business - None
	VI. Department Report Delivered by Kim Meyer
	VII. Adjourn: Chair Montez adjourned the meeting at approximately 10:15 p.m.



	ADP46B0.tmp
	___________________________
	Town Manager

	Hearing - TC Attachments Welty Ridge ODP 1.6.20.pdf
	Blank Page
	Hearing - PZC Welty Ridge ODP Report 12.11.19.pdf
	PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION
	AGENDA MEMORANDUM
	PROPERTY DATA
	Goal CF 1. New development achieves the community’s goals and is consistent with the Town’s vision.
	Goal DD 1 (Districts) A diversified economic base with employment opportunities available to the region.
	Goal NH 1: A diversity of housing types to support the housing needs of a diverse population.
	Goal NH 2 A fabric of complete mixed‐use neighborhoods that provide a full range of local services.




	Submittal 5 WELTY ODP 12.20.19.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	1 COVER
	2 LAND USE PLAN
	3 LAND USE MATRIX
	4 LAND USE MATRIX 2
	5 CIRCULATION PLAN
	6 STREET SECTIONS
	7 OPEN SPACE & TRAILS PLAN
	10 DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS
	11 DESIGN GUIDELINES 1
	12 DESIGN GUIDELINES 2

	WELTY-ODP-LAND-USE-PLAN-LAND USE MATRIX (2).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	LAND USE MATRIX (2)



	2019-12-11 Minutes DRAFT.pdf
	Wednesday, December 11, 2019
	Council Chambers
	I. Call to Order: Chair Montez opened the meeting at 7:00pm.
	III. Public Comments regards items not on the Agenda: none
	IV. Public Hearings:
	V. New Business - None
	VI. Department Report Delivered by Kim Meyer
	VII. Adjourn: Chair Montez adjourned the meeting at approximately 10:15 p.m.



	ADPC3E9.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10F

	ADP3809.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10G

	ADPF085.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10H

	TAC Attachments - CP Proposals 2019 reduced 1.6.20.pdf
	Logan Simpson
	RICK Engineering
	Cushing Terrell

	ADPB36A.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10I

	ADP211B.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10C

	ADP6B5E.tmp
	AGENDA ITEM 10I

	ADPEBD6.tmp
	Town Council
	Town Hall, Council Chambers
	450 So. Parish Avenue
	7:00 PM
	MISSION STATEMENT-“The mission of the government of the Town of Johnstown is to provide leadership based upon trust and integrity, commitment directed toward responsive service delivery, and vision for enhancing the quality of life in our community.
	Members of the audience are invited to speak at the Council meeting.  Public Comment (item No. 5) is reserved for citizen comments on items not contained on the printed agenda.  Citizen comments are limited to three (3) minutes per speaker. When sever...


